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Company,
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APPELLEES' AND CROSS-APPELLANTS'
CLOSING BRIEF.

Introductory Statement.

Appellants and Cross-Appellees ("Appellants" here-

in) begin their Consolidated Reply Brief on Appeal

and Brief on Cross-Appeal (the "Reply Brief" herein)

with a statement of points which bear brief analysis:

First, in their point "First" (Reply Br. pp. 1-2) Ap-

pellants suggest that we have changed our position in

transit between the trial and the appeal: that whereas

at the trial we advocated our position on factual

grounds, we now urge it on legal grounds. The truth

is—and this can come as no surprise to Appellants, as

hereinafter appears—that we have at all times urged

it on both bases, i.e., the legal ground that the con-
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tract is not susceptible to breach by anticipatory re-

pudiation; the factual grotind that even if the doctrine

of anticipatory repudiation applied, the admitted and

undisputed facts would not justify its invocation.

That the Trial Judge had both bases in mind is mani-

fest from Conclusion of Law II, which reads as fol-

lows:

"11.

"The breaches of contract found to have been

made by the defendants were not of such kind

and character which, under the law and the un-

disputed facts, constituted breach by anticipatory

repudiation so as to require the conversion of an

obligation to pay specified amounts of money (or

at the option of defendants, specified quantities of

water) in futuro measured by the amount of wa-

ter produced, saved, and sold from the Water

Lands, into an immediate obligation for the pay-

ment in cash of all possible future obligations."

[Clk. Tr. p. 356, lines 12-20.]

There were admitted facts, among them

:

"V.

"That between March 20, 1956, and June 12,

1956, defendants C. W. Murchison and Simi Val-

ley Development Company paid, or caused to be

paid to plaintiffs, the sum of $50,000 of the pur-

chase price for said properties, as set forth in

paragraph 2(b) of the First Agreement (Plain-

tiffs' Exhibit 'A'). That in addition, during the

period from May, 1955 through September, 1957,

the further sum of $58,000 was paid, or caused
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to be paid to plaintiffs, by defendants C. W.
Murchison and Simi Valley Development Com-

pany, in 29 equal installments of $2,000 each
;
$28,-

000 of said sum having been paid to plaintiffs

during the period from May, 1955 through June

12, 1956; and the remaining $30,000 of said sum

having been paid to plaintiffs during the period

from June 12, 1956 through September, 1957; and

no other sums have been paid." [Clk. Tr. p. 165,

lines 8-20.]

There were undisputed facts. Of particular moment

was Mr. Riess' testimony that he and Mrs. Riess re-

ceived the one-sixth stock interest in Simi Valley De-

velopment Company [Rep. Tr. p. 83, line 23], and that

there had been no repudiation of the contract. [Rep.

Tr. p. 222, lines 6-10; p. 223, lines 8-11; p. 228, lines

4-20; p. 229, lines 9-14; p. 293, lines 2-8; p. 349, lines

2-7.] (All quoted. Appellees' Br. pp. 24-26.)

The suggestion of Appellants that the legal ground

for sustaining the judgment is advocated for the first

time on appeal would be specious if correct, the par-

ticular and specific ratio decidendi being immaterial to

the appeal. What matters is whether the judgment can

be sustained on any basis. But it is doubly specious

in that it is belied by the Findings of Fact and Con-

clusions of Law proposed by Appellants themselves for

the signature of the learned Trial Judge. [Clk. Tr.

pp. 320-328.] The attention of the Court is particu-

larly invited to Conclusion of Law II, from which it

is apparent that Mr. and Mrs. Riess were aware that

the judgment was based, at least in part, on legal

grounds, and judging by the Conclusions of Law pro-

posed by them, in whole on such grounds

:



"II.

"The contract between plaintiffs and Murchi-

son, which is the subject matter of the within ac-

tion, is of such kind and character that any breach

of any of the terms thereof by Murchison or his

assigns could not and did not constitute an an-

ticipatory breach." [Clk. Tr. p. 325, lines 23-26.]

Second, and with reference to the argument at page

2 of the Reply Brief, the condition to Appellees' ob-

ligations was a condition precedent, with the burden of

proof upon the Appellants (Appellees' Br., Point II A,

B; Point II, infra).

Third, Appellants suggest (Reply Br. pp. 2-3) that

Appellees view the contract as "in the nature of a lease

calling for royalty payments, with payments dependent

solely upon production," and point out that the lease-

hold analogy breaks down because of the absence of a

remainder or reversionary interest. In so doing. Ap-

pellants have injected a false issue into the case, and

then proceeded to demonstrate wherein it is fallacious.

Strawmen aside, at no point is such an analogy drawn

in our brief, nor have we at any time suggested that

the contract is anything but what its unambiguous and

unequivocal content makes it out to be. In the context

of the clear language used by the parties, analogies

have seemed to us unnecessary.

As we have heretofore pointed out (Appellees' Br.

pp. 4-5), the contract called for the issuance to Ap-

pellants of one-sixth of the capital stock of Simi, and

for the payment to Appellants of $98,000 as a fixed

and absolute obligation. Payment of more than that

sum in cash was made contingent upon water produc-
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tion at 10^ per 1,000 gallons produced, saved and sold.

If production failed to generate a minimum of $24,000

a year at the specified rate, Appellants had the right,

but not the obligation, to take water at the well-head

in lieu of the cash they would have received had there

been sufficient production. Under no circumstances

were payments to Appellants to exceed $1,000,000.

[Ex. 1 in evid., sec. 2(b).] Thus, the assertion that

the "purchase price . . . under the agreement is

One Million Dollars" (Reply Br. pp. 2-3) is the child

of a misconception of the agreement. The $1,000,000

represents the ceiling, not the floor; by their contract,

the parties agreed that the purchase price could never

under any circumstances exceed $1,000,000, but there

is nothing in the contract to justify the conclusion that

willy-nilly, and without reference to production, it was

to be $1,000,000, not a penny more, not a penny less.

Fourth, if we correctly understand Appellants' posi-

tion as stated in their Point Fourth with respect to the

dismissal of the jury, it is not that they claim to have

been prejudiced by the fact that their case was not

passed upon by the jury, but rather by the "reversal

of position" on the part of the Trial Court which

"resulted in the entry of a judgment expressly based

upon Findings of Fact which invade the province of

the jury." (Reply Br. pp. 3-4.) Any reversal of posi-

tion here is that of Appellants, not the Trial Court.

At the close of proceedings Appellants were asked by

the Trial Judge to propose and prepare Findings of

Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment. [Rep. Tr. p.

508, lines 16-23.] They did so. [Clk. Tr. pp. 320-

328.] Among the conclusions proposed by them were

conclusions without either record support, or, indeed,
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support in the proposed findings. For example, they

proposed that the Court decree an estoppel, the effect

of which would have been to excuse them from showing

the happening of the condition precedent to liability and

to preclude Appellees from asserting the insufficiency

of the water [Clk. Tr. p. 326, lines 26-27] ; they pro-

posed that the Court decree a waiver of any claim that

the Water Lands were incapable of producing sufficient

quantities of water. [Clk. Tr. p. 326, line 29, to p. 327,

line 1.]

The Court conducted a hearing to settle Findings and

Conclusions. Those ultimately adopted by the Court

ensued. Appellants who, with no record support what-

ever, proposed conclusions invoking the doctrines of

waiver and estoppel, should not be heard to object to the

making of a finding that there was no repudiation,

when the record is replete with Appellants' own testi-

mony to that effect. (Appellants' Br. pp. 24-27.)

I.

THE CONTRACT COULD NOT HAVE BEEN TO-
TALLY BREACHED OR ANTICIPATORILY RE-

PUDIATED.

A. Appellants Seek Unduly to Restrict the Rule.

Appellants concede that the authorities upon which

we rely represent the views of this and the Supreme

Court of California. They argue that we are attempt-

ing to extend them to a factual pattern to which they

do not apply. Secondarily, they suggest that this is

the point at which a halt should be called to the ap-

plication of the rule, thereby granting time for Profes-

sor Corbin's observations to creep into the law via the

rear entrance, this and the California courts having
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barred the front door in a plethora of cases heretofore

cited. (Appellees' Br, pp. 11-24.) Most recently and

dramatically in Minor v. Minor, 184 Cal. App. 2d 118,

126 (1960), the Court made it clear that Professor

Corbin's views on the subject do not represent the sub-

stantive law of California [which is the law to be ap-

plied in this cause under the doctrine of Erie R. Co. v.

Tompkins, 304 U. S. 64, 78, 82 L. Ed. 1188 (1938)]

in the following language

:

"Whatever the theoretical considerations may

be . . . California law, however, has marked

the stopping place, and we accept it."

Moreover, the rule is neither as precise in terms or

application as Appellants urge, nor is it to be limited

to as narrow a field of contracts as Appellants would

like, i.e., insurance contracts, promissory notes, and

leases. Minor v. Minor, supra, was a property settle-

ment agreement calling for the payment of money in

instalments, yet the doctrine was applied. It was also

applied in Farmer v. Mountain Lake Club, 94 Cal. App.

663, 664 (1928), a contract for payment for services,

and in Flinn & Treacy v. Mowry, 131 Cal. 481, 486

(1901), a similar contract.

One must sympathize with Appellants' manifest ef-

fort to find precision and certainty in their short and

highly selective quotation from the opinion of this Court

in John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. Cohen,

254 F. 2d 417 (9 Cir. 1958). Their quest is as old

as the law. The conceptual has charms which will for-

ever be denied the pragmatic, which has only reason

to recommend it. They have seized upon the word

"unconditional" in Judge Barnes' most thorough opin-
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ion in John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Co. v.

Cohen, supra (quoted Reply Br. pp. 5-6) as the touch-

stone to their concept, not recognizing that in the con-

text used "unconditional" can have no meaning other

than "executory on one side only." Semantics apart,

however, it should be noted that the rule is stated with-

out reference to conditions by Judge Barnes elsewhere

in the same case {supra, 254 F. 2d at p. 426)

:

"We conclude the general rule to be that the

doctrine of anticipatory breach has no application

to suits to enforce contracts for future payment

of money only, in instalments or otherwise. . . ."

This case, we respectfully submit, is a suit to enforce

a contract for the future payment of money.

1. The Condition to Liability Bars the Assertion of Any
Breach, Anticipatory or Otherwise.

As we understand the argument of Appellants, it

would appear that they contend that there can be antici-

patory breach of an agreement where the existence of

the obligation to perform is subject to a condition pre-

cedent, but that there cannot be anticipatory breach of

an agreement where the obligation is in being. It is

respectfully submitted that their argument defies logic.

Yet it must be conceded that the word "unconditional"

does appear in the cases. The vice of the argument,

therefore, must lie in the meaning ascribed by Appel-

lants to the word "unconditional," and we believe a clue

to its proper meaning can be found in comment (a)

to section 316 of the Restatement of Contracts, where-

in it is stated that:

"Where a unilateral contract or a bilateral con-

tract that has been wholly performed on one side,
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is for the payment of money in instalments, or for

the performance of other acts, not connected with

one another by a condition having reference to

more than one of them or otherwise, a breach as

to any number less than the whole of such instal-

ments or acts is partial." (Emphasis added.)

It is respectfully submitted that when the Courts

speak of the agreement being "unconditional," they

mean, in the language of the Restaters, that the in-

stalments or other acts are not connected with one an-

other by a condition having reference to more than one

of them or otherwise, not unconditional in the sense of

not being subject to a condition precedent, as we view

the conditions, or of a condition subsequent, as it is

viewed by Appellants.

To make the applicability or non-applicability of the

doctrine of breach by anticipatory repudiation turn

upon the presence or absence of an unrelated condition,

would be a non sequitur. One can have nothing to

do with the other except in the sense that where an

obligation is subject to a condition precedent, not shown

to have occurred, then there can be no breach of the

obligation, anticipatory or otherwise. It is simply not

capable of being breached in any manner. It is respect-

fully submitted that this is the type of obligation with

which the parties are dealing in the present case, and

this point has, we believe, been sufficiently developed

in Point II of Appellees' Brief.
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2. The Agreement, While Originally Bilateral, Became

Unilateral Upon the Delivery of the Deed by Appel-

lants.

Recognizing that the doctrine of anticipatory breach

cannot be appUed to a unilateral contract, Appellants

have sought to warp certain portions of the agreement

into executory contractual obligations on their part.

The two found and referred to at pages 26-28 of Ap-

pellants' Opening Brief have, we think, been sufficiently

met by the discussion at page 12 of Appellees' Brief.

They now find a third "executory" obligation on their

part to be performed in paragraph (h) of the agree-

ment, which gives to Appellees the right, at their elec-

tion, to reconvey the wells to Appellants, and requires

Appellants to accept them in extinguishment of Appel-

lees' obligations. Both "unperformed" obligations

which Appellants seek to impose upon themselves have

one common characteristic: absent some act on the part

of Appellees, they do not exist. More particularly, un-

less Appellees request the location of wells, Mr. Riess is

under no obligation to locate them. No request has been

made. Unless Appellees elect to reconvey the wells.

Appellants are under no obligation to accept them. No

such election has been made. So far as the arbitration

"covenant" is concerned, it has heretofore been pointed

out that this is a matter of remedy, not of substantive

right. And finally, it should be remembered that para-

graph XVII of the first amended complaint contains

an allegation to the effect that Plaintiffs (Appellants)

have performed all of the covenants and agreements to

be performed by them. [Clk. Tr. p. 29, lines 26-30.]
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Federal Life Ins. Co. v. Rascoe, 12 F. 2d 693

(C. C. A. 6, 1926) is of interest, not only so far as

the dissenting opinion, cited by Appellants, is con-

cerned, but in its entire treatment of the problem. In

that case plaintiff sued on a policy of disability in-

surance, which it was alleged the defendant company

had repudiated. Under the terms of the insurance con-

tract plaintiff was required, every thirty days, to sub-

mit a report in writing from her attending physician

with respect to her disability. This she had done. She

sued for anticipatory breach of the insurance contract,

and the majority of the Court held that she could do so.

Judge Donahue, speaking for the majority, acknowl-

edged that there can be no anticipatory breach of a uni-

lateral contract for the payment of money at some

future date {supra, 12 F. 2d at p. 695), but then

went on to point out that the contract there in question

was not a unilateral contract. He noted that every

thirty days plaintiff was required to ''submit her per-

son to the examination of a physician and pay the phy-

sician . .
." {supra, 12 F. 2d at 696), pointing out

that this was not merely a technical requirement, but

a substantial and continuing burden then in being. This,

it is respectfully submitted, is quite different from the

ephemeral unperformed obligations which Appellants

find in the contract, which do not become obligations

without some action on the part of Appellees which has

never been taken. Judge Denison, dissenting, saw even

the covenant to submit herself to the periodic physical
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examination as a mere condition, and concluded that

the contract was unilateral, so that the doctrine of

breach by anticipatory repudiation would not apply. In

addition, in a case involving facts much stronger, it is

respectfully submitted, than the facts in the instant

case, he failed to find repudiation. While he did say,

"I do not understand that a contract sued upon is

executory, as against a plaintiff, unless it binds him

to do something, so that an action may lie against him

for specific performance, or for non-performance"

(supra, 12 F. 2d p. 693), the statement now can be

seen in context. In our case, the Appellants are not

bound to do anything further than what they have al-

ready done.

Appellants suggest that at pages 27-28 of Appellees'

Brief we have sought to impose an obligation to de-

mand payment in kind, i.e., water, upon them, another

executory and unperformed covenant. Our argument

at the portion of our brief cited was that Appellants

had an option, not an obligation.

We suggest that Appellants' difficulty in construing

the agreements lies in their confusing the concepts of

obligations under an agreement and rights under an

agreement. Both parties to a unilateral agreement have

rights under the agreement; only one of them, however,

has obligations.

Winegar v. Gray, 204 A. C. A. 332, 337-338 (1962)

does, indeed, state the familiar rule that every contract

contains an implied obligation of good faith and fair

dealing upon the part of each of the contracting parties.

The law of contract knows no more salutary rule, but

it has no appHcation to the instant case.
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3. The Agreement Is of the Type Which Cannot Be

Anticipatorily Breached.

Appellants put forward the proposition that the con-

tract is not one for the payment of money in instal-

ments, from which they conclude that the doctrine of

anticipatory breach may apply. It is certainly a contract

for the payment of money, and equally certain it is not

a contract for the payment of money in a lump sum,

but in instalments over a period of time ratably with

water produced, saved, and sold. All other covenants

in the contract were either in aid of, or unrelated to,

the agreement to pay money in instalments. Appel-

lants misconceive our argument as to the obligation to

pay in kind: there was never an obligation to pay in

kind, but there was a right which Appellants did not

exercise [and which therefore never became an obli-

gation of Appellees] to call for payment in kind. Our

argument in essence has been, and continues to be, that

if water production did not create a cash obligation,

then there was a right which Appellants might exercise

to call for water. This was the remedy given them in

the contract. They did not choose to pursue it, but

rather to attempt to rewrite the contract. (Appellees'

Br. pp. 27-30.) And finally, if it be assumed that the

performance which, at the time of the alleged breach,

had not yet become due, called for an exchange of some-

thing other than or in addition to, money, it is dif-

ficult to see why the rule should be any different. The

Restatement makes it clear that where a bilateral con-

tract that has been wholly performed on one side is for

the payment of money in instalments, or for the per-

formance of other acts, a breach as to any number less

than the whole of such instalments or acts is partial
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only (comment (a), sec. 316, Restatement of Con-

tracts). In Minor v. Minor^ supra, the Court does not

confine the rule to instalment contracts for the pay-

ment of money only, but rather to the breach of uni-

lateral contracts generally, or agreements fully per-

formed by the complaining party which upon such per-

formance become unilateral. There is no reason why

the rule should be otherwise.

4. The Rule Applied by the Trial Court Is Neither

Restricting nor Inapplicable.

In characterizing the rule applied in the cases relied

upon by Appellees as "restricting," Appellants imply

the premise that the common law favors the application

of the doctrine of anticipatory breach. The doctrine

of anticipatory breach is itself a judicial innovation in

the pre-existing rules of the common law, and as such,

must itself be limited.

Minor v. Minor, supra, 184 Cal. App. 2d at p.

126.

In addition, in advancing the argument made in sec-

tion I-A-4 (Reply Br. pp. 9-11), once more Appellants

have tailored the agreement to fit their argument. There

was no absolute obligation to install and construct the

water system alluded to: the undertaking to do so was

expressly conditioned upon the "physical ability of

the well or wells now or hereafter located on the Water

Lands to produce sufficient quantities of water. . .
."

[Clk. Tr. p. 37.] Appellants had "expressed protection"

other than that noted at page 10 of their brief. They

had the right, if water production was insufficient, to

take water at the well-head. [Clk. Tr. p. 36.] In ad-

dition, they had a further protection which they neglect
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to mention, but which was implicit in the transaction.

Appellees' stake in the Montgomery Lands and their

successful exploitation was several times greater than

that of Appellants. The dynamics of the contract,

therefore, were such that Appellants were not confined

to Appellees' implied obligation of good faith. Appel-

lees' own self-interest could only be served by speedy

and thorough exploitation of the Montgomery Lands,

consistent with sound business judgment which the

agreement was designed to give them the right to exer-

cise, and which Appellants would deny them.

B. Performance of a Contract Which Cannot Be
Anticipatorily Breached May Not Be Acceler-

ated in the Absence of an Acceleration Clause.

The only point made at pages 30-31 of Appellees'

Brief was that assuming Appellants overcame all of

the obstacles to their contentions, they would then have

a contract within and governed by the limitations pre-

scribed in the authorities cited at page 31 of Appellees'

Brief. Performance of such an agreement may not be

accelerated without an acceleration clause. This is clear

from Flynn & Treacy v. Mowry, 131 Cal. 481 (1901),

where the following appears at page 486

:

"There can be no rescission or abandonment of

a contract by a party who has fully performed

his part of it. The obligation of the other party

is measured by the terms of his agreement to the

same extent as in any other contract. If this ob-

ligation is for the payment of money, and by his

agreement such payment is to be made in instal-

ments, a failure to pay the first instalment will

no more give a right of action to recover them
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all than in the case of an ordinary promissory note

which is made payable in periodic instalments, and

in which there is no provision for the maturity

of the whole amount upon the failure to pay one

of the instalments."

II.

ABSENT A SHOWING OF PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONDITION TO LIABILITY, THERE WAS NO
OBLIGATION TO CONSTRUCT OR INSTALL
THE RESERVOIR AND PIPELINES.

A. The Condition Was a Condition Precedent.

That section 3 of Exhibit 1 in evidence created a

condition precedent the occurrence of which Appellants

were obliged to plead and prove [and which, indeed,

they did plead, e.g., Clk. Tr. p. 29, lines 26-30] has,

we believe, been amply demonstrated at pages 42-50 of

Appellees' Brief.

Appellants to the contrary notwithstanding (Reply

Br. p. 15, lines 27-29), however, Appellees do not say

that Appellants had a right to have the reservoir and

pipelines installed and constructed by June 12, 1958,

subject to termination if the water was not sufficient.

On the contrary, Appellees have consistently taken the

position (Appellees' Br. p. 42) that the obligation with

reference to the reservoir and pipelines never came into

being because of the insufficiency of the water. The

condition cannot be read to fix the end of an obliga-

tion which under the contract never had a beginning.

This is quite different from the situation in Fort

Worth Sand & Gravel Co. v. Peters, 103 S. W. 2d

407 (Tex., Civ. App. 1937), cited by Appellants at

pages 16-18 of their Reply Brief. In that case, the
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lease assumed the presence of sufficient sand and

gravel, and provided, "It is understood . . . that

if the sand and gravel on the premises shall become

exhausted . . . (lessee) shall be entitled to termi-

nate this lease . .
.". (103 S. W. 2d at pp. 408-

409.) The reference was clearly to a future event,

and was a condition subsequent (Calif. Civ. Code,

§1438). This must be contrasted with the present

case, however, where the contract did not prescribe on

what conditions the obligation would end, but rather

subject to what conditions it should come into being.

Sufficiency of water was a requisite to the accrual of

the right, i.e., a condition precedent. (Calif. Civ. Code,

§1436.)

While we concede the correctness of Oosten v. Hay
Haiders, etc., 45 Cal. 2d 784 (1955), and grant that

defendant must prove all affirmative defenses, the oc-

currence of a condition precedent is not a matter of

defense, but a part of plaintiffs cause of action, and

must be proven by the plaintiff. (Please see cases

and authorities cited, Appellees' Br. pp. 48-50.)

Appellants argue at pages 18-22 of the Reply Brief

that even if the condition were a condition precedent.

Appellees had the burden of proving non-occurrence

because, they contend, where the circumstances are pe-

culiarly within the knowledge of the defendant, the

Court assumes occurrence and shifts the burden. If

it be assumed for argument's sake that the "circum-

stances" were not available to Appellants (who certain-

ly have made no effort to show that they were fore-

closed from testing the well), they still must show all

facts necessary to Appellees' duty of immediate per-
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formance. Professor Corbin, upon whom they rely,

does not support them. 3A Corbin on Contracts, pages

142 to 143, deaUng with equitable defenses, which Ap-

pellants cite and paraphrase at page 19 of the Reply

Brief, reads as follows

:

"If a fact or event is a condition precedent to a

promisor's duty to render the performance prom-

ised, its absence or non-occurrence is a 'defense'

in an action brought against him for breach of

his promise. This is so whether the 'condition'

is described as express, implied, or constructive.

The use of the word 'defense' often leads to the

inference that the burden of alleging and proving

the facts constituting the defense rests upon the

defendant ; the use of the term 'condition precedent'

may lead to the opposite inference. But the ques-

tion whether a certain fact or event is a condition

of a promisor's duty, and whether its absence or

non-occurrence should be held a good defense, is

not identical with the question as to which party

must aver and prove its existence or non-existence.

"The burden of allegation, the burden of going

forward with the evidence, the burden of per-

suasion by proof, are not wholly determined by

the mere mode of describing it. Other factors are

of weight, such as the actual possession of docu-

ments, personal participation in the particular

transaction, and the fact that access or informa-

tion is easily available to one, and not to the other.

// is generally true, however, that the burden of

alleging and proving a fact on which the plaintiffs

remedial rights depends is on the plaintiff; he
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musf generally show in his complaint, and prove

it if disputed, that all facts necessary to the de-

fendant's duty of immediate performance exist."

(Emphasis added.)

In Stoddard v. Illinois Improvement & Ballast Co.,

275 111. 199, 113 N. E. 913 (1916), cited by Appel-

lants at page 19 of the Reply Brief, defendant was the

assignee of the lessee of a quarry under a lease for a

term of years ''or as long thereafter as the prop-

perty is suitable for quarrying purposes." Defendant,

whose assignor had worked the lease successfully for

seven years, failed to quarry, and plaintiff sued for

damages. Defendant claim.ed plaintiff had the burden

of showing suitability, but the Court held that the bur-

den of showing unsuitability was a matter of defense,

the burden being defendant's. On analysis, the case is

one where upon the happening of a future event (the

property becoming unsuitable for quarrying), an obli-

gation lost its binding effect, or, as defined by section

1438 of the California Civil Code, a condition subse-

quent. The burden of proof thus fell to the defendant.

The case is correct, but not in point.

Fleming v. Harrison, 162 F. 2d 789 (8 Cir. 1947),

cited by Appellants at page 20 of the Reply Brief,

was a treble damage suit under the Emergency Price

Control Act of 1942. When defendants failed to deny

the applicability of the Act in the answer, plaintiff

was held excused from proving it. There was also a

stipulation by defendants (162 F. 2d pp. 791-792)

which the Appellate Court held prima facie established

the fact. Accordingly, a directed verdict for defend-

ants was held erroneous.
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The cases cited at page 20 of the Reply Brief, Lut-

trell V. Columbia Casualty Co., 136 Cal. App. 513

(1934), Kleinpeter v. Castro, 11 Cal. App. 83 (1909),

and Joost v. Craig, 131 Cal. 504 (1901), dealing with

the quantum of proof which plaintiff must proffer to

shift the burden of going forward, are not in point.

Appellants offered no proof. All three cases, incident-

ally, were actions on the bonds of notaries public by

persons who accepted forged deeds relying on false

certificates of acknowledgment. In such cases, whether

or not the name of the forger was the same as that

of the true owner and known to the notary, were most

peculiarly facts within the knowledge of the notary,

infinitely more so than in the present case.

Bell V. Pleasant, 145 Cal. 410 (1904) stands simply

for the proposition that inasmuch as it is unnecessary

in a pleading to anticipate defenses, anticipatory matter

will be disregarded, and the burden of proving the de-

fense will continue to rest upon the defendant. But

the occurrence of a condition precedent is not defensive.

On the contrary, as has been elsewhere demonstrated

in this and Appellees' Brief, pleading and proof of the

occurrence of conditions precedent to liability are a

part of plaintiff's case.

B. There Has Been No Waiver of the Condition

Precedent.

Appellants argue that because the reservoir and pipe-

lines were constructed and installed, notwithstanding

the insufficiency of the water. Appellees have waived

their right to assert the condition. The law is to the con-

trary.
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Professor Corbin states the rule to be as follows

(3A Corbin on Contracts, §755):

"The performance of one party may be a con-

dition precedent to the return duty of the other to

render a series of performances in instalments.

Thus, the conveyance of land by a vendor may be

a condition precedent to the duty of the purchaser

to make payment of any of a series of instalments

of the price that fall due at or after the time set

for the conveyance. If the purchaser pays one of

these instalments without first receiving the con-

veyance, he is voluntarily doing that which he is

then not bound to do; but he is not waiving or

eliminating the condition of his contractual duty.

The mere voluntary payment of one or more of

these instalments does not make it his duty to pay

subsequent instalments without getting the con-

veyance."

In addition, it is clear in California that where sub-

stantive rights are involved, any waiver must be sup-

ported by consideration or by acts amounting to an

estoppel.

Rennie & Laughlin, Inc. v. Chrysler Corpora-

tion, 242 F. 2d 208 (9 Cir. 1957)

;

Pacific States Corporation v. Hall, 166 F. 2d

668 (9 Cir. 1948) ;

Peal V. Gulf Red Cedar Co., 15 Cal. App. 2d

196 (1936).

In Rennie & Laughlin, Inc. v. Chrysler Corporation,

supra, the Court states the rule as follows at page 211:

"Where substantive rights are involved, it is

said frequently that waiver must be supported by

either an agreed consideration or by acts amount-
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ing to an estoppel. Peal v. Gulf Red Cedar Co. of

California, 15 Cal App. 2d 196, 59 P. 2d 183,

184; Pacific States Corp. v. Hall, 9 Cir., 166 F.

2d 668. It is undisputed that defendant received

no consideration to waive its rights, expHcit in the

contract, to require that its consent to an assign-

ment be made in writing.

"Only estoppel remains. . .
."

The Restatement of Contracts is in accord with the

above rule. Section 279 provides as follows

:

"A promisor whose duty is dependent upon per-

formance by the other party of a condition or a

return promise that is not a material part of the

agreed exchange can make that duty independent

of such performance, in advance of the time fixed

for it by a manifestation of willingness that the

duty shall be independent. . . .

"Comment C.

"If performance of the condition is a material

part of the agreed exchange, an agreement to be

liable in spite of nonperformance of the condition

involves to so great a degree a new undertaking

that the requisites for the creation of a new con-

tract must exist."

Appellants may not at this late date, without ever

having pleaded a waiver, assert a waiver of the con-

dition precedent. Where a party intends to rely upon

a waiver, it is necessary that it be pleaded.

Purefoy v. Pacific Automobile Indemnity Ex-

change, 5 Cal. 2d 81, 91 (1935) ;

Distributors Packing Co. v. Pacific Indemnity

Co., 21 Cal. App. 2d 505, 509 (1937).
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In both the Purefoy and Distributors Packing Co.

cases, supra, the defendant insurance companies as-

serted as a defense failure on the part of the plaintiff

to give timely notice. The defense was sustained in

both cases, notwithstanding the contention that there

had been waivers by the companies.

In the Purefoy case the Court laid down the follow-

ing rule at page 91

:

".
. . It is the rule in this state that where

the plaintiff relies on waiver of a breach of con-

ditions in a policy, he must allege said waiver, and

evidence of waiver is not admissible under allega-

tions of performance of conditions." (Citations.)

The Court in the Distributors Packing Co. case sum-

marily dismissed the plaintiff's contention of waiver

with the following statement at page 509

:

"The second question is not properly presented

for our consideration, for the reason that the law

is settled that, where the plaintiff relies on a

waiver of a breach of conditions of an insurance

policy, such waiver must be alleged and evidence

of the waiver is not admissible under an allegation

of performance of the conditions of the contract.

{Purefoy v. Pacific Auto. Indem. Exch., supra,

91.)"

And finally, even if the facts showed a waiver in

the context of the cases cited above, Appellants could

not rely upon it as a basis for affirmative suit. The

doctrine of waiver can be employed as a shield, not

as a sword.
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In Rennie & Laughlin, Inc. v. Chrysler Corporation,

supra, at page 210, the rule is stated as follows:

"The amended complaint purports to ground

plaintiff's action on the doctrine of waiver. It

avers, 'That having consented to the aforesaid sale

to said purchasers, defendant's subsequent revoca-

tion of said consent constituted a breach of said

sales contracts * * *' If in fact that were the

only basis upon which plaintiff could conceivably

proceed further discussion would be unnecessary,

for it is settled that waiver can be employed only

for defensive purposes. It can preclude the asser-

tion of legal rights but it cannot be used to impose

legal duties. The shield cannot serve as a sword."

Woodard v. Glenwood Lumber Co., 171 Cal. 513

(1950), relied upon by Appellants, is not in point. In

that case the covenant to erect the sawmill read as

follows

:

"Said sawmill to be erected and constructed and

in working order, ready to commence operations,

as soon as there shall be constructed and in op-

eration a railroad from the City of Santa Cruz,

crossing Gazos Creek ; . .
."

The construction and operation of the railroad fixed

the time for performance, not the condition to per-

formance. In the present case, the obligation did not

exist unless there was sufficient water measured by

the contractual criteria. In addition, in the Woodard

case, the plaintiff continued to own the land; in the

instant case, title to the land had passed to Appellees,

and no rights of Appellants were held in suspense.

Finally, the cases are entirely different in terms of the

rights asserted and the remedies sought.
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La Miller v. St. Claire Packing Co., 99 Cal. App.

2d 518, 521 (1950), also cited by Appellants, is not in

point, it standing for the proposition that by failing

timely to reject tomatoes for failure to conform to con-

tract, but accepting and converting the tomatoes in

its canning process, defendant waived strict perform-

ance of the contract. One cannot quarrel with this

proposition, nor with the proposition also urged by Ap-

pellants at page 25 of the Reply Brief, that waiver

may be established by verbal acts. As has been demon-

strated, however, there was nothing in the acts and

conduct of Appellees from which a waiver could be

established.

C. The Claim of Insufficient Water Was Made in

Good Faith.

A complete answer to Appellants' argument as to the

lack of good faith in the assertion of insufficient water

lies in the agreement itself. Appellants to the con-

trary notwithstanding, nothing required Appellees to

satisfy themselves as to sufficiency in the interim be-

tween the first and second agreements. Nothing re-

quired that they return the wells if they were dissatis-

fied. This was a matter of option. While the Trial

Judge made the statement attributed to him, it was prem-

ised upon an incorrect reading of the contract, and a

faulty understanding of the facts. It is precisely the

Trial Court's reasoning, and the conclusion reached from

it, which gives rise to the cross-appeal, and it is re-

spectfully submitted that the issue must be resolved not

in terms of what the Trial Court did, but rather what

it should have done.
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III.

THE ORDER REFUSING TO STAY PROCEEDINGS
PENDING ARBITRATION WAS IMPROPER.

A. There Is Jurisdiction to Entertain the Appeal.

Appellants contend (Reply Br. pp. 27-28) that the

Court of Appeals is without jurisdiction at this time

to entertain an appeal from the order denying the ap-

plication for a stay of proceedings pending arbitration.

They reason that since the order was an appealable

interlocutory order, a failure to appeal at the time of

the order constitutes a waiver of the right of appeal.

This is not the law.

Bingham Pump Co. v. Edwards, 118 F. 2d 338,

339 (CCA. 9, 1941);

Lawyers Trust Co. v. W . G. Maguire & Co.,

Inc., 2 F. R. D. 310, 312-313 (D.C Del.

(1942);

Jones Bros. Co. v. Underkoffler, 24 Fed. Supp.

393 (D. C Pa. 1938).

The rule appears to be well established that where

an interlocutory order is made appealable under Title 28,

U. S. C section 1292, the party aggrieved has the

right to appeal from the interlocutory order, but if he

does not, this is no waiver of the right to complain of

the order in an appeal from the final judgment.

Thus, in Jones Bros. Co. v. Underkoffler, supra, at

pages 393-394, the following appears

:

"Section 129, supra, does not divest this court

of jurisdiction to reconsider questions passed upon

by an interlocutory decree before entering a final

order. Section 129 grants the privilege or option
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to take an appeal from an interlocutory decree

granting an injunction. Failure to exercise this

option by taking a preliminary appeal, however, in.

no way affects the right to have the court recon-

sider the interlocutory order before entering a final

decree, or the right to appeal from the final decree.

Harden v. Campbell Printing Press, etc., 1 Cir., 67

F. 809; Ex Parte National Enameling & Stamping

Co., 201 U.S. 156, 26 S.Ct. 404, 50 L.Ed. 707."

The Ninth Circuit passed upon the question in Bing-

ham Pump Co. V. Edwards, supra, holding to the same

effect, in the following terms {supra, 118 F. 2d at

page 339) :

"With respect to the suggestion that the ques-

tion as to the validity of the patent is not open

because of a failure to appeal from the interlocu-

tory decree as permitted by 28 U.S.C.A. § 227a,

we think the same rule is applicable to that section

as is applicable to § 227, and that therefore ap-

pellant was not required to appeal from the inter-

locutory decree. Victor Talking Mach. Co. v.

George, 3 Cir., 105 F.2d 697, 699."

B. Appellees Were Not in Default in Proceeding

With Arbitration.

While it is true that the original complaint was filed

on October 8, 1958, the amended complaint was filed

June 17, 1959 [Clk. Tr. p. 17], and on June 30, 1959

a motion to stay pending arbitration was filed. [Clk.

Tr. pp. 54-55.] The arbitration issue was urged at

every opportunity. [Clk. Tr. pp. 54-55, 62-63, 77-78,

84-86,201-202,211-212.]
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We do not quarrel with Appellants' position that the

stay provided in title 9, U. S. C, section 3, is not

available to an applicant who is in default in proceed-

ing with arbitration, but it is difficult to see how de-

fault in proceeding can be asserted against Appellees,

who, on so many occasions, moved the Court for a stay

of proceedings pending arbitration.

The case is quite different from Radiator Specialty

Co. V. Cannon Mills, 97 F. 2d 318, 319 (C. C. A. 4

1938), cited by Appellants at page 33 of the Reply

Brief, where the motion for a stay was not made until

the day set for trial. In American Locomotive Co.

V. Gyro Process Co., 185 F. 2d 316 (6 Cir. 1950)

and American Locomotive Co. v. Chemical Research

Corp., 171 F. 2d 115 (6 Cir. 1949), the Court em-

phasized that a seven-year delay in proceeding to ar-

bitration was "unreasonable and unexcusable under all

the circumstances, and constituted 'default' on its part

in proceeding with arbitration." (171 F. 2d p. 21.)

Both American Locomotive Co. cases are infinitely re-

moved from the facts of the instant case.

Closer to the point, it is respectfully submitted, is

Kulukundis Shipping Co. v. Amtorg Trading Corp.,

126 F. 2d 978, 989 (2 Cir. 1942), where the Court

stated as follows

:

"We take that proviso to refer to a party who,

when requested, has refused to go to arbitration

or who has refused to proceed with the hearing

before the arbitrators once it has commenced. The
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appellant was never asked by appellee to proceed

with the arbitration; indeed, it is the appellee who

has objected to it. In Shanferoke Coal & Sup-

ply Corp. V. Westchester S. Corp., 2 Cir. 1934,

70 F. 2d 297, plaintiff alleged that defendant, after

part performance, materially breached the contract.

The defendant in its answer denied the allegations

and, as a special defense, set up an arbitration

clause in the contract, alleged that it was willing

to arbitrate, and moved for a stay under Section

3 of the Arbitration Act. Answering plaintiff's

contention that defendant was 'in default in pro-

ceeding with such arbitration,' we held that the

fact that defendant may have breached the con-

tract was not a 'default' within that statutory pro-

vision; we said that the initiative as to proceeding

with the arbitration rested upon plaintiff, adding:

'If it did not but sued instead, it was itself the party

who fell "in default in proceeding with such arbi-

tration," not the defendant.' Our decision was af-

firmed in Shanferoke Co. v. Westchester Co.,

1935, 293 U. S. 449, 55 S. Ct. 313, 79 L. Ed.

583."

Also of significance is Almacenes Fernande, S.A.

V. Golodets, et al., 148 F. 2d 625, 628 (2 Cir. 1945).

where the following appears

:

"However, delay in moving for an arbitration

order will not alone amount to a default within

the proviso."

To the same effect is Robert Lazurence Company v.

Devonshire Fabrics, Inc., 271 F. 2d 402, 412-413 (2

Cir. 1959).
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C. The Stay Should Have Been Granted.

1. The Agreement Evidences a Transaction Involving

Commerce.

It is submitted that Appellants have failed to meet

the cases and authorities cited at pages 50-55 of Appel-

lees' Brief. These are believed to be controlling. How-
ever, meeting Appellants on their own ground, it is to be

noted that the applicabihty of Title 9, U. S. C, is not

restricted to contracts in commerce, but rather to con-

tracts evidencing transactions involving commerce. By

definition, the concept of involvement is broad. As

was said in Culver v. Kurn, 354 Mo. 1158, 1163, 193

S. W. 2d 602, 604 (1946): "'Involve' imports the

idea of 'implicate,' 'include,' 'affect.' " Recent cases

dealing with the clause "involving commerce," as used

in Title 9, U. S. C. §2, indicate the trend toward a

broad view of commerce. Please compare

:

In re Cold Metal Process Co., 9 Fed. Supp. 992

(W. D. Pa. 1935); with

Petition of Prouvost Lefehvre, etc., 105 Fed.

Supp. 757 (S. D. N. Y. 1952) ; and

Wilson & Co. V. Fremont Cake & Meal Co.,

77 Fed. Supp. 364, Z7?> (D. Neb. 1948).

In Petition of Prouvost Lefehvre, etc., supra, the

respondent contended that the contract there concerned

did not evidence a transaction involving commerce, be-

cause the shipments to be the subject of the arbitration

were wholly intrastate. The Court held that because

the contract evidenced a transaction between persons in

different states (the identical situation before the Court

in the instant case), and because instructions for the
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wholly intrastate transaction were through the mails,

the transaction involved commerce. The arbitration

was ordered.

2. There Is an Arbitrable Issue Before the Court.

Appellants' argument to the general effect that there

is no arbitrable issue (Reply Br. pp. 30-31) is premised

necessarily upon their assumption that the condition

precedent has been waived. Manifestly, if there was no

waiver of the condition precedent, the issue of suf-

ficiency remained in the case and under the terms of the

agreement was arbitrable. The Court's attention is in-

vited to section II B of this brief which, we believe,

demonstrates that the condition precedent has not been

waived.

It is respectfully submitted that the arbitrable issue

exists by reason of the following

:

(a) The contract contemplates that an arbitra-

ble controversy as to water may arise [Clk. Tr.

pp. 46-47]

;

(b) The amended complaint tenders the issue as

to whether the wells are physically able to produce

sufficient water [Clk. Tr. pp. 28-29]

;

(c) The answers filed on behalf of the Appel-

lees accept the tender and create the issue as to

the sufficiency of water [Clk. Tr. pp. 72, 154].

Under the circumstances, and in the absence of a

waiver (which Appellants did not believe existed at

the time of the filing of the first amended complaint),

it is difficult to see how they can contend that the

matter of the sufficiency of the water was not an issue

in the case.
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3. Arbitration Should Have Been Ordered by the District

Court.

Appellants concede that the contract was to be per-

formed "for the most part" in California, but was "at

least partially executed and performed in Texas." (Reply

Br. p. 34.) We think it clear that a contract to be

performed partially in one state and partially in another,

contemplating the building of many structures, and

necessarily the interstate shipment of materials in con-

nection therewith, involves commerce in the sense of

Title 9, U. S. C.

In this connection, the Court's attention is invited

to the case of Ross v. Twentieth Century-Fox Film

Corporation, 236 F. 2d 632 (9 Cir. 1956), where the

contract concerned was solely and exclusively for the

sale of motion picture rights to a literary property en-

titled "The Robe." The purchase price was to be de-

termined by the net receipts of the motion picture

based on the work. The contract was made in Cali-

fornia, and the transfer of the literary rights provided

therein was effected in California. The Ninth Circuit

held that since the contract called for the production

of a motion picture for national sale and distribution,

and because that provision was no minor nor incidental

aspect of the bargain, the contract was one evidencing

a transaction in commerce, and that the stay provided

in Title 9, U. S. C. §3 should be granted.

The instant case is stronger on its facts than Ross v.

Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corporation, supra.

We believe Appellants misunderstand the holding of

Bernhardt v. Polygraphia Co. of America, 350 U. S.

198, 76 S. Ct. 273 (1956) when they state that the
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case stands for the proposition that the right to arbi-

trate does not owe its existence to Federal law. The

holding of the Bernhardt case is that absent a contract

within the ambit of Title 9, U. S. C. §2, the substan-

tive right to arbitration is to be determined by state

law. But it is quite clear from Robert Lawrence Com-

pany V. Devonshire Fabrics, Inc., 271 F. 2d 402, 407-

410 (2 Cir. 1959) that by its enactment of the United

States Arbitration Act the creation of a body of Fed-

eral substantive law was intended by Congress. In that

connection. Judge Medina stated, supra, at page 406,

the following:

"We think it reasonably clear that the Congress

intended by the Arbitration Act to create a new

body of Federal substantive law affecting the va-

lidity and interpretation of arbitration agreements

Accordingly, Appellants' assertion that the Federal

Court "only enforces the state created right by rules

of procedure, required by the Federal Act, not neces-

sarily the same as state procedure," is wholly without

support.

In addition, as noted in Appellees' Brief at page 53,

the question of whether or not an agreement contains

a valid arbitration clause is a question of procedure,

determinable by Federal and not local law, and there-

fore, as pointed out, the conflicts problem which Ap-

pellants raise at page 34 of the Reply Brief does not

really exist.

At page 38 of the Reply Brief, Appellants suggest

that Robert Lawrence Company v. Devonshire Fabrics,

Inc., supra, is some kind of unique judicial aberration.
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That it is not, we believe, is quite clear from Metro.

Industrial Painting Corp. v. Terminal Construction Co.,

181 Fed. Supp. 130, 133 (D. C. S. D. N. Y. 1950),

and Rosenthal-Block China Corporation, 183 Fed. Supp.

659, 661 (D. C. S. D. N. Y. 1960), where the Court

quotes with approval the language of Judge Medina

hereinabove set forth.

Appellants then go on to argue, if we understand

them correctly, that if we assume that the contract

here in question does not evidence a transaction involv-

ing interstate commerce, that the law of Texas with

respect to arbitration applies. In 2 Beale, Conflict of

Laws, page 1245, the following appears:

"American courts, without exception, hold that

arbitration agreements pertain to remedy or pro-

cedure. Consequently, the law of the forum deter-

mines their enforceability, regardless of the place

where the contract containing an arbitration pro-

vision was made, or was to be performed, or the

law intended by the parties to govern

Following the remedy rule the Federal Courts ap-

ply their own, and not the state court-common-law

or statute with regard to arbitration. The Eng-

lish cases uniformly hold arbitration substantive,

with results contrary to those set forth above."

(emphasis added.)

Professor Beale cites a wealth of cases for the prop-

osition that arbitration is procedural and goes to rem-

edy, rather than substantive right, and in the context

of the Erie Railroad doctrine we respectfully submit

that in this area, and assuming that Title 9, U. S. C.

is for some reason inapplicable, the Court would look
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to the California law with respect to the arbitration

clause, and not to the Texas law.

In Crofoot v. Blair Holdings Corp., 119 Cal. App. 2d

156, 193 (S. Ct. hearing denied 1953), the District

Court of Appeal of the State of California stated the

proposition that ''it is, of course, the law that in the

absence of agreement to the contrary the law of the

forum governs arbitration proceedings . . .".

Appellants to the contrary notwithstanding, we be-

lieve it clear that sections 1280 and 1284 of the Code of

Civil Procedure of the State of California means what

they say in declaring arbitration agreements to be valid.

Granted that it is not an absolute right, and that the

statement in Local 659, I. A. T. S. E. v. Color Corp. of

America, 47 Cal. 2d 189, 194 (1956) is correct. Appel-

lants have not revoked the contract, and indeed are pro-

ceeding in reliance upon the contract.

Conclusion.

It is respectfully submitted that Appellants have had

their day in court. If they are dissatisfied with what

they were awarded, the error was not that of the Trial

Court, but rather their own in asking for more than

they were entitled to.

Insofar as possible, we have attempted to confine

this brief to the Cross-Appeal. As we noted in Appel-

lees' Brief, the Cross-Appeal was taken and the points

raised in order to bring the three errors to the attention

of the Court of Appeals so that they should not become

the law of the case in the event of reversal by reason of

Appellants' appeal. We repeat our willingness, however,

to accept a dismissal of the Cross-Appeal notwithstand-
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ing the three errors noted therein, should the Court of

Appeals conclude that Appellants' appeal is not well

taken.

Accordingly, the judgment of the District Court

should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

Walter Ely,

By John J. Quinn, Jr.,

Attorney for Appellee and Cross-Appellant

C. W. Murchison,

Stuart L. Kadison,

Attorney for Appellee and Cross-Appellant

Simi Valley Development Company.

Certificate.

I certify that in connection with the preparation of

this brief, I have examined Rules 18 and 19 of the

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit,

and that in my opinion the foregoing brief is in full

compliance with those rules.

Stuart L. Kadison
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INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT.

In the introductory portions of their brief, Appellees-

Cross-Appellants (hereinafter referred to as "Appel-

lees") make certain statements that require a brief re-

sponse.

First, it should be noted that Appellees characterize

their position, insofar as the application of the doctrine

of breach by anticipatory repudiation is concerned, in

the following language

:

"In brief, our position is that the Trial Court

was correct in holding, as a matter of law, that

the contract was not susceptible to the application

of the doctrine of breach by anticipatory repudia-

tion . .
." (Appellees' Br. \). 1).
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As we have previously noted at some length, a holding

to this effect would be contrary to the applicable state

law (Appellants' Op. Br. Point I, pp. 20-53). More

pertinently, however, the Trial Court did not so hold

;

rather, it adopted findings, prepared by Appellees, to

the effect that Appellees had not repudiated their con-

tract, and concluded from this that no anticipatory

breach had occurred. Thus, the decision below rested,

not on the legal ground presently advocated by Appel-

lees, but rather on the factual basis advocated by them

in the Trial Court. As we have indicated, the latter

basis is equally indefensible (Appellants' Op. Br. Point

II, pp. 64-71).

Second, Appellees are incorrect in their contention

that the burden of showing the occurrence of a condi-

tion to their obligations was upon Appellants; the bur-

den, under the contract in question and the circum-

stances of this case, was clearly upon Appellees (Point

II, infra).

Third, Appellees appear to suggest (Appellees' Br.

pp. 1-6, 7-8) that once payment of the down payment

and sums required to be paid during the first two years

following the consummation of the agreement had been

made, the contract was in the nature of a lease calling

for royalty payments, with payments dependent solel)'

upon production. While the situation is to a limited

extent analogous, the analogy may not be carried as

far as Appellees seek to carry it. Appellants have de-

livered fee title to their properties, and can no longer

claim any present right, title or interest or any right

to a remainder or reversionary interest. The purchase

price to which they are entitled under the agreement
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is one million dollars; and while the rate at which pay-

ment is to be made is dependent upon production the

right to ultimate payment of the entire amount is fixed.

^

Thus, the statement made by Appellees at page 8, that

after the first two year period Appellants had the op-

tion to take water at the well head at the specified rate,

or nothing, and elected to take nothing, is manifestly

incorrect. Appellants' option was to take water at the

well head in payment of a portion of the purchase price,

or to wait until subsequent years and take payment

in cash. The failure to exercise the option only delayed

the payment, and in no way operated to discharge it.

Furthermore, by the time the right to exercise the op-

tion matured for the first time, Appellees were in

breach, Appellants had elected to treat the breach as an

anticipatory breach, and an election to take water could

well have operated as a waiver of substantial rights by

Appellants.

Fourth, the suggestion that the jury was dismissed

on the agreement and stipulation of the parties (Ap-

pellees' Br. p. 9), while technically correct, is mislead-

ing. As Appellees properly point out, the trial judge

ruled that no issue of fact remained for jury determina-

tion. The trial judge rejected the suggestion of Ap-

pellants that the proper procedure would be to instruct

the jury in accordance with the judg's legal rulings,

and left Appellants no alternative other than to consent

to the discharge of the jury. Manifestly, no one an-

ticipated that the trial judge, having already indicated

'Of course, any further obligation on Appellees' part may he

terminaterl hy reconveyance of the water lands to Appellants,

l)ut Ai)])ellees have a])i)arently disabled themselves from makin,^-

such reconveyance [Clk. Tr. p. 281].



his rulings and his reasons therefor, would proceed to

adopt findings, conclusions, and a judgment based upon

those very matters he had ruled immaterial. It is not

the discharge of the jury, in itself, that is objected to;

it is rather the reversal of position, on the part of the

trial court, that ultimately resulted in the entry of a

judgment expressly based upon findings of fact which

invade the province of the jury.

I.

THE DOCTRINE OF TOTAL BREACH OR BREACH
OF CONTRACT BY ANTICIPATORY REPUDIA-
TION IS APPLICABLE TO THE AGREEMENT IN

THE CASE AT BAR.

A. The Rule of Law to the Effect That Uncondi-

tional Unilateral Contracts for the Payment of

Money in Installments Are Not the Proper

Subjects for the Doctrine of Anticipatory

Breach Is Not Applicable.

As was to be expected Appellees have relied heavily

on the line of cases which support the proposition that

the doctrine of anticipatory breach is not applicable to

certain types of contracts for the payment of mone3^

The cases relied on by Appellees represent the ma-

jority view as expressed by this Court and the Cali-

fornia Supreme Court and we do not quarrel with it.

However, Appellees in their attempt to demonstrate that

the rule is applicable to the case at bar are forcing an

extension of it to a type of contract not involved in the

cases on which they rely and are thereby attributing

to it a far reaching effect not intended or contemplated

by the courts. We suggest that if indeed any modifica-

tions of the rule were to be made the courts would be



more inclined toward a restriction on its scope along

the lines suggested in the cases expressing the minority

view or the observations of Professor Corbin on the

subject.

Placid Oil Company v. Humphrey, 244 F. 2d 184

(5th Cir. 1957);

4 Corbin on Contracts, §962 f f, p. 864 f f.

The language employed by the courts indicates that

the rule is precise and, by its terms as well as its ap-

plication, limited to a very narrow field of contracts.

It is concerned with a particular type of agreement such

as an insurance contract, a promissory note or a lease.

This Court in John Hancock Mutual Life Ins. Co. v.

Cohen, 254 F. 2d 417 (9th Cir. 1958) defined the rule

as follows:

"We conclude the general rule to be that the doc-

trine of anticipatory breach has no application to

snits to enforce contracts for future payment of

money only, in installments or otherzmse. Cobb v.

Pacific Mutual, supra; Flinn v. Mowry, supra;

Brix V. People's Mutual Life Ins. Co., supra; Sul-

yok V. Penzintezeti, 279 App. Div. 528, 111

N. Y. S. 2d 75, 82; 105 A.L.R. 460; Restatement.

Contracts, §§ 316-318; 5 Williston, Contracts,

3740 - 3743; 12 Cal. Jur. 2d, Contracts §§ 246-

250; see also 24 Calif. L. Rev. 216." (emphasis

added) (254 F. 2d at 426).

".
. . But we find no indication in either the

law of New Mexico or of California of an intent

to depart from the majority view that nncondi-
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tional unilateral contracts for the payment of money

in installments are not the pi'oper subjects for the

doctrine of anticipatory breach." (emphasis added)

(254 F. 2d at 426-427).

If the rule, as defined in the John Hancock case, is

applied to the agreement in the case at bar the conclu-

sion is inescapable that this agreement does not come

within its terms.

1. The Agreement Is Not Unconditional.

Appellees themselves acknowledge the agreement to be

conditional for they assert that their obligation to con-

struct and install the pipelines and reservoir by June 12,

1958, was conditioned on there being sufficient water

and they further claim that the water was not sufficient,

thus excusing their performance. Appellees conclude

''there can be no repudiation through failure to perform

a conditional obligation when the condition has not been

met, . .
." citing Clarey v. Security Portland Cement

Co. Inc., 99 Cal. App. 783 (1929) (Appellees' Br. p.

19). We are unable to discover any language in the

Clarey opinion in support of this proposition, but re-

gardless of whether or not it is a correct statement of

the law it is in any event inapplicable because by failing

to construct and install the reservoir and pipelines prior

to June 12, 1958, and prior to the time this lawsuit

was commenced. Appellees thereby placed it out of their

power to go forward with the development of the Mont-

gomery lands for residential and industrial purposes as

contemplated by the agreement, and thus rendered mean-

ingless their implicit undertaking to produce, save and

sell water and their express obligation to make payment

therefor to Appellants. This is precisely the type of
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situation in which the doctrines of anticipatory breach

or total breach are said to be appHcable.

Wolf V. Marsh, 54 Cal. 228 (1880);

Grant v. Warren, 31 Cal. App. 453, 160 Pac. 847

(1916);

Restatement of Contracts, §317, Comment (b).

Since Appellees make much of their argument that the

agreement was conditional (Appellees' Br. pp. 42-50) it

is difficult to ascertain how they can at the same time

insist that the limiting rule which is applicable only to

unconditional contracts can be invoked.

2. The Agreement Remained Bilateral.

This point has heretofore been discussed in some de-

tail in Appellants' Opening Brief, pages 26-28, wherein

the several covenants and duties, express and implied

which remained unperformed are set forth. A further

example of its bilateral nature, and one not previously

referred to is found in Paragraph (h) of the agree-

ment, wherein it is provided that Appellees at their elec-

tion, if they determined the water to be insufficient,

could reconvey the wells to Appellants and further pro-

vided that Appellants would then be obligated to accept

them and to relieve Appellees from any further obliga-

tions under the agreement. The informative discussion

on this entire subject of anticipatory breach and the

limiting rule found in the dissenting opinion in Federal

Life Ins. Co. v. Rasco, 12 F. 2d 693, 695-696 (6th

Cir. 1926), contains a comment on the meaning of the

term ''executory" or "bilateral" as it relates to the ap-

plication of the restricting rule. It was there observed

that a contract is deemed to be executory as against

plaintiff if it requires him to do something so that an



—8—
action may lie against him for specific performance or

for non-performance if he fails to perform. So, apply-

ing this test to the case at bar, undoubtedly Appellees

could have brought an action against Appellant Stephen

Riess if he had refused to locate additional wells as re-

quired by Paragraph (c) of the agreement; or an action

for specific performance could have been brought by

Appellees based on Appellants' alleged refusal to arbi-

trate.

By their argument to the effect that Appellants in

the absence of cash payments were obligated to demand

payment in kind, i.e., water (assuming for the moment

that the argument has any merit) Appellees themselves

call attention to yet another provision of the agreement

which remained executory and unperformed (Appellees'

Br. pp. 27-28). Furthermore, by retaining the wells

and refusing to construct the water system prior to

June 12, 1958, Appellees as a result were in breach of

their covenant of good faith and fair dealing and their

obligation to diligently go forward with the objects and

purposes of the agreement which the law under these

circumstances will imply.

Winegar v. Gray, 204 Adv. Cal. App. 332, 22

Cal. Rptr. 301 (1962).

3. The Agreement Is Not a Simple Contract for the

Payment of Money in Installments.

Appellees have devoted considerable energy to an ex-

planation as to why the agreement must necessarily be

found to be one for the payment of money in install-

ments (Appellees' Br. pp. 12-24). We concede that in

part the agreement most certainly did call for the pay-

ment of money in installments in undetermined amounts
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measured by the quantities of water produced, saved and

sold. But it also required the performance by Appel-

lees of certain acts. The most important of these acts,

from the Appellants' standpoint, was the construction

and installation of the pipelines and reservoir prior to

June 12, 1958. In addition, Paragraph 5 of the agree-

ment required Appellees to perform other acts. Appel-

lees, however, with equal enthusiasm have asserted that

the agreement does not call for payment of money in

installments but rather that it imposes an obligation to

pay in kind (Appellees' Br. pp. 27-30). This argu-

ment, we submit, is self defeating since the very rule

which Appellees seek to invoke is limited solely to con-

tracts requiring the payment of money in installments.

4. The Restricting Rule Is Not Applicable to Indivisible

Contracts Calling for Performance of Connected Acts.

It is immaterial really whether the agreement is found

to be bilateral or unilateral, conditional or unconditional,

or whether in other respects it meets the test set forth

in the John Hancock case, because the California Su-

preme Court has held that in any event the restrictive

rule does not apply where the acts to be performed by

tJie promisor are connected with one another and the

thing to be accomplished by the contract is total.

Gold Mining & Water Co. v. Swinerton, 23 Cal.

2d 19, 29-30, 142 P. 2d 22 (1943)

;

Restatement of Contracts, §316.

Although a detailed analysis of the agreement demon-

strating its indivisibility and elaborating on the ways

in which the various acts and ol)ligations were inter-

connected has i^reviously been made (Appellants' O]).

Br. p]). M'-37, 41-42). a further examination seems in
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order in view of the importance of the point. We have

observed that pursuant to the provisions of this agree-

ment Appellees purchased the water wells from Appel-

lants to provide water for the Montgomery lands which

they proposed to develop for residential and industrial

purposes. A portion of the purchase price w^as paid to

Appellants but by far the greater part of it was to be

paid over a period of time in amounts to be determined

by the quantity of water produced, saved and sold.

Water could be produced, saved and sold only if a water

system were constructed to convey the water from the

wells to the Montgomery land and Appellees agreed to

construct that water system within two years from the

date of consummation of the purchase (June 12, 1956).

By entering into this bargain Appellants thereby gave

up all their right, title and interest to the water wells

and Appellees thereafter were in complete control thereof

and they alone had the power to determine their fate.

The only express protection Appellants had to assure

payment of the unpaid balance of the purchase price

was the provision requiring Appellees to construct the

water system, the existence of which would enable the

water from the wells to be marketed. The only other

protection which Appellants had was the implied obliga-

tion of good faith on the part of Appellees to go for-

ward diligently with the development of the Montgom-

ery land and to carry out the purposes of the agreement

to the end that water could be produced, saved and sold

and payment made therefor to Appellants. On the other

hand, in the event any question developed concerning

sufficiency of the water wells, Appellees had ample pro-

tection because they had the right to relieve themselves

of all obligations under the agreement at any time by
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reconveying the wells to Appellants. Appellees did not

construct the water system prior to June 12, 1958, sub-

sequently claiming excuse because of insufficiency of

water. However, they did not exercise their right to

reconvey the wells so as to be relieved of their obliga-

tions under the agreement. On the contrary, to this

day they have retained the water wells (which they

claim to be insufficient), have constructed the water

system (which they say they were excused from con-

structing), and have used the "insufficient" water over

a period of years for a variety of purposes, all without

any payment to Appellants since September, 1957. The

conclusion to be drawn, we believe, is that this was in-

deed an indivisible contract requiring the performace of

interrelated acts and the type of agreement which the

courts have uniformly found to be subject to the doc-

trine of anticipatory breach.

B. The Proposition That an Obligation to Be Per-

formed in Installments Cannot Be Accelerated

in the Absence of an Acceleration Clause Is

Not Supported by the Authorities.

Appellees have asserted as a bare legal proposition

that an obligation to be performed in installments can-

not be accelerated in the absence of an acceleration

clause (Appellees' Br. pp. 30-31). This contention

finds no support whatever in the authorities cited by

Appellees and certainly the law applicable, as expressed

by the leading cases in which the doctrine of anticipa-

tory breach has been invoked, is directly contrary. For

example, in Gold Mining & Water Co. v. Szmnerton,

supra, where the contract in question was a ten year

mining lease with payments therefor to be made in in-
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stallments and in amounts which were to be determined

by production from the mine, the court stated as fol-

lows :

".
. . Clearly, the lease contemplated the con-

tinuous extraction of minerals by lessees as one en-

tire obligation. The mere fact that the royalties

zvere payable monthly and that 300,000 cubic yards

were to be worked annually carries no implication

that each payment of royalties was severable from

the other, or that each year's output of 300,000

cubic yards was severable from every other year.

Rather the one was merely a specification of the

time for paying whatever the royalties there might

be and the other a minimum below which the out-

put should not fall. It is not like the case of money

payable in fixed installments.'" (emphasis sup-

plied) (23 Cal. 2d at 29-30).

See also:

Coughlin v. Blair, 41 Cal. 2d 587, 262 P. 2d

305 (1953);

Grant v. Warren, 31 Cal. App. 453, 160 Pac.

847 (1916);

Love V. Mabury, 59 Cal. 484 (1881).

Appellees could only justify such a conclusion if they

assumed not only that the agreement fell within that

narrow field of contracts which are unilateral, uncondi-

tional and require only the payment of money in in-

stallments, but also that it was not an indivisible con-

tract calling for the performance of interrelated acts,

and that they had not at the time of the breach placed

it out of their power to perform as to a substantial

part.
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C. At No Time Have Appellants Sought to Convert
the Agreement to an Obligation to Pay in Kind
or to in Any Way Rew^rite It.

Appellees, as we have seen, insist that the bargain

was Hmited to the right of Appellants to receive and

to the obligation on Appellees' part to pay monies in

installments in amounts determined by quantities of wa-

ter produced, saved and sold and therefore the doctrine

of anticipatory breach is not applicable under the re-

striction laid down in the John Hancock and related

cases (Appellees' Br. pp. 12-24). That there is no sup-

port for this contention to be found in the language

of the agreement has hereinabove been demonstrated

under subheading A. Yet when it suits them Appellees

argue that Appellants' bargain was limited to their right

to receive and an obligation on Appellees' part to pay

the balance of the consideration in kind (Appellees' Br.

pp. 27-28) and that Appellants, having waived the

right to demand payment in kind, could not in any event

invoke the doctrine of anticipatory breach. This argu-

ment, however, completely loses sight of the fact that

under Paragraph 2(b) of the agreement the earliest mo-

ment that Appellants could have given notice demand-

ing payment in kind, assuming they elected to exercise

this right, was thirty days after June 12, 1959, the

end of the first accounting year. Appellants by com-

mencing this action for anticipatory breach in October,

1958 thereby made final their election to treat the agree-

ment as terminated and any demand for payment in
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kind thereafter would have been totally inconsistent with

this election. Moreover, such action by Appellants

might then have been treated as a waiver or an estoppel

so as to preclude Appellants from successfully asserting

the doctrine of anticipatory breach. The argument

completely overlooks the fact that an integral part of

the consideration of this agreement was the obligation

imposed on Appellees to construct and install the reser-

voir and pipelines, that Appellees were already in breach

of their obligation to pay the balance of the $48,000.00

owed for the first two year period, and that Appellees

had stated they would not perform in accordance with

the terms of the agreement. Upon the failure of Ap-

pellees to perform that obligation to construct and in-

stall, the breach then became a total breach and was so

treated by Appellants. Under these circumstances the

law treats the promise as absolute and unconditional

and holds the promisor to the obligation to pay the bal-

ance in cash.

Grant v. Warren, supra;

Coughlin v. Blair, supra;

Gold Mining & Water Co. v. Swinerton, supra.

Thereafter, if the injured party elects to bring suit

for total breach or breach by anticipatory repudiation,

as in the instant case, the contract ceases to exist for

all purposes except to determine damages.

Winegar v. Gray, supra;

Coughlin v. Blair, supra;

Alder V. Orudis, 30 Cal. 2d 372, 182 P. 2d 195

(1947).



—15—

II.

THE CONTENTION THAT APPELLEES WERE
NOT OBLIGATED TO CONSTRUCT OR INSTALL
A RESERVOIR AND PIPELINES OR THAT
THEY WERE EXCUSED FROM PERFORMANCE
IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS OR THE
APPLICABLE LAW.

A. The Question of Sufficiency of Water, if It Was
a Condition at Ail, Was a Condition Subsequent.

The Appellants have alleged that the wells now lo-

cated on the water lands were physically able to produce

sufficient quantities of water so as to adequately serv-

ice the Montgomery lands and that the water lands were

capable of commercially producing many millions of gal-

lons. The Appellees have denied these allegations and

have affirmatively asserted that the wells were not

capable of commercially producing many millions of gal-

lons, that they were not sufficient to service the Mont-

gomery lands, and that they were not sufficient to sup-

ply water to more than 200 acres [Clk. Tr. pp. 24, 28-

29, 71, 74, 153, 154, 156, 158 J. The question of suf-

ficiency, Appellants maintain, is related to facts which

are such that, if it can be said that any condition is

created at all, give rise to a condition subsequent which

is a matter of proof for Appellees.

The agreement gave Appellants the right to have the

pipelines and reservoir installed and constructed by the

Appellees prior to June 12, 1958. That right was sub-

ject to termination, say Appellees, if the water was in-

sufficient to service the Montgomery land. Since it is

true that a condition precedent fixes the beginning of a

right while a condition subsequent fixes the end, it is

clear that the question of sufficiency in this instance
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could only be a condition subsequent. Stated differently,

the contract imposed on the Appellees the obligation to

construct and install the pipelines and reservoir prior to

June 12, 1958, and the contract provided further that

Appellees might be relieved of their obligation if there

was insufficient water. This factual situation then

falls precisely within the definition of a condition sub-

sequent as set forth in the California Civil Code

:

"§1438. Condition subsequent. A condition

subsequent is one referring to a future event, upon

the happening of which the obligation becomes no

longer binding upon the other party, if he chooses

to avail himself of the condition."

Since the provision excusing performance by the Ap-

pellees is solely for their benefit and is subject to their

discretion to invoke it, should that condition fail to oc-

cur it is, as a consequence, a matter to be relied upon

by way of defense and the burden of proof necessarily

must fall on the Appellees to establish its occurence.

A case directly in point under circumstances nearly

identical with those in the instant case, holding that

sufficiency, or lack of it, is a matter to be established by

a preponderance of the evidence by defendants is Fort

Worth Sand & Gravel Co. v. Peters,, 103 S. W. 2d 407

(Tex. Civ. App. 1937). There plaintiff as lessor en-

tered into a lease with defendant in July, 1928, whereby

he leased 40 acres of land, along with the exclusive

use of a certain railroad track and ingress and egress

rights. Defendant agreed to pay plaintiff a royalty of

10 cents per cubic yard for all gravel and sand taken

from the premises and further agreed if it did not take

enough sand and gravel during a month so that royal-
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ties equalled $200 it would pay that amount as a mini-

mum, provided, that if the $200 exceeded the amount

due lessor based on yardage removed lessor thereafter

and before expiration of the lease could remove sand and

gravel to the extent of that excess. The lease provided

further that if sand and gravel became exhausted or

the quality was such that it could not be mined with

reasonable profit then on 30 days notice defendant

might terminate the lease. The lessee took possession

under the lease and made monthly payments until May,

1930, when it gave notice of termination. Plaintiff

sued for $2,700, the minimum royalty promised for the

unexpired term. Defendant claimed it entered into the

lease believing there to be sufficient sand and gravel of

good quality and that the parties made a mutual mis-

take as to this; that the consideration failed because of

the absence of sand and gravel in sufficient quality and

quantity to permit mining at a reasonable profit; that

it had expended substantial sums of money in connec-

tion with the lease ; and that the contract permitted such

a termination. Plaintiff claimed that defendant made

its own tests to satisfy itself as to quantity and qual-

ity; that defendant made no bona fide attempt to mine

the sand and gravel prior to breach; that the sand and

gravel were of sufficient quality and quantity and

could have been mined at reasonable profit. In deciding

for plaintiff the court stated that defendant, in order

to terminate the lease, must allege and prove the hap-

pening of the condition and provisions specified in

the contract . If defendant was not justified in

terminating the lease then plaintiff was entitled to re-

cover the minimum royalty payments for the remainder

of the life of the contract and plaintiff was only re-
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quired to prove as to the amount of damages suffered

the minimum contracted to be paid under the contract.

The court held with respect to the question of quahty

and sufficiency that since defendant challenged the

right of plaintiff to recover by reason of certain ex-

ceptions and that by reason of the exceptions there was

no liability on defendant and special issues based on

such exceptions were submitted to the jury, it was

proper to instruct the jury that the burden of proof

was on defendant to establish by a preponderance of

the evidence that the condition or exception existed.

In Oosten v. Hay Haulers, etc., 45 Cal. 2d 784, 291 P.

2d 17 (1955), the rule is enunciated that where the de-

fendant alleges an affirmative defense to an action for

breach of contract such as impossibility, frustration,

failure of consideration or other typical affirmative

defenses which are not expressly provided for in the

contract, the burden of proving the fact constituting the

defense is on the defendant. Such a rule would seem

by analogy to be as applicable to cases such as the one

at bar, where non-occurrence of a condition is the af-

firmative defense asserted.

B. Assuming Sufficiency of Water Was a Condi-

tion Precedent, the Burden of Proof to Establish

Non-Occurrence of the Condition Was Never-

theless on Appellees.

Even if it is conceded for the sake of argument that

the question of sufficiency did create a condition prec-

edent it is nevertheless well established that in certain

instances the existence of a condition precedent will be

assumed unless it is disproved by the defendant. For

example, there are cases wherein a fact is clearly a con-
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dition precedent to the duty of defendant but the cir-

cumstances concerning it are particularly within the

knowledge of defendant. In such instances the court

quite properly has made the assumption that the condi-

tion did occur unless the defendant proves that it did

not.

Southwest Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n v.

Cosmopolitan National Bank, 23 111. App. 2d

174. 161 N. E. 2d 697 (1959);

Stoddard v. Illinois Improvement & Ballast Co.,

275 111. 199, 113N. E. 913 (1916);

3A Corbin on Contracts, pp. 142-143, 467-468.

Appellees contend that Paragraph 3 of the agreement

indicates the promise of the Appellees to construct the

water system was conditioned on there being an ade-

quate supply of water and that the failure to construct

the water system and proceed with the development of

the Montgomery land prior to June 12, 1958, was oc-

casioned by the insufficiency of the water available from

the water lands to develop the Montgomery acreage for

subdivision and commercial uses. If a fact is a condi-

tion precedent to the promisor's duty of performance,

its absence or non-occurrence is a defense in an action

brough against the promisor for breach of his promise.

Nevertheless, the party who must assume the burden of

allegation, of going forward with the evidence and of

])ersuasion may be ascertained, not by the nature of the

fact or event necessarily, but by other facts or events

such as actual possession of documents, personal par-

ticipation in the transaction, easy access to information

available to one party and not the other.

3A Corbin on Contracts, pp. 143, 467-468, 475.
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Consequently, even if we view the language in Para-

graph 3 in the light most favorable to Appellees' con-

tention that sufficiency was a condition precedent to

Appellees' duty to construct, the fact that it may be a

condition precedent may alone be insufficient to require

Appellants to shoulder the burden of proving the ful-

fillment of that condition. The cases indicate the weight

given to other factors.

For example, in Fleming v. Harrison, 162 F. 2d 789

(8th Cir. 1947) the court stated:

"It has been established as a general rule of evi-

dence that the burden of proof lies on the person

who wishes to support his case by a particular fact

more peculiarly within his knowledge or of which

he is supposed to be cognizant." (162 F. 2d p.

792).

See also:

Selma, Rome etc. Railroad v. United States, 139

U. S. 560, 11 S. Ct. 638, 35 L. Ed. 260.

(1891);

Butler V. Nepple, 54 Cal. 2d 589, 354 P. 2d 239

(1960);

3A Corbin on Contracts, p. 7Z.

To similar effect are the cases which hold that where

facts are within the knowledge of the defendant, the

plaintiff in order to shift the burden of proof need pro-

duce only slight evidence.

Liittrell V. Columbia Casualty Co., 136 Cal. App.

513, 28 P. 2d 1067 (1934);

Kleinpeter v. Castro, 11 Cal. App. 83, 103 Pa:.

1090 (1909);

Joost V. Craig, 131 Cal. 504, 63 Pac. 840 (1901).
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In our situation, Appellees were in exclusive posses-

sion of the water lands and the water wells; they had

caused tests of the wells to be made; only they were in

possession of knowledge concerning the development

plans for the Montgomery lands; only they had knowl-

edge of the amount of water which might be required

for that development. It is clear, therefore, that the

facts w^hich would be required to establish w-hether or

not the wells could produce sufficient water were pe-

culiarly within Appellees' knowledge. Under such cir-

cumstances it would be unfair in the extreme to im-

pose the burden of proving sufficiency of water on the

Appellants where it is Appellees who, by reason of their

exclusive knowledge of their water requirements, their

exclusive possession of the wells and water lands for

over six years and their exclusive possession of all in-

formation as to the quantities of water produced and

the uses to which such water was put during that

period, have special knowledge of all of the relevant

facts.

Appellees claim further that Appellants were required

not only to assume the burden of proving the existence

of this condition but to plead the facts demonstrating

occurrence of the condition (Appellees' Br. p. 45), and

they assert that Appellants have not complied. If the

condition were found to be a condition subsequent this

would not be the case, but in any event Appellees are

inaccurate because Appellants did allege compliance with

the condition in the amended complaint [Clk. Tr. pp.

24. 28-29]. The (juestion of who must assume the bur-

den of proof was never reached in the trial clue to the

ruling of the trial judge that sufficiency of water was

not an issue in the case.
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These allegations of facts concerning sufficiency of

the water found in the Amended Complaint may very

well have been unnecessary or superfluous since they

could have been and were alleged in defense. But the

burden of proof does not shift to Appellants merely be-

cause they have made such allegations. A case squarely

in point in that connection is Bell v. Pleasant, 145 Cal.

410, 78 Pac. 957 (190-1-), holding that plaintiff was re-

quired to prove only those facts necessary to its cause

of action, and if it had alleged facts not necessary but

which might have been alleged in defense and those

facts were denied, this would not shift the burden of

proof nor would it require plaintiff to introduce any

evidence on the subject until defendants had produced

evidence making a rebuttal necessary.

See also:

Lloyd V. Kleefisch, 48 Cal. App. 2d 408, 120 P.

2d 97 (1941).

For our purposes therefore, it is immaterial whether

the condition is found to be precedent or subsequent

for the burden of proving the non-existence of the con-

dition must in any event fall upon Appellees.

C. Appellees Have Waived Their Right to Assert

That the Obligation to Construct or Install

Pipelines Was Subject to a Condition Precedent.

It is conceded by Appellees that they did not con-

struct or install the pipelines and reservoirs prior to

June 12, 1958, but that subsequently in or around 1960

they did commence the construction and installation

work and did in fact complete it in 1961 so that pipe-

lines were extended from the wells to each of the parcels

comprising the Montgomery property, as required by the
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agreement. It is conceded also that they have retained

the wells and all of the property conveyed to them by

Appellants; that they have used the water for irriga-

tion purposes in connection with grazing cattle and the

raising of alfalfa, for construction purposes and for do-

mestic use at the residence; that they have furnished

water to two mutual water companies; and that they

have made no payments whatever to Appellants since

September, 1957. Appellees even concede that they were

dependent on such water as there was for development

of a portion of the Montgomery land yet they contend

that the water was nevertheless insufficient to service

the Montgomery land for residential and industrial pur-

poses. [Clk. Tr. pp. 71, 74, 153, 154, 156, 158, 253-

254, 256-257]. It is submitted that Appellees have by

such statements and conduct waived or abandoned any

right they might otherwise have had, or excuse they

might otherwise have asserted, based on nonexistence of

a condition because they have proceeded to perform the

very acts which they were obligated to perform under

the agreement and which they contend they were ex-

cused from performing because of the insufficiency of

water. In other words, Appellees by proceeding to ren-

der the performance which they claim was excused with

the knowledge that the condition of sufficiency was not

fulfilled thereby recreated their former duty and are

precluded from now asserting the nonexistence of the

condition to which it was subject.

The applicable California rule is set forth in Wood-

ard V. Glenwood Lumber Co., 171 Cal. 513, 163 Pac.

1017 (1915). This was an action by plaintiff to obtain

a decree to the effect that defendant's rights under a
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contract were terminated. Plaintiff was the owner of a

400 acre parcel of land and also an undivided % in-

terest in a neighboring 1400 acre parcel. Both parcels

were valuable chiefly for timber. Plaintiff granted de-

fendant the right to take, cut, haul and carry away

timber upon prompt payment therefor at the rate of

$2.25 per 1,000 feet of timber from the first tract and

$1.68 per 1,000 feet from the second tract. Defendant

agreed to erect a sawmill on the premises to have a

certain capacity and to be constructed and ready to

commence manufacturing and shipping operations as

soon as there was constructed and in operation a rail-

road from Santa Cms crossing Gasos Creek. Although

the railroad was not completed defendant proceeded to

and did construct and operate the sawmill. Plaintiff

contended that although the railroad was not completed

defendant had nevertheless constructed the mill and was

therefore obligated to manufacture, ship and pay for

lumber. Defendant claimed that the building of the

railroad was a condition precedent to its obligation to

manufacture and ship lumber and that it was not obli-

gated to do this until such time. In holding for the

plaintiff the court concluded the parties intended that

certain timber should be removed from the land, but

with respect to a beginning time for such removal it

was not an agreement which defendant could indefinitely

postpone, otherwise the purpose and benefit of the

contract would be destroyed. This right to delay

construction until completion of the railroad was said

to be a privilege accorded to the defendant and ac-

cordingly could be waived. Defendant did waive it by

constructing the sawmill and operating it and so

brought about the event upon which its obligation to
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manufacture rested. The court noted as significant

factors that the land was chiefly valuable for timber,

that the contract contemplated cutting it, that plaintiff

was precluded from using the land while the contract

was in force, and that defendant had an option to pur-

chase the land.

See also:

LaMiller v. St. Claire Packing Co., 99 Cal. App.

2d 518, 222 P. 2d 75 (1950).

In order to determine whether a party has waived or

surrendered a right which he might have had, it is

not necessary to prove express language to such effect.

On the contrary, this may be established by circumstan-

ces, a course of declarations, acts or conduct.

Alpeni v. Mayfair Markets, 118 Cal. App. 2d

541, 253 P. 2d 71 (1953);

Waldteiifel v. Sailor, 62 Cal. App. 2d 577, 144

P. 2d 894 (1944);

Bettlhein v. Hagstrom Food Store, 113 Cal. Ap]).

2d 873, 240 P. 2d 301 (1952);

Wensel and Henoch Construction Co. v. Metro-

politan Water District, 115 F. 2d 25 (9th

Cir. 1940).

In this connection Professor Corbin has made the

following observation

:

"The primary contractual obligation of one

whose duty is subject to a condition precedent is

terminated just as soon as that condition can no

longer be performed . . . Nevertheless, such a

contractor has power to recreate his former duty

—
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sometimes by a mere voluntary expression of

waiver—and nearly always by continuing to render

his own performance or by receiving further per-

formance from the other party with knowledge

that the condition has not been performed."

3A Corbin on Contracts, p. 497.

The acts, conduct and circumstances in the case at

bar which are conceded to have existed demonstrate

conclusively that Appellees have waived and surrendered

their right to now assert in defense of their failure to

perform, excuse or nonexistence of a condition.

D. The Claim of Insufficient Water by Appellees

Was Not Made in Good Faith.

In ruling that the question of sufficiency of water

was not relevant or material to the issues in the case

at bar [Rep. Tr. p. 365] the trial judge relied on the

language of the agreement itself. He made the follow-

ing observations : Appellees were given a period of

nine months within which to test the wells and satisfy

themselves as to sufficiency before they consummated

the purchase, and they in fact did make an investiga-

tion and conduct tests; they were granted the right to

return the wells at any time and be relieved of their

obligation if not satisfied with the sufficiency, but they

have retained the wells and have not reconveyed them;

they were required to make certain payments to Appel-

lants against the total purchase price remaining unpaid

and they failed to make any further payments after

September, 1957. The trial judge stated in this con-

nection that Appellees could not acquire the wells, hold

on to them, use them and refuse to pay for them and
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he concluded quite properly that Appellees' acts and

conduct were totally inconsistent with their claim of

insufficiency [Rep. Tr. pp. 65, 66, 69, 365]. The trial

jud,a"e must have reasoned that if there had existed a

genuine concern as to sufficiency on the part of Ap-

pellees they would not have gone ahead to eventually

construct the water system thereby incurring consider-

able expense [Clk. Tr. p. 253] but would have exercised

their right to return the wells and avoid further liability,

and that their claims of insufficiency therefore must

not have been made in good faith.

III.

THE ORDER MADE BY THE TRIAL COURT DENY-
ING APPELLEES' APPLICATION FOR A STAY
OF PROCEEDINGS PENDING ARBITRATION
WAS PROPER.

A. The Court of Appeals Has No Jurisdiction to

Entertain an Appeal on This Point, the Right

to Appeal Having Heretofore Been Waived by
Appellees.

Appellees now contend that the District Court erred

in not staying proceedings pending arbitration of the

issue as to sufficiency of water and they further claim

that their motion for a stay was properly framed under

Rule 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

and 9 U. S. C, Sections 1-4. Apparently, Appellees in

asserting error are relying on their motion made on

May 11, 1961 fClk. Tr. pp. 201-202] and the trial

court's ruling thereon although it should be noted that

certain of their prior motions for a stay were based

on the California arbitration statutes (Clk. Tr. ])p.

54-58, 65-66, 77-78]. Significantly, no appeal was
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taken by Appellees from the adverse rulings of the

trial court on any of the occasions on which said mo-

tions were made although it is settled that where there

is a special defense setting up an arbitration agreement

as an equitable plea (as in the case at bar) and there is

a denial of a motion for a stay, that decision is an

appealable interlocutory order.

Gatliff Coal Co. v. Cox, 142 F. 2d 876 (6th

Cir. 1944) ;

Shanferoke Coal & Supply Corp. v. Westchester

Service Corp., 293 U. S. 449, 55 S. Ct. 313,

79 L.Ed. 583 (1935);

Hanover Motor Exp. Co. v. Teamsters Chauf-

fers Helpers and Taxicab Drivers, 217 F. 2d

49 (6th Cir. 1954).

Accordingly, Appellees must now be deemed to have

waived their right to an appeal on this point. Further-

more, the Court of Appeals at this time, has no jurisdic-

tion to entertain an appeal purportedly taken from an

interlocutory order entered over nine months prior to

the notice of appeal.

9U. S. C. §§3,4;

28 U. S. C. §2107.

B. The Requirements of the Federal Arbitration

Act, if Applicable, Have Not Been Met by

Appellees.

Assuming for the purposes of the brief that the

Court of Appeals does have jurisdiction to entertain the

appeal from this order and that there has been no

waiver by Appellees and assuming further that the Fed-

eral Arbitration Act is applicable, it can be readily
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observed that Appellees have not brought themselves

wdthin the provisions of the Act. The Act requires

(i) a contract evidencing a transaction involving com-

merce; (ii) an arbitrable issue; (iii) that the party

seeking arbitration not be in default; and (iv) en-

forceability of the arbitration clause under applicable

state law. None of these elements is present in the

case at bar.

1. The Agreement Does Not Evidence a Transaction

Involving Interstate Commerce.

It is clear that in order for the Federal Arbitration

Act to be applicable the contract must involve a mari-

time transaction or interstate commerce.

Bernhardt v. Polygraph Co., 350 U. S. 269,

100 L. Ed. 199, 86 S. Ct. 273 (1956);

Kirschner v. West Company, 185 F. Supp. 317

(E. D. Pa., 1960).

Obviously there is no maritime transaction involved

here. It seems equally obvious from an examination

of the agreement that the transaction does not have

the faintest connection with commerce as that term is

defined in Section 1 of the Act. The agreement con-

templates the sale by Appellants of certain water wells

and adjacent lands for a total purchase price of $1,-

000.000.00 to be paid for in installments over a period

of time, plus 1/6 of the common stock of Simi. The

wells and adjacent lands are all in California; the Ap-

pellants reside in California; the property to be

developed and served by the wells is in California;

Simi. although a Delaware corporation with an office

in Dallas. Texas, carries on its operations exclusively in
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California. It would indeed be difficult to imagine a

situation so utterly removed from commerce as the

transaction presented in the instant case.

The fact that Texas law may apply for purposes of

construing the arbitration clause has nothing whatever

to do with commerce. It arises from the fact that the

original parties to the contract were residents of dif-

ferent states. The contract, as it happened, was exe-

cuted in Texas creating a conflict of laws question but

in a diversity case such as this conflicts questions fre-

quently arise. Certainly, however, this does not affect

or involve commerce even under the broadest interpreta-

tion.

2. There Is No Arbitrable Issue Before the Court.

It is essential under the federal act for the Court

to satisfy itself that there is an issue susceptible of

being arbitrated before it can order a stay. In this

connection it is important the arbitration clause be read

in its proper context. The provision is contained in

Paragraph (f) of the agreement and by its terms

relates solely and specifically to Paragraph 3 which reads

as follows:

"3. Subject to the physical ability of the well

or wells now or hereafter located on the Water

Lands to produce sufficient quantities of water so

as adequately to service the lands covered by the

Montgomery Contract with an adequate supply of

water, contemplating that such lands will be de-

veloped for residential and industrial usages, I

agree within two years from the date of the con-

summation of the purchase of the lands herein pro-

vided to be purchased by me from you, to install
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or construct or to cause to be installed or con-

structed a reservoir and pipe lines to transmit

water produced from the Water Lands at least

to the nearest boundaries of each of the three tracts

of land covered by the Montgomery Contract."

[Pltf. Ex. 1 inevid.].

The 2-year period referred to ended on June 12,

1958. The Appellees at that time had not constructed

the reservoir and pipelines as required. They claimed

they were excused from so doing because of insufficient

water. In October, 1958, Appellants brought this action

claiming default by Appellees and breach of contract

by anticipatory repudiation. Thereafter, Appellees con-

tinued to hold the property and water wells conveyed

to them by Appellants and subsequently, in 1960, com-

menced the construction of the pipelines and the reser-

voir completing it in 1961. As set forth in detail here-

inabove (Point IT), they have continued during this

period to use the water for a variety of purposes.

Obviously then there was no bona fide controversy

over sufficiency since not only have Appellees retained

the lands and wells and continued to use the water for a

variety of purposes but they performed the very act

which they claimed was conditioned on sufficiency of

water and thus did the very thing which would have

been required of them had they been unsuccessful in

an arbitration proceeding. There remains therefore no

arbitrable issue to be decided.
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3. Appellees Are in Default and Are Estopped From
Asserting or Have Waived Any Right to Arbitration.

(a) Section 3 of Title 9 provides that a stay may
be had provided "the appHcant for the stay is not in

default in proceeding with such arbitration." That Ap-

pellees are in default is amply demonstrated by their

acts and conduct since the filing of this lawsuit.

The first occasion on which Appellees applied for a

stay pending arbitration was June 30, 1959, nearly nine

months after this action was filed [Clk. Tr. pp. 54-55].

This motion and all subsequent motions were denied by

the trial court. In October, 1959 and thereafter Ap-

pellees proceeded with those matters which were con-

sistent with preparation for trial such as filing a third

party complaint, answers and counterclaims seeking

declaratory and equitable relief ; taking depositions
;
par-

ticipating in pre-trial conferences ; filing a memorandum

of contentions of law and fact [e.g., Clk. Tr. pp. 70,

150, 152, 164, 182, 190]. At no time did Appellees

apply for specific performance of the arbitration pro-

visions as they were entitled under 9 U. S. C. Section 4,

nor did they appeal from the orders of the trial court

denying their motions.

Under similar circumstances courts have held that

the party is in default and has waived his right to

arbitration or estopped himself from claiming such

right. The theory is that a party cannot pursue two

inconsistent courses of action—he must prosecute his

claimed right to arbitrate—or he must go forward to

trial, he cannot do both. That is precisely what Ap-

pellees have attempted here. For example, it has been

held that a party to a contract containing an arbitration
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clause was in default because it appeared, filed an an-

swer to the complaint, set up a counter-claim for dam-

ages, requested a continuance on the ground that a

material witness was absent and, in this instance, only

moved for arbitration on the day set for trial.

Radiator Specialty Co. v. Cannon Mills, 97 F.

2d 318 (4th Cir. 1938).

See also:

American Locomotive Co. v. Gyro Process Co.,

185 F. 2d 316 (6th Cir. 1950);

American Locomotive v. Chemical Research

Corp., 171 F. 2d 115 (6th Cir. 1949).

(b) Also relevant in determining whether Appellees

are in default and thus not entitled to relief under Sec-

tion 3 are the actions and conduct of Appellees totally

at odds with their insistence on arbitration. These

have been set forth under Point I and Subsection (a)

hereinabove and, accordingly have not been repeated

here.

4. A Federal Court Cannot Compel Arbitration Where It

Could Not Be Compelled in State Court.

fa) The decision in Bernhardt v. Polygraph Co.,

supra, makes it abundantly clear that the right of ar-

bitration does not owe its existence to federal law. The

Federal Court only enforces the state created right by

rules of procedure, required by the federal act. not

necessarily the same as state procedure. So in a di-

\'ersity case, such as we have here, the federal court en-

forcing a state created right is only another court of

the state. As pointed out in the Bernhardt case, arbi-

tration carries no right to a jury trial : arbitrators do
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not have judicial instruction on the law; arbitrators

need not give reasons for the result; the record is not

complete; judicial review of an award is restricted. Ac-

cordingly, the courts have concluded that the question

of arbitration is a substantive one, likely to effect the

outcome of any case. Therefore, in diversity cases fed-

eral courts look to the law of the forum to determine

whether proceedings should be stayed pending arbitra-

tion, including, if relevant, the forum's law as to the

conflicts of laws.

Bernhardt v. Polygraph Co., supra;

Jackson V. Atlantic City Electric Co., 144 F.

Supp. 551 (D.N.J. 1956).

Questions involving conflict of laws are present here

by reason of the fact that the contract although to be

performed for the most part in California was never-

theless made in Texas between a resident of Texas and

a resident of California and it was at least partially

executed and performed in Texas, [e.g. Clk. Tr. pp.

233-237, 148-149, 438; Paragraphs 5A, 5B of Pltf.

Ex. 1 in evid. ] . For our purposes it can be assumed that

the performance of certain acts by Simi, such as the

issuance of stock to Appellants, required formal action

by the corporation at its principal place of business in

Dallas, Texas. Under these circumstances, questions

relating to the validity of the contract and the provi-

sions thereof such as an arbitration clause are to be de-

termined by applying the law of Texas and a California

court will look to the law of Texas to determine the
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validity or enforceability of this clause, as the law of

the place where it was made.

Mercantile Acceptance Co. v. Frank, 203 Cal.

483,265 Pac. 190 (1928);

Cohen v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 32 Cal.

App. 2d 337, 89 P. 2d 732 ( 1939)

;

Restatement, Conflict of Laws §332.

Under Texas law, agreements to submit future dis-

putes to arbitration are unenforceable, and can be re-

voked by the parties at any time before the award is

made. An agreement in an executory contract to refer

matters of dispute that may arise under the contract

will not oust courts of jurisdiction and, when invoked

for that purpose, will be held void.

Tejas Development Co. v. McGough Bros., 165

F. 2d 276 (5Cir. 1947);

Florida Athletic Club v. Hope Lumber Co., 18

Tex. Civ. App. 161, 44 S. W. 10 (1898).

Since the question of the enforceability of the arbitra-

tion clause in this contract is one going to the validity

of the contract Texas law would apply, and a Texas

court would hold, under the rule as enunciated in the

Tejas case, that the clause could not be asserted so as

to deprive a court of jurisdiction.

Under the Bernhardt case, supra, the trial court was

required to do likewise and it so ruled.

fb) Assuming, for purposes of argument, that Cali-

fornia \i\w must be applied, a stay would still not have
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been proper. The controlling state statutes, under Cali-

fornia law, are Sections 1280 and 1284 of the Califor-

nia Code of Civil Procedure. While these Code provi-

sions set up an enforceable right to arbitration

non-existent at common law (or under the law of

Texas), they clearly do not provide an absolute right to

arbitration merely because there is an arbitration clause

in a contract. Rather, as the California Supreme Court

in Local 659, I.A.T.S.E. v. Color Corp. America, 47

Cal. 2d 189, 302 P. 2d 294 (1956) has pointed out:

"... a provision in a written contract to

settle by arbitration a controversy arising out of

the contract or the refusal to perform the whole or

any part thereof 'shall be valid, enforceable and ir-

revocable, save upon such ground as exist at lazv

or in equity for the revocation of any contract.'

(emphasis added). It is thus indicated that there

may be instances in which the right to enforce an

arbitration provision is lost." (47 Cal. 2d at 194).

In this connection the decision of the Supreme Court

of California in Hanes v. Coffee, 212 Cal. 777, 300

Pac. 963 (1931) is squarely in point. In that case

plaintiff sought to quiet title to real property. Defend-

ant claimed an interest in the property under a twenty

year oil and gas lease but plaintiff contended that de-

fendant's interest had terminated by reason of defend-

ant's failure to comply with the terms of the lease and

particularly, with the requirement that work be com-

menced within two years from the date thereof. De-



—Z7—

fendant asserted, among other defenses, a claim that

the action was prematurely brought in that plaintiff

failed to comply with an arbitration provision similar

to the one involved herein. Answering this contention,

the Supreme Court of California stated

:

"Conceding that this provision would be enforce-

able under our statutes, we do not think that it is

applicable to the present controversy, in which the

lessor contends that by reason of failure of the

lessee to commence operations within the specified

period, the lease never became operative, or if it

did, is now terminated. The provision clearly does

not contemplate that this question shall be submit-

ted to arbitration, since if the allegations of plain-

tiffs' complaint are sustained, the result is that the

lease, including the arbitration provision, is wholly

inoperative, and the lessee can claim no rights

thereunder." (212 Cal. at 779-780).

Similarly, in the instant case, the Appellees by re-

pudiation of and failure to perform their express and

implied obligations under the contracts, cannot now

claim that while they have had no obligation to carry

out the covenants imposed upon them. Appellants still

were bound by the arbitration provision of the contracts

See also

:

Abraham Lelir, Inc. v. Cortes, 57 Cal. App. 2d

973, 135 P. 2d 683 (1943);

Friedlander v. Stanley Productions, 24 Cal. App.

2d 077, 76 P. 2d 145 ( 1938) ; and

Feldman, Arbitration Law in California,

30 S.C.L.R. 375, 436 (1957).
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(c) In Robert Lawrence Co. v. Devonshire Fabrics,

271 F. 2d 402 (2nd Cir. 1949) cited by Appellees, the

Court, it is true adopted a restrictive view of the

Bernhardt case and concluded that the Federal Arbitra-

tion Act established an entire new body of substantive

law preempting the law of the respective states which

prior thereto would have been applied.

The more reasonable interpretation of the decision

reached in the Bernhardt case is that although prior

to the adoption of the Federal Arbitration Act agree

ments to arbitrate involving commerce had been held

invalid or unenforceable for policy reasons as ousting

Courts of jurisdiction, now such agreements, pursuant

to the provisions of the Act, become valid and enforce-

able unless by other federal or state law such agree-

ments are for other reasons held invalid, revocable or

unenforceable. Although the language in Section 2

might plausibly be read to support a broader view, r.

has been held that the legislative history reveals the in-

tent of Congress to have been otherwise and that

ambiguous statutory language ought not to be so read

as to give it a reach beyond the Congressional inter

as disclosed by the legislative history, among other

things.

American Airlines, Inc. v. Louisville-Jefferson

C. A. B., 269 F. 2d 811 (6th Cir. 1959)

Jackson V. Atlantic City Electric Co., supra.
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C. Arbitration Would Have Been a Futile and
Useless Act.

There is a further and equally compelhng reason why

arbitration should not have been permitted. The

agreement between Appellants and Appellees provides

in Paragraph (h) thereof as follows:

"It shall be understood that, under Paragraph 8,

I can at any time, at my option, reconvey the water

lands to you and be relieved thenceforth of ai

obligations, if, in my opinion, the wells on the

water lands are no longer capable of producing

water in quantities sufficient to be commercially

profitable to me, or if I deem that their operatic^

is not economically feasible from my standpoint."

[Pltf. Ex. 1 in evid.].

It is evident that this provision is totally inconsistent

and at odds with the arbitration provision contained in

Paragraph (f) and renders it meaningless for all prac-

tical purposes. It can be seen that even if the parties

had resorted to arbitration, and even if Appellants

had prevailed. Appellees in the exercise of their sole

discretion as to sufficiency of water could have elected

to relieve themselves of all obligations under the agree-

ment by returning the wells and water lands to Appel-

lants. Accordingly, an order requiring the parties to

arbitrate could only have resulted in a futile and useless

proceeding productive of nothing which would have as-

sisted in eliminating the delay, harassment and ex])ense

of litigation which is the primary function of arbitra

tion.
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IV.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PRECLUDING
APPELLANTS FROM FURTHER PROOF.

Appellees contend (Appellees' Br. Point IV, pp. 55

57) that there was no error precluding Appellants from

further proof, because, they claim, the court was correct

in holding, as a matter of law, that the contract could

not be repudiated, and, also, because Mr. Riess' own

testimony showed no repudiation in fact. The parties

having stipulated to the dismissal of the jury, the power

to make the factual determination is claimed to have

been in the Court.

The first portion of this argument has been con-

sidered at length hereinabove (Point I), the circumstan-

ces under which Appellants are claimed to have stipu-

lated to the dismissal of the jury is treated below

(Point V). We consider here whether Mr. Riess' own

testimony showed no repudiation in fact, and what ef-

fect, if any should be given to such testimony.

As the record shows, Mr. Riess was on the stand for

three and one-half days; he was the first of a series of

contemplated witnesses for Appellants. His testimony

and the documents introduced during its course are sum-

marized in Appellants' Opening Brief (pp. 7-8) and

need not be repeated. In sum, Mr. Riess testified (as

the trial court recognized) that Appellees, in a courteous

and gentlemanly manner, and characterizing their posi-

tion as a request for cooperation rather than as an

ultimatum, unequivocally and categorically refused to

construct the pipelines and reservoirs unless Appellants

would first agree to accept late, partial performance n^

performance in full of their pipeline and reservoir con-
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struction obligations. This construction being essential

to the production of water for useful purposes, and such

production being required before Appellants could be

paid, this refusal was, obviously, critical. The fact that

the refusal was conditional does not alter its significance

as a breach, for Appellees had no right to extract such

conditions. It is a settled rule of law that the annexing

of an unwarranted condition to an offer of perform-

ance is in effect a refusal to perform.

Cal. Civ. Code, §1486;

Stceldiict Co. V. Hengcr-Scltscr Co., 26 Cal. 2d

634, 160 P. 2d 804 (1945);

Loop Bldg. Co. v. De Coo, 97 Cal. App. 354,

275Pac. 881 (1929).

Also the fact that Appellants may have urged Appel-

lees to perform the agreement does not preclude the-

from treating Appellees' refusal to perform as a re-

nunciation and as a breach, nor does it indicate that

Appellants agreed to the condition which Appellees

sought to impose.

Loop Bldg. Co. v. De Coo, supra.

Furthermore, the matters set forth in Appellants'

offer of proof [Clk. Tr. p. 275], far from being cumu-

lative, demonstrate dramatically the calculated and dc

vious character of Appellees' breach.

Appellees apparently feel that a categorical repudia-

tion is required; obviously, such a thing rarely occurs.

More frequently, the rubric must be constructed out o^"

numerous facts, events, conversations and documents,

and the pattern becomes clear only when all witnesses

have testified and all of the documentarv evidence is in.
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To claim, as Appellees do, that the matter must be con-

cluded against Appellants after only one witness has

testified (and particularly in view of the testimony),

is to engage in fantasy.

Appellants do not concede that the court could under

the circumstances here involved make any determina-

tion of fact in this case. As we will demonstrate here-

inbelow, Appellees find the court empowered to do so

only by an amazing process of mental gymnastics

(Point VI, infra).

V.

THE AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES THAT THE
$28,000.00 PAID PRIOR TO JUNE 12, 1956, WAS TO
BE A CREDIT ON THE PURCHASE PRICE DOES
NOT REQUIRE THAT THIS SUM ALSO BE A
CREDIT AGAINST THE FIRST MONIES TO BE-

COME DUE UNDER THE CONTRACT.

Appellees contend (Appellees' Br. point V, pp. 57-

58) that the sum of $28,000.00 was properly credited

against the first monies to become due to Appellants

from Appellees, after the payment of the judgment.

Both sides concede, of course, that the sum of $78.-

000.00 (the $28,000.00 paid prior to June 12, 1956,

and the $50,000.00 "down payment") were to be a

credit on the purchase price. Appellants contend that

this sum should be credited against the last monies due

them, and Appellees contend that part of this sum,

specifically $28,000.00, should be credited against the

first monies due. The trial court, held that the sum of

$28,000.00 should be credited against the first monies

due following payment of the judgment. While this

was manifestly done in an effort to do justice among
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this in the agreement, nor by apphcation of any prin-

ciple of law.

That the parties intended that the sum of $28,000.00

not be credited against the first monies due is mani-

fest from the following:

(1) The sum was not treated separately by the

parties, but rather was dealt with by them along with

the $50,000.00 down payment, which concededly was not

to be a credit against the first monies to become due.

Indeed the very sentence of the agreement of June 12,

1956, upon which Appellees rely deals, not with the sum

of $28,000.00, but rather with the sum of $78,000.00

which ".
. . is, and shall be, of course, a credit on

the purchase price of said water lands and other proper-

ties."

(2) The phrase "a credit on the purchase price"

obviously refers not to "first moneys" but to the pur-

chase price referred to in the agreement, which, despite

Appellees' protestations, v/as and is one million dollars.

The agreement says so in so many words. If the

parties had intended a portion of the sum they were deal-

ing with to be a credit against first monies they could

easily have said so but in adopting the language

they did they rendered inescapable the conclusion that

the credit was to be applied in reduction of the entire

])urchase price and for no other purpose.

(3) Notwithstanding the last paragraph of Point V
of Appellees' Brief (p. 58), Appellees' conduct was not

consistent throughout with the construction of the

agreement now adopted by them. Rather, commencing

immediately upon the consummation of the agreement.
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Appellees paid to Appellants the sum of $2,000.00 per

month. Appellees continued to do so for fifteen months

until $30,000.00 had been paid. If we were to adopt

Appellees' present construction of the agreement, either

no payments should have been made during the first

fourteen months or, alternatively, the payments should

have ceased after ten had been made. Indeed, it was

only after the dispute arose among the parties that the

contention was advanced that an offset of some sort

was in order. It is a familiar rule of construction that

the intention of the parties is best ascertained by their

construction of the agreement prior to the time any

dispute has arisen.

Brozrni v. Cowden Livestock Co., 187 F. 2d 1015,

1019 (9th Cir. 1951);

Pacific Portland Cement Co. v. Food Machinery

& Chemical Corp., 178 F. 2d 541, 554 (9th

Cir. 1950)

;

Bohman v. Berg, 54 Cal. 2d 787, 795, 8 Cal.

Rptr. 441, 356 P. 2d 185 (1960)

;

Whalen v. Ruiz, 40 Cal. 2d 294, 253 P. 2d

457 (1953).

Appellees suggest that if Appellants' contention were

correct then Appellants would have use of $28,000.00

of Appellees' funds for an indeterminate period with-

out any compensation to Appellees for their use. This

argument ignores the fact that no matter what the

outcome of this litigation. Appellees have had the use

of Appellants' property, valued by the parties at over

one million dollars, for more than six and one-half

years and that no compensation therefor has been paid

since the latter part of 1957.
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VI.

APPELLANTS HAVE BEEN DEPRIVED OF THEIR
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

Appellees suggest that the dismissal of the jury did

not infringe upon Appellants' constitutional rights for

two reasons, first, because the parties stipulated out of

the case the only remaining factual issue, and, second,

because the jury was dismissed upon the agreement and

stipulation of the parties (Appellees' Br. point VI, pp.

58-59). The first point is treated above (Point IV,

supra) but the second requires further comment.

In the first place, the sequence of the trial must

clearly be borne in mind. After the trial judge had

ruled on the anticipatory breach point as a matter of

law, he further ruled that the only remaining issue was

that of damages for the simple breach of contract. Tak-

ing the trial judge's ruling on the anticipatory breach

point as correct, this latter ruling followed without dis-

pute. The parties then stipulated for the purposes of

the case as to the amount of damages for the simple

breach and there were indeed no further issues to be

tried. The transcript then sets forth the discussions of

the parties with respect to what should be done pro-

cedurally. Appellants taking the position that the jury

should be instructed to bring in a verdict in conformity

with the court's legal rulings and the stipulation of the

parties, and Appellees taking the position that the jury

should be dismissed [Rep. Tr. pp. 493-507 1. The court

refused to instruct the jury and stated that the jury
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should be dismissed, that findings should be made as

to the undisputed and stipulated facts and the resultant

conclusions of law. In view of the court's legal rulings

with regard to the applicability of the doctrine of an-

ticipatory breach to the contract before it and the court's

refusal to instruct the jury, there was indeed no alterna-

tive remaining but to dismiss the jury and this was

done.

It was after this, in fact several weeks after this,

that the court adopted the findings of fact proposed by

the Appellees, which, as we have indicated, purported

to determine disputed issues of fact against the Ap-

pellants.

Appellees suggest that since the jury had been dis-

missed by stipulation it was within the power of the

court to make such findings of fact. This contention

ignores the obvious, that the jury had been discharged

only upon the express assumption of the court and of

the parties that no material issues of fact existed. The

court could not reverse its position and find upon these

issues adversely to Appellants without infringing upon

Appellants' constitutional right to a trial by jury.

CONCLUSION.

It is apparent from the record before the Court that

the Appellants have been grievously damaged by the

wanton disregard, on the part of the Appellees, of their

contractual obligations. Appellants are entitled to their

day in court and to the due consideration of all of their
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evidence by the jury. This having been denied, the

judgment of the Court below should be reversed, and

the cause remanded.

Respectfully submitted,

loeb and loeb,

Alden G. Pearce,

Frank E. Feder,

Robert A. Holtzman,

Attorneys for Appellants and

Cross-Appellees.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this malpractice action, plaintiff sought to recover

$125,000 general damages and over $8,000 in special

damages from Prineville Memorial Hospital, Dr. Den-

ison M. Thomas, a Prineville, Oregon general physi-

cian, and Dr. Charles E. Donley, a Bend, Oregon phy-

sician specializing in the field of radiology and roent-

genology (Pretrial order, pp. 3-5).



Plaintiff claimed that as the result of an automobile

accident near Mitchell, Oregon, on May 25, 1957, she

suffered "a fracture of the vertebra of her neck, the

fifth cervical vertebra and a compression fracture of the

sixth cervical vertebra and a subluxation or dislocation

of the vertebra of her neck." It was claimed that de-

fendants "so negligently and carelessly examined and

treated plaintiff that as a proximate result of said neg-

ligence said previous injury to the plaintiff's neck was

aggravated" and plaintiff suffered further painful and

permanent injuries as well as mental anguish (Pretrial

order, p. 3).

Earlier proceedings herein are summarized in this

Court's opinion (296 F.2d 316) passing upon plaintiff's

appeal from a judgment holding that her general re-

lease to the driver of the automobile for a payment to

her of $4250 barred the prosecution of this action. For

reasons therein stated, this Court reversed the case ''with

instructions that judgment upon the segregated issue

be set aside and for further consideration and determin-

ation of that issue upon the present record in the light

of this opinion" (296 F.2d at p. 320).

Following receipt of this Court's mandate, the dis-

trict court set this case for trial before a jury on the

issues presented in the pretrial order, excluding the

release issue.

At the commencement of the trial, the court approved

the dismissal by stipulation of the action as against de-

fendant hospital (Tr. 2). At the close of plaintiff's medi-

cal testimony, the court granted defendant Donley's mo-



tion for a directed verdict and plaintiff's trial counsel

made no objection to the court's ruling (Tr. 215-216).

The case was submitted to the jury against defendant

Thomas alone and the jury returned a general verdict in

his favor. No motion for a new trial was filed.

PROCEDURAL RULES INVOLVED

Rule 46 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure pro-

vides :

"Rule 46. Exceptions Unnecessary
"Formal exceptions to rulings or orders of the

court are unnecessary; but for all purposes for

which an exception has heretofore been necessary

it is sufficient that a party, at the time the ruling

or order of the court is made or sought, makes
known to the court the action which he desires the

court to take or his objection to the action of the

court and his grounds therefor; and, if a party has

no opportunity to object to a ruling or order at

the time it is made, the absence of an objection

does not thereafter prejudice him."

Rule 51 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure pro-

vides :

"Rule 51. Instructions to Jury: Objection

"At the close of the evidence or at such earlier

time during the trial as the court reasonably di-

rects, any party may file written requests that the

court instruct the jury on the law as set forth in the

requests. The court shall inform counsel of its pro-

posed action upon the requests prior to their argu-

ments to the jury, but the court shall instruct the

jury after the arguments are completed. No party

may assign as error the giving or the failure to give

an instruction unless he objects thereto before the

jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly



the matter to which he objects and the grounds
of his objection. Opportunity shall be given to make
the objection out of the hearing of the jury."

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The fact that plaintiff's brief completely disregards

this Court's rules is sufficient reason for dismissal

of this appeal.

2. Alleged errors in trial court proceedings may not

be raised for the first time in this Court.

3. Even if the claimed errors had been properly

raised below, they are completely lacking in merit.

ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs Violations of Rule 1 8 Are Sufficient Grounds
for Dismissal of this Appeal.

Preliminarily, we are constrained to point out that

plaintiff's brief completely disregards the requirements

of Rule 18 of this Court's rules, which this Court has

repeatedly held must be observed (Pacific Queen Fish-

eries V. Symes, 307 F.2d 700, 705 (CA 9)). For this

reason alone, dismissal of this appeal is warranted (Thys

Co. V. Anglo California National Bank, 219 F.2d 131,

133 (CA 9), cert. den. 349 U.S. 946, 75 S.Ct. 875, 99

L.Ed. 1272, rehearing denied 350 U.S. 855, 76 S.Ct. 40,

100 L.Ed 760).

Obviously, the purpose of the Court's requirement in



Rule 18, sub 2(g), that an attorney certify as to his

examination of and compHance with Rules 18 and 19,

was to compel adherence to the Court's rules. However,

no certificate is attached to plaintiff's brief.

Many other obvious violations of Rule 18 can be

found in this brief:

1. There is no table of exhibits (Rule 18, sub 2(f)).

2. There is no summary of the argument (Rule 18,

sub 2(e)).

3. Most of the alleged specifications of error do not

conform to the requirements of Rule 18, sub 2(d),

since

(a) the alleged errors are not set out "separately

and particularly"

;

(b) with respect to the alleged errors as to ad-

mission of evidence, the specifications do not

quote "the full substance of the evidence ad-

mitted," and do not "quote the grounds

urged at the trial for the objection":

(c) with respect to alleged errors as to the court's

charge, the specifications do not "set out the

part referred to totidem verbis" and "the

grounds of the objections urged at the trial"

are not shown.

As will appear presently, the failure to set out the

grounds of objections made in the district court is not

merely a technical defect, for the record shows that no

objections were ever asserted during the trial.
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No Objections Having Been Made at the Trial, the Alleged
Errors May not Be Considered by this Court.

When separated, the alleged errors with respect to

the trial proceedings (Specifications of Error Nos. 2-13,

App. br., pp. 24-26) fall into six main categories:

1. that the trial court erred in its rulings on direct

and cross-examination (Nos. 2-3);

2. that the trial court erred in its own examination

of certain witnesses (Nos. 4-5)

;

3. that the trial court erred in its comments during

the trial (Nos. 6-7)

;

4. that the trial court erred in receiving inadmis-

sible testimony (No. 7)

;

5. that the trial court erred in its instructions to the

jury (Nos. 8-10, 13);

6. that the trial court should have directed a verdict

for plaintiff, or that the trial court should have

set aside the verdict which the jury returned

against the plaintiff (Nos. 11-12).

A perusal of the transcript of testimony demonstrates

that this Court cannot review any of the alleged errors

because plaintiff's trial counsel made no objection what-

soever at the trial to any of the court's actions or rul-

ings; nor did he make a motion for a directed verdict in

plaintiff's favor, or for judgment n.o.v. With respect to

the jury instructions, the only objection made was un-

intelligible and is not relied upon by plaintiff in this

Court (Tr. 298).



Two fundamental rules of federal court trial proce-

dure are Rule 46, FRCP, and Rule 51, FRCP, quoted

above. As applied to this case, Rule 46 required that

plaintiff's trial counsel make known to the district court

the action he desired the court to take, or his objection

to the action of the court and his grounds therefor. Rule

51 required that before the jury retired, plaintiff's trial

counsel object to instructions given and state distinctly

the matter to which he objected and the grounds of his

objection (see discussion 2B Barron and Holtzoff, Fed-

eral Practice and Procedure, § 1021, pp. 309-319, and

§§ 1103-1104, pp. 450-465, and cases cited therein; see

also discussion Vol. 13, Cyclopedia of Federal Procedure

(3rd Ed.), Chapter 59, pp. 331-381).

In Johnston v. Reilly, 160 F.2d 249, 250 (Ct. App.

D.C.), the court referred to Rule 46 as "a codification

of the rule already existing" and further stated:

"This is not a mere technicality but is of sub-

stance in the administration of the business of the

courts. Enormous confusion and interminable delay

would result if counsel were permitted to appeal

upon points not presented to the court below. Al-

most every case would in effect be tried twice under
any such practice. While the rule may work hardship

in individual cases, it is necessary that its integrity

be preserved."

Plaintiff's counsel relies upon the decision of the

Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in Callwood v.

Callwood, 233 F.2d 784, 788, for the proposition that

this Court can consider objections made for the first

time on appeal where "the error in the charge was fun-

damental and highly prejudicial, and our failure to con-
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sider the error would result in a gross miscarriage of

justice." This is merely a statement of the "plain error"

rule which some federal appellate courts apply to civil

appeals.

While we vigorously deny that the trial court com-

mitted error, plaintiff could fare no better even if this

Court discovered "fundamental and highly prejudicial"

error urged for the first time on appeal.

This Court has repeatedly held "that the 'plain error'

rule may not be utilized in civil appeals to obtain a

review of instructions given or refused where the ground

asserted was not voiced in the trial court" (Hargrave v.

Wellman, 276 F.2d 948, 950 (CA 9), followed in Ber-

trand v. Southern Pacific Co., 282 F.2d 569, 572 (CA

9), cert. den. 365 U.S. 816, 81 S.Ct. 697, 5 L.Ed. 2d 694).

In commenting upon these cases. Vol. 2B, Barron

and Holtzoff, Federal Practice and Procedure, § 1106,

pp. 474-475, states:

"* * * At least one circuit reads the rule literally,

and holds that it does not have power to reverse

even for plain error. Such a reading, in addition to

being consistent with what the rule says, undoubt-
edly spares that circuit from the burden of having

to review afterthought claims of errors in the in-

structions which counsel attempt to bring forward

under the banner of plain error. * * *"

Illustrations of the application of Rules 46 and 51

by recent decisions of this Court are found in Brown v.

Chapman, 304 F.2d 149, 154 (CA 9) [instructions];

Dale Benz, Contractors v. American Casualty Company,

305 F.2d 641, 643 (CA 9) [necessity of obtaining ruling



upon objections to evidence] ; Bohauer v. Friedman, 306

F.2d 933, 937 (CA 9) [genuineness of document first

challenged on appeal] ; Southern Pacific Company v.

Villarrueh 307 F.2d 414, 415 (CA 9) [new ground of

objection to instruction] ; and cf. Frank v. International

Canadian Corporation, 308 F.2d 520, 529 (CA 9) [at-

tempt on appeal to depart from pretrial order].

Thus, since the record is barren of any objections

made at trial with respect to the multitude of "errors"

of which plaintiff now complains, the above-cited author-

ities clearly show that there is nothing for the Court to

review on the appeal from the judgment in favor of Dr.

Thomas.

Ill

In Any Event, the Alleged Errors Are Without Merit

Notwithstanding the absence of grounds for review,

we cannot close this brief without briefly pointing out

the frivolous nature of the alleged errors which plaintiff's

counsel seeks to raise for the first time in this Court. In

this connection, we will only comment on the alleged

errors mentioned on pages 34-45 of plaintiff's brief

which are claimed to have been "more serious and prej-

udicial" than certain other alleged errors mentioned in

the "Specifications of Error," but not argued.

1. First, it is claimed that the trial court committed

prejudicial error with respect to the examination

of Dr. Donley. The transcript clearly shows that

the court's questions were clear and to the point

(Tr. 73-75). Furthermore, the court invited plain-

tiff's counsel to ask further questions (Tr. 75).
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2. It is also claimed that the court was guilty of

prejudicial error in its examination of plaintiff's

witness, Dr. Shipps. Again, the transcript clearly

shows that the court did not act arbitrarily in

conducting a clear and elucidating examination

of the witness (Tr. 126-129). With respect to the

trial court's right and duty to facilitate the or-

derly progress of the trial by participating in the

examination of witnesses, we refer the Court to

Judge Bone's opinion in Ochoa v. United States,

167 F.2d341, 344 (CA9).

3. Complaint is made that the court erred in admon-

ishing the plaintiff when she commenced to char-

acterize her surgery as "a horrible thing" (Tr.

143). To tell the witness to answer the question,

and not make side remarks, certainly was within

the trial court's discretion.

4. Next, the court's admonition to Dr. Stern not to

be coy, but to give his full opinion and not hold

back, was perfectly proper in view of his previ-

ous testimony, for he had stated that his previous

answer was not his full answer (Tr. 206-207).

5. The claim that the court required plaintiff's coun-

sel to examine Dr. Donley as his own witness

misses the point. The record (Tr. 68) shows that

when plaintiff's counsel commenced to interro-

gate Dr. Donley on matters that related to his

case against Dr. Thomas, the court asked counsel

whether he was calling Dr. Donley as his own

witness. Counsel agreed that he was "for this lim-

ited function" (Tr. 68).
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6. Error is predicated on the trial court's comments

on plaintiff's injuries and condition (Tr. 225). Not

only does any federal judge have broad powers

to comment on the evidence but the court spe-

cifically instructed the jury: "Remember at all

times that you, as jurors, are at liberty to disre-

gard all comments of the court in arriving at your

own findings as to the facts" (Tr. 281), and "* * *

you are to decide the questions of fact involved

in this case solely upon the basis of the evidence

that has been introduced in this case" (Tr. 281)

[see opinion of Judge Healy in Bradley Min. Co.

V. Boice, 194 F.2d 80, 83 (CA 9)].

7. The contention is made that error was committed

in allowing plaintiff to testify on cross-examina-

tion that she had received $4250 in settlement

from the driver of the automobile. Paragraph V
of defendant's contentions in the pretrial order

made this evidence relevant (Pretrial order, p.

7). Under Oregon law, such evidence was admis-

sible since Locke and defendants stood in the po-

sition of joint tort-feasors. Even if the release was

to be construed as a covenant not to sue, the

amount received in that settlement would have

been properly deducted by the court from any

verdict which plaintiff had obtained against Dr.

Thomas (see Southern Pacific Co. v. Raish, 205

F.2d 389, 393 (CA 9)). The jury was not in-

structed on this procedure (Tr. 276-277). As for

the court's comment, plaintiff's counsel fails to

note that all the trial proceedings at pages 270-
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278 of the transcript of testimony were outside

the presence of the jury.

8. With respect to alleged errors in the court's in-

structions to the jury, it is probably sufficient to

point out that the instruction to the effect that

a mere error in judgment is not negligence (Tr.

285-286) is a correct statement of Oregon law

(Malila v. Meacham, 187 Or 330, 354-355, 211

P.2d 747, followed in Eckleberry v. Kaiser Foun-

dation, 226 Or. 616, 626-627, 359 P.2d 1090). The

remainder of the claimed errors in instructions

(App. br., pp. 42-44) relate solely to the question

of damages. However, since the jury returned a

general verdict in favor of Dr. Thomas on the

issue of liability, it never reached the question of

damages, so any possible error in the instructions

on that subject was harmless (Blanton v. Great

Atlantic &> Pacific Tea Co., 61 F.2d 427, 429

(CA 5); Bryne v. Greene, 70 F.2d 137, 139 (CA

1); Ackelson V. Brown, 264 F.2d 543, 547 (CA

8)).

9. In conclusion, error is predicated on the assertion

that the jury's verdict was contrary to law and

contrary to the evidence, and that there was no

substantial or preponderant evidence to support

the jury's verdict. The short answer is that while

plaintiff may have made out a sufficient case for

submission to the jury as to the negligence of

Dr. Thomas, the evidence did not require that

the court direct a verdict in her favor, and plain-

tiff's counsel did not move for a directed verdict,
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or for judgment n.o.v., or for a new trial. Thus,

there is nothing for this Court to consider (Trans

World Airlines V. Shirley, 295 F.2d 678 (CA 9)).

Without discussing the sufficiency of the evidence

of Dr. Thomas's alleged negligence, it is enough

to note that the jury could have found in his

favor on merely the testimony of the expert wit-

ness. Dr. Samuel R. Orr (Tr. 244-254).

CONCLUSION

This appeal appears to us "to closely approach the

frivolous and vexatious" (Cakmar v. Hoy, 265 F.2d 59,

62 (CA 9)). Plaintiff's new appellate counsel obviously

entered into his representation of plaintiff without be-

ing apprised of the trial court record. His willingness

to proceed with the appeal against Dr. Thomas must

be attributed to zeal for his client, rather than a dis-

passionate consideration of the merits of the appeal.

In fact, this appeal is without merit and should either

be dismissed, or the judgment of the district court in

favor of Dr. Thomas should be affirmed, with costs.

Respectfully submitted,

Hugh L. Biggs,

George H. Fraser,

Cleveland C. Cory,
Attorneys for Appellee

Denison M. Thomas, M.D.
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No. 18,200

IN THE

United States Court of Appeals

For the Ninth Circuit

Marvin Sherwin,
Appellant,

vs.

United States of America,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR A REHEARING

To Circuit Judges, Honorable Walter L. Pope, Hon-

orable Stanley N. Barnes and Honorable Gilbert

H. Jertberg:

Now comes Marvin Sherwin through his attorneys,

James E. Burns and Richard H. Foster, and petitions

this Court for a rehearing in the case of Sherwin v.

United States, No. 18,200, decided June 11, 1963, and

suggests, for the reasons hereinafter stated, that the

case be reheard en banc.

I. THE COURT HAS INCORRECTLY INTERPRETED
APPELLANT'S DEFENSE.

Ordinarily, we would not urge the facts surround-

ing the defense of lack of wilfulness to the Court of



Appeals since this defense is one which the jury's

verdict usually removes from this Court's review.

Here, however, where one of the principal grounds of

appeal is that the Court's instructions on wilfulness

were improper, we think it important that the Court

understand the nature of the defense presented to

the jury and, as here, where an instruction was given

which this Court has previously held to be plain and

reversible error we feel it our duty to correct what

we believe to be the Court's erroneous interpretation

of the defense.

In Footnote 26 of the Opinion, the Court makes

the assertion that there was no claim that appellant

thought the Bechtel losses affected his tax liabilities

for the years 1954, 1955 and 1956. This statement we

believe to be erroneous. If the Court will examine

the original claim for refund (Exhibit E) in connec-

tion with these losses, it will note that the claim is

for an operating loss carry back. A capital loss can-

not be an operating loss carry back. In the technical

computation of the amount of operating loss, the ac-

comitant treated a portion of the Bechtel loss as a

capital stock loss. One unfamiliar with the involved

techniques of tax accounting, however, would assume

that the entire loss claimed was the kind of loss which

could be carried back and carried forward, thus in

this case affecting, by way of carry forward, the years

1954, 1955 and 1956. In the event a capital loss was

involved, appellant, as the Government conceded and

in fact gave credit in its computations, could take

One Thousand Dollars ($1,000) as against ordinary



income in the indictment years. Joyce, appellant's ac-

countant, however, a former Internal Revenue agent,

did not deduct this One Thousand Dollars ($1,000)

even though if the loss had been capital in nature, it

would have been a proper deductible item. As Joyce,

appellant, and other witnesses testified, everyone re-

alized that because of the complex nature of appel-

lant's affairs, amended returns would necessarily have

to be filed. As appellant stated in his statement to the

Internal Revenue Service in connection with his re-

fund claim (Exhibit B), the exact amount of the

Bechtel losses were not known at that time. The total

amoimt of appellant's losses, as this Court itself rec-

ognizes, will not be established until the final deter-

mination of the Santa Rosa litigation. It was natural,

therefore, for appellant to assume that these losses

could be established by a claim for refund filed in the

same manner as the one which the Government

granted. (Government Exhibit 12.)

Even from a technical point of view, the loss

claimed on the 1952 claim for refund resulted in ordi-

nary loss treatment for the Bechtel interests and an

operating loss carry forward. Appellant was treated

as a promoter of corporations. Otherwise, the pay-

ment by him of corporate obligations would not give

rise to an ordinary loss. It is this fact which makes

any losses therefrom deductible in full. (We might

add that a closing agreement would not be necessary

to bind the Department of Justice, the Grand Jury or

the Courts. The cases referred to by the Court refer

only to a determination by the Commissioner and do
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not affect Section 6404 of Title 26, since the Commis-

sioner is not a party to this action and never has

been.)

In any event, the Government treated the Bechtel

losses as an operating loss which could be carried for-

ward. Appellant's accountant, in the 1954, 1955 and

1956 tax returns, did not treat them as capital losses.

Appellant at all times has maintained that he be-

lieved his losses far overcame any income which he

earned in the indictment years.

We reiterate that we are not attempting to recon-

stitute this Court of Appeals as a jury passing on

the issue of appellant's wilfulness or lack of wilful-

ness. We, however, believe that considering our argu-

ments on the trial Court's instructions on that sub-

ject, the Court should bear in mind that appellant

claimed, and reasonably could have thought, that he

overpaid his taxes in the indictment years.

II. THE COURT'S RULING ON THE MURDOCK INSTRUCTIONS
IS IN CONFLICT WITH THE FACTS AND OTHER DECISIONS
OF THIS COURT.

The Court, in its opinion, while not directly assert-

ing that the so-called Murdock instructions given by

the Court were in error, does not indicate that it dis-

agrees with Block V. United States, 9th Circuit, 221

Fed. 2d 786; AMul v. United States, 9th Circuit, 254

Fed. 2d 292; United States v. Palermo, 3rd Circuit,

295 Fed. 2d 872. The Court simply refuses to exam-



ine the question on the grounds that proper objection

was not made to the instructions.

The Murdock instruction was given twice by the

Court. One of these instructions apparently was orig-

inally submitted by the defense, that is, defense in-

struction 19. The other instruction, however, TR
1115-1116, contains a portion of the exact language

used by the Grovernment in the instruction to which

objection was made. We quote the Court's statement

of the instruction to which objection was made:

"... If a man in good faith believes he has

paid all the taxes he owes he cannot be guilty of

criminal attempt to evade the tax. But if a man
acts without reasonable grounds for belief that

his conduct is lawful, it is for the jury to decide

whether he willfully intended to evade the tax.

The instruction actually given was as follows:

"If a taxpayer honestly believes that he has

paid all the taxes he owes, he is not guilty of

criminal evasion. But if he acts without reason-

able grounds for belief that his conduct was law-

ful, it is for you to decide whether he was acting

in good faith or whether he intended to evade

the tax."

Rule 30 contains no other requirement than that a

defendant object to an instruction. This, appellant's

counsel did. Even assuming that appellant, by ob-

jecting to the quoted language did not withdraw or

object to the same language which appears in defense

instruction 19, it appears to us that appellant has



done all that he reasonably can be expected to do in

the way of objecting to the instruction quoted above

which was given by the Court.

We must emphasize this is not a case where the

trial Court was misled by counsel. The objection was

given prior to instructions. The Court was specifically

advised of the precise cases which disproved the in-

struction. The Court advised counsel that it would

read these cases. After the Court had read these in-

structions, it nevertheless, after opportunity for re-

flection, gave it anyway. The Court, in fact, gave it

not once, but twice. Despite the fact that in Block

V, United States, supra, this Court held that the in-

struction was plain error and despite the fact that in

this case, as we previously indicated, the definition of

''wilfulness" was crucial.

In Herzog v. United States, 235 Fed. 2d 664, no ob-

jection at all was made to the instruction there given.

The matter was not even raised on appeal but only on

a petition for rehearing. Furthermore, there the case

turned on a factual dispute, as this Court emphasized.

As the Court there stated, "There was no claim on his

part of inadvertence, mistake or the like. The issue

was squarely one of credibility. ..." Here the facts

were stipulated and the issue involved was a simple

question of wilfulness or non-wilfulness in signing the

return.

We submit to the Court that no greater burden

rests on the defense than to object to an improper in-

struction once. That once an objection to the instruc-

tion is made, even if that instruction is repeated in



order to save his record on appeal the same objection

need not be repeated again and again. We think that

this principle is particularly applicable in a case

where this Court has held the instruction to be plain

error under Rule 52.

Our conclusion in this matter is reinforced by the

trial Court's instruction on intent. This Court does

not overrule Block v. United States, supra, and indi-

cates that a specific instruction referring to tax cases

with respect to the natural and probable consequences

of omitting income was error. We believe that the

general instruction given here can be no less errone-

ous because of the absence of specific language. It

seems to us a novel theory and one that should be

reconsidered by the whole Court that the position in

which an instruction is found, the fact that it is gen-

eral rather than specific and that some of the instruc-

tions given were proper ones rehabilitates an instruc-

tion. Here, the Court gave a bad instruction on wil-

fulness and what appears to be a bad instruction on

intent. We cannot see how improper instructions on

these subjects in a case of this character could have

any other result than a grave miscarriage of justice

and an imfair trial.

III. THE COURT'S RULING ON THE PLAZA BTHLDINa
INSTRUCTION RAISES GRAVE PROBLEMS.

The Court, with respect to appellant's complaint of

the rejection of instruction 36, states as follows:

"Here again we think that the evidence is in-

sufficient to show any such loss. The evidence
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shows that litigation between Tarman and Sher-

win with respect to their several rights in the

properties of the partnership were still pending
in the state court at Santa Rosa but no judgment
had been entered in that case. Sherwin testified

that at the time of the trial that property re-

mained in a 'status quo'. The upshot of this is

that if Sherwin ultimately should lose that prop-

erty or his interest therein, a loss might then

occur, but if he should win he would be liable for

additional imreported partnership income for the

years here in question arising out of the profits

of the 'Plaza Building'. We find no error in the

rejection of this proposed instruction."

It is apparent that the Court recognizes that if the

Santa Rosa litigation ends adversely to appellant, he

may have a sizeable tax loss. We feel we should in-

form the Court that since the trial in this case, the

Santa Rosa litigation has ended unfavorably to ap-

pellant. While this action is presently on appeal, in

the event that the Santa Rosa Court's judgment is

upheld, appellant will have lost the Plaza Building

whose tax basis is Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars

($75,000), that is to say, approximately twice the

amount which the Government claims appellant

evaded. This loss, as the Court can determine from

an examination of the opinion of the Santa Rosa

Court introduced in evidence, occurred in the year

1954, one of the indictment years. It is based upon a

contention by Mr. Tarman that appellant transferred

this property to him in that year. Appellant's loss,

under elementary tax law pursuant to Section 1231



of the Internal Revenue Code, would have occurred

in that year and would have wiped out any income tax

liability. In other words, if the Santa Rosa judgment

remains as it is, this Court will have affirmed a judg-

ment where a taxpayer has overpaid his taxes. It will

have justified a jail sentence for a man innocent as a

matter of law. Even the Government concedes, and

this Court has previously indicated, that an individual

cannot be convicted unless he has evaded income tax.

We did not ask the Court below to rule as a matter

of law on the Plaza Building losses. But even though

the decision of the Santa Rosa Court is not final, the

facts on which this decision was based existed at the

time of the filing of the tax returns and existed at

the time of the trial. We submit that the jury should

have been allowed to pass on these facts and deter-

mine whether or not appellant, under the Internal

Revenue laws, owed additional income tax not re-

ported by him.

IV. OTHER ERRORS.

We believe that the Court's treatment of the vari-

ous claims of error surrounding the introduction by

the Government of failure to report partnership in-

come is inconsistent. The Court concedes that the

introduction of evidence of unreported partnership

income was probably error. It, however, seeks to jus-

tify the giving of an instruction on this admittedly

improper evidence on the basis that there was evi-
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dence of unreported partnership income. Further-

more, it then justifes the denial of Agent Neilands'

report on that partnership on the basis that this evi-

dence was not in the case because not listed among the

items which formed the Government's bill of particu-

lars. It is our position that if this evidence was ad-

missible at all under any theory, then the defense had

the right to examine Agent Neilands' report concern-

ing it. We do not believe, considering the trial Court's

express instruction on the subject, that the failure of

the Court to allow the defense even an opportunity

to examine this report can be considered a harmless

matter. The accountant, Moran, did not ever claim

that he had access to all of Neilands' work papers nor

did he ever claim he had examined the report in ques-

tion. We submit that elementary considerations of

fair play require that where evidence is introduced

against a defendant, the defendant should have an

opportunity to investigate relative evidence bearing

on the point even though that evidence is contained

in a Government report.

We must also respectfully disagree with the Court's

statement that the Government did not attempt to

paint appellant a scoundrel by trying to show that

he took legal fees while on the bench. An examination

of the various transactions involved will demonstrate

to the contrary. The Tarman, Jr. testimony referred

to a transaction which occurred after appellant took

the bench and the whole purpose of this testimony

was designed by the prosecution to discredit and dis-

parage appellant.
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V. CONCLUSION.

This case presents a difficult and delicate problem

to the Court. We recognize the natural feeling of hor-

ror of everyone created when a member of the ju-

diciary is involved in criminal litigation. The natural

inclination is to immediately assiune that since the

defendant, and appellant here, was a judge "he

should have known better." However, the danger

exists that this feeling can so permeate the case as to

prejudice that which even a Superior Court Judge is

entitled to—a fair trial. Where, as here, the mere fact

of accusation supercharges the emotions, stringent

care must be taken to insure that the proceedings are

proper. In the instant case, in the last analysis, the

crucial issue is whether appellant negligently pre-

pared his tax return or wilfully attempted to evade

taxes. Because of his position, the possibility of find-

ing an unprejudiced lay jury is remote. The instruc-

tions, therefore, which set the standards under which

he is tried must be clear and in accordance with the

law. In the present case, appellant was convicted

under a definition of ''wilfulness" which the Court

felt was improper in trying a notorious gangster.

(United States v. Palermo, supra.) It should be em-

phasized that in the Palermo case the standards were

those imposed by the Court in a Court trial, rather

than instructions given a lay jury. Here, where the

majority of the facts were stipulated and where a lay

jury is judging one who in the very nature of things

they cannot realize is a fallible human being, this

instruction is of crucial importance. We simply ask
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each judge of the Court of Appeals to consider

whether or not if he were in like circumstances to

appellant he would believe that the instructions on

intent and wilfulness given here were proper.

Dated, San Francisco, California,

July 11, 1963.

Attorneys for Appellant

and Petitioner.

Certificate of Counsel

We hereby certify that in our judgment this pe-

tition for rehearing is well founded and is not inter-

posed for delay.

Dated, San Francisco, California,

July 11, 1963.

Attorneys for Appellant

and Petitioner,

c
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No. 18200

In The

United States Court of Appeals
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Marvin Sherwin,

Appellant,

United States of America,

Appellee,

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is invoked by appellant under Title 26,

United States Code, Sections 7201 and 7206(1), and

Title 28, United States Code, Sections 1291 and 1294(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment was returned in the Northern District

of California on July 14, 1961, charging appellant with

three counts of wilful attempted income tax evasion for

the years 1954, 1955, and 1956, in violation of Section

7201 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (Title 26

U.S.C. Section 7201), and also with three counts of

making and subscribing joint income tax returns which

were verified by a written declaration that they were
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made under the penalty of perjury for the same years,

1954, 1955, and 1956, which returns the appellant did

not believe to be true and correct as to every material

matter, in violation of Section 7206(1) of the Internal

Revenue Code of 1954 (Title 26 U.S.C. Section

7206(1))/

The amounts alleged in the first three counts of the

indictment were as follows:

Income

Year Reported Corrected Additional

1954 $21,221.01 $ 33,993.64 $12,772.63

1955 20,796.96 32,664.03 11,867.07

1956 22,986.79 35,354.28 12,367.49

Totals $65,004.76 $102,011.95 $37,007.19

Tax

Year Reported Corrected Deficiency

1954 $5,743.60 $11,396.82 $5,653.22
1955 5,582.84 10,732.01 5,149.17

1956 6,414.98 12,007.37 5,592.39

Totals $17,741.42 $34,136.20 $16,394.78

The material matter in the last three counts which

appellant was alleged to have knowingly failed to dis-

close at the time he made and subscribed the joint

income tax returns was that he and his wife had addi-

tional income of $12,801.45, $12,396.70 and $12,580.19

over and above that which he had reported for the years

1954, 1955 and 1956, respectively.

The trial of the case commenced on April 30, 1962,

before District Judge Alfonso J. Zirpoli, and concluded

on May 14, 1962, with a guilty verdict on ail counts.

On May 25, 1962, Judge Zirpoli assessed a sentence

^Appellant's Opening Brief, Appendices, pp. i-vi, hereinafter referred to

as "O.B.A. i-vi"; appellant's opening brief will be designated "O.B."



of imprisonment for one year and a $1,000 fine on

Count 1, with the prison sentences on the five remaining

counts concurrent with the one-year sentence on the first

count.

Appellant's returns were prepared by his accountant

(Joyce) from handwritten sheets (Exs. 58, 59, 60) recap-

ping the items of income and the items of expense which

were furnished to the accountant by appellant. (Tr. 280-

284). The accountant never saw any of appellant's

records in preparing the returns (Tr. 285). The sheets

furnished by appellant to his accountant did not contain

any of the omitted items of income (Tr. 282; 287-288)

nor did the accountant know about any of the omitted

items (Tr. 290-296). Appellant stated that he had no

formal books; his checkbook was his means of record-

ing his income; he would analyze the receipts and

expenditures shown by his check book stub; he would

then recapitulate these items and turn them over to the

accountant for preparation of the return. When appel-

lant received fees in a case he would make a note on

his check book stub to reflect this income. Appellant

knew he was on the cash basis. (Tr. 344-345, 591-592.)

The same accountant prepared the Tarman-Sherwin

partnership returns; from the partnership returns, the

accountant secured the income figures for appellant's

individual returns (Tr. 602). The following amounts

were reported on appellant's 1954, 1955 and 1956 returns

as his share of this partnership income: $1,182.90,

$2,891.71 and $5,281.88 (Exs. 1, 2, 3). Appellant was

aware that a partner reported his income from a partner-

ship in the year in which the partnership earned income

whether he had received cash in that year or not (Tr.

344).



The agent who was examining appellant's returns,

several times, beginning in September 1957, requested

appellant's checkbook and checks to audit the income

items, since this was appellant's only method of record-

ing them. However, appellant did not furnish the agent

any checkbook stubs from the Central Bank account

for the prosecution years; also some twenty paid checks

for 1956 alone were missing, appellant claiming they

were lost (Tr. 356-357) despite the fact that appellant's

return for 1956 (Ex. 3) had been prepared only a few

months earlier, for which appellant stated he had used

his checkbook (Tr. 769).

On several occasions, the agent asked appellant what

bank accounts he had. Appellant reiterated each time

that he only had two accounts, a trustee account for his

law practice, at the Central Bank, and the account at

the Oakland Bank of Commerce for his personal house-

hold matters, and that he had no other bank accounts.

(Tr. 348, 350-354, 372.) Appellant in fact had other

bank accounts: among them, a Beresa Corporation

account in the Bank of America, Marvin Sherwin,

Trustee (Exs. 31, 51, 56) ; and a Crocker-Anglo Bank

Main Office, Oakland, account of Estate of Preston

Beckwith, Marvin Sherwin, Trustee (Tr. 357-359).

These accounts either had deposits or withdrawals of

unreported income for the prosecution years. Appellant

admitted that he had made numerous deposits to the

Beresa account at the Bank of America which had

nothing to do with Beresa business (Tr. 775, 796). For

example, two of the Willows Commission checks in

the amounts of $1,850 and $1,650 (Ex. 31; Tr. 154)

were deposited to the Bank of America account on

February 15, 1955, and August 22, 1955 (Tr. 476-484;



776, 790). Also the check for the unreported fee from

the Beckwith Estate was drawn on the Crocker-Anglo

bank account in Oakland. (Tr. 771.)

Another undisclosed bank account was one in the

name of E. O. Thompson, at the American Trust Co.,

Oakland, which was used to deposit the proceeds from

the sale of the property at 15 Myrtle Street to Mr.

McGee. Appellant testified that the reason he opened

the account in Thompson's name was because he was

facing three or four lawsuits and, at that time, he was

attempting to conceal this bank account from his cred-

itors. There was other concealment with respect to this

transaction. The mortgage which appellant took on the

McGee property was recorded in the name of a realtor

named Pleitner, even after the death of Mr. Pleitner.

McGee's interest payments on the mortgage were

among the items of appellant's unreported income.

Again, appellant claimed that one of his reasons for

keeping the property in Mr. Pleitner's name was because

of the lawsuits he was facing (Tr. 759-765).

Appellant had practiced law from 1926 until Septem-

ber or October 1953 when he went on the bench as a

judge of the Superior Court of California in and for

the County of Alameda. From 1945 to 1953 appellant

also served in the California State Assembly (Tr. 587-

589). He was a member of its Revenue and Taxation

Committee which writes all tax legislation for the State

of California; he was also chairman of the Ways and

Means Committee (Tr. 848-851).

From 1943 until 1949 appellant kept the books of the

Tarman-Sherwin partnership and at least for the years

1945 and 1946 prepared and filed whatever partnership

tax returns were filed. (Tr. 684-732.) Appellant con-



ceded that he knew the difference between capital gains

and ordinary income and that he had frequently dis-

cussed the matter with his accountant (Tr. 735-736).

Indeed, on the partnership returns for 1945 and 1946

(Ex. 71) which appellant prepared, there were capital

gains computed and reported.

In response to the Bechtel Corporation accountant's

request for advice with respect to the taxability of

multiple corporations, appellant wrote a memorandum

as to the state of the law so as to permit Bechtel Cor-

poration to secure the benefits of lower taxation brackets

for the corporations affiliated with Bechtel (Tr. 696-

698). Later, in 1955 or 1956 when the Beresa Corpora-

tion was having tax troubles with the Government with

respect to the several Beresa affiliated corporations,

appellant gave advice to Beresa in the matter; in con-

nection with this, appellant prepared and submitted a

memorandum (Ex. 41) on behalf of Beresa concerning

the tax advantages of multiple corporations (Tr. 233-

237; 697-703) .

The evidence shows that the following specific items

of income w^ere not reported on appellant's tax returns

(Exhibits 67, 68, 69; Tr. 448-475).

1954 1955 195^
1. Legal Fees:

Milo Ayers $ 2,708.32

Beckwith Estate

(Executor Fee) 911.86

Beresa, Inc.

Cash 250.00

Credit Card 669.78 $ 640.06 $ 320.39

Stock Anderson Hgts.

Water Co 10,000.00

Chip Steak Co 3,833.07

Crozier C. Culp 682.26 774.85 1,182.66

To others for Sherwin 838.66

Nichols, Richard, etc. . . . 2,807.71

J. H. Tarman 500.00
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2. Commissions

:

J. H. Tarman 1,500.00

Wright 9,350.00

3. Partnership Income :

Cheney Bros. Chip
Steak Co 192.71 150.73

Crozier Culp, Joint

Venture 414.27

4. Interest:

Emanuel D. McGee .... 245.41 179.56 182.14

Series E. Bonds 148.15

Director, I.R.S 35S.44

5. Dividends:

Melfort Company 1,744.27

Totals $13,608.41 $13,396.70 $13,580.19

The following summarizes the evidence with respect

to the unreported items:

1. Legal Fees

On his return for 1954, appellant reported "sale of

law practice," $1,216.66. (Tr. 758-759.) Appellant told

Agent Grappo on September 3, 1957, that he actually

didn't sell his law practice, but he didn't wish to have

his return disclose that he was receiving fees from law

practice as he didn't want it to appear that he was

engaged in law practice or receiving legal fees after he

was a judge. (Tr. 349-350; 379-381.) The amount

appellant reported was made up of a remittance for

legal services from Milo Ayer of $1,166.66 and a guar-

dianship fee of $50.00 (Tr. 455, 758). However, appel-

lant actually received an additional $2,708.32, above

that reported, from Milo Ayer for legal services which

he admitted he did not report, saying that he could not

state exactly why it was that he had not reported these

additional amounts (Tr. 607-608, 758-759).
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With respect to the legal fees received : ( 1
) from

Crozier C. Gulp—constituting 12 checks (Exs. 16, 17,

18) over a three-year period (Tr. 38-44), (2) from the

law firm of Nichols, Richard, Allard & Williams, total-

ling $2,807.71 and (3) from the Beckwith Estate (for

Executor's fee) in the amount of $911.86, appellant

admitted that he did not report them on his returns

and that he knew at the time they were taxable, gener-

ally giving as his reason that he just overlooked them

or that he just did not have them in mind (Ex. 7; Tr.

774, 807).

The first legal fee received from Beresa during the

prosecution years was a $250 check (Ex. 35) which was

"on account legal services" (Tr. 204, 208, 244). The

second group of items concerned income to appellant

in the form of purchases on Shell Oil Company credit

cards for all three prosecution years. The credit cards

were issued to Beresa and were further issued by Beresa

to appellant for his use. Appellant agreed that these

purchases on the credit cards constituted income to him

and that he had not reported this income from Beresa.

(Ex. 7; Tr. 802).

The third Beresa item concerned stock in the Ander-

son Heights Water Company which was transferred in

1956 to appellant in satisfaction of a $4,000 loan and

appellant's $13,250 bill for legal fees owed by Beresa

(Tr. 243, 245, 831). By comparing the per share cost

to Mr. Wright and Mr. Wetenhall who had paid

$25,000 for some of the Anderson stock a few weeks

prior to the transfer to appellant, the Government's

expert in computing appellant's income arrived at a

$14,000 value of the stock, of which $4,000 represented

repayment by Beresa to appellant of a loan. The $10,000



balance was considered income to appellant as satis-

faction for the $13,250 legal fees bill (Tr. 470-471).

Appellant testified that he did not report the Anderson

Heights stock received on account of legal fees due him

for two reasons: (1) he did not consider the receipt of

stock a taxable item until sold because he believed only

items of cash were reportable," and (2) he considered

the receipt of this stock a security transaction (Tr.

623-624).

A Chip Steak Company check dated January 4, 1954,

for $3,833.07 was received by appellant for legal fees

rendered in prior years; the fee was not reported on

appellant's worksheet (Tr. 808) or on his 1954 return,

although appellant agreed that it was an item of taxable

income (Tr. 35). At the trial, appellant testified that

he had undoubtedly recorded this check on his check-

book stub (Tr. 808) but he could not recall why he

had not included the item (Tr. 608-609, 808).

The $500 check from the J. H. Tarman Corporation

(Ex. 24) was a 1955 legal fee earned for the appellant's

services rendered in Tarman's Suisun Gardens project

(Tr. 56-58). Appellant contended that he thought this

was either a partnership withdrawal or a gift (Tr.

785-787) even though the Suisun Gardens project was

not a partnership enterprise (Tr. 65).

2. Commissions

A $1,500 commission was received in 1954 by appel-

lant from the Tarmans, father and son, real estate

operators, for services rendered in effecting the sale of

^However, with respect to partnership income, appellant told the agent
that he was aware that a partner would report his income in the year in

which the partnership earned the income, whetiicr or not he had received
the cash in that year (Tr. 344).
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certain acreage near Willows, California, to the Beresa

Company. The Willows acreage was not an asset of the

partnership existing between appellant and J. H. Tar-

man. (Tr. 61-65.) Appellant similarly contended that

he thought this was a partnership withdrawal (Tr. 834).

During the year 1955, appellant received commissions,

referred to at the trial as the Willows Commission,

totalling $11,000 from Milton A. Wright (Tr. 611-612)

for acting as go-between for Wright with Beresa, Inc.

and others in connection with arranging a badly needed

loan between Wright and the Beresa corporation and

for drafting the contract on March 18, 1954 (Tr. 152-

159; 822-824).

Payment of $8,000 of this amount was effected by

appellant cancelling the $8,000 balance as an ofifset

against money which was owed Wright by a joint ven-

ture composed of Tarman, Sherwin and one Schneider.

As Wright received payments from Tarman and Schnei-

der in 1955, he turned them over to appellant, thereby

completing the $11,000 payment. Appellant reported a

$1,650 item on his 1955 return as being "income from

former law practice" which has been considered as one

of the Willows Commission checks; appellant has been

given appropriate credit for this amount in the Govern-

ment's computation of income (Ex. 68; Tr. 157-160,

463).

Appellant admitted that the worksheet (Ex. 57)

which he turned over to the agent during the investiga-

tion had listed $6,350 for "Willows Comm," but that the

sheet which he turned over to the accountant for prepa-

ration of the return contained nothing for this item (Tr.

611-612). Appellant testified that he could not give

any reason why the work sheet he gave to the agent
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contained only part of the commission (Tr. 818). De-

spite the fact that appellant had listed $6,350 as income

on the sheet turned over to the agent, he nevertheless

contended at the trial that he did not consider this

receipt as income. The reason he gave was that vs^hile

in form it was a commission it was really intended by

Mr. Bechtel to compensate appellant for the losses he

had sustained on the bankruptcy of the Bechtel Cor-

porations (Tr. 612-614, 819, 821-822, 826, 862). Appel-

lant did not offer any explanation as to why he was

entitled to omit income from his 1955 return to com-

pensate him for a 1951 stock loss in the bankrupt Bechtel

Corporation which had no relation to the 1955 transac-

tion involving the Beresa Corporation.

3. Partnerships

Appellant received some income from a partnership

interest in Cheney Brothers Chip Steak Company (Tr.

113-116) and from the Crozier Culp joint venture

(Tr. 46-47, 51-52). Appellant testified that Culp re-

ported this item of income to him, but that he gave the

matter no attention (Tr. 810). There were additional

unreported partnership income items from dividends on

the Tarman-Sherwin partnership-owned Melfort Com-

pany stock, discussed infra.

4. Interest

Appellant received regular monthly interest pay-

ments on a mortgage from Emanuel D. McGee. Every

month McGee sent his loan payment receipt book (Ex.

8) to appellant, who would compute the interest which

was due on the notes and make notations in the book as

to the amount of the payment of principal and interest
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(Tr. 261-262, 765-766). The mortgage itself was re-

corded under the name of one Pleitner. (Tr. 764-765).

Appellant admitted that he knew the interest was report-

able for each year (Tr. 768), explaining that he "just

never gave it a thought" (Tr. 609). When appellant sold

some Series E. bonds he received $148.15 interest, but

did not report it; he testified that he did not know that

such interest was reportable (Tr. 778). However, appel-

lant had nevertheless included the bond principal and

interest on the schedule of income (Ex. 57) given to

the agent during the investigation and then had drawn

a line through the item. (Tr. 111.) Appellant also

received interest on a tax refund from the Government,

but testified that he did not pay any attention to the

fact that part of the refund was interest, even though

there was a notation on the face of the notice to appel-

lant (Ex. 12) that the interest was reportable (Tr. 779).

While appellant failed to report interest, neverthe-

less each year appellant claimed substantial amounts of

interest expense on his returns (Exs. 1, 2, 3).

5. Dividends

The Melfort Corporation which owned shares of

stock in the David Meat Company, distributed that

stock to the stockholders of the Melfort Company (Ex.

26; Tr. 122). This distribution represented taxable

dividend to the Melfort Company stockholders. Appel-

lant's reportable share of this dividend was $1,844.27

(Tr. 472-474). The shares received by appellant in

this distribution were placed in the name of appellant's

daughter by appellant (Tr. 197). Appellant had sug-

gested to the daughter that she report the dividend

on her income tax returns; he arranged to have the
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accountant Wright prepare her return (Tr. 194-195,200).

Accordingly, the daughter reported the dividend on

her joint return reporting a total tax liability of $169.62

from this dividend and from other income. Appellant

paid the tax on the daughter's return (Ex. 33; Tr. 195-

196, 201). While appellant contended at this trial that

the stock was his daughter's (Tr. 838), he had, hovs^ever,

at the Santa Rosa trial where the Tarman-Sherwin

partnership litigation was taking place, made the flat

statement that the stock was his (Tr. 848).

With respect to appellant's contentions at the trial

that he was entitled to an operating loss carry-forward

from the 1951 bankruptcy of the Bechtel Corporations,

the evidence showed that on appellant's 1951 returns

(Exs. 63, 64) he had claimed an operating loss on a

loan made to the Bechtel Corporation, but had claimed

only a capital loss with respect to the loss on his stock

investment in the bankrupt Bechtel Corporations. In

his 1952 return (Ex. 65), he had carried forward this

loss from the Bechtel stock and again merely claimed

the maximum allowable capital loss of $1,000. On none

of his returns had appellant claimed an operating loss

on account of his stock loss resulting from the bank-

ruptcy of the Bechtel corporations.^

In a letter dated April 13, 1954 (Ex. 75) in connec-

tion with appellant's 1951 returns, the Internal Revenue

Service had requested substantiation of appellant's claim

to being in the business of promoting corporations;

appellant was also requested to furnish details as to the

''Appellant's own expert at the trial admitted that in the 1958 return of

appellant which he had prepared he had treated appellant's loss resulting

from payment of $1,487 in 1958 to the Bank of America as a guarantor on
an obligation of the defunct Bechtel Corporation as a capital loss to appel-

lant and that he had also treated 1959 and 1960 similar losses in the same
way (Tr. 967-970).
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claimed $21,115 operating loss and the $30,000 capital

loss. To substantiate his assertion on his 1951 return of

being in the business of promoting corporations, so as to

warrant his claim of $21,115 operating loss on the

loan, appellant listed twenty-seven corporations he had

formed. With respect to the $30,000 capital loss claim,

appellant explained to the Internal Revenue Service

that this pertained to his loss on the stock of the Bechtel

corporations (Ex. 75).

Thereafter, based on appellant's representations in

his letter, an office auditor in the Internal Revenue

Service (Tr. 1004) allowed the $21,115 operating loss

claim for the loan on a "tentative adjustment" or what

is called a "quickie claim." This is allowed, based

solely on the taxpayer's statement without examining the

return and without any additional investigation (Tr.

1009-1010). The purpose of the law is to permit the

taxpayer to get his money back quickly from the federal

government if he needed it (Tr. 1016). Such claims

were processed at the rate of three to four hundred a

week per one employee (Tr. 1010). There was no final

agreement as to the correctness or incorrectness of such

an allowance (Tr. 1011; 1015-1016).

At the trial it was established through appellant that

there were actually just two corporate groups. The

Bechtel Corporation family which constituted the first

twenty-three corporations on the list submitted to the

Internal Revenue Service (Ex. 75) and the Chip Steak

Company, which was made up of the last four corpora-

tions on the list. The twenty-three in the Bechtel family

of corporations were associated in the same general

enterprise of building subdivisions (Tr. 634-635; 691-

693, 721). Appellant testified that he guaranteed some
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of the financing for Bechtel Corporation; however he

admitted such guaranteeing was done jointly with T. R.

Bechtel, the other major stockholder (Tr. 716-717).

Appellant testified that the purpose of forming the

multiple Bechtel family corporations was to secure tax

benefits and so that a new subdivision would not be

impeded in case one tract (in a separate corporation)

was having financial difficulties (Tr. 696-697). In the

Bechtel family of corporations the stockholders were

the same; the offices were the same; and none of the

subsidiary corporations had any employees (Tr. 721-

724). Appellant had been receiving a salary from

Bechtel (Tr. 726). Appellant testified that the first time

he had known that he had been listed on his 1951 return

as a promoter of corporations was at this trial (Tr. 749).

None of his Bechtel stock had been sold by him to any-

one and he had no intention at any of this time to sell

any of the stock (Tr. 750).

At the trial, the government expert in making his

computation allowed as a deduction from income the

maximum $1,000 as a capital loss carry-over from the

1951 return for each of the prosecution years (Exs. 57,

58, 59; Tr. 486).

The Court instructed the jury at length with respect

to the claims of the appellant and the government on

the question of whether the losses sustained by the

defendant by reason of the 1951 bankruptcy of T. R.

Bechtel Company and Bechtel Lumber Company were

net operating losses in a business of the appellant or a

loss from the sale or exchange of capital assets. The
Court further instructed the jury that it was for them

to determine whether the loss was an operating loss or

a capital loss to the appellant. (App. xix-xxiii).
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QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the questions asked with respect to legal

fees to establish that the checks and stock received

by appellant constituted income and not partnership

drawings or gifts to him were warranted.

2. Whether the Government properly computed appel-

lant's tax basis in Anderson Heights stock, which

appellant had received in settlement of a bill ren-

dered for legal services.

3. When the evidence showed that there was in fact

additional unreported income from the Tarman-

Sherwin partnership, whether the questions pro-

pounded by the prosecutor and the instructions given

by the Court with respect to this additional income

were proper.

4. When Agent Neilands was called as a witness by

the defense and testified fully with respect to his

audit of the Tarman-Sherwin partnership, whether

the defense was entitled under any theory of law to

have produced the agent's report of his audit of the

partnership.

5. Whether the elements of the offense in Section

7206(1) are the same as those in Section 7201.

(a) Whether the Government was required to elect

between the Section 7201 and Section 7206(1)

counts of the indictment.

(b) Whether the Government must prove a tax due

and owing with respect to the Section 7206(1)

charges.
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(c) Whether the matters alleged in the indictment

with respect to the Section 7206(1) charges

were material within the meaning of Section

7206(1).

(d) Whether the Court's instructions on wilfulness

with respect to the 7206(1 ) charges were proper.

6. Whether the Court's instructions on wilfulness and

intent with respect to the Section 7201 charges were

proper.

7. When appellant relied entirely on one theory of

defense at the trial with respect to alleged losses and

when the evidence at the trial related solely to that

one theory, whether the Court was required to in-

struct the jury concerning any other theories about

which there was no evidence in the record.

8. Whether there was any sound basis in the trial record

to require the Court to hold as a matter of law that

there was no tax due and owing by appellant with

respect to the prosecution years.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There was no error in the questions and answers con-

cerning legal fees earned and received by appellant

during the prosecution years. The evidence was plain

that appellant had in fact earned such fees during the

prosecution years. The testimony with respect to legal

fees was necessary in order to establish that the fees

were items of income and not drawings or gifts as

variously contended by appellant. So long as the evi-

dence was probative of the issues in this case, it does

not become inadmissible merely because it may also
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show the commission of another ofifense. Himmelfarb v.

United States, 175 F.2d 924, 941 (C.A. 9th, 1949),

cert, den., 338 U.S. 860. The Court carefully instructed

the jury as to the limited purpose for which such evi-

dence was received.

The computation of appellant's unreported income

from the transfer to him of the Anderson Heights

Water Company stock was based on the per-share price

paid by another purchaser (Wright) at about the same

time as the transfer to appellant. The government's

expert carefully deducted from the income charged to

appellant the proportion of the stock which represented

repayment of a $4,000 loan. The price at which Wright

had purchased the stock was subject to the condition

that the sellers would repurchase at an $8,000 bonus.

However, appellant concedes that the seller, the Beresa

Corporation, was in financial difficulties at the time.

Therefore, the buyer (Wright) had no collateral to look

to except the stock he was purchasing. Following the

transfer of the stock to appellant, the latter actually

purchased more stock in the Anderson Company from

one Rarey at a higher price than Rarey had paid.

Moreover, Wright later in 1958 looked over the Ander-

son project prospect and found it to be good and offered

to buy appellant's stock, but appellant was not interested

in selling. Accordingly, the government was warranted

in assigning a $14,000 base to this stock. This stock was

transferred to appellant in settlement of a $13,250 legal

fee bill; however, the government used the lesser basis

of $10,000 ($14,000 less the $4,000 which represented

repayment of a loan) in charging appellant with this

income.

The questions asked about unreported income from
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the Tarman-Sherwin partnership were warranted since

appellant, his counsel, and all witnesses who had knowl-

edge on the subject agreed that there actually was

income from that source which had not been reported.

In fact there was evidence of specific items of unre-

ported Tarman-Sherwin partnership income received

from dividends in the Melfort Corporation which

appellant knew about and the accountant who prepared

the returns did not know about and which was not

reported on the partnership return or on appellant's

return. The Court's instruction on the issue properly

advised the jury that it could consider such evidence

with respect to unreported Tarman-Sherwin partner-

ship income "if from the evidence you are satisfied

beyond a reasonable doubt that he failed to report such

income."

With respect to appellant's complaint that he was

prevented by the Court from showing partnership losses,

the record is clear that the Court's refusal to permit

cross-examination of a witness on this issue occurring

during the government's case was carefully premised on

the fact that the questions were beyond the scope of the

direct testimony of the witness and pertained to matters

discovered during post-prosecution years. As was

pointed out (Tr. 320), such evidence would be material

if the witness were called as part of appellant's case.

There was no error in refusal of the Court to order

production of Agent Neilands' report (Court's Exhibit

No. 1). This agent had conducted an audit of J. H.

Tarman, Sr., a part of which included an audit of the

Tarman-Sherwin partnership. However, the agent was

not an investigating agent on this case. The agent's

report was not admissible per se as evidence. United



20

States V. Brockington, 21 F.R.D. 104 (E.D. Va. 1957).

The agent was called as a witness for the defense and

testified fully as to the audit he had conducted and as

to his computations. There were no questions asked of

him which he failed or refused to answer. The govern-

ment did not dispute the agent's testimony in any way.

There was thus no principle of corroboration, impeach-

ment, refreshment of recollection or other basis in law

warranting production of the report.

The sentences on all counts being concurrent, if this

Court finds that appellant's conviction on the Section

7201 charges should be upheld, it is unnecessary for

this Court to consider appellant's various allegations of

error with respect to the Section 7206(1) charges.

Hirabayashi v. United States, 320 U.S. 81, 105 (1943).

The appellant erroneously assumes that the offense

defined in Section 7206(1) is the same as that set forth

in Section 7201. The offense charged in Section 7206(1)

is merely an incidental step in the consummation of the

offense of attempted tax evasion proscribed in Section

7201. Hence, the government, having had the right to

proceed against appellant under any section or sections

of the Internal Revenue Code that it selected, was not

required to elect as between the 7201 and 7206(1)

counts of the indictment, nor was it required, with

respect to the 7206(1) counts, to prove a tax due and

owing. Similarly, appellant was not entitled to an

instruction that he have a tax evasion intent with respect

to the 7206(1) charges. The Court's instructions as

given on wilfulness as they related to the Section

7206(1) charges were proper.

The indictment alleged materiality within the mean-

ing of Section 7206(1) with sufficient particularity. A



21

false statement regarding the items of appellant's income

is obviously material within the purview of Section

7206(1).

There was no error in the trial court's instructions on

wilfullness and intent with respect to the Section 7201

charges of tax evasion. The full and comprehensive

charge by the court on that subject was proper. The
appellant himself requested the so-called Murdoch in-

struction which comprises substantially all of the charge

complained of. Of the two decisions of this Circuit

relied upon by appellant on this point, one is clearly

distinguished by reason of the setting in which the

instruction there held to be erroneous was given; while

the vitality of the other has been virtually eliminated by

a subsequent decision of this Court. Furthermore, the

language of the instructions given in this case about

which appellant complains was not the same as that

used in the instructions given in the cases upon which

appellant relies to support his contentions. From a

reading of the instructions as a whole, and in context,

it is clear that appellant's allegation of error with

respect to the Court's charge has no merit.

There is no merit to appellant's contention that he

was entitled to instructions on some other alternative

theories of the defense. At the trial, there was testi-

mony about and appellant relied on only one theory,

that he was a dealer in and promoter of corporations,

to support his contention that he was entitled to a carry-

forward loss during the prosecution years on account

of his loss on the stock of the Bechtel Corporations as

a result of their 1951 bankruptcy. The Court carefully

instructed the jury on appellant's theory. The Court

was not warranted in charging the jury with respect to
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some other defensive theory which appellant had not

relied on and about which there was no probative evi-

dence in the record.

There is no merit to appellant's final contention that

the Court should have held as a matter of law that no

tax was due and owing by appellant. Contrary to appel-

lant's assertion in support of this claim (O. B. 59-65),

the government through the Internal Revenue Service

at no time conceded that appellant had an operating

loss on the bankrupt Bechtel Corporation stock which

appellant was entitled to carry forward to the years

1954, 1955 and 1956. Indeed, appellant had specifically

claimed only a capital loss with respect to this stock loss

on his 1951 and 1952 returns.

ARGUMENT

I. The Legal Fee Testimony Elicited Was Necessary in Order
to Establish the Fees as Items of Income.

Appellant contends (O. B. 13-20) that the introduc-

tion of testimony and the questioning of the prosecutor

with respect to the earning of legal fees during the

prosecution years by appellant was error. This conten-

tion is without merit. A great deal of the unreported

income in this case arose from legal fees which were

not declared on appellant's tax returns. The mere fact

that during a taxable year a person receives cash or

checks or other things of value does not establish them

per se as items of income to be reported on the tax-

payer's income tax return. In this case, the introduction

of testimony with respect to receipt by appellant of

legal fees was necessary to establish these items as in-

come and, further, to rebut appellant's contention that
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some of them constituted non-income receipts such as

withdrawals from a corporation or partnership.

One of the questions and answers about which appel-

lant complains (O. B. 14-15) concerns the testimony of

the witness Jack Tarman about a $500 check to appel-

lant (Ex. 24). The Tarmans and Sherwin were in a

partnership together. It was necessary to establish that

this check represented income, namely payment for legal

services for the Tarmans, and not a drawing from the

partnership—a non-income receipt. The witness had

just testified that appellant had asked for $500 for

appellant's help in alleviating the intricate problems the

Tarmans had had with the other owners in the Suisun

Gardens project; the witness testified that appellant had

asked that Tarman tell Joyce, the partnership account-

I ant, to put the $500 in the journals and ledgers as a

partnership withdrawal (Tr. 59). It was thus not clear

whether the $500 check was a partnership withdrawal

(a non-income item) or a payment from the J. H.

Tarman Company on account of legal services rendered

to it. Accordingly, the witness was properly questioned

as to whether the payment w^as for services "in the na-

ture of legal assistance" (Tr. 57).

The witness later stated that the $500 item was first

put on the journal sheets as a Gwin Unit transaction

and was ultimately entered on the books and records

of the J. H. Tarman corporation as a legal fee and

deducted as a corporate expense (Tr. 60; 96-101) and

that the Suisun Gardens project for which the service

was rendered was not a Tarman-Sherwin partnership

project (Tr. 65). The bank account on which the

check was written was the Tarman Corporation account

(Tr. 96).
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The necessity to definitely establish the income char-

acter of the item was made plain when appellant on

the witness stand said that he considered the check

either (1) as a partnership withdrawal, or (2) as a

gift made by Mr. Tarman in appeciation of appellant's

services on the Suisun matter (Tr. 785-787). Appellant

never listed the $500 check as constituting partnership

withdrawal, in his accounting of his partnership inter-

ests at the Santa Rosa litigation (Tr. 787-788). It would

seem that if appellant had actually intended that the

item be charged against him as a partnership withdrawal

and believed that it had been handled in that way, and

that it was not payment for legal services rendered to the

Tarman Company, the item should have been listed in

his accounting of his partnership interests at Santa Rosa.

Appellant additionally contends that a $1,500 check

from the Tarmans was not income, on the grounds that

appellant requested that it also be treated as a with-

drawal from the Tarman-Sherwin partnership (O. B.

16-17). However, Jack Tarman testified that he had

issued the check to appellant as payment for legal

services or commission expense (Tr. 92) for appellant's

services in effecting a sale by J. H. Tarman of Tarman's

subdivision in Willows, California, to the Beresa Cor-

poration and in typing up the contracts for the sale,

pursuant to a telephone call he received from appellant

requesting to be paid $1,500 for his services. The

Tarman-Sherwin partnership had no connection with

the Tarman's Willows subdivision or with Beresa, the

two groups involved in the Willows subdivision sale.

(Tr. 61-64; 92-95; 107.) The notation "Willows deal

Beresa" was put on the check when it was returned

from the bank and before it was delivered to the
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accountant for preparation of the income tax returns

(Tr. 93, 107) which, of course, were prepared long

before the witness' testimony at this trial.

Some of the questions directed to appellant about

which he complains (O. B. 18; Tr. 785; 805-806) were

proper on another ground. When appellant took the

stand, he gave a different account (Tr. 614-616; 834-

836) as to his conversations with respect to the $500 and

$1,500 Tarman checks than had the witness Jack Tar-

man (Tr. 53-66). Accordingly, the credibility of the

government witness became an issue, and it was proba-

tive to cross-examine the defendant as to the details of

the transaction as had been testified to by Jack Tarman.

Appellant further contends (O. B. 18-19) that he

was prejudiced by questions asked with respect to legal

fees paid him by Beresa. Appellant was not a stock-

holder or officer in Beresa, but did perform legal serv-

ices for it (Tr. 204) and was advising Beresa during

the prosecution years (Tr. 231). Thus, in 1955, appel-

lant prepared and submitted a memorandum to Beresa

(Ex. 40) with respect to their proposed business activity

in Oregon, advising them of the legal requirements for

doing business in Oregon, suggesting the advisability of

using a California corporation, and offering to prepare

the necessary forms for setting up the corporation which

he would forward to Beresa to execute.

There were several items of income charged by the

government as having been received by appellant as

income from Beresa during the prosecution years, in-

cluding (1) a $250 check "on account legal," (2) ap-

pellant's enjoyment of the use of Beresa's credit cards

with Shell Oil Company, and (3) $10,000 worth of

stock in the Anderson Heights Water Company which
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was transferred to appellant in satisfaction of a $13,250

bill for legal fees owed by Beresa to appellant (Tr.

243-245).

On direct examination, the witness Reilley had said

that the Anderson Heights Water Company stock was

transferred to appellant in payment for legal fees (Tr.

245). The issue about which appellant now complains

(O. B. 19) was actually brought up by appellant's

attorney on cross-examination. Appellant's counsel had

elicited from Mr. Reilley, a government witness, that

the type of service performed by appellant after he went

on the bench was such as arbitrating disputes (Tr. 252-

253). Appellant's counsel also questioned the witness as

to whether he had "found any other checks [other than

the one for $250] for legal services that were paid to

Judge Sherwin in 1954, 1955 and 1956." The witness

replied that there were none because the total indebted-

ness had been wiped out by the transfer of the Anderson

Heights Water Company stock (Tr. 254). In this setting,

then, on re-direct, the witness was asked whether appel-

lant performed legal services for Beresa during 1954,

1955, and 1956. The witness replied that appellant ren-

dered services by advice and suggestions on how to con-

duct business, that he recalled that appellant also drew

up a waiver of lien and items of that nature and that

during 1954, 1955 and 1956 appellant had advised

Beresa on tax matters (Exs. 40, 41 ; Tr. 255-259). Thus,

the questions had been asked by the government on re-

direct of witness Reilley to clarify his testimony.

Moreover, the need to establish the definite character

of the receipt of the Anderson Heights Water Company

stock as being reportable income from legal fees was

shown when appellant's counsel moved to strike the
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evidence with respect to this matter on the grounds, inter

alia, that the government had not shov^n that the stock

"constituted income to the defendant" (Tr. 524). In

addition, appellant later gave tv^o alternative explana-

tions for nonreporting: (1) he considered this stock as

a security transaction and not reportable, and (2) he

did not consider receipt of stock a taxable item until it

was sold (Tr. 623-626).

We believe the evidence shows another example in

which appellant in effect admits earning income dur-

ing the prosecution years from legal fees. Appellant was

attorney for Chip Steak Company. Originally he was

paid fees when he rendered bills; later he "was some-

what on a retainer on the basis of salary"; he continued

on salary with the Chip Steak Company after he went

on the bench. In connection with his explanation of the

Chip Steak Company salary (actually reported on ap-

pellant's returns), appellant made the following state-

ment with respect to rendering legal advice after he

went on the bench: "Well, I think that any director

in discusing company problems renders legal advice,

but if there was anything involved taking any legal

responsibility, I told them they would have to get some

attorney who would be able to carry out what he ad-

vised. * * * I didn't give any legal advice on any

matter that I thought might involve them in difficulty.

I advised them to go to other attorneys. * * * but I

didn't render any bills. My definition, of course, of

practicing law or practicing medicine is either giving

legal or medical advice for a compensation." (Tr. 708-

712.)

The court carefully instructed the jury as to the

limited purposes for which the evidence as to legal fees



28

was received and cautioned them to make no other use

of the testimony, both during the trial (Tr. 806) and

at the time the case was submitted to it (App. xi-xii) :

"I further instruct you that should you find that

the defendant received fees for legal services ren-

dered after he took judicial office, he is not here

on trial for such conduct, nor is he on trial for

any other act or conduct not alleged in the indict-

ment. Any fees received by the defendant after he

took judicial office, should you be satisfied that such

fees were in fact received, for the purposes of this

trial, are to be treated the same and no different

than any other income received by the defendant

from any other source. The fees and other income

received, and not the source thereof, are material

to this case, to the degree that you find such fees

and other income go to make up the income of the

defendant which was subject to tax during the

years in question."

It has long been settled that evidence probative of an

issue in the case does not become inadmissible because

it also may show the commission of another offense.

Wood V. United States, 41 U.S. 341, 360 (1842) ;
Stra-

der V. United States, 72 F. 2d 589 (10th Cir., 1934);

Tinkoif V. United States, 86 F. 2d 868, 879 (7th Cir.,

1936), cert, denied, 301 U.S. 689; Himmelfarb V.

United States, supra.

We submit that there was no error in the questions

asked and answers given with respect to appellant's

earning of the legal fees during the prosecution years.

II. There Was No Error in the Treatment of the Anderson
Heights Water Company Stock.

Appellant had performed legal services for the Beresa

Corporation and had billed them for $13,250. In addi-
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tion, he had loaned Beresa $4,000. In settlement of both

of these obligations aggregating $17,250, Beresa trans-

ferred to appellant stock in the Anderson Heights Water
Company. The total Anderson Heights capital stock

had a par value of $75,000 and the actual cost to con-

struct the Anderson Heights Water Company project

was around $70,000 (Tr. 227). Mr. Wright testified

that he had paid $25,000 for some of the stock pursuant

to a contract to sell (Ex. 27) which called for purchase

of all of the Anderson stock for $40,000; the buyers

had the option to purchase only part of the stock at the

proportionate price, which they exercised to the extent

of $25,000 worth.

The government computed appellant's interest in An-

derson on the basis of the per share cost to Wright in

his purchase of the Anderson stock which had occurred

only a few weeks before appellant's transaction. (Tr.

130, 470-471). Based on the Wright purchase, the value

of appellant's stock in Anderson was computed at

$14,000. However, the government's expert in making

the computation first deducted the $4,000 due appellant

on the loan, since this did not represent income. The

remaining $10,000 basis was charged as income to appel-

lant. (Tr. 470-471.) The government's expert stated

that there were several ways in which the basis for this

stock could be computed. It could be computed by the

fair market value, which was what a willing buyer

would pay a willing seller. In the absence of any his-

tory of willing buyers and willing sellers it is assumed

under the Internal Revenue Code, in the absence of

satisfactory evidence to the contrary, that the asset has

the value of the claim. (Tr. 522-523.) In this particular

case the claim would be $17,250, a $4,000 loan and
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$13,250 for legal fees. Here, the government, however,

took the lesser figure of $10,000 as the basis for that

part of the transfer of stock attributed to appellant as

income from legal fees.

Beresa was owned by the Bechtels and Reilleys (Tr.

125, 152, 167). Wright was not a stockholder in Beresa.

Wright's agreement to purchase the stock for $40,000

contained two conditions: (1) an option to appellant

to purchase the stock for $48,000, and (2) in the event

appellant did not exercise his option, an agreement by

the Beresa interests to repurchase the stock at the option

price of $48,000 (Ex. 27). Appellant later purchased

additional Anderson Heights Water Company stock

from one Rarey; the latter had purchased the stock for

$1,000, at the same per-share price paid by Wright

(Tr. 131, 470), and appellant paid him over $1,100 for

it. (Tr. 832.) Thus, appellant must have thought at

about this time that the stock was worth the $17,250

which was due him since he had secured the option

to purchase Wright's $40,000 stock for $48,000 and later

paid Rarey a premium to secure Rarey's stock.

Wright, who stated that in 1958 or 1959 he had looked

over the Anderson records and thought things were

getting better, had a short discussion with appellant

about buying appellant's interest in Anderson, without

mentioning price, and found out that appellant was not

interested in selling (Tr. 131-133; 149-150). Appar-

ently appellant still felt in 1958 that he had a good

investment in the Anderson stock.

The only collateral which Wright had received for

his $25,000 investment was the Anderson stock. Appel-

lant states (O. B. 21) that Beresa, who had guaranteed

performance on the Anderson contract (Ex. 27), was
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in serious financial difficulties. If it is true that Beresa

was then in difficulties, Wright had to depend on the

value of his Anderson stock to protect his investment.

Wright was purchasing Anderson stock, not Beresa

stock. Wright was not a stockholder in Beresa and was

plainly dealing at arms length with Beresa in negotiat-

ing the Anderson contract at the agreed-on price.

The Court properly instructed the jury that the

burden was on the government to prove that the stock

had the value claimed by the government. The rele-

vant factors for the jury to consider in determining

whether the government's computation of income to

appellant from receipt of the Anderson stock were fully

set forth in the court's instruction (App. xii-xiii). There

was no need to instruct the jury that the $4,000 must

first be deducted in arriving at appellant's base for tax

purposes, as contended by appellant (O. B. 23-24),

because the government's expert had at all times con-

ceded this fact (Tr. 469-471, 504) and had deducted

the $4,000 before arriving at the amount chargeable

as income (Ex. 69).^

It has, of course, been long established that it is not

necessary that the government prove an evasion of all

of the tax charged; it is sufficient if it proves that any

substantial portion was attempted to be defeated. United

States V. Johnson, 319 U.S. 503; Gleckman V. United

States, 80 F. 2d 394 (8th Cir., 1935) cert, den., 297 U.S.

709; Tinkoff V. United States, supra.

^When appellant made his objection to the court's instruction, the Court
pointed out that under the last sentence of defendant's proposed instruc-

tion No. 40 on this issue (O.B.A. xx), (which stated that the court "spe-

cifically instruct you that you must find" that the transferred Anderson
Heights stock "had a value in excess of $4,000."), would have automatically

instructed the jury that the Anderson Heights stock was an item of report-

able income, and the court stated it did not want to go that far. (Tr.

1053-1054).
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In this case, the Court properly left to the jury the

issue as to whether the government had proved substan-

tial unreported income from the acquisition of the

Anderson stock. (App. xii-xiii). We submit that there

was probative evidence to support the jury's findings

under the court's instruction that appellant received

substantial unreported income in 1956 from his acquisi-

tion of the Anderson Heights Water Company stock.

III. There Was No Error in the Treatment of Income From
the Tarman-Sherwin Partnership.

There is no merit to appellant's complaint (O. B. 25)

with respect to the question asked by government coun-

sel as to whether there was additional partnership

income or the witness' reply that there was additional

income. This question was asked on cross-examination

of Agent Neilands offered by the appellant during

presentation of appellant's defense. Earlier, during the

government's case, appellant's own counsel had stated

in the jury's presence that certain items of Tarman-

Sherwin partnership income had not been included in

the income tax return of appellant (Tr. 314) and had

vigorously pressed to be allowed to cross-examine Mr.

Joyce on this issue (Tr. 310-330). The Court's refusal

to permit such cross-examination at that juncture was

based on its ruling that counsel could not go beyond

the scope of the direct examination of Joyce, which had

related solely to the preparation of appellant's returns

(Tr. 315, 322, 328-330). The Court stated however

that this matter was a proper subject to be brought out

on appellant's case (Tr. 322). Moreover, the question

about which appellant now complains was not objected

to by appellant's counsel at the time it was asked (Tr.
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^76-S77), which is hardly surprising in light of appel-

lant's earlier efforts to secure the admission of such

testimony. Nevertheless, it is now too late to be assign-

ing this question and answer as error (Specification

No. V).

Appellant's assertion (O. B. 27; see also O. B. 25-26)

that the undisputed evidence in the case showed that in

no way could appellant be held responsible for any

unreported income from the Tarman-Sherwin partner-

ship is not correct. It is true that appellant's income

from the partnership which was reported on appellant's

returns was taken by the accountant Joyce from the

partnership returns. However, appellant had 202 shares

I

of Melfort Company stock which he kept in his daugh-

ter's name; 100 shares of this stock actually belonged

to the Tarman-Sherwin partnership (of which appel-

lant had a 50% interest) and 102 shares belonged to

appellant individually (Ex. 34; Tr. 203, 472-474). The

accountant for the Tarman-Sherwin partnership (Joyce)

who also prepared appellant's tax returns for the prose-

cution years testified that he did not know that the

partnership owned stock in Melfort or that the partner-

ship had received any dividends from the Melfort

Company. Accordingly, the partnership dividends from

Melfort had not been included in the partnership return

or in appellant's individual return as income from the

partnership (Tr. 290-292).

Nor was there error in the Court's instruction on the

I

issue. The Court carefully advised the jury that it

could consider evidence of unreported income with

respect to the Tarman-Sherwin partnership providing

"from the evidence you are satisfied beyond a reasonable

doubt that he failed to report such income." (O.B.
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25-26, App. xiv). As the Court pointed out when appel-

lant objected to the instruction (Tr. 1130-1131), it had

conditioned the Tarman-Sherwin partnership instruction

on the premise: "if you so find" that there was any unre-

ported income. The instruction was clearly warranted

in light of the evidence.

There is no merit to appellant's further contention

(O. B. 26) that the Court would not permit evidence

of Tarman-Sherwin partnership losses to be introduced.

At the time the ofifer of proof was made on this issue it

was specifically stated by appellant's counsel to be as to

after discovered evidence not known for some time after

the returns for the prosecution years were prepared.

The Court carefully noted that it denied the motion to

elicit this testimony on the grounds (1) that counsel

had emphasized that this was after discovered evidence,

and (2) the proof was tendered as part of the cross-

examination of this witness whose testimony on direct

had been strictly limited to the preparation of appel-

lant's returns (Tr. 328-329). As was pointed out (Tr.

320), the witness, appellant's own accountant who pre-

pared his returns, could be recalled on appellant's case,

at which point the questions would be material. Chevil-

lard V. Vnited States, 155 F. 2d 929, 934-935 (9th Cir.,

1946).

No proof was offered on appellant's case as to any

alleged Tarman-Sherwin partnership losses, "" although

the accountant-bookkeeper for the partnership (Joyce),

""'V/e are at a loss to understand appellant's position (O.B. 26) that he
wanted to go into partnership income for the purposes of determining
losses. At the trial, appellant similarly contended that he was attempting
to prove that the omission on appellant's return of certain partnership

income, namely the Plaza Building, constituted a loss to the defendant

(Tr. 322, 328). Apparently appellant contends that he should be entitled

to a loss on his tax return for income that he never reported in the first

place.
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the person whom appellant had attempted to cross-

examine about it, was available as a witness. The part-

nership records were, of course, subject to subpoena.

Appellant's present accountant (Moran) who had just

recently audited the Tarman-Sherwin partnership was

put on the stand by appellant, and testified as to his

computation of losses as a result of the 1951 Bechtel

Corporation bankruptcy (Tr. 886-906), but said nothing

about any alleged partnership losses he found in the

audit.

IV. The Refusal of the Court to Order the Revenue Agent's
Report Produced Was Not Error.

Revenue Agent Neilands was called as a witness by

the defense. In 1958 and 1959 he had conducted an

audit with respect to J. H. Tarman, Sr., in connection

with which he had audited the Tarman-Sherwin part-

nership (Tr. 545, 561). He was not an investigating

agent in connection with bringing the indictment in

this case. Appellant had asked for production of the

agent's report prior to trial and during the course of

Neilands' testimony at the trial (Tr. 561). The Court

refused to require pre-trial production on the grounds

that the report was not evidence and was not producible

under Rules 16 and 17(c), F.R.Cr.P., citing United

States V. Brockington, supra (Tr. 528). The Court

sealed the report and marked it Court's Exhibit No. 1.

The Court likewise refused production of the report

during the trial on the same grounds (Tr. 561-562)
;

however, the Court had advised appellant that if the

witness needed these workpapers and report to refresh

his recollection they would be produced (Tr. 529-530).

No such occasion arose.
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As a witness for the defense, Agent Neilands identi-

fied the Tarman-Sherwin partnership balance sheet

(Ex. G) which he had prepared (Tr. 550). He testified

as to how he had arrived at the values used on the

balance sheet (Tr. 551-560). His balance sheet listed

the fair market value of the stock of the Bechtel Com-

pany and its subsidiaries at $300,000 (Tr. 556, 560) and

the cost of the Plaza Building at $155,334 (Tr. 557,

564) and its fair market value at $200,000 (Tr. 559).

Neilands testified that he arrived at the $300,000 fair

market value of the Bechtel Corporation from appel-

lant's own appraisal (Tr. 567). Neilands further testi-

fied that appellant's basis in the Bechtel Company stock

was $58,320 to be used when and if appellant sold the

stock or sustained a loss on it (Tr. 573-574). This figure

was arrived at by allocating to the Bechtel stock a pro-

portionate share of the over-all cost of the Tarman-

Sherwin partnership assets of which this was a partial

liquidation (Tr. 570-572). On his 1951 returns (Exs. 63,

64), appellant himself had used a $60,000 basis for the

Bechtel stock when he claimed a capital loss. The agent

stated that he agreed with appellant's $60,000 figure as it

was close to the agent's $58,000 figure (Tr. 575-576).

Neilands' testimony thus established precisely the basis

he used in computing appellant's interest in the Bechtel

Corporation. Appellant's complaint (O. B. 28-29) that

he needed the agent's report for this purpose is therefore

without merit. The agent was also specifically asked

whether or not he took into consideration cash and other

contributions to be made by appellant. The agent stated

that he had not, and set forth the reasons why he had

not done so. The agent described fully what he had

considered in arriving at his valuation of appellant's
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Bechtel interests (Tr. 578-585). Accordingly, there is

no ground for appellant's complaint (O. B. 30-31) that

he needed the agent's report to establish the basis of

the agent's explanation of his computation of the loss.

The facts about which the agent testified were not

disputed by the government and there was thus no need

to rehabilitate the witness with corroborative evidence

from his report. Moreover, appellant clearly could not

demand production of the report to impeach his own
witness. Nor did appellant attempt to show hostility

of the witness or surprise so as to warrant suspension

of the ordinary rules for impeachment. There was no

showing that the witness needed the document to refresh

his recollection. And under no theory could the report

of the agent as such be admissible in evidence, as it had

no evidentiary value standing alone.

There is no merit to appellant's contention (O.B.

30-31 ; see also O.B. 27) that he was crippled in making

his defense by the non-production of the report. As we

have shown above, the agent actually testified as to any

aspects of his investigation about which he was ques-

tioned. As we said in point III, supra, the accountant

(Joyce) who had prepared appellant's income tax re-

turns (Tr. 281) was the person who kept the partnership

records (Tr. 301). He was available as a witness for

the defense but was not called by appellant, and the

partnership records were subject to subpoena by the

appellant. Furthermore, appellant did produce as a

witness his own accountant (Moran) whom he had

engaged to conduct an audit of the Tarman-Sherwin

partnership (Tr. 924) and who testified extensively to

appellant's interest and losses in the Bechtel Corpora-
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tions (Tr. 872-889) and as to his computation of losses

on the Tarman-Bechtel interests (Tr. 895-909).

Appellant was clearly not deprived of any right by

the non-production of the report; he was not entitled to

it under any theory of law. We submit that the Court

was correct in ruling that the agent's report should

not be produced.

V. The Court's Rulings and Instructions With Respect to

Counts Four, Five, and Six Concerning Section 7206(1) Were
Correct and Did Not Constitute Error.

The prison sentences assessed on all six counts are to

run concurrently, and the sentences assessed under the

Section 7206(1) charges are no greater than the sen-

tences under any one of the Section 7201 charges. For

this reason, it is unnecessary for this Court to review the

convictions on the Section 7206(1) charges and the con-

tentions made by appellant with respect to those charges,

provided it finds that the conviction of appellant can

be upheld on any of the 7201 charges. Lawn v. United

States, 355 U.S. 339, 362 (1957) ; Hirabayashi v. United

States, supra] Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640

(1946); Sinclair v. United States, 279 U.S. 263, 299

(1929) ; Cohen v. United States, 201 F.2d 386, 393 (9th

Cir. 1953), cert, den., 345 U.S. 951. We believe it is

clear that there was no error with respect to the convic-

tion of appellant on the 7201 charges.

However, since appellant has made divers allegations

and has devoted a great number of his assignments of

error to his contentions with respect to the Section

7206(1) charges (O. B. 32, 33-35, 42-48, 48-51, 51-55),

we have nevertheless attempted to answer each of the

separate contentions made by him. Because many of
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appellant's contentions are intertwined and overlapping,

they will be considered together.

General

The gist of the offense described in Section 7206(1)

is the wilful subscription by a taxpayer of a return

which is made and signed subject to the penalties of

perjury, when the person signing the return knows the

return not to be true and correct as to every material

matter.

In creating the forerunner to Section 7206(1) Con-

gress was retaining the effect of the perjury statute

which became inapplicable to tax returns by reason of

the coincidental elimination of the requirement that

such returns be made and signed under oath. Cohen V.

United States, supra.^

Enactment of Section 7206(1) accomplished no limi-

tation on the allegation of the filing of a false return

as a means of attempted evasion under Section 7201

because the offense of making and subscribing is distinct

'The statute referred to in Cohen is Section 3809(a) of Title 26, United
States Code (Section 3809(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939) which
Section read as follows:

§3809. Verification of returns; penalties of perjury,

"(a) Penalties. Any person who wilfully makes and subscribes any
return, statement, or other document, which contains or is verified by
a written declaration that it is made under the penalties of perjury, and
which he does not believe to be true and correct as to every material
matter, shall be guilty of a felony, and, upon conviction thereof, shall

be fined not more than $2,000 or imprisoned not more than five years,

or both."
Section 7206(1) Internal Revenue Code, 1954 superseded Section 3809(a),

Internal Revenue Code, 1939. The description of the offense is the same,
but the penalty was changed.

Enactment of Section 3809 was accompanied by express repeal of certain

other laws including Section 145(c) of Title 26, United States Code (Section

145(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939) which provided as follows:

§145. Penalties*****
"(c) Any individual who willfully makes and subscribes a return

which he does not believe to be true and correct as to every material
matter, shall be guilty of a felony, and, upon conviction thereof, shall

be subject to the penalties prescribed for perjury in section 125 of the

Criminal Code."
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from a filing and the offense of attempted evasion by

means of such filing. Taylor v. United States, 179 F.2d

640 (9th Cir., 1950), cert, den., 339 U.S. 988.

The government was entitled to proceed against the

appellant under several sections of the Internal Revenue

Code. It could and did charge him vs^ith attempt to

evade his income tax in violation of Title 26 U.S.C.,

Section 7201. It could also, and it did, charge him with

a violation of the section relating to false statements.

Title 26 U.S.C, Section 7206(1). The choice lies with

the government and it is not the privilege of the appel-

lant to say how and under what section or sections the

government should proceed. "Congress may make each

separate step in a prohibited transaction a separate

offense." Taylor V. United States, supra; Catrino V.

United States, 176 F.2d 884 (9th Cir., 1949). In

Albrecht V. United States, 273 U.S. 1, 11, (1927), the

Supreme Court said:

"There is nothing in the Constitution which pre-

vents Congress from punishing separately each step

leading to the consummation of a transaction which

it has power to prohibit and punishing also the

completed transaction."

The Supreme Court has held that in tax matters acts

which overlap to some extent can be prosecuted or pun-

ished separately. See United States V. Noveck, 273 U.S.

202, 206 (1927); United States V. Beacon Brass, 344

U.S. 43 (1952).

Appellant contends (O. B, 33) that Section 7201

charges the same offense as set forth in Section 7206(1),

and that the proof of the offense is, likewise, the same.

This, of course, is not the case.
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The purpose of Section 7206(1) is to impose the

penalties for perjury upon those who wilfully falsify

their returns regardless of the tax consequences of the

falsehood. On the other hand, Section 7201 condemns

wilful attempts to evade or defeat taxes "in any man-

ner," and one manner is by the wilful filing of a return

known to be false in some material respect. While proof

of an ofifense under Section 7201 may also prove an

offense under Section 7206(1), it must in addition indi-

cate an intent in some manner to evade or defeat a tax

which is due.

Appellant's argument (O. B. 33-35) that it was error

for the Court to fail to require the government to elect

as between the first three counts of the indictment and

the last three counts rests upon the fallacious assumption

that an indictment charging violations of Sections 7201

and 7206(1) defines crimes the elements of which are

identical. The scope of the two sections is different.

The ofifense charged in the latter three counts is an

incidental step in consummation of the completed offense

of an attempted evasion of tax by means of a false and

fraudulent return charged in the first three counts of

the indictment. See Gaunt V. United States, 184 F. 2d

284, (1st Cir., 1950), cert, den., 340 U.S. 917.^

Appellant alleges (O. B. 32) the indictment was

insufficient on Counts 4, 5 and 6 because materiality was

not charged; and that the trial court should have re-

quired the government to state how the false statements

in Counts 4, 5 and 6 were material (O. B. 35).

Where it is required, materiality must be alleged in

the indictment or sufficient facts must be alleged in the

'In Gaunt, Section 145(c), the forerunner of 7206(1), was under con-
sideration. See footnote 6, supra.
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indictment from which materiality may be inferred.

Both these tests were met in the indictment in this case.

Counts 4, 5 and 6 are substantially in the words of

7206(1) and are sufficient. See United States v. Accardo,

298 F. 2d 133 (7th Cir., 1962), reversed on other

grounds.

Since the Government chose to proceed under Section

7206(1), the question of materiality of statements in

appellant's tax returns should be decided by reference

to Section 7206(1) and not by an interpretation of what

is material under some other section. A statement in an

income tax return concerning the amount of income is

obviously material to the contents of that return. When
the appellant failed to report all of his income on his

returns, the statements in each of said returns with

respect to his income were false with respect to a matter

material to those returns, and material insofar as the

governmental agency with which the returns were filed

was intimately concerned.

The Internal Revenue Service must have a complete

and truthful disclosure to audit a return. The United

States and its agency, the Internal Revenue Service, was

entitled to have on the date the return was filed the

correct amount of appellant's income. The question

with respect to materiality is whether or not appellant's

statements were calculated to induce action or reliance

by an agency of the United States Government. See

Brandow V. United States, 268 F. 2d 559 (9th Cir.,

1959). Materiality in matters of this kind lies in the

".
. . intent to protect the authorized functions of

governmental departments and agencies from the
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perversion which might result from the deceptive

practices described."

United States v. Gilliland, 312 U.S. 86, 93 (1941).

Appellant argues that in a Section 7206(1) prosecu-

tion the government must prove, among other things,

that a tax was due and owing. He relies on Poonian v.

United States, 294 F. 2d 74 (9th Cir., 1961), to support

this allegation, but that case does not hold that a Section

7206(1) conviction regarding an income tax return can-

not be had without a showing of a tax due and owing.

Appellant's contention here that Poonian stands for the

proposition that a tax due and owing must be found to

sustain a Title 18 U.S.C., Section 1001 (the statute

being considered in that case) false statement conviction,

and, therefore, by parity of reasoning, a 7206(1) con-

viction is, at best, a strained interpretation of dicta

appearing in the Poonian opinion. The language pre-

sumably relied on by appellant in the Poonian opinion

is as follows (p. 76) :

"This Court refuses to construe the statute in

question [1001] so as to permit a taxpayer to be

convicted for reporting more taxes than he right-

fully owes, regardless of what his intentions may
have been."

This language was not necessary to the decision in

Poonian, which case reversed a conviction under Section

1001 because there was a fatal variance between the

government's proof and the charging language of the

indictment.

The further answer to appellant's arguments (O. B.

42-48) on requirements of proof of "tax due and owing"

insofar as it relates to Section 7206(1) is governed by
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what was heretofore said with respect to appellant's

contentions regarding election between counts. Supra,

p. 39-41.

Section 7206(1) makes it a felony merely to make

and subscribe a tax return without believing it to be

true and correct as to every material matter whether

or not there was a tax liability due.

What has been said with respect to appellant's con-

tention that a tax due and owing must be proved to

sustain a charge under 7206(1) is dispositive of his

analogous contention that in order to find wilfulness

under Counts 4, 5 and 6 of the indictment appellant

must have had a tax evasion intent (O. B. 51-55). The

standard of wilfulness under these three counts is as

described by the trial judge (App. xxviii). The wilful

element is the deliberate and knowledgeable making and

subscribing of a false statement in a tax return such to

be determined from the evidence. That element does

not require a finding that the purpose in so doing was

to evade or defeat tax.

Appellant also contends (O. B. 48-51) that he was

entitled to have given his proposed instructions 29, 30

and 35. As we read these proposed instructions, appel-

lant would require that before the jury could find that

there was unreported income it must first take into

account any alleged additional deductions from gross

income (such as an operating loss). This argument is

merely another side to appellant's contention that there

must be a tax due and owing. Section 7206(1) pro-

scribes the making of a statement which the taxpayer

"does not believe to be true and correct as to every

material matter." It is a false statement statute. Appel-
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lant was charged with subscribing to tax returns which

he knew did not disclose certain items of income,

namely, legal fees, commissions, partnership receipts,

interest and dividends. It was the falsity of the return

by not disclosing these items of income which is the gist

of the charge. United States v. Rayor, 204 F. Supp. 486

S.D. Cal. 1962). Accordingly, whether appellant had

offsetting losses against the unreported income is irrele-

vant to the charge. The question of offsetting deductions

would be necessary for the jury to consider only if the

issues were whether there was a tax due and owing,

which as we have said above is not a consideration in a

Section 7206(1) prosecution.

VI. The Court's Instructions on Wilfulness and Intent Did
Not Constitute Reversible Error.

The appellant contends that the Court's instructions

on wilfulness^ constitute reversible error (O. B. 36-

39). He further claims (O. B. 39-41) that another

portion of the Court's charge bearing on the question

of intent was erroneous. Questions presented by these

two separate assignments of error will be treated to-

gether.

Specifically, two paragraphs of the Court's charge on

"wilfulness" are challenged (O. B. 36-37). They are

as follows

:

"You are instructed that in common, everyday

speech 'wilful' denotes an act which is intentional,

knowing or voluntary, as distinguished from acci-

dental; but when it is used in a criminal statute,

where one of the elements is a specific intent to

''This does not include appellant's separate contention that with respect

to Counts 4, 5 and 6 the Court's instruction on wilfulness was error.
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defraud, it has a somewhat different meaning. It

generally means an act done with a bad purpose,

without justifiable excuse. The word wilful is also

used to characterize a thing done without ground

for believing it is lawful." (App. xviii.)

"If a taxpayer honestly believes that he has paid

all the taxes he owes, he is not guilty of criminal

evasion. But if he acts without reasonable ground

for belief that his conduct was lawful, it is for you

to decide whether he was acting in good faith or

whether he intended to evade the tax." (App. xxiii-

xxiv.)

The first of these two paragraphs was requested by

appellant himself (Tr. 1032, 1057) and represents, word

for word, the first paragraph of his requested instruc-

tion No. 19 (App. xxxviii).

Appellant says the above is the so-called "Murdock"

instruction and that this instruction has been disap-

proved by this Court on many occasions (O. B. 37).

United States V. Murdock, 290 U.S. 389 (1933). In

Murdock, the Supreme Court had before it the question

of whether a wilful refusal to supply information meant

a voluntary intentional refusal as the trial court had

charged, or whether it meant something more. In hold-

ing that in a criminal statute it did mean something

more than knowing or non-accidental, the Court set

forth five definitions of wilful. The trial court here,

in the last sentence of the second paragraph set forth

above, used but one of the several definitions supplied

by the Supreme Court in Murdock.

Although appellant did not request the second para-

graph of the instruction above set forth, language con-

tained therein:
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"* * * But if he acts without reasonable ground

for belief that his conduct was lawful * * *"

is the same in substance, and merely a restatement of

the last sentence of the appellant's requested instruction.

Consideration, then, of appellant's requested instruction

would suffice to respond to his argument on this point.^

Apart from the fact that the instruction on wilfulness

was requested by the appellant himself, the Supreme

Court found no error in an instruction similar to the

one here involved, but which, in fact, used more of the

so-called Murdoch definitions of wilful/*^

Appellant claims that in Block V. United States, 221,

F. 2d 786 (9th Cir., 1955) this Court disapproved the

instruction given here. On many separate occasions the

jury was told in the Court's comprehensive charge on in-

tent and wilfulness that the intent requisite to conviction

entailed an intentional evasion of outstanding tax liabil-

ity (App. xvi, xvii, xxiv, xxv, xxvi). That was not done

in Block. In the case at bar the jury was not told sepa-

rately that under the ofifense charged, wilfully meant

filing a false return with a "bad purpose or without

justifiable excuse." Similarly they were not told sepa-

rately that if the defendant acts "without reasonable

grounds for belief that his conduct was lawful" he

"Those portions of the instruction not requested by appellant and which
do not restate the portion of his requested instruction are beneficial to
appellant and could not be considered erroneous.

^"In Fricdbcrg v. United States, 348 U.S. 142, (1954) affirinint? an income
tax evasion conviction under Section 145(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of

1939, the predecessor to Section 7201, the Supreme Court found no error at all

in the trial Court's instructions which had been approved by the Court of

.Appeals. Friedbcrg \. United States, 207 F.2d 777, (6th Cir., 1953). The
trial court's pertinent instructions on wilfulness in Friedbcrg were (Record
p. 648) :

"In this connection the Court instructs you that the word 'willful'

means not only intentional or knowing, hut 'done with a bad purpose
. . . without justifiable excuse . . . stubbornly, obstinately, and per-
versely.'

"
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intended to evade the tax. The description of mental

state which the trial court gave in its instructions to the

jury came within the framework of instructions which

taken as a complete unit told the jury that, to be found

guilty, appellant must have wilfully intended to evade

his true tax liability. The instruction in question should

not be isolated from the charge as a whole. Bateman V.

United States, 212 F. 2d 61 (9th Cir., 1954).

In isolating the two paragraphs from the general

context of the charge on wilfulness in the instructions

as a whole, appellant carries to unreasonable lengths his

argument for reversal of this case on the ground of erro-

neous instructions on that issue.

This Court has on previous occasions found no error

in this instruction given by the court and requested by

appellant. In fact in other cases in this Circuit, a similar

instruction which was found not to be erroneous was

more detailed in the particular "Murdoch language"

complained about by the appellant. (O. B. 36-37.) In

Himmelfarb V. United States, supra, and O'Connor V.

United States, 175 F. 2d 477 (9th Cir., 1949), this Court

approved an instruction similar to the one complained

of here. There is only one case which seems to hold that

the Murdoch description of wilfulness under Section

7201 is error. Forster V. United States, 237 F. 2d 617

(9th Cir., 1956).

In Forster v. United States, supra, the so-called Mur-

doch instruction, not given in the original charge to the

jury, was given to the jury on its second day of delibera-

tion when the jury returned to the courtroom and asked

for further instruction on the subject of wilfulness. The

Court stated at that time to the jury (p. 620) :
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"Now to supplement that, as I say again, I am
going to give you, in substance the same matter.

"When used in a criminal statute—that is, the

word 'wilfuir or 'wilfully'—when used in a criminal

statute it generally means an act done with a bad

purpose, without justifiable excuse, stubbornly,

obstinately, perversive."

"The word is also characterized—employed to

characterize a thing done without ground for be-

lieving it lawful, or conduct marked by reckless

disregard whether or not one has the right so to

act."

This Court in the Forster case at page 621 stated:

"Reluctantly this Court has concluded, princi-

pally on the authority of Spies v. United States, 317

U.S. 492, (1943) that the case must be reversed

because of the second part of the instruction. It

is a close decision. But the instruction with its

variegated alternatives of wilfulness here occurred

at too critical a time. In the posture it entered it

came into too bright a light. It did not run a long

chorus line. Here to let it stand would be to en-

dorse the doubtful proposition that jurors disregard

the instructions anyway."

Much of the condemned Forster instruction was asked

for here by the appellant. Second, the context in which

the Forster instruction was given differed materially

from the context here.

It is novel indeed for appellant to urge this Court to

entertain the notion that an instruction requested by him

should be the grounds for reversing a conviction when

he now decides that that which he requested was not
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proper/^ Apart from that, however, it is clear that in

view of prior rulings by the Court and by the Supreme

Court the instructions on wilfulness and intent were not

error.

The appellant further contends (O. B. 39-41) that

another paragraph of the trial court's instruction on

intent was erroneous. In the course of its detailed charge

the Court instructed the jury that to convict they must

find that appellant acted with a specific intent to evade

the tax. (App. xvi.) Appearing among those instruc-

tions was the following (App. xi) :

"It is reasonable to infer that a person ordinarily

intends the natural and probable consequences of

acts knowingly done or knowingly omitted, so un-

less the contrary appears from the evidence, the

jury may draw the inference that the accused

intended all the consequences which one standing

in like circumstances and possessing like knowledge

should reasonably have expected to result from any

act knowingly done or knowingly omitted by the

accused."

This sentence is assigned as reversible error aflfecting

substantial rights because, appellant claims, the trial

court told the jury in eilfect it could draw the conclusion

that the appellant had intended to defeat or evade his

taxes from the mere fact that he filed an incorrect in-

come tax return. This argument has no merit. The appel-

lant states (O. B. 40) that this Court has specifically

^^Rule 30 F.R. Crim. Proc.—Instructions.
".

. . No party may assign as error any portion of the charge or omis-
sion therefrom unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider
its verdict. . .

." Here we do not have a party faihng to object to the

court's own instruction or one offered by the other party; but rather,

appellant now assigns as error his own requested instruction which was
never withdrawn, which the Court announced twice would be given (Tr.

1032, 1057) and which was given.
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disapproved the "natural and probable consequences of

his acts" instruction in Block V. United States, supra,

the only case relied on by appellant on this point. The

instruction to which appellant refers in the Block case

was in language dissimilar and substantially different

from the language of the instruction by the trial judge

in this case. The language found to be erroneous in the

Block case was as follows (p. 788) :

"The presumption is that a person intends the

natural consequences of his acts, and the natural

inference would be if a person consciously, know-

ingly and intentionally did not set up his income

and thereby the Government was cheated or de-

frauded of taxes, that he intended to defeat the

tax."

In Legatos v. United States, 222 F. 2d 678 (9th Cir.,

1955) and Bateman v. United States, supra, this Court

had before it for consideration an instruction similar to

that given in Block, and which, as in Block, was in lan-

guage quite different from the instruction complained

of here. In Legatos, decided after Block, this Court

concluded that considered as a whole the Court's in-

structions on intent and wilfulness clearly and directly

stated the law and were not such as to mislead the jury.

The Court distinguished the Legatos case from the

Block case, where, it was noted, the effect of the Court's

instruction considered as a whole was not discussed.

In Legatos, supra, this Court said (p. 687) :

"* * * in Bateman V. U.S., 212 F. 2d 61, 69, this

Court came to the conclusion that an instruction in

a tax evasion case that 'the law presumes that every

man intends the natural and probable consequences
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of his own voluntary acts' was not prejudicially

erroneous for the reason that, considered as a whole

the trial court's instructions on intent, 'correctly

stated the law, were plain and understandable, and

left no room for doubt in the minds of the jurors.'
"

It is submitted that here the same reasoning should

apply. Whatever vitality Block had has been virtually

extinguished by this Court's decision in Legatos.

Appellant refrains from any reference to the para-

graphs of the Court's charge directly prior to and

directly following the paragraph complained of (App.

x-xi). Upon a reading of those three paragraphs to-

gether it is clear that in this portion of his charge the

Court was instructing the jury on the proof of intent in

general. It was later that the Court instructed on wil-

fulness insofar as it specifically related to the charge of

tax evasion, Section 7201, and the first three counts of

the indictment. (App. xvi-xviii, xxiv-xxvi.)

It is most unrealistic for appellant to "lift" the single

paragraph from its immediate context of the preceding

and following paragraphs and say that it alone is erro-

neous; and to isolate it from the full charge of the

court on intent and wilfulness that was given later

serves only to further compound the unsoundness of

appellant's approach to this issue.

The word "infer" in the instruction given by the

Court as distinguished from the word "presume" makes

the two instructions, apart from any other considera-

tion, manifestly different. As was stated by the Court

of Appeals in Grayson v. United States, 107 F.2d 367

(8th Cir., 1939), holding a similar instruction not to

be prejudicial, p. 370:
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"The use of the words 'presume' or 'presump-

tion' in this connection is not to be approved. No
doubt inferences as to intent may be gathered from

subsequent acts and conduct, but no presumption

of the law follows to invade and restrict the prov-

ince of the jury." (Emphasis supplied.)

The question of the particular intent was not treated

as a question of law here, but as a matter to be sub-

mitted to and resolved by the jury.

The instruction here at issue did not have the efifect

of giving to the jury a conclusive presumption on the

question of intent which other evidence could not over-

come, nor of injecting into the case an element of

presumptive intent condemned in Block. The instruc-

tion in question did not operate to withdraw the ques-

tion of intent from the jury or in any way inhibit their

consideration of that issue.

Furthermore, in the Block instruction the court con-

demned inter alia the following language (p. 788) :

u* * * if a person did not set up his income.

* * * and the Government was cheated or de-

frauded of taxes, that he intended to defeat the

tax."

In the instruction being considered here there is no

mention of "setting up income," or "cheating or de-

frauding the government." This instruction was merely

part of the Court's general instruction. The difference

in language of the two instructions, above, is sufficient

to distinguish Block from this case.

In short, appellant claims that isolated portions of

the trial court's instructions on wilfulness and intent,

some of which he requested, constitute reversible error;
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and in support of this contention relies on two of this

Court's decisions. He disregards the fact that the lan-

guage of the instructions complained of here is mani-

festly different than in these two cases; that the force

of the Block case has been nullified by a later decision

of this Court; that instructions cannot be isolated but

must be read as a whole; and ignores the obviously

peculiar context and circumstances in which the instruc-

tions held to be erroneous in the Forster case were

given.

The Government respectfully submits that the trial

court's charge on wilfulness and intent was not erroneous.

VII. There Is No Merit to Appellant's Contention That
Additional Instructions Should Have Been Given to Set Forth
Alternative Theories of the Defense.

Appellant presented only one theory to support his

contention that no tax was due and owing for the

prosecution years. His sole contention was that he had

an operating loss in 1951 from the bankruptcy of the

T, R. Bechtel Company and the Bechtel Lumber Com-

pany, and that he was entitled to carry this loss forward

and that this would wipe out any tax due and owing

for the prosecution years. Appellant's contention was

that the Bechtel bankruptcy resulted in his stock in

these corporations becoming worthless, and that this

was a net operating loss from the operation of a business

(not a capital loss). The basis of the net operating loss

contention was that appellant claimed that he was en-

gaged in the business of promoting corporations, and

that when the Bechtel corporations failed he had an

operating loss in his business of promoting corporations.

In support of his contention, appellant produced his
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own accountant-expert on the witness stand to testify

(in answer to an hypothetical question) that if the

appellant was a promoter and dealer in corporations

and had sustained the losses that appellant claimed he

had sustained on the Bechtel bankruptcy in 1951, appel-

lant would have an operating loss to carry forward in

the prosecution years and there would be no tax due

for any of these prosecution years. (Tr. 937-939.) The

expert was not asked for his opinion as to what the tax

would be under any other theory. The expert cate-

gorically told the Court that his opinion was predicated

upon the assumption that the defendant was engaged as

a promoter of corporations. (Tr. 964.)

Moreover, with respect to this issue, appellant's

counsel cross-examined the government's expert-account-

ant only as to the effect on his computation if the

appellant were a dealer in or promoter of corporations

when he had his 1951 loss. (Tr. 488-499.) Appellant's

other trial counsel said at the conclusion of the govern-

ment's case and at the opening of the defense's case that

it was their contention that a loss would be deductible

because appellant was in the business (Tr. 535-536).

Appellant's defense when he was on the stand was that

he had filed a claim on his 1951 tax return that in con-

nection with the Bechtel bankruptcy he had an oper-

ating loss as a promoter of corporations (Tr. 631) and

that in 1954 he had been asked by the Internal Revenue

Service to substantiate this claim on the 1951 return

that he was in the business of promoting corporations

(Tr. 630). Appellant testified extensively as to his

activities with respect to the corporations purporting to

show that he was primarily engaged in the business of

promoting corporations (Tr. 637-638) but gave no testi-
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mony to support any other theories of carry-forward

operating losses. Appellant's counsel stated to the Court

that his purpose was to establish two facts: "that the

defendant was in the trade and business of dealing in

corporations, and that all these corporations sustained

losses which as a consequence he sustained as an operat-

ing loss" (Tr. 657). The record is clear that appellant's

contention that he was entitled to an operating loss

carry-forward was based solely on the claim that he

was in the business of promoting corporations, and no

other.

The Court fully instructed the jury on appellant's

operating loss carry-forward contention based on appel-

lant's claim that he was a dealer and promoter of cor-

porations. (App. xix-xxiii.)

There was no probative evidence to warrant appel-

lant's proposed instruction 26 (O. B. 56) that when a

corporation was a mere dummy created solely as a

protection against creditors or without any function

other than as a receptacle for title the loss is a [carry-

forward operating] loss of the taxpayer [rather than a

capital loss]. Thus, appellant testified that the T. R.

Bechtel Corporation was engaged in building houses in

subdivisions (Tr. 634) ; one of the additional corpora-

tions formed, the Bechtel Lumber Company, had a

lumber mill to supply lumber for the subdivisions (Tr.

638-639) ; twenty-three affiliated corporations were

formed which were associated in the same general en-

terprise (Tr. 634) ; the affiliated corporations were set

up to carry out the building of particular subdivisions

(Tr. 662-663). The reasons for forming these subsidiary

or affiliated corporations were to obtain the lower tax
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rates where there are multiple corporations and also

so that if any difficulties in financing one tract of houses

placed with one subsidiary corporation were experi-

enced, this would not impede the development of an-

other tract being developed by another subsidiary

corporation (Tr. 696-697, 702-704). It is plain there-

fore that the Bechtel family of corporations were per-

forming the functions for which they were organized.

There was thus no basis in the record for the proposed

instruction.

Furthermore, there is no basis for appellant's conten-

tion (O. B. 58-59) that he was entitled to an instruction

that the jury could have found a carry-forward oper-

ating loss on the Plaza Building on the grounds that

appellant had suffered a loss because this partnership

asset had been assigned to Tarman in an opinion of the

Santa Rosa court. The evidence was clear that the

ownership of the Plaza Building was still in dispute

and that the litigation had not been concluded. The

accountant for the Tarman-Sherwin partnership said

so; appellant's counsel had said so (Tr. 339, 563)
;

Revenue Agent Neilands said so (Tr. 563) ; appellant's

expert at the trial who also had been engaged to do

appellant's accounting at the Santa Rosa trial with

respect to the Tarman-Sherwin partnership (Tr. 943)

said so (Tr. 946). Appellant himself specifically stated

that the Santa Rosa suit was still pending; that there

had been a tentative opinion (Ex. I) of that court

finding that the Plaza Building was the property of

Tarman, but that the court had indicated that it would

not make further findings until it had resolved further

issues and had held further hearings and accordingly

no formal judgment had been signed (Tr. 621-622).
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Appellant testified that as a consequence of the Court's

order, the Plaza Building remained in a status quo,

namely in the possession of the Tarmans, subject to any

future orders (Tr. 630). Appellant further testified

that he at all times claimed a half interest in the Plaza

Building (Tr. 854-855). He stated that the building

grossed income of some $70,000 per year and had a net

income of some $30,000, and if it were finally decided

that this was still a partnership asset he would have to

file amended returns in order to declare this income.

(Tr. 665-666, 672, 682-683, 855; see also Tr. 340.)

Thus, until there is a final disposition of the Plaza

Building, appellant clearly could not claim he had an

alleged loss on it. Indeed, if contrarily, it were adjudi-

cated that appellant still has a half-interest in the Plaza

Building, it would appear that he had underreported

his partnership income by some additional $15,000 for

each of the prosecution years. Accordingly, there is no

evidence in the record which would warrant the Court

in instructing the jury that appellant had suffered a loss

on the Plaza Building.

In sum, we submit that the Court was not warranted

in giving additional instructions on other theories which

appellant had not relied on at trial and about which

there was no probative evidence introduced at the trial.

VIII. There Is No Substance to Appellant's Contention That

the Court Should Have Held That No Tax Was Due and Owing
as a Matter of Law.

Appellant contends (O. B. 62-64) that there had been

an administrative determination by the Internal Reve-

nue Service that appellant had an operating loss in the

years 1954, 1955 and 1956 resulting from his stock loss

I
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in the 1951 bankruptcy of the Bechtel Corporations.^^

This contention is not only contrary to the law govern-

ing such matters, United States V. Hardy, 299 F. 2d 600,

605-606 (4th Cir., 1962), it is also contrary to the evi-

dence here.

As we have shown supra, p. 14, the Internal Reve-

nue Service had allowed appellant a 1950 carry-back

operating loss resulting from a $21,115 loan he had

made to the bankrupt Bechtel Corporation; this claim

was allowed on what was called a tentative adjustment

or a "quickie claim." Such a claim is allowed merely

on the taxpayer's statement without examining the return

or without additional investigation. (Tr. 1009.) With

respect to the loss on appellant's stock in the bankruptcy

of the Bechtel Corporations, appellant claimed in his

correspondence with the Internal Revenue Service (Ex.

75) and on his 1951 and 1952 returns merely that he

had a capital loss, which is limited to $1,000 yearly

against ordinary income.

It is difficult to understand how the trial court and

jury in this trial would be bound, as appellant claims

(O. B. 59-65), with respect to the determination of the

additional tax liability of appellant for the years 1954,

1955, and 1956, by a "quickie claim" allowed with

respect to appellant's 1950 return. There was no final

agreement as to the correctness or incorrectness of such

an allowance. (Tr. 1011, 1015-1016.) Even if the gov-

^^Appellant's statement that the government's technical expert conceded
that, on this examination of claims, the Internal Revenue Service "came to

the conclusion that the defendant was a dealer in corporations," (citing

Tr. 498) is not correct. Appellant has merely quoted the question asked of

the expert by appellant's counsel but has failed to give the expert's reply,

which was that he "would say that someone within the Service is requesting
additional information to make a determination whether or not the defend-
ant was in the business." The government's expert further answered
(Tr. 499) : "No, sir. I don't think 1 could say that I found any documents
which would satisfy me that he was a dealer in corporations."
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ernment were now precluded from assessing a deficiency

concerning this "erroneous refund" (Tr. 430) on the

1950 return with respect to a loss claimed on account

of a loan, the government was certainly not bound with

respect to other tax years, a fortiori when it concerns

a different kind of claim—i.e., a stock loss.

We submit that there was patently no grounds for

the Court holding that as a matter of law there was no

tax due and owing by appellant for the prosecution

years. Since this contention constituted appellant's de-

fense at the trial, the issue was properly submitted to

the jury. By its verdict the issue was resolved against

appellant. There was no error in the Court's handling

of the issue.

CONCLUSION

Appellant had a fair and proper trial. The record

supports the verdict. The instructions were correct. It

is respectfully submitted that the judgment should be

affirmed.

Dated, San Francisco, California,

March 1, 1963.

Cecil F. Poole,
United States Attorney,
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Assistant United States Attorney,

Lawrence K. Bailey,
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Court's Inslriictions to the Jury (Tr. 1088-1132)

The Court:

Ladies and Gentlemen of the Jury:

We all agree that the jury has listened with commend-

able attention to the taking of the evidence in the case

and to the arguments of counsel. We have now reached

the stage of the trial of this case where the Judge of the

Court has the duty of instructing you as to the principles

of law which are applicable to the case, and I invite

from you the same attention that you have given to the

witnesses and to the counsel.

You ladies and gentlemen are obligated under your

oaths as jurors to decide this case only upon the evidence

which is before you. The evidence has been concluded.

It consists of oral testimony given under oath by the

witnesses who have appeared before you, the documen-

tary evidence which has been received in evidence, and

the stipulations as to facts which have been entered into

in writing or orally by counsel during the trial of the

case.

The proof which has been developed, the facts which

are to be found, and the conclusions thereon, are entirely

and solely within the province of you twelve members

of the jury. I have nothing to do with the facts of the

case.

Although you as jurors are the sole judges of the facts,

you are duty-bound to follow the law as stated in the

instructions of the Court and to apply the law so given

to the facts as you find them from the evidence before

you. I must not trespass, and I do not trespass upon

your duty, the duty of determining the facts and the

(i)
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credibility of the witnesses, and I expect that you will

not trespass upon my duty, namely, to give you the

applicable law.

You are not to single out one instruction alone as

stating the law, but must consider the instructions as

a whole.

Neither are you to be concerned with the wisdom of

any rule of law. Regardless of any opinion you may
have as to what the law ought to be, it would be a viola-

tion of your sworn duty to base a verdict upon any other

view of the law than that given in the instructions of the

Court.

In the course of my instructions I will give you some

general rules applicable in all criminal cases to aid you

in determining the weight of the evidence in the case

and the manner in which you should adjudge the

evidence.

These will be followed by specific instructions ap-

plicable to Counts One, Two and Three alone, and other

specific instructions applicable to Counts Four, Five and

Six alone. I w^ill then conclude with such further

general instructions as should be given to you before

you retire to deliberate. Unless specifically limited to

particular counts, all instructions given to you shall be

deemed to apply to each count of the indictment.

You have been chosen and sworn as jurors in this case

to try the issues of fact presented by the allegations of

the indictment and the denials made by the "not guilty"

plea of the accused. You are to perform this duty with-

out bias or prejudice as to any party. The law does not

permit jurors to be governed by sympathy, prejudice, or

public opinion. The accused and the public expect that

you will carefully and impartially consider all the evi-
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dence, follow the law as stated by the Court, and reach

a just verdict regardless of the consequences.

The law presumes a defendant to be innocent of crime.

Thus, a defendant, although accused, begins the trial

with a clean slate, with no evidence against him. And

the law permits nothing but legal evidence presented

before the jury to be considered in support of any charge

against the accused. So the presumption of innocence

alone is sufficient to acquit a defendant, unless the jurors

are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of the defendant's

guilt from all the evidence in the case.

A reasonable doubt is a fair doubt based upon reason

and common sense and arising from the state of the evi-

dence. It is rarely possible to prove anything to an

absolute certainty. Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is

established if the evidence is such as you would be will-

ing to rely and act upon in the most important of your

own afifairs. A defendant is not to be convicted on mere

suspicion or conjecture.

A reasonable doubt may arise not only from the evi-

dence produced but also from a lack of evidence. Since

the burden is upon the prosecution to prove the accused

guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of every essential ele-

ment of the crime charged, a defendant has the right to

rely upon failure of the prosecution to establish such

proof. A defendant may also rely upon evidence brought

out on cross-examination of witnesses for the prosecution.

The law does not impose upon a defendant the duty of

producing any evidence.

A reasonable doubt exists in any case when, after care-

ful and impartial consideration of all the evidence, the

jurors do not feel convinced to a moral certainty that a

defendant is guilty of the charge.
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If, after considering all the evidence in the case, you

should find that any one of the material facts relied upon

by the prosecution to establish the guilt of the defendant

as to any particular count has not been established to a

moral certainty and beyond a reasonable doubt, then you

must return a verdict finding the defendant not guilty

as to such count or counts of the indictment, even though

you should also find that other facts in the case have been

established.

As I stated to you during the empanelment of the jury,

an indictment is but a formal method of accusing a

defendant of a crime. It is not evidence of any kind

against the accused, and does not create any presump-

tion or permit any inference of guilt.

There are two types of evidence from which a jury

may properly find a defendant guilty of an ofifense. One

is direct evidence, such as the testimony of an eye wit-

ness. The other is circumstantial evidence, the proof of

a chain of circumstances pointing to the commission of

the offense.

As a general rule, the law makes no distinction be-

tween direct and circumstantial evidence, but simply

requires that, before convicting a defendant, the jury be

satisfied of a defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt

from all the evidence in the case.

If the evidence in this case as to any particular count

is susceptible of two constructions or interpretations,

each of which appears to you to be reasonable, and one

of which points to the guilt of the defendant and the

other to his innocence, it is your duty under the law to

adopt that interpretation which will admit of the de-

fendant's innocence and reject that which points to his

guilt.
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You will notice that this rule applies only when both

of the two possible opposing conclusions appear to you

to be reasonable. If, on the other hand, one of the pos-

sible conclusions should appear to you to be reasonable

and the other to be unreasonable, it would be your duty

to adhere to the reasonable deduction and to reject the

unreasonable; bearing in mind, however, that even if

the reasonable deduction points to defendant's guilt, the

entire proof must carry the convincing force required

by law and as stated in the instructions to support a

verdict of guilty.

When the case which has been made out against a

defendant rests entirely or chiefly on circumstantial evi-

dence, before you may find a defendant guilty, basing

your findings solely on such evidence, each fact which

is essential to complete a chain of circumstances that will

establish the defendant's guilt must be proved beyond a

reasonable doubt.

It is not incumbent upon the defendant to prove his

innocence, nor is it incumbent upon him to explain sus-

picious circumstances. Fie has the right to stand mute

and demand that the Government make the case against

him beyond a reasonable doubt.

Statements and arguments of counsel are not evidence

in the case, unless made as an admission or stipulation of

fact. When the attorneys on both sides stipulate or agree

as to the existence of a fact, the jury must accept the

stipulation as evidence and regard that fact as conclu-

sively proved.

The Court may take judicial notice of facts or events

which are matters of common knowledge. When the

Court declares it will take judicial notice of some fact

or event, the jury must accept the Court's declaration as
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evidence and regard as conclusively proved the fact or

event which the Court has judicially noticed.

The evidence in the case consists of the sworn testi- g
mony of the witnesses, all exhibits which have been re-

ceived in evidence, all facts which have been admitted

or stipulated, all facts and events which have been

judicially noticed, and all applicable presumptions

stated in these instructions. Any evidence as to which

an objection was sustained by the Court, and any evi- I

dence ordered stricken by the Court, must be entirely

disregarded.

You are to consider only the evidence in the case. But

in your consideration of the evidence you are not limited

to the bald statements of the witnesses. On the contrary,

you are permitted to draw, from facts which you find

have been proved, such reasonable inferences as seem

justified in the light of your own experience. ^
An inference is a deduction or conclusion which com-

mon sense and reason lead the jury to draw from facts

which have been proved.

A presumption is a conclusion which the law requires

the jury to make from particular facts, in the absence of

convincing evidence to the contrary. A presumption

continues in effect until overcome or outweighed by evi-

dence to the contrary; but unless so outweighed, the jury

are bound to find in accordance with the presumption.

Unless and until outweighed by evidence to the con-

trary, the law presumes that a person is innocent of

crime or wrong-doing; that a witness speaks the truth;

that official duty has been regularly performed; that

private transactions have been fair and regular; that

the ordinary course of business has been followed; that

things have happened according to the ordinary course
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of nature and the ordinary habits of life, and that the

law has been obeyed.

All evidence relating to any oral admission or other

incriminating statement claimed to have been made by

a defendant outside of court should be considered with

caution and weighed with great care.

The rules of evidence ordinarily do not permit a wit-

ness to testify as to his opinions or conclusions. A so-

called expert witness is an exception to this rule. A wit-

ness who, by education and experience, has become

expert in any art, science, profession or calling, may be

permitted to state his opinion as to a matter in which he

is versed and which is material to the case, and may also

state the reasons for such opinion. You should consider

each expert opinion received in evidence in this case and

give it such weight as you think it deserves, and you may

reject it entirely if you conclude the reasons given in

support of the opinion are unsound.

Government's Exhibits 67, 68 and 69, introduced

through the witness Forest P. Calkins, and Defendant's

Exhibit L, introduced through the witness Edward F.

Moran, are summaries and an analysis of the primary

evidence only, and are not primary evidence within

themselves. Both parties were afforded full opportunity

to examine and cross-examine the witnesses with respect

to these exhibits and the method of making the same.

These exhibits and the testimony of the witnesses relat-

ing thereto should be considered by you and are entitled

to weight only to such extent as you, the jury, should

find that the primary testimony of other witnesses and

the exhibits upon which these summary and the analysis

were based are entitled to weight and credibility.

These summaries and the analysis have no independent
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value and were admitted only for your assistance and

convenience in considering the other evidence which

they purport to summarize.

If you choose to disregard as evidence all or a part of

the testimony of any witness in this case, or do not accept

the correctness of any document admitted in evidence,

then you must likewise disregard so much of the said

summaries or analysis as is based upon the testimony of

such witnesses and such documents you decide so to

disregard.

You, as jurors, are the sole judges of the credibility

of the witnesses and the weight their testimony deserves.

A witness is presumed to speak the truth. But this pre-

sumption may be outweighed by the manner in which

the witness testifies, by the character of the testimony

given, or by contradictory evidence. You should care-

fully scrutinize the testimony given, the circumstances

under which each witness has testified, and every matter

in evidence which tends to indicate whether the witness

is worthy of belief. Consider each witness's intelligence,

motive and state of mind, and demeanor and manner

while on the stand. Consider also any relation each wit-

ness may bear to either side of the case; the manner in

which each witness might be affected by the verdict; and

the extent to which, if at all, each witness is either

supported or contradicted by other evidence.

Inconsistencies or discrepancies in the testimony of a

witness, or between the testimony of different witnesses,

may or may not cause the jury to discredit such testi-

mony. Two or more persons witnessing an incident or

a transaction may see or hear it differently; and innocent

misrecoUection, like failure of recollection, is not an

uncommon experience. In weighing the effect of a dis-
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crepancy, consider whether it pertains to a matter of

importance or an unimportant detail, and whether the

discrepancy results from innocent error or wilful false-

hood. If you find the presumption of truthfulness to be

outweighed as to any witness, you will give the testimony

of that witness such credibility, if any, as you may think

it deserves.

Merely because a witness happens to be an official of

the Government does not mean that such witness is

entitled to any greater or special credit to his testimony.

The testimony of any such witness should be weighed

and scrutinized in the same manner as any other witness

who has testified in this case.

All evidence of a witness whose self-interest or atti-

tude is shown to be such as might tend to prompt testi-

mony unfavorable to the accused, should be considered

with caution and weighed with great care.

A witness may be discredited or impeached by con-

tradictory evidence, or by evidence that at other times

the witness has made statements w^hich are inconsistent

with the witness's present testimony.

If you believe that any witness has been impeached

and thus discredited, it is your exclusive province to give

the testimony of that witness such credibility, if any, as

you may think it deserves.

If a witness is shown knowingly to have testified falsely

concerning any material matter, you have a right to dis-

trust such witness's testimony in other particulars, and

you may reject all the testimony of that witness or give

it such credibility as you may think it deserves.

h It you should find from the evidence that there was

a failure on the part of the defendant to supply any

information for the purposes of the computation, assess-
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ment or collection of his income tax, and if you find that

such failure to supply such information was deliberate

and with intent to conceal income subject to tax, this is

a circumstance which may be considered in your de-

termination of his guilt or innocence. Such failure to

supply information, however, refers only to his conduct

during the course of the investigation.

In every crime there must exist a union or joint opera-

tion of act and intent.

The burden is always upon the prosecution to prove

both act and intent beyond a reasonable doubt.

With respect to certain lesser offenses, if it be shown

that a person has knowingly committed an act denounced

by law as a crime, intent may be presumed from the

voluntary doing of the forbidden act. But with respect

to crimes such as charged in this case, specific intent

must be proved before there can be a conviction.

Specific intent, as the term itself suggests, requires

more than a mere general intent to engage in certain

conduct.

A person who knowingly does an act which the law

forbids, or knowingly fails to do an act which the law

requires, intending with bad purpose, either to disobey

or to disregard the law, may be found to act with specific

intent.

An act or failure to act is done knowingly if done

voluntarily and purposely, and not because of mistake

or inadvertence or other innocent reason.

Intent may be proved by circumstantial evidence. It

rarely can be established by any other means. While wit-

nesses may see and hear and thus be able to give direct

evidence of what a defendant does or fails to do, there
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can be no eye-witness account of the state of mind with

which the acts were done or omitted. But what a de-

fendant does or fails to do may indicate intent or lack

of intent to commit the ofifense charged.

It is reasonable to infer that a person ordinarily in-

tends the natural and probable consequences of acts

knowingly done or knowingly omitted. So unless the

contrary appears from the evidence, the jury may draw

the inference that the accused intended all the conse-

quences which one standing in like circumstances and

possessing like knowledge should reasonably have ex-

pected to result from any act knowingly done or know-

ingly omitted by the accused.

In determining the issue as to intent, the jury are

entitled to consider any statements made and acts done

or omitted by the accused, and all facts and circum-

stances in evidence which may aid determination of state

of mind.

If you find from the evidence that there was taxable

income received and reported as the law requires, it

makes no difference insofar as the question of liability

for tax is concerned whether such income was lawfully

received or unlawfully received, since the law makes no

distinction between taxable income which is lawful and

that which is unlawful in determining liability for in-

come taxes.

An attorney or a judge of the Superior Court of the

State of California may engage in a private business.

There is nothing in either the law or the canons of

professional or judicial ethics which forbids this kind

of activity, if otherwise lawful. In this connection you

are to make no inference unfavorable to the defendant

in this case from the fact that during the practice of his



xii Appendix

profession as an attorney or during his term of judicial

office he engaged in private business transactions.

In addition, I instruct you that when an individual

takes office as a judge, who was previously engaged in a

private law practice, there is nothing improper in his

receiving compensation for legal work which was per-

formed by him prior to his taking judicial office.

I further instruct you that should you find that the

defendant received fees for legal services rendered after

he took judicial office, he is not here on trial for such

conduct, nor is he on trial for any other act or conduct

not alleged in the indictment. Any fees received by the

defendant after he took judicial office, should you be

satisfied that such fees were in fact received, for the

purposes of this trial, are to be treated the same and

no different than any other income received by the de-

fendant from any other source. The fees and other

income received, and not the source thereof, are material

to this case, to the degree that you find such fees and

other income go to make up the income of the defendant

which was subject to tax during the years in question.

A portion of the income the Government is attempting

to prove as unreported income is alleged by the Govern-

ment to have been distributed to him in the form of

property or things of value other than money. The fair

market value of such property or thing is the amount

to be included as income. The burden is upon the Gov-

ernment to prove that such property so distributed has a

market value in the amount claimed by the Government,

or such value as would constitute the same substantial

income.

If the services in exchange for which the property or

things of value were received were rendered at a stipu-
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lated price, in the absence of evidence to the contrary

such price shall be presumed to be the fair market value

of the compensation received.

Evidence to the contrary, and from which fair market

value may be fixed, may be one or more of the follow-

ing:

1. The price at which a willing buyer and a willing

seller would arrive after negotiations, where

neither is acting under compulsion.

2. The price at which such property has been sold

at or about the time of distribution to the taxpayer.

However, such sale must be an actual sale rather

than a security transaction.

3. The book value, if any, of the property.

4. Any expression of opinion by persons who were in

a position to know the value of the property, in-

cluding the defendant.

5. And whether or not the property was productive

of income or capable of producing income in the

future, such capacity to produce income being

tested by the expectations thereof at the time of

distribution and not necessarily by the subsequent

history of the property.

A taxpayer partner is taxable upon his distributive

share of the partnership profits in the years his propor-

tionate share was earned, even though subsequent dis-

agreement with his partner and litigation precluded him

from ever receiving any of his money.

The fact that each partner's distributive share in the

net income of the common venture may not be currently

distributed due to a dispute, or as the result of operation

of state law, or until the contractual obligations of the
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joint venture are fully performed, renegotiated, and its

debts paid in accordance with the terms of the agreement

of the parties, does not relieve them from reporting as

income their proportionate shares of the net profit in

the year it is earned.

This is true even though the taxpayer partner is on

the cash basis of accounting and did not actually receive

the income.

You may consider the defendant's failure to report

income from the Tarman-Sherwin partnership in 1954,

1955 and 1956, if from the evidence you are satisfied

beyond a reasonable doubt that he failed to report such

income, on the question of his wilful intent to evade tax

and on the question of whether when he made and sub-

scribed his tax returns for those years he believed them

correct as to every material matter.

For income tax purposes, a joint venture and a partner-

ship are the same, and income from a joint venture is

required to be reported in the same manner as income

from a partnership.

There is a distinction between the civil liability of a

defendant and the criminal liability. This is a criminal

case. The defendant is here charged with the commis-

sion of a crime, and the fact that he may have or may

not have settled the civil liability for the payment of

taxes claimed to be due to the United States is not to be

considered by you in determining the issues in this case,

except as it may throw some light on the intent of the

defendant.

The first three counts of the indictment cover the

calendar years 1954, 1955 and 1956. Except for the

amount of taxable income and the amount of tax due

and owing for each of such years, Counts One, Two and



Appendix xv

Three are identical in all other respects. Hence, I shall

now read to you only the first count: The first count of

the indictment alleges a violation of Section 7201, Title

26, United States Code:

"The Grand Jury charges that on or about July

15, 1955, in the Northern District of California,

Southern Division, Marvin Sherwin, defendant

herein, who during the calendar year 1954 was
married, did wilfully and knowingly attempt to

evade and defeat a large part of the income tax due

and owing by him and his wife to the United States

of America for the calendar year 1954, by filing and

causing to be filed with the District Director of

Internal Revenue at San Francisco, California, a

false and fraudulent joint income tax return on be-

half of himself and his wife, wherein it was stated

that their taxable income for the calendar year 1954

was $21,211.01, and that the amount of tax due and

owing thereon was $5,743.60; whereas, as he then

and there well knew, their taxable income for the

calendar year 1954 was $33,993.64, upon which
taxable income there was due and owing to the

United States of America an income tax of

$11,396.82."

Counts One, Two and Three of the indictment charge

the defendant, as I stated, with a violation of 26, United

States Code, Section 7201, which in pertinent part reads

as follows:

"Any person who wilfully attempts in any manner

to evade or defeat any tax imposed by the Internal

Revenue Code or the payment thereof, shall be

guilty of an offense against the laws of the United

States."
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Three essential elements are required to be proved in

order to establish the offense charged in each of Counts

One, Two and Three of the indictment:

First: The fact that a substantial amount of fed-

eral income tax was in fact due and owing from
the defendant for the calendar years in question,

namely, 1954, 1955 and 1956, in addition to the tax

declared or disclosed in the defendant's income tax

returns for said calendar years;

Second : Knowledge of the defendant that some
additional income tax of a substantial amount was
due and owing from him to the Government for

such calendar years; and

Third : The fact that the defendant in the manner
charged in such counts of the indictment wilfully

attempted to evade or defeat the additional tax, with

the specific intent to defraud the Government of

such additional tax.

Failure to prove any one of these three elements be-

yond a reasonable doubt will entitle the defendant to a

verdict of not guilty on such of Counts One, Two and ,

Three as to which such convincing proof is lacking. I

It is not necessary that the evidence establish an

evasion of all the tax alleged in the indictment. It is

sufficient if the evidence establishes beyond a reasonable

doubt that the defendant wilfully attempted to evade any

substantial portion of the tax as charged.

Further as to Counts One, Two and Three, I charge

you that the word "attempt," as used in the statute just

read and in the indictment and these instructions, in-

volves two things : ( 1
) An intent to evade or defeat the

tax, and (2), some act done in furtherance of such in- l\

tent. Thus the word "attempt" contemplates that the
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accused had knowledge and understanding that during

the calendar years 1954, 1955 and 1956 he had an income

which was taxable and which he was required by law to

report, and that he nevertheless attempted to evade or

defeat the tax thereon, or a substantial portion thereof,

by purposely failing to report all the income which he

knew he had during such calendar years and which he

knew it was his duty to state in his returns for such years,

or in some other manner.

Various schemes, subterfuges and devices may be re-

sorted to in an attempt to evade or defeat a tax. The one

alleged in the indictment is that of filing false and fraud-

ulent returns with the intent to defeat the tax. The

statute plainly makes it an ofifense wilfully to attempt to

evade in any manner any income tax imposed by law.

The attempt to evade or defeat the tax must be a

wilful attempt; that is to say, it must be an attempt

knowingly made with the specific intent to keep from

the Government a tax imposed by the income tax laws

which it was the duty of the defendant to pay to the

Government.

In other words, the attempt must be knowingly made

with the bad purpose of seeking to defraud the Govern-

ment of some substantial amount of income tax lawfully

due from the defendant.

Section 7201 of the Internal Revenue Code, which I

quoted to you and which applies to the first three counts,

makes any person guilty of crime who "wilfully attempts

in any manner to evade or defeat any income tax or the

payment thereof."

The mere failure of a taxpayer to report a portion of

his taxable income is not a crime within the meaning of

this section unless it has been proved beyond a reason-
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able doubt that he wilfully attempted to defeat or evade

his income taxes.

You are instructed that in common, everyday speech

"wilful" denotes an act which is intentional, knowing or

voluntary, as distinguished from accidental; but when it

is used in a criminal statute, where one of the elements

is a specific intent to defraud, it has a somewhat different

meaning. It generally means an act done with a bad

purpose, without justifiable excuse. The word "wilful"

is also used to characterize a thing done without ground

for believing it is lawful.

You are instructed that the thing done is not neces-

sarily and under all circumstances required to be lawful.

It is sufficient to exculpate and exonerate a defendant

if it is honestly believed to be lawful. Or to put it con-

versely, it is unlawful if it is done without grounds for

believing in its lawfulness.

If an act is done in good faith, based upon an actual

belief of a defendant, even if such belief is a mistaken

one, or a negligent one, or if such defendant is in ignor-

ance of either facts or law rendering it unlawful; and

if you believe that the defendant, Marvin Sherwin,

honestly made a mistake, honestly was negligent and

honestly was either ignorant of the facts or ignorant of

the law, you will then determine that his conduct in

doing what he did was not wilful.

As I indicated to you, one of the essential elements

to be established beyond a reasonable doubt as to the

first three counts of the indictment is that a substantial

amount of federal income tax was due and owing from
|

the defendant for the particular years covered by these

counts.

If you find that no such tax was due, or that the
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defendant honestly believed no such tax was due for any

of these years, you shall find the defendant not guilty

on the count or counts covering such years for which

you may so find.

If, on the other hand, you are satisfied beyond a

reasonable doubt that a substantial tax (over and above

that declared or disclosed in the returns) was due and

owing from the defendant for any of such years, and

that the defendant knew or believed the same to be due,

and that with such knowledge and belief he filed a false

and fraudulent income tax return for any such year in

a wilful attempt to evade and defeat a large part of the

tax due for such year, and with intent to defraud the

Government of such additional tax, you shall find the

defendant guilty on such count or counts of Counts One,

Two and Three, covering the years for which you so

find.

I shall now instruct you on the question of whether

the losses sustained by the defendant by reason of the

bankruptcy of T. R. Bechtel Company and Bechtel

Lumber Company were net operating losses in a business

of the defendant or a loss from the sale or exchange of

capital assets.

This question applies directly to the first three counts

and has no application to the last three counts, except

to the degree that you may find such losses have a bear-

ing on his intent or, to be more specific, his belief that

his returns were true and correct as to every material

matter.

This question as to the nature of these losses is a ques-

tion of fact to be determined by you, the jurors, from

the evidence in the case and in accordance with the

applicable tests that I shall give to you.
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The defendant claims that such bankruptcy resulted in

the stocks of these corporations becoming worthless, and l|

were therefore net operating losses arising from the

operation of a business of the defendant.

The Government claims that these losses were not net i,

operating losses arising from the operation of a business

of the defendant, but were in fact losses from the sale

or exchange of capital assets.

This becomes of importance to you in determining

whether or not under the first three counts the prosecu-

tion has proven beyond a reasonable doubt that in fact ij

there was a substantial amount of federal income tax due

and owing from the defendant for any of the particular

tax years in question, in addition to the tax declared or

disclosed in the defendant's income tax returns for such

years.

If you find that the losses of the defendant arising
j

from the bankruptcy of the Bechtel corporations were in

fact net operating losses from a business of the defendant,

and that such losses which occurred in 1951 were greater

than his taxable income for said year, such losses may be
j

carried back to the year 1950, and any losses still remain- '

ing may be carried forw^ard until extended through each

of the years for which the defendant is under indictment

on Counts One, Two and Three.

On the other hand, if you find that these particular

losses arising from such bankruptcy were not net operat-

ing losses from a business of the defendant, you shall

treat them as losses arising from the sale or exchange of i,

capital assets, and such losses, for carry-over purposes '

to the years 1954, 1955 and 1956, shall be limited to

$1,000 per year; and that amount was credited to him v

by the Government for each of such years.
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The question of whether or not such losses were net

operating losses from a business of the defendant or a

loss from a sale or exchange of capital assets depends

upon whether or not the defendant was actually engaged

in a business separate and apart from his profession, in

which losses were incurred in the operation of such

business.

If under the test I give you, you find that the defend-

ant was not engaged in a separate business, or if you find

that such losses were not incurred in the operation of

such separate business of the defendant, you shall treat

such losses as losses from the sale or exchange of capital

assets.

The business of the corporation may not be treated as

the business of the stockholder. The mere fact that a

person is a stockholder in corporations or active or inter-

ested in their afifairs is not sufficient to say he is in the

business of organizing and promoting corporations or to

justify treating any advances to the corporation as busi-

ness loans. A person must be extensively and regularly

engaged in the business of promoting and financing busi-

ness ventures to elevate that activity to the status of a

separate business.

The defendant claims he was engaged in the separate

business of promoting corporations. While any indi-

vidual, including an attorney, may engage in any trade

or business other than his particular profession, all the

facts and circumstances must be examined to determine

whether he is in fact engaged in such trade or business,

in this instance, the promoting of corporations, or was

merely rendering the services usually rendered by an

attorney who incorporates businesses, makes substantial

investments therein, and acts as attorney, director and
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officer of such corporations in the conduct of the busi-

ness and affairs of such corporations. If this is the limit

and character of his financial investment, and the limit

and character of the time, energy and interest he devotes

to the business or affairs of such corporation, he cannot

be deemed to be engaged in a separate trade or business.

More is required. To establish that he was engaged in

the business of promoting corporations, the evidence

must show that the defendant's investments, advances and

activities were extensive, varied, frequent and regular,

and with a profit motive arising from such activities on

his part and not merely from future profits of the cor-

poration distributable to him in proportion to his invest-

ment in such corporations.

A taxpayer's claim to a deduction from gross income

is a statutory privilege; hence, the burden of going for-

ward to prove such facts as will sustain the defendant's

contention that these losses were net operating losses

and therefore deductible in the manner he claims, rests

with him.

If you find from the evidence that the defendant has

established (or created a reasonable doubt in your minds

as to whether or not he has established) that his invest-

ments in the Bechtel corporations and such other cor-

porations in which he claims to have invested were sub-

stantial and varied and that his activities were so exten-

sive, and with such frequency and regularity, as to

consume a substantial portion of his time and energy,

all for the purpose of making the business of the cor-

porations succeed, then his investments and his activities

were such that the losses sustained by him by reason of |J

the bankruptcy of the Bechtel corporations constituted
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net operating losses, deductible and subject to carry-back

and carry-forward in the manner I have indicated.

If you find from the evidence and the test for the

determination thereof given to you in these instructions

that the defendant suffered net operating losses by reason

of the bankruptcy of the Bechtel corporations, you shall

fix the amount thereof as you will find it from the

evidence.

The amount of the defendant's loss on the worthless

stocks of the Bechtel corporations is limited to the excess

of his cost basis in that stock over the amount realized

(which in this case was zero because the stocks became

worthless) rather than the excess of the fair market

value over zero.

The agreement referred to in the testimony as that be-

tween Tarman and Sherwin of February 28, 1950, was

a partial distribution of partnership interests and, as

such, was not subject to tax.

The cost basis of the Bechtel Company stocks in the

hands of the defendant when he received such stock

pursuant to that agreement has been fixed from the evi-

dence in this case in at least three dififerent amounts: in

the sum of about $58,000 by Agent Nielands, if the

assumptions upon which his conclusions are based are

correct; in the sum of $60,000 on the defendant's claim

of capital loss on that stock in the tax returns of himself

and his wife for the year 1951; and in the sum of

$157,000 by Mr. Moran, if the assumptions upon which

his conclusions are based are correct. What that loss in

fact was, in the light of the evidence, is, as I previously

stated, for you, the jury, to determine.

If a taxpayer honestly believes that he has paid all

the taxes he owes, he is not guilty of criminal evasion.
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But if he acts without reasonable ground for belief that

his conduct was lawful, it is for you to decide whether

he was acting in good faith or whether he intended to

evade the tax.

The question of intent is a matter for you, as jurors,

to determine. It is not possible to look into a man's mind

to see what went on. For you to arrive at the intent of

the defendant in this case, you must take into considera-

tion all the facts and circumstances shown by the evi-

dence, including the exhibits, and determining from all

such facts and circumstances what the intent of the

defendant was at the time in question. Wilfulness, of

course, may be inferred from circumstances, and it is

not necessary to prove wilfulness by direct evidence in

an income tax evasion prosecution. Indeed, wilful intent

in attempting to evade and defeat payment of tax may

be supported by circumstantial evidence. Intent may be

inferred from acts, and inferences may arise from a

combination of acts, although each act standing by itself

may seem unimportant.

Section 7201 of the Internal Revenue Code which, as

I have stated, is applicable to the first three counts,

punishes a wilful attempt to evade and defeat taxes in

any manner. On this question of intent to evade income

taxes there are a number of circumstances which you

may consider in determining such intent. You may con-

sider whether or not there was a concealment of assets,

the covering up of sources of income, the number of

income items omitted each year and their gross amounts,

the handling of one's affairs to avoid the making of usual

records, and any other such conduct, the likelihood of

which would be to mislead or conceal are illustrations of

the type of conduct or acts from which you may infer
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intent to evade taxes if you are satisfied beyond a reason-

able doubt from the evidence that such conduct existed

in this case. If the tax evasion motive plays any part

in such conduct, the ofifense may be made out even

though the conduct I have mentioned might also serve

some other purpose.

The question of intent is a question you must deter-

mine for yourself from a consideration of all the

evidence.

If you find from the evidence that the defendant

sought advice and counsel with respect to his income tax

liability for the years 1954, 1955 and 1956 from an

accountant, whom he thought would properly and cor-

rectly prepare his income tax returns, and if you further

find that the defendant honestly attempted to provide

such accountant and advisor with all the information

reasonably necessary to enable such accountant to pre-

pare correct income tax returns, and that the taxpayer,

when he signed the same, presumed and believed that

they were true and correct, then your verdict should be

not guilty as to Counts One, Two and Three, for there

would be absent the element of knowing and wilful

intent to evade or attempt to evade the payment of in-

come taxes; and your verdict should be not guilty as to

Counts Four, Five and Six, for there then would have

existed in the mind of the taxpayer an honest belief that

the return was true and correct as to every material

matter, even though it should later develop that said

income tax returns were materially wrong.

As to any one of Counts One, Two and Three of the

indictment, if you find from the evidence that the de-

fendant in doing the acts detailed by the evidence intro-

duced upon the trial herein, acted without corrupt
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intent, that is to say, the intent to evade or defeat a

large part of the income tax due and owing by him and

his wife for the years in question, such lack of corrupt

intent will entitle the defendant to an acquittal at your

hands as to any such counts on which you so find.

Similarly, as to any one of Counts Four, Five and Six

of the indictment, if you find from the evidence that the

defendant, in subscribing to the joint tax return or re-

turns for the years covered by the indictment, acted

without corrupt intent in so subscribing, that is to say,

with the belief that said joint return or returns were

true and correct as to every material matter, such lack

of corrupt intent will entitle the defendant to an ac-

quittal at your hands as to any such counts on which

you so find.

Counts Four, Five and Six of the indictment cover

the calendar years 1954, 1955 and 1956. Except for the

amount and source of the defendant's income, and the

amount of additional income he is alleged to have failed

to disclose for each of such years, said counts are iden-

tical in all other respects; hence, I will now read to you

only the fourth count. It alleges that:

"On or about July 15, 1955, in the Northern

District of California, Southern Division, Marvin
Sherwin, defendant, in violation of Title 26, United

States Code, Section 7206, sub-paragraph 1, did wil-

fully and knowingly make and subscribe and file

with the District Director of Internal Revenue at

San Francisco, California, a joint income tax return

for the calendar year 1954, in his name and in the

name of his wife, Georgia Sherwin, which was

verified by the defendant by a written declaration

that it was made under the penalty of perjury,
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which said joint income tax return for the calendar

year 1954, the defendant did not believe to be true

and correct as to every material matter in said joint

income tax return for the calendar year 1954, in that

the defendant stated that the income of himself and

his wife for the calendar year 1954 was as follows:

"County of Alameda, $9,250.00; State of Cali-

fornia, $7,500.00; Chip Steak Company, $5,520.00;

other income, $2,505.56;

"Whereas, as he then and there well knew, he

had additional income amounting to $12,801.45

which he failed to disclose in his and his wife's said

joint return."

The federal statute to which these counts of the in-

dictment refer, and with which the defendant is charged

with violating, is Section 7206, sub-paragraph 1, Title

26, United States Code. Insofar as it is pertinent here

to this case that statute reads as follows:

"Any person who wilfully makes and subscribes

any return, statement or other document which con-

tains or is verified by a written declaration that it

is made under the penalty of perjury, and which

he does not believe to be true and correct as to

every material matter, shall be punished as provided

by law."

Now, for a violation of this statute to occur, three

essential elements must be established beyond a reason-

able doubt. They are:

1. A wilful making and subscribing of a return, state-

ment or other document.

2. The return, statement or other document must con-

tain a written declaration that it is made under the

penalty of perjury.
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3. The maker must not believe the return, statement

or other document to be true and correct as toj

every material matter.

I instruct you as a matter of law that the federal

income tax return, Form 1040, and their attached ad-

denda and schedules, as made and subscribed by the

defendant for the years 1954, 1955 and 1956, if you

find such documents vs^ere made and subscribed by the

defendant, are returns as contemplated by Section 7206

(1), Title 26, U. S. Code, which I just read to you.

In order to find the defendant guilty of any or all of

the charges complained of in Counts Four, Five and Six

of the indictment, you must not only believe that he did

the acts complained of and of which he stands charged,

but you must also believe that the acts were wilfully

done by him.

The word "wilful," as used in this statute means de-

liberately and with knowledge, as distinguished from

something which is merely careless, inadvertent or

negligent.

Whether or not the act is done wilfully is a fact

which must be determined by reasonable inference estab-

lished from the facts proved by the evidence. Here, too,

you cannot look into the defendant's mind to see what

his intention was when he allegedly made the statements

in question on his 1954, 1955 and 1956 federal income

tax returns. If you find the defendant signed his income

tax returns for these years, you may consider that as a

circumstance in determining whether he had knowledge

of the contents of those income tax returns. Wilfully

means intentionally and not accidentally.

You are instructed that it is not necessary for the
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Government to prove that there was a tax due and

owing for any of the years in question in order to prove

Counts Four, Five and Six of the indictment. The exist-

ence of a tax liability is not an element of the offense of

r wilfully subscribing to a tax return under the penalties

« of perjury when such tax return is not believed to be

true and correct as to every material matter.

In order to find the defendant guilty of Counts Four,

Five and Six of the indictment you must be satisfied

beyond a reasonable doubt that the failure of defendant

to report additional income received by him, if you so

further find, was a material omission; in this connec-

tion, I instruct you that omission of a substantial part

of the taxpayer's gross income from his tax return con-

stitutes a material omission, and if you are satisfied

beyond a reasonable doubt that there was such omission,

and that it was wilful, and that the defendant had

knowledge thereof, you shall find the defendant guilty

as to such counts on which you so find.

The term ''gross income" means all income from what-

ever source derived, including:

1. Compensation for services, fees, commissions, and

similar items;

2. Gross income derived from business;

3. Gains derived from dealings in property;

4. Interest;

5. Dividends;

6. Distributive shares of partnership gross income.

In connection with Counts Four, Five and Six, if a

person in good faith believes that his income tax return.
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as prepared by him or as caused to be prepared by him,

truthfully reports the taxable income and allowable de

ductions of the taxpayer, he cannot be guilty as to said'

counts.

Under Counts Four, Five and Six of the indictment, f|

I instruct you that in order to convict the defendant

you must find that any omission which was made in the

defendant's return was wilfully omitted, and in this con-

nection I instruct you that if the defendant did not

believe that he had additional income which he was

required to report when he made and subscribed his tax

return, then you may not find the defendant guilty under

these counts of the indictment.

Under Counts Four, Five and Six of the indictment

the Government must prove that any fraudulent omission

in the tax return of the defendant was for the purpose

of defrauding or deceiving the United States of America

in some material manner.

The law of the United States permits the judge to

comment to the jury on the evidence in the case. Such

comments are only expressions of the judge's opinion as

to the facts, and the jury may disregard them entirely,

since the jurors are the sole judges of the facts.

During the course of the trial I occasionally asked

questions of a witness in order to bring out facts not then

fully covered in the testimony. As I previously stated, do

not assume that I hold any opinion on the matters to

which my questions related. Remember at all times that

you, as jurors, are at liberty to disregard all comments

of the Court in arriving at your own findings as to the

facts.

It is the duty of the Court to admonish an attorney

who, out of zeal for his cause, does something which is
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not in keeping with the rules of evidence or procedure.

You are to draw no inference against the side to whom
an admonition of the Court may have been addressed

, during the trial of this case.

And I might add here parenthetically that this case

I
was well conducted by counsel for both sides, and con-

ducted in accordance with the highest traditions of the

American Bar.

It is the duty of attorneys on each side of a case to

object when the other side offers testimony or other evi-

dence which counsel believes is not properly admissible.

When the Court has sustained an objection to a ques-

tion, the jury are to disregard the question and may

draw no inference from the wording of it or speculate

as to what the witness would have said if permitted to

answer.

I Upon allowing testimony or other evidence to be

introduced over the objection of counsel, the Court does

not, unless expressly stated, indicate any opinion as to the

weight or effect of such evidence. As stated before, the

jurors are the sole judges of the credibility of all wit-

nesses and the weight and effect of all evidence.

As you have noted, a separate crime or offense is

charged in each of the six counts of the indictment.

Each offense and the evidence applicable thereto should

be considered separately. The fact that you may find the

accused guilty or not guilty of one of the ofifenses

charged should not control your verdict with respect to

any other ofifense charged.

The verdict must represent the considered judgment

of each juror. In order to return a verdict, it is neces-

sary that each juror agree thereto. Your verdict must

be unanimous.
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It is your duty, as jurors, to consult with one another

and to deliberate with a view to reaching an agreement,

if you can do so without violence to individual judg-

ment. Each of you must decide the case for yourself,

but do so only after an impartial consideration of the

evidence with your fellow jurors. In the course of your

deliberations do not hesitate to re-examine your own

views and change your opinion if convinced it is

erroneous. But do not surrender your honest conviction

as to the weight or effect of evidence solely because of

the opinion of your fellow jurors, or for the mere pur-

pose of returning a verdict.

You are not partisans. You are judges—judges of the

facts. Your sole interest is to ascertain the truth from

the evidence in the case.

There is nothing peculiarly different in the way a

jury is to consider the proof in a criminal case from

that in which all reasonable persons treat any question

depending upon evidence presented to them. You are

expected to use your good sense, consider the evidence

for only those purposes for which it has been admitted,

and give it a reasonable and fair construction in the

light of your common knowledge of the natural tenden-

cies and inclinations of human beings.

If the accused be proved guilty, say so; if proved not

guilty, say so.

Keep constantly in mind that it would be a violation

of your sworn duty to base a verdict upon anything but

the evidence in the case.

Remember, also, that the question before you can

never be: Will the Government win or lose the case?

The Government alw^ays wins when justice is done,

regardless of whether the verdict be guilty or not guilty.
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The punishment provided by law for the offense

charged in the indictment is a matter exclusively within

the province of the Court, and is not to be considered

by the jury in arriving at an impartial verdict as to the

guilt or innocence of the accused.

Upon retiring to the jury room, you will select one

of your number to act as foreman. The foreman will

preside over your deliberations and be your spokesman

in court.

A form of verdict has been prepared for your con-

venience. I shall now read the form of verdict which

has been prepared for your convenience:

"United States of America vs. Marvin Sher-

win, No. 37990.

"VERDICT
"We, the jury, find Marvin Sherwin, the

defendant at the bar as to

Count One, as to Count

Two, as to Count Three,

-—

—

as to Count Four,

as to Count Five, as to Count
Six."

And then there appears a line for the signature of the

foreman. You will take this form to the jury room and

when you have reached unanimous agreement as to your

verdict, you will have your foreman fill in the blanks

by using the words "guilty" or "not guilty", date and

sign the form that states the verdict upon which you

agree, and then return with your verdict to the court-

room.

If it becomes necessary during your deliberations to

communicate with the Court, you may send a note by

the bailiff. Never attempt to communicate with the
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Court except in writing. And bear in mind always that

you are not to reveal to the Court or any person how the

jury stands, numerically or otherwise, on the question of

the guilt or innocence of the accused, until after you

have reached a unanimous verdict.

It is proper to add the caution that nothing said in

these instructions—nothing in any form of verdict pre-

pared for your convenience—is to suggest or convey in

any way or manner any intimation as to what verdict I

think you should find. I repeat, what the verdict shall

be is the sole and exclusive duty and responsibility of

the jury.

And now, gentlemen, the Court has completed its

instructions to the jury, and unless counsel for the plain-

tiff or defendant have further or additional objections

or exceptions to the Court's instructions as just given, I

think it might be understood for the record that all

objections and exceptions heretofore taken by counsel for

the Government and counsel for the defendant will be

considered as if said exceptions were made at this time

and entered in the record and have the same force and

effect as if repeated in full on all the grounds heretofore

given.

Now, are there any additional objections or exceptions

other than those heretofore stated?

Mr. Cooney: I have no additional ones other than

those stated the other day.

Mr. Burns : I have one. Your Honor.

The Court: Yes, Mr. Burns?

Mr. Burns: It should be made, I believe, in the

absence of the jury.

The Court: Yes.

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, the Court has not



Appendix xxxv

as yet completed its instructions. In accordance with

prescribed rules of procedure, you will retire to the jury

room and the Court will give consideration to an addi-

tional matter, and will thereafter indicate to you whether

or not its instructions have been completed and then

indicate to you when you may retire for your deliber-

ations.

You are excused for the moment, and the admonition

which I heretofore gave you holds.

(Thereupon, the jury retired from the courtroom

and the following proceedings were had.)

Mr. Burns: In one of the last instructions which

Your Honor gave the jury, I have this comment to make.

The instruction is this, in substance: you told the jury to

exercise their common sense and if the defendant is

proven guilty, say so; if the defendant is proved not

guilty, say so.

The Court: Yes.

Mr. Burns: In my opinion, that instruction places a

burden of proof upon the defendant which he does not

have. I think the instruction should be, if the defendant

has been proven guilty, say so, and if the proof fails to

satisfy you beyond a reasonable doubt of the defendant's

guilt, say so, rather than placing the burden of proof

upon the defendant.

The Court: Very well. Mr. Burns, I might add that

this instruction has been given innumerable times. It is

one of the, shall I say, so-called classics set forth by

Judge Mathis and reported for the benefit of judges

throughout the country at various seminars and in the

Federal Rules Decisions.

However, 1 am satisfied in my own mind that the
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observation you have just made is a proper and correct

one, and hence I shall cause the jury to be re-instructed

with relation to that particular instruction.

Are there any other objections or exceptions?

Mr. Foster: Two minor exceptions, Your Honor. At

the commencement of the instructions Your Honor gave

the standard instruction concerning the natural and

probable consequences of a defendant's act, and it is my
belief that that instruction is inapplicable in a case of

this character.

The Court: I think it is clearly applicable in a case

of this character.

Mr. Foster: And the other objection which I would

like to make, Your Honor, to Your Honor's instructions

is to your comments upon the Tarman-Sherwin partner-

ship income, which I believe is not a proper factor in

the case. I believe Your Honor instructed that the jury

could take into account any unreported income from the

Tarman-Sherwin partnership

—

The Court: "If you so find."

Mr. Foster: "If you so find."

The Court: Yes. I accept the suggestion that has

been made, and the jury may be recalled. I will have

to find the particular numbered instruction.

Mr. Burns: Might I say on behalf of the defendant

that the defendant is otherwise satisfied with the instruc-

tions and thanks Your Honor for the instructions, and

likewise counsel thank you for the comment.

The Court: Thank you. I might say, Mr. Burns, it

says, "if not proved guilty, say so", but I am accepting

your observation. I feel that this is a very proper

observation despite the fact that we have had a long

history of use of this instruction. We have learned from

!

I

li
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opinions from time to time that it is advisable to recon-

sider instructions given in the past.

Mr. Burns: As I heard the instruction, the w^ord

"not" was not used. It was "defendant proved not

guilty" instead of "defendant not proved not guilty."

The Court: I shall put it in the form you have

suggested, and I think it is a good suggestion.

Mr. Burns: Thank you. I assume Your Honor has

in mind discharging the two alternate jurors?

The Court: Yes.

(Thereupon, the jury returned to the courtroom

and the following proceedings were had.)

The Court: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury: dur-

ing the recess counsel properly directed my attention to

the fact that in a part of the recitation I apparently mis-

placed a "not" in one sentence. Apparently I said, "if

the accused be proved guilty, say so; if proved not

guilty, say so."

I should certainly correct this instruction because the

fact of the matter is that if the evidence establishes the

guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt, you

should say so: if, on the other hand, the evidence does

not establish the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable

doubt, you should say so. So that with this clear cor-

rection in mind, the case is ready to go to you for your

deliberation. This completes the instructions. I shall

respectfully request that the two alternate jurors remain

seated in the courtroom while the jury retires to conduct

their deliberations.

So the jury, with the exception of the two alternates,

will now retire to the jury room.

(Thereupon, at the hour of 10:55 a.m., the jury

retired to deliberate upon its verdict.)
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Appellant's Proposed Instruction No. 19

Subject: Wilfulness.

You are instructed that in common, everyday speech,

"wilful" denotes an act which is intentional, knowing

or voluntary, as distinguished from accidental, but when

it is used in a criminal statute, where one of the elements

is a specific intent to defraud, it has a somewhat different

meaning. It generally means an act done with a bad

purpose, without justifiable excuse. The word "wilful"

is also used to characterize a thing done without ground

for believing it is lawful.

You are instructed that the thing done is not neces-

sarily and under all circumstances required to be lawful.

It is sufficient to exculpate and exonerate a defendant

if it is honestly believed to be lawful. Or to put it

conversely, it is unlawful if it is done without grounds

for believing in its lawfulness.

If an act is done in good faith, based upon an actual

belief of a defendant, even if such belief is a mistaken

one, or a negligent one, or if such defendant is in

ignorance of either facts or law rendering it unlawful;

and, if you believe that the defendant, Marvin Sherwin,

honestly made a mistake, honestly was negligent and

honestly was ignorant of the facts or ignorant of the

law, you will then determine that his conduct in doing

what he did was not wilful.

Authority: U. S. V. Murdoch, 290 U.S. 389.
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In the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit

No. 18,203

Estate of E. W. Chism, Deceased, Clara Chism,

Executrix, and Clara Chism, petitioners

V.

Commissioner of Internal Revenue, respondent

On Petition for Review of the Decision of the

Tax Court of the United States

BRIEF FOR THE RESPONDENT

OPINION BELOW

The memorandum findings of fact and opinion of

the Tax Court (R. 164-189) are not officially

reported.

JURISDICTION

This petition for review (R. 196-200) involves

federal income taxes for the years 1952 through 1956.

By his notice mailed to taxpayers ' on March 6, 1959

^ For convenience, Clara Chism and the estate of E. W.
Chism, deceased, will be referred to collectively as the tax-

payers.

(1)



(R. 10-19), the Commissioner determined deficiencies

for the above years in the following amounts (R. 11)

:

Year Amount

1952 $ 4,557.10

1953 3,388.92

1954 3,000.50

1955 3,233.48

1956 1,503.00

Total $15,683.00

Within 90 days thereafter and on May 11, 1959,

taxpayers filed a petition for redetermination with

the Tax Court, pursuant to Section 272(a) of the

Internal Revenue Code of 1939 and Section 6213 of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1954. (R. 1, 3-7.)

The decision of the Tax Court (R. 195), entered on

April 27, 1962, affirmed the Commissioner's deter-

mination. On July 27, 1962, taxpayers filed a peti-

tion for review with this Court. (R. 196-200.) Juris-

diction is conferred on this Court by Section 7482

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.'

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Whether the Tax Court erred in holding that:

1. The withdrawals made by taxpayers from their

family-owned corporation were informal dividends

and not loans;

2. The assessment against taxpayers for the year

2 The instant case was consolidated for trial with the com-

panion case of Chism Ice Cream Co. v. Commissioner, Docket

No. 80199. A petition for review was not filed in the latter

case.



1952 was not barred by the statute of limitations;

and

3. None of the salary received by E. W. Chism

in 1952 and 1953 was excludable from gross income

as amounts received under a wage continuation plan.

STATUTES INVOLVED

Internal Revenue Code of 1939:

Sec. 275. Period of Limitation Upon Assess-

ment AND Collection.

Except as provided in section 276

—

(a) General Rule.—The amount of income

taxes imposed by this chapter shall be assessed

within three years after the return was filed,

and no proceeding in court without assessment

for the collection of such taxes shall be begun

after the expiration of such period.

* * * *

(c) Omission from Gross IncoTne.—If the tax-

payer omits from gross income an amount prop-

erly includible therein which is in excess of 25

per centum of the amount of gross income stated

in the return, the tax may be assessed, or a pro-

ceeding in court for the collection of such tax

may be begun without assessment, at any time

within 5 years after the return was filed.

* * lie 4:

(26 U.S.C. 1952 ed.. Sec. 275.)

Sec. 276. Same—Exceptions.

* * * *

(b) Waiver.—Where before the expiration of

the time prescribed in section 275 for the assess-



ment of the tax, both the Commissioner and the

taxpayer have consented in writing to its assess-

ment after such time, the tax may be assessed

at any time prior to the expiration of the period

agreed upon. The period so agreed upon may
be extended by subsequent agreements in writing

made before the expiration of the period pre-

viously agreed upon.

* * * *

(26 U.S.C. 1952 ed., Sec. 276.)

Sec. 322. Refunds and Credits.

* * * *

(b) Limitation on Allowance.—
(1) Period of limitation.—Unless a claim

for credit or refund is filed by the taxpayer

within three years from the time the return

was filed by the taxpayer or within two
years from the time the tax was paid, no

credit or refund shall be allowed or made
after the expiration of whichever of such

periods expires the later. If no return is

filed by the taxpayer, then no credit or re-

fund shall be allowed or made after two
years from the time the tax was paid, unless

before the expiration of such period a claim

therefor is filed by the taxpayer.

* * * *

(3) [as added by Sec. 169(a), Revenue
Act of 1942, c. 619, 56 Stat. 798.] Ex-
ceptions in the case of waivers.—If both the

Commissioner and the taxpayer have, with-

in the period prescribed in paragraph (1)

for the filing of a claim for credit or refund,



agreed in writing under the provisions of

section 276(b) to extend beyond the period

prescribed in section 275 the time within

which the Commissioner may make an

assessment, the period within which a claim

for credit or refund may be filed, or credit

or refund allowed or made if no claim is

filed, shall be the period within which the

Commissioner may make an assessment pur-

suant to such agreement or any extension

thereof, and six months thereafter, except

that the provisions of paragraph (1) shall

apply to any claim filed, or credit or refund

allowed or made, before the execution of such

agreement. * * *

(26 U.S.C. 1952 ed.. Sec. 322.)

STATEMENT

The basic facts as stipulated (R. 22-29) and as

found by the Tax Court (R. 167-179) may be sum-

marized as follows:

E. W. Chism organized the Chism Ice Cream Com-

pany (hereinafter called the Company) in 1933 as

successor to a sole proprietorship of the same name

which he had founded in 1905. The Company engaged

in the manufacture and sale of ice cream and car-

bonated beverages, and Chism was the president of

the Company continuously from the time of its in-

corporation until his death on December 27, 1956.

During the years 1952 through 1956, his daughter,

Alice Jane Frazer, was the vice-president and his

wife Clara, was the secretary of the Company. The



board of directors consisted of Chism, his wife and

his daughter, and during the years in question all

of the Company's issued and outstanding common
stock was owned by Chism (71,500 shares), his wife

(67,500 shares) and his daughter (51,000 shares).

(R. 168, 169, 170.)

The following statement shows, for the years 1938

through 1958, the Company's earned surplus, the

amounts of all formal dividends declared and paid,

and the salaries paid to the Chism family (R. 25-26,

171, Ex. 1-A)

:

Year

1938
1939
1940
1941
1942
1943
1944
1945
1946
1947
1948
1949
1950
1951
1952
1953
1954
1955
1956
1957
1958
1959

Earned
Surplus
(Nearest
Thousand)

$ 23,000

44,000

61,000

61,000

93,000

118,000

146,000

161,000

166,000

173,000

182,000

215,000

234,000

224,000

228,000

267,000

287,000

285,000

294,000

309,000

314,000

305,000

Dividends
declared

and paid

None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None

$587.00
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None

Salaries paid (Nearest Thousand)
E. W. Clara Alice Jane
Chism Chism Frazer

? 9,000

9,000

9,000

9,000

9,000

9,000

9,000

15,000

18,000

18,000

18,000

20,000

24,000

24,000

24,000

24,000

24,000

24,000

24,000

None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None
None

$24,000
24,000

24,000

None
None
None

$1,000

1,000

1,000

1,000

2,000

2,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

7,000

* Chism died on December 27, 1956.

Up until 1952, the progress and success of the

Company was attributable principally to the personal



efforts of Chism. The business grew from a one-man

operation at the time of its founding in 1905 to a

modern, mechanized ice cream and carbonated

beverage enterprise, having between 50 and 75 em-

ployees. However, after the beginning of 1952, Chism

was physically incapacitated and was confined almost

entirely to his home as the result of a heart ailment

which began in about 1948 and which recurred in

more serious form during 1951. Thereafter, he con-

tinued to be the Company's president, but his ac-

tivities were confined principally to occasional visits

of one-half hour or so to the Company's office, ac-

companied by a nurse. After 1953, he was confined

entirely to his home, where from time to time he had

conferences regarding business matters with the

Company's general manager, Walther, who had as-

sumed responsibility for the Company's day-to-day

operations. (R. 172-173.)

Notwithstanding that Chism was incapacitated

physically after 1951, and that the amount of his

services to the business thereafter declined steadily,

the Company continued to pay him either the same

or increased amounts of salary for the years 1952

through 1956. All of the salary so paid for those

years was treated by the Company as "salary" in

its books and in its corporate income tax returns.

(R. 173.)

During the years 1935 through 1958, Chism or his

wife made numerous withdrawals from the Company,

and also made certain repayments with respect there-

to. These withdrawals and repayments were re-
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corded in the Company's books in an account en-

titled "E. W. Chism—Note Receivable." Actually, no

promissory notes or other written instruments evi-

dencing such withdrawals were ever executed or de-

livered to the Company. Also, no interest was ever

charged or paid on the outstanding balance, and no

collateral security therefor was ever given. (R. 173-

174.) The total withdrawals and repayments were

as follows (R. 174, Ex. 2-B)

:

Year Withdrawals Repayments Balance

1935-1946 $43,017.77 $24,090.95 $18,926.82

1947 ..-__ ..-___ 18,926.82

1948 6,584.45 1,200.00 24,311.27

1949 1,500.00 ...... 25,811.27

1950 1,500.00 2,803.25 24,508.02

1951 7,500.00 1,720.17 30,287.85

1952 10,046.90 ..___. 40,334.75

1953 7,821.16 ...... 48,155.91

1954 10,213.88 58,369.79

1955 12,565.81 ..-- 70,935.60

1956 7,300.00 . 78,235.60

1957 ...... 78,235.60

1958 -..-.. 78,235.60*

* The "repayment" shown for the year 1958 was made
by the estate of E. W. Chism, as hereinafter shown.

All of the withdrawals were made informally, and

they were not earmarked by the Company for applica-

tion to medical expenses. There is no indication on

the Company's books or elsewhere that the payments

were made pursuant to any health insurance plan.

The employees of the Company were not notified

or advised of the existence of any such plan, nor

did they have any right to demand benefits under a

plan. (R. 174-175.)



Sometime prior to April, 1957, a revenue agent,

who was examining the returns of the taxpayers and

the Company for the years here involved, discussed

with the Company's accountant the possibility of

treating the withdrawals for those years as informal

dividends. The accountant then discussed this matter

with Chism's wife and Walther, and it was the ac-

countant's feeling that something should be done to

"clean up" the balance in the above-mentioned ac-

count. Thereafter, on April 25, 1957, the Company
filed a claim, signed by Mrs. Chism as secretary of

the Company (Ex. 5), against the estate of E. W.
Chism for the amount of the then outstanding balance

of $78,235.60 in the account. The claim was ap-

proved by Mrs. Chism as executrix of the estate (Ex.

5), and subsequently allowed by the probate court

in Reno, Nevada. The amount of the claim, without

interest, was paid in full to the Company by the

estate on October 20, 1958. (R. 175.)

The Company did not at any time have any formal

plan of "health insurance" for its officers or em-

ployees, nor did it have any formal salary or wage

continuation plan. However, it did on seven occasions

during the 20-year period of 1941 through 1960 pay

all or part of the wages of employees who were tem-

porarily ill or who had surgical operations. In all of

these cases except two, the amounts paid as wages to

the employee during his illness ranged from $449 to

$875, and in the other two cases the amounts so paid

were respectively, $2,650 and $4,770.39. (R. 175-176,

Ex. 9.)
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Chism and his wife filed their joint income tax

return for the year 1952 on March 14, 1953, wherein

they reported gross income in the amount of $25,-

141.37. (R. 178, Ex. 6-D.) This amount did not in-

clude any portion of the $10,046.90 withdrawn from

the Company that year which the Commissioner and

the Tax Court determined to be includible in their

gross income for the year as ''informal dividends".

On November 13, 1957, which was more than three

but less than five years after the filing and due date

of the return, Mrs. Chism, acting both individually

and as executrix of Chism's estate, entered into a

consent agreement (Treasury Form 872) with the

Commissioner, under which the time for making any

assessment for the year 1952 was extended to June

30, 1959. (R. 178, see Ex. 6-D.) The deficiency no-

tice pertaining to the years 1952 through 1956 was

issued on March 6, 1959. (R. 10, 178.)

At the completion of the trial, the Tax Court made

the following ultimate findings (R. 178-179) :

1. Reasonable allowances to the Company for sal-

aries paid to Chism for the years 1953, 1954, 1955,

and 1956 were $20,000, $15,000, $12,000 and $12,000,

respectively.

2. The withdrawals made by Chism and his wife

from the Company during the years 1952 through

1956 constituted informal dividends.

3. The Company did not have a health insurance

plan in effect during any of the years here involved.

4. The deficiency assessment against Chism and

his wife for the year 1952 was not barred by the

statute of limitations.
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On the basis of the above findings, the Tax Court

held (R. 186) that the withdrawals were includible

in the gross income of Chism and his wife as informal

dividends and were not excludable therefrom either

as loans or as health insurance plan payments. The

Tax Court also rejected (R. 182, 189) taxpayers'

arguments (1) that part of the salaiy received by

Chism in 1952 and 1953 was excludable from his

gross income as amounts received under a wage con-

tinuation plan and (2) that the assessment against

Chism and his wife for 1952 was barred by the

statute of limitations."

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Whether withdrawals from a corporation by a

stockholder are dividends or loans has uniformly

been held to be a question of fact to be decided on

consideration of all the circumstances. In the in-

stant case it is readily apparent that Chism treated

the earnings of the ice cream company as his own

by withdrawing substantial amounts therefrom on

open account over a period of approximately 25 years,

resulting in an outstanding balance in the account in

^ In the companion case of Chism Ice Cream Co. V. Com-
missioner, the Tax Court held (1) that the excessive com-

pensation paid to Chism was not deductible by the Company
either as salary or health insurance payments and (2) that

the premiums paid by the Company on a retirement income

policy covering the life of its general manager were not de-

ductible by the Company because it was the "direct bene-

ficiary" of the policy. No appeal was taken from that deci-

sion.
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the amount of $78,235.60 as of the end of 1956. The

relevant facts overwhelmingly support the finding of

the Tax Court that the withdrawals were dividends

and not loans.

There were no notes given, no interest was charged

and no collateral was required. The withdrawals were

substantial, and any repayments occasional and insub-

stantial, with no repayments at all being made during

the five years in question. There was no evidence

of any intention on his part to repay the withdrawals,

nor did the Company at any time during his life

take steps to enforce payment. The corporation's

stock was owned entirely by Chism and his immediate

family and his control of the corporation was rein-

forced by the fact that his wife and daughter were

officers and directors of the corporation. Finally,

even though the corporation's earned surplus exceeded

$200,000 during the years in question, no formal

dividends were ever paid or declared.

The fact that the Company's claim for the out-

standing balance was allowed against Chism's estate

by the local probate court after an examination of

his returns by a revenue agent had begun did not

preclude the Tax Court from determining his tax

liability. A nonadversary proceeding in a state court

which is collusive in the sense that the parties seek to

adversely affect the Government's right to additional

income taxes is not binding on the federal courts.

2. The special five-year period of limitations ap-

plies to taxpayers' 1952 return because they failed to

report more than 25 percent of their gross income
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therein. Moreover, prior to the expiration of the

five-year period, taxpayers consented to an extension

of time within which the Commissioner could assess

a deficiency. The Commissioner's deficiency notice

was within the extended period and was not barred by

the statute of limitations. Taxpayers argument that

the consent agreement is invalid because it did not

also extend the time within which a claim for refund

could be filed is unsupported by authority and is

manifestly without merit.

3. The Tax Court's finding that the ice cream com-

pany did not have a health or wage continuation plan

for its employees is not clearly erroneous. The pay-

ments made to Chism by the Company were not ear-

marked or treated as health payments by the Com-

pany, but were carried on the books as ''salary" and

deducted as such in the Company's income tax re-

turns. Employees were not advised of the existence

of a plan and had no right to demand benefits under

any such plan. Whether or not payments would be

made, and the amount and duration thereof, was

within the discretion of the Company's management

and could be changed at will. The fact that the Com-

missioner mistakenly allowed a deduction for wage

continuation payments for the years 1954 through

1956 does not mean that a plan existed during those

years or during any prior years. The Commissioner

does not concede the existence or accuracy of the

facts upon which deductions are based by accepting

or acquiescing in tax returns.
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ARGUMENT

I

The Finding of the Tax Court That the Withdrawals
Were Dividends and Not Loans Is Not Clearly Erro-

neous

The main question on this appeal is whether the

Tax Court erred in holding that the withdrawals by

E. W. Chism from the family-owned corporation were

in fact dividends and not loans. Since this is a ques-

tion of fact to be determined upon a consideration of

all the circumstances present in a particular case,

the lower court's decision should not be disturbed

unless it is clearly erroneous. Clark v. Commissioner,

266 F. 2d 698 (C.A. 9th) ; Roschuni v. Commissioner,

29 T.C. 1193, affirmed per curiam, 271 F. 2d 267

(C.A. 5th) ; Regenshurg v. Commissioner, 144 F. 2d

41 (C.A. 2d), certiorari denied, 323 U.S. 783.*

In determining whether a withdrawal is a loan or

a dividend, numerous factors are relevant although

no one of them may be controlling. The factors gen-

erally considered by the courts are as follows: (1)

whether the corporation is closely held and controlled

(Roschuni, supra; Baird v. Commissioner, 25 T.C.

387; Wilson v. Commissioner, 10 T.C. 251, affirmed,

170 F. 2d 423 (C.A. 9th)); (2) whether notes are

given and interest charged {Clark v. Commissioner,

supra; Oyster Shell Products Corp. v. Commissioner,

* See Section 7482(a), Internal Revenue Code of 1954; Rule

52(a), Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; Commissioner V.

Duberstein, 363 U.S. 278, 289; Wentworth V. Commissioner,

244 F. 2d 874 (C.A. 9th).



15

(C.A. 2d), decided February 13, 1963 (11 A.F.T.R.

2d 777) ; United States v. E. Regensburg & Sons, 221

F. 2d 336, 337 (C.A. 2d))
; (3) whether collateral is

given to secure the purported loans {Levy v. Commis-

sioner, 30 T.C. 1315; Crispin v. Commissioner, 32

B.T.A. 151); and (4) whether the withdrawals are

periodic and at will with a steadily mounting balance

{Regensburg v. Commissioner, supra; Baird v. Com-
missioner, supra; Meyer v. Commissioner, 45 B.T.A.

228). Other factors relevant, depending upon the

circumstances of each case, are whether there is a

definite time for repayment or a ceiling on the amount

that can be withdrawn ; whether there is any effort to

enforce collection on the part of the company or any

plan for repayment by the stockholders; and whether

the corporation has customarily declared and paid

formal dividends. See Niederkrome v. Commissioner,

266 F. 2d 238 (C.A. 9th) ; Wiese v. Commissioner, 93

F. 2d 921 (C.A. 8th), certiorari denied, 304 U.S. 562;

Spheeris v. Commissioner, 284 F. 2d 928 (C.A. 7th)

;

Goodman v. Commissioner, 23 T.C. 288; Simmons v.

Commissioner, 26 T.C. 409; Kinnear v. Commissioner,

36 B.T.A. 153; Mellon v. Commissioner, 36 B.T.A.

977; Murchison v. Commissioner, 32 B.T.A. 32; Mar-

shall v. Commissioner, 32 B.T.A. 956; Hunt v. Com-

missioner, 6 B.T.A. 558; 1 Mertens, Law of Federal

Income Taxation (Rev.), Sec. 9.21.

A. Substantial evidence supports the decision

In the instant case, the opinion of the court below

(R. 164-189) recites more than enough facts to sup-

port its decision. In the first place, the taxpayers,
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along with their daughter, controlled the corporation

:

Chism was president of the Company, his daughter

was vice president, and his wife was the secretary;

all three comprised the board of directors, and all

three owned all the issued and outstanding stock

of the Company. (R. 168-170.) In the second place,

the withdrawals were continuous, substantial and

apparently in whatever amounts the taxpayers de-

sired. (R. 174.) In the third place, no notes were

given for the amounts received, no interest was
charged, and no security was given. (R. 174.) In

the fourth place, this practice continued for a period

of 22 years, and the net amount of withdrawals in-

creased steadily and in considerable amounts, total-

ling $78,235.60 by the end of 1956.^ (R. 174.) In the

fifth place, even though the Company's earned surplus

was in excess of $100,000 beginning in 1943, and

over $200,000 during the years involved, no formal

dividends were ever declared or paid, with the ex-

^ In an analogous situation, in Baird V. Commissioner,

supra, the Tax Court stated the following (p. 394) :

The fact that the individual debit balances were allowed

to mount steadily each year without any substantial re-

payment thereon for more than 20 years until they

reached a total net withdrawal balance of approxi-

mately $98,000 is inconsistent with an intent to borrow

and repay. * * * The tax saving which would result,

if petitioners' techniques were approved, is obvious, and

the motive is by the same token apparent. [Emphasis

added.]

See to the same effect, Regenshurg v. Commissioner, supra;

Roschuni V. Commissioner, supra.
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ception of a $587 dividend in 1946/ (R. 171.) In

the sixth place, there was no arrangement to repay

the ever-increasing balances in fixed amounts or at

a definite time in the future, nor did the Company, at

any time during Chism's life, take any steps to en-

force repayment. (R. 185.) Finally, repayments were

unsubstantial and sporadic, with no repayments at

all being made during the years in question. (R. 174.)

The foregoing, fully supported by the record, pre-

sents an overwhelming picture of the owners of a

family corporation siphoning off corporate earnings

for their own personal use without any plan of re-

imbursement.

Taxpayers' argument (Br. 14-30) that the with-

drawals were "loans" does not merit extended dis-

cussion. The balance in the drawing account was

paid in full by Chism's estate in 1959, but this was

done only after a revenue agent had suggested the

possibility of treating the withdrawals as dividends.

(R. 185-186.) It is the intention at the time the with-

drawals are made which is determinative {Clark v.

Commissioner, supra), and that intention cannot be

conveniently changed by subsequent events. Courts

view with a jaundiced eye the repayment of the al-

leged debts after an examination of the returns has

begun. See, Regensburg v. Commissioner, supra;

Roschuni v. Commissioner, supra; Baird v. Commis-

" The only other formal dividends paid in the history of the

Company were during 1936 and 1937 (R. 25), and these, ac-

cording to Mr. Walther (R. 77) were prompted by the un-

distributed profits tax in effect at that time.
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sioner, supra; Meyer v. Commissioner, supra; Con-

tinental Machine & Tool Corp. v. Commissioner, de-

cided April 25, 1962 (1962 P-H T.C. Memorandum
Decisions, par. 62,096).

The only evidence of an intention to repay is the

vague and inconclusive testimony of Mrs. Chism

(R. 102-103, 109), which falls far short of estab-

lishing a plan or intention of repaying. At most, the

record supports no more than a conclusion that tax-

payers "hoped to" (R. 103) repay the withdrawals,

although they did not have the money to do so. (R.

109). The absence of resources with which to repay

the withdrawals was held to be a relevant fact in the

Baird, Meyer, Regensburg and Marshall cases, supra.

The fact that the withdrawals were designated on

the Company's books and financial statements as loans

is not enough to establish the character of the with-

drawals (Clark V. Commissioner, supra), nor is it

significant that the withdrawals were not strictly

proportionate to stock holdings (Roschuni v. Com-

missioner, supra), especially since the stockholders

here are all in the same family.

The practice indulged in by the taxpayers, of con-

tinuously withdrawing amounts on open account over

a substantial period of time with an ever-increasing

balance, is readily recognized by the courts as " 'an

established method of dividend distribution' " in

closely held corporations. Regensburg v. Commis-

sioner, supra, p. 44.
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B. The Tax Court was not bound by the order of

the probate court

The fact that the Company's claim against Chism's

estate for the amount of the outstanding balance in

the withdrawal account was allowed by the probate

court of Washoe County, Nevada, as a debt of the

estate did not preclude the Tax Court from deciding

that, for federal tax purposes, the withdrawals should

be classified as dividends and not loans, because the

judgment of the Probate Court was not entered in a

bona fide adversary proceeding after a hearing on the

merits and because it was collusive in the sense that

the parties sought a decision which would adversely

affect the Government's right to additional income

taxes. This rule was succinctly stated by this Court

in Wolfsen v. Smyth, 223 F. 2d 111, 113-114:

This court recently held in Newiimn v. Com-
missioner of Internal Revenue, 222 F. 2d 131,

that an order of a state court that adversely

affects the tax right of the United States and

which is based upon a nonadversary proceeding,

does not foreclose the federal courts from deter-

mining the tax liability.

To the same effect, see Estate of Rainger v. Commis-

sioner, 183 F. 2d 587 (C.A. 9th), affirming per

curiam 12 T.C. 483.'

' See also, In re Sweet's Estate, 234 F. 2d 401, 404 (C.A.

10th), certiorari denied, 352 U.S. 878; Faulkerson's Estate

V. United States, 301 F. 2d 231 (C.A. 7th), certiorari de-

nied, 371 U.S. 887; Brainard V. Commissioner, 91 F. 2d 880,

883-884 (C.A. 7th), dismissed, 303 U.S. 665; Stallworth's

Estate V. Commissioner, 260 F. 2d 760, 763 (C.A. 5th)
;
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The claim filed on behalf of the Company was
signed by Mrs. Chism as secretary of the Company,

and was approved for repayment on behalf of the

estate by Mrs. Chism acting as executrix thereof.

(R. 185, Ex. 5.) The result is a classic example of

a consent decree. Moreover, since the claim was filed

after a revenue agent had examined the returns and

suggested the possibility of treating the withdrawals

as dividends (R. 185-186), it can reasonably be in-

ferred that the proceeding was "collusive in the sense

that all parties in effect * * * sought a decision which

would adversely affect the Government's right to addi-

tional income tax." Freuler v. Helvering, supra, p.

45; Wolfsen v. Smyth, supra, pp. 113-114.

None of the cases cited by the taxpayers (Br. 17-

29) support their contention that the Tax Court was

conclusively bound by the order of the probate court

(Ex. 5) which allowed as a debt the Company's claim

against Chism's estate for the balance shown in the

withdrawal account.

In Blair v. Commissioner, 300 U.S. 5, there was

an adversary proceeding on the merits between the

trustees and the beneficiary with no "basis for a

charge that the suit was collusive * * * " (p. 10).

In Freuler v. Helvering, 291 U.S. 35, 45, the Court

noted that "The decree purports to decide issues

regularly submitted and not to be in any sense a

Saulsbury v. United States, 199 F. 2d 578, 580 (C.A. 5th)

;

Regensburg V. Commissioner, supra; Cenedella V. United

States, 224 F. 2d 778 (C.A. 1st) ; Freuler V. Helvering, 291

U.S. 35.
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consent decree" and held further that the state court

proceedings were not ''collusive".

This Court's decision in Henricksen v. Baker-Boyer

Nat. Bank, 139 F. 2d 877 is not in point. There,

the state court decree, interpreting the meaning and

effect of a will, was rendered upon a consideration

of the merits in an adversary proceeding with no

evidence of collusion in the sense that the parties

sought to adversely affect the tax rights of the Gov-

ernment. The rule in this Circuit, which controls the

disposition of the instant case, is stated in the Wolfsen

and Rainger cases, supra, and in Newman v. Com-

missioner, 222 F. 2d 131 (C.A. 9th).

Taxpayers cite the Third Circuit case of Gallagher

V. Smith, 223 F. 2d 218, as authority for their con-

tention that the federal courts are conclusively bound

by decrees of inferior state courts "whether or not

they are adversary." (Br. 24.) We know of no re-

ported case which so holds and, moreover, it is clear

that the Third Circuit did not enunciate such a prin-

ciple of law. The Third Circuit expressly qualified

the language of its opinion as follows (pp. 224-225)

:

Whatever may be the case with respect to con-

sent decrees, however, it is clear that if the ques-

tion is fairly presented to the state court for its

independent decision and is so decided by the

court the resulting judgment if binding upon the

parties under the state law is conclusive as to

their property rights in the federal tax case,

regardless of whether they occupied adversary

positions in the state court or were all on the

same side of the question. [Emphasis added.]
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Furthermore, Gallagher does not hold that every non-

adversary proceeding in an inferior court, ipso factOy

forecloses any inquiry by the federal courts as to

the validity of the decree ; the court stated immediate-

ly following the above quotation (p. 225)

:

It is clear, as suggested by the Supreme Court

in the Freuler and Blair cases, that a state

judgment obtained by collusion to defeat a fed-

eral tax need not be given conclusive effect in a

suit in a federal court involving that tax. And
the nonadversary character of a state suit is un-

doubtedly relevant as evidence of such collusion.

[Emphasis added.]

Even under Gallagher, therefore, the Tax Court was

not conclusively precluded from determining the tax

liability involved here.

It is readily apparent that the claim against

Chism's estate was a mere afterthought and an ob-

vious attempt by taxpayers to extricate themselves

from the tax consequences of their past actions. Their

contention now, that the Tax Court was bound by

the order of the probate court, is unsupported by

authority.

To sum up, all that the taxpayers have come up

with to meet their affirmative burden of showing that

the Tax Court's decision is clearly erroneous is that

the net balance in the withdrawal account was paid

by Chism's estate after the revenue agent suggested

treating the withdrawals as dividends, some general

testimony by Mrs. Chism that she "hoped to" repay

the amounts, and the fact that the withdrawals were

designated as loans on the Company's books and
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financial statements. On the other hand, it would be

difficult to find a stronger array of relevant facts

than those recited by the court below to show that

the withdrawals were in fact the distribution of

earnings and profits of the corporation, and not loans.

II

The Assessment Against Taxpayers for the Year 1952

Was Not Barred By the Statute of Limitations

Under the 1939 Code, the Commissioner has three

years from the date the return is filed within which

to assess a deficiency. Sec. 275(a) of the 1939 Code,

supra. However, if the taxpayer omits from his re-

turn more than 25 percent of the gross income prop-

erly includible therein, then the Commissioner has

five years from the date the return is filed within

which to assess a deficiency. Sec. 275(c) of the 1939

Code, supra. In either case, the period of limitations

may be extended by written waiver executed by the

taxpayer within the statutory or any extended period

of limitation. See Section 276(b), supra.

The five-year period of limitations applies in the

instant case because the taxpayers omitted more

than 25 percent of their gross income from their

1952 return. (R. 188.) Furthermore, prior to the

expiration of the five-year period, Mrs. Chism, act-

ing both individually and as executrix of Chism's

estate, entered into a consent agreement with the

Commissioner under which the period for assessment

of the deficiency for the year 1952 was extended to

June 30, 1959. (R. 188-189, Ex. 6-D.) The Com-
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missioner's deficiency notice, issued on March 6, 1959

(R. 10, 27), was within the extended period and is

clearly not barred by the statute of limitations.

Azevedo v. Commissioner, 246 F. 2d 196 (C.A. 9th).

Taxpayers' argument (Br. 38-44) that the consent

signed by Mrs. Chism is invalid because it lacked

"mutuality" is without substance. A consent agree-

ment extending the time within which the Commis-

sioner may make an assessment also extends the time

within which a claim for refund may be filed provided

the consent is signed within the period prescribed

by Section 322(b)(1), supra, namely, within three

years from the time the return was filed or within

two years from the time the tax was paid, whichever

is later. See Sec. 322(b) (3) of the 1939 Code, supra.'

Since the consent was not filed prior to March 15,

1956 (three years from the date the return was filed),

but rather on November 13, 1957 (R. 27), the tax-

payers were not entitled to an extension of time

within which to file their refund claim for 1952.

There is no provision comparable to Section 322(b)

(3) for consents signed after the period of time

provided in Section 322(b) (1) ; taxpayers' argument

that there should be is best addressed to Congress

rather than the courts.

^ Here, the return is considered filed and the tax paid on

March 15, 1953. See Treasury Regulations 118 (1939 Code),

Sec. 39.322-7 (b).
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III

None of the Salary Received By Chism In 1952 and 1953

Is Excludable From Gross Income As Amounts Received

Under a Wage Continuation Plan

As noted above, the instant case involving Chism

and his wife was consolidated for purposes of trial

with a companion case involving the family-owned

corporation, i.e., the Chism Ice Cream Company.® In

the companion case, the Company sought, among other

things, to deduct the full amount of salary paid to

Chism during the years 1953 through 1956 on the

grounds that the amounts constituted reasonable com-

pensation or, in the alternative, that if some of the

salary was unreasonable, then all or part of the

excess salary was deductible as ''health insurance pay-

ments." (R. 166.) The Tax Court found that of the

salary paid, the following amounts were excessive

and not deductible, being, in essence, "informal

dividends" to Chism and his wife as stockholders (R.

171, 178, 179, 181):

1953 $ 4,000

1954 $ 9,400

1955 $12,210

1956 $12,210

The court also found (R. 175, 179) that the Com-

pany did not have a health insurance plan or a wage

continuation plan in effect during any of the tax

» Taxpayers' charge of an inconsistency in the Tax Court's

findings in that case is baseless on its face, since it recog-

nizes and quotes the court's distinction between formal divi-

dends and informal dividends (Br. 30-31) before attempting

to ignore that distinction (Br. 32).
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years involved and, accordingly, rejected the Com-

pany's alternative argument that the excessive com-

pensation was deductible as health insurance pay-

ments.

In the instant case, Chism and his wife contended

below that the withdrawals were excludable from

gross income either as loans or as health insurance

plan payments. The Tax Court held that the with-

drawals constituted informal dividends, rejecting tax-

payers' argument that they were excludable either

as loans or as health benefits.

Taxpayers now argue (Br. 44-48) that the Tax

Court's finding that the Company did not have a

health insurance plan or a wage continuation plan is

clearly erroneous, and that at least $5,200 of the

salary received by Chism in each of the years 1952

and 1953 should be excludable from gross income as

amounts received under a wage continuation plan.

This contention is without merit because the Tax

Court's finding that no plan existed is amply sup-

ported by the record.

For instance, none of the payments made to Chism

during the years involved were earmarked by the

Company for application to medical expenses. Nor

is there any indication on the Company's books or

elsewhere that the payments were made pursuant to

any health plan. (R. 174-175.) On the contrary, the

amounts were reflected on the Company books and

records as '^salary" (R. 24, Ex. 1-A) and deducted

as such on the Company's income tax returns (Ex.

8-F). Mr. Walther testified (R. 78) and the Tax

Court found (R. 175) that the employees of the
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Company were never notified or advised of the exist-

ence of a health or wage continuation plan, nor did

they have any right to demand benefits under any

such plan. If any rights existed, they could be varied

at will by management. (R. 78.)

To support their contention that a plan existed in

1952 and 1953, taxpayers argue (Br. 44) that the

Commissioner "conceded" the existence of a plan for

the years 1954 through 1956 because he failed to

disallow the deductions taken in those years for

amounts claimed to have been received under a wage

continuation plan. (See Ex. 7-E.) However, taxpayers

cite no authority, nor can any be found, for the

proposition that by accepting a tax return the Com-

missioner concedes the existence or accuracy of cer-

tain facts upon which the deductions are based. It is

well known that mere acceptance of or acquiscence in

tax returns for prior years creates no estoppel against

the Commissioner (Niles Bement Pond Co. v. United

States, 281 U.S. 357; Caldwell v. Commissioner, 202

F. 2d 112 (C.A. 2d)), nor does it preclude him from

reaching a different conclusion for the current year

either on questions of law or questions of fact (Auto-

mobile Club of Michigan v. Commissioner, 353 U.S.

180). The rationale of the estoppel cases precludes

the mere acceptance of tax returns from being con-

sidered a concession by the Commissioner.

Finally, the fact that the Company may have paid

half-time or full-time wages for limited periods to

some seven employees during its 27 years of existence

(see Ex. 9) does not elevate an apparently dis-
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cretionary policy to the dignity of a plan for federal

tax purposes. See Haynes v. United States, 353 U.S.

81, and Epmeier v. United States, 199 F. 2d 508

(C.A. 7th), for examples of informal plans prior to

the 1954 Code.

It is apparent from the record as a whole that

taxpayers here sought to siphon off the earnings of

their family-owned corporation in the form of salaries

and so-called ''loans,'^ in an attempt to reduce taxes,

both to the Company by means of a deduction for

salaries and to themselves by treating the withdrawals

as loans. Their argument now, that the
*

'informal

dividends" which they received in the form of ex-

cessive compensation and so-called "loans" were in

fact amounts received pursuant to a health or wage

continuation plan, is patently without substance.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the Tax Court is correct and should

be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

Louis F. Oberdorfer,

Assistant Attorney General.

Lee a. Jackson,

David 0. Walter,
Ralph A. Muoio,

Attorneys,

Department of Justice,

Washington 25, D. C.

March, 1963.
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and that, in my opinion, the foregoing brief is in full

compliance with those rules.
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To the Honorable William E. Orr, Frederick G. Hamley,

and James R. Browning, Circuit Judges:

Petitioners respectfully petition for a rehearinp; of the

jnd^nent entered by this Court against them on July

30, 1963.

The basis for this petition is tlie Court's error in

assuming, without supporting citations, that the operation

of Sections 22(a), I.R.C. 1939, and 61(a)(7), LR.C. 1954

are not ''dependent upon state law". (Op. 5). Upon this

faulty first premise, this Court has held that moneys

withdra^\^l under a binding legal obligation to repay them

under the law of Nevada could constitute taxable income

under federal law. But this is simply not so. Sections

22(a), I.R.C. 1939, and 61(a)(7), I.R.C. 1954, do not reach

funds received by a taxpayer under an obligation to repay

them. United States v. Kirhy Lumber Co. (1931), 284

U.S. 1, 52 S.Ct. 4; Woodsam Associates, Inc. v. Commis-

sioner (C.A. 2, 1952), 198 F.2d 357, 359; Commissioner v.

Gross (C.A. 2, 1956), 236 F.2d 612, 615, 618; Simon v. Com-

missioner (C.A. 3, 1960), 285 F.2d 422; Treasury Regula-

tions, §1.61-12(c). The only inroad that has been made

to this rule is in the case of embezzlers: for years they

too were sheltered from the incidence of Section 22(a),

I.R.C. 1939, because the embezzler 'Svas at all times

under an unqualified duty and obligation to repay the

money to his employer." Commissioner v. Wilcox (1946),

327 U.S. 404, 408, QQ S.Ct. 546, 549. In overruling the

Wilcox case the opinion of Chief Justice Warren for the

Supreme Court carefully excepted from the application

of the new rule for embezzlers any moneys received sub-

ject to a ''consensual" obligation to repay. The language

of the Court was simple: "i^ (the broad sweep of 'gross

income') excludes loans." (Emphasis ours). James v.

United States (1961), 366 U.S. 213, 219, 81 S.Ct. 1052, 1055.

But how do v;e determine whether or not funds have

been received as a loan? Do we look to federal law, as



this Court has stated (Op. 4-5), or do we look to state

law? We look to state law. Thus in Wilcox, supra, the

Supreme Court found that the embezzler Wilcox had re-

ceived no taxable income because '^ (u)nder Nevada law, the

crime of embezzlement was complete whenever an appro-

priation was made ; the employer was entitled to replevy the

money as soon as it was appropriated (citing Nevada

statutes) or to have it summarily restored by a magistrate

(citing Nevada statutes). The employer, moreover, at all

times held the taxpayer liable to return the full amount.

The debtor-creditor relationship was definite and uncondi-

tional." (Emphasis added). Wilcox, supra, 327 U.S. at

408, 66 S.Ct. at 549.

Sections 22(a) I.R.C. 1939 and 61(a)(7), I.R.C. 1954

establish no federal law of borrowing: an amount is

classed as income or loan under these sections depending

upon whether or not it is received subject to an obligation

under applicable state law to return it. The truth of this

principle is readily established. For example, since bor-

rowed funds are not income, the release of the obligation

to repay is income, at least to the extent of the increased

net worth of the debtor. See Section 61(a) (12), I.R.C.

1954 ; Treasury Regulations, § 1.61-12. See, also, Wiese

V. Commissioner (C.A. 8, 1938), 93 F.2d 921, cert. den.

304 U.S. 562, where the stockholder's withdrawals became

income only after the account receivable on the Company's

books was cancelled, not when the withdrawals were made.

But what is the nature of the obligation that must be

released before the proceeds of the borrowing become

taxable income? In Commissioner v. Jacohson (1949),

336 U.S. 28, 31, 69 S.Ct. 358, 360, the obligations in ques-

tion were "leasehold bonds" issued by an individual under

Illinois law. As long as these bonds were enforceable

against the individual taxpayer, the bond proceeds were

not taxable ; but as soon as they were surrendered for less

than face, the amount of the obligation forgiven became



income. And, see, Helvering v. American Chicle Co.

(1934), 291 U.S. 426, 54 S.Ct. 460. An exceptional illus-

tration of this principle can be found in Securities Co.

V. United States (S.D.N.Y. 1948), 85 F. Supp. 532; there

the face amount of three promissory notes became taxable

income to the maker when the New York statute of limit-

ations ran and the notes became unenforceable under

state law.

Another example of this rule is found in the area of

deductions for losses from bad debts under Sections

23(k), I.R.C. 1939, or 166, I.R.C. 1954. There, as in the

cases of Sections 22(a) and 61(a)(7), we find no "express

language making its operation dependent upon state law"

(Op. 5), yet the Commissioner has frequently been suc-

cessful in denying a deduction for a bad debt because no

valid debt had been created under state law. Julius G.

Day (1940), 42 B.T.A. 109, 111, atf 'd per curiam (C.A. 2,

1941) 121 F.2d 856. And, see, Putnam v. Commissioner

(1956), 352 U.S. 82, 85, 77 S.Ct. 175, 176 (footnote 8),

where the Supreme Court looked to the law of Iowa before

it determined the nature of an Iowa guarantor's loss

under the federal income tax law.

And, finally, we find that this Court itself has held that

the concept of "theft" in Section 23(e)(3), I.R.C. 1939

(and presumably also under Section 165(c), I.R.C. 1954)

is defined by state law although that section "contains

no express language making its operation dependent upon

state law." Vincent v. Commissioner (C.A. 9, 1955), 219

F.2d 228, 230.

Accordingly, the legal premise on which the decision of

this Court is based was without foundation. If the Court

meant to imply that the Nevada decree was not binding

because it established a legal obligation to repay only at

the time of death and not at the time of withdrawal (Op.

5), then the injustice done petitioners is just as great:



the Nevada Court could not have held the entry of the

pro'bate decree would cause a legal obligation to repay

to arise where none had previously existed. The binding

effect of the existence of the legal obligation under Nevada
law to repay relates as well to the date of withdrawal

as it does to the date of the entry of the decree.

To summarize our position on this petition for rehear-

ing, we find the following unfortunate situation to exist:

First, the Tax Court below assumed, correctly as the

foregoing authorities show, that taxable income could be

imputed to the Chisms only if they were not bound under

Nevada law to repay the amounts received. This conclu-

sion is shown by the examination made by the Tax Court

of all of the steps that were taken, or not taken, by the

parties to establish a valid debtor-creditor relationship

under the laws of Nevada, such as the making of book

entries, the failure to take a note, and the failure to

secure it by collateral (R. 173-174).

Second, the Tax Court below believed itself free to

weigh the facts of what the parties had done under Nevada

law despite a prior decree of a Nevada probate court on

this very question of whether or not a binding legal

obligation to repay had been created. The Tax Court felt

itself free to make such an inquiry because the probate

decree had been entered "in a nonadversary proceeding"

(R. 186).

Third, this Court has held, and we believe correctly,

that " (t)he Nevada probate court adjudication established

that the Chisms had a legal obligation to repay the with-

drawals that had been made." (Op. 5). Accordingly,

the Tax Court below was in error in not believing itself

bound by the prior Nevada court decree on the proper

interpretation of Nevada law.

Fourth, but this Court then stated that the Tax Court

below was correct in disregarding the Nevada probate



court decree because the existence of a legal obligation

under Nevada law to repay is not controlling on whether

or not income has been received for federal purposes

(Op. 4-5). In other words, the Tax Court below was

correct, but for the wrong reason : the question was not

whether or not the Chisms had an obligation to repay the

money under Nevada law, but whether or not they had

such an obligation under federal law.

Rehearing under these circumstances should be a matter

of right. Neither party to this case at trial or on appeal

argued any such contention; respondent strove mightily

to sustain the Tax Court's decision, but on the ground

that the Tax Court itself had placed it, namely, that the

decree was valueless because it was "nonadversary" (Res.

Br. 19-23). That being true, petitioners are faced with

the intolerable circumstance of having their appeal denied

upon newly conceived grounds upon which they have

never had their daj^ in Court. That these newly conceived

grounds for denying their appeal are suspect ought to

be self-evident since neither experienced government or

private counsel nor the learned trial judge below thought

to argue or rely on them.

CONCLUSION

A rehearing should be granted.

Respectfully submitted,

Valentine Brookes

Paul E. Anderson

Richard A. Wilson

Attorneys for Petitioners

Of Counsel:

Kent and Brookes
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No. 1820 6

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

TRENNIS K. LILE,

Petitioner,

vs.

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

BRIEF FOR PETITIONER

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a petition for review filed pursuant to provisions

of §25a of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U. S. C. 78-Y).

The petitioner, Trennis K. Lile, an individual, was named as a

cause of an order of revocation hereinafter discussed in proceedings

which were instituted before the Securities and Exchange Commis-

sion. The proceedings were instituted pursuant to §§ 15 (b) and

15 A (1) (2) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 by order

of the Commission dated June 30, 1958, as amended, to determine

whether to revoke the registration of J. Logan & Co. as a broker-

dealer, whether to suspend or expel it from membership in the

National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. , and whether the
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petitioner Trennis K. Lile, among others, was a cause of any order

of revocation, suspension, or expulsion, if entered. Hearings were

held in Los Angeles during 1959 and 1960. The Transcript of the

proceedings comprise nine volumes.

On April 28, 1961 a recommended decision was filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission by the Hearing Exam.iner

James G. EwelL

On July 9, 1962 the Commission issued its Findings and

Opinion and on the basis of said Findings and Opinion issued order

that the registration as a broker-dealer of J. Logan & Co. , be

revoked and that said J. Logan & Co. be expelled from membership

in the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. and further

ordering that the petitioner, Trennis K. Lile, among others, was

a cause of the Commission's order. The order of the Commission

was filed on July 9, 1962 but was not entered. Prior to entry of

the order, to wit, on or about September 10, 1962 petitioner filed

his petition for review before the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit. This Court's jurisdiction accordingly rests

upon 15 U.S. C. 78-Y.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a petition for review brought by petitioner, Trennis

K. Lile, who is named as a cause of an order of revocation of the

registration as a broker and dealer in securities of J. Logan & Co.

and of the expulsion from the National Association of Securities
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Dealers, Inc. of said J. Logan & Co. and further holding that

petitioner was a cause of said order of revocation and expulsion

which order was made by the Securities & Exchange Commission

on July 9, 1962.

The practical effect of the Commission order is to prevent

any further employment of petitioner by any licensed broker-dealer

registered with the National Association of Securities Dealers

throughout the United States.

The order for proceedings, as amended, alleges in substance

that between October 1, 1953 and January 1, 1958, J. Logan & Co.

and its officers and employees, wilfully violated the anti-fraud

provisions of §17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 and §§ 10(b) and

15(c) (1) of the Exchange Act (Tr. Vol. IX, pp. 5948 to 5954). It

was alleged that the registrant and its officers and employees

obtained money and other property from customers by means of

misrepresentations and omissions of material facts and by engaging

in a course of dealings which operated as a fraud and deceit upon

said customers. The order further alleged that J. Logan & Co.

and the petitioner, who was a salesman, induced trading in the

accounts of customers which was excessive in number and frequency

and that by means of representations to said customers induced

them to place full trust and confidence in registrant and the petitioner,

among others, and further to believe that they were receiving

impartial advice and that the registrant and petitioner, among

others, would act in the best interest of such customers in connec-

tion with the purchase and sale of securities. The order further
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alleges that contrary to the best interest of said customers and in

violation of the trust and confidence imposed therein, petitioner

and others induced such customers to engage in an excessive number

of transactions for both purchase and sale, failed to disclose the

adverse interest of J. Logan & Company in such transactions when

acting as dealer or principal. The order further alleges that

petitioner and others made conflicting and inconsistent recommen-

dations to various customers to stimulate transactions for both

purchases and sales without disclosing that the advice given to one

or more customers was inconsistent with the advice given to others.

A. The Facts of This Case As They
Apply To Petitioner.

The record in this case consists of in excess of 5, 000 pages

of testimony. Witnesses called numbered approximately 50 and

there were approximately 120 documentary exhibits admitted into

evidence.

Hearings commenced on April 7, 1959 and petitioner was

present during the testimony of one Olive T. Sands, one of his alleged

customers (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 193-235). Petitioner was not repre-

sented by counsel at the time. He did, however, examine the

witness Sands and a further witness, Paul Sands, her brother, who

was not a customer (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 230-233; 247).

Petitioner was also present on April 8, 1959 when John T.

Sinette, Jr. , another witness, testified. He was not represented
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by counsel but did question the witness briefly (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 365-

3 68). Thereafter he did not appear nor was represented by counsel.

Subsequently, to wit, on or about September 30, 1960, petitioner

was notified that the hearings had been concluded and that the re-

commended decision of the Hearing Examiner was due on November

17, 1960. On October 4, 1960 petitioner wrote to the Securities

and Exchange Commission in which he notified the Commission that

he was not an attorney and was unfamiliar with Commission proce-

dures. He further notified the Commission that J. H. Logan,

President of J. H. Logan & Co. had instructed him that the hearings

were only against the company and that individual salesmen such

as himself would have a hearing at a later date. He further advised

the Commission that his presence at the hearing was intended to

be of help to Mr. Logan and he did not believe that the proceedings

were intended to present charges against him as an individual

(Tr. Vol. IX, pp. 6246-6248).

Petitioner immediately thereafter engaged an attorney at

law, one Alexander Googoogian, of Los Angeles, California, who

made a formal request to the Commission on behalf of petitioner

to reopen the proceedings against petitioner for the purpose of

receiving testimony in his defense or in the alternative that peti-

tioner be granted the right to submit affidavits and evidence in

support of his position which affidavits would set forth defensive

matters as to the charges made against petitioner (Tr. Vol. IX,

p. 6293). An answer on behalf of the Division of Trading was filed

in opposition to petitioner's request to reopen the record on

5.





Novembers, 1960 (Tr. Vol. IX, p. 6297). On December 7, 1960,

the Commission formally denied petitioner's request to reopen the

record (Tr. Vol. IX, p. 6301).

The Hearing Examiner concluded that the evidence over-

whelmingly established that J. Logan & Co. , together with petitioner

Lile and others, engaged in acts, practices and a course of business

which would, and did, operate as a fraud and deceit upon their

customers.

The Hearing Examiner determined that there was substantial

evidence in the record showing that petitioner did the following:

1. Instigated a series of cross -trading transactions

between two customers, namely, Reynolds and Hulbush.

2. Had engaged in excessive trading.

3. He effected several transactions without authorization

for customers Sinette, Hauhart and Olive Sands.

4. He made a false statement to "customer" Paul Sands

that J. Logan & Co. had a research budget of $800, 000. 00.

The examiner concluded that petitioner participated in the

misrepresentations and "churning" activities of J. Logan & Co.

and that thereby he wilfully violated the anti-fraud provisions.

The Commission sustained the findings of the Hearing Exa-

miner and ruled that the record supported the findings as to petitioner.

The facts in the record as to these transactions are as

follows:

1. Olive Sands : Olive Sands did not become a customer

of J. Logan & Company and was involved in one sale of stock by
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petitioner which was cancelled immediately upon her request. She

at no time relied on the advice of petitioner but relied entirely on

the advice of her brother Paul Sands who was not a customer of J.

Logan & Company (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 194-234).

2. Paul Sands: Paul Sands was never a customer of

J. Logan & Company or of petitioner. He had a discussion with

petitioner with reference to the cancellation by his sister of the

one transaction negotiated on her behalf by petitioner (Tr. Vol. I,

pp. 241-247).

3. John T. Sinette, Jr . He was a customer of J. Logan

& Company and of a salesman by the name of Wagner for a consid-

erable period prior to any transaction with petitioner. When Wagner

left J. Logan & Company his account was assigned to petitioner.

In a telephone conversation with petitioner Sinette advised

petitioner that he had a number of securities which he wanted to

sell and he further advised petitioner that he was uncertain about

the condition of the market at that time (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 311-323).

Petitioner recommended to him generally that he should invest

in mutual funds. The witness stated that he agreed to let J. Logan

& Company sell his listed securities and his over-the-counter

securities because petitioner told him that no commissions would

be charged. When his securities were sold per his instructions,

he discovered that he had been charged a commission for two

securities which were listed stock. Under the rules of the New

York Stock Exchange commissions could not be waived. He com-

plained of this to petitioner and through petitioner's efforts the
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Commissions were absorbed by J. Logan & Company. He also

questioned the fairness of the prices paid him on his over-the-

counter stock. There was no evidence in the record that J. Logan

& Company charged him any mark-up in excess of the customary

5% permitted by NASD. He stated that he had not been advised that

J. Logan & Company was a principal in this transaction as respects

his securities, all of which were, except as noted above, sold in the

over-the-counter market. He did, however, receive confirmation

tickets evidencing the disclosure of the fact that J. Logan & Co.

had acted as principal (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 354-367).

4. Margaret Hulbush : Mrs. Hulbush was a real estate

broker. Petitioner made several purchases and sales for her

between December 26, 1956 and July 10, 1957. The Commission

elicited testimony to the effect that on December 26, 1956 there

was a purchase of certain stock and a sale of other stock. Then

on July 10, 1957, there was another purchase of certain stock

and a sale of other stock. There was no discussion between peti-

tioner and Mrs. Hulbush as to what transaction, if any, he had

negotiated with other customers respecting the same securities

involved in these transactions (Tr. Vol. V, pp. 3143-3153).

5. Jean Reynolds: She testified that she had holdings

of the value of approximately $57, 000. 00 when she first discussed

her securities business with petitioner in 1956. For a period of

a little over a year petitioner handled her account. During

December, 1956 petitioner recommenced that she sell certain

shares of stock and purchase with the proceeds therefrom other
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shares of stock. Thereafter on July 7, 1957 petitioner recommended

that she again sell certain stock and purchase other stock with the

proceeds. Petitioner did not disclose to her his transactions with

other customers of J. Logan & Company made at the same time

with respect to the same securities (Tr. Vol. VI, pp. 3268-3329).

6. Hertha Hauhart : She testified that her dealings with

the J. Logan & Connpany were through a salesman named Sarafian.

Petitioner called her on one occasion on behalf of Sarafian with

respect to a proposed purchase by her of a certain security. This

security was ordered on her behalf by Sarafian in the belief that

she had accepted the transaction. She later denied that she had

approved the transaction and it was cancelled by J. Logan & Company

at no cost to her (Tr. Vol. IV, pp. 1265-1349).

During the proceedings before the Commission petitioner

appeared briefly, as hereinabove noted. He was not represented

by counsel at any stage of the proceedings and was laboring under

the belief that the proceedings concerned J. Logan & Company

exclusively. He did not grasp the significance of the proceedings

insofar as he was concerned until the hearings were concluded, at

which time he engaged counsel and through counsel petitioned for

an opportunity to submit additional evidence and to explain the

evidence heretofore introduced against him. In his motion prepared

by counsel, he requested an opportunity to testify in his own behalf.

Counsel for the Commission opposed the petition to reopen and the

Commission formally denied the petition on December 7, 1960

(Tr. Vol. IX, pp. 6246-6301).
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SPECIFICATION OF ERRORS RELIED ON

1. The findings and conclusion of the Securities and

Exchange Commission that petitioner is a cause of the order of

revocation of the registration as a broker and dealer in securities

of J. Logan & Company, and of its expulsion from membership

in the NASD is not supported by substantial evidence and is contrary

to law.

2. The order of the Commission denying petitioner's

leave to reopen the proceedings for the purpose of receiving testi-

mony in his defense should be set aside in the interest of justice

and petitioner afforded an opportunity to present his defense.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether a salesman should be found the cause of an

order of revocation and as a practical matter be barred from future

activity as a security salesman merely because in isolated trans-

actions he has recommended the sale of a security to one customer

and the purchase of the same security to another customer.

2. Whether a salesman can be so barred from future

activity as a security salesman merely because in connection with

a particular account there are 96 transactions in the period of a year

and a half.

3. Whether a salesman can be so barred from future

activity as a security salesman merely because there were a few
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isolated instances in which customers claimed that their orders

were incorrectly executed and in each instance the wishes of the

customers were promptly complied with at no financial loss to the

customer.

4. Whether a salesman can be so barred from future

activity as a security salesman merely because of the testimony of

a non-customer accusing the salesman of having made a fantastically

exaggerated statement of the research activities of his company in

the securities field.

5. Whether a salesman can be so barred from future

activity as a security salesman merely because it has been shown

that there was serious misconduct on the part of the company he

was associated with and some of its officers and salesmen without

a further showing of his individual participation or knowledge of the

wrongdoing of the others.
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ARGUMENT

I

THE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSION OF THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
NAMING PETITIONER A CAUSE OF THE
ORDER OF REVOCATION IS NOT SUPPORTED
BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND IS CON-

TRARY TO LAW.

A. Petitioner Did Not Commit A
Fraudulent Act In His Recom-
mendation Of The Sale Of A
Security To Customer And The
Purchase Of The Same Security
To Any Other Customer.

The evidence in the proceedings before the Commission

disclosed that petitioner on two occasions, namely, December,

1956 and July, 1957 took inconsistent positions in connection with

certain securities wherein one customer sold securities and another

customer purchased the same securities (Tr. Vol. VI, pp. 3 283-

3286; Vol. V pp. 3144-3155). As a result of these transactions

the Hearing Officer concluded that petitioner wilfully violated the

anti-fraud provisions by misrepresentations in giving inconsistent

recommendations to the customers solely in order to stimulate

transactions for both purchases and sales (Tr. Vol. IX, pp. 6364-

6366).

It is a rule of law that one who asserts fraud has the burden

of proving it by clear and convincing evidence.
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U.S. V. Thompson (10th Circuit). 279 F. 2d 165, 167

Fraud cannot be founded on vague, doubtful, uncertain and

inconclusive evidence or upon mere suspicion or conjecture.

U.S. V. Hancock , 133 U.S. 193, 33 L. ed. 601;

Hoffman v. Overbey . 137 U.S. 465, 34 L. ed. 754.

As was said in 24 Am. Jur. Fraud & Deceit, at page 121:

"No issue, whether it is one of fraud -!' * '^ -^

or of other fact, may be decided or determined upon

evidence which is speculative or inconclusive. "

The attorney for the Division of Trading conceded that the

evidence he was offering during the proceedings as to violation of

the anti-fraud provisions of the Exchange Act by petitioner and

others was inconclusive, except for its cumulative effect. He said

as to the inconsistent recommendations of buying and selling:

"If this happened once or twice or ten times it

probably would be meaningless. We are offering it for

its cumulative effect. " (Tr. Vol. VII, p. 4271).

As to petitioner there were only two instances proven and

by his own standards, this evidence against petitioner is meaning-

less. There is no evidence in the record that petitioner in the

two instances, did not act in the best interests of the particular

customer involved. There was nothing in the record that showed

an ulterior motive in the conduct of petitioner with respect to both

the Reynolds and Hulbush transactions. Absent evidence showing
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fraudulent design and purpose or a motive of profit on the part of

petitioner regardless of his fiduciary obligation to these customers,

the Commission and the Hearing Examiner had no reasonable basis

for an inference of wrong -doing.

It is very easy for the Commission to argue that the record

substantiates an abundance of wrong-doing on the part of J. Logan

& Co. and at the same time make use of this testimony of divers

activities to implicate petitioner and to ascribe to him evil motives.

But this is not fair play as against petitioner. Nor can we say that

it necessarily follows that because there was active misrepresenta-

tion of others in the company that petitioner's activities should

necessarily be given the same inference of wrong-doing as ascribed

to others.

As a matter of fact the S. E. C. has been cautioned in decisions

of the courts not to take such a wholesale, unguarded and all

encompassing criterion of wrong in its efforts to deal with so-called

"boiler room" operations of security dealers. As recently as 1961,

the Second Circuit Court of Appeals in Berko v. S. E. C. 297 F. 2d

116, remanded an order of the S. E. C. finding a salesman a cause

of revocation of a broker-dealer registration because the Commission

had acted without adequate basis in its finding as to the particular

salesman. Petitioner in the instant case was not a director of the

brokerage firm or a principal or an officer in authority. He was

simply a salesman hired to do a job. His case had to be judged on

its own merits and restraint was required on the part of the zealous

representatives of the Commission to guard against unfair and
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hurtful accusations without adequate reasons therefor. Berko v.

S. E. C. , supra , was a petition to review an order of the S. E. C.

finding petitioner a cause of revocation of broker-dealer registration.

The Court of Appeals held that the revocation order based on the

ground that the petitioner, without adequate basis, predicted to

customers that certain stock would rise in value, lacked sufficient

clarity to enable the court to make a considered judgment without

substituting its own findings. The case was thereupon remanded

for further consideration by the Commission. Said the court at

page 117:

"We applaud the efforts of the Commiission in

seeking better means of dealing with 'boiler room'

operations and agree fully with the thrust of the last

quoted statement. This statement would appear to be

sufficient to condemn a brokerage firm or those in

control.

"The present case, however, involves the

liability of an employee of the firm who exercised

no control over its operations and apparently did not

engage in a continuous course of fraudulent conduct. "

The Court of Appeals was faced with the same problem as

in the Berko case in Kahn v. S. E. C . , 2nd Circuit, 297 F. 2d 112,

where it again remanded to the Commission for further hearings

where the Commission found a salesman a cause of revocation of

a broker-dealer license. Here, too, the Court of Appeals said that
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the so-called wrong-doing of the salesman would have to be spelled

out with clarity and particularity and could not be predicated on a

course of practice adopted by and subscribed to by the brokerage

firm hiring the salesman or those in control.

An examination of the record in the instant case will compel

the conclusion that petitioner was found a cause without full and

complete examination of the facts. Indeed, the Commission did not

feel it necessary in the case of customer Reynolds and Hulbush,

to go beyond the fact that one customer sold and one customer

bought about the same time and the same stock and the fact that

this was not disclosed to the individual customer.

There was no showing by the Commission that it is the

practice of the Trade to discuss with one customer the activity

of another. There was no showing that the advice was not given

in the best interest of either or both customers.

Different customers have inconsistent investment objectives

and inconsistent needs.

Fraud could readily have been proven had the Commission

shown that petitioner had represented a specific fact to one customer

and at the same time represented to another customer that the

same fact was not true. But this test was not met.

A stock can be a good investment for one customer and a

poor one for another.

Transactions are often motivated by cash needs, income

tax objectives, need for balancing portfolios and desire to switch

to specific securities, all of which are personal and strictly
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confidential to the customer and which the customer does not wish

to have publicized to third parties.

In sum, as respects petitioner's dealings with customers

Reynolds and Hulbush it cannot be said that there is substantial

evidence in the record rebutting the presumption that petitioner

Lile used his judgment as to each transaction in consideration for

the needs of each customer and that in his dealings with Reynolds

and Hulbush he was motivated by an honest intention on his part

to carry out the particular needs of the customer. A finding of

fraud in his dealings with Reynolds and Hulbush is clearly an

unwarranted inference on the part of the Commission.

B. The Record Does Not Show That
Petitioner Actively Engaged In

A Practice of "Churning" Accounts
Allegedly Practiced By J. Logan & Co.

The Hearing Examiner and the Commission both agreed

from an examination of the record that petitioner was guilty of

joining in an accepted practice by J. Logan & Co. of "churning"

of accounts and of excessive trading.

Of all the customers whom petitioner serviced during the

period he was a salesman of J. Logan & Co. , he is held in the

record to have excessively traded only the account of customer

Reynolds.

On this issue of excessive trading the Commission offered

the testimony of Thomas Kelly, an employee of the S. E. C. He
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testified that he examined the security ledger of J. Logan & Co. for

the period from 1953 to 1957 and that as a result of his findings he

compiled a record which was introduced in evidence as Division's

Exhibit 98 (Tr. Vol. VII, pp. 4263-4266.

Witness Kelly admitted he made only a spot check and testi-

fied as follows:

"I went through the security ledger and as I saw

them I listed some down and when I thought I had enough

I stopped. " (Tr. Vol. VII, p. 4263).

Under examination by the Hearing Examiner the following

colloquy ensued:

"Examiner Ewell: One other question. Your

exhibit or your compilation is not related particularly

to any specific period except that it is within the over

all period.

"The Witness: That is right, yes.

"Examiner Ewell: -- covered by the Commis-

sion's order to proceed.

"The Witness: Yes, sir.

"Examiner Ewell: October 1, '53 to January 1,

'58, I think it is.

"The Witness: Yes, it is. The latest transaction

in here is in '57.

"Examiner Ewell: Let me ask you this. You

skipped around and what you attempted to do was to
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put down transactions which appeared to you to be

worthy of compilation in this exhibit.

"The Witness: That is correct. I just took

certain ledgers, and I just looked down through the

ledger through the page and where I saw two trades

on or about the same date, one a buy and one a sell,

both were customers; then I jotted them down on here.

I have the actual letters that I looked at in the security

ledgers. "

When the witness was asked as to whether or not he made

any further investigations as to whether or not the firm was main-

taining a position in the securities which he put down in the exhibit

he answered that he did not. He merely looked down the page and

when he saw a trade-in and trade-out between customers he paid

no attention as to whether or not there was a position in the stock

(Tr. Vol. VII, p. 4288).

A finding of fraud as against petitioner must be supported

by substantial evidence in the record and cannot be based upon

inferences of the activities of others.
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C. The Evidence Presented By Witnesses
Olive Sands, Paul Sands, John T.
Sinette, Jr. And Hertha Hauhart Does
Not Justify His Being Named A Cause
In The Revocation Proceedings Against

J. Logan & Co.

As hereinabove noted the record in this case encompasses

8 volumes of testimony. Miss Reynolds and Miss Hulbush testified

that petitioner actively handled their accounts and guided their

investment activities over an extended period. The other witnesses

against petitioner testified to at best only incidental contacts with

petitioner.

Olive Sands never became a customer of petitioner and she

stated for the record that her brother Paul Sands was her security

advisor (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 195-199).

After several discussions over a period of a month, petitioner

persuaded her to sell certain stock she held and to purchase other

stock.

When she consulted with her brother and he advised her to

refuse the stock allegedly purchased, she demanded and received

an immediate cancellation of the order. She objected, however,

to a $60. 00 charge which petitioner informed her was a cashiering

charge because he had to buy back the stock for her that had been

sold (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 199-212, 232). The most that could be said

of her testimony is that there had been a misunderstanding and it

had been resolved entirely to her satisfaction without loss, pecuniary

or otherwise, to her.
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The witness, Paul Sands, her brother, never was a customer

of petitioner and never intended to purchase or sell any stock through

petitioner. He merely inquired of the transaction had with his

sister. He was an obviously biased witness. It is on his unsubstan-

tiated testimony that petitioner claimed an $800, 000. 00 research

budget of J. Logan & Co. which the Commission sought fit to

ascribe as a fraudulent misrepresentation by petitioner to a customer.

The witness admitted on cross -exannination that he had trouble

with his hearing and was somewhat confused as to the statement

allegedly made by petitioner Lile (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 241-249).

The witness John T. Sinette, Jr. 's testimony discloses

that he had been a customer of J. Logan & Co. long before he had

been contacted by petitioner, having had many dealings with a sales-

man named Wagner. The witness Sinette himself desired to sell

certain securities held by him and, in fact, personally initiated a

sales transaction made on his behalf by petitioner. The witness

testified that he was not imposed upon by petitioner or anyone

else, that he was well versed in the affairs of the market, that he

subscribed to Barron's and the Wall Street Journal. His only

complaint was the prices he paid for the stock which was sold for

him. (Most of this stock was over-the-counter stock, except for

two listed securities. ) He did receive confirmations of his sales

disclosing J. Logan & Co. as a principal. The commissions paid

were reinbursed him to placate him (Tr. Vol. I, pp. 311-354).

The witness testified at page 367:

"I understood that there would be no charge for
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the sale. Now, my knowledge was rather limited I

must admit. "

He further stated on page 369:

"-!< ;:< >;c I did not feel that I could definitely

prove I had been taken advantage of. "

A broker-dealer cannot be held guilty of "churning" an

account where the transactions are initiated by the customer.

Carr v. Warner, 137 Fed. Supp. 615.

The Commission does not deny that petitioner was a salesman

and not a maker of policy in the company. There is no evidence that

petitioner knew what other people were doing in the company. It

was incumbent upon the Commission to show that petitioner's

dealings with his customers resulted in excessive trading and so-

called "churning" and the testimony by the witness Kelly did not

fulfill this burden. Where one's nnotive or intent is at issue events

of a similar nature mius t be by the party charged with the Commis-

sion of the particular act in order to be competent evidence. Cer-

tainly acts of other parties is not admissible without a showing of

a conspiracy which was not pleaded or proved in this case.

20 Am. Jur. p. 278, Evidence, §302.

There is a complete absence of evidence to rebut the

presumption of good faith and fair dealing on the part of petitioner

in the trading activity he conducted for his customer Jean Reynolds.

The court in S. E. C. v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc . ,

(2d Circuit) 300 F. 2d 745, stated that each case must be judged
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upon its particular facts after a full and fair hearing and not upon

unwarranted inferences.

Justice Clark, Circuit Judge, in his concurring opinion for

remand in both the Kahn and Berko cases, supra, points out at 297

F. 2d, page 115, that the Commission cannot solely rely on the so-

called "shingle" theory of implied fair dealing (which theory is

set out in Hughes v. S. E. C. (2d Circuit), 139 F. 2d 434, cert. den.

321 U. S. 786) when it condemns the "boiler room" activities of a

securities company, but the Commission must go further and connect

a salesman explicitly with such activities . The record in the instant

case is replete with generalities and offers myriad instances of

suggested wrongdoing by others with no connection whatsoever

of petitioner directly with the alleged fraudulent practices.

In their appraisal of the testimony given by witness Hauhart

against petitioner, the Commission and the Hearing Examiner

both concluded that there had been fraudulent activity on the part

of petitioner. The record shows that she was also the regular

customer of another salesman named Sarafian who had been named

as a cause in the order of revocation. Petitioner's alleged connec-

tion with her involved his calling her on behalf of Sarafian with

reference to the purchase by her of certain stock. She agreed to

the purchase and subsequently received a confirmation of same.

When asked about the purchase which she felt had been pressured

upon her she stated as follows:

"And what did you say to that?

"Well I think I just accepted it. " (Tr. Vol. IV, p. 1300)
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Under cross-examination the witness admitted that she had

dealt in grain speculation for several years and admitted that where

there had been previous misunderstanding she had cancelled an

order at no cost to herself and was well able to cancel the order

allegedly placed for her by petitioner (Tr. Vol. IV, p. 1323).

The following is noteworthy:

"Q. Mrs. Hauhart, you cancelled the trans-

action, the second one that you had with the firm, did

you not?

"A. Yes.

"Q. And you didn't ask for a cancellation

on the other transactions, yet knowing that you could

do so if you wanted to.

"A. I was taken too much by surprise. * '1^= *"

The testimony of the foregoing witness, it is submitted,

fails to meet the test of substantiality such as to justify the depriva-

tion by petitioner of his good name and of his right to livelihood

in the securities field, on the charge of making unauthorized sales,

for this transaction was obviously ratified.
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CONCLUSION

Petitioner has been found guilty of serious charges of fraud

on evidence which is speculative and unsubstantial. The penalty

imposed upon petitioner is without question unwarranted by the

evidence and should be set aside.

There was no proof in the proceedings showing fraudulent

conduct participated in by petitioner. Absent such proof, there is

nothing to indicate in this record that petitioner intended anything

but maximum profits for his client and prospective client.

The findings and conclusions of the S. E. C. as to petitioner,

it is respectfully urged, should be set aside; or, in the alternative,

the proceedings should be remanded to the Commission to take

further evidence and thereby to permit petitioner to present testimony

in his defense.

Respectfully submitted,

FIZZOLIO & FIZZOLIO and
ALBERT VIERI

By /s/ James M. Fizzolio
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

No. 18,206

TRENNIS K. LILE,

Petitioner

V.

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,

Respondent

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDING

Petitioner, Trennis K. Lile, is seeking review pursuant to

Section 25(a) of the Securities Exchange Act o£ 1934, 13 U.S.C. 78y(a),

of an order of the Securities and Exchange Commission entered under

Sections 15(b) and 13A of the Act, 15 U.S.C. 78o(b) and 78o-3. The
1/

Coomission's order (R, 6455) revoked the registration of J. Logan

& Co. ("the company*') as a broker and dealer in securities, expelled

the company from men^ership in the National Association of Securities

Dealers, Inc., and found that certain persons, including petitioner who

was a salesman for the company, were each a cause of the revocation and

expulsion. In its Findings and Opinion (R. 6441-6454) the Commission

y "R. '• refers to the record on review, and "Br. " refers to

petitioner's brief.
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held that the company, together with or aided and abetted by certain of

its officers and salesmen, had willfully violated the antifraud provisions

of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. 77q(a) , of

Sections 10(b) and 15(c)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

15 U.S.C. 78j(b) and 78o(c)(l), and of Rules lOb-5 and 15cl-2 thereunder,

17 CFR 240.10b-5 and 240.15cl-2. Petitioner seeks to have this Court set
2/

aside the Commission's order as to him or, in the alternative, to remand

the case to the Commission for the taking of additional evidence in his

defense.

CCMhaSSION'S MOTION TO DISMISS PETITION FOR REVIEW

When the petition for review was filed in this Court, the Commission

moved to dismiss it on the grounds (1) that this Court lacks jurisdiction

because petitioner did not file the petition within the statutory 60-day

filing period and (2) that petitioner, by his failure to file exceptions

to the hearing examiner's recommended decision, did not exhaust his adminis-

trative remedies. Following argument on the Commission's motion before a

panel consisting of Judges Chambers, Pope and Barnes and the subsequent

filing of supplemental briefs at the Court's request, the Court on January

31, 1963, ordered that further consideration of the Commission's motion be

postponed until the argument and submission of the case on the merits.

2/ A petition for review filed by another person who was named as a cause

in the Commission's order is pending before this Court in Harsh

V. Securities and Exchange Commission , No. 18,190.





Although the Commission still urges that the petition for review

be dismissed, we will not repeat in this brieT our arguments in support

of che motion to dismiss. Instead, we refer the Court to our Memorandum

of Points and Authorities in Support of Respondent's Motion to Dismiss

Petition for Review and to our Supplemental Memorandum In Support of

Motion to Dismiss Petition for Review.

STATUTES AND RULES INVOLVED

[This section, except for the final paragraph, is identical

to the corresponding section of our brief in Hersh

V. Securities and Exchange Commission , No, 18,190, filed

herewith.

]

Pertinent provisions of the relevant statutes and rules thereunder

are set forth in the Appendix hereto (pp. la et seq. , infra )

.

The Securities Exchange Ace of 1934, as part of federal legislation

for the protection of investors, was enacted, as set forth in its preamble:

"To provide for the regulation of securities exchanges

and of over-the-counter markets . . . [and] to prevent

inequitable and unfair practices on such exchanges and

markets. ..."

To carry out this purpose, the Act provides a comprehensive scheme of

registration and regulation of national securities exchanges and their

members as well as for the registration and regulation of brokers and

dealers doing business through interstate media otherwise than on a national

securities exchange, i.e. . the so-called over-the-counter market.
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Section 15(a) of the Act prohibits any broker or dealer from using

the mails or any means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce to

effect transactions in securities without prior registration with the

Commission pursuant to Section 15(b) of the Act (except for certain

exemptions not involved here)

•

Section 15(b) requires the denial or revocation of such registration

if the Commission finds, after notice and opportunity for hearing, that

such denial or revocation is in the public Interest and that a broker

or dealer, or a person controlled by it, has willfully violated any

provision of the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of

3/

1934, or rules thereunder.

Section 15A of the Securities Exchange Act provides for cooperative

self-regulation of the over-the-counter securities industry through registra-

tion with the Commission of national securities associations composed of

brokers and dealers in securities. The National Association of Securities

Dealers, Inc., is thus far the only association registered under Section 15A.

Section 15A(j.)(2) authorizes the Commission, after notice and opportunity

for hearing, to expel from a registered securities association any member

thereof who the Commission finds has violated any provision of the

Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Act, or rules thereunder, if such

action appears to the Commission to be necessary or appropriate in the

public interest or for the protection of investors or to carry out the

3/ This Court reviewed an order denying registration under Section 15(b)

in Pierce v. Securities and Exchange Commission , 239 F. 2d 160 (1956).
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y
purposes of Section 15A.

Both the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act contain

specific antifraud provisions. Section 17(a) of the Securities Act and

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act, as implemented by Rule lOb-5

under the latter provision, make unlawful the use of the mails or inter-

state facilities by any person in connection with the offer or sale of

any security by means of a device, scheme or artifice to defraud, an

untrue or misleading statement of a material fact, any act, practice or

course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon

any person, or by means of any other manipulative or deceptive device.

Section 13(c)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act specifically prohibits such

conduct by brokers or dealers and authorizes the Commission, by regulations,

to define such devices as are manipulative, deceptive, or otherwise

fraudulent

.

Section 15A(b)(4) of the Securities Exchange Act, pursuant to which

the finding was made that petitioner was a "cause" of the order of revocation

and expulsion, operates to prevent any broker or dealer who employs such a

4/ Under Section 15A(b)(8) such an association may also expel or otherwise

discipline its members. In Samuel B. Franklin & Co. v. Securities and

Exchange Commission , 290 F. 2d 719 (1961). certiorari denied , 368 U.S.

889 (1961), this Court reviewed an order of the Commission affirming

disciplinary action by the National Association of Securities Dealers

against one of its members.
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person from being admitted to or continued in membership in the National

Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., or any other such registered

association, unless the Commission otherwise gives its approval or

5/
direction in cases where it is deemed appropriate in the public interest.

Section 25(a) of the Act, which grants jurisdiction to the Courts

of Appeals to review Commission orders, provides that the Commission's

findings of fact shall be conclusive if supported by substantial evidence.

This section also authorizes the Court, on application by either

jarty, to order additional evidence to be taken before the Commission upon

1 showing to the satisfaction of the Court that such additional evidence is

oaterial and that there were reasonable grounds for failure to adduce it in

:he hearing before the Commission.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the Commission's finding that petitioner willfully

/ Although the finding that petitioner was a "cause" of the revocation

and expulsion operates only to preclude his employment by a member of

a registered securities association, the Commission's finding that he

willfully violated the antifraud provisions may affect his right to

employment with any registered broker -dealer, including those who are

not members of a registered securities association. See Section 15(b)

of the Securities Exchange Act, supra .
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violated the antifraud provisions of the Securities Act and the Securities

Exchange Act is supported by substantial evidence.

2. Whether petitioner has failed to show that there were reasonable

grounds for his failure to adduce additional evidence in the hearing before

the Commission.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Commission found that J. Logan & Co., together with or aided and

abetted by various persons including petitioner, willfully violated the

antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws by inducing customers

who were inexperienced in securities matters to place trust and confidence

in the company and its salesmen and to rely on them to act in the customers'

best interests, and then engaging in acts and practices contrary to the

financial welfare and investment aims of the customers in order to generate

Income for themselves. In violation of the trust and confidence of their

:u8toraers, they induced excessive trading in customers' accounts, advised

customers to sell securities while simultaneously advising other customers

to purchase the same securities, effected transactions without prior auth-

Jrization, and made various misrepresentations.

?he Company's Method of Operation

A description of the method of operation employed by J. Logan & Co.

8 essential to a proper understanding and appraisal of the significance

'f the part played by Lile in the overall enterprise. For the convenience

i»f the Court, we will summarize those aspects of the company's method of
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operation that are pertinent to the issues raised on this appeal. A more

detailed description can be found in the Coranission's Findings and

i/
Opinion (R. 6441-6454).

The company's policy was to maintain a large sales force, consisting

of men with no prior experience in the securities business who concentrated

on telephone solicitation of unknown persons. Novice salesmen were given

a portion of a local street number telephone directory from which each man

was instructed to call if possible 100 to 125 numbers per day. The sales-

men were told that in view of their lack of experience, they would be less

likely to demonstrate their ignorance in telephone calls.

In their sales solicitations, the salesmen placed great emphasis

on the company's so-called extensive and highly-skilled research department,

although in fact the company maintained no research department worthy of the

V
name.

Through the technique of indiscriminate telephone calls, the company

obtained a clientele of impressionable, naive, and unsophisticated investors

rfho thereafter were urged to place their trust and confidence in the

\l With one possible exception (see p. 36, infra) petitioner does not

challenge the Commission's findings concerning the company's method of

operation. Accordingly, we have in general omitted record references

in describing the company's business.

\j For a description of the limited research facilities that the company

actually had, see footnote 2 of the Commission's Findings and Opinion

(R. 6443).
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salesmen and to rely on them to act in the customers' best interests.

Taking advantage of the trust and confidence thus induced, and in complete

disregard of the financial welfare of the customers, the company and its

salesmen followed a practice designed to achieve a large volume of trading,

without consideration of the quality of the securities involved or the

needs of the investors, and frequently resulting in substantial losses to

the customers.

Various techniques and practices were employed to achieve this

objective:

Salesmen were organized into groups or teams, and competition among

such groups as well as among individual salesmen was fostered by bulletins

listing the relative standings of the salesmen and the groups, and by

3Ccasional awarding of cash prizes to those making the best showings in

)ales.

[/ As a former salesman testified: "Over and over again we were told as

part of the indoctrination at J. Logan & Company that the only reason

we were there was to make money, and we were told more often than we

were told to the contrary that it didn't make any difference whether

we made money for the customers or not. Our job was to make money for

(mrselves .... [Tlhe emphasis was on aaking noney through trading

and selliag no matter what we sold rather than on selling a good

stock. . .
." (R. 3604, 3606). Another salesman testified they were

told "that securities should be traded as often as necessary in order

for the obvious reason of more commissions resulting from this"

(R. 687).
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Salesmen frequently were successful in obtaining a list or even

physical possession of securities already held by new customers. Such

customers were invariably advised that all of their holdings were unsuit-

able for them and that they should liquidate their entire portfolios,

including high grade investment securities, and invest in other securities,

II
frequently of a highly speculative nature, recommended by the salesmen.

Thereafter customers were persuaded to make frequent additional purchases,

either through the investment of other funds or through the liquidation

of securities previously acquired on the recommendations of the salesmen.

In some instances the same security was bought and sold numerous times in

the account of a single customer, all on the recommendation of one or

another salesman.

When, as frequently happened, e salesman left the firm, the

customers' account cards of the departing salesman were distributed among

remaining salesmen, who were instructed to call the customers immediately

md, by convincing them to sell the securities in their portfolios and

reinvest in other securities, persuade them to remain as clients of the

:irm rather than of the former salesman. This was accomplished by pointing

)ut the errors and bad judgment of the former salesman or by implying that

le had been fired for improper conduct or had left under a cloud. The

'./ The salesmen were advised by the company of "the advantages of

certain types of securities and the ease with which they are sold to

clientele, the more speculative securities as an example" (R. 691).
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salesmen were instructed to use "fair means or foul" to make certain that

the former salesman did not take his accounts away with hira. On one

occasion cash prizes were given to the salesmen who were most successful

in weaning away the customers of a former salesman by persuading such

customers to reinvest in other securities.

Still other techniques used to induce excessive trading in

customers' accounts were the practice of effecting transactions without

the customer's prior authorization or without prior consultation with the

customer and the practice of simultaneously recommending the purchase of

a security to one customer while persuading another to sell the same

security, without disclosing the contradictory recommendations to either

customer. This "switching" or cross- trading of securities back and forth

between customers provided a fruitful source of mark-up income without

incurring the risk and expense of maintaining inventories.

Petitioner's Activities as a Salesman for the Company

The record shows that petitioner was an active participant in the

company's fraudulent scheme. The testimony relates to his dealii gs with

customers Olive Sands, Jean Reynolds, Margo Hulbush, John T. Sinette, Jr.,

and Hertha Hauhart.

Olive Sands : Miss Sands received a telephone call from Lile in

April 1958 (R. 193-94). At that time she owned stock which she had inher-

ited from her father (R. 195, 236-37). She had no experience in trading

in securities, had engaged in only one securities transaction in the

preceding three or four years, had never worked for a living (she had been





-12-

with her father until his death), and always depended on the advice of

her brother (R, 209, 236-37). After inquiring whether she owned any

securities, Lile recommended that she sell the stock that she owned and

purchase another security; he told her that the change would be to her

advantage (R. 193). She replied that she knew nothing about stocks and

would not change her investment without consulting her brother (R. 196).

ifhen she later informed Lile that her brother had advised her not to make

the change (R. 204), Lile urged her to disregard her brother's advice and

emphasized that the transactions would be profitable for her (R. 203).

Mthough she at no time agreed to the recommended change (R. 204, 211),

Lile nevertheless effected the transactions without her knowledge and then

sent her the confirmation slips for the sale and purchase (R. 203, 207, 233,

5000, 3002). Thereafter, in an attempt to induce her to approve the

anauthorized transactions, Lile again urged her to disregard her brother's

advice and told her that her brother would not oppose the transactions if

ae had her interests at heart (R. 209, 222). When Lile then stated that

Jhe would have to pay a $60 fee if she rejected the transactions, she told

Um to telephone her brother (R. 227-28). Still attempting to obtain

approval of the transactions, Lile called her brother, asked him why he

rfould not agree to the transactions, and said that he (the brother) knew

lothing about stocks and that J. Logan & Co. had an $800,000 research budget
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10/
and was well-informed (R. lUl-kk^ 248). Subsequently Lile cancelled

the transactions (R. 228, 237-38).

Jean Reynolds and Margo Hulbush ; These customers will be considered

together, since their accounts were subjected to a series of cross-trading

transactions.

When Lile first telephoned Mrs. Reynolds in 1956, she owned shares

of stock in several well-known companies (R. 3269, 3271). Her only prior

dealings with a brokerage firm had been the transaction approximately four

to five years earlier in which she had purchased those shares with funds

that she had received as a gift from her father (Ro 3278). She visited

Lile at his office, and in response to his inquiry she disclosed her

securities holdings (R. 3269-70, 3289), whereupon Lile recommended that she

sell her securities and purchase others (R. 3273). In less than two months*

time — from August 31, 1956, to October 26, 1956 — all her securities were

sold for $56,668 (R. 3273, 3310-11, 5247-54), and during the entire period

of 14 months that she had an account with J. Logan & Co. a total of 96

transactions were effected in her account, all of them upon Liie's recom-

mendation (R. 3275, 3319-20). Liie's explanation to her as to how he was

earning income from handling her account was that if she made money he would

^0/ Petitioner's assertion (Br, 21) that Miss Sands' brother was "somewhat

confused" about the misrepresentation concerning the research bLidgt-t

is contrary to the evidence. Mr. Sands repeatedly testified, both on

direct and cross-examination, that he was certain about the figure of

$800,000 for research (R. 244, 246-47). He also testified that although

he had some difficulty with his hearing, he could hear betcer over the

telephone than in person (R. 247)

.
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also make money (R. 3287). She advised Lile on many occasions that she

did not understand her account, but Lile replied that he was handling, it

for her and assured her that she should not worry, that it was his job to

11/
worry about the account (R. 3288),

Mrs. Margo Hulbush started doing business with Lile in the fall

of 1956 (R. 3144) . At the very beginning she told him that she did not

have the funds necessary to be a trader or to engage in speculative trans-

actions (R. 3152).

Lile induced a series of four "switches" of securities between the

Reynolds and Hulbush accounts. Two of the switches occurred on

December 26, 1956, and the remaining two occurred on July 10, 1957, as

U/ On cross-examination Mrs. Reynolds was questioned about one of the

securities that she purchased on Lile's recommendation (R. 3324-25):

"Q. Did you know it was speculation at the time

you bought it?

"A. No, I didn't know.

"Q. What would you have expected it to be when you

buy a stock that sells for around forty or fifty

cents a share, would you expect it to be a

high-grade —

* * *

"A. Well, I would assume it was. I was under the

impression that I was going to have what I had

left saved."
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follows:

(1) December 26, 1956 - 100 shares of Landers, Frary & Clark

Sold by Reynolds at 17-3/4

Bought by Hulbush at 19-1/4

(2) December 26, 1956 - 100 shares of Aircraft Radio Corp.

Sold by Hulbush at 18-3/4

Bought by Reynolds at 20-1/8

(3) July 10, 1957 - 50 shares of Dravo Corp.

Sold by Reynolds at 68

Bought by Hulbush at 73

(4) July 10, 1957 - 50 shares of Belmont Iron Works

Sold by Hulbush at 41-1/2

Bought by Reynolds at 45-1/8

All these transactions were confirmed by the company as principal rather

than as agent for either customer; i.e. , the company purchased the

security from one customer and resold it to the other customer, taking

the difference between the buying and the selling prices as its profit.

All these purchases and sales were made upon Lile°s recommendation with-

out disclosure to either customer that he was making contrary recommenda-

tions to the other, and in at least three of the four transactions the

securities that were sold had originally been acquired by the customers

upon Lile's recommendation (R. 3145-60, 3275-87, 5238-41, 5255-59). In

their dealings with Lile, these custom';rs were advised by him that his

recotmnendations were designed to bring them a better profit or to prevent

a loss (R. 3148, 3156, 3308).





-16-

John T. Sinette, Jr. ; This customer started trading with

I. Logan & Co. following a telephone call in May 1957 from a salesman

lamed Wagner (R, 308-09) . Sinette, who was 49 years old at the time of

:he hearing, had engaged in about twelve securities transactions in his

jntire lifetime (R. 310). He did not know the difference between a

)rincipal and an agency transaction (R. 318), and although he occasionally

mbscribed to certain financial publications, he did not do much reading

n the financial field (R. 343-44) . After making two purchases through

agner (R. 317-18), Sinette received a telephone call in January 1958 from

.lie, who said that Wagner was no longer with the firm (R. 318-20).

inette told Lile that he had been displeased with Wagner's high-pressure

alesmanship and with one of the securities that Wagner had sold him

R. 320, 330-31). Lile replied that Wagner should have informed Sinette

f the highly speculative nature of the security, and he apologised for

agner's "misrepresentation" (R. 320). He then recommended that Sinette

ell his securities and purchase others (R. 322) . He said that he wanted

[0 make amends for Wagner's misconduct and that in order to prove his good

aith, he would effect the sales without charging the usual fees (R. 320,

23). Thereafter most of Sinette's securities were sold by Lile for

^714 (R. 326-27, 5009-16). When Sinette received the confirmations, he

Dtlced charges for commissions on some of them (R. 334) . These charges

ere later cancelled when Sinette complained (R. 334, 339).

Hertha Hauhart ; This customer, a widow, started trading with

• Logan & Co. in January 1957 through a salesman named Sarafian (R. 1267,

|271). Although she had previously traded in the grain market for about
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three years (R. 1323) , she had no experience in the stock market and had

never owned a security (R. 1300, 1324). Sarafian told her that it is

foolish to keep money in a savings account, that he wanted to make money

for her, that the company had earned millions of dollars, that it couid

make money only if its customers made money, that it had an extensive and

competent research department, and that she should trust him and have

confidence in him (R. 1268-69, 1272, 1276-77, 1291, 1296). After three

transactions had been effected in her account, Including an unauthorized

purchase which was later cancelled when she complained, she received a

telephone call in May 1957 from Lile, who told her that Sarafian was out

of town (R. 1281, 1288, 1291-94, 1297). Lile urged her to buy a certain

stock on the advice that an announcement would appear in the newspapers

the following week and that the stock would rise thereafter (R. 1297).

She did not agree to buy (R. 1298) . About fifteen minutes later she

telephoned the company and was connected with Sarafian, who told her that

her purchase of the recommended security had been confirmed immediately

(R. 1299-1300, 1353). She was so surprised at finding Sarafian in town

after Lile had said that he was away that she agreed to the purchase

(R. 1300, 1328-29). Subsequently, she discovered that the transaction

covered warrants rather than stock (R. 1302-03, 1334-35). Lile had not

told her that he was recommending warrants, and at the time of the

purchase she did not even know what warrants were (R. 1302, 1330-31).





-18-

rhe Administrative Proceeding

The administrative proceeding here Involved was instituted by the

Commission on June 30, 1958. Pursuant to Rule 6(a) of the Commission's

lules of Practice, 17 CFR 201.6(a) (then Rule Ill(a), 22 Fed. Reg. 10442

1957)), petitioner received a copy of the order for proceedings and notice

f hearing together with a letter from the Secretary of the Commission

dvising him that the Commission's findings in the proceeding might be

inding on him and that he was entitled to participate as a party (R. 5948-

12/
'4, 5962; Affdt.).

On April 7, 1959, the second day of the hearing, petitioner was

resent in the hearing room. The hearing examiner, after ascertaining

lat petitioner was not represented by counsel, advised him that he was

ntltled to have an attorney represent him (R, 197, 206). In response to

Ititioner's assertion that he thought the proceeding was not directed

fains t him personally but only against the company, the hearing examiner

finted out that petitioner had been named in the order for proceedings

ad that the charges, if proved, would affect his right to future employ-

1/ "Affdt." refers to an affidavit executed by Ernest L. Dessecker,

Records and Service Officer of the Commission, and filed in this

Court in support of the Commission's motion to dismiss the

petition for review (see p. 2, supra )

.





-19-

13/

ment (R. 206), Petitioner cross-examined two of the Conunission's

witnesses that day and another on the following day (R. 230-34, 247,

366-68) .

n/ The following colloquy occurred (R. 206):

•'Hearing Examiner: You know you have a right to counsel,

of course?

"Mr. Lile: Yes.

"Hearing Examiner: You know you have the right to have

an attorney here to protect your interests?

"Mr. Lile: Well, I didn't know this was against me, I

thought this was against J, Logan and Company.

"Hearing Examiner: You knew you were named in the Order?

"Mr. Lile: That is why I am here.

"Hearing Examiner: Then you know that could affect your

interests?

"Mr. Lile: Well, it has for the past nine months.

"Hearing Examiner: It would affect your right to employ-

ment with other companies.

"Mr. Lile: Yes.

"Hearing Examiner: If the findings should be against you.

"Mr. Lile: If it is fair for that to go through and th€

truth comes out, fine."
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The hearing was later recessed. Thereafter on September 25, 1959,

jetitioner was notified that the hearing would be reconvened on October 15,

L959, and he was requested to arrange to be in daily attendance (R. 6037-38).

Jy letter of October 7, 1959, he was requested to be prepared to go forward
14/

rith his defense at the reconvened hearing.

On August 31, 1960, following the close of the hearing, petitioner

/as notified of the scheduled dates for the filing of proposed findings

ind briefs, hearing examiner's recommended decision, and exceptions to the

ecommended decision (R. 6168-69; Affdt.), He was again notified when the

lommission on October 3, 1960, extended the time for these filings (R. 6245;

iffdt.). On October 11, 1960, at petitioner's request, the Commission

;ranted a further extension, authorizing him to file proposed findings and

I brief by October 24, 1960 (R. 6246-48). He did not avail himself of that

ixtension (Affdt.). Instead, on October 28, 1960, Alexander Googooian, an

ittomey representing petitioner, sent a telegram to the Commission request-

.ng either that the record be reopened for the receipt of testimony in

>etitioner*8 defense or that petitioner be granted the right to present

lefensive matter by way of affidavits and proposed findings. In support

)f this request it was asserted that at the time of the hearing James

.ogan, president of the company, had told petitioner that the individual

salesmen such as petitioner were not involved in that proceeding and that

learings would be held at a later time with respect to them. It was further

iA/ See pp. 2608-11 of the transcript of testimony, set forth in the

Appendix hereto (pp. 5a-8a, infra)

.
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asserted that Mr. Logan, although having stated to petitioner that he

would notify him of any witness who might testify concerning him, had

failed to notify him of two witnesses who had so testified (R, 6293)

.

The Commission, on December 5, 1960, ruled on petitioner's request,

concluding that he had had full and adequate opportunity to present

evidence in his defense and that sufficient showing had not been made

to warrant reopening the record at that late date, after the extended

time for the parties to file proposed findings and briefs had expired.

Accordingly, the request to reopen the record or submit affidavits was

denied. The Commission did, however, grant an extension of time to

December 12, 1960, for petitioner to file proposed findings (R. 6300-01).

Again, the filing was not made (Affdt.).

The hearing examiner's recommended decision was issued on April 28,

1961, and served on petitioner's counsel together with a copy of the

Commission's Rules of Practice and a letter calling attention to the fact

that Rule 17 provides for the filing within specified periods of time of

written exceptions to the recommended decision and a brief in support of

such exceptions (R. 6306-86; Affdt.). Although the hearing examiner

found that petitioner had willfully violated the antifraud provisions of

the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

that he should be named a cause of any disciplinary order entered against

the company (R. 6366), petitioner filed no exceptions or brief (Affdt.),

On July 9, 1962, the Commission entered the order that petitioner

now seeks to have reviewed (R. 6455).
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ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT PETITIONER WILLFULLY
VIOLATED THE ANTIFRAUD PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITIES
ACT AND THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT IS SUPPORTED BY
SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The federal securities laws are the result o£ Congressional aware-

less that securities are "intricate merchandise.'* H. R. Rep. No. 85, 73d

:ong., 1st Sess. (1933), p. 8. Their enactment followed a Presidential

lessage urging that there be added to the ancient rule of caveat emptor

:he further doctrine of "let the seller also beware." Id. at p. 2. In

ircher v. Securities and Exchange Commission , 133 F. 2d 795, 803 (C.A. 8,

943), certiorari denied , 319 U.S. 767 (1943), the court, in affirming a

;onunission order revoking a broker-dealer registration, stated:

"The business of trading in securities is one in which

opportunities for dishonesty are of constant recurrence

and ever present. It engages acute, active minds, trained

to quick apprehension, decision and action. The Congress

has seen fit to regulate this business. Though such

regulation must be done in strict subordination to con-

stitutional and lawful safeguards of individual rights,

it is to be enforced notwithstanding the frauds to be

suppressed may take on more subtle and involved forms

than those in which dishonesty manifests itself in cruder

and less specialized activities."

ecause "the securities field, by its nature, requires specialized and
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W
unique legal treatment," broad meaning is given to the concept of fraud

under the federal securities laws, and the antifraud provisions of these

laws are not limited to consnon law concepts. Norris & Hirshberg, Inc. v.

Securities and Exchange Commission . 177 F, 2d 228, 233 (C.A. D.C., 1949);

Charles Hughes & Co., Inc. v. Securities and Exchange Commission . 139 F. 2d

434, 437 (C.A. 2, 1943), certiorari denied . 321 U. S. 786 (1944); Los Angeles

Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange v. Securities and Exchange Conanission , 264

F. 2d 199, 210 (C.A. 9, 1959).

In applying the antifraud provisions to the activities of brokers

and dealers in securities, the Commission has on numerous occasions held

that a broker or dealer impliedly represents that he will deal fairly with
16/

the public. In its opinion in the case of Mac Robbins & Co., Inc. ,

Securities Exchange Act Release No. 6846, July 11, 1962, CCH Fed. Sec. L.

Rep. 1 76,853, at 81,166, which was recently affirmed by the Court of

Appeals for the "^
'd Circuit, sub nom Berko v. Securities and ExchangeW

Commission , 316 F. 2d 137 (1963), the Commission discussed the history

and application of this principle:

15/ Arleen Hughes v. Securities and Exchange Commission , 174 F. 2d 969,

975 (C.A. D.C., 1949).

16/ See 3 Loss, Securitie s Regulation 1482-93 (2d ed. 1961).

n/ This is not the same Berko opinion that petitioner cites (Br. 14, 15,

23), although both opinions relate to the same administrative pro-

ceeding. Petitioner cites Berko v. Securities and Exchange Commission ,

297 F. 2d 116 (C.A. 2, 1961), and the companion case of Kahn v. Securities

(continued)
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"Early in the administration of the federal securities

laws, we held that basic to the relationship between a

broker or dealer and his customers is the representation

that the latter will be dealt with fairly in accordance

with the standards of the profession. The failure of a

broker or dealer to disclose that his conduct does not meet

such standards operates as a fraud on customers. The Court

[of Appeals for the Second Circuit], in a landmark case

[ Charles Hughes & Co.. Inc. v. Securities and Exchange Com-

mission . 139 F. 2d 434 (1943), certiorari denied, 321 U. S.

786 (1944)1, recognized this so-called 'shingle' theory and

affirmed our conclusion that it was not fair dealing for a

broker or dealer in securities to charge customers prices

unrelated to the prevailing market price. We have also

applied the shingle theory in a variety of other instances.

Thus, we have recognized that without appropriate disclosure

and Exchange Commission . 297 F. 2d 112 (C.A. 2, 1961), which were

petitions for review filed by two salesmen who had been named as

causes of the revocation order in Mac Robbins & Co., Inc. . Securities

Exchange Act Release No. 6462 (Feb. 6, 1961), supplemented . Securities

Exchange Act Release No. 6498 (Mar. 16, 1961). Following a remand to

the Commission pursuant to the Berko and Kahn decisions reported in 297

F. 2d, the Commission issued a new opinion reaffirming its original order

Berko again petitioned for review, and the subsequent opinion of the

Second Circuit affirming the Commission's order is the one that we have

cited in the text.
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it is a fraudulent practice to sell securities at a

market price which is materially affected by artificial

restrictions and stimulations caused by the seller's

own activities, to sell oil royalties at prices unrelated

to the reasonable value of estimated oil recoverable

from the underlying tract, to execute transactions not

authorized by the customer, to sell securities that are

subject to a lien, to fail to execute orders or deliver

securities promptly, or to accept customers' funds while

insolvent." [Footnotes omitted.]

The antifraud provisions and the broker-dealer's obligation of fair

dealing take on added significance and apply with special force where

there is a disparity in degree of knowledge of market conditions as between

the dealer and customer or where an element of trust and confidence is

present. In Charles Hughes & Co., Inc. v. Securities and Exchange Com-

mission , supra , the court noted, 139 F. 2d at 437, that "the essential

objective of securities legislation is to protect those who do not know

market conditions from the overreachings of those who do," and stated:

"Even considering petitioner as a principal in a simple

vendor-purchaser transaction . . it was still under a

special duty, in view of its expert knowledge and prof-

fered advice, not to take advantage of its customers'

ignorance of market conditions. The key to the success

of all of petitioner's dealings was the confidence in

itself which it managed to instill in the customers."

[Emphasis supplied.]
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As the court stated in Earll v. Picken . 113 F. 2d 150, 156 (C.A. D.C.,

1940):

"He who would deal at arm* s length must stand at arm* s

length. And he must do so openly as an adversary, not

disguised as confidant and protector."

When a broker-dealer places himself in a position of trust and confidence

with his customer, he thereby becomes a fiduciary and is subject to the

18/

obligations and responsibilities of a fiduciary.

With this background, we turn to the specific abuses involved in

the present case -- the "churning" of customers' accounts and the cross-

trading or switching of securities from one account to another. J. Logan

^ Co. and its salesmen induced their customers to place trust and confidence

In them and to rely on them to act in the customers' best interests. Then,

In order to generate profits for themselves and in complete disregard of

the customers' financial welfare or investment aims they induced frequent

3nd excessive transactions (commonly known as "churning" of accounts) and

}ften recommended the purchase of a security to one customer while

simultaneously persuading another customer to sell the same security, with-

out disclosing the contradictory recommendations to either customer.

These practices have been condemned by the Commission in a number
19/

)£ opiuions; and in the leading case of Norris & Hir&hberR, Inc. v.

L8/ See 3 Loss, Securities Regulation 1500-08 (2d ed. 1961).

[1/ E. H. Rollins & Sons. Inc. . 18 S.E.C. 347, 380-82 (1945) (excessive

trading); Norris & Hirshberg, Inc.. 21 S.E.C, 865, 886, 890-94 (1946),

aff 'd sub nora. Norris & Hirshberg, Inc. v. Securities and Exchange
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Securities and Exchange Commission . 177 F. 2d 228, 232 (1949), the Court

of Appeals for the District of Columbia, in affirming a revocation order

based upon such practices, described the churning and cross-trading

activities there involved and then stated:

"All this occurred. . . while the trusting clients were

all convinced that petitioner was acting for them and in

their best interest. We cannot visualize any circum-

stances to which the statutory phrase 'manipulative,

deceptive, or other fraudulent device or contrivance'
20/

applies more aptly than the present one."

Petitioner does not dispute the Commission's finding that J. Logan

& Co. and its other salesmen engaged in a fraudulent scheme in violation

of the federal securities laws. His argument is that the evidence does

act show either that he knowingly participated in the scheme or that he other-

vise violated the antifraud provisions. As we will later demonstrate, the

Commission, 177 F.2d 228 (C.A. D.C, 1949) (excessive trading and

cross-trading); Behel. Johnsen & Co. . 26 S.E.C. 163 (1947) (excessive

trading); Walter S. Grubbs . 28 S.E.C. 323, 328-30 (1948) (excessive

trading); R. H. Johnson & Co. . 36 S.E.C. 467 (1955), aff'd per curiam

sub nom . R. H. Johnson & Co. v. Securities and Exchange Commission ,

231 F. 2d 523 (C.A. D.C, 1956), cert, denied. 352 U.S. 844 (1956)

(excessive trading); Looper and Co. . 38 S.E.C. 294 (1958) (excessive

trading and cross-trading); Reynolds & Co. . 39 S.E.C. 902, 905-07 (1960)

(excessive trading)

.

20/ See also R. H. Johnson & Co. v. Securities and Exchange Commission .
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jvidence shows that petitioner was fully aware of what the company and

;he other salesmen were doing and that, with such knowledge, he aided

ind abetted their fraudulent operation. The Court need not reach that

.ssue, however, because entirely apart from what the others did petitioner's

iwn conduct was, by itself, violative of the antifraud provisions.

Through his telephone solicitations petitioner sought customers

ike Miss Sands and Mrs. Reynolds who had little or no experience in secu-

ities trading and urged them to rely upon him to act in their best

nterests. He falsely represented that the company had an $800,000

esearch budget. Upon ascertaining what securities his customers owned,

e recotranended that they dispose of their holdings and reinvest in other

ecurities. On his recommendation, Mrs. Reynolds in less than two months'

ime disposed of her entire $57,000 portfolio, including shares of stock

n a number of well-known companies. In a little over a year, 96 trans-

ctions were effected in her account. He falsely represented that if

he made money, he would make money too. He effected an unauthorized

ransaction for Miss Sands. In his dealings with Sinette, he accused

former salesman of having made a misrepresentation and then urged

inette to dispose of his holdings and purchase other securities. He

ffered to sell Sinette' s securities without charge and then deducted

oimnissions on some of the sales. He assisted another salesman in pressuring

rs. Hauhart to make a purchase, without disclosing to her that she was

supra note 19. Cf. R. H. Johnson & Co. v. Secur ities and Exchange

Commission , 198 F. 2d 690 (C.A. 2, 1952), certiorari denied , 344

U. S. 855 (1952), affirming R. H. Johnson & Co. , 33 S.E.C. 180 (1952).
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buylng warrants rather than shares of stock. Particularly flagrant was

his action in inducing four cross-trades between the Reynolds and Hulbush

accounts by simultaneously making opposite recommendations to each of these

customers.

Even if each thing that petitioner did is viewed in isolation

from his overall course of conduct » he can hardly be considered innocent.

Thus, to cite a few examples, his misrepresentation about the company's

research budget was plainly fraudulent, without regard to anything else

he did. So, too, was his statement to Mrs. Reynolds that he would make
21/

money if she made money. And the execution of an unauthorized trans-

action for Miss Sands was a violation of the implied representation that

he would execute only such transactions on behalf of customers as are

authorized. See First Anchorage Corp. . 34 S.E.C, 299, 304 (1952).

But serious as these violations are - and we do not wish to

minimize their importance - they were merely part of a course of conduct

which represented a deliberate plan by petitioner to violate the trust

and confidence of his customers. The fallacy that permeates petitioner's

entire argument is his attempt to Isolate each thing that he did from his

overall pattern of conduct. His argument is not a novel one. Indeed,

it has been rejected by the courts repeatedly, even in criminal cases.

21/ See United States v. Ross . CCH Fed. Sec. L. Rep. % 91,251, at 94,132

(C.A. 2, July 5, 1963), where the court observed that a similar state-

ment was "plainly" fraudulent under the Securities Act as well as

under earlier statutes.
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hus, in affirming a conviction under the mail fraud statute for engaging

n the fraudulent sale of securities » the Court of Appeals for the Fourth

ircuit stated in Aiken v. United States , 108 F. 2d 182, 183 (1939);

"Fraudulent intent, as a mental element of crime, (it

has been observed) is too often difficult to prove by

direct and convincing evidence. In many cases it must

be inferred from a series of seemingly isolated acts and

instances which have been rather aptly designated as

badges of fraud. When these are sufficiently numerous

they may in their totality properly justify an inference

of a fraudulent intent; and this is true even though each

act or instance, standing by itself, may seem rather un-

important. Analogies are always dangerous but sometimes

rather helpful. So the old analogy of the rope seems in

order: any single strand may easily be pulled apart, but

many weak strands combined into a single rope may have such

tensile strength as to resist the efforts even of a giant
22/

to tear it asunder. • • ."

y Similarly, another court said, in a case involving, inter alia ,

a violation of the Securities Act antifraud provisions: "Acts

innocent in themselves may yet in combination constitute a fraud

or attempts to commit fraud." Holmes v. United States , 134 F. 2d

125, 134 (C.A. 8, 1943), certiorari denied , 319 U. S. 776 (1943).

See also Wager v. Hall . 83 U. S. (16 Wall.) 584, 601-02 (1872);

(continued)
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Petitioner's overall course of conduct clearly evinced a design to induce

trading in complete disregard of his customers' best interests and in

violation of his fiduciary obligations to persons who had been induced
23/

to place their trust and confidence in him.

Castle V. Bullard, 64 U. S. (23 How.) 172, 187 (1859); Walters v.

United States. 256 F. 2d 840, 841 (C.A. 9, 1958), certiorari denied ,

358 U. S. 833 (1958); United States v. Vandersee, 279 F. 2d 176,

179 (C.A. 3, 1960), certiorari denied . 364 U. S. 943 (1961); Hunter

V. Shell Oil Co. . 198 F. 2d 485, 489-90 (C.A. 5, 1952); Connolly v.

Gishwiller . 162 F. 2d 428, 433-34 (C.A. 7, 1947), certiorari denied ,

332 U. S. 825 (1947); Nassan v. United States. 126 F. 2d 613, 615

(C.A. 4, 1942); Gates v. United States . 122 F. 2d 571, 575 (C.A. 10,

1941), certiorari denied . 314 U. S. 698 (1942); Federal Corp. , 25

S.E.C. 227, 230 (1947).

23/ Cf. Stephens v. United States . 41 F. 2d 440, 445, 447 (1930),

certiorari denied . 282 U. S. 880 (1930), where this Court stated:

"• • . [A] business lawful in form and appearance does

not escape the denunciation of the criminal statutes when

it is commonly furthered by the use of deception and

fraudulent practices.

* * *

"If fraudulent in imporatant and continuing branches of

its activities, the enterprise as a whole may properly be

characterized as a fraudulent scheme."
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Turning to the relationship between petitioner's conduct and

the company's fraudulent method o£ operation, it is significant that

petitioner's activity was alsmost a carbon copy of the pattern employed

by the company and the other salesmen. Indeed, this similarity extended

even to such details as the specific type of misrepresentation that was

nade concerning the research department. Thus, while petitioner repre-

sented that the company had an $800,000 research budget, another salesman

told a customer that the company had a ten-man research board and still

mother salesman referred to the company's twenty-man research department

[R. 6447, 6449), The similarity between petitioner's conduct and that

)£ the other salesmen reinforces the conclusion that he was not acting

:.nnocently, refutes his suggestion that he had no knowledge of what the

)thers were doing (Br. 22), and demonstrates that he played an Integral

tnd vital role in the company's fraudulent scheme. Apparently he would have

:hls Court believe that although he was employed by J. Logan & Co. for a

:on8iderable period of time, he nevertheless worked like a hermit, was

inaware of the company's policy, neither saw nor heard what the other

salesmen were doing, did not know that they were abusing the trust and

onfidence of their customers, and by sheer coincidence just happened to

ollow the same modus operandi that the company encouraged and that the

ther salesmen used but, unlike the others, did so with innocent intent,

^e inference is inescapable that petitioner knew precisely what was

olng on and that when he adopted the same pattern of conduct which the

irm and the other salesmen followed, he did so with the same fraudulent
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motive.

That petitioner may have played a lesser role in the fraudulent

scheme than some of the others does not absolve him from liability.

Even minor participants in fraudulent securities operations have been

held liable, both in civil and in criminal proceedings. In Berko v.

Securities and Exchange Commission , 316 F. 2d 137 (C.A, 2, 1963), a

salesman was held to be a cause of the revocation of the registration
25/

of a broker-dealer for whom he had worked only six months. In holding

that an employee may not justifiably rely on sales literature furnished

by an employer who is engaged in a fraudulent sales campaign, the court

observed that such a salesman must be held to "a higher duty to prospective

24/ See Walters v. United States , 256 F. 2d 840 (C.A. 9, 1958),

certiorari denied , 358 U. S. 833 (1958), involving a conviction

for engaging in a scheme to defraud in violation of the

Securities Act. In commenting on the sufficiency of the

evidence to prove criminal intent, this Court pointed out

(p. 841) that "good faith is an operation of the mind of the

individual and can be proven only by inference." The Court

then stated (p. 842): "The existence of a uniform pattern of

misrepresentation used by all defendants is patent."

25 / Lile,on the other hand, was employed by J. Logan & Co. at least

from August 1956 to June 1958 (R. 237-38, 5248).
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uscomers Chan a salesman working out of a legitimate sales operation."

16 F. 2d at 142. In United States v. Ross , CCH Fed. Sec. L. Rep.

91,251 at 94,131 (C.A. 2, July 5, 1963), a salesman who had been

mployed for seven days by a broker-dealer engaged in a fraudulent sales

peration was held criminally liable on the basis of a telephone call

hat he had made five days after starting work. Judge Friendly commented

hat the five days should have sufficed to teach "anyone" exactly what

as going on. See also Van Riper v. United States . 13 F. 2d 961, 965,

66 (C.A. 2, 1926), certiorari denied , 273 U. S. 702 (1926), where Judge

earned Hand pointed out that minor participants in a stock selling

cheme might be convicted of mail fraud and conspiracy. It is well

ettled that when persons are associated in an unlawful enterprise, the

ct of one is deemed to be the act of all. Cop 1 in v. United States ,

3 F. 2d 652, 660-61 (C.A. 9, 1937), certiorari denied, 301 U. S. 703

L937) . Petitioner "joined the enterprise, and was a part of the scheme.

c was not necessary that he participate to the same extent as each of

le other . . . [participants]." Gates v. United States . 122 F. 2d 571,

'9 (C.A. 10, 1941), certiorari denied . 314 U. S. 698 (1942).

Petitioner contends that the acts of the other salesmen are not

imlsstble against him (Br. 22). It is not entirely clear what the

>8l8 of his objection is, although he does assert that no conspiracy was

oved. It was proved, however, and also found, that petitioner partic-

»ated in a fraudulent scheme (R. 6450), and as this Court said in Robinson

United States . 33 F. 2d 238, 240 (1929), "a scheme to defraud, when

lared in by several, becomes a conspiracy, and, if a conspiracy exists

» fact, the rules of evidence are the same as where a conspiracy is
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charged." See also Copltn v. United States . 88 F. 2d 652, 660-61 (C.A. 9,

1937), certiorari denied , 301 U. S. 703 (1937). A similar objection was

also considered in the recent decision in United States v. Ross . CCH Fed.

!
Sec. L. Rep, 1 91,251 at 94,134 (C.A. 2, July 5, 1963), a criminal

prosecution which, like the present case, involved a charge of engaging in

a sch^ae to de£raud in violation o£ the Securities Act. Although the

defendants, two salesmen for a securities firm, were also charged with

conspiracy, the conspiracy count was dismissed during the trial. On appeal

it was urged that in the absence of a finding of conspiracy the trial judge

improperly admitted evidence of fraudulent statements made by a fellow

salesman of the defendants. These statements were made four months after

one of the defendants had already terminated his employment with the

securities firm involved. Writing for the court of appeals. Judge Friendly

rejected both relevancy and hearsay objections. With respect to the

relevancy of the disputed testimony, he said:

". • . [A] 'scheme* involves some connotation of planning

and pattern, and it is hard to doubt that evidence showing

that the conduct charged to a defendant followed a pattern

of fraud similar to one that was being contemporaneously

practiced by a fellow employee, or even that was followed

later by another employee of the same house with respect to

the same stock, has enough logical bearing to pass the

test of relevancy."

Insofar as any hearsay objection was concerned, the court, after noting

that the fraudulent utterances had been offered "as acts rather than as
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declarations ," stated:

"... [W]e see no reason why Che admissibility of rele-

vant 'acts,' as distinguished from declarations, of an

associate need rest on the existence of a conspiracy,

since no hearsay problem is involved."

Petitioner is especially indignant over the finding that the cross-

trading between the Reynolds and Hulbush accounts was in violation of

the antifraud provisions (Br. 13-17). He even suggests that the finding

that the company itself engaged in a practice of cross-trading is unsup-

ported by the evidence (Br. 17-19).

Division's Exhibit 98 (R. 5535-59), a schedule of a partial

sampling of the company's securities ledger for the years 1955 to 1957,

shows 938 transactions — 424 sales by customers and 514 purchases by

customers — in which the same securities were bought from and sold to

26/
different customers on or about the same day (R. 4263-66). Petitioner

complains that the Commission investigator who compiled this schedule

did not ascertain whether the company was maintaining a trading position

in the securities shown thereon. We are at a loss to know what difference

26/ Contrary to petitioner's suggestion that Exhibit 98 covers the

period from 1953 to 1958, the record shows that it covers only

transactions between March 1955 and May 1957 (R. 4284, 4304-05,

5535-56).
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the existence of a trading position would make. The significance of

Exhibit 98 lies in the fact that the company's business was generated

primarily by the salesmen's recommendations rather than through unsolicited

transactions (R. 2351-52, 4158-59, 4289-90, 4319, 5562). The exhibit

reflects the results of the company's policy of simultaneously making

conflicting recommendations to different customers, and it corroborates

the testimony of a former salesman of the company relating to this

practice of cross-trading. The salesman, Pierre Pambrun, testified that

there was a practice of persuading one customer to sell a security on

the advice that it was falling in price and at the same time persuading

another customer to buy the same security on the advice that it was
27/

rising in price (R. 1950-52)

.

With respect to petitioner's participation in the cross-trading, the

evidence shows a series of four switches of securities between the Reynolds

and Hulbush accounts. Not only did all four of the switches involve the

27/ In Norris & Hirshberg. Inc. , 21 S.E.C. 865, 886 (1946), aff 'd sub nom.

Norris & Hirshberg, Inc. v. Securities and Exchange Commission, 177

P. 2d 228 (C.A. D.C., 1949), the Commission said: "Respondent has

attempted to explain its cross-trading generally by stating that in

its opinion a security might be advisable for one account at a

particular time and inadvisable for another. , . . However, cross-

trading was so consistent and pervasive, and such an integral part

of respondent's business that we cannot help but conclude that it

cross-traded for profit rather than for the general best interests

of its customers."
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same two customers, but the switches occurred in pairs •— two on December

26, 1956, and the other two on July 10, 1957. Thus each switch was ac-

companied by a reverse transaction, so that the selling customer replenished

her portfolio with a security which the buying customer disposed of, and

the buying customer disposed of a security which the selling customer

purchased. These "coincidences," when considered together with the

company's practice of cross-trading and petitioner's overall course of

fraudulent conduct, surely permit the inference that he induced the cross-
28/

trading for his own gain and not in the best interests of the customers.

Petitioner onphasizes that Miss Sands suffered no pecuniary loss

(Br. 20), and he asserts that the transaction in Mrs. Hauhart's account

was "ratified" by her (Br. 24). These factors are irrelevant. As this

Court recently said, "the law appears to be well settled that . . . the

government is not required to prove that anyone was defrauded or that any

investor sustained loss." Farrell v. United States , F. 2d
,

No. 18,241, Aug. 7, 1963, citing Bobbroff v. United States . 202 F. 2d 389

(C.A. 9, 1953), See also Llanos v. United States . 206 F. 2d 852, 855

(C.A. 9, 1953), certiorari denied. 346 U. S. 923 (1954); Berko v. Securities

28/ Cf. Oxford Co.. Inc. . 21 S.E.C. 681, 690 (1946).

Petitioner states that there was no showing by the Commission that

it is the practice of the trade to discuss with one customer the

trading activity of another customer (Br. 16). He neglects to

mention, however, that neither is it the practice of the trade

to engage in cross-trading in violation of the trust and confi-

dence of one's customers.
Jb
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and Exchange Commission . 316 F. 2d 137 (C.A. 2, 1963). In the Berko

opinion, it was stated, 316 F. 2d at 143:

"... [W]hen the Commission's finding of 'cause' with

respect to a salesman is supported by substantial evi-

dence in the record, as it is here, the fact that the

salesman's clients were not misled and indeed may even

have profited from his actions is legally irrelevant.

Hughes V. S.E.C., 85 U. S. App. D. C. 56, 174 F. 2d

969, 974 (1949). The Commission's duty is to enforce

the remedial and preventive terms of the statute in the

public interest, and not merely to police those whose

plain violations have already caused demonstrable loss

or Injury."

While we believe that the evidence overwhelmingly supports the

Commission's findings, petitioner's suggestion (Br. 12) that a standard

of clear and convincing proof is applicable requires comment because

of the misconception upon which it is based. Whatever the rule may

be under other statutes or in other contexts, the applicable standard

of review in the present case is established by Section 25(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act, %rhich provides that "the finding of the

Coiunlsslon as to the facts, if supported by substantial evidence, shall

be conclusive." Under that standard the Commission has the responsibility

both of resolving conflicts in the evidence and of drawing the necessary

inferences from the evidence, and in reviewing the Commission's findings

the court's function is only to determine whether they are supported by

substantial evidence. Archer v. Securities and Exchange Commission , 133
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F. 2d 795, 799 (C.A. 8, 1943), certiorari denied , 319 U. S. 767 (1943);

Hartford Gas Co, v. Securities and Exchange Commission , 129 F. 2d 794,

796 (C.A. 2, 1942). Indeed, it has been held that under the statutory

standard of review, there need not even be a fair preponderance of

evidence in order to sustain the Commission's findings. Wright v.

29/

Securities and Exchange Commission, 112 F. 2d 89, 94 (C.A. 2, 1940).

29/ Petitioner cites (Br. 22) Securities and Exchange Commission v.

Capital Gains Research Bureau. Inc. . 300 F. 2d 745 (C.A. 2, 1961),

an injunctive action brought by the Commission under the antifraud

provisions of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. 80b-6.

The court, in affirming the district court's denial of a preliminary

injunction, remarked that fraud must be established by clear and

convincing proof. 300 F. 2d at 747. Subsequently, however, the

case was heard en banc, and in a superseding opinion written by

the same judge who had earlier written the panel decision, the

court, although again affirming the district court's order, never-

theless made no mention of clear and convincing proof. 306 F. 2d

606 (1962). Furthermore, it should be noted that in both the panel

and the en banc opinions the court was apparently of the view that

the antifraud provisions of the Investment Advisers Act, unlike

those of the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act,

require proof of common law fraud, 300 F. 2d at 751 (dissenting opinion),

306 F. 2d at 610-11; and in the en banc opinion the court emphasized

that it regarded the Investment Advisers Act as being narrower in

scope than either of the other two Acts, 306 F. 2d at 609-10. In

(continued)
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In view of petitioner's repeated references to the severe effect

that the Conmission' s order will have upon him, it should be emphasized

that the purpose of the order is not to penalize petitioner but to pro-

tect the investing public. In Pierce v. Securities and Exchange Com-

mission , 239 F. 2d 160, 163-64 (1956), this Court said:

"In our view, petitioner misinterprets the purpose of the

broker-dealer registration law here involved. Denial of

registration is not to be regarded as a penalty imposed on

the broker. To the contrary, it is but a means to protect

the public interest. 15 U.S.CA. § 78o(b); Wright v. Securities

and Exchange Commission, 1940, 2 Cir., 112 F. 2d 89, 94;

Smolowe v. Delendo Corporation, 1940, D.C. N.Y., 36 F. Supp.

790. The Commission is given the duty to protect the public.

What will protect the public must involve, of necessity, an

exercise of discretionary determination. This Court

ordinarily should not substitute its Judgpient of what would

22/ (continued) any event, that was an appeal from a district court decision,

not a petition to review a Commission order, so Section 23(a) of the Act

which controls here was not involved. Certiorari has been granted,

371 U.S. 967. Cf. Ellis v. Carter , 291 F. 2d 270, 275 n. 5 (1961),

where this Court commented that Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure, which requires that averments of fraud be stated with

particulaiity , does not apply to an aciion under Section 10(b) of the

Securities Exchange Act, since a showing of common law fraud is not

essential to establish a claim thereunder.
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be appropriate under the circumstances In place of the Com-

mission's judgment as to measures necessary to protect the

public Interest. Wright v. Securities and Exchange Commission,

supra; cf. Sha%imut Association v. Securities and Exchange

Commission, 1945, I Clr., 146 F. 2d 791. Since the evidence

substantially supports the Findings of the Commission as to

violations of law by petitioner, we cannot conclude that

the Commission abused Its discretion In denying him registra-

tion."

[t is the Commission's responsibility to supervise the operation of the

lecurltles markets, and in doing so it may bar certain persons from

»artlclpatlng in those markets. "Serious as this personal injury may be,

.t is not of controlling importance as primary consideration must be given

.0 the statutory intent to protect investors." Associated Securities Corp. v.

lecurltles and Exchange Commission . 283 F. 2d 773, 775 (C.A. 10, 1960).

II. PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THERE WERE
REASONABLE GROUNDS FOR HIS FAILURE TO ADDUCE
ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE IN THE HEARING BEFORE THE
COMMISSION.

Petitioner requests that this case be remanded to the Commission

or the taking of additional evidence in his defense. He has failed,

however, to meet the requirement of Section 25(a) of the Securities
f

xchange Act that he show reasonable grounds for his failure to adduce
30/

jUch evidence in the hearing before the Commission. Although the burden

2/ See Southport Petroleum Co. v. National Labor Relations Board , 315

U. S. 100. 104 (1942),
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of satisfying the Court of the existence of such grounds rests upon

petitioner, the only ground asserted by hia is that he believed

that the proceeding was directed exclusively against the company and not

32/

against him personally (Br. 5). Yet the record shows that he was

served with a copy of the order for proceedings and notice of hearing

and was advised by the Secretary of the Commission that the findings

in the proceeding might be binding upon him in the future. Petitioner

appeared at the hearing and cross-examined three of the Commission's

witnesses. In response to his assertion that he thought the proceeding

was not directed against him personally but only against the company,

the hearing examiner pointed out to him on the second day of the hearing

that he had been named in the order for proceedings and that the charges,

if proved, would affect his right to future employment. During a sub-

sequent recess in the proceeding he was notified of the date when the

hearing would be reconvened, was requested to arrange to be in daily

attendance, and was specifically advised that all parties and persons

named in the order for proceedings should be prepared to go forward with

31/ National Labor Relations Board v. Jos. N. Fournier . 182 F. 2d 621,

622 (C.A. 2, 1950).

32 / We are not repeating record references to most of the factual

statements in this section of the brief. Detailed references

covering this same subject are in the Statement of the Case

under the sub-head "The Administrative Proceeding," supra , pp, 18-21
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:heir defense at the reconvened hearing. Following the close of the

tearing, he was notified of the post-hearing filing schedule and of

I later extension of the filing dates. At his request the Comnission

granted a further extension of time for filing proposed findings and

I brief. Then, on October 28, 1960 — after the expiration of the

>xtended time for the filing of proposed findings and briefs, and

>ver two years after the institution of the proceeding — petitioner

equested that the record be reopened. Under these circumstances the

loiomission was certainly Justified in denying the request. Indeed, any

•ther course would have further delayed an already prolonged proceeding

'hich involved the rights of numerous parties other than petitioner,

one of whom had requested a prompt conclusion of the proceeding on the

;round that a delay would be burdensome to them (R. 6100-01).

Moreover, the evidence that petitioner seeks to adduce before the

onmission is, for the most part, irrelevant to the question whether he

iolated the antifraud provisions. Basically, he contends that his

mployer advised him that churning was an ordinary and proper practice to
33/

ngage in. This is nothing more than an assertion that he thought it was

awful to violate the trust and confidence of his customers. Obviously this

8 no defense . See Arleen Hughes v. Securities and Exchange Commission ,

74 P. 2d 969, 977 (C.A. D.C. , 1949); Norris & Hirshberg. Inc. v. Securities

3/ See petitioner's affidavit filed in this Court on November 7, 1962,

in opposition to the Commission's motion to dismiss the petition for

review.
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and Exchange Conmission , 177 P. 2d 228, 233 (C.A. D.C. 1949). Nor is it a

defense that his misrepresentation concerning the research department was

based upon information supplied by his superiors. There can be no justifica-

tion for reliance on information furnished by an employer who is engaged in

; a fraudulent operation. See Berko v. Securities and Exchange Commission ,

316 P. 2d 137, 142 (C.A. 2, 1963).

CONCLUSION

The Commission's motion to dismiss the petition for review should be

granted, or, in the alternative, the order of the Commission should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

PHILIP A. Looms, JR.
General Counsel

WALTER P. NORTH
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Attorney
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APPENDIX

SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Fraudulent Interstate Transactions

Sec. 17. (a) It shall be unlawful for any per-

son in the oflfer or sale of any securities by

the use of any means or instruments of transporta-

tion or communication in interstate commerce or

by the use of the mails, directly or indirectly

—

(1) to employ any device, scheme, or arti-

fice to defraud, or

(2) to obtain money or property by means
of any untrue statement of a material fact or

any omission to state a material fact neces-

sary in order to make the statements made, in

the light of the circumstances under which

they were made, not misleading, or

(3) to engage in any transaction, practice,

or course of business which operates or would

operate as a fraud or deceit upon the pur-

chaser.

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Regulation of the Use of Manipulative and

Deceptive Devices

Sectiox 10. It shall be unlawful for any per-

son, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means

or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of

the mails, or of any facility of any national se-

curities exchange

—

* * * *

(b) To use or employ, in connection with the

purchase or sale of any security registered on a

national securities exchange or any security not

so registered, any manipulative or deceptive de-

vice or contrivance in contravention of such rules

and regulations as the Commission may prescribe

as necessary or appropriate in the public interest

or for the protection of investors.

Over-the-Counter Markets

Section 15. (a) No broker or dealer (other than
one whose business is exclusively intrastate) shall

make use of the mails or of any means or instru-

mentality of interstate commerce to effect any
transaction in, or to induce the purchase or sale of,

any security (other than an exempted security

or commercial paper, bankers' acceptances, or
commercial bills) otherwise than on a national se-

curities exchange, unless such broker or dealer is

registered in accordance with subsection (b) of

this section.

(b) A broker or dealer niay be registered for

the purposes of this section by filing with the

Commission an application for registration,

which shall contain such information in such de-

tail as to such broker or dealer and any person
directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by,

or under direct or indirect common control with,

such broker or dealer, as the Commission may by

rules and regulations require as necessary or ap-
propriate in the public interest or for the protec-

tion of investors. Except as hereinafter provided,

such registration shall become effective thirty days
after the receipt of such application by the Com-
mission or within such shorter period of time as

the Commission may determine.

* * * *

The Commission shall, after appropriate notice

and opportunity for hearing, by order deny regis-

tration to or revoke the registration of any broker

or dealer if it finds that such denial or revocation

is in the public interest and that ( 1 ) such broker

or dealer whether prior or subsequent to becoming
such, or (2) any partner, officer, director, or

branch manager of such broker or dealer (or any
person occupying a similar status or performing
similar functions) , or any person directly or indi-

rectly controlling or controlled by such broker or

dealer, whether prior or subsequent to becoming

such, * * * (D) has willfully

violated any provision of the Securities Act of

1933, as amended, or of this title, or of any nile or

regulation thereunder.
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(c) (1) No broker or dealer shall make use of

e mails or of any means or instrumentality of

terstate commerce to eflfect any transaction in, or

induce the purchase or sale of, any security

ther than commercial paper, bankers' accept-

;ices, or commercial bills) otherwise than on a

.tional securities exchange, by means of any

unipulative, deceptive, or other fraudulent device

> contrivance. The Commission shall, for the

irposes of this subsection, by rules and regula-

)ns define such devices or contrivances as are

iinipulative, deceptive, or otherwise fraudulent.

Sec. 15A. (a) Any association of brokers or

ialers may be registered with the Commission as

national securities association pursuant to sub-

ction (b) , or as an affiliated securities association

irsuant to subsection (d), under the terms and
nditions hereinafter provided in this section, by
ing with the Commission a registration state-

ent in such form as the Commission may pre-

ribe, • • •

(b) An applicant association shall not be regis-

red as a national securities association unless it

)pears to the Commission that

—

(4) the rules of the association provide that,

except with the approval or at the direction of
the Commission in cases in which the Com-
mission finds it appropriate in the publiq
interest so to approve or direct, no broker
or dealer shall be admitted to or continued in

membership in such association, if (1) such
broker or dealer, whether prior or subse-

quent to becoming such, or (2) any partner,

officer, director, or branch manager of such
broker or dealer (or any person occupying a

similar status or performing similar func-
tions), or any person directly or indirectly

controlling or controlled by such broker or

dealer, whether prior or subsequent to becom-
ing such, (A) has been and is suspended or
expelled from a registered securities associa-

tion (whether national or affiliated) or from
a national securities exchange, for violation

of any rule of such association or exchange
which prohibits any act or transaction con-

stituting conduct inconsistent with just and
equitable principles of trade, or requires any
act the omission of which constitutes conduct
inconsistent with just and equitable principles

of trade, or (B) is subject to an order of the
Commission denying or revoking his registra-

tion pursuant to section 15 of this title, or

expelling or suspending him from member-
ship in a registered securities association or a

national securities exchange, or (C) by his

conduct while employed by, acting for, or

directly or indirectly controlling or controlled

by, a broker or dealer, was a cause of any
suspension, expulsion, or order of the char-

acter described in clause (A) or (B) which
is in effect with respect to such broker or

dealer;

(1) The Commission is authorized, if such ac-

tion appears to it to be necessary or appropriate

in the public interest or for the protection of in-

vestors or to carry out the purposes of this sec-

tion

—
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(2) after appropriate notice and opportu-

nity for hearing, by order to suspend for a pe-

riod not exceeding 12 months or to expel from

a registered securities association any member

thereof who the Commission finds (A) has

violated any provision of this title or any

rule or regulation thereunder, or has eflfected

any transaction for any other person who, he

had reason to believe, was violating with re-

spect to such transaction any provision of this

title or any rule or regulation thereunder, or

(B) has willfully violated any provision of

the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or of

any rule or regulation thereunder, or has ef-

fected any transaction for any other person

who, he had reason to believe, was willfully

violating with respect to such transaction any

provision of such Act or rule or regulation;

Court Review of Orders

Section 25. (a) Any person aggrieved by an
order issued by the Commission in a proceeding
under this title to which such person is a party
may obtain a review of such order in the Court of
Appeals of the United States, within any circuit

wherein such person resides or has his principal

place of business, or in the United States Court
of Appeals for the District of Columbia, by filing

in such court, within sixty days after the entry of

such order, a written petition praying that the

order of the Commission be modified or set aside

in whole or in part. A copy of such petition shall

be forthwith transmitted by the clerk of the court

to any member of the Commission, and thereupon

the Commission shall file in the court the record

upon which the order complained of was entered,

as provided in section 2112 of title 28, United

States Code. Upon the filing of such petition

such court shall have jurisdiction, which upon the

filing of the record shall be exclusive, to aflfirm,

modify, and enforce or set aside such order, in

whole or in part. No objection to the order of

the Commission shall be considered by the court

unless such objection shall have been urged before
the Commission. The finding of the Commission

as to the facts, if supported by substantial evi-

dence, shall be conclusive. If either party shall

apply to the court for leave to adduce additional

evidence, and shall show to the satisfaction of the

court that such additional evidence is material

and that there were reasonable grounds for fail-

ure to adduce such evidence in the hearing before

the Commission, the court may order such addi-

tional evidence to be taken before the Commission

and to be adduced upon the hearing in such man-
ner and upon such terms and conditions as to the

court may seem proper. The Commission may
modify its findings as to the facts, by reason of

the additional evidence so taken, and it shall file

such modified or new findings, which, if sup-

ported by substantial evidence, shall be conclu-

sive, and its recommendation, if any, for the mod-
ification or setting aside of the original order.

The judgment and decree of the court, affirming,

modifying, and enforcing or setting aside, in

whole or in part, any such order of the Commis-
sion, shall be final, subject to review by the Su-

preme Court of the United States upon certiorari

or certification as provided in sections 239 and 240

of the Judicial Code, as amended (U. S. C, title

28,secs. 346and347).
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ENERAL RULES AND REGULATIONS

NDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

CT OF 1934

Rule lOb-5. Employment of Manipulative and

Deceptive Devices.

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or

indirectly, by the use of any means or instrumen-

ality of interstate commerce, or of the mails, or of

iny facility of any national securities exchange,

( 1 ) to employ any device, scheme, or arti-

fice to defraud,

(2) to make any untrue statement of a

material fact or to omit to state a material fact

necessary in order to make the statements

made, in the light of the circumstances under

which they were made, not misleading, or

(3) to engage in any act, practice, or

course of business which operates or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,

n connection with the purchase or sale of any
lecurity.

Rule 15cl-2. Fraud and Misrepresentation.

(a) The term "manipulative, deceptive, or
other fraudulent device or contrivance," as used
in section 15 (c) (1) of the Act, is hereby defined
to include any act, practice, or course of business
which operates or would operate as a fraud or
deceit upon any person.

(b) The term "manipulative, deceptive, or
other fraudulent device or contrivance." ns used

in section 15 (c) (1) of the Act, is hereby defined

to include any untrue statement of a material fact

and any omission to state a material fact necessary

in order to make the statements made, in the light

of the circumstances under which they are made,

not misleading, which statement or omission is

made with knowledge or reasonable grounds to be-

lieve that it is untrue or misleading.

(c) The scope of tlus lule shall not be lim-

ited by any specific definitions of the term "manip-
ulative, deceptive, or other fraudulent device or

contrivance" contained in other rules adopted

pursuant to section 15 (c) (1) of the Act.

dm





-5a-

EXTRACT FROM TRANSCRIPT OF TESTIMONY

(2608) Examiner Ewell: All right, gentlemen.

Let the record show that the hearing Is reconvened In the matter

of J* Logan and Company, 721 East Union Street, Pasadena, California, In

connection with proceedings under Section 15 (b) of the Securities and

Exchange Act of 1934, Commission Docket Number 8-4128.

The hearing is being reconvened pursuant to a notice sent out

by the Hearing Examiner, dated September 25th, 1959, directed to J* Logan

and Company and to other persons named in the order for proceedings.

The hearing was recessed on or about April 30th, 1959, after a

number of sessions, dally sessions, following the opening of the hearing

1/ Pages 2608-11 of the transcript of testimony were not designated as

part of the record on review. We are relying on these pages solely

in connection with petitioner's application for leave to adduce

additional evidence. In ruling on an application of this nature the

Court may consider matters outside the record, such as affidavits. See

Southport Petroleum Co . v. National Labor Relations Board . 315 U. S.

100, 103 (1942); National Labor Relations Board v. Forest Lawn

Memorial Park Ass'n. . 198 F. 2d 71 (C.A. 9, 1952); National Labor

Relations Board v. Jos. N. Fournier . 182 F. 2d 621, 622 (C.A. 2, 1950).

Accordingly, we are furnishing the Court a certified copy of pages

2608-11 of the transcript, and for the convenience of the Court and the

parties we are reproducing the pertinent portions of those pages in the

appendix to our brief. We assume that the affidavit of the petitioner,

filed on November 7, 1962, will also be considered by the Court in
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and was recessed at that time subject to the call o£ the Hearing Officer,

and pursuant to that arrangement » as noted on the record at that time, the

notice dated September 25th was sent out.

That notice read as follows:

*'J* Logan & Company

721 E. Union St.

Pasadena, Calif.

Re: Proceedings under Section 15 (b) of the Securities

Exchange Act, File No. 8-4128.

Gentlemen:

This is to notify you that the hearing in the (2609) above

matter, which was recessed subject to the call of the hearing

officer, will be reconvened on Thursday, October 15, 1959, at

10:00 a.m. in the branch office of this Commission located at

6331 Hollywood Boulevard, Los Angeles, California.

"In view of the extended adjournment all parties and

participants and their counsel are requested to arrange to

be in attendance at the hearing daily until all testimony to

be adduced on behalf of the Division of Trading and Exchanges

of the Commission has been concluded. And for your further

information and guidance, it is understood that there are some

fifty or more witnesses still to be heard from on behalf of

said Division.

"Very truly yours,

"James G. Ewell, Hearing Examiner."

Copies of that notice were sent to Mr. Norman M. Walker, Esquire, 9606
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Santa Monica Boulevard, Los Angeles, California; Howard M, Rhodes, Esquire,

902 Bay Cities Building, Santa Monica, California; David S. Robertson,

Esquire, 650 South Grant Avenue, Los Angeles 17, California; and Mr.

Charles R. Burr, Regional Administrator, Los Angeles Branch Office; Mr.

James C. Flanagan, 9937 Ahmann Avenue, Whittier, California; Mr. Allen

Sterling, 13900 Simonds Street, Grenada Hills, California; Mr. Claude S.

Jameson, Jr., Vice President (2610) Trading Department, 423 Meadow Grove

Street, Flintridge, California; Mrs. Mildred Baxter Logan, care of Logan

and Company, 721 East Union Street, Pasadena, California; Mr. Benjamin

Berk, 522 South Kelso Street, Inglewood, California; Mr. Trennis K. Lile,

1853 Meadowbrook Street, Altadena, California; Mr. Miles Hollister,

31214 Ballaird Road, Malibu, California; Mr. Carl Sarafian, 451 Martello

Avenue, Pasadena, California, and Mr. Frank Niles, 8451 East Beverly,

San Gabriel, California.

These notices were all sent by registered mail, return receipt

request.

The return receipts will be on file in the office of the Commission

in Washington.

Following this notice, the Examiner sent out another letter to

the parties and persons named in the Commission's order by reason of

the fact that, subsequent to sending out that letter, it came to the

attention of the Examiner that the number of witnesses referred to therein,

which was stated as fifty or more to be heard on behalf of the Coonission,

had been substantially reduced, and so the Examiner directed the following

letter, dated October 7, 1959, which was sent to all of these same parties

and persons mentioned above.
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Thls letter vent by air mail to the following effect.

After recital of the title of the case or the proceeding, the

letter states as follows:

(2611) "Since advising you that the hearing in the above matter will

be reconvened on October 15» 1959, it has come to my attention that

the number of witnesses to be called by counsel for the Division of

Trading and Exchange will probably be reduced substantially below

the number referred to in my letter of September 23, 1959.

"For this reason, and also because of the long period of

recess, it is requested that all parties and persons named in

the Commission's Order for Proceedings, and their counsel, be

prepared to go forward with evidence in defense of the Commission's

charges immediately upon conclusion of the direct testimony in

respect thereof.

"Very truly yours,

"James G. Swell, Hearing Examiner."

I believe that the recitation of the persons whom these letters

and notices were sent to constitute all of the persons named in the Com-

nission's Order for Proceedings, and I think now they are ready to proceed

vith the taking of testimony.
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Come now William J. Wineberg and the Estate of

Janet R. Wineberg, Deceased, William J. Wineberg,
Executor, the petitioners in the above-entitled proceed-
ing, appearing by Charles P. Duffy, one of their attor-

neys of record, and respectfully present this petition for

rehearing on the following grounds :

1. The Court concluded that "petitioner was engaged
in the trade or business of selling timber" by interpret-



ing the phrase "trade or business" in the light of earher

cases on this subject, and did not mention nor apply

the 1963 decision of the Supreme Court in A. J.

Whipple V. Commissioner, 373 U.S. 193, 83 S. Ct.

1168, in which the Supreme Court concluded, once

again, that there is a big difference between engaging

in income-producing activities and being actively en-

gaged in the pursuit of a trade or business. The Whipple

decision was not mentioned in the briefs filed by the

respective parties herein, since that case had not been

decided by the time that the reply brief was due. It was

called to the attention of the Court, however, at the

time of the oral argument herein.

The phrase "trade or business" found in Section 117

(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939, which defined

"capital asset", is precisely the same phrase found in

Section 23 (k) of the same Code, which was involved

in the Whipple case. The Court stated

:

"Congress deliberately used the words 'trade or

business', terminology familiar to the tax laws, (in

enacting the bad debt provisions) ... a concept

which falls far short of reaching every income or

profit-making activity."

The Court, in Whipple, made it clear that "investing

is not a trade or business", and stated that:

"As early as 1916, Congress . . . distinguished

the broad range of income or profit-producing ac-

tivities from those satisfying the narrow category

of trade or business." (italics supplied)

In Whipple, the Commissioner of Internal Revenue

argued successfully that "trade or business" embodied

a very narrow concept. In the present case, the same



phrase appearing in Section 117(a) is applied with a

broad brush in order to sustain the Commissioner's po-

sition here.

The Commissioner uses this phrase with a "heads I

win, tails you lose" attitude. We submit that the Com-

missioner should not be permitted to blow hot and cold

in applying this phrase. It is respectfully submitted that

the opinion of this Court in the instant case will permit

and encourage him to do so.

It is unfortunate that this Court has placed principal

emphasis on the facts relating to the Wineberg Timber

Company, as set forth in paragraphs 11 to 25, inclusive,

of the factual statement in the opinion, since the record

(R. 296) shows that petitioner "spent very little time

in Newport, Oregon". Moreover, that office was main-

tained for the principal purpose of "administering cer-

tain contracts of sale and watching operations" in Lin-

coln County, Oregon, (R. 272, 295); namely, the Mon-

roe contract and the Cascadia contract (R. 301-2).

2. With respect to issue No. 2, it is respectfully sub-

mitted that Section 117(k) merely enlarged the word

"sales" to include dispositions which would otherwise

not be sales, and that Section 117(j) granted capital

gains on sales of timber under the enlarged definition of

the word "sales". We believe that this follows from the

opinion of this Court in United States v. Giustina, et al,

313 F.2d 710, decided December 17, 1962.

3. With respect to the Monroe Lumber Company-

Kendall tract transaction, set forth on pages 17 to 19,

inclusive, of the opinion of the Court, there is nothing
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OPINION BELOW

The memorandum, findings of fact and opinion of

the Tax Court (R. 84-198) are not reported officially.

JURISDICTION

On May 11, 1962, the Tax Court of the United

States entered its decision determining deficiencies in



income taxes and additions to the tax due from the

petitioners as follows:

Year Income Tax Section 294(d)
(1939 Code)

1950 $18,902.06

1951 32,562.22

1952 45,887.27 $9,318.96
1953 34,882.63 4,558.07

A timely petition for review thereof was duly filed

with this Court on August 7, 1962 (R. 203). Jurisdic-

tion is conferred on this Court by Sections 7482 and

7483 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

SPECIFICATION OF ERRORS

1. The conclusions of law made by the Tax Court

are erroneous in the following particulars :

(a) The Tax Court erred in its interpretation

and application of Section 117(a) of the Internal

Revenue Code of 1939.

(b) The Tax Court erred in its interpretation

of, and failure to apply, the provisions of Sections

117(k) and 117(j) of the Internal Revenue Code of

1939.

(c) The Tax Court erred in its interpretation

of, and failure to apply, the provisions of Section

112(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939

to certain exchanges of like properties by peti-

tioners.

(d) In the alternative, the Tax Court erred in

its interpretation of, and failure to apply, the provi-

sions of Section 117(k)(2) of the Internal Revenue



Code of 1939 to certain dispositions of timber by-

petitioners.

(e) The Tax Court erred in its interpretation

of, and failure to apply, the provisions of Section

23 (o) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939 to a

charitable contribution made by petitioners in the

year 1953.

2. The Findings of Fact made by the Tax Court are

clearly erroneous in the following particulars

:

(a) The Tax Court erred in determining that

the timber sold or exchanged by petitioners during

the taxable years was theretofore held primarily

for sale to customers in the ordinary course of peti-

tioners' trade or business, within the purview of

Section 117(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of

1939.

(b) In the alternative, petitioners contend that

the Tax Court erred in determining that the peti-

tioners did not retain an economic interest in the

disposition of certain timber during the taxable

years, within the purview of Section 117(k)(2) of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1939.

(c) The Tax Court erred in determining that

certain "production royalties" received by petition-

ers during the years 1951, 1952 and 1953 constituted

ordinary income to petitioners rather than long

term capital gains.

(d) The Tax Court erred in determining that

an amount received by petitioners in 1950 for use

of a logging road constituted ordinary rental income



to petitioners, rather than long term capital gain

from the grant of an easement.

(e) The Tax Court erred in determining that

petitioners did not sustain a short term capital loss

of $10,000 from the sale of certain shares of stock

of Yaquina Bay Mills, Inc. in the year 1951.

(f) The Tax Court erred in determining that

an amount paid by petitioners in 1953 to a church

did not constitute an allowable charitable deduc-

tion.

3. The Tax Court erred in determining any income

tax deficiency against petitioners for any of the years

1950 to 1953, inclusive, and erred in failing to find over-

assessments for the years 1951, 1952 and 1953.

4. The Tax Court erred in imposing an underesti-

mate penalty against petitioners for either of the years

1952 or 1953, under the provisions of Section 294(d) of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1939.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The principal issue in this case is whether petitioners

realized capital gains or ordinary income from the sale

of certain tracts of timber during the years 1950 to

1953.

There is no real dispute as to the facts. Petitioner

William J. Wineberg was and is an investor in many

types of properties (R. 211). During the late 1920's (R.

87), the 1930's, and the early 1940's, he acquired a

considerable number of tracts of timber, mostly in Ore-



gon and Washington, at property tax delinquency sales

(R. 88, 266-7) at what now appear to be extremely low

prices. The economic upturn and the resulting inflation

during the years of World War II and thereafter caused

stumpage prices to multiply by leaps and bounds. Dur-

ing the years 1950 to 1953 petitioners sold or disposed

of less than eight per cent of their timber holdings (R.

93, 95-6, 212) to individuals or firms who approached

the petitioners to acquire certain of the properties (R.

260).

None of the properties was advertised for sale (R.

259); no offers were solicited on any tract of timber;

petitioners had no fixed price for the sale of such prop-

erties; in each instance the ultimate purchaser ap-

proached the petitioners to acquire the property; peti-

tioners never improved any of the properties in any

way; never constructed logging roads to any of the

properties in order to make them more salable; posted

no signs on any of the properties indicating that they

were for sale; and employed no salesman to sell any of

the tracts of timber (R. 260).

Despite these undisputed facts. Judge Irene F. Scott

of the Tax Court held that the timber tracts in ques-

tion were theretofore held by petitioners primarily for

sale to customers in the ordinary course of business and

were, therefore, not "capital assets" within the purview

of Section 117(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939.

Reaching that conclusion, she reclassified the sale pro-

ceeds from capital gains to ordinary income.

There are certain subsidiary and relatively minor



issues involved in this case which will be discussed under

the appropriate headings of the argument. These relate

to questions of whether certain transactions constituted

tax-free exchanges of "like kind" properties; whether

certain "production royalties" received by petitioners

during the years 1951, 1952 and 1953 constituted long

term capital gains or ordinary income; whether the

amounts received during 1950 for a logging road ease-

ment constituted ordinary rental income, rather than

long term capital gains; whether petitioners sustained a

short term capital loss from the sale of certain shares

of stock in the year 1951; and whether the petitioners

were entitled to a claimed charitable deduction in the

amount of $5,000 made by them in the year 1953.

STATUTES INVOLVED

INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1939:

Sec. 117(a)

"(1) Capital Assets.—The term 'capital assets'

means property held by the taxpayer (whether or

not connected with his trade or business), but does

not include

—

(A) stock in trade of the taxpayer or other

property of a kind which would properly be

included in the inventory of the taxpayer if on
hand at the close of the taxable year, or prop-

erty held by the taxpayer primarily for sale to

customers in the ordinary course of his trade

or business;

(B) property, used in his trade or business,

of a character which is subject to the allowance

for depreciation provided in section 23(1), or

real property used in his trade or business;"



Sec. 117(j)

"(1) Definition of Property Used in the Trade
or Business—For the purpose of this subsection,

the term 'property used in the trade or business'

means property used in the trade or business, of a
character which is subject to the allowance for

depreciation provided in section 23(1), held for

more than 6 months, and real property used in the
trade or business, held for more than 6 months,
which is not (A) property of a kind which would
properly be includible in the inventory of the tax-

payer if on hand at the close of the taxable year, or

(B) property held by the taxpayer primarily for

sale to customers in the ordinary course of his trade

or business. . . . Such term also includes timber or

coal with respect to which subsection (k)(l) or (2)
is applicable."

Sec. 117(k)

**Gain or Loss in the Case of Timber or Coal.

—

"(2) In the case of the disposal of timber or

coal . . . held for more than 6 months prior to such
disposal, by the owner thereof under any form or

type of contract by virtue of which the owner re-

tains an economic interest in such timber or coal,

the difference between the amount received for

such timber or coal and the adjusted depletion basis

thereof shall be considered as though it were a gain

or loss, as the case may be, upon the sale of such

timber or coal. . .
."

Sec. 112(b)

"Exchanges Solely in Kind.

—

"(1) Property Held for Productive Use or In-

vestment.—No gain or loss shall be recognized if

property held for productive use in trade or busi-

ness or for investment (not including stock in trade

or other property held primarily for sale, nor stocks,

bonds, notes, choses in action, certificates of trust

or beneficial interest, or other securities or evidences

of indebtedness or interest) is exchanged solely for
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property of a like kind to be held either for pro-

ductive use in trade or business or for investment."

Sec. 23

"Deductions from Gross Income.

—

"In computing net income there shall be allowed

as deductions:

"(o) Charitable and Other Contributions. — In

the case of an individual, contributions or gifts

payment of which is made within the taxable year

to or for the use of:

"(1)

"(2) A corporation, trust, or community chest,

fund or foundation, created or organized in the

United States or in any possession thereof or under
the law of the United States or of any State or

Territory or of any possession of the United States,

organized and operated exclusively for religious,

charitable, scientific, literary, or educational pur-

poses, or for the prevention of cruelty to children

or animals, no part of the net earnings of which
inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or

individual, and no substantial part of the activities

of which is carrying on propaganda, or otherwise

attempting, to influence legislation."

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

None of the specific tracts of timber sold by peti-

tioners during the taxable years before the Court were

theretofore held by them primarily for sale to customers

in the ordinary course of business. They were, therefore,

"capital assets" in the hands of petitioners and the sales

proceeds constituted capital gains.

It is respectfully submitted that the length of hold-



ing—an average of about eight years—and the lack of

"busy-ness" on the part of petitioners in bringing about

such sales, are the principal factors confirming the tax-

payers' contention that the timber in question was ac-

quired and held for investment.

Most of the tracts of timber in question were ac-

quired prior to World War II at property tax delin-

quency sales for prices that now appear to be very low.

Despite the tremendous increment in timber stumpage

values brought on by the wartime inflation, petitioners

disposed of only a small percentage of their timber hold-

ings during the taxable years before the Court and still

retain most of their timber to this date, despite numer-

ous offers.

It is true that petitioner William J. Wineberg had

a number of transactions with the logging and lumber

industry during these years, but had even more numer-

ous transactions in the stock market, as evidenced by

his income tax returns. The respondent, inconsistently,

has made no effort to reclassify the proceeds of such

gains from the sale of corporate stock. Petitioners had

investments in many areas and in many fields of en-

deavor (Exs. 1-A, 2-B, 3-C, 4-D). In any event, peti-

tioners respectfully submit that whether land or timber

constitutes a capital asset in the hands of a given tax-

payer depends not on who owns the land or timber, but

on how it is held. Land or timber is either held for

investment and is a capital asset or is held for sale

to customers in the ordinary course of the taxpayer's

trade or business. We believe that nothing in the record
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supports respondent's contention and the determination

by the Tax Court that petitioner was a "dealer", but

it should be unimportant to what extent the taxpayer

may have been in the timber business; the sole question

should be whether the property from which the gain

was derived was within the statutory definition of a

capital asset.

It is readily apparent that petitioners were holding

the property and not selling it because they expected

the property to further appreciate in value and thus

increase the profit that they would ultimately receive

upon the disposition thereof. This is the characterstic

of an investor—not a "dealer".

In the alternative, petitioners contend that a proper

interpretation and application of Sections 117(j) and

117(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939 would

grant them capital gains on all timber sales, regardless

of the purpose for which the timber was held.

The subsidiary issues are discussed under the sepa-

rate headings of Sections III to VIII, inclusive, of the

Argument.

ARGUMENT

I.

None of the specific tracts of timber in question were
held by petitioners primarily for sale to customers in the

ordinary course of business, within the purview of Section

n 7(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939.

For the convenience of the Court, we have included

herein, as Appendix A, a brief summary of the timber

transactions which are in dispute. It will be noted that
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these tracts were held by the petitioners for an average

of about eight years and that some of the
*

'sales" were

caused by unauthorized trespassers cutting their timber.

Petitioners also sold or disposed of other timber

during the years 1950 to 1953 under contracts by which

they retained an economic interest in the timber, within

the purview of Section 117(k)(2) of the Internal Reve-

nue Code of 1939. These transactions are summarized

in Appendix B hereto. The respondent has not ques-

tioned the petitioners' right to capital gains treatment of

these amounts.

Like the numerous lots purchased by the taxpayers

in W. E. Starke v. Commissioner, — F.2d — , decided

by this Court on January 10, 1963 (No. 17,337), and

Austin V. Commissioner (1959), 263 F.2d 460, most of

the properties were acquired by petitioners at tax de-

linquency sales in the late 1920's, the 1930's or early

1940's (R. 266-7).

The petitioner William J. Wineberg testified that

each property was acquired and held strictly for in-

vestment purposes (R. 256-7). We anticipate that re-

spondent will seek to discount this testimony of the

petitioner as being self-serving, but the Commissioner

offered no evidence to the contrary. Cf. Ross v. Com-

missioner, 5 Cir., 227 F.2d 265, cited in Starke v. Com-

missioner, supra. In any event, there should be no dis-

pute between the parties that no property was adver-

tised for sale; no offers were solicited on any tract of

timber; petitioners had no fixed price for the sale of

such properties; in each instance the ultimate purchaser
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approached petitioners to acquire the property; peti-

tioners never improved any of the properties in any

way; petitioners never constructed logging roads to any

of the properties in order to make them more salable;

petitioners posted no signs on any of the properties in-

dicating that they were for sale; and petitioners em-

ployed no salesmen to sell any of their tracts of timber

(R. 259-260).

In dispute is the nature of the proceeds of the sale

of some twenty-seven tracts of timber during the four

years in question, five of such sales being of an involun-

tary nature caused by unauthorized trespasses. With

respect to the latter, the Tax Court even seems to have

held that the petitioners were holding their properties

for sale to such trespassers.

The most recent decision of this Court on this gen-

eral issue was in the case of W. E. Starke v. Commis-

sioner, — F.2d — , decided January 10, 1963 (No. 17,

337). It is interesting to note that Judge Scott relied

on the Starke case (R. 169)—prior to its reversal by

this Court—in deciding the instant case. The Court

will recall that the taxpayer in that case was a lawyer

who had acquired a great many lots at property tax

delinquency sales through the medium of improvement

bonds. The tax years 1953 to 1955, inclusive, were in-

volved in that case, and the profit from the sales of

real property in those years far exceeded the net income

of the taxpayer from his law practice. In addition to

the sales of real property during the taxable years be-

fore the Court, the taxpayers had sold a number of lots,
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both prior to those years and subsequent thereto. As

the Tax Court pointed out in its opinion, 35 T.C. 18,

at 24, the petitioner received profits during 1953 from

81 installment sales made prior to 1953. At page 26

of its opinion, the Tax Court recites the fact that Mr.

Starke, during the year 1953, made a total of 68 real

property transactions involving 139 lots. In 1954, he

had a total 41 transactions involving 89 lots, and in

1955 there was a total of at least 25 sales involving 59

lots. In the next year, the large number of sales con-

tinued, there being 25 sales involving a total of 80 lots.

The taxpayer argued unsuccessfully in the Tax Court

that he devoted most of his time to his law practice, but

the Tax Court stated

:

"We think there was certainly 'busyness' on the

part of the petitioner in the acquisition and sale

of the large number of lots dealt with in the years

in question and prior thereto. The petitioner, either

personally or through his secretary, was consistently

engaged in the activity of acquiring title to lots,

discussing proposed sales, and transferring title to

lots. A lack of 'busyness' with respect to solicitation

of purchasers is not decisive where, as here, there

was a seller's market and purchasers sought out

the petitioner."

The Tax Court refused to follow the earlier decision of

this Court in Austin v. Commissioner, 263 F.2d 460,

which had reversed an earlier opinion of the Tax Court.

On appeal, this Court, in the Starke case, reversed the

Tax Court again and held, for the following reasons,

that the taxpayer was entitled to capital gains treat-

ment of the proceeds from the numerous sales of lots:

"The days that Starke must have been waiting
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for came in t±ie war time years of 1941-1945 and
again in 1953, 1954 and 1955. San Diego was ex-

periencing an economic upturn which brought lot

buyers to Starke's door. He had the lots. They
bought, and he sold. There was considerable profit,

Starke, in 1953 and thereafter, continued to treat

his profits as capital gains, as he had done through
the preceding years. But the commissioner has
taken the position for the years 1953, 1954 and 1955
that Starke was in the business of selling lots: ergo,

he must treat the profit as ordinary income and
cannot retain his own theory of capital gains. On
redetermination, the tax court has sustained the

commissioner. Its decision, 35 T.C. 18, is here for

review. We agree with the taxpayer.

"No one element is dispositive. But here there

is no evidence of a campaign to sell, no advertising,

no 'holding out'. Purchasers had to find Starke.

Certainly prior to 1941-1945 and 1952-1955 one
would be hard pressed to say Starke was in the

business of selling lots. We do not think under all of

the circumstances that his decision to unload in the

sellers market of 1953-1955, when buyers came to

his door, should charge Starke with an interlude of

business. True, his profit is measured by the year,

but 'business' as distinguished from 'investment'

should be measured by the course of the known
years. It is in measuring the whole course here that

we conclude he had investment. The active business

shown by Starke was that of a practicing lawyer.

We believe had the taxpayer been involved in the

same number of stock purchases and sales at the

same costs and selling prices on the same dates, no
one would have questioned his right to capital

gains."

Unlike Starke and Austin, petitioner William J.

Wineberg was not a member of the bar. He was and is

an investor (R. 211) or, if you will, a capitalist. It i§
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submitted that his relationship to the properties was as

passive as the lawyer's in those cases.

It is true that petitioner William J. Wineberg made

a certain number of timber sales during the years in

question, but it is equally true that he made numerous

and more frequent sales of corporate securities on the

stock exchange during these years. An examination of

the income tax returns of petitioners for the years in

question (Exs. 1-A, 2-B, 3-C and 4-D) indicates that

the petitioners were actively engaged in buying and

selling in the stock market—not in selling timber. For

example, in filing their joint income tax return for the

year 1950 (Ex. 1-A), petitioners reported nine sales of

timber during such year, which were reported by them

as long-term capital gains. The gross selling price of

these tracts of timber was $95,526.11. Petitioners also

reported six small sales of real property during that

year, with the selling prices aggregating $16,715.45. Dur-

ing the same year, petitioners reported 37 separate sales

of corporate securities for sales prices aggregating $190,-

284.86, as long-term capital gains, and also reported 9

separate other sales of corporate securities as short-term

capital gains, with aggregate sales prices of $28,161.73.

Respondent, although reclassifying the gain on the out-

right timber sales as ordinary income, approved the

capital gain treatment of the security sales despite the

number of the sales and the dollar amounts involved

therein.

The returns filed by petitioners for these years indi-

cate that they had widely diversified investments during
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this period. The 1953 return (Ex. 4-D) shows dividends

received from 58 different corporations, rentals received

from various properties, the operation of a dairy and

farm, and even a race horse venture. We recognize the

fact, as indicated in the Starke decision, that a taxpayer

may be in many active businesses all at the same time

and all of his businesses be subject to ordinary income

rates without capital gains treatment. On the other

hand, as this Court pointed out in Austin v. Commis-

sioner, 263 F.2d 460:

"Carrying on a business, however, implies an
occupational undertaking to which one habitually

devotes time, attention or effort with substantial

regularity. Merely disposing of investment assets at

intermittent intervals, without more, is not engag-
ing in business, even though some preliminary

effort is necessary to render the asset saleable."

In the Austin case, supra, the petitioner had made

94 sales of real property in 10 years, and the Tax Court

found that there appeared to be a more or less con-

sistent activity in the sale of lots over a period of years,

resulting in a steady flow of income. The Tax Court

noted that petitioner's net profits from real estate sales

were substantially in excess of the net collections from

his law practice and that he must have spent consider-

able time in his law office drawing up sales contracts.

The Tax Court rejected the petitioner's arguments that

he did not advertise the lots which were, in fact, sold,

upon the theory that the seller's market made such ac-

tivity unnecessary. In reversing the Tax Court, this

Court, citing its earlier decision in Palos Verdes Corp.

v. United States, 201 F.2d 56, stated;
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"It is sound law that holding an asset for many-
years indicates an intention to hold for investment,

rather than for sale, (citations) and the long period
of holding assets without being disposed of violates

the concept of an organized business with respect

thereto." (citations)

Commenting specifically on the contrary findings of

the Tax Court in the Austin case, this Court declared:

"Petitioner did nothing to attract prospective

buyers. Prospective buyers after checking with tax

rolls would seek out the petitioner. The only time
or effort devoted by petitioner was after he had
been sought out by prospective purchasers or their

brokers, and such time and effort related only to

negotiations carried on, mostly over the telephone,

as to sales prices and terms. The transactions were
consummated by title companies. There is nothing

in the record to suggest that such negotiations were
extensive or required much effort or time.

"The profits realized by petitioners, as well as

the sales, were not the result of any efforts ex-

pended by petitioner. After 1945 there was a large

amount of real estate development in Manhattan
Beach. Persons were seeking to buy lots there, and
as a result of such demand petitioners were able to

sell lots at substantial prices which he had pur-

chased for relatively small sums or acquired in

payment of legal fees. This increase in prices bore

no relationship to petitioner's investment or the

time he devoted to consummate sales."

"It is our view, based upon the entire record,

that petitioner was not engaged in the business of

selling real property during the tax years in ques-

tion, and that the properties sold were not being

held primarily for sale to customers. The conclu-

sion of the Tax Court in our opinion is clearly er-

roneous, and on the entire record a mistake has

been made. . ,

,"
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We recognize that the Starke opinion expressly de-

clared that it did not "impair the validity" of the fol-

lowing earlier cases in which this Court had held that

sales of varying volume were in the ordinary course of

business and the proceeds therefrom not entitled to in-

vestment treatment: Rollingwood v. Commissioner, 190

F.2d 263; Cohn v. Commissioner, 226 F.2d 22; Homann
V. Commissioner, 230 F.2d 671; Pool v. Commissioner,

251 F.2d 233; Rubino v. Commissioner, 186 F.2d 304;

and Stockton Harbor Industrial Company v. Commis-

sioner, 216 F.2d 638.

Rollingwood involved the sale of more than eight

hundred homes, over a four-year period, which had

been constructed in a World War II housing project.

The taxpayer stated that its business was "Develop-

ment of subdivision and selling of homes to defense

workers" (1950 TC Memo. Dec, Par 50,180). Cohn

also involved a subdivider who built war housing units

which were sold shortly after they were completed

—

at least, as soon as the wartime restrictions were lifted.

Homann also involved eighty-five houses constructed in

1945 for war workers. They were sold in the following

year, after removal of wartime restrictions. Pool in-

volved taxpayers who were " 'speculative builders' of

homes for profit, which were disposed of as quickly as

possible after they were built". There was substantial

selling activity. Rubino was the per curiam affirmance

by this Court of a memorandum decision of the Tax

Court in which the taxpayer stated on his income tax

return that he was "engaged in building homes for sale

and on contract". Stockton Harbor had previously filed
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a document with the Bureau of Internal Revenue, stat-

ing that "the real properties of the corporation are held

primarily for sale" and the evidence indicated a sub-

stantial sales effort to dispose of a large industrial tract

to various customers. In each of these cases, the holding

period was not more than one or two years and, in

each instance, the evidence showed that only wartime

restrictions and conditions prevented even earlier sales.

The decisions in those cases should be compared to the

war-rental housing case of McGah v. Commissioner,

210 F.2d 769, decided by this Court in 1954. In that

case, it was noted that the taxpayer still was renting

approximately one third of its houses and disposed of

the remaining portion in order to reduce its indebted-

ness. The retention of a substantial portion of the rental

units is, we believe, similar to the retention by the peti-

tioner William J. Wineberg of more than nine tenths

of his timber "despite a ready market and opportunity

to realize large profits", as in the McGah case.

The average holding period of the properties dis-

posed of during the taxable year and which are in dis-

pute here (Appendix A) was approximately eight years.

The average holding period in Starke, supra, was about

ten years. It is readily apparent that petitioner contem-

plated holding these properties for a great many years

and that only the phenomenal rise in the value of

stumpage caused him to dispose of some of his total

holdings to persons or firms who sought him out and

offered to buy.

Was there any "busy-ness" on the part of petitioner

aOSEKIdKfi
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in bringing about the sale of these tracts of timber?

What he didn't do is set out in the first part of this

argument. Petitioner testified that he never saw most

of the properties (R. 253). However, we anticipate that

respondent will point to the frequent timber sales by-

petitioner during this period (but not nearly so num-

erous as the sales in Starke or Austin) ; the fact that

petitioner had a real estate salesman's license at one

time (but not since the year 1926—Ex. 43-QQ, R. 264,

302); the fact that petitioner personally approved all

sales (R. 287)—any investor in the stock market does

the same; the fact that petitioner required purchasers

of timber, where he retained the land, to follow good

forest practices; and the fact that petitioner expended

funds for reseeding and pest control (R. 294-5). These,

however, would appear to be attributes of the investor

—not the dealer. It takes forty to seventy years for a

crop of timber to grow (R. 301).

We also anticipate that respondent will contend

that there was "busy-ness" on the part of petitioner in

the operation of the one-room office of "Wineberg Tim-

ber Co." at Newport (Lincoln County), Oregon (R.

271), which was managed by one Ellis Moses, an em-

ployee of petitioner (R. 347). "Wineberg Timber Co."

was a name assumed by petitioner in 1952 (R. 347) or

1953 (Ex. 40-NN) for the principal purpose of "admin-

istering certain contracts of sale and watching opera-

tions" in Lincoln County, Oregon (R. 272, 295), namely,

the Monroe contract and the Cascadia contract (R.

301-2). During the year 1952, petitioner had log (not

timber) sales of $165,000 (Ex. 3-C) and in 1953 he haci
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log and lumber sales of $194,000 (Ex. 4-D), all of which

were reported by petitioners as ordinary income. These

were from selective cutting contracts (R. 270) which

required supervision. Trespasses on the timber had to

be ascertained and settled (R. 262); reseeding and for-

est sanitation was necessary to preserve petitioner's

timber holdings (R. 295) ; and petitioner was always

desirous of acquiring more logged-off land or land and

timber adjoining his holdings (R. 283, 286).

Although petitioner maintained a desk in his home

(R. 306), in Vancouver, Washington, the Newport,

Oregon, office received many inquiries for different

tracts of land or timber owned by the petitioner (R.

348). Respondent's witness, Ellis Moses, testified, how-

ever, that there was no advertising for sale of any tim-

ber or land (R. 353). Petitioner William J. Wineberg

"spent very little time in Newport, Oregon" (R. 296).

By its decision in Ah Pah Redwood Company v.

Commissioner, 251 F.2d 163, this Court remanded to

the Tax Court for further decision as to whether the

taxpayer in that case was holding certain timber pri-

marily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of

its trade or business. The articles of incorporation of

the corporate taxpayer in that case stated that it was

formed "to engage in the business of buying, selling,

and owning timber and of carrying on a general log-

ging and lumber business." The Tax Court also found

that "this purpose included the manufacturing, selling,

processing, and shipping of lumber and related products;

the construction, ownership, and operation of sawmills,
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tanbark mills, and pulp mills, as well as tramroads,

railroads and steamships; and the acquisition, holding,

improving, encumbering, developing, and exchanging of

real and personal property of every kind." On remand,

the Tax Court (TC Memo 1959-44) made the following

ultimate finding:

"Petitioner did not advertise the Sage timber
for sale. It did not employ salesmen and it did not
solicit offers from buyers. Nor did petitioner log or

mill the Sage timber. It had no logging equipment
and no sawmill and did not log timber or manufac-
ture lumber during the taxable years.

,

"Throughout the years 1948 and 1949 petitioner

did not hold the Sage timber primarily for sale to

customers in the ordinary course of its trade or

business."

We respectfully submit that in the instant case there

was no evidence of any holding of the properties for

sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. The

only way in which the petitioners could have been less

active in the transactions would have been for them to

have refused to make any sales whatsoever.

The taxpayers who were involved in the recent de-

cision of the Court of Claims in Scott et al v. United

States (1962), 305 F.2d 460, had made twenty-four

purchases of timberlands in the State of Oregon, involv-

ing twenty- five tracts of timber, during the years 1944

through 1949 at a total cost of approximately $146,000.

From 1944 through 1952, in fourteen transactions, the

parties sold the twenty- five tracts for a total selling

price in excess of $800,000. As in the instant case, the

Commissioner of Internal Revenue took the position



23

that the timberlands were theretofore held by the tax-

payers primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary

course of business. In rejecting this contention by the

Commissioner and deciding in favor of the taxpayers,

the Court of Claims stated:

"Obviously plaintiffs acquired this property for

sale but we do not think they acquired or held

property 'primarily for sale to customers in the

ordinary course of his trade or business,' as stated

in the statute. . . .

"No one factor, obviously, is determinative of

whether or not property is held primarily for sale

to customers in the ordinary course of one's trade

or business. But, among the factors regarded by
the courts as important are the activities of the tax-

payer, or his agents, in promoting sales, the extent

of the development and improvement of the prop-

erty, the purpose for which the property was ac-

quired, and the frequency and continuity of sales."

Like the petitioners in the instant case, the Court

of Claims found that no effort was made by the tax-

payers to develop or improve the property, no roads

were built to or on the timberlands, and no logging

operations were ever conducted thereon by the parties.

The Court then made the following significant observa-

tion:

"The price of timber rose so rapidly after the

war from 1946 until 1952 that it was possible to

sell the timberlands at substantial profit after much
shorter holding periods than was anticipated when
the tracts were purchased. . . .

"The average holding period for all the tracts

purchased between 1944 and 1949 and sold between
1946 and 1952 was 34 months. Timberlands of the

type purchased under the agreement between plain-
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tiffs and McFadon were held by tJieir owners for

ten to twenty years or longer. However, the rapid
rise in the price of timber after World War II made
it possible to make profitable disposition of tim-
berlands after shorter holding periods than had
been anticipated when the earlier purchases had
been made under the agreement. The profit real-

ized from these sales by plaintiffs was not due to

any business activity by plaintiffs; it resulted from
this rapid rise in the price of timber which had
been purchased as a capital asset investment, and
not 'primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary
course of (their) trade or business' as defined in the

Internal Revenue Code of 1939, Section 117."

II.

In the alternative, the Tax Court erred in its interpre-

tation of, and failure to apply, the provisions of Sections

117(k) and 117(j) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939.

The intent of Congress to grant capital gains on

timber by the 1943 enactment of Sec. 117(k) and the

contemporaneous technical amendment of Sec. 117(j)

of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939, appears from

the following portion of Senate Report No. 627, 78th

Congress, 1st Sess., pages 25-26:

"7/1 short, if the taxpayer cuts his own timber,

he loses the benefit of the capital gain rate which
applies when he sells the same timber outright to

another. Similarly, owners who sell their timber on
a so-called cutting contract under which the owner
retains an economic interest in the property are

held to have leased their property and are, there-

fore, not accorded under present law capital gains

treatment of any increase in value realized over the

depletion basis.



25

"In order to remedy t±iis situation, it is pro-

posed to amend the existing law, as follows:

^ ^ ^ ^ ^

"If an owner of timber disposes of it under a

contract by virtue of which he retains an economic
interest in such timber, the amount received by
such owner is to be treated in a similar manner."
(i.e. as a gain or loss upon the sale of the timber.)

"This latter provision will afford relief to those

who have leased their property under a contract

whereby they retain an economic interest in the

timber and are not entitled under the present law
to capital gains treatment because oi that fact."

(Emphasis supplied)

Section 117(j), as amended in 1943, provided capital

gains treatment on net gains from the sale of real or

depreciable property used in the trade or business of

the taxpayer and held for over six months. While the

term "property used in the trade or business" excludes

property held by the taxpayer primarily for the sale

to customers in the ordinary course of his trade or

business, such term (by the 1943 amendment) includes

timber, with respect to which Subsection (k)(l) or

(k)(2) applies, without any exclusion for property held

by the taxpayer primarily for sale to customers in the

ordinary course of his trade or business.

Respondent should agree that Section 117(j) grants

capital gains on sales of timber, with respect to which

Subsection (k) applies, regardless of the nature of the

taxpayer's business. Petitioners contend that Section

117(k) applies to their timber sales, whether or not an

economic interest was retained. Subsection (k)(2) only

provides that a disposal of timber held for more than
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six mont±is, with an economic interest retained, shall be

considered as though it were a sale of such timber, and

Section 117(j) provides capital gains for timber to which

Section 117(k) applies. Subsection (k) uses the word

"sale", as well as the term "disposal with an economic

interest retained". When considering this statute along

with the Senate Finance Committee report at the time

of its adoption, it appears that Congress intended to

put disposals of timber with an economic interest re-

tained in exactly the same category as sales of timber.

There is, however, nothing to indicate that Congress

intended to give an advantage to taxpayers disposing

of timber with an economic interest retained, as com-

pared to taxpayers who sell their timber outright.

It will be noted that the petitioners made other sales

of timber during the taxable years (Appendix B) but

retained an economic interest therein, thus qualifying

for capital gains treatment under Section 117(k)(2).

The respondent does not question this. Respondent's

theory seems to be that one can make thousands of dis-

posals with an economic interest retained and receive

capital gains, whereas if he makes a few real sales, Sec-

tion 117(k) is not applicable.

Literally, a disposal with an economic interest re-

tained is not a sale, but Congress provided in Section

117(k) that it would be considered as though it were

a sale. It is unlikely that Congress intended to grant

capital gains on disposals with an economic interest re-

tained and deny capital gains for actual sales.

If Congress intended to provide capital gains only
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to taxpayers who were not dealers and who either cut

their own timber or disposed of the same by contract

under which they retained an economic interest, then

the addition of Section 117(k) to the Internal Revenue

Code of 1939, without any amendment to Section

117(j), would have clearly accomplished this purpose.

Then gains to anyone who disposed of timber, whether

by outright sale, by cutting his own or by contract by

which he retained an economic interest, would be deter-

mined to be capital gains or ordinary income under

Section 117(a). However, Congress went further and

amended Section 117(j) granting capital gains on all

gains from disposals of timber to which Section 117(k)

applies, regardless of the nature of the taxpayer's busi-

ness or the purpose for which the timber was held.

Petitioner's interpretation of Section 117(j) and

(k), together, is that Section 117(k) merely enlarged

the word "sale" to include dispositions that otherwise

would not be sales, and that Section 117(j) granted

capital gains on sales of timber under the enlarged defi-

nition of the word "sales". Therefore, petitioners sub-

mit, in the alternative, that they were entitled to capi-

tal gains treatment of the proceeds from all timber sales,

whether they held the timber for investment, as they

contend, or for sale, as respondent contends.
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III.

The Tax Court erred in its failure to apply the provi-

sions of Section 112(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1939 to certain exchanges during the taxable years of

like properties.

The 1950 transaction with Wrenn Planing Mill (R.

103-4), the 1951 transaction with Monroe Lumber Co.

(R. 107-110), the 1952 transaction with Springfield

Plywood Co. (R. 111-113), and the 1953 transaction

with Pritzlaff and Wilson (R. 113-121) each quahfied

as a nontaxable exchange of like properties, within the

purview of Section 112(b)(1) of the 1939 Internal Rev-

enue Code, except to the extent of boot received in

such exchanges, which boot was duly recorded by peti-

tioners on the returns filed by them for the respective

years (Exs. 1-A, 2-B, 3-C, 4-D).

Section 112(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of

1939, applicable to the tax years in question, provided

as follows:

"Property held for productive use or invest-

ment—no gain or loss shall be recognized if prop-

erty held for productive use in trade or business or

for investment ... is exchanged solely for property

of a like kind to be held either for productive use

in trade or business or for investment."

The Tax Court did not determine that these were

not, in fact, true exchanges of properties of "like kind".

The Tax Court stated:

"We have held that petitioner's timber, in each

of the years here involved, was held by him primar-

ily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of
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his trade or business and not for investment. There-
fore, since the property transferred by petitioner

was not held by him for productive use in his trade

or business or for investment, the transactions re-

sult in recognizable gains. Cf. Regals Realty Co. v.

Commissioner, 127 F.2d 931 (C.A.2, 1942) affirm-

ing BTA 194 (1940).

"It is, therefore, unnecessary to pass upon other

contentions made by respondent. We sustain re-

spondent's determination with respect to each of

the claimed exchanges." (R. 174)

This issue is directly related, therefore, to the pri-

mary issue as to whether or not the specific tracts of

timber sold or exchanged by petitioners during the tax-

able years were theretofore held primarily for sale to

customers in the ordinary course of business. Petition-

ers respectfully request that, if this Court finds that

petitioners are entitled to prevail on the primary issue,

the case be remanded to the Tax Court for a further de-

termination as to whether or not these were, in fact,

true exchanges of like properties, within the purview

of Section 112(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code

of 1939.

IV.

The Tax Court erred in its Interpretation of the con-

tract between petitioners and one J. L. Ledgett and erred

in failing to apply the provisions of Section n7(k)(2) of

the Internal Revenue Code of 1939 thereto.

On November 10, 1952, petitioner William J. Wine-

berg entered into an agreement with one J. L. Ledgett (R.

122-125, Ex. 10-J) under the terms of which petitioner
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sold to Ledgett for $30,000 all of the merchantable

timber on certain real property owned by petitioners

in Linn County, Oregon. Petitioners received a $5,000

payment on the purchase price upon execution of the

contract, and the balance of $25,000 was paid to them

during the year 1953 (R. 122). The agreement is set

forth on pages 122 to 124, inclusive, of the transcript of

the record.

As the agreement indicates, the balance of the pur-

chase price was payable by the purchaser, J. L. Ledgett,

at the rate of $20 per M for all saw logs removed from

the tract and at the rate of $35 per M for all peeler logs

removed from the tract, with petitioners retaining an

economic interest in the timber until the purchase price

was paid.

For the reasons stated under section I of the Argu-

ment herein, petitioners contend that the property in

question was not held by them theretofore primarily

for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business,

but in the alternative, petitioners contend that the con-

tract with J. L. Ledgett provided for the retention by

the petitioners of an economic interest in said timber,

thus qualifying for the treatment of the proceeds there-

from in accordance with the provisions of Section

117(k)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939.

An examination of the agreement (R. 122-124 (Ex.

10-J) reveals the fact that this was a "pay-as-cut" con-

tract in which the petitioners retained an economic in-

terest in the timber within the purview of the code sec-

tion referred to above. Particular reference should be
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made to paragraph 10 (R. 124) of the agreement with

Ledgett in which the petitioners reserve the right to

cancel the rights of the purchaser in the event of any

default in the making of the payments.

It is recognized by this Court, Ah Pah Redwood Co.

V. Commissioner, 251 F.2d 163, and by respondent (Rev.

Rul. 57-90, 1957-1 CB 199) that if a taxpayer other-

wise conforms to the requirements of Section 117(k)(2),

he is entitled to capital gains treatment thereunder,

notwithstanding that he was holding the timber dis-

posed of primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary

course of business.

We submit that an examination of the agreement

will show that the petitioners had, in fact, retained an

economic interest therein within the purview of this

code section. The balance of the purchase price was to

be paid by J. L. Ledgett as he sold the logs and, be-

cause of the financial condition of Ledgett (R. 239),

petitioners believed that he could not pay for the tim-

ber until he cut the same and sold the logs. Contrary

to the conclusion of Judge Scott (R. 179) petitioners

were dependent upon the severance and sale of the

timber for a return of their investment. Petitioners were,

of necessity, looking to the cutting of this timber for the

payment of the purchase price (R. 239), and the reten-

tion by the petitioners of an economic interest in said

timber appears to be self-evident.

It is submitted that this transaction is entitled to

capital gains treatment.
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V.

The Tax Court erred in determining that certain "pro-
duction royalties" received by petitioners during the years

1951, 1952 and 1953 constituted ordinary income to

petitioners rather than long term capital gains.

On July 5, 1951, petitioners entered into an agree-

ment with Cascadia Lumber Company (R. 126-133,

Ex. 54), providing for the sale by petitioners to Cas-

cadia Lumber Company of certain timber then owned

by petitioners. The purchase price to be paid to peti-

tioners was computed on a basis of certain dollar

amounts per thousand board feet of such timber, and

the agreement also provided that the purchaser of the

timber would pay to petitioners the additional sum of

75 f^ per thousand board feet for all lumber manufac-

tured at the mill of Cascadia Lumber Company. On

the same day, petitioner William J. Wineberg entered

into a related and similar agreement with Yaquina Bay

Mills, Inc. (Ex. 55), by the terms of which that corpo-

ration agreed, inter alia, to pay to petitioners additional

sums equal to 75^' per thousand board feet on all lum-

ber surfaced or processed at the plant of said corpora-

tion.

During the years 1951 to 1953, inclusive, petitioners

received the following amounts (which were determined

by the quantity of lumber manufactured in the saw-

mill of Cascadia Lumber Company or surfaced in the

planing and remanufacturing mill of Yaquina Bay Mills,

Inc., as stated in the preceding paragraph) which were

inadvertently and erroneously reported on the petition-
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ers' income tax returns filed for said years as ordinary-

income "production royalties", rather than as long term

capital gains;

Year Amount
1951 $ 9,008.15

1952 15,314.76

1953 17,774.55

(R. 133, Exs 2-B, 3-C, 4-D)

The facts relating to to this item are set forth more

fully in the record at pages 126 to 133, inclusive.

By appropriate amendments to their petition to the

Tax Court filed by petitioners at the close of the hear-

ing, petitioners alleged that the amounts stated above

should have been reported by them as long term capital

gains, and their taxable income for such years should

have been reduced accordingly.

Examination of the agreement (Ex. 54) reveals the

fact that this was a "pay-as-cut" contract in which

the petitioners retained an economic interest in the tim-

ber, within the purview of Section 117(k)(2) of the

Internal Revenue Code of 1939. As this Court stated, in

Ah Pah Redwood Co. v. Commissioner, 251 F.2d 163:

"A taxpayer is entitled to capital-gains treat-

ment of income derived from the disposal of tim-

ber under Section 117(k)(2), without regard to

the purpose for which the timber was held, pro-

vided the taxpayer satisfies the other requirements

set forth in the cited statutes."

A further examination of these two agreements (Exs.

54 and 55) shows that these so-called "production roy-

alties" were, in fact, additional amounts being paid to

petitioners for their timber (R. 128). Respondent has
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not questioned the right of petitioners to capital gains

treatment of the other proceeds from the timber. It would

appear, therefore, that the so-called "production royal-

ties" from Cascadia Lumber Company and Yaquina

Bay Mills, Inc., received by petitioners pursuant to the

terms of these agreements were entitled to capital gains

treatment just as were the amounts received directly

for the sale of the timber, whether or not the petitioner

William J. Wineberg was a "dealer", as contended by

respondent.

VI.

The Tax Court erred in determining that petitioners

did not sustain a short term capital loss of $10,000 from
the sale of certain shares of stock of Yaquina Bay Mills,

Inc. in the year 1951.

The evidence relating to the disposition of petition-

ers' shares of stock of Yaquina Bay Mills, Inc. is set

forth in detail on pages 137 to 151 of the transcript of

the record. The contentions by the respondent in the

court below, that petitioners' claimed basis for the stock

was understated and that they did not have the requi-

site six months holding period prior to disposition there-

of, were determined against respondent by the Tax

Court and are no longer in controversy.

The petitioners contend, however, that the Tax

Court erred in failing to find (R. 189-191) that they

sustained a short term capital loss on the disposition in

1953 of the remaining 675 shares of such stock. The

parties are agreed that the cost basis to petitioners wa§
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$81,000. It is petitioners' contention that the selling

price of certificate No. 5 for 675 shares was $71,000.

This is exactly what the agreement between George F.

Miller Lumber Co. and petitioner (Ex. 39-MM) says.

The Tax Court, however, refused to give effect to the

purchase price allocation. (R. 190) Respondent called

Mr. George E. Miller as a witness, who testified:

"Well, there were weeks or months of negotia-

tions and it wasn't just a deal overnight. It was
sort of a complicated deal but the paper that we
signed would have to confirm just what it is." (R.

408)

Unless the agreement between these unrelated par-

ties is ignored, the tax consequences of the sale of the

1350 shares of Yaquina Bay Mills, Inc. by petitioners

in 1951 should be as follows:

Date Date No. Selling Profit or

Acquired1 Sold Shares Cost Prices Loss

6/50 3/51 375 $ 33,333.75 $ 52,500.00 $19,166.25

6/50 5/51 300 29,166.25 101,500.00 72,333.75

3/51 5/51 675 81,000.00 71,000.00 (10,000.00)

1350 $143,500.00 $225,000.00 $81,500.00

Petitioners submit that they sustained a short term

capital loss of $10,000, in addition to the long term

capital gains as indicated above.
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VII.

The Tax Court erred in determining that an amount
received by petitioners in 1950 for use of a logging road
constituted ordinary rental income to petitioners rather

than long term capital gain from the grant of an ease-

ment.

In 1944, petitioner William J. Wineberg had ac-

quired certain timberlands in Lincoln County, Oregon,

which were the subject of a contract of February 10,

1950 (R. 136, Ex. 8-H) with Monroe Lumber Company.

Under the terms of that contract, Monroe Lumber Com-

pany agreed to pay to petitioner the sum of $4,000 for

logging roads theretofore constructed by a previous

contract purchaser of the property which had defaulted

on its contract (R. 136). The $4,000 received by pe-

titioners for the sale of such improvements to Monroe

Lumber Company was reported on their 1950 income

tax return (Ex. 1-A) as a long-term gain from the sale

of a capital asset and did not represent "road rentals"

as determined by the Tax Court. Petitioners respectfully

submit that the agreement shows that petitioners grant-

ed an easement to Monroe Lumber Company and that

the proceeds from the grant of such an easement are

entitled to capital gains treatment.

The pertinent parts of the agreement of February

10 1950, between petitioner and Monroe Lumber Co.

(Ex. 8-H) are as follows

:

"2. The seller hereby gives and grants to the

buyer, his agents and servants, the right,

privilege and easement to enter upon said

lands to log, cut and remove said timber
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therefrom and to place and install upon said

lands whatever equipment and machinery-

may be necessary to conveniently log said

timber and to harvest, process logs from said

lands. Said rights and easements to terminate

upon the complete removal of said timber or

upon the termination or cancellation of this

contract as hereinafter provided. (Emphasis
supplied.) . . .

"10. The buyer agrees to pay the seller upon de-

mand the sum of Four Thousand ($4,000.00)

Dollars as compensation for roads established

by the seller and roadwork performed by the

seller, buyer to have the unrestricted use of

such roads during the life of this contract."

The uncontradicted testimony of petitioner William

J. Wineberg on this transaction is to be found on pages

223 to 227, inclusive, of the Transcript of Record.

Under the applicable law, an easement constitutes

an interest in land. Steelhammer v. Clackamas County,

170 Or. 505, 135 P.2d 292. The grantee of an easement

is the "owner" of the incorporeal interest created by

the grant. Oregon v. The California-Oregon Power Com-

pany, 225 Or. 604, 358 P.2d 524.

As the respondent has stated in his own Revenue

Ruling 59-121, 1959-1 CB 212:

"The consideration received for the granting of

an easement with respect to land constitutes the

proceeds from the sale of an interest in real prop-

erty. The amount received should be applied as a

reduction of the cost or other basis of the land sub-

ject to the easement. Any excess over basis consti-

tutes recognized gain."

When respondent determined that the $4,000 re-
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ceived by petitioners "as compensation for use of

roads", he would appear to be attempting to rewrite

paragraph 10 of the February 10, 1950 agreement to

read:

".
. . as compensation for (the use of) roads estab-

Hshed by the seller . .
."

It is submitted that the agreement in question pro-

vided in part for the granting of an easement to Monroe

X-,umber Co. and that the proceeds from the granting

of such easement were properly reported as a long-term

capital gain by petitioners in the year 1950.

VIII.

Petitioners were entitled to a $5,000 charitable con-

tribution deduction in the year 1953 for that amount paid

by them to the Sacred Heart Church.

On January 8, 1953, petitioner William J. Wineberg

issued his check in the amount of $5,000 as a contribu-

tion to the Sacred Heart Church at Newport, Oregon,

(R. 151-2, Ex. 34-HH) and such contribution was prop-

erly claimed as a charitable or religious contribution on

the income tax return filed by petitioners for the year

1953 (Ex. 4-D).

In the original deficiency notice issued by respondent

on November 10, 1958, this claimed charitable contribu-

tion was not disallowed. It was only at the time of the

trial several years later that the respondent filed an

amended answer (R. 49) alleging for the first time

that this $5,000 was not a charitable contribution, as

claimed, but was a nondeductible capital expenditure.
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Rule 32 of the Rules of Practice of the Tax Court

(adopted pursuant to Sec. 7453 of the Internal Reve-

nue Code of 1954) provides that the burden of proof

on such new matter was on the respondent.

The testimony and other evidence on this issue was

somewhat conflicting and confusing. Petitioner William

J. Wineberg testified (R. 383-4) that this was a bona

fide contribution, although he was not a member of

that church. It is readily apparent that the contribution

was made for the primary purpose of ingratiating him-

self with the pastor of the church so as to have an op-

portunity to bid on certain timber which the pastor

controlled and land which the church had inherited. It

is also readily apparent, however, that the $5,000 was

paid to the church without any contingency; i.e., had

petitioner not been the successful bidder for the land

and timber, the $5,000 would have been retained by the

church.

Respondent offered the testimony of a Father Rod-

akowski, the pastor of the church. In answer to a lead-

ing question from respondent's counsel, the pastor did

affirm that two checks, totaling $18,000, were in pay-

ment for the timber and the land (R. 414). On the

other hand, this witness of respondent also testified re-

garding his conversations with petitioner William J.

Wineberg relating thereto and stated, "I told him, too,

that I had wanted at least $5,000 somewheres, and he

had promised me at that time that if he had a chance

at the timber and the land he would see that I would get

my $5,000 as a contribution of some sort to the church."
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Because, as the pastor testified, petitioner had "made a

contribution to the church" (R. 414), the timber was

sold to him rather than to others. The pastor had previ-

ously spoken to petitioner about his making a contribu-

tion to the church in order to assist him in building his

school (R. 418). The pastor estimated that the value

of the timber which belonged to the heirs of the estate

was $12,000 (R. 419). Of the $18,000 received by the

church and the heirs of the decedent's estate during this

period of time, $12,000 was paid to the heirs, and the

church retained the balance of $6,000 (R. 418-9), with

$5,000 representing the contribution by the petitioner

and the remaining $1,000 representing the agreed value

of the land (Ex. 25-Y) which was devised to the church

by the decedent Peter J. Maesfrancx. At another point

in his testimony the pastor indicated that others had

offered $17,000 for the land and timber and that peti-

tioner's representatives had replied, "Well, we'll give

eighteen thousand." (R. 414). Documentary stamps in

the aggregate amount of $14.30 (indicating the total

consideration for the land and timber was $13,000

—

not $18,000) were affixed to the deeds (Exs. 22-V and

23-W). Since respondent had the burden of proof on

this issue, the confusion on this point should have been

resolved against him.

The Tax Court, citing only the Estate of O. J. Ward-

well, 35 T.C. 433, decided that the deduction was not

allowable because it was "in fact, paid for some personal

benefit" (R. 191). Since the decision of the Tax Court

in this case, however, the Court of Appeals for the

Eighth Circuit has reversed the Tax Court and ionni
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in favor of the taxpayer in that case. Estate oi O. J.

Wardwell v. Commissioner, 301 F.2d 632.

In the Wardwell case, the taxpayer had made a

"contribution" of $7,500 to a charitable institution as

a room endowment. The Tax Court had disallowed

the deduction because the payment was made in antici-

pation of reduced charges and to secure room occu-

pancy and, thus, made in anticipation of benefits of an

economic nature. The Court of Appeals, however, held

that the Tax Court had confused "motive" and "expec-

tation" with "legal rights and consideration" and that

the pledge of the funds was absolute and unconditional.

The claimed deduction was allowed. The appellate court

approved the dissenting opinion of Tax Court Judge

Pierce, who stated:

"Many charitable gifts, and particularly those

made to local charities, yield benefits to the donor;
and the existence of absolute purism in a donor's

motive for making a charitable gift, is not com-
monly regarded to be material . . .

"Moreover, solicitation of charitable gifts are

frequently accompanied by a statement that they
will qualify for income tax deduction by the donor,

and with the further suggestion that the income tax

benefits may be increased, if property or securities

which have appreciated in value are given in kind.

In the recent case of Maysteel Products, Inc., 33

T.C. 1021, this Court upheld for deduction under
the statute, gifts to charities which had been made
as part of a scheme of the donors to obtain tax

benefits.

"Congress made provision for the deduction for

charitable gifts, in order to induce and encourage

the making of such gifts. See S. Rept. No. 1567,

75th Cong., 3d Sess., reprinted in 1939-1 CB. (Part
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2) 779, 789. And this Court has held that, "Tax
provisions as to charities are begotten from motives
of public policy and are not to be narrowly con-

strued.' Estate of J. B. Whitehead, 3 T.C. 40, afd.

147 F.2d 977; Helvering v. Bliss, 293 U.S. 144. I

believe that in applying such provisions the donor's

motive for making the charitable gift is immaterial."

It is submitted that the Tax Court erred in disal-

lowing this deduction because petitioner received some

personal benefit therefrom.
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CONCLUSION

Petitioners respectfully submit that Judge Scott

erred in her interpretation and application of the phrase

"held by the taxpayer primarily for sale to customers in

the ordinary course of his trade or business" found in

Section 117(a)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of

1939, defining "capital assets", and erred in reclassify-

ing the proceeds from the sale of timber which had

been held by petitioners for many years prior thereto.

For the reasons heretofore stated, petitioners also

submit that Judge Scott erred in deciding certain sub-

sidiary issues in favor of the respondent.

The judgment of the Tax Court should be reversed

and remanded to the lower court for the purpose of de-

termining whether the transactions referred to in Sec-

tion III of the Argument herein were qualifying ex-

changes of like properties within the purview of Section

112(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939.

Respectfully submitted,

Charles P. Duffy,
Davidson, Duffy & Stout,

625 Yeon Building,

Portland 4, Oregon,

Counsel for Petitioners.



44

CERTIFICATE

I certify that, in connection with the preparation

of this brief, I have examined Rules 18 and 19 of the

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit,

and that, in my opinion, the foregoing brief is in full

compliance with those rules.

(sgd.) Charles P. Duffy
Of Attorneys for Petitioners
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APPENDIX A

Summary of Timber Sales in Question

Year of Sales
Year Purchaser Acquisition Price Cost Profit

1950 Stebco Lumber Co. 1942 $ 26,253.25 $ 340.00 $ 25,913.25
Columbia Hudson Lbr. Co 1943 14,873.50 190.80 14,682.70
A. J. Gross 1937 500.00 186.00 314.00
Maloney 8e Lee Chambers 1941 2,700.00 100.00 2,600.00
A. K. Wilson 1942 2,000.00 unknownf 2,000.00
Monroe Lumber Co.

1951 Wagner Bros. Lumber Co. 1940 13,000.00 72.00 12,928.00

Sherman Hendrickson 1943-6 9,700.00 unknownf 9,700.00

Downing 1944-5 1,311.62* unknownf 1,311.62

Graff 1946 4,170.93* 200.00 3,970.93

Multnomah Plywood . 1942 2,212.70 unknownf 2,212.70

P 8e W 1943-6 4,541.65 unknownf 4,541.65

Hogan 1939 5,020.00* 2,218.00 2,802.00

Weinert 1944 4,690.00 unknownf 4,690.00

Landess 1943 3,750.00 unknownf 3,750.00

1952 J. L. Ledgett
Peninsula Plywood 1946 1,000.00 27.17 972.83
Swanberg ; 1942 1,100.00 129.00 971.00

Morris 1936 4,650.00 180.00 4,470.00

Ermanson 1944 3,000.00* 189.00 2,811.00

Rice Brothers 1950 2,000.00 750.00 1,250.00

1953 Beckman 1951 1,750.00* 62.50 1,687.50

Guy Roberts Lumber Co. 1951-2 15,938.97 8,500.00 7,438.97

Swanberg 1946 2,000.00 unknownf 2,000.00

Dollar & Patterson, Inc.

Northern Lumber Co 1944 4,879.00 329.18 4,549.82

Harbor Lumber Co. 1946 3,050.25* 220.00 2,830.25

$134,091.87 $13,693.65 $120,398.22

* Involuntary sale caused by unauthorized trespass.

j" No basis claimed by petitioners—entire profit reported on income tax

return (R. 93, 96, 214-257).
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District Court—This action was commenced in the
United States District Court for the Western District
of Washington, Southern Division, by the filing of sep-
arate complaints. Appellant Cleff is a citizen of the
State of Oregon, appellant Knight a citizen of the State
of Washington, and the defendant Railway Company
is a foreign corporation authorized to do and doing
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business as a common carrier within the State of Wash-

ington and within the Western District of Washington.

The jurisdiction of the District Court is based upon

diversity of citizenship under 28 U.S.C., Sec. 1332,

and the amount in controversy in each claim exceeds

the siuii of $10,000. The foregoing facts appear in the

pre-trial orders entered in each case (R. 9, 16). The

cases were consolidated for trial (R. 5, 6), and came on
'

for trial on June 12, 1962. On that day, appellants

rested their case in chief insofar as producing evidence

regarding liability was concerned (R.-2, 95).

Appellee then moved for an order of involuntary]

non-suit and for entry of judgment of dismissal with

prejudice in each case, based upon the fact that appel-

lants had produced insufficient evidence to make a ques-j

tion of fact for the jury as to any negligence on the'

part of appellee proximately causing or contributing

to appellants' injuries (R.-2, 96). After argument,

these motions were granted (R.-2, 111), and subse-

quently the orders granting the motions and judgment

of dismissal with prejudice were entered herein (R.!

11, 28; R. 12, 29). Appellants gave timely notice of

appeal (R. 13, 30), and thereafter the cases were con-

solidated for the purpose of appeal (R. 36).

Court of Appeals—^^This appeal to the United States

Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit is from a fina

decision of the United States District Court for th(

Western District of Washington, Southern DivisioDi

which District Court is in the Ninth Circuit. Unde^

Title 28, Chapter 83, U.S.C. 1291 and 1294 (a), sue]

decision is properly reviewable by such Court of Ap

peals.



COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants state, on page 3 of their Brief, that at the

time of the accident the sun was shining brightly in the

eyes of westbound drivers (R. 9, 16; R.-2, 3, 31, 68, 88),

which affected the vision of westbound drivers straight

ahead. At the trial of this case, the drivers of the two

westbound cars approaching the scene of the accident

testified as follows regarding the effect of the sun on

their view of the train movement in question:

Witness Willard Harold Sherwood testified on direct

examination as follows:

"Q. As you were approaching the railroad

crossing at the St. Paul Mill was this [the sun]

having any effect upon your ability to observe

things ahead or to either side?

A. There was a great deal of reflection on the

surrounding buildings and windows causing visibil-

ity to be rather difficult." (R.-2, 3, 4)

The above response of witness Sherwood is not evidence

that the sun affected his vision of the train movement

f)n the crossing. On cross-examination regarding the

effect of the sun on his view of the train, witness Sher-

wood testified as follows

:

"Q. Were these two visions, the flagman and
the train one right after another practically at the

same time?

A. Yes. The flagman, he was walking ahead of

the train. I couldn't say how far, but I am sure he

was.

Q. Now, how far back from the crossing were
you?

A. Oh, fifty to sixty feet, I would say.



Q. All right. Now, at that point was the siui

interfering with your view of this train ?

A. Not so much then, but just prior to that there

had been a blinding blast of sun as you passed

buildings.

Q. But as you sit here this morning telling us

about what happened many, many months ago,

your best recollection is that the sun did not in-

terfere with your vision of the train once you saw
it on the street, is that correct ?

A. That is correct, once I got that close, I would
say that." (R.-2, 15, 16)

The other westbound driver, Virginia Warren, in

whose car appellants were riding at the time of the

accident, testified as follows regarding the effect of

the sun on her view

:

"Q. As you crossed the Canal Street Bridge

there and approached these railroad tracks, will

you tell us, was there anj^thing impeding your

vision, your ability to see ahead?

A. There wasn't.

Q. Was there any atmospheric condition caus-

ing you any difficulty ?

A. No.

Q. How about the sun?

A. No, the sun—I pulled my visor down over,

you know, and it was real bright, but that didn't

interfere." (R.-2, 31)

By way of pre-trial order, the following facts were

admitted by the parties hereto

:

That the accident in question occurred on December

22, 1958, at about 3 :45 p.m., at a railroad grade cross-



ing of the St. Paul Mill tracks on llth Street in the city

of Tacoma, Washington; that the weather was clear

and dry and the sun was shining brightly at the time

;

that llth Street is a four-lane street with two lanes of

traffic in each direction; that, at the time, a trafi&c

signal consisting of a red light was in place over the

crossing approximately in the middle of the street;

that before the train started to enter the street, the red

overhead traffic signal was manually actuated by a

member of the train crew; that, after this was accom-

plished, a signal was given for the train to proceed;

that, upon the train's conunencing to move, two switch-

men preceded the train into the street and by manual

signals stopped both lanes of eastbound traffic on llth

Street ; that the switchmen then proceeded to the center

of llth Street, at which time the leading end of the

train was at or near the southerly edge of llth Street;

that, at about this time, the vehicle traveling west in the

inside lane of llth Street was brought to a stop ; that,

after the train crew had stopped the westbound car in

the inside lane on llth Street, the car in which appel-

lants were riding overtook and passed the stopped

car and collided with the train (K. 9, 16).

Mr. Sherwood, the di'iver of the westbound automo-

bile traveling in the inside or center lane on llth Street,

that was brought to a stop by the train crew, testified

as a witness on the trial of this case. Witness Sherwood

approached the crossing at a speed of approximately

25 miles per hour (R.-2, 4), and saw the flagman on the

crossing waving him to a stop when his automobile

was probably 50 feet from the crossing (R.-2, 5). The

flagman was standing about in the center of llth Street
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at the crossing at this time (R.-2, 5). Mr. Sherwood saw

the flagman in plenty of time to bring his car to a stop

rather easily, about 30 feet from the track which the

train was upon (R.-2, 6). Mr. Sherwood then saw the

flagman proceed into his lane of traffic, and saw him

desperately try to attract the attention of Virginia

Warren, driver of the vehicle in which appellants were

riding (E.-2, 7), and further testifled that the flagman

was waving his arms at the Warren vehicle at the time

the Warren car was 70 feet to the rear of the stopped

Sherwood vehicle (R.-2, 17). Sherwood, after stopping,

looked back toward the Warren vehicle, as he thought

possibly they might not see the approaching train

(R.-2, 7, 8), because at the time he passed their car

upon his approach to the crossing, the women were

visiting in the car and he thought that because of their

visiting they might not be alert to the flagman or the

light (R.-2, 18). At the time he looked to the rear upon

bringing his car to a stop, the Warren vehicle was

roughly 70 to 100 feet east of his car (R. 2, 8) and the

leading end of the train was over 10 feet onto the trav-

eled portion of 11th Street (R.-2, 14). Mr. Sherwood

testified that the logs on the train were piled to a height

of 25 feet from the street (R.-2, 16).

Virginia Warren, the driver of the car in which ap-

pellants were riding, also testified at the trial of thisj

matter. Mrs. Warren testified that she first saw the;

train when the front of her car was 6 feet from the,

point of impact (R.-2, 33), at which time the leading

end of the train was 10 feet from the point of impact

(R.-2, 33), and at that time she applied the brakes oi

her vehicle and brought it to a stop foul of the track



on which the train was approaching (R.-2, 34), and

the collision then occurred. Mrs. Warren testified that

she was familiar with the crossing and the fact that

trains used it, and that she had stopped for trains using

this crossing, on previous occasions, a number of times

(R.-2, 34). Mrs. Warren further testified that the logs

on the train were considerably higher than her car and

considerably higher than the car driven by Mr. Sher-

wood (R.-2, 39), and that there was nothing to obstruct

her view of the train or the logs as she approached the

crossing (R.-2, 39) ; that she first looked for approach-

ing trains when her vehicle was 15 to 20 feet from the

crossing, at which time she had passed the Sherwood

vehicle (R.-2, 41). Mrs. Warren testified as follows re-

garding her view of the train

:

"Q. But is there anything that would have ob-

structed your view of this train as you approached

that crossing from the time that it entered the

street, the train entered the street—was there any-

thing that would have obstructed your view had
you looked in that direction?

A. No, not at that point I guess there wasn't. '*

(R.-2, 43)

"Q. Mrs. Warren, let me ask you one other

question ; on December 22, 1958, at about 3 :45 p.m.

in the afternoon, did you approach that crossing

as if you had been looking for a train—if you had
actually looked on the crossing for a train, there

is no reason why you couldn't have seen that train

and brought your car to a stop, isn't that correct?

A. Yes, but I relied on those

—

The Court : But your answer is yes, you say ?

The Witness : Yes.

tA
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The Court : All right.

Mr. Allerdice : That is all the questions I have."

(R.-2, 51, 52)

Appellant Cleff, at the trial of the case, testified that

she was riding in the back seat of the Warren vehicle

(R.-2, 66) ; that she saw the train come out from be-

hind a building on the south edge of 11th Street, at

which point the Warren vehicle was 100 feet from the

crossing (R.-2, 67) ; that, after seeing the train, she

sat there for a few minutes and then finally called to

the driver, Mrs. Warren, to call her attention to the

approaching train (R.-2, 68) ; that the train was quite

near the point of impact when she called to Mrs. War-

ren, and that she did not bring to Mrs. Warren's at-

tention the presence of the approaching train sooner

because she thought Mrs. Warren would stop the car

(R. 2, 68, 69). The sun did not bother Mrs. Cleff insofar

as her view of the train was concerned (R.-2, 81, 82).

There was no obstruction to her view of the train (R.-2,

82). Mrs. Cleff had on previous occasions noticed the

red signal at the crossing, but just didn't look up at it

on the day in question (R.-2, 82). Appellant Cleff tes-

tified that she saw no flagman on the crossing, but ex-

plained the reason was because she was not looking in

that direction. As the following testimony points out,

she was watching the train

:

;

"The Court: Mrs. Cleff, did you watch theif

train the whole time as it came, continued to ap-j

proach?
'

The Witness: I watch the train? i

The Court : The whole time, saw it moving out|

there all the way across ? '
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The Witness: Well, I was just sitting there rid-

ing, and I glanced at her

—

The Court : When you said you were watching

the train— that is w^hat I was wondering— you

watched it all the way as it came from over here

way on the other side of the street and all the way
across ?

The Witness: Well, I don't just really know
exactly.

The Court: Whether you were watching all

the time, but most of the time ?

The Witness : I think so.

The Court: It w^as perfectly plain to see the

train if you looked for it?

The Witness: Yes, I know it didn't take long.

Q. (By Mr. Allerdice) At the time you first saw
the train, you had no concern as far as any acci-

dent w^as concerned, is that correct?

A. No.

Q. Why was that?

A. Well, I wasn't—I thought that she would
stop, and I wasn't thinking about an accident."

(R.-2, 84, 85)

Appellant Knight was taking off her overshoes and

did not see the train upon approaching the crossing, as,

for some distance from the crossing to the point of

impact, she was not looking out of the car (R.-2, 88).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The sole question raised by this appeal is whether or

iHot appellants produced sufficient evidence on their

case in chief to raise a question of fact for the jury as
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to whether or not the Railway Company breached any

duty owing to appellants, and if so, whether such breach

proximately caused or contributed to the accident.

It is appellee's position that it complied with all

duties owing to the appellants and that the sole proxi-

mate cause of the accident was the negligence of the

driver of the automobile in which appellants were rid-

ing, in conjunction with the negligence of appellant

Cleff.

ARGUMENT

The statutes of the State of Washington, setting

forth the standard of care to be exercised by the op-

erators of motor vehicles approaching public railroad

grade crossings, are as follows

:

"46.60.300 Stopping cut railroad crossing or

movable span at signal. Whenever any person op-

!

erating a vehicle approaching any railroad grade

crossing or structure with a movable span and a

clearly visible electrical, mechanical or manual sig-

nal device is in operation and gives warning of the]

immediate approach of any train or operation of!

movable span, the operator of such vehicle shall|

stop within fifty feet, unless vehicles ahead require!

a greater distance, but not less than twenty feet,;

from such railroad or span and shall not proceed

until he can do so safely. The operator of any veil

hide shall stop his vehicle and remain standing

and not traverse any railroad grade crossing or

structure when crossing gate is lowered or whcD
a human flagman or mechanical or electrical signal

gives or continues to give a signal of the approacb

or passage of any train or movement of the spanj

[1961 c. 12 § 46.60.300. Prior: 1937 c. 189 § 102
|

RRS § 6360-102.]
"

I
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''46.60.320 Stopping or reducing speed at other

grade crossings. . . . Any person operating a ve-

hicle, . . . shall, upon approaching the intersection

of any public highway with a railroad or interur-

ban grade crossing, reduce the speed of his vehicle

to a rate of speed not to exceed that at which, con-

sidering the view along the track in both directions,

the vehicle can be brought to a complete stop not

less than ten feet from the nearest track in the

event of an approaching train. ..."

In addition to the above statutes, the standard of care

and the duty of the operator of a motor vehicle ap-

proaching a grade crossing are promulgated as follows

in the case of Haaga v. Saginaw Logging Company, 169

Wash. 547, 549, 14 P. (2d) 55:

"We have repeatedly stated that the general

rule regarding the standard of care to be exercised

by those traveling upon a highway is that they must
exercise a reasonable care under the existing cir-

cumstances. We have, in many of our decisions,

given judicial expression to what is commonly and
currently accepted as a well-known fact, i.e., that

a railroad crossing is a proclamation of danger,

and that those who propose to enter its zone must
govern themselves accordingly.

"Recognizing this principle, we have added to

the usual rule of 'reasonable care under the cir-

cumstances,' the specific requirement that the trav-

eler approaching a railroad crossing must look and
listen. Accompanying this statement of the rule is

the added requirement that the observation must
be made at a point or from a position where it

would be effective. [Citing cases.]"

Where any condition exists which tends to obscure

the vision of the operator of a vehicle knowingly ap-
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proaching a railroad grade crossing, the law imposes

an increased duty on the part of the operator. The case

of Morris v. Chicago, M. St. P. & P. R. Co., 1 Wn.(2d)

587, 597-8, 97 P. (2d) 119, adheres to the general rule

placing this greater degree of care upon one approach-

ing a crossing. The degree of care required is in propor-

tion to the conditions prevailing which limit the deter-

mination and observation of danger from approaching

trains. The cited case involved the death of the driver

of a truck at a railroad grade crossing. There was evi-

dence to the effect that the reason the truck driver

failed to see the approaching train was that the load of

hay on the track restricted his vision in the direction

of the train. The plaintiff contended that because the

hay on the truck was a lawful load, even though it ob-

structed all view to the rear, deceased was not negligent

in not seeing the train, and although the court stated II

that the deceased's view was obstructed because of a I

condition for which he, himself, was responsible, the

rule set out would be applicable to the factual situation
,j

in question here. The court states

:

"In McFadden v. Northern Pac. B. Co., 157 i

Wash. 437, 289 Pac. 1, the deceased was killed when
'

he collided with a train which was crossing a street.

The accident occurred at night, and it was foggy il

at the time. In the cited case, the court quoted from
j

the case of Keene v. Pacific Northwest Traction

Co., 153 Wash. 310, 279 Pac. 756, as foUows;

u i uijij^gpg
^^g^ j^^ ^g true, a fog, at the time,

which more or less obscured his [the injured per-

son's] vision, but this, instead of excusing him

from exercising care and caution, rather added to

his duty in that respect. If he could not see whether

i
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or not he was entering a zone of danger in ventur-

ing onto the railway track, it was his duty to take

some other means of ascertaining the fact. He
could not abandon all caution, take a chance on

escaping injury, and, failing to escape, charge his

delinquency to another." *

"See Dumholton v. Oregon-Washington R. db N.

Co., 186 Wash. 433, 58 P. (2d) 806.

"The above cited cases bear out the general rule

that, where any condition is present which tends to

obscure the view of one approaching a railroad

crossing, a gi^eater degree of care, proportionate

to the conditions prevailing, is required of such

one in determining and observing the danger of

approaching trains."

It is held in the State of Washington that a railroad

grade crossing is, in and of itself, a proclamation of

danger. This rule is promulgated in the case of Haaga

V. Saginaw Logging Company, 169 Wash. 547, 549, 14

P. (2d) 55:

"We have, in many of our decisions, given ju-

dicial expression to what is commonly and cur-

rently accepted as a well-known fact, i.e., that a

railroad crossing is a proclamation of danger, and
those who propose to enter its zone must govern

themselves accordingly." (Emphasis supplied)

The Railway Company, at a railway grade crossing

such as we are concerned with herein, has the right of

way over vehicular traffic approaching said crossing.

As pointed out in the case of Morris v. Chicago, M.,

St. P. d P. R. Co., 1 Wn.(2d) 587, 595, 97 P. (2d) 119:

"One who approaches a railway crossing on a

public highway is as much under the duty of keep-

ing a lookout as is the railway company ; and with
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knowledge that the railway company has the right

of way, and cannot instantly stop its trains to avoid

accidents, it becomes his duty to use every means
which a reasonably prudent person would use, un-

der the existing circumstances, to avoid a colli-

sion." (Emphasis supplied)

It has further been held, and is the law of the State

of Washington, that the right of way of the Railway

Company is not conditioned upon the giving of signals.

The court treated this issue in Haaga v. Saginaw Log-

ging Company, 169 Wash. 547, 554, 14 P. (2d) 55:

"The right of way of the appellants [Railway

Company] was an unequivocal one, and was not

conditioned upon their first giving a warning sig- 1

nal. It was a right that the appellants had under ij

the law, and not one to be acquired by them upon i

the performance of preliminary conditions. Sad-\

ler V. Northern Pacific R. Co., supra [118 Wash. I

121, 203 Pac. 10] ; Mouso v. Bellingham & North- •

em R. Co., supra [106 Wash. 299, 179 Pac. 848]."

(Emphasis supplied)

The general rule regarding the duty of the Railway:

Company in making a train movement such as wasj

made in the case at issue is found in the case of Porter]

V. Chicago M. St. P. & P. R. Co., 41 Wn.(2d) 836, 843,!

252 P. (2d) 306:
i

"The courts and textwriters are in substantial!

accord that when a train of cars enters a street tol

cross it, vehicle traffic must yield to it the right of i

way. While occupying the crossing, the train gives]

actual notice of its presence, and this supersedes'

all other warning. If upon entering into a street a

brakeman takes appropriate measures to warn!

traffic thereon, the railroad company discharges!
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its duty of care towards them. These rules, how-

ever, cannot be given full application if unusual

circumstances or conditions exist making the cross-

ing so peculiarly dangerous that prudent persons

cannot use the same with safety unless extraordi-

nary measures are used."

It is noted that the Porter case sets out an exception

to the rule in a case where unusual circumstances or

conditions exist, making a crossing so peculiarly dan-

gerous that prudent persons cannot use the same with

safety unless extraordinary measures are used. In this

regard, our court has held that knowledge of the haz-

ard, if any, on the part of the plaintiff, puts a higher

degree of care upon that party. In the case of Carroll

V. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 20 Wn.(2d) 191, 146

P. (2d) 813, the lower court granted a motion for non-

suit, which motion was affirmed on appeal. In the Car-

roll case, the plaintiff had an accident with a train

while driving an automobile over a grade crossing

where visibility was restricted for the plaintiff because

of a hill and growth of grass. However, plaintiff was

familiar with this fact. The court states at page 195:

"The close proximity of the bank to the track

was a hazard wdth which appellant was thoroughly

familiar from his many years' use of the crossing.

The fact that the hazard was increased by grass

and weeds gi-owing upon the right of way and upon
the bank was also open and obvious. It does not ap-

pear that appellant ever sought to lessen this haz-

ard by cutting the grass or weeds, or tnat he re-

quested respondent to do so. He accepted the

dangerous situation as he found it, and crossed the

track from south to north frequently, often as

many as six times in a day."
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And the court states further, at page 197

:

"If he [plaintiff] could not see whether or not

he was entering a zone of danger in venturing onto

the railway track, it was his duty to take some
j

other means of ascertaining the fact. He could not

!

abandon all caution, take a chance on escaping in-

jury, and, failing to escape, charge his delin-

quency to another." (Citing Keene v. Pacific

Northwest Traction Co., 153 Wash. 310, 279 Pac.

756)

The court has defined an extrahazardous crossing in

Bradshaw v. Seattle, 43 Wn.(2d) 766, 264 P. (2d) 265,

as follows

:

"A crossing is extrahazardous where unusual

circumstances or conditions exist which make it

so peculiarly dangerous that prudent persons can-

1

not use it with safety unless extraordinary meas-^

ures are used."
|

The court has also said that a given crossing may be

found to be not extrahazardous as a matter of law. This
j

matter was discussed in the case of Hopp v. Northern

Pacific B. Co., 20 Wn.(2d) 439, 147 P. (2d) 950, inj

which case the court held as follows in determining thatj

the crossing therein was not extrahazardous as a mat-j

ter of law

:

!

"The respondent alleged that the crossing waSj

extrahazardous and that the appellants were neg-i

ligent in failing to keep a watchman or automatic!!

signal alarm bell at the crossing. The deceased wasi|

familiar with the crossing and had a clear and un-J

obstructed view of the track, in the direction fromj

which the gas motor coach was approaching, ofj

from 1,000 to 2,800 feet when he was at a distance;!

of one hundred feet from the crossing. In Mis-'
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soun K. & T. B. Co. v. Long, 299 S.W. 854, the

coiu't held that a crossing is more than ordinarily

dangerous if it is so peculiarly dangerous that pru-

dent persons cannot use the same with safety unless

extraordinary means are used to approach such

place. The crossing was not an extrahazardous one,

as a matter of law, under the facts of this case.

Hence, this allegation of negligence must fail."

Appellants argue that a factual question was made

out for the jury because the crossing in question was

an extrahazardous one. All railroad crossings in the

State of Washington are, as a matter of law, danger-

ous, and the State has promulgated by way of statute

and rules the duty of the Eailway Company in taking

steps to warn approaching motorists of the presence of

the train. The courts in this State have found that, at

times, because of the existence of certain conditions, a

motorist using reasonable care might not be made

aware of the existence of the approaching train even

though the Railway Company complies with the stat-

ute and rules that are sufficient at crossings where said

unusual conditions do not exist. When conditions exist

which limit or obstruct the view of approaching motor-

ists—for example, atmospheric conditions, physical ob-

structions such as buildings or brush or the contour of

the roadw^ay approaching the crossing—^which condi-

tions create an extra hazard to approaching motorists,

there may be created a question of fact for the jury as

to whether or not the sounding of an audible signal

and/or the presence of the train itself is sufficient warn-

ing to approaching motorists. Regardless of how dan-

gerous a particular crossing may be, and even if it is

found to be extrahazardous, the Railway Company has
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a burden of care to safeguard users of tlie highway by

making provision for adequate warning to them when

its train movements are going to enter upon the high-

way. In the instant case, the Railway Company pro- •

vided an electric red traffic signal, which it is agreed I

was actuated prior to the entry of the train upon the

traveled portion of the street, and was giving a warn-

ing up until the time the collision occurred ; a flagman

preceded the train movement across the street and had

stopped traffic in three of the four lanes thereof; and,

in addition, the logs on the train were piled to a height

,

of 25 feet above street level, making the train move-

ment clearly visible to anyone looking in that direc-

tion. It is appellee's position that the crossing is not

extrahazardous, but even though it be determined that

a question of fact was made as to the crossing in ques- i

tion being extrahazardous, it should be held as a matter

of law, as it was in the case of Watson v. Northern Pa-

cific By. Co., 37 Wn.(2d) 374, 223 P. (2d) 1057, that

the measures appellee took to warn approaching mo-

torists of the presence of the train were sufficient. The i

Watson case involved a collision between an automobile

and a Railway Company engine. Prior to the accident,,

the engine had been stopped behind a building, which!

hid it from southbound traffic. It became necessary for

;

the engine to cross the street, so a flagman took his po-

sition in the street and a back-up signal was given. Asij

the accident occurred at night, the engine's back-up

j

light was turned on. Two blasts of the horn were given,^

and the engine bell commenced ringing. The engine:

backed out into the street at approximately 5 miles per

hour. The flagman, meanwhile, was swinging a lantern
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which was visible from either direction, although he

was facing south. Northbound cars slowed down and

came to a stop. The flagman then noticed the car in

which plaintiff was riding approaching from the north.

He turned to face the oncoming car. He was then off

the highivay on its east margin. The car continued on

its course until it struck the leading end of the engine.

A trial to a jury resulted in a verdict for plaintiff. How-

ever, defendant's motion for judgment n.o.v. was

granted on the ground that there was no evidence of

negligence on the part of defendant, and that the neg-

ligence of the driver of the car was the sole proximate

cause of the injury. The plaintiff appealed, and the Su-

preme Court, in affirming the lower court's granting of

the motion for judgment n.o.v., stated as follows (page

375):

^'We are concerned, therefore, solely with the

question of whether or not the respondent was
guilty of any negligence which w^as a proximate

cause of the injury. This was a dangerous cross-

ing, and that fact imposed upon the respondent a

burden of care to safeguard users of the highway
against injury by making provision for adequate

warning w^hen its engine crossed the highway. The
measures it took to do this were sufficient, as a

matter of law.

"AssTuning that this crossing was extrahazard-

ous, it still did not constitute a trap within the pur-

view of the cases cited by appellant upon that

theory.

"[2, 3] When the respondent, by its flagman,

took appropriate measures to warn travelers on
the highway, it discharged its duty of care toward
them. Tonning v. Northern Pac. R. Co., 180 Wash.
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374, 39 P. (2d) 1002. We are concerned, in such

cases, with the adequacy of the warning given, not '.

with whether a traveler on the highway was aware 1

of the warning. He ought to be aware of an ade-

quate warning. We have repeatedly said that one
\

cannot be heard to say that he did not see that]

which, without dispute in the evidence, was there

'

to be seen had he looked. Silverstein v. Adams, 134

Wash. 430, 235 Pac. 784.

"The trial court was correct in granting a judg-

ment n.o.v.
'

'

The case of Morris v. Chicago, M., St. P. & P. R. Co.,

1 Wn.(2d) 587, 97 P. (2d) 119, is authority for the right

of the trial court to determine that a person is guilty

of contributory negligence as a matter of law. Regard-

ing this right, the court, in the Morris case, reaffirms

the following holding from the case of McQuilla/n v.

Seattle, 10 Wash. 464, 38 Pac. 1119, 45 Am. St. 799:

a 'There are two classes of cases in which the

question of negligence may be determined by the

court as a conclusion of law. . . . The first is where!

the circumstances of the case are such that the

standard of duty is fixed, and the measure of duty

defined, by law, and is the same under all circum-j

stances. . . . And the second is where the facts arej

undisputed and but one reasonable inference can

be drawn from them. ... If different results might.:

be honestly reached by different minds then negli-j

gence is not a question of law, but one of fact forj

the jury.'
"

i

The case of Hendrickson v. Union Pacific R. Co., 171

Wn.(2d) 548, 559, 560, 136 P. (2d) 438, sets forth theij

conditions in a crossing accident when the court is jus-j
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tified in making a finding of negligence as a matter of

law. The court in this regard stated as follows

:

"Here, again, the impression might have been

conveyed that this is a rule of universal applica-

tion and admits of no exception, and that, when one

collides with a moving or standing train on a cross-

ing, he is guilty of negligence as a matter of law.

In the ordinary case, and particularly where the

visibility is good, there can he no question about

this, and reasonable minds cannot differ. In those

cases where the visibility is poor the measure of

care on the part of the user of the highway greatly

increases, but we may have situations where rea-

sonable minds might differ as to whether the user

of the highway exercised the proper amount of

care under the circumstances, and, in such case,

the question becomes one for the jury." (Empha-
sis supplied)

That the driver of the vehicle in which appellants

were riding was negligent upon her approach to the

crossing cannot be denied. That this negligence was a

proximate cause of the collision cannot be denied, and

considering the existing circumstances and precau-

tions taken by appellee, appellee submits that the neg-

ligence of the driver of the vehicle in which appellants

were riding w^as, in fact, as a matter of law, the sole

proximate cause of the collision in question.

Appellants also argue that a factual question was

made for the jury on the basis of the trap doctrine

under Washington law. Under the facts presented by

the evidence herein, appellee cannot visualize what

circumstances existed at the time and place to create

a trap, other than the conduct of Mrs. Warren, which

is not chargeable to appellee. The evidence is undis-
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puted that the sun did not interfere with Mrs. War-

ren's vision, insofar as the presence of the train move--

ment was concerned. The evidence is further undis-

puted that appellant Cleff, riding in the back seat of 1

the Warren vehicle, saw the train when the Warren

vehicle was 100 feet from the crossing, at which time

the leading end of the train had entered upon the trav-

eled portion of 11th Street. Mrs. Warren testified that,

had she looked in the direction of the train, there was

nothing to obstruct her view thereof. Regardless of the

other precautions taken by appellee, by these facts

alone appellee discharged its duty of warning, insofar

as the Warren vehicle was concerned. Appellee sub-

mits that, if a train movement is clearly visible to an

approaching motorist when the motorist is 100 feet

from the crossing (the existence and location of which li

crossing she was at the time familiar with (R.-2, 27,

28)), at which time the motorist is traveling at a speed

of 12 to 15 miles per hour, and said motorist testifies;

that because of her slow speed there was plenty of time

to look for a train, and she was, in fact, looking for a,

train, as is evidenced by her testimony as follows : '

"Q. Well, all right; then as you approached this

crossing, your testimony is that you at no time

looked for a train?

A. Oh, yes. I had plenty of time to look for theij

train because I was going slow.

Q. Were you looking for a train ?
j

A. I really was, and I looked more for the flag-;]

men because they are always out there.

Q. But you were also—now testimony is—look-l

ing for a train?
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A. Well, I was looking for a train and the flag-

man both. When you are driving, you kind of

keep your mind on a little bit of everything.

Q. Well, I don't want to belabor this point too

much, but so the jury gets it straight and we all get

it straight, as you approached this crossing at some
point or other before the impact, you did look for

a train?

A. I really looked for the flagman.

The Court: No, he wants you to answer the

question, Mrs. Warren. We will be here so long if

you don't answer. Please answer the question. Did
you look for a train ?

The Witness : Sure I did.

The Court: All right." (R.-2, 40, 41)

then it cannot be determined that the crossing is ex-

trahazardous or in the nature of a trap as to that mo-

torist.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, appellee calls attention to the trial

court's oral decision upon granting appellee's motion to

dismiss appellants' complaints, where the court stated

as follows

:

"I am confident a verdict for plaintiffs on this

evidence would not stand. This is a diversity case.

We are dealing strictly and solely with the applica-

ble common law of Washington with respect to

negligence principles, and it is a basic principle of

Washington law of negligence that substantial evi-

dence is required, and a mere scintilla is not suffi-

cient. If the plaintiffs' case rests solely on a scin-

tilla of evidence, either as to negligence, proximate
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cause, or damages, any one of the three, there is

insufficient evidence for submission to the jury.

"In my opinion, plaintiffs' proof at the very

most amounts to only a scintilla of evidence, and

that is not sufficient. The evidence shows no negli-

gence on the part of the defendant railway, but

even if it be assumed otherwise, there is no evi-

dence whatever, except the wildest speculation, tc

establish proximate causal relationship of the as-

sumed negligence to the collision in question.'

(R.-2, 107, 108)

Appellee respectfully submits that the judgments en-|

tered herein should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

Dean H. Eastman !
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This case is before the Court upon two separ-
ate Petitions for review of different portions of the

same order of the National Labor Relations Board
(hereinafter sometimes called the Board). The
Construction, Production & Maintenance Laborers
Union, Local 383, AFL-CIO, and United Brother-
hood of Carpenters and Joiners of America, iDcal

1089, AFL-CIO (hereinafter sometimes collectively

referred to as the "Unions" or individually as the

"Laborers" or "Carpenters") have moved in Cause
Number 18217 to review that portion of the Board's
Order issued against them on June 26. 1962, pur-
suant to Sec. 10 (c) of the National Labor Relations

Act, as amended (29 U.S„C.A„ Sec. 151 et. seq.

)

(hereinafter sometimes referred to as the Act) which
found them in violation of Sections 8 (b) (4) (i) (ii) (A)

& (B) of the Act. The balance of the Board" s Order
is before the Court upon the Petition of the Indepen-

dent Contractors Association (hereinafter sometimes
called the Association) to review and modify a dif-

ferent portion of the same Order of the Board dis-

missing the part of the Complaint alleging that the

Union's recognition picketing had violated SeCc 8

(b) (7) (C) of the Act (29 V.S.C.A. Sec. 158 (b) (7)

(C). The Board's action in dismissing the recogni-
tion picketing portion of the complaint was also

predicated on Sec. 10 (c) of the Act (29 U. S. Co A.
Sec. 160 (c) et, seq. ) In its Answer to both Petitions

the Board has requested that the relief sought be
denied. The Association has intervened in the

Unions' Petition and both proceedings have been con-
solidated by Order of this Court. This Court has
jurisdiction pursuant to Sec. 10 (f ) of the Act (29

U.S.C.A. Sec. 160 (f ) ).



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1) SCOPE OF THIS BRIEF

In this brief the Association wiU address itself

only to the issues raised by its Petition, requesting

review of the Board's Order dismissing that portion

of the Complaing before the Board alleging that the

Unions' recognition picketing violated Sec. 8 (b) (7)

(C) of the Act. The Association supports that por-

tion of the Order of the Board which the Unions seek
to review in their Petition. Therefore no discussion

of that portion of the Board's Order of the Unions'

Petition will be made in this opening brief. The
questions raised by the Unions' Petition will be dealt

with in a subsequent brief supporting the Board's
answer to the Unions' opening brief.

In its decision the Board predicated its action

in dismissing that portion of the Complaint, charg-
ing the Unions with having picketed for more than a

reasonable period of time permitted under the

statute, solely on the grounds that there was "no
evidence" and "no probative evidence" in the record:

to establish that in picketing the Colson & Stevens

Construction Co. (hereinafter sometimes referred
to as the "Employer"), the Unions were engaged in

joint action or were acting on behalf of each other.

Had the Board found that the Unions were engaged in

joint action or acting on behalf of each other, they

would have found that the picketing of the employer
exceeded the maximum 30-day period permitted by
the Act, Sec. 8 (b) (7) (C). Accordingly they then

would have found and concluded that both labor or-

ganizations by such conduct violated Sec. 8 (b) (7)

(C) of the Act. This brief will discuss the insuffi-

ciency of the evidence to support the Board's



negative findings and conclusions regarding the joint

and concerted nature of the Unions' picketing conduct.

DESIGNATIONS OF THE RECORD IN
THIS BRIEF

The Record filed in this Court is contained in

three volumes. Volume I is the pleadings and for-

mal papers and these documents are numbered p 1

through 101. Volume II contains the designated por-
tions of the official transcript before the Board and
various pages from 1 through 430 are contained there-

in. Volume III contains the original exhibits intro-

duced in the Board proceeding. Hereafter in referring

to the portions of the Record references will be
designated by the appropriate Roman Numeral
designating the particular volume of the Record
followed by the page number as follows: (II 3, 4)

(II 400, 402, 410, 4-2) (HI G C Ex 44, p 1).

B

THE FACTS OF THIS CASE

1) THE CONTRACT SOUGHT BY
THE UNIONS

The Board found and it is undisputed that both
Unions by oral demands backed up by picketing sought
to have the Employer sign the same identical contract

to which both Unions were signatory already. (I 55;

m G C Ex 44).

This contract is referred to as the Arizona
Master Labor Agreement or the Master Agreement.

The Record discloses that this was the only

agreement contemplated or discussed by the parties.

(I 55).



11-338); that the Unions did not contemplate chang-

ing it for this Employer (11-336-338).

The Witnesseth clause recognizes that the em-
ployers will employ large numbers of workmen
represented by the various Union signatories and
recites the intention of the parties to set "uniform"
rates, hours and working conditions for all work-
men within the jurisdiction of the signatory unions

to wit:

"WHEREAS, it is the desire of the parties

to establish uniform rates of pay hours of

employment and working conditions which
shall be applicable to all workmen perform-
ing any work for the contractors, as such
work is hereinafter defined in Article III

of this Agreement- " (II-G C Ex 44, p 6)

The Witnesseth clause further provides that

all of the respective covenants and agreements of

the parties are interdependent. The document is

designed to be a unified integrated document , each
clause and undertaking supporting and providing

the consideration for the others. Thus it states:

"NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of

the premises and of the respective cove-
nants and agreements of the parties hereto,

each of which shall be interdependent, IT
IS HEREBY AGREED: " (HI-G C Ex 44, p 6)

The coverage of the agreement extends to

"all" employees of the contractors employed to

perform construction work as defined in the con-
tract, see Art. I, Sec. A thereof (III-G C Ex 44,

p 6). The work covered by the agreement covers
every conceivable type of construction work and
is not limited to a description of the jurisdiction

of each craft, see Art III (III-G C Ex 44, p 15-16).



The subcontractor clause provides that all work
subcontracted by the contractors will also be accom-
plished pursuant to and in accordance with the terms
of the Master Agreement. Thus the Agreement
states:

'That if the Contractors, parties hereto shall

subcontract construction work as defined in

hereafter Article HI of this Agreement, the

terms of said Agreement shall extend to and
bind such construction subcontract work,
and provisions shall be made in such sub-

contract for the observance by said subcon-
tractor of the terms of this Agreement."(ni
G C Ex 44, p 7)

The contract proposes only joint recognition by
the Employers of all signatory unions together. Art.

II of the Agreement pertaining to recognition pro-

vides:

Art. II

Recognition and Dispatching

'A. That the CONTRACTORS hereby
recognize the UNIONS who are signa-

tory hereto as the sole and exclusive

collective bargaining representatives

of all employees of the CONTRACTORS
signatory hereto over whom the UNIONS
have jurisdiction. . .

" (III-G C Ex 44,

p8)

This joint nature of the recognition accorded by
the Employer's signature on the agreement is fur-

ther implemented by his undertaking in Art. II, Sec.

(B) (1) of the contract to obtain all of his men from
the hiring hall of the Union having jurisdiction over
the craft he desires. (Ill G C Ex 44, p 9).



Because it was contemplated that the Agreement
was a joint and concerted action by the Unions they

specifically provided for indemnifying themselves
for any discriminatory application of the hiring hall

procedures by any one of the other UnionSo See Art.

II, Sec. B (3) (III G C Ex 44, p 10).

The intention to act in concert in the administra-

tion of the contract is evident from Art. 11^ SeCc D
(III G C Ex 44, p 10) which provides that a contractor

who violates the hiring hall provisions as to one Union

releases all the other Unions from obligations under

the no strike clause, the grievance and arbitration

procedure. Art. n provides:

"A contractor who violates the provisions of

this Article as to referral in the first instance

shall not be entitled to protection of the pro-

visions of Article V of this Agreement. "

Further evidence of cooperation and coordination

between the Unions signatory to the Master Agreement
is displayed in the dispatching procedures contained in

Art II Sec. E (3) (a). This section provides that

preferential treatment be accorded in the hiring halls

of every signatory Union to qualified employees who
have worked in any one of the four basic crafts for a

period of at least 60 days for an employer signatory

to the Agreement.

"Each Dispatching Office shall maintain appro-
priate registration lists or cards, kept in current

form from day to day, and referrals will be made
in the following order of preference:

(a) Workmen who are properly qualified, (as

hereinafter provided) whose names are
properly registered, and who have been for-

merly employed for a period of at least sixty

(60) days by any individual employers signatory



signatory to the Master Labor Agreement in a craft

covered by this Agreement in the State of Arizona
within the immediately preceding two (2) years. (HI

G C Ex 44, p 11).

The pattern of joint action and delegation of res-
ponsibility and authority between the four crafts is

illustrated by the provisions of the grievance machin-
ery contained in Art V and the safety committee set

forth in Art X. (Ill G C Ex 44, p 18-22; 25). The
safety and grievance committees are composed of two
representatives from the four signatory Unions and
two from the contractors. Of necessity, therefore,

two of the four Unions must delegate bargaining
authority and responsibility to representatives of the

other signatory crafts.

Joint action is further evidenced by the uniform
and common working rules contained in Art XVI of

the Master Agreement. (Ill G C Ex 44, p 30-38).

Although the contract provides different wage scales

for each craft and additional separate working rules

for each craft, these items are all specifically incor-
porated into the general agreement and a contractor
who signs the agreement binds himself to pay and
abide by all of the wage rules and scales, not just

those of only one craft. See Art VI of the Agreement
(m G C Ex 44, p 23).



THE REQUESTS FOR RECOGNITION
AND PICKETING BY THE UNIONS TO
OBTAIN THE MASTER AGREEMENT

Both Unions were signatory to the same identical

Master Agreement. (HI G C Ex 44^ p 5-6 )» They were
both members of the Phoenix Building and Construction
Trades Council (hereinafter sometimes referred to as

the "Council"). (I 59)

The Employer, Colson & Stevens, is a small genera

contractor located in Phoenix, Arizona. (I 25-26), Thel

Employer employed employees within the craft jurisdic-i

tion of only two unions, namely Carpenters and Laborer;

(II 177). The rest of the work is sub-contracted to

various specialty sub-contractors. (II 177). At the time.i

material hereto the Employer was not signatory to any
collection bargaining agreements with any Unions nor '

were a majority of their employees represented by any

Union (H 177).

When the Carpenters learned the Employer was
starting a job on a "Yellow Front" store they sent a

letter to the Council charging the Employer with engag-
ing in "unfair" competition and requested that the Coun-
cil place the firm on the "unfair" list. (II 281-283).

i

The Laborers representative, who was an officer of the I

Council defined the work "unfair" as meaning "unfair

competition in the industry insofar as wages, prices

and working conditions were concerned. " (II 349, 350,
351, 356).

In accordance with their regular procedure, the j

Council discussed the Carpenters charge and
i

appointed a committee to investigate it. (II 284). The !

Record does not disclose whether a representative of
!

the Laborers was appointed to that committee. (II 284),

8 !



But according to one of the Committee members, the

composition of the Committee usually depends upon

the type of crafts employed by the Employer involved.

(n 384).

The Council Commitee met with the Employer on

the "Yellow Front" job on October 14, 1960, and the

Carpenters' representative discussed the going along

with the Union and signing of the Master Agreement
with the Employer, (n 205-359). Years before the

Employer had been signatory to the Master Agreement
and was familiar with the terms and this was known by
the Carpenters' representative. (II 359).

According to Ellison, the Carpenters' represent-
ative, the Employer refused to go along with'iis'kt this

time because of the cost of converting to Union sub-
contractors. (II 286-359). The Council Committee
reported back to the Carpenters (II 286) and thereafter

on October 19, 1962, the Carpenters placed a picket

on the Employer "Yellow Front" job with a sign reading:

"Picket against Colson and Stevens, Carpenters
Local 1089 wants to organize and represent the

Carpenters employed. " (I 17).

The Carpenters freely admitted that had the Coun-
cil Committee obtained the Employer's signature on
the Master Agreement on October 14, 1960, they would
not have picketed the Employer. (II 328). The Board
found and it is not disputed that the object of the picket-
ing was to have the Employer sign the Master Agree-
ment. (I 55). On November 15, 1960, the picketing was
discontinued. (II 288). The Carpenters recognized
they had picketed for 30 days. (II 368).

On January 10, 1961, a "Survey Committee" from
the Council visited the Employers project and arranged
]a meeting of representatives bn January 12, 196L (11296).



The Committee reported back to the Council and
the Council members formed a Committee to meet
with the Employer. (II 298)» Representatives of

several crafts including Carpenters and Laborers
attended the meeting on January 12, 1961. (I 27).

At the meeting the question of recognition was
again raised. (I 27). The Employer was given

copies of the Master Agreement by the Carpenters
and there was discussion regarding the possibil-

ity of letting the Employer finish the "Church" job

with their existing non-union sub-contractors and
only requiring the Employer to convert to union

sub-contractors on the other jobs remaning and
future work. (II 307, 375, 387). The Carpenters
asked the Employer to call them before the meet-
ing of the Council the following Tuesday so they

could obtain the Council's authorization and
approval of the arrangement permitting the Em-
ployer to finish the "Church" job with non-union
sub-contractors. (II 307, 375, 387).

Shortly thereafter on January 26, 1961, the

Laborers commenced picketing the Employer with

signs almost identical to those of the Carpenters.
(I 17). Like the Carpenters, the Laborers admit- ,

ted that they would not have picketed the Employer I

had he signed the Master Agreement. (II 422). The-

picketing by the Laborers ended on February 20,

1961 (I 27).

SPECIFICATION OF ERRORS i

I

1. The Board erred in dismissing that portion
j

the General Council's Complaint alleging vio- I

lations of Sec. 8 (b) (7) (C) of the Act (I 59). I

2. The Board erred in concluding that the
j

record does not establish joint action by the
'

Unions in picketing the Employer for recognitioi
'I *^9/«

I

10



3. The Board erred in finding that there

was "no evidence in this record" that either

Union , in seeking recognition, was acting

on behalf of the other. (I 58-59) . Such
finding is totally unsupported by substantial

evidence, but on the contrary the substantial

evidence in the Record demonstrates each
Union was acting as the agent of the other and
in each others behalf in seeking recognition

and picketing to obtain that objective.

4. The Board erred by failing to find and
conclude both Unions, by virtue of their

picketing, violated Sec 8(b) (7) (C) of the

Act and in failing to issue an appropriate
remedial order.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the provisions of the Master
Agreement authorizes and empowers any
signatory Union to act as the agent for each
of the others in seeking recognition and
establishing binding collective bargaining
rights and duties with Employers.

2. Whether the Master Agreement sought
by both Unions constituted a joint request
for recognition.

3. Whether there is substantial evidence
in the Record as a whole to support the

Board's findings and conclusion that

neither Union in requesting joint recog-
nition and in picketing to achieve the

identical objectives were engaged in

joint action or acting on behalf of each
other.

11



ARGUMENT
A

THE UNIONS' AUTHORITY TO ACT FOR AND
ON BEHALF OF EACH OTHER IN SEEKING

RECOGNITION IS CONFERRED BY THE TERMS
OF THE MASTER AGREEMENT

It is apparent from an examination of the sections

of the Master Agreement, in part set out in the Statement

of ikcts, that the Agreement contemplates only joint and
immediate recognition by the employers of all of the

Unions signatory thereto. Upon signing the Agreement an •

employer immediately becomes bound to recognize all

not one of the four crafts.

Generally authority to act as an agent in a given »

manner will be implied whenever the conduct of the !

principal is such as to show that he actually intended

to confer that authority. In re International Longshore- i

mans' Union (CIO) Local 6 and Sunset Line and Twine ,

Company, 79 NLRB No. 207, 23 LRRM 1001, 1005 (1948)i

i

The usual elements of a joint venture are a common
|

interest in the performance of a common purpose, a I

joint interest in the subject matter, a right to share in I

the profits and a duty to share in the losses. 48 C. J. S. i

Sec. 2. It is generally held that one joint venturer may
be intrusted with the actual control of the enterprize with

out changing the status of the venture. 48 C. J. S. Sec. .;

In the instant case, the Unions clearly had an iden-
j

tical purpose, namely obtaining the Employer's signaturd

on the Master Agreement. This identical and common \

purpose supplied their common interest in the subject
I

matter of the picketing.
j

While each may not have had a right to control the j

picketing activities of the other it is apparent from their
^

1

12



conduct that they were impliedly intrusting each other

with the conduct of their respective periods of picketing.

The terms of the Master Agreement clearly

spelled out their rights to share in the benefits ob-

tained from recognition.

The Agreement contains no qualifications limiting

its application to one craft or the other. Nor is prior

approval or authorization from any of the crafts neces-
sary to bring all of the terms and conditions of the

Agreement into effect, when signed by an employer. Wlien

a duly authorized representative of one of the four basic

crafts requests an employer to sign the Master Agreement,
by virtue of the terms of that Agreement, that representa-
tive is held out by the four basic crafts as being author-
ized to bind them to the rights and obligations determined
oy the Agreement. The only conclusion that can be
Irawn from the interdependent, uniform and common
provisions of the Agreement is that it was the clear

intention of the parties to bind an employer to recog-
lize and bargain with all of the four basic crafts if that

employer recognized or bargained with any one of them.
U the very least the Agreement conferred upon the

representatives of each of the signatory unions the

)Ower and authority to accomplish that task. Certainly
here is no evidence in this Record indicating that the

Jnions denied their authority to request recognition and
bind the other labor organizations by obtaining Em-

)loyers' signatures to the Master Agreement. The
Vgreement was and is a single package that designedly
<ouId not be separated nor was it the intention of either

f. }i the Unions who picketed the Employer herein to change
t in any way.

Recognition of the other Unions was not an incident

-

1 result flowing from the signing of this Agreement,
mmediate recognition of all of the signatory craft was the
rimary and explicit purpose of the Agreement. Moreover

13



B

THE UNIONS' CONDUCT IN SEEKING AND
PICKETING FOR RECOGNITION DEMONSTRATES

THEY WERE ACTING IN CONCERT AND ON
BEHALF OF EACH OTHER

It is undisputed that both Unions sought the Employer 'f

signature on the same identical Agreement. It is clear

also from the Agreement that it offered only recognition of

all four Unions as the exclusive bargaining representative

for all of the employees within their respective craft

jurisdiction. Apart from this the Record also demonstrate
that the Unions coordinated their recognition demands
through the council. For example, as a result of a
contact by the Council "Survey Committee'' the meeting
of January 12 was arranged. At the January 12 meeting
with the Employer, the Laborers and the Carpenters
at the same time jointly requested recognition and the

same contract from the Employer.

I

Had the Laborers and the Carpenters not been acting

together in coordinating their activities through the Coun- i

cil it would not have been necessary for either the Labor-
ers or the Carpenters to attempt to obtain approval of

the Council to an arrangement that would permit the Em-
ployer to finish the "Church" job with his non-union

|

sub-contractors. Had the Carpenters been acting solely
|

for themselves and not in a representative capacity
j

they would have made that decision for themselves and
not waited or applied to the Council for approval for the

plan. j

It made no difference that the Laborers' representa-
)

live may not have appeared at the October meeting with
\

the Employer for the Carpenters protected their interests!'

by seeking the Master Agreement In fact, it was unnecess

ary for any but one member of the four crafts to seek an '

employer's signature to an Agreement. If the Employer
'

signed for one union the inevitable and intended result wa
t

14
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that he signed with all of the other signatory unions.

Moreover one of the Council's committee mem-
bers admitted that the composition of the Council

committee usually depends on the type of crafts

involved in the Employer's operation. The only

reasonable inference from this testimony coupled

with the fact that there is no evidence to show that

a Laborer's representative in fact was not placed
upon the original Council committee, is that it was
the intention of the Unions to w)rk together through

the Council in seeking and obtaining recognition from
this Employer.

C
THERE IS NO SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE TO
SUPPORT THE BOARD'S FINDINGS THAT

NEITHER UNION WAS ACTING ON BEHALF
OF THE OTHER

In reviewing orders of the Board, Courts generally

respect the inference drawn by the Board from evi-

dentiary facts which are undisputed or within the

Board's power to find if "the inference is within the

range of reason, although not what the Court would
have chosen". NLRB v Marcus Trucking Company,
(2d Cir. 1961) 286 F 2d 585, 590. In Universal Cam-
era Corp. V NLRB, 1951) 340 U.S. 474, 71 S. Ct
456, the Supreme Court held that a reviewing court
may set aside a Board order when:

"it cannot conscientiously find the evidence
supporting that decision is substantial when
viewed in the light that the Record in its en-
tirety furnishes, including the body of evidence
opposed to the Board's view".

Petitioner Independent Contractors Association
submits that the Board ignored and skirted the mater-
ial evidence in the Record and consequently its infer-
ences from the facts are not within "range of reason"
nor is there substantial evidence to support

15



its findings when viewing the Record as a whole.

In its decision and order the Board voted that

the Laborers did not join in the Carpenters' request

to place the Employer on the "unfair" list. This

fact is not material. It is obvious both were members
of the Council and there was never any evidence

adduced to indicate that the Laborers did not share
the view of the Carpenters that the Employer was
"unfair". Apparently "unfair" really means that

the Employer was not abiding by all of the terms of

the Master Agreement. It would appear that the

Employer was engaging in "unfair" competition insofar

as all of the crafts were concerned. At any rate, the

investigation of the Employer's "unfair" status was a

group undertaking by the Council and an additional

complaint from the Laborers would apparently add
nothing more to that investigation.

The Board also attached significance to the fact

that a representative from the Laborers apparently
did not appear with the Carpenters and the other union

representatives to request recognition from the Emp-
loyer and the signing of the Master Agreement on

October 14, 1960. (I 58) As previously noted in the

preceding portion of this brief this fact is also not

material or probative of the issue of joint action when
viewed in the light of the fact that the Carpenters by
seeking the Employer's recognition of the Master
Agreement ^wsce thereby openly and automatically seeking

recognition and benefits for the Laborers.
I

Next the Board concluded that there was no pro-
i

bative evidence that the Carpenters were requesting 1

recognition for the Laborers. (I 58) This conclusion !

completely avoids the undisputed facts in the Record
j

concerning the nature and terms of the Master Agree-
j

ment , the intentions of the parties reflected therein,

the knowledge of the participants as to what was i

16
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required by that Agreement and the conduct of the

Unions in coordinating their activities through the

Council. The only reaonsable inference to be

drawn from the Carpenters' request that the Employ-
er sign the Master Agreement is that they were not

seeking recognition solely for themselves but for

all of the four basic crafts.

Neither Union presented the Employer with a

separate contract covering only the craft they

represented.

If the Carpenters in fact had no interest or

intention to seek recognition from the Employer for

both the Laborers and the other four basic crafts

than their conduct in insisting on execution of the

Master Agreement is tantamount to deceit. Both
the Carpenters and Laborers knew that the contract

thay they insisted be signed bound the Employer
to recognize both of them as well as the other basic

crafts. The Petitioner Association does not read
the instant Record as establishing that the Unions
were attempting to deceive the Employer into

thinking that eac h of them was requesting recognition

solely for themselves and not on behalf of any other

union. The facts of the matter are that the Employer
and all of the Unions assumed the inevitable effect of

the execution of the Master Agreement, that the

Laborers and Carpenters were acting on behalf of

each other and that recognition of one meant recog-
nition of all of the four basic crafts. It was because
the Employer recognized this that he requested the

presence of the Carpenter's representative at the

January 12 meeting so that he could iron out the par-
ticular problems he knew he would have with the

Union he knew he would be dealing with most fre-

quently.

17





The "dispute" between the Carpenters and the Emp-
oyer was that he was not signatory to the Master
Agreement and not abiding by its terms. The same
:ondition and "dispute" existed between the Employer
ind the Laborers.

The Board also ignored the undisputed evidence

hat at the second meeting of the parties on January
.2, 1961, the Carpenters renewed their previous

•equest for recognition and a contract and that the

jaborers joined in that request and thereafter pic-

:eted in support of the joint request.

The evidence relied upon by the Board to

upport its conclusion on the joint action issue

onstitutes no more than a "scintilla" of evidence,

'he standard of "substantial" evidence requires

lore than that.

In view of the Record taken as a whole, the find-

igs of the Board and their inferences from the undis-

uted facts on the joint action issue are not within the

range of reason" and must be reversed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons it is respectfully sub-
litted that the Petitioner Independent Contractors
ssociation petition to review and modify the Board's
rder be granted and the case remanded to the Board
)r the issuance of an appropriate order.

Shimmel, Hill, Kleindienst& Bishop
Richard G. Kleindienst

1212 Union Title Building

Phoenix, Arizona

Counsel for Petitioner Independent

Contractors Association

(^)pendix follows)
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The Unions will confine their Reply to the Board's
basic arguments that the picketing violated subsections

(A) and (B) of Section 8(b)(4) of the Act. For the



sake of convenience, the unions will respond to these

arguments in the same order in which the Board pre-

sented them.

Neither union picketed in violation of Section 8(1))

(4)(A).

Without quibbling over what the court meant in the

Sand Door case (Local 1976, Carpenters v. NLRB, 357

U.S. 93) by "legal radiations", the unions agree 1)

that the court there held that a union could not, prior

to 1959, enforce its hot cargo agreement with an em-

ployer by conduct which in fact violated the secondary

boycott subsection of 8(b)(4); and 2) that this deci-

sion, to some degree, with its disclosure of the existence

of "legal radiations"—"loopholes," if you must

—

prompted Congress to amend the Act.

However, the description given by the Board in its

brief (pp. 16, 17) to these amendments is not quite ac-

curate. Since the Board later in its brief places great

emphasis on legislative history, it seems appropriate

to note with some preciseness just what these amend-

ments did do. New Section 8(e) was not enacted to out-

law agreements "to engage in secondary boycotts,"

but to outlaw hot cargo agreements and certain kinds

of subcontracting agreements which are "secondary in

nature,"—with some exceptions. And, subsection (A)

of 8(b)(4) was amended to make it an unfair labor

practice not only to
'

' strike or engage in other coercive

activity,
'

' but also to engage in certain apparently non-

coercive activity (for example, "to induce or encour-

age any individual employed by any person ... to

engage in ... a refusal" to do certain things in his



employment) with an object of "forcing or requiring

any employer ... to enter into" such agreements.

It should be kept in mind, too, that subsection (B)

of 8(b)(4) was amended also to expressly continue

the lawfulness of a primary strike or picketing.

A. Section(8) (4) (A) does not prohibit picketing

to obtain agreements described in the construction in-

dustry proviso in Section (8) (e).

The gist of the Board's position is that the construc-

tion industry proviso allows only the making of vol-

untary agreements and that, conversely, a union may
not picket to obtain such an agreement since this would

involve an involuntary or coerced agreement.

To arrive at these conclusions, the Board invites the

Court to abjure "slavish literalism" in interpreting

this proviso and its inter-relation with 8 (b) (4) be-

cause, according to the Board, the clear literary pur-

port of the language used "would lead to absurd and
incongruous results plainly at variance with the policy

of the legislation as a whole." (Bd. Brf. 27)

As was stated in the Unions' Opening Brief, the

application of these sections to the facts of this case

is clear. Resort to the intricate and complex history

of this Act should, therefore, not be undertaken. If,

however, this Court should determine that it is required

to do so, it is respectfully vsubmitted that the legislative

history points in the same direction as the plain mean-
ing of the language used in statutes.

It will be recalled that the Landrum-Griffin Act was
the product of one of the longest sessions of a Confer-



ence Committee in the history of the Congress. The
Conference Committee reconciled the differences be-

tween the Senate Bill (S. 1555) and the House Bill

(H.R. 8400) which was adopted as a substitute for

the Elliott Bill (H. R. 8342) which had been reported

by the House Committee on Education and Labor.

The Senate Bill did not proscribe all "hot cargo"

clauses. Section 707. (a) of S. 1555 as passed the Sen-

ate provided for the addition of a new subsection (e)

to Section 8 of the National Labor Relations Act, as

amended, which read as follows

:

"(e) It shall be an unfair labor practice for any

labor organization and any employer who is a com-

mon carrier subject to Part II of the Interstate

Commerce Act to enter into any contract or agree-

ment, express or implied, whereby such employer

ceases or refrains or agrees to cease or refrain

from handling, using, or transporting any of the

products of any other employer or to cease doing

business with same." Legislative History of the

Labor-Management and Disclosure Act of 1959

(hereinafter referred to as Leg. Hist.), Volume I,

page 582.

Section 707. (c) of S. 1555 provided that;

"(c) Any contract between an employer and a

labor organization or its agents heretofore or here-

after executed which is, or which calls upon any-

one to engage in, an unfair labor practice under

Section 8 (e) of the National Labor Relations Act,

as amended, shall to such extent be unenforceable

and void." Leg. Hist., Volume I, page 583.



The Landrum-Griffin Bill proscribed all "hot ear-

go" clauses. Section 705. (a) of this Bill amended
Section 8 (b) (4) of the National Labor Relations Act,

as amended, to make it an unfair labor practice

—

" (ii) to threaten, coerce, or restrain any person

engaged in commerce or in an industry affecting

commerce, where ... an object thereof is:

(B) forcing or requiring any person to cease,

or to agree to cease, using, selling, handling, trans-

porting, or otherwise dealing in the products of

any other producer, processor, or manufacturer,

or to cease, or agree to cease, doing business with

any other person ..." Leg. Hist., Volume I, page

681. (Emphasis added.)

Section 705. (b) (1) added a new Section 8 (e) to

the National Labor Relations Act, as amended, which

read as follows:

"(e) It shall be an unfair labor practice for any
labor organization and any employer to enter into

any contract or agreement, express or implied,

whereby such employer ceases or refrains or agrees

to cease or refrain from handling, using, selling,

transporting or otherwise dealing in any of the

products of any other employer, or to cease doing

business with any other person, and any collective

bargaining contract entered into heretofore or

hereafter containing such an agreement shall be

to such extent unenforceable and void." Leg. Hist.,

Volume I, page 683.

Section 705. (b) (2) provided that

:

(sic) "(2) Any contract or agreement between
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an employer and a labor organization heretofore

or hereafter executed which is, or which calls upon
anyone to engage in, an unfair labor practice un-

der Section 8 (e) of the National Labor Relations

Act, as amended, shall to such extent be unen-

forceable and void." Leg. Hist., Volume I, page

683.

It will be noted that Section 8 (b) (4) (A) of the

Landrum-Griffin Bill did not contain the provision

which is presently part of the Act. The draftsmen

made it an unfair labor practice to force a hot cargo

agreement by the language of Section 8(b)(4)(B)
which is italicized in the quotation of that Section set

forth above.

The reformulation of the draft to make the forcing

of a prohibited agreement unlawful in Section 8(b) (4)

(A) is first found in S. Res. 181 presented to the Sen-

ate on August 28, 1959. The Resolution amended Sec-

tion 8(b) (4) (i) (ii) (A) to read as follows:

'' (A) forcing or requiring any employer or self-

employed person to join any labor or employer or-

ganization or to enter into any agreement which

is prohibited hy Section 8(e)." Leg. Hist., Volume
II, page 1382. (Emphasis added.)

Section 8(e) in S. Res. 181 made the execution of

hot cargo clauses unlawful in the same language as

that contained in the Landrum-Griffin Bill but added

provisos excepting from the scope of such prohibition

the building and construction industry and the apparel

and clothing industry. The official Analyses accom-

panying S. Res. 181 stated that

:

"The hot cargo provision (s) outlaw, with certain

exceptions, all express or implied agreements be-



tween an employer and a labor organization by
which the employer agrees not to do business with

any other person. The proposed secondary boycott

provision would forbid any strike or concerted re-

fusal to work on goods where the object is obtain-

ing an unJaivfuJ hot cargo agreement." Leg. Hist.,

Volume II, page 1383. (Emphasis added.)

It will thus be seen that the new drafting structure

in Section 8 relating to hot cargo agreements and strikes

therefor was removed from Section 8(b)(4)(B) of

the Act. The intent of the new draft was made crystal

clear by the above quotation from the Analyses accom-

panying the Resolution. Obviously, a strike to obtain

a lawful hot cargo agreement was not proscribed by

the Senate Resolution.

The above analysis of the legislative process is borne

out by the following statement contained in House of

Representatives Report No. 1147, 86th Congress, First

Session—Statement of the Managers on the Part of

the House on S. 1555:

"The House amendment contains provisions

amending the secondary boycott provisions of Sec-

tion 8(b) (4) of the National Labor Relations Act,

as amended. The Senate bill does not contain com-

parable provisions. The conference committee

adopted the provisions of the House amendment
with the following changes: (1) the phrase 'or

agree to cease' was deleted from Section 8(b)(4)

(B) because the committee conference concluded

that the restrictions imposed by such language

were included in the other provisions dealing with

prohibitions against entering into 'hot cargo'

agreements, and, therefore, their retention in Sec-
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tion 8(b)(4)(B) would constitute a duplication

of language ; . .
." Leg. Hist., Volume I, page 942.

There remains the question of the effect of the lan-

guage of Senator Kennedy's explanation of the Con-

ference Eeport which was to the following effect:

"Since the proviso [for the construction industry]

does not relate to Section 8(b)(4), strikes and
picketing to enforce the contracts excepted by the

proviso will continue to be illegal under Section

8(b)(4) whenever the Sand Door case (357 U.S.

93) is applicable.

It is not intended to change the law with respect

to the judicial enforcement of these contracts, or

with respect to the legality of a strike to obtain

such a contract." Leg. Hist., Volume II, page 1433.

(Emphasis added.)

It should be noted that the reference to the Sand
Door case is solely in the context of enforcement of the

"hot cargo" clause. This, of course, is the sole holding

in that case as is clearly and fully set forth in the

Unions' Opening Brief. If the legislative draftsmen

had inferred, as does the Board's brief, that the Sand
Door case intimated the illegality of a strike to secure

a hot cargo clause, that intimation would have been

carried forward in the careful and informed legisla-

tive history which is characteristic of the various leg-

islative moves made with respect to the progress of

the legislation.

It should also be noted that the above-quoted state-

ment referred to judicial enforceability of hot cargo

contracts and the "legality" of strikes to secure such



contracts. It is respectfully submitted that there is

nothing in the pertinent legislative history of the Act

to dispute the assumption that the draftsmen of S.

Ees. 181 and the Conference Report believed that

strikes to secure lawful hot cargo agreements were

not unlawful. It is also respectfully submitted that

the plain meaning of the Statute as supported by the

legislative history discussed in this section of the brief

should govern rather than the Board's self-serving

statements with respect to the effect of the Board de-

cisions prior to 1959 on the "law" as of that time.

Suffice it to say, there was no court decision holding

that strikes to secure lawful hot cargo agreements,

were, per se, unlawful.*

So much for the legislative history. Now, for some

of the specific arguments made by the Board which

require special comment.

It is interesting to observe that the Board, at pages

19-21 of its brief, notes that Congress intended to pre-

serve the law as it was in 1959 in the construction in-

dustry because it was necessary to avoid serious dam-
age to the "pattern of collective bargaining in (this)

industry. " Yet, the very building trades study described

by the Board in its brief (pages 19, 20, showed the ne-

cessity for the subcontractor clause as a means of estab-

lishing "a floor under competitive labor costs." But

*It is interesting to observe that, even in the welter of confusing

Board statements on the subject, there is to be found buried in the

footnotes of the Board decision in Teamsters Local 1^7 (1955), 112

NLRB 923, which is cited in the Board's brief, page 39, the follow-

ing statement (at page 925): "Whether the union's picketing also

violated 8(b) (4) (A) insofar as it sougiit to regulate future dealings

by Bateson and McCann with such subcontractors (not as yet iden-

tified) as might refuse to meet the union's wage standards, is a ques-
tion which we need not and do not decide."
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if, as the Board argues, such clauses can be entered

into only voluntarily, and if they are to be treated as

the Board argues elsewhere in its Brief as non-manda-

tory subjects of collective bargaining, then it is obvi-

ous that the "well-established employers" who desire

to have this floor under competitive labor costs will

not have such protection very long. This is true be-

cause, while the well-established employers may be

willing to voluntarily enter such agreements, the em-
ployers who are not well established may not. Accord-

ingly, those employers who could not be forced by
picketing to enter such agreements would be able to bid

jobs on the basis of labor costs well below those estab-

lished in the collective bargaining agreements, thereby

drawing to themselves all of the work, while the so-

called well-established employers would be priced out of

the market. To presume that the well-established em-

ployers were maintaining that kind of a bargaining

pattern in 1959 is to presume commercial insanity.

If the bargaining pattern reflected in the study re-

ferred to in the Board's Brief means anything, it

means that subcontractor clauses were deemed and

treated of necessity as mandatory subjects of collective

bargaining. If Congress legislated the construction

industry proviso to avoid serious damage to this pat-

tern, then surely it did not reduce these agreements to

the status of non-mandatory subjects of collective bar-

gaining by banning picketing to obtain such agree-

ments.

The Board (Bd. Brf. 22-23), in attempting to per-

suade this Court that a Union cannot picket to obtain

a construction industry agreement, seems to mislead

in drawing an analogy between the construction pro-
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viso in 8(e) and the special treatment afforded the

construction industry by the new Section 8(f). In this

respect, the Board suggests that 8(f) deals only with

"pre-hire collective bargaining agreements" and "un-

ion security provisions.
'

' In the first place^ there is no

pertinent connection between 8 (e) and 8 (f), and

therefore any analogy is likely to be meaningless. In

the second place, Section 8 (f) also permits agree-

ments requiring the employer to notify the Union of

job opportunities, etc., and agreements which specify

mininnnn training or experience qualifications for em-

ployment, or which provide for priorities in employ-

ment based upon length of service, etc. These kinds of

agreements are specially allowed by Section 8 (f), and

surely are not matters of mere voluntary agreement,

but are instead matters of mandatory bargaining.

Nothing in the cases or legislative history cited by the

Board hold to the contrary. Accordingly, the Board
cannot properly say to this Court that Section 8 (f)

permits only "voluntary agreements", nor can it say

that a Union may never picket to obtain any of the

kinds of agreements set forth in Section 8 (f). Thus,

even the valueless analogy between the proviso in Sec-

tion 8 (e) and Section 8 (f ) becomes no analogy at all.

The Board, at pages 25 and 26 of its Brief, contends

that if picketing to ohtain the 8 (e) proviso were legal,

then this would produce results inconsistent with other

sections of the Act, particularly those establishing

the duty to bargain in good faith concerning manda-
tory subjects of bargaining. In connection with this

argument, the Board states that the subcontractor

clause does not come within the scope of mandatory
bargaining as defined in NLRB vs. Wooster Div. of

Bory-Warner Corp., 356 U.S. 342, 349. The fact is that
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Borg-Warner did not remotely deal with subcontractor

clauses, nor did it lay down any rule by which subcon-

tractor clauses should automatically be declared non-

mandatory subjects of collective bargaining.

The subsequently decided cases of Local 24, Team-
sters vs. Oliver, 358 U.S. 283, United States v. Drum,
368 U. S. 370, and that line of cases which is cited in

the Union's Opening Brief, are much more in point,

and they support the argument that the subcontractor

clause in question is a mandatory subject of collective

bargaining.

By reason of the foregoing, it is respectfully submit-

ted that the construction of Section 8(e) and 8(b) (4),

as urged by the Board, rather than the plain meaning
of these statutes as urged by the Unions, would lead

"to absurd and incongruous results plainly at variance

with the policy of the legislation as a whole."

B. The subcontractor clause in the Master Labor
Agreement is not an agreement to cease doing business

within the intendment of Section 8 (e) of the Act.

The Board correctly observes that Section 8 (e) must

be read to cover only "secondary" activity, the test

being whether a particular agreement is fairly within

the intendment of Congress to do away with the sec-

ondary boycott. District 9, Machinists v. NLRB, (CA-
DC ; 1962) 315 F2d 33, 36. Thus, a contract clause basic-

ally intended to preserve the work opportunities in the

unit covered by the contract is primary in nature, and

therefore outside the scope of Section 8 (e), even

though an incidental effect of the clause may be to

limit the employer 's freedom to do business with others.

There seems to be no disagreement concerning these

basic propositions.
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However, District 9, Machinists, supra, does not

stand for the proposition as suggested by the Board
(Bd. Brf. 30) that the subcontractor clause is in every

instance secondary in nature, and therefore, like the

"hot goods" clause, within the scope of Section 8 (e).

The contract involved in District 9, Machinists, supra,

was quite different from the subcontractor clause in-

volved in the instant case. In District 9, Machinists,

the employer was required, if it contracted out any

work, to give preference to shops or subcontractors

"approved or having contracts with the Union." The
Court ruled that this kind of agreement was not de-

signed, as the Union claimed

:

".
. . to limit the work of employers maintain-

ing labor standards commensurate with those re-

quired by the Union. The bare words of . . . (the

agreement) do not lend themselves to such an in-

terpretation. They fairly suggest a concurrence

between the imion and the Association to boycott

another employer for reasons not strictly germane

to the economic integrity of the principal work
unit. Congress has set its face against such concur-

rence or agreement ..."

"... the questioned provision is not, as it could

have been drafted to be, one which has work pres-

ervation as its aim, such as a provision barring

all subcontracting; nor is it in terms a provision

to make certain that the suhcontractee shall main-

tain labor standards commensurate ivith those of

the neutral employer. It is, rather, a provision to

make certain that the primary employer is under

contract with the Union or for unspecified reasons

is approved by the Union . . . Thus, the neutral
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employer is not to do business with any other em-

ployer which is not acceptable to the Union."

(Emphasis added.)

In a very recent case, Bakery Wagon Drivers &
Salesmen, Local 484, vs. NLRB (CA DC; May 23,

1963), F2d , 47 LC, Para. 18,278, the same
Court noted that its previous decision in District No.

9, Machifiists, supra, had held 'Hhat contracts which

limit subcontracting to employers having a contract

with the same Union are illegal." In Bakery Wagon
Drivers, the Court was faced with the Union's conten-

tion that the agreement involved "merely required

maintenance of equivalent working conditions." The
conduct involved was a strike to enforce a no-subcon-

tracting agreement against Employer A in order to

solve a dispute with Employer B. The Court condemned
the use of the no-subcontract clause when so used be-

cause it would destroy the basic premises "upon which

subcontracting clauses, which prima facie violate sub-

section (B), are permitted, i.e., that the Union is seek-

ing to protect some legitimate economic interest of the

employees ot . . . (employer A) ". (Emphasis added.)

The distinctions between primary and secondary

subcontract clauses noted in District 9, Machinists and

in Bakery Wagon Drivers, supra, are entirely consis-

tent with Local 24, Teamsters vs. Oliver, 358 U. S. 283,

and the accompanying line of cases cited by the Unions

in their Opening Brief, to the effect that unions and

employers may legally agree upon matters threatening

the maintenance of area wage standards and conditions

or the basic wage structure and conditions established

by the collective bargaining agreement.
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The subcontractor clause in the instant case falls

within the type of agreement approved by Oliver and

the other cases cited in the Opening Brief. The fact

that it establishes the minimum wage to be paid to

subcontractor employees does not detract from its le-

gitimacy. The distinctions to be observed are not—as

the Board urges—whether the agreement in question

determines wages and conditions to be observed outside

the bargaining unit, but whether or not it is aimed

really "at the Union's difference with another em-

ployer", Local 636, Plumhers v, NLBB (CA DC) 278

F2d 858, rather than at the protection of the jobs and

standards of the employees in the bargaining unit. For
example, a contract clause which establishes the min-

imum wage to be paid by a subcontractor to his em-

ployees may or may not come within the prohibitions

of Section 8 (e), depending upon the purpose or object.

And this is a question of fact in every instance.

That the subcontractor clause involved in the instant

case is primary in nature and therefore not within the

scope of Section 8 (e) at all, is fully developed in the

Union's Opening Brief and will not be repeated here.

To the Board's comment (p. 36) to the effect that

the clause is broader than the payment of wages and
to the suggestion that it requires subcontractors to rec-

ognize the petitioning Unions, this may be answered

by the observation that wages alone do not constitute

the sole subject matter of collective bargaining, that

there are many other factors which go into the estab-

lishment of employment standards. Further, and for

the record, it should ])e observed that, although Gen-
eral Counsel alleged in the Complaint that an object

of each of the Union's picketing was to "force or re-

quire Colson's subcontractors, including Riggs, Swartz,
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and Hauii, to recognize and bargain with Respondent

Local 383, or Respondent Local 1089, or other labor

organizations, as the representatives of the employees

of such subcontractors," nonetheless, neither the Trial

Examiner (R. 25-28) nor the Board in its Decision

(R. 54-60) made such a finding. By implication, there-

fore, it must be deemed that this issue was determined

contrary to the Board's allegation and to its sugges-

tion.

By reason of the foreging, it is respectfully submit-

ted that the Board's argument that the subcontractor

clause in question is an agreement to cease doing busi-

ness within the intendment of Section (e), is without

merit.

II

The Union's picketing for the Master Agreement
did not violate Section 8('b)(4)(B) of the amended Act.

As was stated fully in the Union's Opening Brief,

(pp. 24-30) the law prior to the 1959 amendments did

not, per se, forbid picketing to obtain a hot cargo agree-

ment or a subcontract clause. Also, as stated in the

Opening Brief, as well as earlier herein, Congress made
it plain when it amended the Act that it understood

such picketing to be legal. Congress expressly under-

took to outlaw such picketing generally, and then just

as expressly, exempted the construction industry

where the subcontract clause related to work to be done

at the jobsite. See 8(b)(4)(A) and 8(e). LeBus v.

Local 60, United Assn. of Journeymen, etc., 193 F.

Supp. 392; Cuneo v. Carpenters, etc., 207 F. Supp. 932.

Since the Opening Brief, another court has been

heard from. In Cuneo v. International Union of Oper-
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citing Engineers, Local 825, et. ah, F. Supp
(April 16, 1963), 47 LC Para. 18,229, the Union was

charged, as here, with violations of 8(b)(4)(A) and

(B) in connection with work stoppages arising out of

negotiations for an agreement containing a construc-

tion-industry type subcontractor clause. After holding

this conduct not in violation of Subsection (A) on the

basis of the decision in Cuneo v. Carpenters, supra, the

court then said

:

"Section 8(b) (4) (B) of the Act was not involved

in Judge WORTENDYKE'S decision. (Cuneo v.

Carpenters, Supra.) The Board claims that re-

spondents' strike action against members of the

Association to force them to enter into a collective

hargaining agreement containing a subcontractor

clause, which would require them to cease doing

business with subcontractors who are not covered

by such agreement, is per se a violation of section

8(b)(4)(B) of the Act. TJie Court does not agree

ivith this contention. Since the proviso in section

8(e) of the Act protects under sections 8(b)(4)

(A), work stoppages to obtain a subcontractor

clause, such action by respondents against mem-
bers of the Association cannot be unlawful under
section 8(b) (4) (B) of the Act. Otherwise, the pro-

viso in section 8(e) ivould be rendered meaning-

less." (Empha. added)

At the trial level of this case, the Board based its

contentions of an 8(b)(4) violation on the very same
per se argument. General Counsel elicited testimony

calculated to prove that each union picketed to force

Colson to sign the Master Agreement. Except for es-

tablishing the existence of the subcontractor clause in

that Agreement, he made no attempt to show that the
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Union had as a matter of fact any dispute, active or

otherwise, with the named subcontractors, nor that

either of the unions were picketing tvith a subjective

intent to force the named subcontractors off the job.*

When the Unions sought to show the absence of any

dispute whatsoever with the named subcontractors,

General Counsel objected as to the relevancy, (Tr. 352)

explaining that he was relying solely on the per se the-

ory that picketing to force the execution of the agree-

ment was a violation of subsections (A) and (B) of

8(b)(4).

This per se approach also represents the position

taken by the Board in its subsequent decisions in other

cases, in which it cites this Colson and Stevens case

as the leading authority in this area of the law. Los
Angeles Building & Construction Trades Council, 140

NLRB No. 124, 52 LERM 1215.

However, the Board in its Brief (pp. 37-47) seems

to be sidling off from its per se theory. This is reflected

by the Board's citation of cases dealing with the com-

mon garden variety of secondary boycott, that is, where

a neutral employer is intentionally pressured in order

to resolve a dispute, active or otherwise, with some

"blacklisted" employer. It is also reflected in the

Board's unwarranted references to "persons in the

blacklisted group," to "delisting," "blacklist," etc.

There, of course, is no evidence whatsoever support-

*It will be recalled that when the Carpenters Union spoke to

Colson in October and when it began picketing on Oct. 19th in order

to force recognition, and arguendo, the execution of the Agreement,
so far as the Union knew—and this is undisputed (Tr. 359)—the

Colson job was all-union except Colson. The court is reminded fur-

ther that the subcontractor clause, in any event, was not applicable

to the subcontractors named in the complaint for the several reasons

stated in the Union's Opening Brief at p. 14 et seq.
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ing such characterizations. And, for the first time, the

Board now says (Bd. Brf. 46) that its Decision "re-

jected" the Trial Examiner's finding that "enforce-

ment" of the subcontractor clause was left to the fu-

ture. (R. 28) In this connection, however, the Board
does not argue nor even suggest that the picketing was
accompanied with an intent by either union to continue

doing so until the named subcontractors either agreed

to abide by the Agreement or until Colson forced them
off the job. In fact, the Board's argument in the con-

text of rejecting the Trial Examiner's reasoning that

enforcement of the subcontractor clause was left to

the future, distinguishes between the "immediate ob-

jective" of signing and the "ultimate objective vis-a-

vis the subcontractors," thereby itself acknowledging

that enforcement was in fact left to the future as com-

pared to the immediate object of getting the agreement

signed.

Thus, logically, the Board must come back to the

jyer se argument that picketing to obtain a construction-

industry type of subcontractor clause, witJiout more,

is a violation of 8(b)(4)(B). However the cases cited

by the Board in support of this proposition are all

clearly disinguishable on their facts. And as has been

earlier shown herein and in the opening brief, the Con-

gress expressly and plainly declared that picketing to

obtain construction-type subcontractor clauses, even

assuming they are secondary in nature, is lawful.

Lastly, in connection with the suspicion that the

Board may now also l)e arguing that each of the vmions

picketed with an illegal subjective intent directed at the

termination of any contracts between Colson and any of

the named subcontractors, in the manner involved in

NLRB V. Local 47, Int'l Brotherhood of Teamsters, 234
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F. 2d 296 (C.A. 5), it is respectfully submitted 1) that

it is procedurally improper to so argue after having

led the Unions and the Trial Examiner to believe that

it was relying solely on the per se theory, and 2) that

as a matter of fact there is not sufficient evidence sup-

porting a finding of subjective intent, or object, on

the part of either union of a kind prohibited by Sub-

section (B) of 8(b)(4). The lack of specific evidence

of unlawful motivation is acknowledged by the reliance

by the Board upon NLBB v. Erie Resistor Corp.,

U.S , 53 LRRM 2121, 2124. That case, dealing with

a limited evidentiary rule in discrimination cases, is

of no aid to the Board's argument in the instant case

since the conditions precedent to the use of the Erie

rule are not present in the instant case.

It is respectfully submitted that neither union's

picketing for the Master Labor Agreement was in vio-

lation of Section 8(b) (4) (B) of the amended Act.

CONCLUSION

The Board 's^ecision and Order insofar as it de-

clares each of the petitioning unions to be guilty of

violating the two subsections of 8(b) (4) should be re-

versed and ordered dismissed.

Dated this 14th day of June, 1963, at Phoenix, Ari-

zona.

Respectfully submitted,

MINNE & SORENSON
ANDERSON D. WARD

609 Luhrs Bldg.

Phoenix, Arizona

Attorneys for Petitioning Unions
9
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JURISDICTION

This consolidated case is before the Court upon

petition of Construction, Production & Maintenance

Laborers Union Local No. 383, AFL-CIO, and United

Brotherhood of Carpenters Local No. 1089, AFL-
CIO (hereafter referred to individually as Local 383

and Local 1089, and collectively as ''the Unions") to

review an order of the National Labor Relations

Board issued against them on July 26, 1962, follow-

ing proceedings under Section 10 of the National

Labor Relations Act, as amended (61 Stat. 136, 73

Stat. 519, 29 U.S.C. Sec. 151, et seq.), and upon the

separate petition of Independent Contractors Associa-

tion (hereafter, "Association") to review another

portion of the Board's order dismissing certain al-

legations in the complaint. The Association has also

intervened in connection with the Unions' petition.

The Board's decision and order (R. 54-67, 25-32)^

are reported at 137 NLRB No. 149. In its answers,

the Board has cross-petitioned for enforcement of its

order against the Unions and has requested denial

of the Association's petition. This Court has juris-

diction of the proceedings under Section 10(e) and

(f ) of the Act, the unfair labor practices having oc-

^ References to the pleadings, the decision and order of the

Board, and other papers, reproduced as "Volume I, Plead-

ings," are designated "R." References to portions of the

stenographic transcript reproduced pursuant to Court Rules

10 and 17 are designated "Tr." Wherever a semicolon ap-

pears, references preceding the semicolon are to the Board's

findings; those following are to the supporting evidence.



curred at Phoenix and Scottsdale, Arizona, within

this judicial circuit.

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Board's Findings of Fact

Briefly, the Board found that the Unions violated

Section 8(b) (4) (i) and (ii) (A) and (B) of the

Act by picketing Colson and Stevens Construction

Company, Inc., herein called Colson, to force Col-

son's acceptance of contract terms, prohibited by Sec-

tion 8(e) of the Act, which would have required Col-

son to cease doing business with its nonunion sub-

contractors unless the latter also complied with the

contract's provisions. The evidence upon which the

Board's findings rest may be summarized as follows

:

Colson is a general contractor in the building and

construction industry in Phoenix, Arizona, where in

October, 1960, it was beginning work on a construc-

tion project known as the "Yellow Front store" (R.

25-26; Tr. 172, 188, 245-246). At that time, its

employees were not represented by any union, nor

had Colson been party to any collective bargaining

agreement during its two-year existence (Tr. 176-

177, 264). Early in October, Local 1089 asked the

Phoenix Building and Construction Trades Council

to put Colson on its "unfair" list, and in response

to this request the Council appointed a committee to

investigate the matter (R. 26; Tr. 280-285).

On October 14, a group from the Council including

Ralph Ellison, assistant business representative of

Local 1089, approached Colson and Stevens at the



Yellow Front construction site (R. 26; Tr. 357).

Ellison asked Company President Walter Colson to

recognize Local 1089 as representative of Colson^s

carpenter employees by signing with the Union, re-

minding Walter Colson that "he had been signatory

to the agreement before" (R. 26; Tr. 190, 359).^

Walter Colson understood that recognition of Local

1089 would mean adoption of the "Arizona Master

Labor Agreement," ^ Article I-C of which provided

(R. 26-27; Tr. 190, 192-193, G.C. Exh. 44):

That if the Contractors, parties hereto shall

subcontract construction work as defined here-

after in Article III of this Agreement, the terms

of said Agreement shall extend to and bind such

construction subcontract work, and provisions

shall be made in such subcontract for the ob-

servance by said subcontractor of the terms of

this Agreement. A subcontractor is defined as

any person, firm or corporation who agrees un-

der contract with the general contractor or his

subcontractor to perform on the job site any part

or portion of the construction work covered by

the prime contract, including the operation of

2 Walter Colson, as president of other construction com-
panies, had in past years been signatory to the Carpenters'

agreement (Tr. 192, 367).

^ A "master" collective agreement to which Local 1089,

Local 383, and a number of other labor organizations are

parties, together with a number of Arizona general contrac-

tors and contractors' associations, it consists of twenty ar-

ticles of general applicability, supplemented by appendices

fixing wages and working rules for particular crafts (R. 26;

G.C. Exh. 44).



equipment, performance of labor and the fur-

nishing and installation of materials. . . .

Colson noted that he had some non-union subcon-

tractors on the Yellow Front project and, because

signing up with Local 1089 would entail dropping

such subcontractors, told Ellison that the Company

could not then afford to recognize his union; "it

would work a hardship on the company . . . the can-

celling of the [sub] contracts . . . that were already

tied up" (R. 26-27; Tr. 190-191, 248-249)."

On October 19, on the basis of Ellison's report of

his meeting with Colson the previous week.

Local 1089 established a picket at the Yellow

Front project site, his sign proclaiming a pur-

pose to "organize and represent" Colson's carpenters

(R. 27; Tr. 285-288, 193, 250). As a consequence of

the picketing, which continued until November 17,

delivery of supplies to the project was impeded (R.

27; Tr. 250-251, 253-254, 255-256, 257-258, 195-198,

127-128, 144-146, 199, 234).

Union representatives again met with Colson and

Stevens on January 12, 1961. This time the group

included a representative of Local 383, and Ellison of

Local 1089 was present as before, now accompanied

by his union superior, Clyde English (R. 27; Tr.

258-260, 300, 205, 285-286). Again the question of

recognition and "the agreement" was raised; "the

whole meat of the conversation was to join the union

* The Schwartz Plumbing Company and Earl H. Haun, a
masonry contractor, both non-union, participated in the Yel-

low Front construction project under subcontracts from Col-

son (Tr. 141-142, 121-122, 127).



or become signatory to the Arizona Master Labor

Agreement," copies of which were given to both Col-

son and Stevens (R. 27; Tr. 201-204, 260, 264-265,

301-302, 304). During discussion of the necessity of

Colson obtaining subcontractors who would comply

with the Master Agreement, Colson protested that

the firm had a church construction project then un-

der way and could not very well "convert that job

to all union subcontractors," whereupon a member
of the group suggested the possibility of Colson being

allowed to ''slide through" on the church job provided

it convert to all union subcontractors for the con-

struction of two schools on which the Company had

been awarded the prime contract (R. 27; Tr. 202,

302, 305A, 261, 204). Colson said this would work

a hardship on the Company, but that it would com-

pare prices of union and nonunion subcontractors

in its files, and if the differential was small enough,

the Company would "consider their proposition—be-

coming signatory to the Arizona Master Labor

Agreement" (R. 27; Tr. 202-203, 204, 305B-306,

341-342, 262). The unions, in turn, stated that they

would take up with the other members of the Build-

ing and Construction Trades Council at its meeting

five days hence the matter of permitting Colson to

complete its church project with the subcontractors

then on the job (Tr. 206, 306-307, 341-342, 374-375,

262).

Colson and Stevens had no further personal con-

tact with the Unions (Tr. 269, 208). However, on

January 25, after the Company and its subcontrac-

tors had begun construction of the Tonto and Kiva



schools, Local 383 posted a picket at the school sites,

the picket sign reading, 'Ticket against Colson and

Stevens. Laborers Local 383 wants to organize and

bargain for laborers employed by Colson and Stev-

ens." (R. 27; Tr. 400-401, 262-264). Patrolling

was maintained until February 20 when Local 383

"pulled the picket off" (R. 27; Tr. 401). During the

period of picketing, suppliers of both Colson and its

subcontractors failed to made deliveries because their

employees would not cross the picket line (R. 27; Tr.

266, 129-130).'

II. The Board's Conclusions and Order

The Board, all five members participating, unani-

mously concluded from the foregoing facts that Local

1089 and Local 383 violated Section 8(b) (4) (i) (ii)

(A) and (B) of the Act by picketing for the Arizona

Master Labor Agreement with its Article I-C, a con-

tract clause proscribed by Section 8(e) of the Act,

and thereby to force Colson to cease doing business

with its nonunion subcontractors if they too did not

abide by the contract's terms (R. 54-57). The

Board further concluded, two members dissenting,

that since neither union's picketing was conducted

for more than a reasonable time not to exceed 30

= While Colson's subcontractors on the schools included

Earl Haun, who had also been masonry subcontractor on the

Yellow Front project, and Riggs Plumbing and Heating Com-
pany, the Tonto and Kiva projects were not totally nonunion
(Tr. 208-209, 269). In each case, the termite-proofing sub-

contractor, who was unionized, performed its work during
the period of picketing but after 5:00 p.m. when the picket

had left for the day (Tr. 270, 272-274).
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days, and the record did not establish joint action

so as to make each union responsible for the other^s

picketing, the Unions had not violated Section 8(b)

(7)(C) of the Act (R. 57-59).

The Board's order requires the Unions to cease and

desist from the unfair labor practices found and,

affirmatively, to post appropriate notices (R. 60-62,

66-67).

ARGUMENT

I. The Board Properly Found That the Unions' Picket-

ing of Colson Violated Section 8(b)(4)(i)(ii)(A) and
(B) of the Act

A. Introduction—the statutory provisions and the

issues

Section 8(b) (4) (i) and (ii)'(A) and (B) of the

amended Act, like their predecessor, Section 8(b)

(4) (A) of the Taft-Hartley Act, are basically "sec-

ondary boycott'^ provisions, aimed at prohibiting a

union from enmeshing a neutral employer in the un-

ion's differences with other, "primary" employers.

As did their predecessor, the amended provisions pro-

scribe particular types of conduct by unions for par-

ticular objectives. The conduct condemned is that de-

scribed by subsections (i) and (ii) of Section 8(b)

(4), v^hich prohibit a labor organization from strik-

ing or inducing a strike or refusal to perform serv-

ices, or threatening, restraining or coercing any per-

son, for an objective contained in paragraph (A)

or (B) of 8(b)(4). No issue is presented in this

case with respect to the means used by the Unions, for

each concededly picketed Colson, and picketing is



manifestly within the scope of subsections (i) and

(ii).

Subsection (B) of 8(b)(4) contains essentially

the same unlawful object that was contained in Sec-

tion 8(b) (4) (A) prior to the 1959 amendments. In

effect, that object is to force one person to cease doing

business with another, and, with respect to the

amended (B) as well as the old (A), by consistent

construction the person subject to the union's pro-

scribed pressure must be a neutral. Subsection (A)

of the amended Act repeats one of the unlawful ob-

jects contained in the old Section 8(b) (4) (A) ^ and

adds a wholly new unlawful object, that of forcing or

requiring any person "to enter into any agreement

which is prohibited by Section 8(e)." Section 8(e),

in turn, provides:

It shall be an unfair labor practice for any labor

organization and any employer to enter into

any contract or agreement, express or implied,

whereby such employer ceases or refrains or

agrees to cease or refrain from handling, using,

selling, transporting, or otherwise dealing in any
of the products of any other employer, or to

cease doing business with any other person, and
any contract or agreement entered into hereto-

fore or hereafter containing such an agreement
shall be to such extent unenforcible and void

:

Section 8(e) then sets forth two provisos. The first,

which relates to the construction industry, states:

''' This repeated object, which is not relevant here, is "forc-

ing or requiring any employer or self-employed person to

join any labor or employer organization."
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Provided, That nothing in this subsection (e)

shall apply to an agreement between a labor

organization and an employer in the construc-

tion industry relating to the contracting or sub-

contracting of work to be done at the site of the

construction, alteration, painting, or repair of

a building, structure, or other work:

The second, which relates to the garment industry

and is not directly involved here but is of significance,

as we show below, in interpreting the scope of the

first proviso, states:

Provided further. That for the purposes of this J
subsection (e) and section 8(b) (4) (B) the terms

"any employer," *'any person engaged in com-

merce or an industry affecting commerce," and

**any person" when used in relation to the terms

"any other producer, processor, or manufac-
turer," "any other employer" or "any other per-

son" shall not include persons in the relation of

a jobber, manufacturer, contractor, or subcon-

tractor working on the goods or premises of the

jobber or manufacturer or performing parts of

an integrated process of production in the ap-

parel and clothing industry.

The Board concluded that the Unions violated Sec-

tion 8(b) (4) (i) (ii) (A) and (B) of the Act by pic-

keting Colson, a general contractor, to force or re-

quire Colson to enter into an agreement that it would

do business only with subcontractors who would

abide by the contract's provisions, and, therefore, as

a consequence, to compel Colson to cease doing busi-

ness with its nonunion subcontractors Schwartz,

Riggs and Haun, if they did not so comply. The sub-
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contracting clause sought by the Unions provided as

follows

:

That if the Contractors, parties hereto shall sub-

contract construction work as defined hereafter

in Article III of this Agreement, the terms of

said Agreement shall extend to and bind such

construction subcontract work, and provisions

shall be made in such subcontract for the observ-

ance by said subcontractor of the terms of this

Agreement. A subcontractor is defined as any

person, firm or corporation who agrees under

contract with the general contractor or his sub-

contractor to perform on the job site any part or

portion of the construction work covered by the

prime contract, including the operation of equip-

ment, performance of labor and the furnishing

and installation of materials. . . .

The Unions contend that the Board's conclusions

are insufficiently supported in fact and erroneous in

law. Thus, they argue that there is not substantial

evidence that "an object" of their picketing was to

force Colson's acceptance of the Arizona Master La-

bor Agreement, and that, in any event, picketing for

such an object is "primary" and therefore not within

the reach of Section 8(b)(4)(A) or (B)—the "sec-

ondary boycott" provisions of the amended Act. In

the latter connection, they assert that subcontracting

clauses like Article I-C of the Master Agreement deal

with mandatory subjects of bargaining for which

strike pressure may be employed. The Unions fur-

ther contend that Section 8(b) (4) (A) and (B) can-

not apply to their conduct because a proviso to Sec-

tion 8(e) legalizes in the construction industry agree-
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ments to cease doing business that would otherwise

be unlawful under Section 8(e). Finally, they urge

that the subcontracting clause in question would not

require Colson to cease doing business with other per-

sons within the meaning of Section 8(b) (4) (B).

We show below that the Board's conclusions are in

all respects proper in law and supported by substan-

tial evidence on the whole record. We show further

that the defenses advanced by the Unions are without

merit.

B. Substantial evidence supports the Board's finding

that an object of each union's piclceting was to

force Colson to adopt the Arizona Master Labor
Agreement

The evidence summarized above fully establishes

that each Union "by its picketing and oral demands,

sought to have Colson sign the Master Agreement"

with its provision restricting the persons with whom
the employer might do business (R. 55). Thus, when

the group of union agents first accosted Colson at the

Yellow Front construction site in October and Local

1089's representative, Ellison, asked for recognition,

discussion focused on Colson "signing their agree-

ment" (Tr. 190). Clearly, recognition meant sign-

ing a contract, and this in turn meant the Master

Agreement. Thus, Ellison's admitted purpose in call-

ing on Colson was to negotiate a contract, and his

union superior admitted at the hearing that in the

view and practice of Local 1089, "to negotiate a con-

tract" is "getting [the employer] to sign the Arizona

Master Labor Agreement" (Tr. 336-338, 368). And
while "perhaps," as the Trial Examiner noted, the
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Master Agreement "was not formally proposed by

Ellison on October 14," the record reveals and the

Examiner further noted that Colson, who was famili-

ar with the Union's bargaining practices, "obviously

knew" that this was Ellison's objective (R. 28; Tr.

190, 192-193)/

When Colson refused to sign, explaining that the

company could not afford to drop its nonunion sub-

contractors, the conversation came to an end and,

shortly thereafter, pickets appeared at the Yellow

Front site, their signs demanding recognition and

bargaining rights {supi^a, p. 5). Local 1089 ad-

mittedly ordered the picketing in response to Col-

son's October 14 refusal to grant the Union's de-

mands (Tr. 285-287). Accordingly, the Board could

reasonably conclude that the Union's objective in

picketing on and after October 19 was acceptance of

the Master Agreement which, less than a week earlier,

Colson had rejected.

Likewise, after Colson again declined to become

party to the Master Agreement at the January 12

meeting with representatives of Local 1089, Local

383, and other unions, Local 383 began picketing

the Tonto and Kiva school construction projects. The

testimony of both company and union participants in

the January 12 meeting shows that it was addressed

^ At the outset of their conversation, Ellison reminded Col-

son that "he had been signatory to the agreement before"

(Tr. 359). As a witness, Ellison explained that Colson, on
behalf of construction companies which he then headed, had
in two prior years "signed two other contracts for me per-

sonally" (Tr. 367).
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almost exclusively to the question of Colson signing

the Master Agreement, copies of which were present-

ed to each Colson partner, and to the consequences

for the Company's subcontracting arrangements

should Colson sign (R. 27; Tr. 201-204, 260-

262, 264-265, 301-302, 304-305, 362-363, 364). Un-

ion witnesses admitted at the hearing that, as Colson

and Stevens testified, the partners had resisted sign-

ing because "it would work a hardship on them if

they had to change [sub] contractors in the middle of

[a] church" that they were then building, admitted

further that a union agent suggested the possibility

of making the forthcoming school projects the "break-

ing-olf point" when Colson would cease using nonun-

ion subcontractors, that the Company then agreed

(although subcontracts had already been let for the

schools) to investigate the cost of substituting all-

union subcontractors and to consider signing the

Master Agreement if such a substitution were feasi-

ble, and finally that the unions agreed to propose at

their Building Trades Council meeting the next week

that the Company be permitted to complete its church

construction job with its existing nonunion subcon-

tractors (Tr. 302, 304-307, 341-342, 364, 374-375,

386-388). As the petitioning Unions note in their

brief, p. 8, the record contains conflicting testimony as

to what was said during the meeting about subse-

quent communication between the unions and Col-

son ;
^ but whatever may have been said as the meet-

^ According to Colson and Stevens, the unions were to in-

form them of the result of the Building Trades meeting and

also whether Haun, who had earlier been awarded a sub-
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ing concluded, it is uncontested that, as matters

turned out, there was no further contact of any sort

between the Company and the unions until Local 383's

picket appeared at the Tonto school construction site

two weeks later, on January 25, his placard demand-

ing bargaining rights for Colson's laborers. Consider-

ing Local 383's participation in the January 12 meet-

ing, the acknowledgment by its business agent that it

would not have picketed had Colson signed the Master

Agreement at that time or had it agreed to do so

prior to the Building Trades meeting five days there-

after, and the fact that admittedly Local 383 did not

otherwise contact Colson concerning a contract either

before or after posting its picket (Tr. 400, 421-423),

the Board was fully warranted in concluding that the

objective of Local 383's picketing was to force Colson's

acceptance of the Master Agreement.

C. The Unions' picketing for a secondary subcon-

tracting clause violated Section 8(b)(4)(A) of the

amended Act

During the decade following enactment of the

original secondary boycott provisions of the Act it

became apparent that unions could still successfully

contract on the school projects, would also go union; and at

that time they were to tell the unions "where we stood with

our subcontractors" (Tr. 204-205, 206-207, 262). However,
according to Clyde English, business representative of Local

1089 and the chief union spokesman at the meeting, Colson

was to telephone him prior to the Building Trades meeting
with the Company's decision on signing the Master Agree-
ment and converting to union subcontractors (Tr. 307, 341-

342, 280, 301).
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subject "unoffending employers and others [to] pres-

sures in controversies not their own" {N.L.R.B. v.

Denver Bldg. & Construction Trades Council, 341

U.S. 675, 692) by writing into collective bargaining

agreements provisions committing an employer to

cease doing business with others to whom the con-

tracting union objected. For in Local 1976, Carpen-

ters V. N.L.R.B., 357 U.S. 93 (the Sand Door case),

while holding that such a contract could not be en-

forced by strikes or inducements of employees con-

certedly to withhold services, the Supreme Court made

clear that "an employer may voluntarily sanction and

support a boycott and hence his agreement to do so is

not unlav^ul" (N.L.R.B. v. Amalgamated Lithogra-

phers, 309 F.2d 31, 39 n. 12 (C.A. 9), cert, denied,

372 U.S. 943 (emphasis added)). The agreement

itself was lawful, with "legal radiations" (Sand Door

at 108) ; that is, it was enforceable by any means

other than those specifically prohibited by Section

8(b) (4). Moreover, were an employer unwilling thus

to consent to a boycott, the union could back up its

contract demand with economic or other pressure

"so long as it refrain [ed] from the [sole] prohibited

means of coercion through inducement of employees"

(id. at 99).

As this Court has pointed out, it was the loopholes

disclosed by the Sand Door decision that motivated

Congress, in 1959, to enact the new Section 8(e) out-

lawing agreements to engage in secondary boycotts

and "[to add] language to section 8(b) (4) (A) mak-

ing it an unfair labor practice for a union to strike
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or engage in other coercive activity for the purpose of

forcing an employer to enter into an agreement of

the kind described in section 8(ey^ (N.L.R.B. v.

Amalgamated Lithographers, 309 F.2d 31, 39 n. 12

(C.A. 9), cert, denied, 372 U.S. 943 (emphasis

added)).

As we discuss more fully below, pp. 27-36, Article

I-C of the Arizona Master Labor Agreement for

which the Unions picketed Colson, since it would have

barred Colson from continuing to subcontract to any

subcontractor not willing himself to be bound by the

Master Agreement, is indisputably ^'an agreement of

the kind described in section 8(e)" (Amalgamated

Lithographers, supra). Accordingly, the Unions

could not picket to force Colson's adoption of the

Master Agreement without violating Section 8(b) (4)

(A) unless, as the petitioning Unions contend, the

construction industry proviso to Section 8(e) immu-
nizes coercive conduct otherwise violative of Section

8(b) (4) (A). We show now that the Board properly

rejected this contention, and concluded that Section

8(b) (4) (A) interdicts the denominated conduct in a

construction industry context.

1. Section 8{b)(^)(A) applies to coercive attempts

by the building trades to obtain employer agree-

ments to cease doing business

Section 8(b) (4) (A) of the amended Act proscribes

coercive union activity to force upon an employer

"any agreement which is prohibited by section 8(e)."

The latter section, with two limited exceptions, cre-

ates a sweeping ban on any agreement, whether ex-
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press or implied, by which an employer becomes

committed to cease doing business with "any other

person." The two exceptions, embodied in separate

provisos to Section '8(e), differ markedly in scope

(see supra, pp. 9-10).

In the garment industry, persons in certain rela-

tionships are excluded from the definitional phrases

of both Section 8(e) and Section 8(b) (4) (B), so that

unions dealing with such persons may not only make

restrictive agreements but also coerce a cessation of

business, whether the coerced employer has or has not

contractually committed himself to boycott and

whether the union is seeking an immediate severance

of business relations with named individuals or a

long-term boycott of an entire category of other

persons. The construction industry proviso, by con-

trast, simply makes Section 8(e) inapplicable to "an

agreement" relating to the contracting or subcon-

tracting of construction site work. Thus, building

contractors and unions who agree upon such restric-

tions do not thereby commit an unfair labor practice,

and the agreement reached is not "unenforcible and

void" but may be enforced by any conduct not viola-

tive of Section 8(b)(4)(B)—for the latter section

is fully applicable to construction unions. Not only

does this proviso not mention 8(b) (4) (B) as does the

garment industry proviso, but the authoritative leg-

islative history is explicit: "Since the proviso does not

relate to Section 8(b)(4), strikes and picketing to

enforce the contracts excepted by the proviso will

continue to be illegal under Section 8(b)(4) when-

ever the Sand Door case (357 U.S. 93) is appli-
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cable." ^ Moreover, "it [the proviso] is not intended

to change the law . . . with respect to the legality of

a strike to obtain such a contract."
^^

The construction industry proviso, then, "permits

the making of voluntary agreements." ^^ As Senator

Kennedy, the conference chairman, stated in his

analysis of the conference bill prior to its adoption,

the proviso "is intended to preserve the present state

of the law . . . with respect to the validity of agree-

ments. ... by which a contractor in the construction

industiy promises not to subcontract work on a con-

struction site to a nonunion contractor" (105 Cong.

Rec. 17900, II Leg. Hist. 1433). This was necessary,

he explained, "to avoid serious damage to the pattern

of collective bargaining in [this] industry" (105

Cong. Rec. 17899, II Leg. Hist. 1432). As was

pointed out in a 1950 study of building trades bar-

gaining in the 12 counties of southern California,

where a master agreement establishing basic em-

ployment standards has been in effect since 1941 in

^ Analysis of Senator Kennedy during debate on the con-

ference bill, 105 Cong. Rec. 17900, II Leg. Hist. 1433 ("Leg.

Hist." refers to the two-volume work, Legislative History of

the Labor-Management Reporting and Disclosure Act of

1959 (G.P.O. 1959)). See also the report of the House con-

ferees, H.R. Rep. No. 1147 on S. 1555, 86th Cong., 1st Sess.,

p. 39, I Leg. Hist. 943.

*" Analysis of Senator Kennedy, supra, n. 9.

" Statement of Chairman Barden of the House Labor
Committee, a member of the conference committee where the

proviso originated, in presenting the conference report to the

House (emphasis added), 105 Cong. Rec. 18128, II Leg. Hist.

1715.



20

which 19 building trades unions participate together

with the 10 building trades councils and the major

contractors' associations, "for the well-established

employers, it is also important to have a floor under

competitive labor costs." ^^ The structure of the in-

dustry, with subcontracting a customary way of do-

ing business, leads many employers to favor subcon-

tracting clauses as a means of undergirding such a

"floor." The southern California master labor agree-

ment referred to above contains such a clause, ^^ sim-

ilar to the clause that the petitioner Unions sought

to force upon Colson, as a result of which "any sub-

contractor [of a signatory contractor] who attempts

to depart from the established union standards faces

cancellation of his contracts and an immediate loss

of business." 70 Monthly Labor Review at 17. On
the other hand, if the contractor is unwilling in

the circumstances to cancel the subcontract, or if he

lets a subcontract to one who refuses to become bound

by the master labor agreement, then the signatory

contractor faces suit by the unions for specific per-

formance, with an interruption of work on his proj-

ect occasioned by a change of subcontractors, and

perhaps a damage suit by the ousted subcontractor.

^" Pierson, Building-Trades Bargaining Plan in Southern

California, 70 Monthly Labor Review 14 (U.S. Dept. of La-

bor, B.L.S., 1950).

^^ "That if the contractors, parties hereto, shall subcon-

tract work as defined herein, provision shall be made in such

subcontract for the observance by said subcontractor of the

terms of this Agreement." Quoted in 70 Monthly Labor Re-

view at 17.
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This bargaining pattern, with these effects, Congress

believed legitimate and left lawful, so long as the

restrictive agreement represents the free choice of

the parties.

The limited reach of the construction industry

exemption was intentional. During the 86th Con-

gress, while the committee of conference was con-

sidering the House- and Senate-passed bills (neither

of which made any special provision for construction

industry secondary boycott agreements), a group of

Senate conferees put forth a proposal to accord the

construction industry the same broad exception sub-

sequently granted the garment industry. In that

same proposal, S. Res. 181, 86th Cong., 1st Sess.,

105 Cong. Rec. 17332-17333, II Leg. Hist. 1382-

1383, the clause in Section 8(b)(4)(A) here found

violated first appeared. The conference committee

and subsequently the Congress adopted the proposed

amendment to 8(b)(4)(A), but, as we have seen,

did not adopt the proposed immunization of second-

ary pressure by building trades unions. Moreover,

at the same time that it adopted the 8(b)(4)(A)

clause, the conference committee dropped from the

amended 8(b) (4) (B) the phrase "or agree to cease"

which had appeared in the House-passed bill. Ex-

plaining this deletion, the House managers stated in

their report accompanying the conference bill that

the restrictions thereby imposed were included in

"the other provisions" dealing with secondary boy-

cott agreements "and therefore their retention in sec-

tion 8(b)(4)(B) would constitute a duplication of

language" (H.R. Rep. No. 1147 on S. 1555, 86th
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Cong., 1st Sess., p. 38, I Leg. Hist. 942). The

"other provisions" referred to can only be Section

8(b)(4)(A), for only that section (and not 8(e))

shares with 8(b) (4) (B) the requirement of coercive

means. Therefore, if the deleted phrase would have

been "a duplication," the reach of 8(b) (4) (A) must

be coextensive with that of 8(b)(4)(B), and as we
have shown, the latter provision has always been

fully applicable to construction unions.

The special treatment accorded the construction

industry by Section 8(e)—authorization to enter into

and to enforce subcontracting agreements so long as

the unions refrain from coercive economic pressures

—is comparable in nature to the special treatment of

that industry elsewhere in the amended Act. By the

new Section 8(f), Congress likewise gave recogni-

tion to the special circumstances pertaining in the in-

dustry and differentiating it from manufacturing and

sales enterprises. Section 8(f) permits construction

unions and employers to enter into prehire collective

bargaining agreements and to make the union-secur-

ity provisions of their contracts effective after only 7

days, practices which would otherwise constitute em-

ployer violations of Section 8(a)(1), (2), and (3)

and union violations of Section 8(b) (1) (A) and (2).

Again, the permission thus given is permission to

enter into voluntary agreements. As the legislative

history makes clear, Congress did not intend by Sec-

tion 8(f) to legitimize strikes or picketing to coerce

an employer's acceptance of these agreements. H.R.

Rep. No. 1147 on S. 1555, 86th Cong., 1st Sess., p.
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42, I Leg. Hist. 946 (^'Nothing in [8(f)] is intend-

ed ... to authorize the use of force, coercion, strikes

or picketing to compel any person to enter into such

prehire agreements.") ; 105 Cong. Rec. 18128, II Leg.

Hist. 1715 ^^
; cf., Sperry v. Local Union No. 562,

United Association, F. Supp. (W.D. Mo.),

52 LRRM 2673, 2676-2677 (holding that Section

8(f) provides no defense to an 8(b)(7)(C)

charge) ; N.L.R.B. v. hifl Hod Carriers Union, Local

lUO, 285 F.2d 397, 403 (C.A. 8), cert, denied, 366

U.S. 903.

In amending Section 8(b)(4)(A) and adding 8

(e). Congress sought to broaden and tighten the stat-

utory ban on coercive involvement of neutral em-

ployers in labor disputes not their own. Nothing in

the amendments adopted nor in their legislative his-

tory suggests that in so doing, Congress meant to

sanction any conduct previously unlawful. Yet, if

the first proviso to 8(e) creates an immunity also

from the specific inhibition of Section 8(b)(4)(A),

it thereby exempts conduct which was already pro-

hibited by the more general secondary boycott pro-

vision of the 1947 Act. For, as we shall show here-

after (Part I. D., pp. 37-^^, strikes or picket-

" Cong. Barden reading into the record a colloquy on the

Senate floor in 1958 as to the interpretation to be given a

provision then under consideration similar to 8(f). Senator

Kennedy there stated, "nor was it the intention of the com-
mittee to authorize a labor organization to strike, picket, or

otherwise coerce an employer to sign a prehire agreement
where the majority status of the union had not been estab-

lished. The purpose of this section is to permit voluntary

prehire agreements."
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ing to force a building contractor to cease doing

business with a group of other persons, by the de-

vice of exacting his legally-enforceable contractual

commitment to do so, had been held unlawful under

Section 8(b)(4)(A) of the Taft-Hartley Act/'

Thus, in amending Section 8(b)(4)(A) in 1959,

Congress made explicit what ''the process of liti-

gating elucidation" (Infl Ass^n of Machinists v.

Gonzales, 356 U.S. 617, 619) revealed to have been

implicit in the more general provision of the prior

law. And in enacting the first proviso to Section

8(e), Congress avowedly did not intend "that this

proviso should be construed so as * * * to remove the

limitations which the present law imposes with re-

spect to such agreements. * * * It is not intended

that the proviso change the existing law * * * with

respect to the legality of a strike to obtain such a

contract" H.R. Rep. No. 1147 on S. 1555, 86th

Cong., 1st Sess., pp. 39-40, I Leg. Hist. 943-944. In

sum, picketing and other proscribed conduct to exact

an employer's consent to a contract clause limiting

the persons with whom he may continue to contract

was unlawful under the general cease-doing-business

provisions of the 1947 Act, and Congress in 1959,

while carrying forward those provisions, in addition

created a separate unfair labor practice specifically

^'^N.L.R.B. V. Local ^7, Int'l Brotherhood of Teamsters,

234 F.2d 296 (C.A. 5) ; Bricklayers, Masons and Plasterers

Int'l Union (Selby-Battersby), 125 NLRB 1179; and see dis-

cussion of the Sand Door case, 357 U.S. 93, infra, p. 42.

The statutory provision involved in those cases was trans-

ferred by the 1959 amendments to Section 8(b)(4)(B) of

the Act.
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expressing its condemnation of coercive tactics to se-

cure any secondary boycott agreement. Since Con-

gress did not mean the 8(e) proviso to affect the le-

gality of these tactics as employed in the construc-

tion industry, their use by the building trades must

now run afoul of both the general and the specific

statutory prohibitions/^

Moreover, even apart from the applicability here

of Section 8(b)(4)(B), the interpretation of the

8(e) proviso for which the Unions contend would

produce results inconsistent with other provisions of

the Act. Section 8(b)(3) and 8(d) establish the

duty of a majority representative to bargain in good

faith about "wages, hours, and other terms and con-

ditions of employment"—the so-called "mandatory"

subjects of bargaining. As to these subjects, a ma-

jority representative may insist upon its position.

Conversely, the duty to bargain about matters within

the mandatory area carries with it the obligation to

refrain from insisting upon inclusion in a contract of

matters outside that area, for "such conduct is, in

substance, a refusal to bargain about the subjects

that are within the scope of mandatory bargaining."

N.L.R.B. V. Wooster Div. of Borg-Warner Corp., 356

U.S. 342, 349. A contract clause limiting the per-

sons with whom the employer may do business, con-

trary to the petitioner Unions' assertion (Brief, pp.

17-21), is not a mandatory subject of bargaining

^'' Just as do the same tactics in pursuit of secondary sub-

contracting clauses in a different industrial context. High-
way Truck Drivers V. N.L.R.B., 302 F.2d 897 (CA.D.C).



26

within the meaning of Section 8(d)/^ Insofar as a

construction industry union and employer are con-

cerned, it is at best a permissible subject of bargain-

ing, one as to which ''each party is free to bargain

or not to bargain, and to agree or not to agree"

N.L.R.B. V. Wooster Div. of Borg-Warner Corp., 356

U.S. 342, 349.^^ The secondary subcontractor clause,

by definition, does not relate to "wages, hours, and

other terms and conditions of employment" of the

contractor's employees. It does not regulate the re-

lations between the contractor as employer and his

employees. It deals, instead, only with relations be-

tween the contractor and other employers. It is,

therefore, as a regulation of third-party relationships

extrinsic to the employment relation, a clause of

precisely the type that Borg-Warner held non-man-

datory (356 U.S. at 349-350).

The proviso "permits the making of voluntary

agreements" (supra, p. 19). Conversely, it does

not authorize an involuntary agreement, the promise

given under duress, in response to coercion. An

^^ Such a clause is to be distinguished from the typical

"primary" subcontracting clause (see pp. 28-30, infra).

^^ In this industry, owing to the 8(e) proviso, the second-

ary subcontractor clause, like the "ballot" and "recognition"

clauses in the Borg-Warner case, "is lawful in itself [and]

would be enforceable if agreed to by the [employer]. But it

does not follow that, because the [union] may propose these

clauses, it can lawfully insist upon them as a condition to

any agreement." 356 U.S. at 349. As to industries not cov-

ered by the 8(e) proviso, such a clause is not even a permis-

sible subject of bargaining, but an illegal clause (see pp.

28-30, infm).
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agreement of this sort, not being immunized by

the proviso, falls under the ban of 8(e) proper. It

is, therefore, "an agreement prohibited by Section

8(e)" within the meaning of Section 8(b)(4)(A).

As the Board concluded, ''the construction exemption

in Section 8(e) was not intended to remove from the

reach of [any part of] Section 8(b)(4) picketing

and other proscribed conduct which is designed to

secure such contracts as are before us in this case."

(R. 57). This reading, in the Board's view, "gives

hospitable scope to the competing interests which

Congress here sought to balance. To construe the

statute as condemning coercive enforcement of agree-

ments of the type here involved but condoning coer-

cion as a means of obtaining such agreements would

in our view be to pay observance to slavish literalism

and to frustrate the Congressional objective. The

Supreme Court periodically reminds us . . . that

words used in a statute should not be literally con-

strued, even where their literary purport is clear, if

such construction would lead to absurd and incon-

gruous results plainly at variance with the policy of

the legislation as a whole." (Ibid.). Cf., Int'l Long-

shoremen's & Warehousemen's Union v. Juneau

Spruce Corp., 189 F.2d 177, 185 (C.A. 9), aff'd,

342 U.S. 237, 243 ("literalness is no sure touchstone

of legislative purpose").

2. Article I-C of the Arizona Master Labor Agree-
ment is an agreement to cease doing business

within the intendment of Section 8(e) of the Act

Section 8(e) literally makes unlawful any agree-

ment between a union and an employer whereby the
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employer agrees to cease doing business with any

other person. This section, however, dovetails with

Section 8(b) (4) (B) and, like 8(b) (4) (B), must be

read to cover only ''secondary" activity. "The ques-

tion * * * is whether a particular agreement is fair-

ly within the intendment of Congress to do away with

the secondary boycott." District 9, Machinists v.

N.L.R.B., 315 F.2d 33, 36 (C.A.D.C).

Thus, as the Unions correctly point out (Brief, p.

19), in the Board's view, a contract clause basically

intended to preserve the work opportunities of em-

ployees in the unit covered by the contract is pri-

mary in nature and therefore outside the scope of

Section 8(e), even though an incidental effect of the

clause may be to limit the employer's freedom to do

business with others. ^^ On the other hand, if the

basic target of the clause is the employment condi-

tions of the employees of another employer, then the

clause must be viewed as secondary in nature and

therefore within the scope of Section 8(e), even

though an incidental effect of the clause may be to

benefit employees in the unit.^" As the Board went

" This view comports with the settled law relating to the

original secondary boycott provisions of the Act. See, e.g.,

Local 761, LU.E. V. N.L.R.B., 366 U.S. 667, 672; N.L.R.B.

v. Denver Bldg. & Construction Trades Council, 341 U.S. 675,

687-688.

2° The ultimate purpose of most unlawful secondary boycott

activity is to promote better working conditions, higher

wages, and more work for members of the union generally.

For it would be absurd even to suggest that a union would

pursue such a course out of sheer caprice, and with nothing

to gain but the bare cessation of business relationships be-
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on to explain in the opinion from which the Unions

reprint an excerpt (Ohio Valley Carpenters District

Council, 136 NLRB 977, 49 LRRM 1908) :

[Contractual restrictions on having done else-

where work usually performed by unit employees

undoubtedly impinge upon an employer's free-

dom to engage in business with others.] But
where they do no more than define and reserve

for the exclusive performance of employees in

a bargaining unit work of a kind that has tra-

ditionally been performed in that unit, they have

a different function from the contracts that were

the targets of 8(e). Restrictions designed to

confine work to unit employees are immediately

related to terms and conditions of employment
within the unit. They anticipate no work to be

performed by persons other than employees of

the immediate employer. Their sole, direct, and
primary aim is to protect and preserve work and
therefore jobs for employees within the bargain-

ing unit. In these respects limited restrictions

of that character are quite different in purpose

and intent from the ''hot goods" clauses 8(e)

was designed to ban—that is, the blacklisting

of specified employers or classes of employers be-

tween employers. "A finding of an illegal intermediate ob-

ject is all that is required." Amalgamated Meat Cutters, etc.

V. N.L.R.B., 237 F.2d 20, 25 (C.A.D.C), cert, denied, 352
U.S. 1015. If ultimate economic motivation established the

legality of a union's conduct, the secondary boycott proscrip-

tions of the Act would become a dead letter. As this Court
has succinctly stated, "the prohibition of section 8(e) is a

broad one. Agi-eements of this kind, whether express or

implied, are not made lawful by economic necessity."

N.L.R.B. V. Amalgamated Lithographers, 309 F.2d 31, 36
(C.A. 9), cert, denied, 372 U.S. 943.
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cause their products or labor policies are ob-

jectionable to the union. A ''hot goods" clause

anticipates work to be performed by persons

other than the employees of the immediate em-

ployer. Without such anticipation the "hot

goods" clause serves no purpose, for its interest

is to empower the union to regulate the deal-

ings of the immediate employer with others by

dictating with what class of other employer the

immediate employer may deal, or under what
conditions. In short, it is with work or condi-

tions of work outside the contract's bargaining

unit that "hot goods" clauses are immediately

concerned.

In short, the touchstone of a clause's legality must

be "whether the contract provisions in question ex-

tend beyond the employer and are aimed really at

the union's difference with another employer." Lo-

cal 636, Plumbers v. N.L.R.B., 278 F.2d 858, 864

(C.A.D.C.). Like the "hot goods" clause described

above, the subcontractor clause is clearly secondary

which limits not the fact of subcontracting—either

prohibiting it outright or conditioning it upon, e.g.,

current full employment of the signatory employer's

employees—but the persons with whom the signatory

employer may subcontract. Its purpose is a termina-

tion of business dealings between the signatory em-

ployer and others of whom the union does not ap-

prove or with whom it has a dispute. The secondary

subcontractor clause, therefore, like the "hot goods"

clause, falls within the scope of Section 8(e). Dis-

trict 9, Machinists v. N.L.R.B., supra, 315 F.2d at

S6~S7 ; Highway Truck Drivers, Local 107 v. N.L.R.B.,
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302 F.2d 897 (C.A.D.C.) ; cf., N.L.R.B. v. InVl Union

of Operating Engineers, 293 F.2d 319, 323 (C.A.

The Unions' attempt (Brief, p. 20) to justify their

contract clause and their picketing by invoking such

cases as Local 2Ji., Teamsters v. Revel Oliver, 358

U.S. 283, founders on the fact that it is the function

or focus of a clause that determines whether it is

"primary"—a mandatory subject of bargaining for

which strike pressure may be employed—or "sec-

ondary" and so within the ambit of 8(e).^^ For

Oliver illustrates the type of work-protection purpose

which, as we have just shown, is primary and pro-

tected though an incidental effect is a limitation on

the contracting employer's unfettered freedom to con-

tract with others. Oliver involved the applicability

of state anti-trust laws to a collective bargaining

contract clause setting minimum rental rates for any

truck "leased to a [signatory] carrier by an owner

who drives his vehicle in the carrier's service," and

only at such times, the driver-owner then being con-

sidered an employee of the carrier, with his wages,

hours, and working conditions those established by

the contract (358 U.S. at 284-285, 286-287). The

union had sought, by this clause, to prevent the

carriers paying below-cost rental fees as a device by

-^ Indeed, the very terminology of the first proviso to Sec-
tion 8(e) indicates congressional belief that in order to save
voluntary subcontractor clauses in the construction industry
from the 8(e) ban it was necessary specifically to describe
them.

"And likewise 8(b) (4) (B), see infra, pp. 39-42.
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which, in effect, to pay wages lower than their con-

tract scale (id. at 291-292). Because this objective

bore such an intimate relation to the carrier wage

scale set by the contract and to the protection of the

carriers' regular employees' jobs against a possible

reduction in number were the carriers able to op-

erate at lower cost by substituting owner-drivers on

inadequate rental fees, the Court found the rent-

fixing clause within the area of bargaining made

mandatory by federal law, hence immune to state

regulation (id. at 293-295, see also, U.S. v. Drum,

368 U.S. 370, 382 n. 26). In short, Oliver teaches

that a contract clause designed to protect the wages

and work of the employees of the contracting em-

ployer—the only employer to whom the challenged

clause referred—is a mandatory subject of bargain-

ing. Manifestly, the case neither holds nor implies

a contract clause primary and bargainable which

seeks to determine conditions of work outside the

contract's bargaining unit by dictating with what

class of other employer the contracting employer may
do business.^^

23 The other cases relied on by the Unions to show the

legitimacy of their insistence on Article I-C of the Master

Agreement similarly fall short of the mark (Brief, pp. 19-

21). In a recently issued opinion denying a petition for re-

hearing, the court in Deaton Truck Line, Inc. V. Local 612,

Teamsters, F.2d (C.A. 5), 51 LRRM 2552, opinion

modified and reh. denied, March 14, 1963, 52 LRRM 2728,

2729, withdrew the language quoted by the Unions (Brief,

p. 20) and expressly refused to pass on questions of the re-

lationship between the contract clause in dispute and the

wages established by the contract. In any event, Deaton was
an action under Section 301 of the Act to compel arbitration
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In the context presented in this case, where the

subcontractor clause is sought to be imposed upon a

of a dispute over the meaning of a contract clause. The pos-

sible applicability of Section 8(e) was apparently not raised;

it is nowhere mentioned by the court. The Board does not,

of course, deny a union's "interest" in maintaining and pro-

tecting its area wage standards, but importance to the union

is not a criterion on which Board or court decisions may be

rested where, as with the closed shop or unlimited recog-

nitional picketing or—here—secondary boycott agreements,
Congress has determined that interests may not be advanced
or advanced by designated means. Hence, however "legiti-

mate" a union's interest in area standards, it may not be ad-

vanced by contractual arrangements outlawed by Section

8(e).

The Board's decision in Local Union No. 74.1, (Keith Riggs
Plumbing), 137 NLRB No. 121, 50 LRRM 1313, is likewise

inapposite, for the question at issue there was not the law-

fulness of standards picketing, whatever its effect—no pro-

vision of the Act renders this unlawful—but simply whether
the union had transgressed Section 8(b) (7) (C) by picketing

for organizational or recognitional purposes.

Finally, Order of R.R. Telegraphers V. Chicago & North-
westei^ Ry. Co., 362 U.S. 330, decided under the Railway
Labor Act, and the Board's subsequent decision in Town &
Country Mfg. Co., 136 NLRB No. Ill, 49 LRRM 1918, en-

forced, April 29, 1963, No. 19679, F.2d (C.A. 5), 53
LRRM 2054, finding the same principle embodied in Section

8(d) and 8(a)(5) of the National Labor Relations Act, as

amended, are equally irrelevant here. That an employer is

dutybound to bargain with the representative of his em-
ployees before abandoning or otherwise ceasing himself to

perform a customary function, with resulting loss of employ-
ment to the employees, is a consequence of his duty to bar-
gain about "wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of
employment." As we have shown, supra, pp. 25-26, the
subcontractor clause limiting not the fact or practice of sub-
contracting but the persons with whom the signatory em-
ployer may deal is unrelated to these topics of mandatory
bargaining.
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general contractor for whom subcontracting is the

normal mode of carrying on his enterprise, it cannot

cogently be suggested that, as the Unions argue.

Article I-C represents a legitimate, primary attempt

to remove the economic incentive for contracting out

bargaining unit work, or as the Unions phrase it,

''dodging the collective bargaining agreement" (Brief,

pp. 18, 19). Article I-C is not limited, as they as-

sert (Brief, p. 19), so as to apply only when work is

subcontracted which would otherwise be performed

by the general contractor's employees. On the con-

trary, it applies to all "subcontract construction work

as defined hereafter in Article III of this Agree-

ment," and Article III is phrased in the broadest

terms to include anything that could be thought of

as construction.^'^ Moreover, Article I-C goes on to

2* Thus, Article III, entitled "Work Covered," provides

:

"A. The Construction of, in whole or in part, or the im-

provement or modification thereof, including any structures

or operations which are incidental thereto, the assembly, oper-

ation, maintenance and repair of all equipment, vehicles and
other facilities used in connection with the performance of

the aforementioned work and services and including, but not

limited to, the following types or classes of work

:

"B. Street and Highway work, grading and paving, me-
chanical land leveling, excavation of earth and rock, grade

separations, elevated highways, viaducts, bridges, abutments,

retaining walls, subways, airport grading, surfacing and
drainage, electric transmission line and conduit projects,

water mains, pipe lines, sanitation and sewer projects, dams,

tunnels, shafts, aqueducts, canals, reservoirs, intakes, chan-

nels, levees, dikes, revetments, quarrying of breakwater or

riprap stone; foundations, pile drivings, piers, lock, dikes;

river and harbors projects; breakwaters, jetties and dredg-

ing; warehouses, shops and yards, the construction, erection.
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define the "subcontractor" who must observe "the

terms of this Agreement" as "any person, firm or

corporation who agrees under contract with the gen-

eral contractor or his subcontractor to perform on

the job site a7iy part or portion of the construction

work covered by the prime contract * * *." Colson

employs only carpenters and laborers, subcontract-

ing all other kinds of work required by its prime

contracts (Tr. 177). Article I-C would thus have pre-

cluded Colson from continuing to do business with

any subcontractor not bound or willing to become

bound by "the terms of this Agreement" even though

that subcontractor could not be "competing" with

Colson's own employees. In short, Article I-C would

have compelled Colson "to boycott another employer

for reasons not strictly germane to the economic in-

tegrity of the principal work unit" District 9, Ma-

chinists V. N.L.R.B., 315 F.2d 33, 36 (C.A.D.C).

The Unions urge that Article I-C means only that

Colson would have been responsible "to see to it that

the wage and working standards set out in the

Agreement shall be complied with" by its subcon-

tractors (Brief, p. 19). The description does not fit,

we submit, a clause requiring of all subcontractors

alteration, repair, modification, demolition, addition or im-

provement in whole or in part of any building structure, in-

cluding oil and gas refineries and incidental structures, also

including any grading, excavation, or similar operations

which are incidental thereto, or the installation, operation,

maintenance and repair of equipment, and other facilities

used in connection with the performance of such building

construction.

<<p i^ * it * ff
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"the observance . . . of the terms of this Agreement."

This is not, on its face, simply a provision to make
certain that the subcontractor maintains labor stand-

ards commensurate with those of the signatory gen-

eral contractor. Here, as in N.L.R.B. v. Bangor Bldg.

Trades Council, 278 F.2d 287 (C.A. 1), where the

clause sought to be enforced provided that ''this

Agreement binds all the subcontractors as well as the

general [signatory] contractor," it may well be said

that the clause in question ''is plainly broader than

the payment of wages. It contains no exceptions, but

embraces all the provisions of the [general's] con-

tract. Hence it includes union recognition.^' Bangor

Bldg. Trades Council, 278 F.2d at 288, 290, emphasis

added. And furthermore, again as in Bangor Bldg.

Trades Council, supra at 290, the Unions "were not

unaware of this." At their meeting with Colson on

January 12, where Colson was given and asked to

sign the Master Agreement, much of the discussion

concerned its impact upon the Company's existing

subcontract commitments with nonunion subcontrac-

tors, and a proposal that the Unions permit comple-

tion of a partially-built church with nonunion sub-

contractors then on the job if the two school con-

struction projects were made the "breaking-off point"

when the Company would convert to all-union sub-

contractors. Indeed, the Unions appear to concede

the point: "much of the conversation concerned a

'breaking off' point, that is a point in time in the

future when the subcontractor clause (Art. I.C.)

in the Arizona Master Labor Agreement would be

effective." (Brief, p. 7).
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D. The Unions' picketing for the Master Agreement
also violated Section 8(b)(4)(B) of the amended
Act

Section 8(b)(4)(B) of the amended Act, to the

extent relevant here, carries forward the provisions

of the original secondary boycott section. Section 8

(b)(4)(A) of the 1947 Act. As already noted,

supra, p. 9, these original provisions proscribed cer-

tain conduct, including picketing, where "an object"

was to force a neutral person—one with whose labor

practices the union had no quarrel—to "cease doing

business" with another person of whom, for what-

ever reason, the union disapproved. The prohibition

thus pronounced did not depend upon the existence

of an active labor dispute between the union and

the disapproved, "primary" employer,^^ nor was it

relevant that the union had other or alternative ends

in view when it struck.-*' Likewise, neither the fact

that the union and struck employer were parties to

a contract giving the union the right to demand the

cessation of practices against which it struck, or

sanctioning the unit employees' right to refuse to

^'^N.L.R.B. V. Washington-Oregon Shingle Weavers, 211

F.2d 149, 152-153 (C.A. 9) ; N.L.R.B. V. Local Union No.

751, Carpenters, 285 F.2d 633, 639 (CA. 9) ; N.L.R.B. v.

Local 11, Carpenters, 242 F.2d 932, 934-935 (CA. 6) ; Local

1976, Carpenters, 113 NLRB 1210, 1211-1212, 1213-1214, en-

forced, 241 F.2d 147, 154 (C.A. 9), aff'd, 357 U.S. 93.

2^ N.L.R.B. v. Denver Bldg. & Construction Trades Council,

341 U.S. 675, 689 ; N.L.R.B. v. Local 7U, Carpenters, 341 U.S.

707, 713; N.L.R.B. v. InVl Union of Operating Engineers,

293 F.2d 319, 322-323 (CA. 9).
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participate therein,-^ nor the fact that the union

abandoned its coercive tactics short of achievement

of its goal ^^—neither of these states of affairs mili-

tated against a Board finding of illegality in the

coercion actually employed, for ''an" objective plain-

ly proscribed. Accordingly, on settled law, if the

Board properly found that an object of the Unions'

picketing was a cessation of business between Colson

and its nonunion subcontractors, then "an object"

of the Unions' picketing was unlawful, and insofar

as that object was concerned Colson was a "neu-

tral," ^^ notwithstanding that the picketing had also

recognitional and/or organizational objects, and re-

gardless of the fact that the Unions may have had

no active dispute with Colson's nonunion subcontrac-

tors. Similarly, it is immaterial that the Unions

abandoned their picketing before having achieved

their purpose of procuring Colson's assent to the

Master Agreement; 8(b) (4) (B) does not presuppose

that the union exerting unlawful pressure upon a

^' Local 1976, Carpenters v. N.L.R.B., 357 U.S. 93, 106;

N.L.R.B. v. Int'l Union of Operating Engineers, 293 F.2d

319, 323 (C.A. 9) ; N.L.R.B. v. Bangor Bldg. Trades Council,

278 F.2d 287, 290 n. 4 (CA. 1) ; N.L.R.B. v. Washington-

Oregon Shingle Weavers, 211 F.2d 149, 151 (CA. 9). For
a like holding under the amended 8(b) (4) (B), see New
York Mailers v. N.L.R.B., F.2d (CA.D.C), 52 LRRM
2433, 2434 (decided February 14, 1963).

^^ N.L.R.B. v. Local Union No. 751, Carpenters, 285 F.2d

633, 637-638 (CA. 9) ; cf., Local 197&, Carpenters V.

N.L.R.B., 357 U.S. 93, 97 n. 2.

29 Cf., Local 626, Plumbers V. N.L.R.B., 278 F.2d 858, 864

(C.A.D.C.).
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neutral intends to maintain its strike or picketing

indefinitely (Union Brief, p. 16). See N.L.R.B. v.

Local Union No. 751, Carpenters, 285 F.2d 633, 637-

638 (C.A. 9).

That Article I-C of the Master Agreement for

which the Unions picketed embodies a ''cease doing

business" objective would scarcely seem debatable.

As we have just shown, once a general contractor be-

comes signatory to the Agreement, he is precluded

"by its very terms" (R. 55) from dealing with

subcontractors who will not likewise abide by its

terms; that is, he must transfer his subcontracts to

employers who will comply with the Agreement.

Thus a union that pickets a general to require ac-

ceptance of such a clause is coercing him for the

purpose of creating pressure on another, who must

acquiesce in the union's demands or lose his sub-

contracts.

As the Board pointed out, "picketing in these cir-

cumstances was held to be for an object of forcing

an employer to cease doing business within the mean-

ing of Section 8(b) (4) (A) of the Act, prior to the

1959 amendments." (R. 55). N.L.R.B. v. Local U7,

Intn Brotherhood of Teamsters, 234 F.2d 296 (C.A.

5), enforcing 112 NLRB 923, held violative of then

Section 8(b) (4) (A) picketing of general contractors

in the construction industry to force their acceptance

of a contract clause providing that "any subcontrac-

tor engaged to perform work covered by this agree-

ment for employer shall assume all terms and condi-

tions of this agreement" (id. at 298). The union,

having sought without success to organize building
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industry truckdrivers in the area, most of whom were

employed by subcontractors, set out to attain this

ultimate objective by negotiating with the general

contractors an agreement covering truckdrivers and

containing the subcontractor clause quoted above {id.

Sit 297-298). One contractor contacted was amenable

to those portions of the agreement establishing condi-

tions of employment for his driver employees, and

the other explained to the union that he did not

employ drivers; both contractors, however, resisted

signing the subcontractor clause (id. at 298, 299).

The union thereupon picketed building projects of

each contractor, one of whom capitulated and signed

the contract, complete with subcontractor clause (id.

at 299). Since an object of the union's conduct in

seeking the subcontractor clause was to force the

contractors to cease doing business with any sub-

contractor who refused to abide by the truckdrivers

agreement, the union's picketing for that object vio-

lated the secondary boycott provision of the Act (id.

at 300-301).

Similarly, in Bricklayers, Masons and Plasterers

Infl Union (Selby-Battersby) , 125 NLRB 1179,

1181-1182, the Board found the secondary boycott

provision of the 1947 Act violated by a strike

against a union subcontractor, the "admitted pur-

pose" of which was to force the subcontractor to in-

corporate in its union contracts a clause "admittedly

designed to curtail open-shop conditions in the build-

ing and construction industry" in the area by re-

quiring the signatory employers to cease doing busi-
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ness with nonsignatories.''" The union's object was

unlawful notwithstanding the fact that here (unlike

the situation in the Local U7 case, supra) the agree-

ment sought permitted the completion of nonunion

jobs already underway and thus would ^'disrupt

secondary relationships at a future time." This was

so, said the Board, because "the impact of the strike

was nevertheless immediate," and the general con-

tractors with whom Selby was pressured to cease

doing business constituted a well-defined, identifiable

group.

Indeed, the purpose of a secondary subcontractor

clause (or secondary contractor clause, as in Selby,

supra), the very reason why unions desire such pro-

visions, demonstrates that the resort to 8(b)(4)

means to extract an employer's assent was to force

or require him "to cease doing business with any

other person" within the meaning of the original

secondary boycott provision of the statute. That pur-

pose is a boycott of the persons in the blacklisted

group, to induce their conformity to the union's

wishes so that they may become "delisted." Such a

clause was not in itself a violation of the Act not

because it did not contemplate an interruption of

'" The clause read in relevant part : "This agreement shall

not be construed to require any worker to work with non-
union workmen engaged in construction, nor to work for

members of the parties of the first part on any building or

job for any firm or person having construction work done in

the Baltimore area by non-union workmen, provided . . . the

union of the trade in which such non-union men are working
is . . . aflfiliated with the Building and Construction Trades
Department of the AF of L, and has a similar agreement
with a recognized association of employers." (125 NLRB at

1181.)
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business relationships—manifestly, it did—but be-

cause it did not comprehend the prohibited means.

Just as an employer could lawfully agree to boycott

others, a union could seek his agreement by per-

suasion or even by coercion, so long as it refrained

from the specifically prohibited means. But if an

employer was unwilling to agree, the union that

struck or picketed to force him to do so thereby

deprived him of "freedom of choice at the time the

question whether to boycott or not [arose] in a con-

crete situation calling for the exercise of judgment

on a particular matter of labor and business policy"

Local 1976, Carpenters v. N.L.R.B., 357 U.S. 93,

105. It would be idle to suggest that to the building

contractor who lives by subcontracting there can be

anything abstract or contingent about a legally bind-

ing agreement to boycott a category of subcontrac-

tors; once entered into, it exercises a continuing

constraint, requiring him to desist from letting sub-

contracts to those on the blacklist. Among the "legal

radiations" ^^ of the agreement is its specific enforce-

ability, with the result that, by virtue of its original

coercion the union has successfully embroiled the

contractor in a labor dispute not his own. Thus,

compliance with such an agreement by one whose

assent would not have been given but for the pres-

sure of picketing or a strike would represent the

"transmi[ssion] to the moment of boycott, through

the contract, [of] the very pressures from which

Congress ha[d] determined to relieve secondary em-

ployers" Local 1976, Carpenters, supra, at 106.

3^ Local 1976, Carpenters, supra, at 108.
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There is no merit to the Union's contention that,

as a matter of fact, there were no contractual re-

lationships between Colson and its nonunion subcon-

tractors Schwartz, Riggs, and Haun 'Vhich would

have been affected by the terms of the [Master]

Agreement" had Colson capitulated to the Unions'

pressure to sign. In the first place, as indicated

above in discussing the Selby-Battershy case, there

is no reason artificially to limit the concept of a

cessation of business to the severance of currently

existing contractual relationships. Plainly, where A
customarily does business with B (or where A, hav-

ing done business with B intends and expects to do

so again), if A desists from further dealings with

B in response to a blacklist, the consequence would

be described in ordinary language as a "cessation"

of the business relations between A and B. See

N.L.R.B. v.. Local 9, Wood, Wire & Metal Lathers

Union, 255 F.2d 649, 652-653 (C.A. 4). That the

word ''refrain" might also apply is inconsequential,

for there is no reason to view the two terms as neces-

sarily mutually exclusive. Nor does Hoffman v.

Joint Council of Teamsters, No. 38, F.Supp.

(N.D. Cal.), 45 Lab. Cases para. 17,803, hold to the

contrary, as the Unions assert (Brief, p. 15). Re-

jecting the position of the respondent-unions "that

the word 'refrain' refers specifically to future con-

duct, as distinguished from the word 'cease,' which

is said to refer only to present conduct," Judge

Halbert concluded that there can be contexts in which

the words are synonymous. "Unquestionably," he

wrote, "the word 'cease' implies that the objective
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referred to has been in existence, and is to be

stopped." We agree; when A has been doing busi-

ness with nonunion subcontractors, and that ''is to

be stopped," then A is to ''cease doing business"

with the subcontractors.^" Cf., United Marine Divi-

sion, Local 333, ILA, 107 NLRB 686, 697-698, 708-

709; Amer. Fed. of Radio & Television Artists v.

Getreu, 258 F.2d 698, 700-701 (C.A. 6).

In any event, Colson had "existing" subcontracts

with each of the named subcontractors during the

period of picketing. Schwartz had a subcontract on

the Yellow Front project, where he worked during

the picketing (Tr. 142, 143, 144) ; Haun had sub-

contracts on both the Yellow Front project and the

two schools (the latter entered into in December,

1960), worked at Yellow Front during picketing,

had to make special arrangements for the delivery

of materials to the schools because his supplier's de-

liverymen would not cross the picket line (Tr. 122,

126-129, 132) ; Riggs had the plumbing subcontract

on the two schools and his men worked there during

the picketing (Tr. 208, 53, 60). And assuming with

the Unions that "the rights and liabilities of the sub-

32 In the Hojfman case, a proceeding for preliminary in-

junction under Section 10(1) of the Act, Judge Halbert

found certain contract clauses illegal under Section 8(e),

and others not thus unlawful, according to whether the lan-

guage employed "could affect firms presently doing business

with the [contracting] employers." In the subsequent Board

decision on the merits, Joint Council of Teamsters No. 38,

141 NLRB No. 14, 52 LRRM 1322, on a similar analysis the

Board found all of the challenged clauses prohibited by Sec-

tion 8(e).
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contractors [were] already fixed by such existing

subcontracts" so that Colson could not compel any

changes therein (Brief, p. 15), the conclusion fol-

lows that had Colson then succumbed and signed, it

would have had no choice but to break the existing

subcontracts. The Unions would then have been

entitled to specific performance of the employer ob-

ligation in Article I-C to see that "the terms" of the

Master Agreement "extend to and bind such con-

struction subcontract work [by] provisions ... in

such subcontract . . ."; if Colson could not have

performed affirmatively, its only option would have

been a termination of the subcontracts.

Finally, it avails the Unions nothing that the Mas-

ter Agreement has no provisions relating specifically

to plumbers and brick masons. It may be that the

three subcontractors, Schwartz, Riggs and Haun, em-

ployed no persons in any of the classifications set

forth in Appendixes A-D to the Master Agreement,

so that specific craft provisions in the Agreement

and Appendixes would have no impact on them. The

contract's general provisions, comprising the great-

er bulk of the agreement, were nonetheless fully ap-

plicable.^'' Moreover, that the Unions themselves

recognized the applicability of the Agreement to con-

tractors and workmen outside the four basic trades

^^ See, e.g., the provisions of Article I-C itself. Article III

("Work Covered"), Article IV ("Classifications"), Article

V ("Procedure for Settlement of Disputes and Grievances"),

Article VII ("Apprentice Training"), Article VIII ("Modifi-

cation"), Article XIV ("Expense Allowance"), Article XV
("Health and Welfare"), (G.C. Exh. 44).
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is demonstrated by the Agreement itself: Article XII,

entitled "Additional Contracting Unions," states the

matter clearly:

The Unions will make every effort to bring all

crafts affiliated with the Building and Construc-

tion Trades Department of the American Fed-

eration of Labor-Congress of Industrial Organi-

zations under the terms and provisions of this

Agreement, and the Contractors will make every

effort to bring all Contractors performing work
in the State of Arizona under the terins and pro-

visions of this Agreement.

In sum, as the Board concluded, the Unions by

their picketing sought to force or require Colson^s

assent to an agreement which "by its very terms

would have compelled Colson to cease doing business

with Schwartz, Riggs, and Haun, its nonunion sub-

contractors, if they did not comply with the con-

tract's provisions. All parties recognized that this

was the necessary effect of Colson's signing the

Master Agreement .... and it was intended, we
find, that Colson would implement the contract and

cease doing business with the above-mentioned non-

union subcontractors." (R. 55). While thus agree-

ing with the Trial Examiner's finding that "all con-

cerned expected changes in these [subcontractor] re-

lationships once the Master Agreement was signed"

(R. 28), the Board was warranted in rejecting his

reasoning that since Colson's signing was the im-

mediate objective, enforcement was left to the fu-

ture {ibid.). Here, as in other contexts, the Board

may hold one to have intended the natural and prob-
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able consequences of his actions. Cf., N.L.R.B. v.

Erie Resistor Corp., U.S. , 53 LRRM 2121,

2124 (decided May 13, 1963). Reason requires no

such artificial separation between the Unions' co-

ercive conduct to obtain the Master Agreement and

their ultimate objective vis-a-vis the subcontractors

as manifested by Article I-C, and the economic

realities commend its rejection. For if the Unions

could force the agreement upon Colson, then they

could—by lawful means—force his compliance with

it, and none could then doubt that the Unions had

as a practical matter ''transmit [ted] to the moment
of boycott, through the contract, the very pressures

from which Congress has determined to relieve sec-

ondary employers" (Local 1976, Carpenters v.

N.L.R.B., 357 U.S. 93, 106). To paraphrase Mr.

Justice Frankfurter's words in the Sand Door case

(ibid.), the realities of coercion are not altered sim-

ply because it is said that the employer is forced to

enter into an enforceable engagement rather than

forced now to cease doing business with another.^*

^* There is no merit to the Examiner's proposition, relied

on by the Unions (Brief, p. 30), that Congress cannot have
forbidden under Section 8(b) (4) (B) picketing which it "per-

mitted" under Section 8(b) (4) (A) (R. 28). Even assuming
arguendo that an effect of the 8(e) proviso were to render

8(b)(4)(A) inapplicable in the construction context, it is

plain that picketing thereby exempted from a prohibition

could not aptly be termed "permitted." In other words, by
choosing to exclude certain conduct from the ban in one sec-

tion of the Act, Congress neither gives that conduct affirma-

tive sanction nor manifests an intention to exclude it also

from any or all other sections.
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II. The Board properly concluded that neither Union
violated Section 8(b)(7)(C) of the Act

Section 8(b)(7)(C) of the Act, insofar as here

relevant, limits picketing by an uncertified union "an

object" of which is forcing an employer to recognize

or bargain with it, or the employees to accept or

select it as their bargaining representative, "where

such picketing has been conducted without a petition

under section 9(e) being filed within a reasonable

period of time not to exceed thirty days from the

commencement of such picketing."
^^

^^ The Section provides, in full

:

(7) to picket or cause to be picketed, or threaten to

picket or cause to be picketed, any employer where an

object thereof is forcing or requiring an employer to

recognize or bargain with a labor organization as the

representative of his employees, or forcing or requiring

the employees of an employer to accept or select such

labor organization as their collective bargaining repre-

sentative, unless such labor organization is currently

certified as the representative of such employees:

* * * *

(C) where such picketing has been conducted with-

out a petition under section 9(c) being filed within

a reasonable period of time not to exceed thirty

days from the commencement of such picketing:

Provided, That when such a petition has been filed

the Board shall forthwith, without regard to the

provisions of section 9(c)(1) or the absence of a

showing of a substantial interest on the part of the

labor organization, direct an election in such unit

as the Board finds to be appropriate and shall cer-

tify the results thereof: Provided further. That
nothing in this subparagraph (C) shall be construed

to prohibit any picketing or other publicity for the

purpose of truthfully advising the public (including

consumers) that an employer does not employ mem-
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As the Board pointed out, and as the petitioning

Association does not here dispute, in the circum-

stances of this case "the applicable test" of whether

either Union violated Section 8(b) (7) (C) ''is wheth-

er the picketing had been conducted for more than

a reasonable time, not to exceed 30 days from the

commencement thereof." (R. 58). Since the pick-

eting of each Union was terminated within the pe-

riod permitted by the Act, neither could be found in

violation of 8(b)(7)(C) unless each must be held

responsible for the other's picketing so that together,

in effect, they picketed for more than the permitted

30 days. In agreement with the Trial Examiner,

the Board found that the allegation of joint or con-

certed picketing was not supported by a preponder-

ance of the evidence (R. 58-59, 28-29).

We submit that the Board's conclusion was correct

on this record and that the facts stressed by the peti-

tioner Association do not militate against it. In brief,

those facts are two: that both Local 1089 and Local

383 were members of the Phoenix Building and Con-

struction Trades Council, and that both were signa-

tory to the Master Agreement. These two circum-

stances are insufficient to establish that the Unions

bers of, or have a contract with, a labor organiza-

tion, unless an effect of such picketing is to induce

any individual employed by any other person in the

course of his employment, not to pick up, deliver or

transport any goods or not to perform any services.

Nothing in this paragraph (7) shall be construed to per-

mit any act which would otherwise be an unfair labor

practice under this section 8(b).
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were engaged in a joint campaign to wrest recogni-

tion from Colson, much less joint picketing. There

is no evidence of any Trades Council action germane

to the question; its committee to investigate the Car-

penters' charge that Colson was "unfair" was not

shown to have had any mission other than investiga-

tion/^ and the same is true of the "survey committee"

that visited Colson a few days before the January 12

meeting. According to the testimony, the survey

committee had nothing to do with recognition but

rather gathered information on what construction

was being done in the area and by whom (Tr. 296-

297, 391-392, 397-398). On January 10, that com-

mittee talked with Stevens and set up a meeting with

building trades representatives for January 12; the

conversation was brief, recognition was not discussed,

and Stevens specifically asked that a Carpenters rep-

resentative be present at the subsequent meeting (Tr.

392-394, 298-300, 334-336, 249-250). Obviously,

nothing in either this encounter or the Trades Coun-

cil's earlier dispatch of a committee to investigate

the Carpenter's "unfair" charges "demonstrates," as

the Association asserts, "that the Unions coordinated

their recognition demands through the council"

^^ Ellison, the Carpenters' representative on that committee

when it visited Colson in October, of course had an addi-

tional purpose, as we have shown, but this hardly suggests

that each of the other union agents present—or the Council

—shared that purpose. We assume that each would have de-

sired, or hoped for, Colson "going union," but this would

presumably be true as a general proposition of all unions; it

cannot prove a common campaign or a principal-agent

relationship.
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(Assoc. Brief, p. 14). Nor does the fact that the Un-

ions agreed, at the January 12 meeting, to take up in

the Trades Council the matter of permitting Colson

to complete its "church job" with its existing non-

union subcontractors show that the Carpenters and

Laborers, in asking recognition, were acting in "a

representative capacity" — presumably, as "repre-

sentatives" of the Council (Assoc. Brief, p. 14). The

offer is at least as consistent with a recognition by

Carpenters and Laborers that, while they could as-

sure that they would not enforce Article LC on the

"church job," other crafts might object and/or estab-

lish pickets and thus disrupt Colson's business unless

prior arrangements to the contrary were made on

the initiative of the Unions seeking recognition from

Colson. To seek such an arrangement is not to be-

tray a prior Trades Council plan to organize Colson.

Were the Board to have predicated a finding of "joint

venture" on the Unions' common participation in the

Trades Council, surely it could not have been said

to have rested upon substantial evidence.

The Association's reliance on the Master Agree-

ment also proves either too much or too little. Thus,

if the fact that both Local 1089 and Local 383 were

signatory to the Agreement suffices to make each re-

sponsible for the other's picketing, then the same fact

suffices to hold all other unions signatory to the Agree-

ment, a patently preposterous proposition. Since the

statutory violation in question here is not the demand

for recognition, or even picketing for recognition,

but rather overly-extended picketing for that pur-

pose, it seems evident that it is the 'picketing of the
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two Unions that must be connected and not simply

the fact, much stressed by the Association, that both

were party to the Master Agreement. On the other

hand, that recognition of either through the Master

Agreement would have resulted in recognition of the

other is not sufficient to show that the Unions were

jointly engaged in seeking recognition, either in gen-

eral or specifically from Colson. That Laborers Local

383 would gain ''derivative benefits" (R. 5) were

Colson to have signed the Agreement for Local 1089

—

just as would some 15 other unions^—does not show

that Local 1089, in seeking recognition, "[was] re-

questing recognition, or . . . even interested in obtain-

ing recognition, for the Laborers" (R. 58). At the

most, the Master Agreement shows a jointness of

collective bargaining demands and contract terms,

once there is recognition; it does not, by its own

bootstraps, show a common plan to obtain recognition.

Still less does the existence of the Master Agreement

and the fact that the Unions, at different times, in

different places, and without communication between

them picketed to obtain it, show a concerted plan to

obtain recognition by any and all means, legal and
j

illegal. Commonness for one purpose is not common-

1

ness for all, and all that the record here shows as to
]

concert of action between the Unions is that, in the
{

Master Agreement, they have agreed upon substantive '

contract terms. A joint campaign to organize Colson i

cannot be inferred from the provisions of the Master
j

Agreement.
j

If such a campaign is not shown on this record,
|

there is plainly no basis for imputing to either Un-
j
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ion responsibility for the other's picketing. The testi-

mony of the Union agents who ordered the picketing

shows, without contradiction, that neither informed

the other that it planned to picket, sought approval

by the other, sought picketing or financial assistance

from the other (or, indeed, any other union), or

notified the other when the picketing was terminated

(R. 59, 29; Tr. 286-289, 296, 310, 400, 401-402, 351-

352). Similarly, neither Union notified the Trades

Council of its picketing, or sought approval or aid

from the Council (ibid.). Accordingly, as the Trial

Examiner found, "Although each Local stood to bene-

fit by the picketing of the other and no doubt each

was sympathetic to the other's design and purpose

there is little but speculation to support a conclusion

that the Locals were allied in the matter. . . . The

allegation that they were 'acting in concert or par-

ticipation with each other' in this respect is not

supported by a preponderance of the evidence." (R.

28-29).

III. The Board's order is reasonable and proper

Having found that the Unions violated both Sec-

tion 8(b)(4)(i)(ii)(A) and (B) by picketing to

force upon Colson an agreement prohibited by 8(e)

and to force Colson to cease doing business with

subcontractors Schwartz, Riggs, and Haun, the

Board ordered each Union to cease and desist from

these practices. The order specifically prohibits the

Unions from utilizing the unlawful means here em-

ployed to procure an 8(e) agreement from Colson "or

any other employer," and from resorting to the same
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means—strikes or picketing—against "any other em-

ployer" with an object to force a cessation of busi-

ness with the three named subcontractors (R. 60,

61).

As we read the Unions' brief (pp. 30-31), they

do not object to the first part of the order, para-

graph l.(a). In any case, the injunction is adapted

to the problem presented. The Master Agreement,

with its cease-doing-business clause, is just what its

title implies, the Unions' standard agreement; hence

it is to be anticipated that each will continue to de-

mand its adoption by area contractors and, unless

restrained, to utilize strike pressure to that end. As

set forth above, the Unions and employers may law-

fully execute Article I-C if both choose to do so; the

order, therefore, does not nullify the clause or re-

strain the Unions from asking its adoption. But

when another employer is unwilling to commit him-

self to boycott, he, like Colson, is entitled to his

choice. Accordingly, the order bars only strikes or

picketing aimed at exacting the clause. It is thus,

we submit, appropriately and specifically tailored

to the situation which calls for redress.

The second portion of the Board's restraining or-

der is also fitted to the violation shown, that is, to

preventing a repetition of coercion against neutrals

to bring about the business exile of Schwartz, Riggs,

and Haun. Nor need either Union find itself on

the horns of a dilemma as a consequence of this para-

graph. If, in fact, it has ''legitimate grievances'^

against employers "totally unconnected with the

presence of [any of the three] subcontractors," then
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its strike or picketing over the grievances would not

fall within the injunction. Only if the Unions con-

tinue to seek the exclusion from construction proj-

ects of these nonunion subcontractors can they have

any real question as to whether or not they may
lawfully picket a project on which one of the three

is working.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, it is respectfully sub-

mitted that the petitions for review should be denied,

and that a decree should issue enforcing the Board's

order in full.
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In The United States

Court of Appeals

FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

Nos. 18217 and 18293 (Consolidated)

CONSTRUTION, PRODUCTION AND MAINTENANCE LABORERS
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OF Carpenters and Joiners of America, Local No, 1089,

AFL-CIO,

Petitioners,

vs.

National Labor Relations Board,
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National Labor Relations Board,
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JURISDICTION

Construction, Production and Maintenance Laborers Union,

Local No. 383, AFL-CIO, hereafter called the Laborers Union, and

the United Brotherhood and Joiners of America, Local No. 1089,

AFL-CIO, hereafter called the Carpenters Union, have petitioned

(R. 68-70) ' to set aside in part an order (R. 60-62) issued against

' References to the Pleadings, Volume I of the Record, are designated "R."

References to the Transcript of Testimony are designated "Tr." Refer-

ences to Exhibits are designated "Ex."



them on July 26, 1962, by the National Labor Relations Board

pursuant to the provisions of the National Labor Relations Act,

as amended (61 Stat. 136, 72 Stat. 945, 29 USC Sec. 151, et seq.),

hereinafter called the Act. The Board's Decision and Order are

recorded at 137 NLRB No. 149. The conduct upon which said

Order is based occurred in Phoenix, Arizona, within this judicial

circuit, and was found by the Board to be unfair labor practices

affecting interstate commerce within the meaning of the Act.

The Board has responded to said petition by cross-petitioning

(R. 72) for enforcement of that part of said Order which the

petitioning Unions are asking to be set aside.

Independent Contractors Association has intervened (R. 74) in

connection with the foregoing Petition, and has, in addition, filed

its Petition (R. 79) for review of another portion of the same

Board Order.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In connection with certain picketing done by the Carpenters

Union in October, I960, and by the Laborers Union in January,

1961, the Independent Contractors Association filed charges and

amended charges with the National Labor Relations Board in

January and February, 1961, against these two unions, and at one

time or the other, against some 20 other unions or union councils

(R.3-10).

The Board issued its Consolidated Complaint (R. 11), but

against only the Carpenters Union and the Laborers Union. In brief,

the Board alleged that the picketing had been jointly conducted for

more than thirty days without a petition for an election under

Section 9(c) of the Act having been filed, and that, accordingly,

these two unions had violated Section 8(b) (7) (c)of the Act.

Further, the Board alleged that the objects of the picketing were

( 1 ) to force or require Colson & Stevens Construction Co., Inc to

enter into an agreement prohibited by Section 8(e) of the Act;

(2) to force or require Colson & Stevens Construction Co., Inc. to

cease doing business with certain subcontractors; (3) to force or

require Colson's subcontractors to recognize and bargain with



these unions, or other labor organizations; and (4) to force or

require Colson to recognize or bargain with these two unions as

the representatives of Colson's employees, and to force or require

these employees to accept or select these Unions as their collective

bargaining representative, all in violation of Section 8(b) ( 4 ) ( i

)

(ii)(A) and (B) of the Act. (R. 11-15).

After a hearing had before a duly designated Trial Examiner of

the Board in April, 1961, an Intermediate Report and Recom-

mended Order was issued on May 23, 1961, in which it was con-

cluded ( 1 ) that neither of the Unions had violated Section 8(b)

( 4 ) (A ) and ( B ) of the Act, but ( 2 ) that they had separately

violated Section 8(b) (7) (C) of the Act "by reason of the re-

fusal of suppliers to cross the picket lines." (R. 25-30).

Both the General Council and the unions took exceptions to

this Intermediate Report insofar as it ruled against their conten-

tions, and as a result, the Board, by its Decision and Order, dated

July 26, 1962 (R. 54-65) reversed the Trial Examiner. It con-

cluded that since neither of the unions' picketing had exceeded a

reasonable period lasting more than 30 days, neither had violated

Section 8(b) (7) (C) of the Act, (R. 59). But it found the sepa-

rate picketing of each union to be illegal under Section 8(b) ( 4

)

(A) and (B) of the Act, and in connection therewith, said: (R.

59-69).

"By picketing Colson and Stevens Construction Co., Inc., with

an object of forcing or requiring the said Company to enter into

an agreement which is prohibited by Section 8(e), the Respond-

ents have engaged in unfair labor practices within the meaning
of Section 8(b) (4) (i) and (ii) (A) of the Act.

"By picketing Colson and Stevens Construction Co., Inc., with

an object of forcing or requiring the said Company to cease

doing business with Schwartz Plumbing Co., Riggs Plumbing

and Heating Co., and Earl H. Haun, the Respondents have

engaged in unfair labor practices within the meaning of Section

8(b) (4) (i)and(ii) (B)."

As a result of the foregoing findings, the Board ordered each of

the Unions (R. 60 and 61 ) to cease and desist from:

"Engaging in, or inducing or encouraging employees of Colson



and Stevens Construction Co., Inc., or any other employer, to

engage in a strike, or threatening, coercing or restraining Colson

and Stevens Construction Co., Inc., or any other employer, by

a strike or picketing, where in either case an object thereof is

to force or require said employer to enter into any agreement

which is prohibited by Section 8(e).

"Engaging in, or inducing or encouraging employees of Colson

and Stevens Construction Co., Inc., or any other employer, to

engage in a strike, or threatening, coercing or restraining Colson

and Stevens Construction Co., Inc., or any other employer by a

strike or picketing, where in either case an object thereof is to

force or require said Employer to cease doing business with

Schwartz Plumbing Co., Riggs Plumbing and Heating Co., and

Earl H. Haun."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During late I960 and early 1961, Colson & Stevens Construc-

tion Co., Inc., was engaged in the business of general construction

(Tr. 172). The Company had no collective bargaining agree-

ments with labor unions (Tr. 177). It hired only carpenters and

laborers. It subcontracted to other employers the rest of its work

(Tr. 177).

On two different occasions the Carpenters Union had contacted

the Company and had been told that the Company did not want

its carpenters to be union, that it wanted to continue on a non-

union basis (Tr. 283).

The Company, in October, I960, had a contract for the con-

struction of a building in Phoenix, Arizona, known as the Yellow

Front Store (Tr. 188). The Carpenters Union learned about this

contract (Tr. 283). Thereupon it caused a letter to be written by

the District Council of Carpenters to the Phoenix Building and

Construction Trades Council (Tr. 281; Exhibit 7), requesting that

the Company "be placed on the official "unfair list." The Phoenix

Building and Construction Trades Council is an organization com-

posed of about 20 different crafts, involving numerous unions, in

the building industry in Phoenix and vicinity (Tr. 282). Among
other things, it maintains an "unfair list" (Tr. 350-351). As a

matter of policy the Trades Council did not take action on the



letter from the District Council of Carpenters until a committee

was appointed for an investigation of the matter (Tr. 351). Ac-

cordingly, such a committee was designated: Ellison from the Car-

penters Union, and a representative from each of the brickmasons',

cement finishers', plumbers', and electricians' unions (Tr. 284-

285). This group met at the Yellow Front job site on October

14, I960, and while there engaged in a conversation with Mr.

Colson and Mr. Stevens (Tr. 357-358).

This conversation lasted about half an hour, (Tr. 220). The

brickmason union's agent, Rosensteel, had come out to ascertain

whether the company did its own brickmasonry or subcontracted

it out. (Tr. 383, 384). The record is essentially silent as to the

purpose and the part played, if any, by the plumbers', cement fin-

ishers', and electricians' agents.

Ellison, the agent for the Carpenters Union, wanted to talk

about the company's carpenters, and this is what the conversation

was mostly about. (Tr. 192, 359). Mr. Colson had had some

experience with labor unions (Tr. 192) and apparently believed

that Ellison desired the company to sign the Arizona Master Labor

Agreement (Ex. 44)^ with the Carpenters Union. (Tr. 193).

This Agreement was the industry-wide construction agreement

covering work performed by carpenters, laborers, cement finishers,

and teamsters in the state of Arizona. Numerous unions represent-

ing each of these crafts, including the Carpenters Union party

hereto, were signatory. This Agreement actually is four craft

agreements rolled into one, having common administrative clauses,

but separate wages scales and working rules for each craft.

Actually, however, no particular agreement was mentioned in

the Yellow Front conversation. Nor were any particular contract

proposals made to the company. (Tr. 359)

The company excused its desire to continue on a non-union

basis, saying that to go along with Ellison would work a hardship

on the company (Tr. 191 ) and suggesting that the purported non-

unions status of its subcontractors on the job was a stumbling

^ See Appendix for pertinent parts of this agreement.



6

block. "... and he named the subcontractors that were doing

work on the project at the time." (Tr. 359) • This was an apparent

allusion either to the requirement of the Arizona Master Labor

Agreement that signatory employers are bound to require their

subcontractors to abide by the terms of that agreement insofar as

their employees perform laborers', carpenters', cement finishers,'

or teamsters' work (Article I.C. of Exhibit 44), or to the generally

held idea that union and non-union groups do not like to work

together on the same job. However, in either event, there was no

problem since all of the subcontractors named to Ellison were

union contractors. (Tr. 359) Ellison's position was that the "car-

pentry work was the only problem that was at stake." (Tr. 359)

And his purpose was to negotiate a contract, not necessarily the

Arizona Master Labor Agreement, for the carpenters. (Tr. 368,

371) "It was just strictly carpenters," Ellison testified. (Tr. 359)

The conversation terminated with Mr. Colson's saying that he

couldn't go along with Ellison. (Tr. 360)

Ellison reported back to his union. (Tr. 286) On October 19th,

I960, the Carpenters Union placed pickets at the Yellow Front

jobsite, bearing signs reading: "Picketing Colson & Stevens for the

purpose of organizing the carpenters on the job. Local 1089."

(Tr. 288) English, another business agent, testified that the Car-

penters Union had no purpose other than to organize and bargain

for the company's carpenters. (Tr. 296) The picketing continued,

in a peaceful manner, for 28 days. (Tr. 288 ) During the picketing,

English attempted without success to organize some of the com-

pany's carpenters, (Tr. 328, 330, 333) and was prepared to meet

and negotiate on a contract if the opportunity arose. (Tr. 295,

333) But neither side to the dispute so much as made a proposal

to the other. (Tr. 347) Finally, the Carpenters Union gave up the

picketin gas a lost cause. (Tr 295)

After removing its pickets on Nov. 15th, or 17th (Tr. 258 ) , the

Carpenters Union did nothing further relative to Colson & Stevens.

(Tr.299)

On the following January 10th, a survey committee of the

Trades Council, after going to about 14 other jobs that day.



routinely stopped by the Yellow Front job. (Tr. 391, 397) This

committee consisted of Kleiner, a painters' union agent, Cooksey,

an agent for the Laborers' Union party hereto, and Gromley, from

the brick masons union. (Tr 391) Kleiner spoke to Mr. Stevens

and indicated that they would like to talk to him. However, Ste-

vens suggested an office meeting, and emphasized that be definitely

wanted the carpenters' representative prsent. It was agreed that the

meeting would be held on Jan. 12th at the company's office.

(Tr.393)

Kleiner contacted English of the Carpenters to arrange his being

at this meeting. (Tr. 394.) Kleiner understood that the purpose

of the proposed meeting with the company of Jan. 12th was to

talk about future contracts the company might have in the county

and to see if the union could supply employees. (Tr. 398

)

Kleiner, English, Cooksey, and a representative from the brick-

masons met at the company's office on Jan. 12th. (Tr. 300) Ste-

vens was there, then Colson came in a few minutes later. (Tr.

310) The meeting lasted for an hour and a half to two hours.

(Tr. 259, 301)

Stevens and English started the conversation. (Tr. 260, 301)

and, as reported by English, Stevens said, "We are ready to become

signatory to the agreement," explaining that in the past they had

done little jobs but were getting bigger ones and now had "room"

to become signatory. (Tr. 301) This had reference to the Ari-

zona Master Labor Agreement. Thereafter much of the conver-

sation concerned a "breaking off" point, that is a point in time in

the future when the subcontractor clause ( Art. I.C. ) in the Arizona

Master Labor Agreement would be effective. (Tr. 202, 302) In

this connection, the company said it had a contract on the Trinity

Church job and on the Tonto and Kiva schools, and had non-

union subcontractors lined up to do part of the work. After further

discussion about the company's carpenters becoming members of

the union, (Tr. 205) about what the "prevailing wages" were,

that is, the state-required wages to be paid on the school jobs,(Tr
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203, 232) and about the carpenters' apprentice program, (Tr.

233, 303 ) the meeting broke up.

English handed two copies of the Arizona Master Labor Agree-

ment to Stevens near the end of the conversation (Tr 233) when

the "prevaiHng wage" of apprentices on the school jobs were being

discussed so that the company would know the scales for the 8

apprentice classifications. (Tr 203, 304)^ English stated that this

was the agreement that the company could sign if it decided to

sign. (Tr 265, 307)

The testimony is in conflict as to what the understanding was

when the meeting broke up. Colson testified that English wanted

to check with other local unions to see if it would be all right for

the company to go on with the church job on a "split basis" of

union and non-union subcontractors, (Tr 206) with English to

notify the company a couple days after talking with a masonry

subcontractor named Haun. (Tr 207) Stevens said the under-

standing was that the company was going to investigate its records

to see if it had union subs whose bids were close to the non-union

subs (Tr 262) and that English was to tell Stevens where the

company "stood with the subs." (Tr 262) However, English and

Ellison understood that Stevens had indicated that the company

intended to go "all union" if and when it signed the Agree-

ment, (Tr 308, 309, 314) and that Stevens was to look thru the

company files to see if there were competitive union subs (Tr 305 )

and was to call English before the following Tuesday (Tr 304,

305, 364) to advise whether the company would sign the Agree-

ment (Tr 304, 305, 364) ; and English would then at the request

of Colson take up the matter of the non-union subcontractors with

the other unions at the Trades Council meeting to see if there

would be any difficulty if the company went ahead and finished

the church under its current contract arrangements. (Tr 307, 375)

^ By Arizona statutes, contractors must pay the "prevailing wage" in con-

struction of public buildings. The prevailing wage is defined as that con-

tained in existing union agreements in the area. See ARS 34-322 and

34-325.



Neither the company officials nor the union agents called the

other at any time after the meeting ended. (Tr 208, 269 ) English

neither contacted the subcontractor Haun (Tr 309) nor anyone

else about the company (Tr 309), including the Trades Council.

From the day of the meeting until served with the unfair labor

practice charges in February, the Carpenters Union had done

nothing or further concerned itself with the company. (Tr 309)

About two weeks later, on Jan. 25 th, the Laborers Union com-

menced picketing the company at the Tonto and Kiva school jobs

in Scottsdale, Arizona (Tr. 207, 262, 400) The pickets carried

signs reading: "Picket against Colson and Stevens. Laborers Local

383 wants to organize and bargain for laborers employed by

Colson & Stevens." (Tr 267, 400) The Business Agent and

Sec'y-Treasurer, Warren, testified without contradiction that the

sign indicated the sole object of the picketing, that he had heard

that there were laborers working on the job, (Tr 404) that the

union wanted to organize and represent them, (Tr 404, 420, 421

)

and that he was prepared to negotiate an agreement with the

company. (Tr 403, 422) There was no contact between the

company and the Laborers Union during the picketing. (Tr 404)

There was no evidence of anything other than a peaceful picketing.

The Laborers Union removed its pickets on Feb. 20th. (Tr 401)

The pickets had been placed on the job with notification to the

Trades Council or the Carpenters Union and without consulting

any other union (Tr 352) and was removed without contacting

any other union. (Tr 401, 402)

SPECIFICATION OF ERRORS

1 . The Board erred in concluding as a matter of law ( R 60 ) that

either or both of the unions picketed Colson & Stevens with an

object of forcing or requiring that company to cease doing business

with Schwartz Plumbing Co., Riggs Plumbing and Heating Co.,

and Earl H. Haun, within the meaning of Section 8(b) (4) (B)

of the Act. [29 U. S. C. 158(b)(4)} In this connection, the

Board erred in the following respects:

a. In finding as a fact that each union had an object of forcing
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Colson & Stevens to sign the Arizona Master Labor Agree-

ment. (R 55)

b. In concluding as a matter of law ( not identified as such ) that

this agreement would have compelled Colson & Stevens to

cease doing business with Schwartz, Riggs, and Haun, if they

did not comply with the terms of said agreement; that this

would have been the necessary effect of signing; ( R 5 5

)

c. In failing to find that the subcontractor clause in the agree-

ment was aimed at the protection of wages and conditions of

the Colson and Stevens employees, and therefore a proper

subject of collective bargaining.

d. In concluding as a matter of law that picketing to obtain a

subcontractor clause, lawful under section 8(e), was, without

more, unlawful under 8(b) (4) (B).

e. In failing to conclude as a matter of law that the picketing was

primary in nature, and therefore lawful.

2. The Board erred in concluding as a matter of law (R 59) that

either or both of the unions picketed Colson & Stevens with an

object of forcing or requiring that company to enter into an agree-

ment which is prohibited by Section 8(e) [29 U.S.C. 158 (e)]

within the meaning of 8(B) 4(A) of the Act. [29 U.S.C 158

(b) (4)). The agreement referred to related to job-site construc-

tion, and is exempt from Section 8(e).

3. Assuming, arguendo, a violation of either or both subsections

(A) and (B) of 8(b) (4) of the Act, still the scope of the order

is too broad in view of the record as a whole, particularly as it

relates "to any other employers". (R 60, 61)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
In finding each of the unions guilty of violating subsections (A)

and (B) of 8(b)(4) of the Act, the Board based its decision upon

conclusions that the picketing was to force the employer to sign an

agreement which by its terms would require the employer to stop

doing business with certain subcontractors.

There was no substantial evidence to support a finding, in the

first place, that the signing of the argeement was an object of the
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picketing. Second, the necessary legal effect of the agreement, had

it been signed by the employer, was not to force the employer to

"cease" doing business with the subcontractors. Third, assuming

the picketing to have been to secure the signing of the agreement,

it was primary in nature, as opposed to secondary picketing, since

the agreement was a proper subject of collective bargaining. And
fourth, regardless of the foregoing, the agreement was lawful

under the construction industry proviso to section 8(e) of the

Act, and therefore picketing to obtain its execution was not pro-

hibited by either subsections (A ) or ( B ) of the Act.

It is further argued, in the alternative, that the Board's Order

is too broad in scope insofar as it relates to employers other than

the one picketed, since no proclivity for unlawful conduct was

shown.

ARGUMENT
The Board has held each of the unions guilty of violating sub-

sections (A) and (B) of 8(b) (4) of the Act. [29 U.S.C. 158

(b)(4)] In pertinent part, these two subsections prohibit picket-

ing where an object is

:

"(A) forcing or requiring any employer or self-employed per-

son ... to enter into any agreement which is prohibited by

Section (8) (e);"

"(B) forcing or requiring any person ... to cease doing business

with any other person . . . : Provided, that nothing contained in

this clause ( B ) shall be construed to make unlawful where not

otherwise unlawful, any primary strike or primary picketing;"

Section 8(e), [29 U.S.C. 158(e)} referred to in subsection

(A) above, generally makes it unlawful for a labor organization

to enter into so-called hot cargo agreements and other agreements

which require an employer "to cease doing business with any

other person", but makes the following proviso:

"Provided, that nothing in this subsection (e) shall apply to an

agreement between a labor organization and an employer in the

construction industry relating to the contracting or subcontract-

ing of work to be done at the site of the construction, . .
."

In finding each of the unions guilty of subsections ( A ) and ( B

)
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of 8(b)(4), the Board has followed the theory of the case an-

nounced during the trial by General Counsel. (Tr 352,3) The

theory was that each of the unions had picketed with an object of

forcing Colson & Stevens to sign the Arizona Master Labor Agree-

ment, and that this Agreement hy its terms would compel the

company to cease doing business with its subcontractors unless

they complied with the Agreement's provisions. Therefore, it was

reasoned, the picketing to obtain the agreement was picketing for

a prohibited object.

No contention was made by General Counsel, or held by the

Board, that the Agreement was itself illegal or prohibited by

Section 8(e), or that either of the unions had a dispute with any

of the named subcontractors, or that the picketing was anything

but peaceful and in accordance with the Moore-Drydock standards

for common-situs picketing.

The several issues raised by this appeal relating to the alleged

subsections (A ) and ( B ) violations will be argued first.

The scope of the Board order will be argued last.

As a matter of fact, neither union picketed with an immediate

or direct object of forcing Colson and Stevens to sign the Arizona

Master Labor Agreement. The picketing was for organizational

and recognitional purposes only.

The key finding made by the Board was that each of the unions

picketed to force Colson & Stevens to execute the Arizona Master

Labor Agreement. (R 5 5 ; Exhibit 44 ) In view of the protection

afforded to primary disputes under Section 13 of the Act,^ the

necessary implication is that the Board found the signing of the

Agreement, without modification, to be a direct or immediate

object of the picketing. NLRB v. Bangor Building Trades Council,

* Section 13 reads: "Nothing in this Act, except as specifically provided foi

herein, shall be construed so as either to interfere with or impede or

diminish in any way the right to strike, or to affect the limitations or

qualifications on that right."



13

278 F.2d 287; NLRB v. Denver Building and Construction Trades

Council, ( 1951 ) 341 U.S. 675; NLRB v. International Rice Mill-

ing Co. (1951) 341 U.S. 665.

It follows that if such a finding of fact is not supported by sub-

stantial evidence, then that ends the case and the Decision must

be reversed as to the 8(b) (4) violations.

The Carpenters Union picketed Colson & Stevens for 28 or 30

days, beginning October 19th. (Tr 287) Before that, there had

been only one contact between this union and the company which

could be remotely related to the picketing. That occurred on

October I4th, when the union's agent, Ellison, talked with Colson

& Stevens at the Yellow Front jobsite about the carpenters and

about becoming a union contractor. (Tr 359)

The October l4th meeting never reached the level of negoti-

ations, actually. Nothing was said about the Arizona Master Labor

Agreement. (Tr 359) Certainly there was no issue raised as to

the subcontractor clause, however, it may be interpreted, since as

Ellison understood the matter, all of Colson's subcontractors were

union contractors. (Tr 313, 359)

Some attempts had been made before the picketing began to

organize the company's carpenters, and the same thing occurred

after the picketing. (Tr 333, 371) In this respect, the picket sign

stated that the Carpenters Union wanted to organize and represent

the company's carpenters. (Tr 288) This, it was testified without

contradiction, was the sole purpose of the picketing. (Tr 296)

Had the company consented to negotiate, the Carpenters Union

would have bargained for an agreement, not necessarily the Ari-

zona Master Labor Agreement. (Tr 295, 371

)

The Carpenters Union quit its picketing in mid-November and

simply forgot about the matter (Tr 295) until in the following

January when its agents were invited by Colson & Stevens to

attend a meeting apparently to discuss the company's becoming a

union contractor. (Tr 295, 300, 393) This was the first time that

the Arizona Master Labor Agreement was mentioned

—

long after

the Carpenters Union had finished its picketing.
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So much for the Carpenters Union.

As for the Laborers Union, it began picketing in late January.

It, too, indicated a desire to organize Colson's employees, that is,

its laborers. (Tr 400) There was no other object. (Tr 400, 420,

421) The only possible tie-in between the picketing and the Ari-

zona Master Labor Agreement—a very fragile one, too—is that

one of the Laborers Union's agents attended the January meeting

when Colson & Stevens discussed signing the agreement. (Tr 300)

However, the Laborers Union stood ready to negotiate, and not

necessarily for the Arizona Master Labor Agreement. (Tr 404)

After picketing for less than 30 days, the picket was removed

(Tr 400, 401)

So much for the Laborers Union.

A further implication of the Board's findings is that each of

these unions, in picketing, was telling Colson & Stevens to sign

the Agreement on a take-it-or-leave-it basis, or else the company

would be picketed until it did sign. The record simply will not

support such a finding. Even if it can be inferred that each union

picketed to force the company to negotiate, or to negotiate and sign

some kind of an agreement, this does not necessarily mean that

the Arizona Master Labor Agreement, intact with its subcontractor

clause, was required by the picketing.

It is therefore respectfully submitted that the Decision should

be reversed, since on this crucial finding of fact, there is no sub-

stantial evidence in support thereof.

II

Had Colson & Stevens signed the Arizona Master Labor Agree-

ment, it would not, by its terms, have compelled that company to

"cease doing business" with subcontractors Schwartz, Riggs and

Haun. Therefore, the signing of the Agreement was not a pro-

scribed object of the picketing within the meaning of subsection

(B) of 8(b)(4).

The Board's conclusion that this Agreement would have com.-

pelled Colson & Stevens to "cease doing business" with Schwartz,

Riggs, and Haun, is couched in the statutory language of subsec-
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tion (B). This phrase is identical to that used in section 8(e)

which deals expressly with these kinds of agreements. To cease is

not the same as to refrain from doing business. The former refers

to existing contractual relationships. The latter refers to in futuro

relationships. Hoffman v. Teamsters, joint Council No. 38 (N.

Dist. Calif.; 1962) —F. Supp.— , 45 L.C. ^ 17.803 Also, see

"A Critical Analysis" in The Georgetown Law journal, Vol. 48,

at p. 355. The line of cases permitting restrictions on subcontract-

ing, hereinafter cited in detail in Argument III, is consistent with

this distinction, although based on another ground.

This is an important distinction in this case because there were

no existing contractual relationships between Colson & Stevens

and the subcontractors named, which would have been affected by

the terms of the Agreement.

First, it should be noted that when the Carpenters Union began

picketing, only Schwartz had an existing contract. The rest of the

subcontractors were union, and this would exclude Haun and

Riggs. (Tr 53, 130, 200, 313) Haun's subcontract was dated

Oct. 21, I960. (Tr 130) When the Laborers Union began picket-

ing in January, of the three only Riggs had an existing contract.

(Tr 53) Thus, if Colson & Stevens had signed the Agreement

with the Carpenters Union in October at or before the picketing

began, it couldn't have caused the company to "cease doing busi-

ness" with Haun or Riggs. Likewise, as to Schwartz and Haun

when the Laborers Union began picketing.

Secondly, as to any subcontracts then in existence at the time

either of the unions picketed, the signing of the Agreement would

not have affected them either. Quite obviously, as a matter of

simple contract law, the extent of the rights and liabilities of the

subcontractors was already fixed by such existing subcontracts, and

none of the subcontractors legally could have been compelled by

Colson & Stevens to change them to accommodate the provisions

of the Arizona Master Labor Agreement.''

'• Many of the basic parts of the Agreement are reprinted in the Appendix.

The subcontractor clause ( Article I. c) binds the general contractor: "Pro-

visions shall be made in such subcontract for the observances by said

subcontractor of the terms of this agreement. . .

."
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It may be that Colson & Stevens would have had to pay dam-

ages pursuant to grievance procedures in the event either of

the existing subcontractors failed to pay wages, etc., at the level

called for in the Arizona Master Labor Agreement. Of course, this

is merely speculative, since for no other reason there was no

showing in the record that these subcontractors were not main-

taining a level of wages and conditions as high as that called for

in the Agreement. As to Riggs on the school jobs, the presumption

would be that he was so paying, since these jobs required, pursuant

to state law, the payment of "prevailing wages." The prevailing

wages on the jobs are determined by the terms of the various

AFL-CIO labor agreements in the area. A.R.S. 34-322 and 325

(Tr.203).

Thus, the signing of the agreement could have affeaed these

subcontractors in futuro only, when Colson & Stevens, in accord-

ance with the Agreement, would quite probably, but not neces-

sarily, have required them to observe the standards established by

the Agreement in any subsequent subcontracts entered into with

them. But, this would not constitute a ceasing to do business

within the meaning of the Act. Therefore, the signing of the

Agreement was not a proscribed object of picketing.

This distinction between existing and in futuro relationships is

especially put into issue in this case since the General Counsel con-

tended, and the Trial Examiner and the Board have held, that the

object of the picketing was to obtain the Agreement. General

Counsel contended and the Board has held that the Agreement

"by its very terms" (R 55) also made an object of the picketing

the forcing of Colson & Stevens to cease doing business with these

subcontractors. The Trial Examiner disagreed with such legal

conclusions, and properly so. At no time has it been found that

either union picketed with an intent to continue doing so until the

subcontractors came to terms or were forced off the job. To the

contrary, the Trial Examiner expressly found (R 28), and was

not reversed by the Board, that:

"Neither Local asked Colson immediately to terminate his sub-

contracts and neither made any demands on the subcontraaors.

All concerned expected changes in these relationships once the
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Master agreement was signed. But it may not be assumed that

the Locals or either of them would have sought to enforce the

subcontracting clause of the Master agreement by unlawful

means. The signing was the objective and enforcement was left

to the future. . .
." (emphasis added)

The point is emphasized that the Board predicated its conclu-

sion that the picketing was illegal, as having a prohibited object

thereof, solely on the legal effect of the terms of the Agreement.

It follows, of course, that if the Board erred in this respea then

its Decision must be reversed as to the subseaion (B) violation.

One further reason why the terms of the Agreement would not

have affected these named subcontractors, and this regardless of

their status as existing or future contractors: None of them em-

ployed persons working in the classifications covered by the

Arizona Master Labor Agreement. Schwartz and Riggs were

plumbers. Haun was a brickmason. The inference is that these

crafts have separate collective bargaining agreements. (Tr 382)

The Arizona Master Labor Agreement ( Ex. 44 ) was negotiated

originally by several contractor associations and the several car-

penter, laborer, cement mason, and teamster unions, to cover the

wages, hours, etc., of just those particular classifications of em-

ployees. At no place in the Agreement are there provisions relat-

ing to plumbers and brick masons. Thus, unless these named

subcontractors were employing carpenters, laborers, cement ma-

sons, or teamsters— and there is no substantial evidence on this

— there would have been absolutely no effect upon these sub-

contractors "by the very terms" of the Agreement.

For the reasons stated, it is respectfully submitted that the

Board erred in concluding that the picketing had an illegal object

of forcing Colson & Stevens to cease doing business with the three

named subcontractors within the meaning of subsection (B) of

8(b) (4).

Ill

Assuming arguendo that the signing of the Agreement was an

object of the picketing and that the terms of the Agreement would

have affected the various subcontractors, nonetheless the picketing
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teas primary in nature and therefore not unlawful under section

(B) of 8 (b) (4) since the subcontractor clause was a mandatory

subject of collective bargaining.

Colson & Stevens was engaged in the construction industry. At

the time of the picketing it was employing carpenters and laborers

but subcontracting all other work requiring the other crafts. (Tr.

177)

The general nature of the construction industry is such that a

general contractor will be working one week at one place, with

numerous employees in numerous classifications, but will be

working the next week at an entirely different place, with an

entirely different group of employees. Depending upon the job

involved, the general contractor will use either a few or many

employees, and either a few or many employee classifications.

Depending on the job it will subcontract extensively, or not at all.

Work is intermittent and contractors customarily find themselves

between jobs with no employees at all on the payroll.

Workers following this industry are paid for the hours worked

only and must, of necessity, shift from job to job, from contractor

to contractor, in order to maintain a substantial frequency of

employment.

In short, as to contractors in this business, there is no certainty

from week to week what the collective bargaining unit of employ-

ees will be.

In these circumstances where the contractor can either sub-

contract a lot or a little, at will, it becomes necessary that the

contractor be induced to agree to condition his subcontracting in

such a manner as will protect the jobs and work standards of the

unionized workers employed by him, and in a manner as will

obviate the effect of any subcontracting done for the mere sake of

dodging the collective bargaining agreement. On the other hand,

because of the economics of the industry, the contractor is left

free to subcontract when bona-fide business reasons dictate such a

move. These would have been the effects of the Arizona Master

Labor Agreement had Colson & Stevens signed it.

The subcontractor clause contained in said Agreement, which
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according to the Board's theory tainted the picketing with il-

legahty, reads as follows:

"C. That if the Contractors, parties hereto shall subcontract

construction work as defined hereafter in Article III of this

Agreement, the terms of said Agreement shall extend to and
bind such construction subcontract work, and provisions shall

be made in such subcontract for the observance by said sub-

contractor of the terms of this Agreement. A subcontractor is

defined as any person, firm or corporation who agrees under

contract with the general contractor or his subcontractor to

perform on the job site any part or portion of the construction

work covered by the prime contract ..."

This clause says to the signatory contractor that it is responsible

to see to it that the wage and working standards set out in the

Agreement shall be complied with, should it subcontract any

work to be performed by the employees covered by the Agreement.

This would have discouraged Colson & Stevens from, for exam-

ple, subcontracting all carpentry work on its next job after the

Yellow Front. At the same time, it would not have prohibited

such subcontracting in the event some bona fide business reason

indicated the desirability to do so.

The placing of restriaions upon subcontracting has long been

recognized as a matter of legitimate concern on the part of or-

ganized labor. In Ohio Valley Carpenters District Council, etc.,

136 N.L.R.B. No. 89 (1962), the Board stated the rule thusly:

"... it has long been recognized that restrictions on subcon-

tracting work out to another employer, or on(e) otherwise

having done elsewhere work usually performed by employees

in a bargaining unit, is a mandatory subject of collective bar-

gaining and a proper matter for contract inclusion. See, Timkin

Roller Bearing Co., 70 NLRB 500, 518; W. L. Rives Co., 125

NLRB 772, 782; Local 24, Teamsters v. Oliver, 358 U. S. 283,

294-5 (36 LC \ 65, 161). Contractual restrictions of this

character undoubtedly impinge upon an employer's freedom to

engage in business with others." (Emphasis supplied.)

Further examples of this kind of collective bargaining may be

found in Railroad Telegraphers v. Chicago & Northwestern Ry.

Co., 362 U.S. 330, 45 LRRM 3,104. The Supreme Court held

that an employer railroad was obligated to bargain concerning its
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decision to abandon a number of stations and to discharge the

station agents. In Local 24, Teamsters v. Oliver (1959) 358 U. S.

283, 43 LRRM 2,374, an agreement regulating the minimum
rental and other terms of leases between the carrier employer and

his "employees" who owned and operated their own trucks in the

service of the employer, was held to be "a direct frontal attack

upon a problem thought to threaten the maintenance of the basic

wage structure established by the collective bargaining agree-

ment," and therefore was a proper subject of collective bargaining.

The court noted that the federal labor laws were calculated to

promote collective bargaining, "to encourage the employer and

the representative of the employees to establish, through collective

negotiation, their own charter for the ordering of industrial rela-

tions, and thereby to minimize industrial strife." It also said:

"Within the area in which a collective bargaining was required,

Congress was not concerned with the substantive terms upon

which the parties agreed." (Emphasis supplied.)

In Deaton Truck Line v. Local 612, Teamsters (CA-5; 11/

1962),—F.2d—; 51 LRRM 2552, it was held that a union had a

legitimate interest in protecting its area wage standards by making

them applicable to lessor-drivers who were not employees as well

as to employee-drivers. The case there involved section 301 of the

Act which permits suits for breach of collective bargaining agree-

ments to be brought in federal courts. In referring to the Oliver

case, supra, the Circuit Court said:

"The Supreme Court has heretofore taken the position that it is

not necessary to determine whether owner-operators are 'em-

ployees' protected by the Act, since the establishment of mini-

mum rental to them was integral to the establishment of a

stable wage structure for clearly covered employee -drivers.

Teamsters Union v. Oliver, 1959, 358 U.S. 283, 294-295, 43

LRRM 2374; United States v. Drum, 1962, 368 U. S. 370,

382, n. 26. It is true that in Oliver, approved in Drum, the bar-

gaining unit included an overwhelming majority of concededly

employed drivers, while in the present case there are very few

admitted employees, and an overwhelming majority of lessor-

drivers. However, the Union points out, soundly we think, that

it has a legitimate interest in protecting its area wage standards.
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See In re Local Union No. 741, etc. (Keith Riggs Plumbing,

etc.), 1962, 137NLRBN0. 121,50LRRM 1313 at 1314..."

In Local Union No. 741, etc. [Keith Riggs Plumbing, etc.)

cited by Deaton, supra, the Plumbers Union had picketed Riggs

on certain building projects in Tucson, Arizona, not for organiza-

tional or recognitional purposes, but simply to advertise and put

pressure on Riggs to force him to cease and desist from paying

wages and benefits below the area standards. The Board held this

to be protected activity and not unlawful, even though as a result

of the picketing, employees of other employers refused to cross

the established picket line. The Board noted:

".
. . Indeed the importance of maintaining area standards as a

matter of public as well as union interest was long ago endorsed

by Congress by its enactment of the Davis-Bacon Act ( 40 U.S.

Code, Sec. 276a et seq.) . .
."

In Totvn and Country Manufacturing Co., 136 N.L.R.B. No.

HI, 49 LRRM 1918, the Board held that a company was re-

quired to collectively bargaining before subcontracting our work

in the bargaining unit even though the company's motives might

have been purely economic.

For further variation of the basic rule, see Local 19, Longshore-

men, 137 NLRBNo. 13.

In the instant case, the effect of the subcontractor clause on

Colson & Stevens, had it signed the Agreement, would have been

to protect to some degree the jobs and the working standards estab-

lished under the Arizona Master Labor Agreement for its carpen-

ters and laborers. For this reason, and pursuant to the authorities

hereinabove stated, the subcontractor clause was a mandatory

subject of collective bargaining. Thus picketing to obtain such a

clause was primary conduct permissible under Sections 7 and 13*^

of the Act, and was not unlawful within the meaning of ( B ) of

8(b)(4). Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted that the

Board's Decision and Order should be reversed to the extent that it

finds a violation of subsection ( B )

.

® These sections permit picketing for collective bargaining purposes,

among others, except where such conduct is specifically prohibited. 29

U.S.C. 157,163.
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IV

Assuming, arguendo, that the picketing was to obtain the sign-

ing of the Arizona Master Labor Agreement, nonetheless such

conduct was primary in nature and not in violation of either sub-

section {A) or (B) of 8(b)(4), since the Agreement was lawful,

and expressly so declared by the construction industry proviso to

section 8(e).

The prime basis for finding the 8(b) ( 4 ) violations in this case

is the Board's per se proposition that "a strike or picketing to obtain

such agreements (referring to the subcontractor clause in the

Arizona Master Labor Agreement) would ... be, without more,

unlawful under section 8(b) (4)" prior to the 1959 amendments.

(R.55) This, of course, was not the law prior to 1959, and even

if it were, the amendments in 1959 made lawful such condua

insofar as the construction industry is concerned.

An analysis of the statutes involved will demonstrate that

neither of the unions violated the prohibitions therein contained.

Subsection (A ) of 8(b)(4) makes picketing unlawful where

an object is:

"(A) forcing . . . any employer ... to enter into any agree-

ment which is prohibited by section 8(e);" (emphasis added)

Section 8(e), in material part, reads:

"(e) It shall be an unfair labor practice by any labor organiza-

tion and any employer to enter into any contract . . . whereby

such employer ceases ... or agrees ... to cease doing business

with any other person, and any contract or agreement entered

into heretofore or hereafter containing such an agreement shall

be to such extent unenforceable and void: Provided, that nothing

in this subsection (e) shall apply to an agreement between a labor

organization and an employer in the construction industry relating

to the contracting or subcontracting of work to be done at the

site of the construction. . .
." (Emphasis added)

Subject to the construction and garment industries' exemptions,

the purpose of these two statutes was to outlaw hot-cargo and boy-

cott agreements generally, and to make it an unfair labor practice

for a union to strike or picket to force an employer to enter into
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an agreement of that sort. NLRB v. Lithographers, Local 17

(CA-9; 1962) 309 F.2d 31; 45 LC ^ 17,817.

But, the Trial Examiner found (R 28) that "Colson is engaged

in the construction industry and the contract sought would have

application only to work done at the construction site." (Emphasis

added) The Board confirmed this finding. (R 54) Thus, the

Arizona Master Labor Agreement falls precisely within the excep-

tion to 8(e). In short, it was "not prohibited by section 8(e)"

within the meaning of subsection (A )

.

By the simplest of logic, therefore, picketing to force Colson &
Stevens to enter into the Agreement could not be said to be in

violation of subsection (A) of8(b)(4).

Notwithstanding the plain and unambiguous language used in

these two statutes, the Board maintains that statutory harmony and

the "general purposes of Congress and the previously applicable

law" require the courts to blind themselves to the obvious and to

find, somehow, that picketing to obtain this agreement, although

not prohibited by section 8(e), was violative of subsection (A) of

8(b)(4).

But the Board points to no ambiguity in either subsection (A

)

or in the proviso to 8 ( e ) . Instead, it suggests that the implications

of Sand Door (Local 1976, United Brotherhood of Carpenters, etc.

V. NLRB, 357 U.S. 93, 98), and the legislative history of the

Landrum-Griffin Act call for such a conclusion. This approach to

statutory construction is improper. Ex Parte Collett, 337 U.S. 55;

Gemsco, Inc. v. Walling, 324 U.S. 244; Packard Motor Co. v.

NLRB, 330 U.S. 485; Unexcelled Chemical Co. Corp. v. U.S., 345

U.S. 59; Servette, Inc. v. NLRB (CA-9; 1962) 310 F2d 659, 46

LC H 17,944.

The Board made the same contentions in LeBus, etc. v. Local

60, United Asso., etc., 193 F.Supp. 392 42 LC 1j 16,930. The

Court had this to say about the Board's position:

"There is no merit in the NLRB's argument that the quoted

proviso of subsection (e) merely sanctions voluntarily entering

into a 'hot cargo' agreement in the construction industry but

does not lift the ban on coercive measures designed to force such
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a stipulation from an employer. Whatever the wisdom of the

policy, the clear text of § 8(b)(4)(A) denies the union its

traditional weapons only when it would use them to secure an

illegal agreement, and neither § 8(e), which 'shall not apply'

to such an agreement, nor any other provision, condemns the

so-called 'subcontractor clause' in bargaining contracts. As the

NLRB itself emphasizes, the Conference Report with regard to

the proviso to § 8(e) dealing with such agreements says it was

'not intended * * ^ (to) change the existing law with respect

to judicial enforcement of these contracts or with respect to the

legality of a strike to obtain such a contract' and, while either

implication might be read in the language, the fact is that strik-

ing to obtain a subcontractor agreement was not illegal when
the Taft-Hartley Act was amended in 1959- Carpenters' Union

V. Labor Board (Sand Door), 357 U.S. 93 (35 LC ^ 71,599),

had merely held that such an agreement could not be 'enforced'

through a prohibited secondary boycott, but it did not condemn
other lawful activity directed to persuading the employer to

enter into that type of stipulation. Nothing in the original Taft-

Hartley law, or in its legislative history, indicates an intent to

ban such activity and there is no ground for holding that con-

duct illegal. It follows that the charge under § 8(b)(4)(A) is

without merit."

Likewise, in Cuneo v. Carpenters, Essex County & Vicinity, 207

F.Supp. 932, 45 LC ][ 17,826, the court, in dealing with facts quite

parallel to those in the instant case, said:

"... I respectfully reject as a precedent here the Board's conclu-

sion in Colson & Stevens that the agreement in question was

'prohibited by section 8(e)' of the Act for the simple reason

that the agreement presently in question is expressly excepted

from the prohibition of that section by the proviso thereof . .
."

It is respectfully submitted that the Board erred in concluding

that either of the unions violated subsection (A) of 8(b)(4) in

picketing to obtain an agreement expressly exempt from the pro-

hibitions of section 8(e). Accordingly, the Board's Decision

should be reversed in this respect.

But did the unions violate what is now subseaion (B) of

8(b) (4) by picketing to obtain the Arizona Master Labor Agree-

ment? It is respectfully submitted that they did not.
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Prior to the 1959 amendments, subsection (A) of 8(b)(4)

was the so-called secondary boycott statute. In material part, ( and

subject to much interpretation) it prohibited picketing where an

immediate or direct object thereof was:

"(A) forcing or requiring any employer ... to cease doing

business with any other person;"

This subsection was redesignated as subsection (B) as a result

of the Landrum-Griffin amendments. Also, a proviso was added.

In material part, (B) prohibits picketing where an immediate or

direct object thereof is:

"(B) forcing or requiring any person ... to cease doing busi-

ness with any other person . . . : Provided, that nothing con-

tained in this clause (B) shall be construed to make unlawful

where not otherwise unlawful, any primary strike or primary

picketing;"

The formal explanation for the effect of this proviso was given

in the House Report, H. R. Rep. No. 1147, 86th Cong., 1st Sess.

38 (1959) I. Legis Hist LRMDA 942 as follows:

"... The purpose of this provision is to make it clear that the

changes in Section 8(b)(4) do not overrule or qualify the

present rules of law permitting picketing at the site of a primary

labor dispute. This provision does not eliminate, restrict, or

modify the limitations on picketing at the site of a primary labor

dispute that are in existing law." (emphasis added)

Quite clearly, it becomes important in the instant case to ascer-

tain how this subsection was interpreted prior to the 1959 amend-

ments, since the Board predicates its Decision upon "the proposi-

tion that a strike or picketing to obtain such agreements (as the

Arizona Master Labor Agreement) . . . (was), without more,

unlawful under Section 8(b) (4) (A) prior to the 1959 amend-

ments." (R 55)

What about the Board's proposition? One thing is certain—it is

novel. This in itself hardly recommends it, since the instant case

involves a fact situation that must have been repeated thousands

of times since the Taft-Hartley was passed in 1947. The cases'

Texas Industries, Inc., 234 F2d 296 (CA-5) NLRB v. Bangor Bldg.

Trades Council, 278 F.2d 287 (CA-1); Bricklayers, etc., 125 NLRB
1179.
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cited by the Board in its Decision (R 55) are clearly distinguish-

able on their fads and in some instances on the particular statutes

involved. Nor is accuracy of such a proposition "implicit" in the

legal analysis of the Sand Door opinion. (Local 1976, United

Brotherhood of Carpenters v. Labor Board, supra.)

As for Sand Door, it held that a union could not engage in pick-

ing of a neutral employer with a prohibited object under what is

now (B), and then excuse such conduct by saying it was merely

enforcing its hot cargo agreement with the neutral employer. But

the court made it plain that a hot cargo agreement was legal, that

unions could properly negotiate for such agreements, that the

existence of such an agreement was not prima facie evidence of

illegal inducement, and even went so far as to say:

".
. . . It does not necessarily follow from the fact that the

unions cannot invoke the contractual provision in the manner
in which they sought to do so in the present cases that it may
not, in some totally different context not now before the Court,

still have legal radiations between the parties."

In Le Bus, Regional Director, etc. v. Local 60, United Assn.

of Journeymen, etc., supra, the court held that

".
. . . the fact is that striking to obtain a subcontractor agree-

ment was not illegal when the Taft-Hartley Act was amended
in 1959. Carpenters' Union v. Labor Board (Sand Door) 357
U.S. 93, had merely held that such an agreement could not be

'enforced' through a prohibited secondary boycott, but it did

not condemn other lawful activity directed to persuading the

employer to enter into that type of stipulation. Nothing in the

original Taft-Hartley Act, or in its legislative history, indicates

an intent to ban such activity . . .
."

In Cueno v. Carpenters, etc., supra, the court said

:

"The Sand Door case, upon careful perusal, does not . . . dis-

close support for the contention that the presently pending

strike constitutes an unfair labor practice under the Act, either

before or since the 1959 amendment .... Sand Door did not

hold that members of a labor organization, in negotiating a

collective bargaining agreement with their employers, might

not employ a strike as a means of forcing the employers to

include in the agreements provision that members of a Union
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would not be forced to work upon construction projects along-

side of non-union employees of subcontractors thereon . . .
."

The Board's position in the instant case is somewhat akin to

that which it recently stated to this court in NLRB v. Lithograph-

ers, Local 17, (CA-9; 1962), supra. There the Board urged that a

"chain shop" clause "standing by itself" was unlawful because it

would permit a kind of strike unlawful under 8(b) ( 4 ) . This

court noted, however, that the chain shop clause had nothing to do

with strikes or other coercive action "standing by itself," and said:

"It follows that if the chain shop clause is unlawful it must be

because some provision of the Act other than 8(b)(4)(A) and

(B) make it so . . .
."

Likewise, the subcontractor clause in the instant case has noth-

ing to do with strikes or other coercive action in and of itself. Like-

wise, it would involve a kind of strike unlawful under 8(b) ( 4

)

ij either of the unions engage in that kind of conduct to enforce

it. And, likewise, it must follow that ij the clause is unlawful, it

must he because some provision of the Act other than 8(b)(4)(A)

or (B) make it so.

Further, this court in Lithographers, supra, by clarifying the

Board's Order there enforced, declared that "insistence" upon the

chain shop clause would not violate the Order as affirmed. Note-

worthy is the fact that the court recognized that if coercion were

used under certain circumstances to enforce the chain shop clause,

this would be unlawful. The thrust of this ruling is that picketing

to obtain a legally phrased clause is not subject to the ban of sub-

section (B) of 8(b) (4), even though the same conduct to enforce

it might involve such a violation.

Not only have the few cases dealing specifically with this kind

of situation ruled contrary to the Board's self-serving statements as

to the "law" before 1959, but, also it seems that the Board is urg-

ing a position completely at odds with the long-settled rullings re-

garding what is secondary and what is primary picketing. In NLRB
V. International Rice Milling Co., supra, it was held that 8(b) (4)

did not seek to interfere with the ordinary strike. And that is all

that was involved in the instant case.
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The Supreme Court in Sand Door, supra, noted that 8(b) (4)

does not prohibit all secondary boycotts, saying:

".
. . It aimed to restrict the area of industrial conflict insofar as

this could be achieved by prohibiting the most obvious, wide-

spread, and, as Congress evidently judged, dangerous practice

of unions to widen that conflict: the coercion of neutral em-
ployers, themselves not concerned with a primary labor dispute,

through the inducement of their employees to engage in strikes

. . .
." (Emphasis added)

Also, see Local 761, Inter. U of E., R & M. Wkrs, v. N.L.R.B.,

366 U.S. 667.

This is still the aim of 8(b) (4) (B). Colson & Stevens was

certainly not a neutral, and the picketing at that company's premi-

ses certainly was not a widening of a conflict which the unions had

with somebody else. In fact it was acknowledged by General

Counsel (Tr 352) that neither of the unions had a dispute with

any of the named subcontractors. At least, he objected to testi-

mony on this point as being irrelevant.

The only legislative history having any bearing on this matter

is that found in the 1959 amendments. There, Sand Door was

assumed to have held that picketing to enforce hot cargo agree-

ments was illegal. Sen. Kennedy said:

"The first proviso under new section 8(e) of the National

Labor Relations Act is to preserve the present state of the law

with respect to picketing at the site of a construction project and

with respect to the validity of agrements relating to the con-

racting of work to be done at the site of a construction project.

This proviso affects only section 8(e) and therefore leaves

unafl^ected the law developed under section 8(b) ( 4 ) . The
Denver Building Trades (341 U.S. 675) and the Moore Dry-

dock (92 N.L.R.B. 547) cases would remain in force.

Agreements by which a contractor in the construction industry

promises not to subcontract work on a construction site to a

nonunion contractor appear to be legal today. They will not be

unlawful under section 8(e). The proviso is also applicable

to all other agreements involving undertakings not to do work

on a construction project site with other contractors or sub-

contractors regardless of the precise relation between them.

Since the proviso does not relate to section 8(b)(4), strikes and
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picketing to enforce the contracts excepted by the proviso will

continue to be illegal under section 8(b)(4) whenever the

Sand Door case (357 U.S. 93) is applicable.

It is not intended to change the law with respect to the judicial

enforcement of these contracts, or with respect to the legality

of a strike to obtain such a contract.

It should be particularly noted that the proviso relates only to

the contracting or subcontracting of work to be done at the

site of the construction. The proviso does not cover boycotts

of goods manufactured in an industrial plant for installation at

the jobsite, or suppliers who do not work at the jobsite." H.R.

Rep. No. 1147 on S. 1555, 105 Cong. Rec. 16415, II Legis.

Hist, of LMRDA 1433.

Not only by these expressions which are consistent with LeBtis,

supra, Cuneo, supra, & Lithographers, supra, but also by the

statutes actually passed, did Congress reveal its understanding of

the law as it existed before the amendments. It voided by 8 ( e ) all

hot cargo agreements, leaving only certain construction site and

garment industry agreements excepted, and \.x. made it illegal under

8(b)(4)(A) to jorce an employer to enter into the voided agree-

ments. It seems obvious that Congress believed that what is now

subsection (B) of 8(b) (4) would not prohibit strikes and picket-

ing to force employers to enter into the kinds of agreements de-

clared to be void. Therefore, to make it unlawful to picket to obtain

these kind of agreements Congress adopted an express statute to

that affect, namely subsection (A). The Board's contention that

picketing to obtain such an agreement, "without more," is unlaw-

ful under (B) "by reason of the law prior to the 1959 amend-

ments," imputes to Congress not only a misunderstanding as to

what the law then was, but also the doing of an absolutely need-

less thing, even a redundant and confusing thing, in cluttering the

statutes with (A). Such a presumption cannot properly be in-

dulged in, of course.

There has been no shortage of scholarly and contradictory com-

ment in the various law journals concerning the meanings to be

given to the scissors-and-paste job done to the law by the 1959

amendments. But the most penetrating and succinct observation
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yet discovered by this writer regarding the Congressional intent

toward the construction industry and the inter-play of subsections

(A) and (B) was made by the Trial Examiner in this very case

when he said: (R28)

".
. . It would be indeed an anomaly and a pointless hoax for

Congress to permit otherwise lawful picketing for a "subcon-

tractors clause" in the construction industry in Section 8(b)

(4) (A) as coupled with Section 8(e) and then to forbid it

under Section 8(b) (4) (B). I find it did not do so . . .
."

It is respectfully submitted that nothing in this case calls for

the "expansive reading" given (A) & (B) by the Board in its

Decision. Such an interpretive approach is not appropriate or al-

lowable. NLRB V. Teamsters, Local 639, 362 U.S. 274, 39 LC

1166,351.

The Board's finding that the unions' picketing violated ( B ) of

8(b)(4) should be reversed.

V.

Assuming, arguendo, a violation of either subsection (A) or

(B), or both, by either or both of the unions, still the Order is too

broad in scope, particularly as it relates to "any other employer."

The Board's Order (R 60, 61) is the same as to each union.

It orders each of them to cease and desist from certain conduct

relative to Colson & Stevens "or any other employer."

The evidence will not support a proclivity for unlawful action

by either of the unions. Nor was there a finding relating to the

likelihood of similar violations. Yet the Order places each of the

unions in a dilemma in respect to employers against whom they

have legitimate grievances if either Schwartz, Riggs, or Haun

happens to be a subcontractor on the job, even though such griev-

ance may be totally unconnected with the presence of these sub-

contractors. For these reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the

Order should be modified by striking the words, "or any other

employer" wherever they appear in the Order. NLRB v. United

Ass'n of Journeymen, et al, (CA-9; 1962) 300 F2d 649; 44 LC

Para 17,512; NLRB v. International Longshoremen's and Ware-
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housemen's Union, Local 10, et al., 283 F2d 558 (CA-9; I960);

and Communications Workers of America, AFL-CIO, et al. v.

NLi^B, 362 U.S. 479 (I960).

CONCLUSION
It is respectfully submitted that the Decision, insofar as it finds

either of the unions guilty of violating Section 8(b) ( 4 ) (A ) or

(B), should be reversed and the case dismissed if the Court agrees

with any one of the basic arguments made herein by the unions.

If the court agrees with none of the arguments, then it is respect-

fully submitted, in that alternative, that the scope of the Order

should be modified to strike therefrom the words "or any other

employer" wherever they appear.

Minne & Sorenson

Attorneys for Petitioning

Unions

609 Luhrs Bldg.

PhoeniXj^rizog

By.. ,.

A. D. WARD
CERTIFICATE

I certify that, in connection with the preparation of this brief,

I have examined Rules 18 and 19 of the United States Court of

Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, and that, in my opinion, the fore-

going brief is in full compliance with thos^iules^ J

April, 1963
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APPENDIX A

Material parts of Exhibit 44, the Arizona Master Labor Agree-

ment:

MASTER LABOR AGREEMENT
Labor Agreement between the Associated General Contrac-

tors, Arizona Chapter; Arizona Building Contractors, Build-

ing Chapter, Associated General Contractors; Phoenix Asso-

ciation of Home Builders; Arizona Consolidated Masonry

and Plastering Contractors' Association; Community Home
Builders' Association and Building and Construction Trades

Unions.

THIS AGREEMENT entered into this 27th day of May, 1959,

by and between the members of the ASSOCIATED GENERAL
CONTRACTORS, ARIZONA CHAPTER; ARIZONA BUILD-

ING CONTRACTORS, BUILDING CHAPTER, ASSOCIATED
GENERAL CONTRACTORS; PHOENIX ASSOCIATION OF
HOME BUILDERS; ARIZONA CONSOLIDATED MASONRY
AND PLASTERING CONTRACTORS' ASSOCIATION AND
COMMUNITY HOME BUILDERS' ASSOCIATION, who are

signatories hereto and employers, non-members, who are signa-

tory hereto, parties of the first part, hereinafter referred to as the

Contractors,

and the

Laborers' District Council of the State of Arizona including

Locals 479, 383 and 556;

Construction Locals in the State of Arizona of the United

Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners of America including

Locals 1089, 2402, 906, 1216, 1538, 1100, 1914 (Millwright),

471, 857, 2096, 1153, 445 and 326;

Locals No. 83 and 310 affiliates of the International Brother-

hood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen and Helpers of

America;

Operative Plasterers' and Cement Masons' International Associa-

tion, Local Unions No. 394 and 395;
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who are signatory hereto, for themselves, for their various Craft

Councils and Local Unions which have jurisdiction over the work

in the territory hereinafter described, parties of the second part,

hereinafter referred to as the Unions.

WITNESSETH:

PURPOSES:

WHEREAS, the CONTRACTORS are engaged in contract

construction work in Arizona; and

WHEREAS, in the performance of its present and future con-

tracting operations the CONTRACTORS are employing and will

employ large numbers of workmen represented by various UN-
IONS, and

WHEREAS, the CONTRACTORS desire to be assured of

their ability to procure employees for all of the work which they

may do in the area hereinafter defined as Arizona in sufficient

numbers and skill to assure continuity of work in the completion

of their construction contracts; and

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the parties to establish uniform

rates of pay, hours of employment and working conditions which

shall be applicable to all workmen performing any work for the

contractors, as such work is hereinafter defined in ARTICLE III

of this Agreement,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of

the respective covenants and agreements of the parties hereto,

each of which shall be interdependent, IT IS HEREBY AGREED:

Article I

COVERAGE

A. That this Agreement shall apply to and cover all employees

of the contractors employed to perform or performing construction

work as such construction work is more particularly defined here-

after in Article III of this Agreement, in the area known as the

State of Arizona, except those employees exempted from the pro-

visions hereof by Article II of this Agreement; and the contractors



35

shall not offer or grant to any individual employee or group of em-

ployees whomsoever, performing any work mentioned in Article

III of this Agreement, any less favorable terms and conditions of

employment than provided for by this Agreement.

B. That all work performed by the CONTRACTORS, and all

services rendered for the CONTRACTORS, as herein defined, by

employees of the CONTRACTORS, shall be rendered in accord-

ance with each and all of the terms and provisions hereof.

C. That if the Contractors, parties hereto shall subcontract con-

struction work as defined hereafter in Article III of this Agree-

ment, the terms of said Agreement shall extend to and bind such

construction subcontract work, and provisions shall be made in

such subcontract for the observance by said subcontractor of the

terms of this Agreement. A subcontractor is defined as any person,

firm or corporation who agrees under contract with the general

contractor or his subcontractor to perform on the job site any part

or portion of the construction work covered by the prime contract,

including the operation of equipment, performance of labor and

the furnishing and installation of materials. The prime contractor

shall comply with the State Law regulating contracting which re-

quires posting of notices.

D. That in no event shall the Contractors be required to pay

higher rates of wages, or be subject to more unfavorable working

rules than those established by the respective Unions for any other

employer engaged in similar work in Arizona.

E. When the manufacturer's warranty covers the repairing or

adjustment of equipment or machinery the terms of this contract

shall not apply. However, in the cast of tire servicing, this exemp-

tion shall not apply when workmen are assigned for more than

four hours continuously.

F. That the Contractors and their subcontractors shall have

the choice in the purchase of materials, provided that they shall

give preference to the use of materials, supplies or equipment

which will not cause any discord or disturbance on the project be-

tween the parties hereto.



36

G. That all work performed in the Contractor's warehouses,

shops or yards which have been particularly provided or set up to

handle work in connection with a job or project covered by the

terms of this Agreement, shall be subject to the terms and condi-

tions of this Agreement. However, all work performed in other

warehouses, shops or yards of the Contractors or subcontractors

shall not be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement

except the production or fabrication of materials used upon the

project. This Agreement shall not prevent the employer from

negotiating or making Agreements with the Unions for any work

or classifications not covered by this Agreement provided that in

the course of such negotiations, none of the work covered by this

Agreement outside the permanent home yard, shop or warehouse

shall be interfered with; and provided further that equipment and

materials in permanent home yards, shops or warehouses at the

time of the negotiations and/or dispute shall be allowed to be re-

moved from the permanent home yards, shops or warehouses to

construction projects being performed by that Contractor whose

permanent home yard, shop or warehouse is involved in the dis-

pute or negotiations.

Article III

WORK COVERED

A. The Construction of, in whole or in part, or the improve-

ment or modification thereof, including any structures or opera-

tions which are incidental thereto, the assembly, operation, main-

tenance and repair of all equipment, vehicles and other facilities

used in connection with the performance of the aforementioned

work and services and including, but not limited to, the following

types or classes of work

:

B. Street and Highway work, grading and paving, mechanical

land leveling, excavation of earth and rock, grade separations, ele-

vated highways, viaducts, bridges, abutments, retaining walls, sub-

ways, airport grading, surfacing and drainage, electric transmission

line and conduit projects; water supply, water development,

reclamation, irrigation, drainage and flood control projects, water
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mains, pipe lines, sanitation and sewer projects, dams, tunnels,

shafts, aqueducts, canals, reservoirs, intakes, channels, levees,

dikes, revetments, quarrying of breakwater or riprap stone;

foundations, pile drivings, piers, locks, dikes; river and harbors

projects; breakwaters, jetties and dredging; warehouses, shops and

yards, the construction, erection, alteration, repair, modification,

demolition, addition or improvement, in whole or in part of any

building struaure, including oil and gas refineries and incidental

structures, also including any grading, excavation, or similar opera-

tions which are incidental thereto, or the installation, operation,

maintenance and repair of equipment, and other facilities used in

connection with the performance of such building construction.

C. The parties agree to jointly take steps to assure that all

Federally authorized construction projects, including electric trans-

mission lines, conduit projects, and substations, shall specify that

prevailing rates of pay be paid.

Article V

C. That in the event any grievance or dispute except a griev-

ance or dispute concerning referral in the first instance ( see Article

II-D ) , is not satisfactorily settled by the employee or his represent-

ative and the superintendent in charge within twenty-four (24)

hours from the time it is reported, it shall be referred to the busi-

ness or special representative of the appropriate Union or Unions.

Said business or special representative shall then attempt to adjust

said grievance or dispute with the Contractor performing the work.

If said grievance or dispute is not satisfactorily adjusted by said

business or special representative and the Contractor within three

(3) days from the date the grievance or dispute arose, it shall be

referred to the Area Joint Labor-Management Committee, in the

appropriate area, provided that a representative of the craft and a

member of the construction firm involved in the controversy may

represent his respective organization at the hearing. The said

Area Joint Labor-Management Committee shall then hear and

review any grievance or dispute submitted to it and adjudicate



38

the same. The decision of said Area Labor-Management Committee

shall require an affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the

Committeemen, and shall be final and binding upon all parties to

this Agreement, except decisions appealed to the State Joint Con-

ference Board from either party in which its decision shall be final

and binding upon all parties to this Agreement. In the event the

Area Joint Labor-Management Committee fails to render a deci-

sion within three (3) days after the grievance or dispute is sub-

mitted to it, the Secretary of the Area Joint Labor-Management

Committee to which the grievance or dispute has been referred

will submit the same to the State Joint Conference Board. In the

event that the required majority of the Committeemen cannot be

secured within three (3) days after the submission of the said

grievance or dispute to said State Joint Conference Board, such

Committeemen shall, upon request of any party to the grievance

or dispute, select an additional person who shall act as arbiter and

all of the parties hereto agree that the decisions that come from

such arbitration shall be final and binding upon them. Any such

request from an interested party for selection of an arbiter shall

be made within ten (10) days after notification of the failure of

the State Board Committeemen to reach a decision; and the State

Board Committeemen shall then comply with such request within

five ( 5 ) days of its receipt.

If, within twenty-four (24) hours after said Committeemen

attempt to choose an additional person to act as arbiter, they are

unable to agree upon such person, the arbiter shall be chosen in

the following manner:

The Director of Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service of

the United States shall immediately be requested by said Committee

to submit the names of five persons qualified to act as arbiters.

When said list has been presented the representatives of the Un-

ions and the representatives of the Contractors shall each have the

choice of rejecting the names of two of these five persons, the re-

maining or fifth one shall be selected as the arbiter within twenty-

four (24) hours after submission of said list, and it shall be
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mandatory for said arbiter to render a decision within forty-eight

(48) hours thereafter unless an extension of time is mutually

agreed to by parties hereto. All employee grievances and disputes

between the parties regarding the interpretation or performance

of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement shall be sub-

mitted to the grievance procedure and arbitration in the manner

provided in this seaion.

There shall be no lock-out by the employer nor cessation of

work by the employees, unless there is a violation of this Agree-

ment as determined under the provisions of this Article. This para-

graph shall not apply where an employee covered by this Agree-

ment is paid by a check which is returned or is otherwise invalid

because of insufficient funds.

Article VI

WAGE SCALES AND WORKING RULES OF THE
FOUR BASIC TRADES

The attached hourly wage rates and working rules are hereby

referred to and made a part hereof. These wage rates and working

rules shall apply to all work covered by the terms of this Agree-

ment and performed by employees of the Contractors whose work

classifications come within the jurisdiction of the following

Unions:

Laborers' District Council of the State of Arizona..Appendix A

Section 1—General

Seaion 2—Mason Tenders

Section 3—Plasterer Tenders

Section 4—Tunnel & Shaft Workers

Sections 5—Watchmen

Construction Locals in the State of Arizona of

the United Brotherhood of Carpenters and Join-

ers of America Appendix B

Locals No. 83 and 310 Affiliates of the Interna-

tional Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs,

Warehousemen and Helpers of America Appendix C
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Operative Plasterers' and Cement Masons' In-

ternational Association, Locals No. 394 and

No. 395 Appendix D
Carpenters Joint Apprentice Program Appendix E

Expense Allowance Map Appendix F

APPENDIX B

Record of exhibits identified and/or received relating to this con-

solidated appeal:

General Counsel's Exhibits

No. Identified Received

29 p. 125 p. 126

30 125 126

44 (See Appendix A) 203 204

Respondent Unions' Exhibits

No. Identified Received

5 p. 216 p. 238

6 279 280

7 281

8 411 413

9 411 415

10 411 415
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On Petition for Review of the Decision of the

Tax Court of the United States

BRIEF FOR THE RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the Tax Court erred in holding that the

taxpayer ''is entitled to deduct percentage depletion

on rock, sand and gravel, which it removed from prop-

erty that had already been dredged-mined for gold."

(R. 59.)

STATUTE INVOLVED

The applicable statute is set forth in Appendix A
of the brief for petitioner.



STATEMENT

Respondent herein conducts a rock, sand and gravel

business on three properties that had previously been

dredged-mined for gold by Gold Hill Dredging Com-

pany. The properties are commonly referred to as

the " Featherston, " "Putnam," and "Wright."

The Tax Court found, inter alia:

(a) "The Putnam, Wright, and Featherston prop-

erties had never been mined for aggregates by Gold

Hill Dredging Company or any prior owners, and no

aggregates were removed from these properties until

the operations were commenced by petitioner." (R.

62.)

(b) "Respondent produces approximately 15

kinds of rock and sand products." (R. 67.)

(c) In the process of removing the gold from the

sand and aggregates the gold-dredge did not crush or

change the size of the aggregates, nor were any chemi-

cals added in the process. (R. 65.)

THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE GRANTS A FIVE PER CENT
DEPLETION ALLOWANCE IN CASE OF MINERALS OR
OTHER NATURAL DEPOSITS OF GRAVEL, SAND, ROCK, ETC.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1954, Section 611 (a)

provides that in the case of mines or other "natural

deposits" there shall be allowable as a deduction in

computing taxable income a reasonable allowance for

depletion. Section 613 (b) of the Internal Revenue



Code, 1954, grants a five per cent depletion allowance

in the case of mines and other ^'natural deposits" of

gravel, sand, riprap, road materials, concrete aggre-

gates, or for similar purposes.

The deficiency notice mailed l)y petitioner to tax-

payer stated in part as follows

:

''It is determined that on the mining of aggre-

gates from tailings, which results from the acqui-

sition of the right to remove sand and gravel

from the residue of prior gold dredge-mining

along the Mokelmnne River on the property of

the Gold Hill Dredging Company, no percentage

depletion is allowable pursuant to the provisions

of the Internal Revenue Code.

"It is held that once a deposit has been mined
the residue does not revert to a natural deposit;

therefore the aggregates subsequently were not

removed from 'natural deposits' . . .". (R. 14,

15.)

In the brief presented by petitioner prior to the

decision of the Tax Court under the heading "Ques-

tion Presented" we find the following:

"Did petitioner's business consume natural de-

posits of rock, sand and gravel when it consumed
rock, sand and gravel from property that had
been dredged-mined for gold?" (Emphasis
added.)

Based upon the foregoing statements, the theory upon

which the case was actually tried before the Court

was correctly summed uj) by the Court when it stated

:

"The issue, as stated by respondent, is: 'If tlio

rock, sand, and gravel located on these properties



qualify as a natural deposit or mineral-in-place,

then petitioner is entitled to a deduction for de-

pletion.' " (R. 70.)

II

THE TAX COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT SHALL NOT BE SET
ASIDE UNLESS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

The Tax Court, after hearing all of the facts and

evidence presented (incidentally, the Commissioner

presented no testimony or witnesses at the trial) and

after having read the briefs that were presented by

the respective parties the Court concluded and found,

in addition to the above findings, that, as a fact:

"The aggregates taken from the Putnam,
Wright, and Featherston properties in the year

in question were natural deposits that were mined
by petitioner." (R. 67; emphasis added.)

Petitioner now urges that the Court's finding that

the aggregates were natural deposits is not binding

on this Court. In disagreeing with the Tax Court, the

Commissioner seems to forget that fact finding is the

business of that Court. " It is for the trial Coui-t, upon

consideration of an entire transaction, to determine

the factual category in which a particular transaction

belongs." United States v. Cwmberland Public Serv-

ice Co., 338 U.S. 451, 456 (1950). Furthermore, in the

familiar words of Rule 52 (a) of the Federal Rules

of Civil Procedure, "findings of fact shall not be set

aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall

be given to the opportunity of the trial judge to judge
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of the credibility of witnesses." Under Rule 52 (a)

j&ndings of fact may not be easily discarded even if

the facts might have been di:fferently found. United

States V. Real Estate Boards, 339 U.S. 485, 495

(1950) ;
United States v. Yellow Cab Company, 338

U.S. 342 (1949) ; Stout v. Commissioner, 185 F. 2d 854

(6th Cir. 1950). A finding is "clearly erroneous"

only when ''the reviewing court on the entire evidence

is left wdth the definite and firm con\dction that a

mistake has been committed." United States v. Gyp-

sum Co., 333 U.S. 364, 395.

Petitioner would have this Court ignore the fore-

going established principles of law by suggesting that

the Tax Court did not apply "the proper legal stand-

ard established by statute." It is submitted that this

suggestion is untenable and that the facts as found

by the Tax Coui't should not be set aside. The Tax

Court ha\dng found that the aggregates in question

were "natural deposits that were mined by petitioner"

and were deposits of a type that qualify under the

Code, this entire case should be settled and resolved

in favor of respondent without any further question

or argument.

Ill

THE TAXPAYER'S AGGREGATE DEPOSITS WERE "OTHER
NATURAL DEPOSITS" WITHIN THE MEANING OF THAT
TERM IN SECTIONS 611 AND 613.

The precise issue presented to this Court has ))een

decided adversely to petitioner not only by the Tax

Court in this case, but also in Pacific Cement <£• Ag-



gregates v. Commissioner, 31 T.C. 136 (October 23,

1958). The Court will note that in the Memorandum

Findings of Fact and Opinion (R. 59 at R. 68) Pa-

cific Cement is referred to as being almost identical

in facts to the present case and the Court quotes from

its decision at pages 139, 140 and 141. This Tax Court

has therefore found against petitioner on two occa-

sions, as a fact, that producers, processors, or miners,

of aggregates that had been previously dredge-mined

for gold are entitled to a depletion allowance as a

"natural deposit."

Petitioner attempts to make the Atlas Milling Co.

V. Jones, 115 Fed. 2d 61 (C.A. 10, 1940) ((40-2 USTC
9711)), and Consolidated Choi. G. & S.M. Co. v. Com-

missioner, 133 Fed. 2d 440 (C.A. 9, 1943) ((43-1

USTC 9298)) apply to the present case. Both of

these cases had been decided prior to Pacific Cement

and the two cases were discussed by the Court in the

Pacific Cement decision and in reviewing these two

cases the different factual situation was noted and

the Court stated:

"In the Atlas Milling Co. case, the mineral was
mined and removed to the mill where it was
processed and the ore extracted. The residue was
dumped and it was this residue which was ac-

quired by the taxpayer in that case and reworked

by a more modern process. The Court held that

such residue was not a mine and the reprocessing

of it was not the working of a mine and pointed

out the fact that the taxpayer there had no in-

terest in the mine from which the ore had orig-

inally been taken. The petitioner in the Con-



solidated Cliollar Gould case, supra, had claimed

percentage depletion 'from the extraction of gold

by the petitioner from certain dumps consisting

of rocks and ore material which had never l^een

milled or processed in any way but w^hich had

been deposited upon lands owned by the peti-

tioner ((from mines not located on such lands))

many years prior to the acquisition of said lands

by the petitioner.'
"

It is interesting to note that petitioner's brief no-

where refers to the California case of State of Cali-

fornia V. Natoma Company, 25 Cal. Rptr. 363, 208

ACA 711, decided in October, 1962. The lands in con-

troversy had been dredged-mined for gold between

1900 and 1925 and the question presented to the Court

was w^hether the dredger tailings remaining after the

gold had been removed was realty or personalty for

the purposes of condemnation. The Court held the

aggregates to be realty. Had the Court considered

the aggregates a ''waste," a "residue," a "dump"
etc., it would have held it to be personalty.

The language quoted from the cases cited by peti-

tioner in support of its position are misleading. In the

Atlas, KoMnoor Coal, Soil Builders, etc., the product

created by nature w^as changed in size, shape or con-

tent by mechanical, chemical or other methods when

ore was extracted. The Court makes this point abun-

dantly clear in Pacific Cement when it states:

"In the instant case there is nothing that re-

sembles a dump or residue remaining after the

ore has been milled and the concentrates removed
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therefrom. The aggregates on the Fair Oaks

property cover an extended area southward from

the banks of the American River and are the

identical aggregates which were placed in the

area by nature, the only difference being that

petitioner's predecessor in interest operated by

dredge on the deposit as it existed, picking up

the sand and gravel, extracting the gold there-

from, and dmnping the sand and gravel, minus

the gold, in substantially the same place where it

had picked it up. There has been no prior mining

of the Fair Oaks property for the purpose of ex-

tracting aggregates and there has been no change

in the size or form of the aggregates. When 'Na-

tomas Company completed its process they were

the identical aggregates which existed when the

process had been commenced. Petitioner leased

the Fair Oaks property and worked the identical

deposit for aggregates for the first time and in

the place where the sand and gravel had been

originally laid down by nature. The fact that, in

extracting the gold, the sand and gravel had been

stirred up does not warrant respondent in taking

the position that petitioner was not working a

natural deposit in place or that petitioner did

not have an economic interest in the very prop-

erty from which the deposit was being extracted.

In our opinion, the rock, sand, and gravel recov-

ered by petitioner from the Fair Oaks property

were from 'natural deposits' and constituted

'minerals in place' as those terms are used in the

statutes and regulations previously cited.

''In conclusion, we hold that the respondent erred

in disallowing depletion claimed by petitioner on
the Fair Oaks property." (Emphasis added.)



There are no tailings or waste material and low-

grade ore placed on the surface of the Putnam,

Wright and Featherston properties. The entire de-

posit of aggregates constituted a natural dejjosit

which had been placed there hy nature eons ago. The

deposit had been slightly disturbed by the extraction

of gold, but the deposit of aggregates, as such, re-

mained as originally created by nature.

As pre^dously stated the main issue to be deter-

mined in this case is whether the aggregates in ques-

tion are ''a natural deposit," if they are so found to

be then the depletion allowance must be permitted to

taxpayer. If the aggregates in question are not "nat-

ural deposits" then of necessity they are ''waste or

residue of prior mining." In attempting to argue that

the aggregates are ''waste or residue of prior min-

ing" at page 20 of the brief of the petitioner, the

Consolidated opinion is referred to by counsel to the

effect that "mere severance and piling of ore-bearing

rock, mthout the extraction of a mineral, was suffi-

cient to make the mine tailings residue." This is a

misleading statement wdthout a full statement of the

facts. The ore in the Consolidated case was dug or

removed from the property of one person some dis-

tance away to the property of another person. The

extraction and mining of the ore did not take place

until after the material had been deposited on the

second persons' property. Clearly, when the mining

took place it was not a "natural deposit." As previ-

ously set forth the Court in Pacific Cement noted and

made this factual distinction between the Consolidated
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cases and the ease where the prior operation was gold

dredge-mining. The brief at page 20, again attempts

to confuse the issue by stating that in the instant case

the ''gold was extracted from the ore-bearing aggre-

gates." The attempt is being made to create the im-

pression that the gold was imbedded in the aggregates

and had to be extracted therefrom. The uncontro-

vertible evidence and testimony was that the gold in

question was "free placer gold." (R. 90.) The opera-

tion of the dredger merely extracted the free gold

from amongst the sand.

The Court's attention is called to petitioner's brief,

page 14, wherein Cordell v. Scofield (D.C. Tax, 1958),

58-2 USTC is cited only. The reason is obvious. In

this case clay, sand, and other materials were dredged

from a ship channel and piped to properties of a navi-

gation district and deposited behind levees for dis-

posal. Taxpayers (a partnership) mined the clay and

sand from the properties under leases with the navi-

gation district and processed the clay into burnt brick

and tile. The Commissioner denied the partnership

a depletion deduction contending that the clay and

sand were not natural deposits. The Court held that

the partnership's clay mining operation did not differ

in any way from any other clay mining operation con-

ducted by a brick company and, accordingly, allowed

depletion on the clay. The Court found:

"The clay deposit in the 'Old Filter Bed Tract'

was dredged and piped behind levees in about

1918 when the Houston Ship Channel and turn-

ing Basin were deepened and widened. There
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was overburden on the clay in the ^Old Filter

Bed Tract' in 1938 and subsequently. By 1938,

heavy vegetation had grown on the land, includ-

ing quite a bit of timber, with trees as large as

20'' in diameter at the trunk. This overburden had

to be removed in order to mine the clay in the

same w^ay that other clay deposits are mined.

'

' The mining operation conducted by the partner-

ship in the 'Old Filter Bed Tract' did not differ

in any way from any other clay mining operation

conducted by a brick company."

The Court also held that depletion was allowable

in connection with the sand, which had been deposited

during the widening and deepening of the ship chan-

nel.

The last cited case appears to be the only one where

a natural deposit has been entirely removed from its

original place and is still considered a natural deposit

in the new place. The Putnam-Wright-Featherston

natural deposit has not been removed and a fortiori

remains a natural deposit in its original place.

The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals in April, 1960,

in the case of Soil Builders, Inc. v. United States

of America, 227 F. 2d 573, considered the question of

granting a depletion allowance in the mining of the

property for hard phosphate which mining resulted in

the creation of a colloidal or soft phosphate a quarter

to a half mile downstream from the operation. The

mining of the hard phosy)hate was accomplished by

removing from a frame or block of hard phosphate

the sand, clay, and soft particles of phosphate from
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the openings in the blocks. The Court found that the

original mining was of phosphate rock and that the

mining operation then before the Court was for col-

loidal or soft rock phosphate. The Court reviews the

Atlas Milling Co. v. Jones (supra) and other cases

and notes that in all of these cases the reworking

activity was to recover more of the same mineral that

had been the object of the original mining. The Court

stated

:

"The colloidal phosphate not only is not in its

natural location; it is not even in its natural

state. In effect, it is a refined product, refined

by the removal from it of all sand (silicon diox-

ide) and non-phosphate clay. The refinement

process and the removal process were one and

the same. By this process a deposit was undoubt-

edly made but it was not a natural deposit ; it was
man made."

At page 15 of the brief for petitioner the Soil

Builders case is cited as authority for petitioner's

argument, and it is therein stated:

"The mining processes engaged in there were

quite similar to those in this case."

It is respectfully submitted that only a cursory

reading of the facts in the Soil Builders case and the

testimony in the case before the Court conclusively

demonstrate that there is no similarity in the two

mining processes. Furthermore the brief fails to call

this Court's attention to the fact that the Soil Builders

case, Pacific Cement & Aggregates, Inc. v. Commis-
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sioner (Supra) was discussed and the factual situa-

tion in this latter case reviewed by the Court. In

other words, Soil Builders did not overnde, change,

or modify the decision made in Pacific Cement d-

Aggregates, Inc. v. Commissioner, but distinguished

the facts in this latter ease from all other decisions

that had theretofore been decided and in fact approved

the decision of Pacific Cement & Aggregates v. Com-

missioner. The Court concluded that the facts in

this Pacific Cement case were distinguishable from

the Soil Builders case in that "(1) that the taxpayer

claims a deduction under the classification of phos-

phate rock, which is exactly what was previously

mined, and (2) that the colloidal phosphate here was

not, when removed, either a natural deposit or in its

natural state."

The foregoing cases, except the Pacific Cement &
Aggregates case, have been cited to indicate that in

each one of them there was involved a tailings pile, a

refuse pile, a pile of waste or a culm or refuse bank,

or some other similar residue of ore resulting from

previous mining operations. In each of the cases the

ore in question had been removed from the ground,

the ground was processed by mechanical or chemical

methods and the remaining ground was deposited on

the surface of the earth outside of the mine from

which it was extracted.

In the case before the Court there is nothing that

resembles a refuse or tailings pile or a residue of low-

grade ore resulting from prior mining operations, a

culm bank or refuse bank, or any other type of residue
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from prior mining operations. The aggregates in this

case are the identical aggregates which were placed

in the area by nature, the only difference being that

the gold had been extracted from the sand, and the

aggregates were thereupon returned to the surface of

the earth at a distance of approximately 150 feet

from their original position. There has been no change

in the size or form of the aggregates. In going

through the dredge the aggregates were only washed.

They were not treated chemicall}^, nor were they

crushed in any w^ay. When the dredging operation

was completed, the aggregates were the identical ag-

gregates which existed when the process had been

commenced. The gold was "free gold" in the sand,

and the sand remained after the gold dredging opera-

tion had been completed. (R. 90.)

The testimony of Herbert L. Coney, the person who

constructed and operated the dredge in question, re-

specting the foregoing statements is as follov/s (R.

90):

"Q. Now, this gold in effect that has floated

or been washed down from the Sierras, is that

correct ?

A. That is correct.

Q. This gold that you dredge-mined, in what
state was that gold? Is it embedded in the rocks

or aggregates'?

A. No. It is a free placer gold.

Q. It is a free placer gold?

A. That is correct.

Q. It is not affixed or

A. No.
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Q. So that the process of the gold dredge is to

wash the sand and separate the gold from it so

that the gold will drop, is that kind of

A. That is correct.

Q. a layman's description of it?"

Mr. Coney's testimony regarding what happens to

the aggTegates themselves when they go through the

dredge, the Court's attention is called to his testimony

in this regard at R. 91 and R. 92.

''Q. Now, when the aggregates are discharged

over the stacker conveyor at the stem, what if

anything is done to the aggregates by the dredger ?

A. Well, nothing. They are merely floating

lodes on through. They don't change their shape

in any form. They're merely dug and they're

washed as they go through the screen, and that

is the only thing that is done to them.

Q. What, you say they were a floating what?
A. A floating load going through the trammel

in there.

Q. In other words, there is no machinery or

anji:hing on the dredger that crushes any of these

aggregates I

A. No.

Q. There are no cemicals added to them?
A. No.

Q. Are they in the same physical shape, size

and content when they are picked up by the

bucket line as they are when they are discharged
over the stacker conveyor?

A. That is correct.

Q. The difference is that instead of them
being in front of the dredge at the time they are
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picked up, they are then deposited to the rear;

is that correct?

A. That is right. They are transported the

length of the dredge, that is all.

Q. And that is the only thing that happens?

A. That is all.

Q. Is that the only thing that happens to

them ?

A. That is the only thing that happens to the

aggregates.

Q. Now, would you briefly describe to the

Court what [23] happens to the ground when
you go in and gold dredge it?

In other words, you've got some terrain, a gold

dredger goes in, and when you operate you move
out, and what has happened?

A. Well, the simplest explanation I could give

to the Court would be that we merely turn the

ground upside down. What is on top when we
are finished is on the bottom.

Q. You mean what was on the top when you

started is on the bottom when you have finished;

is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And it has been moved the length of the

dredger ?

A. Of the dredger.

Q. And other than that, is there any change

to the shape and size of the aggregates that go

through the dredger?

A. None at all."

The disturbance of the aggregates caused by the

gold dredge did not destroy them as a natural deposit.

When the dredge mining operation was completed, the
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aggregates were returned to the earth in approxi-

mately the same location as they had been previously.

They were not in any way processed as aggregates,

nor had they been mined as aggregates. Also, no other

person, firm, or corporation, worked or operated these

properties for the removal of aggregates except peti-

tioner. (R. 93, 120, 121.) The Tax Court so found.

(R. 62.)

The Court held in the Atlos Milling Co. (Supra)

and similar cases that the material there worked on

by the taxpayer, for which a depletion allowance

was not granted, was not a material that was a natural

deposit. Those materials upon which the taxpayers

were working were in different form, shape, size, and

content than that created by nature. Those materials

had been "worked over" by man, and the refuse

remaining cannot be classified as a natural deposit.

In the instant case, however, the aggregates tvorhed

on by taxpayers tvere in exactly the same form, size,

shape, and relative location as created by nature. The

aggregates in question had never })een processed,

worked on, or mined by any person prior to the time

taxpayer commenced its operations. These aggregates

are natural deposits, and petitioner is entitled to a

percentage depletion allowance in accordance with

the language of the Code.
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IV

WHETHER TAXPAYEE WAS A "PURCHASER" OF THE
AGGREGATES IS IMMATERIAL.

The final point made in the brief for the petitioner

is that the taxpayer was the purchaser of the aggre-

,i2,ates in question, and that the Tax Court did not

consider this point. The brief refers to the aggregates,

however, as "waste or residue" and being ''waste or

residue" of prior mining under the regulations, a

depletion allowance should not be permitted. As set

forth above it is the position of taxpayer that he was

not the purchaser of ''waste or residue" of prior

mining, but rather the purchaser of natural deposits.

The Tax Court decision did consider the fact that

taxpayer was a purchaser of the aggregates in ques-

tion. The three agreements to purchase are summar-

ized and reviewed by the Court in its Memorandum of

Findings. (R. 59 to 62.)

As will be noted from a reading of the decision of

the Tax Court in its opinion herein, Pacific Cement

is quoted with approval and particular reference is

made to the following language. (R. 69.)

u* * * s^^ think there might be some reason for

the respondent's contention if the property was
being worked for aggregates, it does not seem
reasonable to say that such aggregates were in

the nature of "mineral dumps artificially depos-

ited from the residue.* * *"

"* * * The aggregates on the Fair Oaks property

cover an extended area * * * and are the identical

aggregates which were placed in the area by na-

ture, the only difference being that petitioner's
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predecessor in interest operated by dredge on the

deposit as it existed, picking np the sand and

gravel, extracting the gold therefrom, and dump-
ing the sand and gravel, minus the gold, in sub-

stantially the same place where it had picked it

up. There has been no prior mining of the Fair

Oaks property for the purpose of extracting

aggregates and there has been no change in the

size or form of the aggregates. * * * Petitioner

leased the Fair Oaks property and worked the

identical deposit for aggregates for the first time

and in the place where the sand and gravel had
been originally laid down by nature. The fact

that, in extracting the gold, the sand and gravel

had been stirred up does not warrant respondent's

taking the position that petitioner was not work-

ing a natural deposit in place or that petitioner

did not have an economic interest in the very

property from which the deposit was being ex-

tracted.* * *"

Substitute the names of Featherston, Putnam and

Wright for the words "Fair Oaks" and the factual

situation is identical.

Finally, the Tax Court did actually find (and not

**purportedly") as stated in the brief for petitioner

(Pg. 28) that "The aggregates taken from the Put-

nam, Wright and Featherston j)roperties in the year

in question were ^natural deposits that were mined hy

petitioner'." (R, 67; emphasis added.)

The arguments made in petitioner's brief were sub-

mitted and argued to the Tax Court in tins case

and presumably to the Tax Court as well in the Pa-

cific Cement case and in both cases the Court con-
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eluded and found as a fact that the aggregates "were

natural deposits that were mined by petitioner," (R.

67) and that the depletion deduction should be al-

lowed.

Dated, Lodi, California,

April 3, 1963.

Respectfully submitted,

Robert H. Mullen,

Attorney for Respondent.
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for the Ninth Circuit

No. 18,224

Commissioner of Internal Revenue, petitioner

V.

Claude C. Wood Company, respondent

On Petition for Review of the Decision of the

Tax Court of the United States

BRIEF FOR THE PETITIONER

OPINION BELOW

The memorandum findings of fact and opinion of

the Tax Court (R. 59-70)' are not officially reported.

JURISDICTION

This petition for review (R. 56-58) involves fed-

eral income tax for the taxable year 1958. On May
27, 1960, the Commissioner of Internal Revenue

mailed to the taxpayer notice of a deficiency in in-

^ Record references are to the printed Transcript of Rec-

ord.

(1)



come tax in the total amount of $9,347.35. (R. 12-

16.) Of this amount, $8,760 is in controversy. (R. 5,

59.) Within ninety days thereafter, on June 22, 1960,

the taxpayer filed a petition with the Tax Court for

a redetermination of that deficiency under the pro-

visions of Section 6213 of the Internal Revenue Code.

(R. 3, 5-16.) The decision of the Tax Court was

entered April 9, 1962. (R. 55.) This case was brought

to this Court by a petition for review filed June 27,

1962. (R. 56-58.) Jurisdiction is conferred on this

Court by Section 7482 of the Internal Revenue Code

of 1954.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the Tax Court erred in holding that the

taxpayer is entitled to a percentage depletion allow-

ance under Sections 611 and 613 of the Internal Rev-

enue Code of 1954 on tailings of sand, gravel and

cobbles remaining from gold dredge mining opera-

tions.

STATUTE INVOLVED

The applicable statute is set forth in Appendix A,

infra.

STATEMENT

The facts of this case, drawn from the stipulation

of facts. (R. 19-21), exhibits (R. 21-54),=^ testimony

2 The parties stipulated, with the approval of the Court, to

exclude several of the exhibits from the printed record. (R.

139-140.)



(R. 71-138), and findings of the Tax Court (R. 59-

67) may be stated as follows:

The taxpayer, Claude C. Wood Company, a Cali-

fornia corporation, operates a rock, sand and gravel

business. (R. 59.) In 1958, the taxable year in ques-

tion, it operated from the Featherston, Putnam
Ranch and Wright properties in San Joaquin County,

California. (R. 19-20.) Its operations on all three

properties were carried out under agreements which

gave it the exclusive right to remove the rock, sand

and gravel which had been unearthed in prior gold

dredging operations on the land. (R. 33-49.)

The agreement relating to the Featherston prop-

erties under which the taxpayer operated provided

that the taxpayer would purchase all the sand and

gravel removed from the owner of the property at a

stated rate per ton, subject to an agreed minimum
payment. (R. 34-35.) The agreement under which

the taxpayer operated on the Putnam Ranch property

was similar in this respect. (R. 39-42.) The agree-

ment under which the taxpayer operated on the

Wright property provided that the owners of the

property sold to the taxpayer for $9,375 all rock,

gravel and sand remaining on the property after

previous dredging operations. (R. 43-48.) The tax-

payer operated under these agreements during the

taxable year in question. (R. 59-62.)

The gold dredging operation preceded the tax-

payer's operations on the properties. Before the

dredging operation commenced, the general geologic

cross section of the properties was bedrock on top



of which was an alluvium deposit 30 to 40 feet thick.

(R. 89, 94, 103.) The alluvium contained aggregates

of sand, gravel and cobbles.' (R. 62-63.) When in

place as an alluvial deposit, sand and fine gravel

filled the voids between the cobbles. (R. 63, 90, 96.)

Free gold was also intermingled with the sand, gravel

and cobbles. (R. 90.) On top of the aggregates was a

layer of topsoil and vegetation. (R. 62-63.)

In determining whether a property was suitable

for dredge mining for gold, borings were taken to

determine the gold content, the character of the sub-

surface, and the depth at which bedrock lay. (R. 63,

85, 94.) If the property was acceptable, the topsoil

and vegetation were removed to expose the alluvium.

(R. 65, 100.) A pit was then dug in which the

dredge was constructed on a watertight platform.

(R. 63, 85.) The pit was flooded to float the barge.

(R. 63, 64.)

The dredge was a ponderous machine. (See Ex.

9-1.) The barge was 150 feet long. (R. 64.) Extend-

ing forward from it was a digging ladder 75 feet

long bearing scoops on a conveyor belt which dug and

carried the gold-bearing aggregates to the barge.

(R. 64, 87-88.) Extending backward from the plat-

form was a stocking ladder, an arm 125 to 150 feet

long, which conveyed gravel and cobbles from the

barge to deposit them behind the barge. (R. 64, 66.)

The dredge in operation scooped up all the material

above bedrock with the scoops at the end of its digging

2 Cobbles are rounded stones from 4 to 12 inches in diam-

eter. (R. 127-128.)

k.



ladder and conveyed the material to the barge. (R.

65, 87-89.) There, the aggregates were tumbled in

a trammel, a cylinderical rotating perforated screen,

in which they were washed and screened to separate

the small particles of gold and sand from the un-

wanted gravel and cobbles. (R. 65, 88-89.) The gravel

and cobbles were then conveyed 150 feet backward to

the end of the stacking arm and dumped. (R. 87, 88,

96-100.) Quicksilver separated the gold from the fine

sand with which it had passed through the trammel

screen and the sand was discharged into the pond

immediately behind the barge. (R. 65, 88-89, 91, 96-

100.) Thus, the gravel and cobbles were moved from

their original position at any given point on the prop-

erty some 300 to 350 feet while the sand from the

same place was moved about 200 to 225 feet. (R.

64, 91, 92, 96-97, 98.) The dredge dug its way about

the property by displacing the material in front of it

and depositing it behind. (R. 66, 85, 86, 89-90.) The

sand was discharged closest to the machine while the

cobbles and gravel were later deposited on top as the

dredger moved forward. (R. 66, 89-90, 118.) Since

the voids in the gravel and cobbles deposited by the

dredger were not filled with sand as in their natural

state, the volume or "swell" of the discharged aggre-

gate was 35 to 40 percent greater than it had been in

the natural state. (R. 66, 96.)

The cross section of property which has been

worked by a dredger of this sort is bed rock, covered

by a layer of sand which in turn is covered by a layer

of gravel and cobbles with no covering of topsoil.



The dredge's function was one of separation and

displacement rather than crushing or grinding of the

aggregates it dug. No chemicals were added to the

aggregate. (R. 65, 91.)

The deposits remaining after the dredge had

worked a property are customarily called a tailing

pile. (R. 66, 114, 117.)

As noted above, the taxpayer purchased these

dredger tailings. It dug them from the place in which

the dredging operation deposited them with draglines

and hauled them to its plant for processing. (R. 66,

125.) At the plant the sand, gravel and cobbles were

processed into the kinds of rock and sand products

which the taxpayer sells.' (R. 66-67, 125-127.)

The taxpayer's processing operations differ for

dredged and natural aggregate materials. With na-

tural materials sand and rock are mixed, but with

dredged materials they have been separated. (R. 67,

130-131, 134.)

On its 1958 income tax return the taxpayer claimed

a percentage depletion deduction of 5 percent on the

material from the three properties. The Commissioner

disallowed the deduction and the taxpayer petitioned

the Tax Court. (R. 6, 14-15, 67.) The court decided

the taxpayer was entitled to the deduction. (R. 55.)

The Commissioner petitioned for this review of that

decision. (R. 56-58.)

* The taxpayer sells concrete sand, plaster sand of various

sorts, pea gravel used for driveways, crushed rock for high-

way use, concrete aggregate, septic drain rock, crushed rock

for making concrete blocks and turkey grits, sand for to-

mato seed beds, and rock for fill material. (R. 54, 67.)



SPECIFICATION OF ERRORS RELIED UPON

The Tax Court erred

—

1. In finding that the aggregates taken by the tax-

payer from three properties in 1958 were natural

deposits. (R. 67.)

2. In concluding that the taxpayer is entitled to a

percentage depletion deduction on rock, sand and

gravel which it removed from property that had al-

ready been dredge-mined for gold. (R. 68-70.)

3. In failing to hold that the aggregates were taken

from the waste or residue of prior mining (a matter

which the court did not discuss).

4. In failing to hold that the taxpayer was the

purchaser of waste or residue or of rights to extract

mineral therefrom and therefore expressly prohibited

from obtaining a percentage depletion allowance un-

der Section 613 of the Internal Revenue Code 1954

(a matter which the court did not discuss).

5. In entering decision in favor of the taxpayer and

failing to enter decision in favor of the Commissioner.

(R. 55.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The 1954 Code allows percentage depletion in

the case of "mines and other natural deposits." The

term ''mines" (and by statutory inference, "other

natural deposits") is specifically defined to include

"waste or residue of prior mining" but with an im-

portant exception, i.e., that worked by a purchaser of

such waste or residue or of the right to extract min-

eral therefrom. Without discussing this provision,

the Tax Court found that the aggregates taken from

three properties by the taxpayer were "natural de-
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posits" and held that the taxpayer was entitled to

percentage depletion on them.

2. The term "mines and other natural deposits"

has been in the statute for many years, but prior to

the 1954 Code the term "waste or residue of prior

mining" did not appear. Nevertheless, questions arose

as to whether waste and residue such as tailings piles

and ore dumps from prior mining operations could be

the subject of a depletion allowance by persons other

than the original miners who later extracted minerals

from the waste. Several courts, including this one,

considered the problem. The issue in those cases was

whether such waste or residue deposits were included

in the statutory term "mines and other natural de-

posits." The appellate courts uniformly held they

were not.

The decisions outline the tests for determining

whether a mineral deposit comes within the term

"mines and other natural deposits." In sum, they

indicate that a natural deposit did not include a tail-

ings dump deposited on the surface of the land result-

ing from residue of ore that had been severed and

milled; that natural deposits cannot be artificially

created or result from prior mining; and that to be

a natural deposit, the material must be in its natural

location, in its natural state and unrefined by the

removal of any materials. The taxpayer's aggregates

deposits do not fit these judicial tests, and do not

come within the statutory term "other natural de-

posits."

3. The same decisions which deal with whether

waste or residue are natural deposits also consider



what constitutes waste and residue. They show that

tailings, ore which has previously been worked, are

residue and waste material; and that waste is ma-

terial thrown aside and discarded from prior mining

operations. The aggregates which the taxpayer ex-

tracted were found by the Tax Court to be tailings

from the dredging operations. Such aggregates were

both waste and residue of the prior gold mining

operations. They thus fall directly within the statu-

tory term "waste or residue of prior mining opera-

tions."

4. The Code, by definition, excludes from the per-

centage depletion provisions a "purchaser of * * *

waste or residue or of the rights to extract ores or

minerals therefrom." The taxpayer was such a pur-

chaser. Each of the agreements under which it oper-

ated during the taxable year in question provides that

the owner of the aggregates sold them to the tax-

payer, either for a lump sum or on the basis of

amounts extracted. The taxpayer is therefore not

entitled to a percentage depletion allowance.

5. The Tax Court's finding that the aggregates

were "natural deposits" is not binding on this Court.

In making that finding, the Tax Court failed to apply

the proper test of "natural deposits" and compounded

its error by failing to recognize and apply the legis-

lative intent with respect to the waste or residue of

prior mining. Moreover, even if the court had not

erred as a matter of law, its finding that the aggre-

gates were natural deposits, and thus subject to per-

centage depletion, would be clearly erroneous.
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ARGUMENT

The Tax Court Erred In Holding That the Taxpayer Is

Entitled To a Percentage Depletion Allowance Under
Sections 611 and 613 of the Internal Revenue Code of

1954 On Tailings of Sand, Gravel and Cobbles Remain-
ing from Gold Dredge Mining Operations

A. Introduction

Section 611(a) of the 1954 Code (Appendix A,

infra), permits a deduction for depletion in the case

of "mines, oil and gas wells, other natural deposits,

and timber." Section 613(a) (Appendix A, infra)

requires that in the case of "mines, wells, and other

natural deposits" the depletion deduction is to be de-

termined on the basis of a percentage of income from

the property. The phrase "other natural deposits"

(emphasis supplied) in both sections demonstrates

statutory recognition of the obvious, i.e., that "mines"

are a natural deposit, but that they are a specific

kind of natural deposit. Stated another way, the

Code says, in effect, that all mines are natural de-

posits, but that not all natural deposits are necessarily

mines.

Section 611(a) goes on to provide a specific defini-

tion of "mines." It states that, for purposes of the

depletion deduction, the term "mines" includes "de-

posits of waste or residue," but only if the extraction

of ores from such deposits is treated as mining under

Section 613(c) (Appendix A, infra). Section 613

(c), relating to percentage depletion, expressly pro-

vides that mining includes the extraction of ores or

minerals from the waste or residue of prior mining

"by mine owners or operators" but that this does not
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include any such extraction "by a purchaser of such

waste or residue or of the rights to extract ores or

minerals therefrom." ^

The Tax Court held (R. 67) that the "aggregates

taken from the * * * [three] properties * * * were

natural deposits that were mined by * * * [the tax-

payer]." It did not consider whether the taxpayer

was a purchaser of waste or residue. Since the

court did not reach the purchaser question, it must

necessarily have held (although it did not specifically

say so) that the taxpayer's aggregates were "other

natural deposits" separate and distinct from "mines"

(and from "waste or residue").

We believe it is clear, and will show, that (1) the

taxpayer's aggregates were not "other natural de-

posits"; (2) they were "waste or residue of prior

mining"; and (3) the taxpayer was a purchaser of

such waste or residue. In the final part of our brief

we will point out why the Tax Court's finding that

the aggregates were natural deposits is not binding

on this Court.

B. The taxpayer's aggregates deposits were not "other

natural deposits" within the meaning of that term
in Sections 611 and 613

Under Sections 23 (m) and 114(b) (4) of the 1939

Code, as amended (26 U.S.C. 1952 ed.. Sees. 23 and

114) (the predecessors of Sections 611 and 613 of

the 1954 Code) percentage depletion was allowed in

the case of "mines and other natural deposits." Ques-

^ A more extensive discussion of the applicable statutory

provisions is undertaken at a later point in this brief.
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tions arose as to whether waste and residue, such

as tailings piles and ore dumps from prior mining

operations, could be the subject of depletion allow-

ances by persons (other than the original miners)

who later extracted minerals from the waste/ Sev-

eral courts considered the problem. The issue in

those cases was whether such waste or residue was

included in the statutory term ^'mines and other

natural deposits."

The judicial exploration of the statutory meaning

of the term "other natural deposits" began with a

decision of the Tenth Circuit, Atlas Milling Co. v.

Jones, 115 F. 2d 61, certiorari denied, 312 U.S. 686.

There, an underground miner brought lead-bearing

ore to the surface, crushed it, removed the concen-

trates and dumped the partially denuded residue in a

tailing pile. Later another party came on the land

reworked the tailings by a new process and extracted

the same material from them. The court concluded

that the tailings were not a mine or other natural de-

posit within the meaning of the statute. It explained

its conclusion by saying (p. 63)

:

A "mine" is an excavation in the earth from

which ores, coal, or other mineral substances are

removed by digging or other mining methods.
* * * Mining connotes the removal of minerals

from a natural deposit. It does not embrace the

re-working of mineral dumps artificially deposit-

ed from the residue remaining after the ore

^ The 1939 Code did not contain specific reference to "waste

or residue."
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has been milled and concentrates removed there-

from.

* * * *

While tailings deposited on the surface of

land may become appurtenant to the land, they

in no true sense become a mine.

We are of the opinion that the word ''mines"

as used in § 23 [the predecessor of Section 611]
* * * is limited to natural deposits and does not

include a tailings dump deposited on the surface

of the land, consisting of the residue of ore that

has been severed and milled.

This Court first considered the problem directly

"

in Consolidated Chollar G. <f S. M. Co. v. Commis-

sioner, 133 F. 2d 440. There, residue from gold

mines had been dumped on property other than that

on which the mines were located.^ No ore had been

extracted from the residue. The taxpayer acquired

the ore dumps some years after mining in the adja-

cent mines had ceased. The taxpayer began mining

the ore from the tailing piles and claimed a depletion

deduction. This Court disallowed the deduction, point-

ing out that even if the ore dumps could be regarded

as a mine (p. 441) "they are made by man and not

by nature" and therefore were not "other natural

deposits."

In Hoban v. Viley, 204 F. 2d 459, this Court again

^ See Commissioner v. Kennedy Min. & M. Co., 125 F. 2d

399 (C.A. 9th).

^ A somewhat more complete statement of the facts ap-

pears in the opinion of the lower court, Consolidated Chollar

Gould & Savage Mining Co. v. Commissioner, 46 B.T.A. 241.
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considered whether mine tailings were "natural de-

posits." Mine tailings had been dumped into a stream

and deposited by it below the mines. A partnership

acquired rights to mine the tailings and claimed a

depletion deduction, arguing that the tailings, which

had been moved and integrated by the action of a

stream for 36 years, were a deposit which was a

mine or natural deposit. This Court again denied

the deduction saying (p. 461)

:

The only natural phenomenon contributing to

the creation of the deposit was the action of

floods in carrying the tailings downstream * * *.

* * * *

We * * * are of the opinion that the word
"mines" or "natural deposits" as used in [the

predecessor of Sections 611 and 613] * * * is

limited to natural deposits, and does not include

tailings severed from mines not owned by the

taxpayer, and which are thereafter deposited on

the earth's surface.

Contra: Cordell v. Scofield (W.D. Tex.), decided

May 27, 1958 (1 A.F.T.R. 2d 1853).

Other Courts of Appeals have followed the trail as-

sayed by the Atlas, Consolidated and Hoban cases.

Thus, in Chicago Mines Co. v. Commissioner, 164 F.

2d 785, 787, certiorari denied, 333 U.S. 881, the

Tenth Circuit denied a depletion deduction arising

from the reworking of a mine dump and said (p.

787):

Mining * * * connotes the removal of minerals

from a natural deposit and does not include the

reworking of mineral dumps from the surface of
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the earth artificially created and resulting from
mining operations.

In Kohinoor Coal Co. v. Commissioner, 171 F. 2d 880,

885 (C.A. 3d), certiorari denied, 337 U.S. 924, the

court held that a taxpayer who had rights to the

waste dumps from a coal mine ''did not [have] * * *

any rights to * * * the natural deposits of the coal,"

and added, ''refuse banks * * * are not a natural

mineral deposit." See Turkey Run Fuels v. United

States, 243 F. 2d 147, 149-150; and see pp. 152, 154

(dissent) (C.A. 3d).

The most recent case to hold that tailings and

dumps are not natural deposits is Soil Builders, Inc.

V. United States, 277 F. 2d 570 (C.A. 5th). The

mining processes engaged in there were quite similar

to those in this case. There, the original mining

process consisted of digging hard rock phosphate

from the ground and tumbling and washing it over

a screen to remove unwanted matter. The material

which passed through the screen, sand, clay and small

colloidal phosphate particles, was discharged into the

graund or into streams. The colloidal phosphate

settled from a quarter to a half a mile from the

mining activity. Some years later, it was found that

the accumulated colloidal phosphate had commercial

value. It was mined and depletion claimed. The court

held that the water-deposited colloidal phosphate was

not a natural deposit. It said (p. 573)

:

The colloidal phosphate not only is not in its

natural location; it is not even in its natural

state. In effect, it is a refined product, refined
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by the removal from it of all sand (silica oxide)

and non-phosphate clay. The refinement process

and the removal process v^ere one and the same.

By this process a deposit was undoubtedly made,

but it was not a natural deposit; it was man-
made.

These several cases outline the tests for determin-

ing whether a mineral deposit comes within the term

''mines and other natural deposits." In sum, the Atlas

Milling case first indicated that a natural deposit did

not include a tailings dump deposited on the surface

of the land resulting from a residue of ore that had

been severed and milled. This Court's Consolidated

case added that ''other natural deposits" cannot be

made by man rather than by nature. Later, in its

Hoban opinion, in the excerpts quoted above, this

Court reaffirmed these rules. Chicago Mines said the

deposit could not be artificially created or result from

prior mining. Finally, the Soil Builders case pointed

out that the material must be in its natural location,

in its natural state and unrefined by the removal of

any minerals.

The taxpayer's aggregates deposits do not fit the

judicial definitions of "other natural deposits." The

deposits remaining after the dredge had worked the

property were customarily called tailings piles. (R.

66, 114, 117.) The dredging process severed the

nature-deposited gold-bearing aggregates from the

ground and separated the sand and gold from the

gravel and cobbles. The gold was removed from the

sand and the sand, gravel and cobbles thus refined

were deposited by the dredger on the surface of the
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land. (R. 87-89, 96-100.) The material, when de-

posited, was not in its natural location. Not only had

it been moved about 200 to 350 feet from where it

had been deposited in nature, but the various com-

ponents of the aggregates were not deposited to-

gether. That is, while any one of the scoops on the

forward ladder arm might dig a cubic yard of sand,

gravel, cobbles and free gold in varying quantities,

the sand was discharged at the end of the barge into

the pond, some 225 feet from where it had been dug

while the gravel and cobbles were simultaneously de-

posited at the end of the stacking ladder about 300

to 350 feet from where they were dug. The gold,

of course, was not replaced on the surface at all. (R.

64, 66, 87-92, 97-100.) Nor were the aggregates de-

posited in their natural state. In place as a natural

alluvial deposit, the aggregates were intermingled

with sand, gravel and free gold filling the voids be-

tween the cobbles. Over the layer of aggregates was

an over-burden of topsoil and vegetation. The dredge

deposited sand and soil (intermingled as they had

not been in nature) in a layer on top of bedrock;

gravel and cobbles were then dropped in a separate

layer on top of the sand without fine particles filling

the voids between the larger ones: there was no gold

present; and the depth of the aggregate above bed-

rock had been increased by about 40 percent. (R. 63-

66, 89-90, 96-100, 118.) A further indication of the

artificial nature of the post-dredging aggregate de-

posits on the properties the taxpayer worked is the

testimony as to the differing processing which the

taxpayer was required to undertake with natural
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materials and the dredged materials. (R. 130-131,

134.) Under the tests established by the decisions,

contrary to the holding of the Tax Court, the tax-

payer's aggregates were artificial deposits resulting

from prior mining and not ''other natural deposits."

Atlas Milling Co. v. Jones, supra; Consolidated

Chollar G. d S. M. Co. v. Commissioner, supra; Hoban

V. Viley, supra; Chicago Mines Co. v. Commissioner,

supra; Kohinoor Coal Co. v. Commissioner, supra;

Soil Builders, Inc. v. United States, supra.

The Tax Court believed this case to be indistin-

guishable from Pacific Cement <f Aggregates, Inc. v.

Commissioner, 31 T.C. 136. We respectfully submit

this analysis is incorrect. We have pointed out above

the elements which courts, including this one, have

found to indicate that a deposit is not a natural de-

posit. It is on precisely the most important of those

points that this case differs from Pacific Cement.

Thus, as indicated above, the dredger droppings were

customarily called tailings piles. The Atlas case said

tailings were not a natural deposit. In Pacific Ce-

ment, however, there is no indication of what the

dredger tailings were. In fact, in Pacific Cement the

Atlas case was distinguished on the ground that in

Atlas (31 T.C, p. 139) ''there actually were tail-

ings." See Hoban v. Viley, supra. Further, while

here the evidence shows that the dredger dug the al-

luvium, and transported selected portions of it over

300 feet, in Pacific Cement the dredge was about 100

feet long and the material dredged was dumped into

the pond (31 T.C, p. 140) "in substantially the same

place where it had picked it up." Finally, unlike this
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case, in Pacific Cement there was no showing that the

aggregates were deposited separately, in different

locations and in different stratification than they

occurred in nature. On the contrary, the Pacific

Cement opinion states that while gravel and sand

were separated on the dredge, after the gold was
extracted (p. 138), ''the gravel and sand were then

intermingled and dumped back into the pond." Cf.

Soil Builders, Inc. v. United States, supra. Quite

apart from the correctness of the Pacific Cement

opinion, we submit that it cannot be said here, as it

was there, that when the dredging was completed

(31 T.C., p. 141), "they were the identical aggregates

which existed when the process had been commenced."

Here, they were not. Therefore, they could not be

"other natural deposits."

C. The taxpayer's aggregates were "waste or residue

of prior mining" as that term is used in Section

613.

The taxpayer's aggregates were "waste or residue of

prior mining" as that term is used in Sections 611 and

613. Although that phrase did not appear in the 1939

Code, courts had occasion to consider what constituted

waste and residue in developing a definition of the

term "mines and other natural resources." Thus, in

Atlas Milling Co. v. Jones, supra, the court indicated

that tailings from mineral production were residue.

In Chicago Mines Co. v. Commissioner, supra, the

court described tailings as waste material. In Com-

missioner V. Kennedy Min. & M. Co., 125 F. 2d 399,

400, note 2, this Court described tailings as ores
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which had previously been worked. See also Hoban

V. Viley, supra. In addition, in Kohinoor Coal Co. v.

Commissioner, supra, the court said that a waste

dump was material (p. 881) '^thrown aside" by prior

mining operations.

When the three properties here were dredged for

gold, the gold alone was extracted and the remaining

aggregates were both residue " and waste '" of the

gold mining operation. As we have pointed out above,

the aggregates discharged after having been worked

by the dredger were customarily called tailings, the

generic term for waste or residue from mining

activities.'^ This Court's Consolidated opinion held

that the mere severance and piling of ore-bearing

rock, without the extraction of a mineral, was suffi-

cient to make the mine tailings residue. Here, the

case is stronger because the alluvium deposits were

not only severed from their natural state and loca-

tion, but gold was extracted from the ore-bearing

aggregates.

^ Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary (2d ed.) defines

"residue" as:

1. That which remains after a part is taken, sepa-

rated or designated; remnant, remainder.

^° Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, supra, defines

"waste" as that which is

—

Thrown away as worthless after being used or spent;

" Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary, supra, defines

"tailings" as:

1. Refuse material separated as residue in the prepa-

ration of various products, as in * * * treating ores.
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Although the Tax Court did not independently

characterize the taxpayer's aggregates as not being

"waste or residue", it quoted extensively from its

earlier opinion in Pacific Cement & Aggregates, Inc.

V. Commissioner, supra, which stated that in that

case (p. 140) "there is nothing that resembles a

dump or residue." In Pacific Cement the Tax Court

reasoned that the dredger tailings could not be residue

because there had been no prior mining of the prop-

erty for aggregates. This represents an erroneous

view of the law. The Court of Appeals decisions cited

above did not develop a concept of waste or residue in

relation to activity in extracting a particular ^nineral.

Instead, they held that waste or residue was the

unwanted by-product of prior mineral production.

The Tax Court's Pacific Cement case, in holding

that the dredger droppings there were not waste

or residue because they had never been mined for

aggregates, is directly in conflict with the same

court's earlier decision in Consolidated Chollar Gould

& Savage Mining Co. v. Commissioner, 46 B.T.A. 241,

affirmed, 133 F. 2d 440 (C.A. 9th). In its opinion in

Consolidated, the Board rejected (p. 245) as "im-

material" the taxpayer's argument that an ore dump

was a mine (and thus a natural deposit) because the

dump had never been worked for the kind of ore

which was extracted from it by the mining operation

in question. We submit that the Consolidated reason-

ing is correct. Clearly, whether a deposit is waste

or residue is to be determined in relation to the

previous mining activity, not in relation to the
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current activity alone as the Tax Court held in

Pacific Cement. For the same reason, it is not nec-

essary that the past and present mining activities be

the same.

The 1954 Code makes apparent that whether or not

a given deposit has been previously mined for the

type of mineral being mined is not material to the

question of whether the deposit is waste or residue,

since the Code makes no such distinction. On the con-

trary, it speaks of "waste or residue of 'prior mining"

(emphasis added) without limitation as to the min-

eral produced by either the prior or current ex-

traction processes. Section 613(c)(3). The Com-

mittee Reports relating to Sections 611 and 613 of the

1954 Code also contain no intimation that any dis-

tinction exists as to waste or residue in relation to

continuity of the production of a specific kind of

mineral. See, e.g., S. Rep. No. 1622, 83d Cong., 2d

Sess., p. 329 (3 U.S.C. Cong. & Adm. News (1954)

4621, 4970).

D. The taxpayer is a "purchaser of * * * waste or resi-

due or of the rights to extract * * * minerals there-

from" and as such is specifically disqualified under

Section 613 from the depletion deduction it seeks

1. As noted, the 1954 Code makes specific provision

for "deposits of waste or residue" from prior mining.

Sections 611(a) and 613(c). The purpose of this

provision is to "extend percentage depletion at the ap-

propriate rates to mine owners for minerals recovered

from the residue that had accumulated from their

mine * * * to encourage the production of minerals

from these accumulations as well as from the mine it-
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self." H. Rep. No. 1337, 83d Cong., 2d Sess., p. 59

(3 U.S.C. Cong. & Adm. News (1954) 4017, 4085).

"The effect" of the change is to extend depletion ''to

the extraction of ores or minerals from waste or resi-

due of prior mining" on the theory that a waste pile

is a ''part of the property from which it was ex-

tracted." Id. p. A 183 (3 U.S.C. Cong. & Adm. News

(1954) 4322-4323).

The Code carries out this purpose by a series of

involuted definitions under which ( 1 ) mining includes

the extraction of minerals from the waste or residue

of prior mining (2) except as to any such extraction

of the mineral or ore "by a purchaser of such waste

or residue or of the rights to extract ores or minerals

therefrom." '^ This effectively limits percentage de-

^- Section 611(a) allows a deduction for depletion "In the

case of mines, * * * other natural deposits and timber." The
section defines the term "mines," for purposes of the deple-

tion deduction as "includ[ing] deposits of waste or residue,

the extraction of ores or minerals from which is treated as

mining under section 613(c)." Section 613(c)(2) defines

what is treated as mining to include "the extraction of the

ores or minerals from the ground." That phrase is in turn

defined by Section 613(c)(3). The first sentence or sub-

section (c) (3) says that the phrase "extraction of the ores

or minerals from the gi^ound" includes the "extraction by

mine owners * * * of * * * minerals from the waste or resi-

due of prior mining." The second sentence of subsection

(c)(3), however, says that inclusion of "waste or residue"

in the phrase "extraction of the ores or minerals from the

ground" (which is accomplished by the first sentence) "shall

not apply to any such extraction of the mineral or ore by a

purchaser of such waste or residue or of the rights to extract

ores or minerals therefrom." Thus, if the taxpayer is a pur-

chaser of waste or residue, the extraction of such waste or

residue, by definition, is not treated as mining in Section
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pletion on minerals extracted from waste or residue

to the owner or operator who, in mining, created the

waste or residue. As to such a party, the waste or

residue is considered a part of the mine and the ex-

traction of mineral therefrom a continuation of the

original mining activity. But the situation is different

as to other parties, whether they purchase the waste

or residue directly or only ''the rights to extract ores

or minerals" from the waste or residue. Thus, even a

lessee is not entitled to percentage depletion on the

mineral extracted from waste or residue.

The natural construction of the statutory language

is in accord with the Congressional intent already

mentioned and, moreover, the legislative reports fur-

ther emphasize the contrast between the original

miner and any other party, referred to as a pur-

chaser. H. Rep. No. 1337, supra, p. A 186 (3 U.S.C.

Cong. & Adm. News (1954) 4325) explains: ''No

depletion allowance shall be permitted * * * in respect

of the working of waste or residue by a person other

than the mine owner or operator, such as the pur-

chaser of the waste or residue or of the rights to

extract ores or minerals therefrom." See also S. Rep.

No. 1622, supra, pp. 79, 333 (3 U.S.C. Cong. & Adm.

News (1954) 4712, 4973-4974). The Reports further

explain, "Thus where a mine owner is engaged in the

mining and sale of ores or minerals * * * produced

by him from waste * * * [from the original mine

613(c), and therefore the deposits of such waste or residue

are not "mines" within the definition of that word in Section

611(a) and so are not deposits which are subject to depletion

within the Code.
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workings], the gross income from" the waste forms a

part of the gross income from the property. S. Rep.

No. 1622, supra, p. 329 (3 U.S.C. Cong. & Adm.
News (1954) 4970). But "this provision is not ap-

plicable to any such extraction of the mineral or ore

by the purchaser * * * [and] the term 'purchaser'

includes a person who acquires such waste or residue

in a taxable transaction." S. Rep. No. 1622, supra,

p. 333 (3 U.S.C. Cong. & Adm. News, supra, pp.

4973-4974).

Thus, percentage depletion is permitted in relation

to waste and residue only when the mining is done by

the owner or operator who originally mined the prop-

erty (except for tax-free successors in interest)" on

the theory that the mining of tailings and waste is

but a continuation and completion of the original

mining process. See Kohinoor v. Commissioner,

supra; Treasury Regulations on Income Tax (1954

Code), Section 1.613-3 (f).

2. There can be no doubt that the taxpayer was a

purchaser either of the waste or residue as such or

of the rights to extract ores or minerals therefrom.

Whether the agreements involved here were sales con-

tracts or leases is immaterial. It is sufficient that the

taxpayer was a "purchaser" within the meaning of

the statute.

The agreement under which it operated the

Featherston property recited (R. 34-35)

:

Whereas, as a result of the dredging opera-

tions by * * * [the dredging company], sand and

^^See S. Rep. No. 1622, 88cl Cong., 2d Sess., p. 331 (3

U.S.C. Cong. & Adm. News (1954) 4621, 4973-4974).
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gravel have been made available, which sand

and gravel * * * [the taxpayer] desires to pur-

chase to the extent herein described.

* * * *

2. * * * [the taxpayer] agrees to pay annual-

ly to * * * [the dredging company] for a mini-

mum of 100,000 tons of said sand and gravel,

whether or not said sand and gravel are actually

mined or removed.

The taxpayer operated on the Putnam Ranch under

two agreements. The first, entitled (R. 39) "Option

to Purchase Gravel," provided in part (R. 39-40)—
L. E. Putnam and Edna Putnam Albertson * * *

agree to give to * * * [the taxpayer] an Ex-

clusive option to purchase sand, gravel and rock

from the Dredger operations on the property

Payment for materials to be made monthly

based upon the quantities removed by the * * *

[taxpayer].

The second agreement on the Putnam Ranch provided,

in part (R. 41-42)—
the parties hereto are desirous of continuing
* * * [the first] agreement and making certain

modifications thereof;

I* "!• I" •!•

1. * * * that * * * [the taxpayer] has pur-

chased concrete aggregate material situate on

adjoining properties ;
* * * the * * * [Putnams]

shall receive from [the taxpayer] the cash sum
to be in full and final payment for all royalties
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to which * * * [the Putnams] would otherwise

be entitled for concrete aggregates excavated

3. * * * [the taxpayer] shall continue to pay
for such materials so removed the maximum
amount provided for in the [first] agreement
* * * or a minimum sum of $1,000.00 per year,

whichever amount is greater * * *.

The taxpayer operated on the Wright property under

an agreement entitled an "Agreement of Sale" which

provided, in part (R. 43-44)—
This agreement of sale is * * * entered into

* * * between Percy F. Wright and Natalie R.

Wright, his wife, (hereinafter termed The Ven-

dors) * * * and Claude C. Wood Company, (here-

inafter termed The Purchaser) * * *

Whereas, The Vendors now own * * * land
* * * on which land, in years past, mining
operations have been conducted, and

Whereas, as a result of said mining opera-

tions, there is now present on the surface of this

land a quantity of rock, gravel, sand and dredger

tailings, and

* * Sf! *

Now, Therefore, the Vendors and the Pur-

chaser make and enter into this agreement of

sale of the said rock, gravel, sand and dredger

tailings * * *.

Thus, it appears that this taxpayer is a "purchaser

* * * of "waste or residue or of the rights to extract

ores or minerals therefrom" as that term is used in
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Section 613(c)(3). The taxpayer did not own the

three properties and it did not do the "prior mining"

for gold which resulted in the original displacement

of the rock, sand and gravel. It is, therefore, a party

to whom the expanded definition of "mines" (and,

inferentially, "natural deposits") does not apply and

so it cannot deduct percentage depletion on "waste

and residue" under Sections 611 and 613. The Tax

Court erred in holding that it was entitled to the

depletion deduction.

E. The Tax Court's finding that the aggregates were
natural deposits is not binding on this Court

The Tax Court found, purportedly as a fact (R.

67), that "The aggregates taken from the Putnam,

Wright and Featherston properties in the year in

question were natural deposits that were mined by

petitioner." We point out, however, that this is not

a case where the Court's scope of review is limited

to determining whether a finding is supported by the

evidence. Such a factual inquiry arises only where

the trial court has applied the proper legal standard

established by the statute (United States v. Wagner

Quarries Co., 260 F. 2d 907 (C.A. 6th), as this Court

has often recognized (see, e.g., Riddell v. Victorville

Lime Rock Co., 292 F. 2d 427; Riddell v. California

Portland Cement Co., 297 F. 2d 345).

Here the Tax Court plainly failed to apply the

proper legal standard, and therefore erred as a matter

of law. In the first place, the Tax Court did not

apply the proper test of "natural deposits"—as evi-

denced by the numerous cases in point we discussed
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earlier. Secondly, there is no direct indication that

the Tax Court considered the statutoiy provisions

relating to waste and residue and their concomitant

limitation in relation to purchasers thereof or of

rights in respect thereof. Assuming that it did and

nevertheless held that the taxpayer is entitled to a

percentage depletion allowance on the ground that

the aggregates were natural deposits rather than

waste or residue, the court compounded its error with

respect to the meaning of "natural deposits" by fail-

ing to recognize and apply the legislative intent with

respect to the waste or residue of prior mining.

Under the circumstances, the Tax Court's finding

that the aggregates were natural deposits does not

confine the issue to a factual inquiry. Indeed, there

is no conflict in the evidence; the only question is

whether the Tax Court correctly applied the law to

the facts. The Tax Court's finding that the aggre-

gates were natural deposits would, we believe, be

clearly erroneous even if viewed from a purely factual

standpoint.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, the decision of the Tax

Court is incorrect and should be reversed.
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APPENDIX A

Internal Revenue Code of 1954:

Sec. 611. Allowance of Deduction for De-

pletion.

(a) General Rule.—In the case of mines, oil

and gas wells, other natural deposits, and timber,

there shall be allowed as a deduction in com-

puting taxable income a reasonable allowance for

depletion and for depreciation of improvements,

according to the peculiar conditions in each case;

such reasonable allowance in all cases to be made
under regulations prescribed by the Secretary

or his delegate. For purposes of this part, the

term "mines" includes deposits of waste or resi-

due, the extraction of ores or minerals from
which is treated as mining under section 613(c).

In any case in which it is ascertained as a result

of operations or of development work that the

recoverable units are greater or less than the

prior estimate thereof, then such prior estimate

(but not the basis for depletion) shall be revised

and the allowance under this section for subse-

quent taxable years shall be based on such re-

vised estimate.

(26 U.S.C. 1958 ed.. Sec. 611.)

Sec. 613. Percentage Depletion.

(a) General Rule,—In the case of the mines,

wells, and other natural deposits listed in sub-

section (b), the allowance for depletion under
section 611 shall be the percentage, specified in

subsection (b), of the gross income from the

property excluding from such gross income an
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amount equal to any rents or royalties paid or

incurred by the taxpayer in respect of the prop-

erty. Such allowance shall not exceed 50 per-

cent of the taxpayer's taxable income from the

property (computed without allowance for de-

pletion). In no case shall the allowance for de-

pletion under section 611 be less than it would

be if computed without reference to this section.

* * * *

(c) Definition of Gross Income froTn Property.

—For purposes of this section

—

(1) Gross income from the property.—
The term ''gross income from the property"

means, in the case of a property other than

an oil or gas well, the gross income from
mining.

(2) Mining.—The term "mining" in-

cludes not merely the extraction of the ores

or minerals from the ground but also the

ordinary treatment processes normally ap-

plied by mine owners or operators in order

to obtain the commercially marketable min-

eral product or products, and so much of

the transportation of ores or minerals
j

(whether or not by common carrier) from
the point of extraction from the ground to

the plants or mills in which the ordinary

treatment processes are applied thereto as

is not in excess of 50 miles unless the Sec- j

retary or his delegate finds that the physical '

and other requirements are such that the

ore or mineral must be transported a greater

distance to such plants or mills.
j

(3) Extraction of the ores or minerals ji

from the ground.—The term "extraction of
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the ores or minerals from the ground" in-

cludes the extraction by mine owners or

operators of ores or minerals from the

waste or residue of prior mining. The pre-

ceding sentence shall not apply to any such

extraction of the mineral or ore by a pur-

chaser of such waste or residue or of the

rights to extract ores or minerals therefrom.

(26 U.S.C. 1958 ed., Sec. 613.)
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APPENDIX B

SCHEDULE OF EXHIBITS IDENTIFIED, OFFERED,
AND RECEIVED IN EVIDENCE:

Identified Offered Received
Eecord Record Record

Exhibit Description Page Page Page

Joint

1-A Tax Return 19 81 81

2-B Articles of Incor-

poration 19 81 81

3-C Purchase Agreement 19 81 81

4-D Option to Purchase 20 81 81

5-E Purchase Agreement 20 81 81

6-F Agreement of Sale 20 81 81

7-G Schedule 21 81 81

8-H Photograph 51 81 81
9-1 Diagram 51 81 81

10-J Schedule 51 81 81

11-K Schedule 51 81 81

Petitioner's

Photograph 123 12412 124
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No. 18,226.

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT.

MORTON K. LANGE,

Appellant, Cross-Appellee,

vs.

LIBERTY NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY,
Appellee, Cross-Appellant.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the

District of Idaho, Northern Division.

APPELLANT'S REPLY BRIEF.

I.

The December 10, 1956, resolution contemplated tho

complete refinancing of the company, and restoring it to

a condition of solvency, and successful operation, with a

multiple line license, and it was so explained to plaintiff

(Tr. p. 44).

Plaintiff subscribed to the stock under a written agree-

ment which provided that the money would be hold by the

Trustee until sufficient funds had been subscribed to ac-

complish that result. The subscription alone did not au-

thorize the taking- of the money into the Treasury, unless

it was sufficient to provide the minimum capital and to

permit the continued operation.*** Nor did it relieve the

Commissioner of his responsibility to be able to guar-

antee this ])efoi-e he accepted it.

•*• Where possible, a reasonable and equitable interpretation will be
Riven a contract, and not one which will prive one party an unfair ad-

vantage. An absurd result will be avoided. 17 C. J. S. 739. Plaintiff's

correspondence shows that this was not his understanding. See Exh. 21,

Exh. 23 and Exh. 27.



By accopting- tlio nioiioy into the Treasury, the Re-

habilitator impliedly represented and *' guaranteed" that

it \va« sufficient for both purposes above mentioned.*

Mr. Albertson's failure to file the evidence necessary for

the joint control order, plus his correspondence,** plus his

testimony at the trial show that it was sufficient for

neither. His testimony, and defendant's brief (p. 20),

admit that he would not have been able to "absolutely

promise" that the assets and liabilities were in balance

at year end until a "couple of months" later, and until

the claims had run off (Tr. p. 330). A "couple of months"

later, when he could tell, the policy holders surplus had

decreased over $100,000. This, however, the defendant

concealed from the plaintiff for over a year- and one-

half.***

There is no present contention, and there was no testi-
|

mony that plaintiff was a party to any agreement or any

discussion which modified the agreement after it was

signed,! or that the minds of the parties met on a definite
j

modification.tt There is no contention and there was no
\

testimony that there was a modification of the agreement

to permit the acceptance of the money unless all
j

* To promise is to "guarantee". Manuel v. Calestagas Vinyard Co..

61 Pac. (2) 1204; Wright v. Barnard, 248 Fed. 256; McClune v. Central
Trust Co., 165 N. Y. 10, 58 N. E. 777, 26 C. J. S. 1069. He expressly rep- .

resented that it was sufficient to permit the company to operate "during i

the year 1957" by sending plaintiff a copy of Exh. 18. 1

** Exhibits 19, 21, 22, 53, 55, 56, 59.
j

*** Where one who has made a misstatement remains silent after he ',

has learned of his error, he is both morally and legally in the same
'

position as if he had known when his statement was made that it wa8
erroneous. Chelson v. Houston, 84 N. W. 354, 9 N. D. 498; Maxwell Ice

Co. V. Brockett, 116 Atl. 34, 80 N. H. 236; Hush v. Reaugh, 23 Fed. :j

Supp. 646.
I

ji

t Although the agreement is dated December 11, 1956, it was stipu-^

lated that it was signed on January 11, 1957 (P. T. O., p. 19).

tt Kell V. Gross, 171 Fed. (2) 715. A modification must be shown by
j

clear and convincing evidence. Utley v. Donaldson, 94 U. S. 29, 24 L. Ed.

54, and will not be inferred from conduct of doubtful significance. Motor
Parts Co. v. Bendix Home Appliances, 36 Fed. Sup. 649 (Cal.). The ^

burden of proof to establish a modification is on the party asserting it.i|

The Jobshaveu, 270 Fed. 60.
j
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of the above mentioned conditions were met. Nor is

there any present contention that there was a modifica-

tion of either of the conditions subsequent to return the

money to the subscribers if sufficient funds were not

raised by March 15 to permit continued operations, or to

return the balance of the shares unsold to the treasury

for cancellation upon acceptance of the money subscribed

or of the agreement for joint control.

Although each one of the conditions above mentioned

was a material part of the stock subscription agreement,

not a single one of them Avas complied with. Therefore,

even if the agreement was modified, it was not modified in

any manner which would have affected the matters plaintiff

now complains of. Whatever this alleged modification con-

sisted of—and we confess that we cannot tell from de-

fendants evidence what this was—it was wholly immaterial

to this lawsuit.

Defendant says that the modification was necessary to

provide the minimum capital for the defendant to continue

in business after December 31, 1956, in order to avoid

liquidation. The answer to that is that the funds sub-

scribed did not provide the minimum unimpaired capital,

in any event, except on paper.

Furthermore, the evidence does not sustain defendant's

contention that this was the real reason for taking the

money at that time. It was not required under Idaho law

in order to avoid liquidation.*

* Sect. 41-3504 of the Idaho Code contemplates Rehabilitation even
during insolvency. The commissioner has broad discretion whether to

liquidate or rehabilitate. Matter of National Surety Co., 239 App. Div.

490, 268 N. Y. S. 88; Matter of Globe and Rutgers Fire Ins. Co., 149
Misc. 18, 266 N. Y. S. 603. On this point plaintiff testified as follows
(Tr. p. 194):

Q. "You knew that the money had to go into the treasury very
shortly after Dec. 31st or liquidation would follow"?

A. "No, I didn't know that. The thing changed from time to time
a little bit. He first said it would have to be by January 31. Later
he changed it and said that the deadline could be extended to

March 15 to be reflected back to the Dec. 31 financial statement".
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The real requireirient to avoid liquidation was the ur-

gent need to obtain money to pay claims. The evidence

however falls short of showing that plaintiff was advised

of tliis ni-o-cMicy. Ho dcriicMl that he was.***

Defendants real contention is that since plaintiff was

anxious to avoid liquidation, and since it was necessary to

use the money to pay claims to avoid liquidation, plain-

tiff impliedly agreed to the use of the money for that pur-

pose, regardless of all of the other conditions of the agree-

ment. This argument confuses plaintiffs motive with the

actual consideration for the stock subscription.*

Concededly, plaintiff wanted to avoid defendant's
j

liquidation. He knew the financing was minimal and that

further financing was needed to permit ''successful opera-

tions". However this was a conditional subscription, not

a direct sale, and the payment was made to a trustee to

bo held until the conditions were complied with. It does i

not follow that plaintiff would have agreed to subscribe

to this stock under a plan that was less tlian minimal, i

which would have permitted the acceptance of the money

to pay claims, and merely postpone the liquidation for

two months.

Defendant admits that even under its modification theory

the funds subscribed were to have been returned to the

subscribers if sufficient subscriptions were not obtained

by March 15 to permit the continued operation of the

••* Mr. Dolan and Mr. Albertson testified that there was a cash
shortage to pay claims. Neither testified that he or any one else

advised plaintiff thereof. Mr. Dolan testified that it was common knowl-
edge, and that "he was sure" plaintiff was aware of it. See Union
Pacific Ry. Co. v. O'Brien, 16 Sup. Ct. 618, 161 U. S. 451, a witness
cannot say what other witnesses are aware of. This is mere opinion,

and cannot be considered substantial evidence even when uncontra-
dicted. Otis V. S. E. C, 176 Fed. (2) 34, Wichita Falls Ry. Co. v. Holbrook,
50 S. W. (2) 428. Mr. Albertson's first direct mention to plaintiff of

a shortage of cash (Ex. 53) advised that this is to be expected, not this

was to be expected. This implies that plaintiff was not informed of It

before hand.

* Williston, Contracts, Sect. Ill; Williston, Contracts, Sects. 860, 1292;
Klein v. Zeeve, 92 Pac. (2) 877, 1 C. J. S. 1318.
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company. The money tlierefore should have been held in

trust until March 15, and returned immediately thereafter,

when it appeared that sufficient subscriptions had not been

obtained.! The spending of this money as well as the

accepting of it was, therefore, a conversion.*

The Court's findings that the money was turned over to

the defendant "absolutely", ignored the fact that, if so,

plaintiff, under the agreement, thereby and thereupon be-

came a stockholder in the defendant,** also that under

the agreement, the balance of the shares of stock were in

the hands of the Commissioner for one purpose only,

namely to be returned to the Treasury for cancellation, and

the sale thereof to the Becker-Rummel gi'oup was a direct

violation thereof, and absolutely void.***

This very flagrant violation of the escrow agreement

was established by undisputed, stipulated evidence

(P. T. 0. p. 5).**** It was completely ignored by the

trial Court in his findings, and is dismissed by the defend-

ant's brief (p. 23) in this Court with a flippant remark.

t Hulen V. Stuart, 191 Cal. 562, 217 Pac. 750; Wann v. Diablo
Finance Corp., 23 Pac. (2) 303. 132 C. A. 621.

• Grocers, Inc. v. Horstmann, 46 N. W. (2) 254, 233 Minn. 192; First-

hamel v. Campbell, 55 Cal. App. 774, 205 Pac. 25; National Bank of the
Republic v. Price, 234 Pac. 231; Cobbin v. Conklin, 208 Fed. 231; Robert-
eon V. 1st National Bank, 35 Ida. 363, 206 Pac. 689; Barnett v. Williams,
168 So. 583; Porter v. Beha, 8 Fed. (2) 65, affmd. 12 Fed. (2) 513;
Lucas V. Central Missouri Trust Co., 166 S. W. (2) 1053, 350 Mo. 593;
Petroleum Royalties Co. v. Hartford Accident and Indemnity Co., 106

Fed. (2) 440, 124 A. L. R. 1403. Mason v. Lievre, 146 Cal. 582, 78 Pac.
1040; Majors v. Girdner, 159 Pac. 826.

•• As of that moment, title passed, and plaintiff became the owner
of 6,452 shares out of 21,522 outstanding shares, or of an approximate %
interest, Mitchell v. Beekmen, 28 Pac. 110, 64 Cal. 117; Young v. Pedrara
Onyx Co., 192 Pac. 55.

*•• WlUiston on Sales, Section 311. It is a fundamental doctrine of
the law of sales that no one can give what he has not. If the money
was accepted absolutely, the old stockholders' share in the company
was fixed at 2,162 shares, or a 10% interest in the whole. They no
longer owned 38,377 shares to which they could transfer title. Young
V. Pedrara Onyx Co., supra; Hulen v. Stuart, supra; Wann v. Diablo
Finance Corp., supra.

•••• Lumbermens Trust Co. v. Town of Rygate, 61 Fed. (2) 14 (C.
C. A. 9); Home Indemnity Co. v. Standard Accident Ins. Co., 167 Fed.
(2) 919.
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As tlio owner of an appi-oxiiiiate one third interest in

tlie defendant company, plaintiff acquired certain rights

to a proportionate voice in determining to whom such

shares should be sold, and a proportionate voice in the

selection of Directors, who would carry out the policies

which he favored,* and a propoi'tionate voice in what-

ever further refinancing the Commissioner required.

The defendant treated the entire proceeding under the i

December 10, 1956, resolution as void, because the plan fj

was not completed by March 15, 1957. Having so treated

it, the defendant cannot now treat it as having been ef-

fective as to plaintiff, but void as to itself.**

None of the defendant's so-called defenses are appli-

cable to this cause of action.

Plaintiff's specific refusal to sign a waiver and consent

to the sale of this stock until the defendant would get be-

hind the Agency and carry out its commitments, was an

affirmative indication of an intention not to waive his

lights to rescission. It was equivalent to a reservation

of rights.

t

II.

(1) Plaintiff does not predicate a charge of fraud upon

the broken promise alone to provide Green Cards, excess

limits, and expanded coverage. He predicates a charge

of breach of a collateral agreement which was a substan-

tial part of the consideration for the stock subscription

agreement, which breach justified rescission.ft The charge

* In Re National Lock Company, 9 Fed. Supp. 432; Campbell v. Coin
'

Machine Mfg. Co., 188 Pac. 197, 96 Oregon 119; McArthur v. Port of

Havana, 247 Fed. 984.
,

** When a person accepts the benefits of a new contract, he can- |

not maintain that the old contract was in effect. 31 C. J. S. 351; Rich-
|

ardson v. Heslap,, 293 Pac. 168, 109 Cal. App. 440; Menton v. Mitchell,
|

265 Pac. 271 ; Penn Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. Bank of America Trust
I

and Savings Association, 54 Pac. (2) 453, 5 Cal. (2) 288. i

t Woods V. Markwell, 258 Pac. (2) 503. 1

tt Carlton v. St. Vincent Seed Co., 129 Cal. App. 222, 18 Pac. (2) 407;
j

Meeks v. Commonwealth Bonding Co., 187 S. W. 681.



— 7 —

of fraud is predicated on the making of the promises with

intention not to perform. The evidence in support of

tliis charge consisted not only of the promises, and the

failure to perform, but also the inconsequential time lapse

between the making of the promise and the refusal to per-

form; the lack of the pretense at performance, and sub-

sequent conduct and speech showing no intention to per-

form while, leading plaintiff to believe performaance was

forthcoming.**

Defendant's argument that the Agency had Green Cards

most of the time, overlooks the fact that the arrangements

for Green Cards with the Fortune Insurance Company
were bogus arrangements, were recognized by the defend-

ant as such,*** and that it made repeated promises be-

fore, during and after the Rehabilitation to obtain legiti-

mate ones.

The argument that the obtaining of Green Cards was

beyond the defendant's control admits that defendant was

unable to get them. Impossibility of performance is not a

defense to an action for rescission grounded upon breach

of contract.*

(2) Plaintiff was entitled to rely upon Mr. Albertson and

Mr. Chapman.t Plaintiff testified th^t he did rely upon

representations made by Mr. Albertson and Mr. Chap-

man.ft There was no evidence that he did not. Aside

•• Pocatello Security Trust Co. v. Henry. 35 Idaho 821, 206 Pac. 175,

29 A. L. R. 347; McLean v. Southwestern Casualty Ins. Co.. 61 Oklahoma
79, 159 Pac. 660.

••• The use of these bo^s Green Cards by the defendant was a viola-

tion of the principal's duty to protect the agents' reputation. Restate-
ment, Agency, 437.

• Fish V. Valley Bank of Phoenix, 167 Pac. (2) 107; Bridges v. Ingram,
223 Pac. (2) 1051.

"i^ In Detroit Fire and Marine Insurance Co. v. Sargent, 42 Idaho 369,

246 Pac. 311; Watson v. Holden, 79 Pac. 503, 10 Ida.

tt Plaintiff testified (Tr. pp. 165, 166) that he had no knowledge of

the company except for what he was told; that he was told and under-
stood that Mr. Albertson had made an audit of the company; that Mr.
Albertson had the "know-how" that he, plaintiff, did not have, and he
relied on Mr. Albertson and Mr. Chapman's statements.
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IVoni his own cvidoiico he was entitled under the facts of

this case to a piesuniption that it was intended that he

should rely on them*** and that he did rely upon

tliem.*****

The other factors or motives may have influenced plain-

tiff's subscription or that the misrepresentations were not

the sole or predominating force, is innnaterial.**** De-

fendant completely ignores that its false 1954 financial

statement was the original inspiration for plaintiff's

motive to save the company from liquidation.

(3) The representations admittedly (Tr. p, 327) made to

plaintiff were all statements of fact, not opinion, within the

meaning of the law of fraud.*

These statements are actionable even though Mr. Chap-

man and Mr. Albertson believed them to be true at the

time they were made. It is sufficient that they made them

without knowing them to be true.** Mr. Chapman, as Vice

*** Defendant's intention to induce plaintiff to action and to alter his i

position can be inferred from the fact that representations were made
with knowledge that plaintiff could act upon reliance of them. Gagner v.

Bertram, 275 Pac. (2) 15, 48 C. (2) 481; Nathanson v. Murphy, 282

Pac. (2) 174, 132 Cal. App. (2) 363.

***** Where representations have been made in regard to a material
matter, and action has been taken, it will be presumed that the repre-
sentations were relied upon, in the absence of evidence showing the con-
trary. Williston, Contracts, Section 1516.

•*• McDonald v. DePremery, supra; Sheffer v. Rednech, 196 N. E.

864, 291 Mass. 205; Light v. Jacobs, 183 Mass. 206, 66 N. E. 799; Wil-
liston, Contracts. 3rd Edition, Section 1515; Buck v. Leech, 69 Maine i

484; McGrath v. Ct. Scherer Co., 195 N. E. 919, 37 C. J. S. 539; 37 )

C. J. S. 26.
I

• Representations that a company is solvent, or with reference to the ^

condition of its business, or as to its previous earnings, that it is not
indebted at all, or is only indebted to a certain extent, may constitute
actionable fraud, even though the person making them believed them
to be true. 12 Fletcher, Corporation, 5583. Examples of similar represen-
tations may be found in Leary v. Baker, 258 Pac. (2) 1090 (1953);

Burckhardt v. Woods, 12 Pac. (2) 482; Goodin v. Palace Store Co., i

4 Pac. (2) 493; Guaranty Mortgage Co. v. EUison, 239 Pac. 29, Utah'
(1925); Nevada Bank v. San Francisco and Portland National Bank, 59

Fed. 338. The representation that Mr. Albertson had made an audit of ,

the company (Tr. p. 276) was itself a representation. Guaranty Mortgage I

Co. v. Ellison, 239 Pac. 29 (Utah 1925). I

•• Wietzel v. Jukich, 73 Idaho 301, 251 Pac. (2) 542; Turner v. Pern- ii

berton, 221 Pac. 133, 38 Idaho 235.
j
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President, and Mr. Albertson, who advised plaintiff that

he had made an audit (Tr. pp. 165, 166, Ex. 10), had means

of information not open to plaintiff, and the parties were

not dealing on equal terms. Under these circumstances,

even a matter of opinion may amount to an afl&rmation of

fact and should have been construed as a representation

that they knew facts which justified the opinion.*** The

evidence clearly showed that the representations were

false; that as to Mr. Chapman they were known to be

false,* and as to Mr. Albertson that they were at least

made recklessly without knowledge of their truth, and

were, therefore, not honestly believed.**

Although concededly, Mr. Albertson had nothing to do

with the actual sale of this stock, and did not profit

thereby, his own evidence (Tr. p. 327) shows that he made

the representations which were calculated to and did in-

duce action on the part of the plaintiff (Tr. p. 165); and

that he obtained his information from the defendant's oflB-

cers and employees (Tr. p. 343 ).t The rule that a corpora-

tion is liable for the fraud of a receiverff should certainly

apply in this case where the fraud was due to false infor-

** Downs V. National Share Corp., 55 Pac. (2) 27 (Ore.) ; Fletcher,
Corporation, 5591; Hindman v. First National Bank of Louisville, 112
Fed. 931; Bigelow, Fraud (1890), p. 509. Restatement of the Law of
Contracts, Sect. 471: A tells B he has investigated the affairs of com-
pany C, and that it is sound financially. He has not investigated C com-
pany. His statement is fraudulent even though he believed C company
Is sound financially.

• Griswold V. Gebbe, 126 Pa. 353, 17 Atl. 673; O. F. Nelson Co. v.

United States, 149 Fed. (2) 692 (9th Circuit) (19..); Masterson v. Pig'n
Whistle Corp., 326 Pac. (2) 919. Plaintiff is entitled to an inference
from the failure to call Mr. Chapman as a witness. Morrow v. Franklin,
233 S. W. 231 (1931); Powell v. Landes, 36 Pac. (2) 462, 95 Colo. 375.

•• Hobart v. Hobart Estate Co., 159 Pac. (2) 958, 26 Cal. (2) 412

(1945) ; McDonald v. DeFremery, 168 Cal. 199, 142 Pac. 73. An expression
of opinion to avoid an action for deceit must be an expression of an opin-
ion honestly entertained by the person making it.

t It is immaterial in an action for fraud that the person making the
misrepresentations did not intend to benefit himself but solely to bene-
fit a 3rd person. 37 C. J. S. 26. Representations made to a 3rd person to
be communicated to plaintiff may be relied upon. 37 C. J. S. 284.

tt Hershberger v. Woodrow Parker Co., 275 Fed. 908.
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mation furnished to the receiver. This is true whether the

receiver intended to deceive the plaintiff or not. Obviously,

the defendant so intended by furnishing the receiver with

false information. Schafuss v. Betts, 94 Misc. 463, 157

N. Y. S. 608.

The company I'atified Mr. Chapman's misrepresenta-

tions, and also his promises to obtain Green Cards and

other facilities, by accepting the benefits of the subscrip-

tion. This is so clear that defendant's brief does not even

try to answer it.***** It is also clear that all of the stock-

holdei's, who were officers and Directors, specifically rati-

fied both Mr. Chapman's and Mr. Albertson's actions at

the meeting of April 15, 1957. The District Court ap-

jjroved Mr. Albertson's approval of the agency contract,

when it approved his acts at the termination of the Re-

habilitation (Ex. 65).**

(4) Defendant refers to no evidence which indicates

that plaintiff did not believe or rely on the representations

in question. The defendant repeated the representations

to plaintiff and concealed the true facts from him for

a year and half. This shows that the plaintiff did believe

the representations, that defendant knew he believed them,

and wanted him to continue to believe them, until enough

time had elapsed for defendant to be able to cry waiver,

estoppel, laches and ratification, just as it is doing now.

This argument also overlooks the obvious effectiveness

of the Chapman, Albertson, Dolan combination in selling

***** H. I. Case Co. v. Bird, 11 Pac. (2) 966, 51 Idaho 725; Inter Mountain
Ass. of Cattlemen v. Pierce, 43 Idaho 279; Davenport v. Burke, 30 Idaho
599, 167 Pac. 481; Shake v. Fayette VaUey Produce Exchange, 42 Idaho
403, 245 Pac. 683; United States v. Carbon County Land Co., 46 Fed,
(2) 980.

•* Standard Roller Bearing Co. v. Hess Bright Mfg. Co., 275 Fed. 916,

'

C. C. A. 3, 1921; Reinsurance Agency, Inc. v. Liberty National Insurance
Co., 307 Fed. (2) 164.



— 11 —

this stock. Obviously, somebody very, very well versed

in the art of juggHng figures at some time must have

convinced Mr, Albertson of the soundness of this com-

pany,—and thereby armed it with a very potent weapon.*

III.

Defendant's claim that the plaintiff's claim is barred by

res adjudicata is without merit.

There is a vast distinction between this case and the

Reinsurance Agency case.*** In that case, this Court

specifically ruled that the contract in question w^as one of

the assets of the company taken over by the Rehabilitator,

pursuant to the Rehabilitation order. The District Court

acquired summary jurisdiction of the Reinsurance Agency

by virtue of its jurisdiction over the res.f

In this case, the Court did not, by the appointment of

the Rehabilitator, acquire jurisdiction of the stock of the

company. The stock does not belong to the company, and

is not therefore a part of the **res".** The Rehabili-

tator obtained custody of the stock, but not title thereto,tt

and the sale of the stock under both plans was the act of

• Mr. R. W. Nelson, President, Mr. R. S. Nelson, Secretary, Mr. A. L.

Grldley, Mr. Ezra Whitla and Mr. W. C. McNaughton, Directors, all Bub-

Hcrlbed to stock under the minimum financing plan. Significantly ab-

sent from those who availed themselves of this golden opportunity were
the two Vice Presidents, Vice President in charge of claims, Mr. Phili

Dolan—now President—and Mr. Joseph Chapman. Mr. Chapman did
risk about $200 to buy 25 shares of stock—Mr. Dolan not a penny. Exs.
65, 66.

•*• Reinsurance Agency, Inc. v. Liberty National Insurance Company,
307 Fed. (2) 164.

t The distinction is clearly shown in Maloney v. Rhode Island Insur-
ance Co., 251 Pac. (2) 1027, 115 C. A. (2) 238 (1953). See also People
ex rel. Conway v. Metropolis Insurance Co., 239 N. Y. S. 55, which in-

volved facts almost identical with those in this case.

•• Fletcher, Corporations, Ch. 5S. Section 5083, p. 41; Clark, Receivers,
Sect. 707 a and c, 19 C. J. S. 1209.

tf "Custody" is the charge to keep and care for the property of the
owner, subject to his order and directive, without any interest or right
therein adverse to him. 25 C. J. S., p. 70.
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the stockholders, not of the Rehabilitator.**** His partici-

pation in both plans was limited to his approval or dis-

approval, and even that was not necessarily required.*****

This was not a statutory "Rehabilitation Plan", which

required the stockholders and the creditors to scale down

their interests, and which required court approval to make

it binding on the non-assentors. It was purely a voluntary

recapitalization plan, accomplished by the adjustment of

securities, with the unanimous consent of all of the stock-

holder members, under which the Insurance Department

agreed that the causes and conditions which had made the

Rehabilitation necessary, had been removed.**

The proceeds of the sale of stock were subject to all

of the rights and conditions attached to the stock sub-

scription agreement, and could become assets of the com-

pany only when these conditions had been complied

with.*** The Rehabilitator, of course, had no right to

take property belonging to a third person, or to a better

title than the company had.f The funds in question,

therefore, remained trust funds in the hands of the com-

pany.*

**** Mr. Albertson was especially careful in his testimony to make
this clear (Tr. p. 325 and p. 335). All of the sales contracts and sub-

scription agreements make it very clear (Exhs. 24 and 26).

***** If a plan of reorganization merely contemplates the introduction
of new capital, reorganization could proceed even though the commis-
sioner's approval was lacking, unless it was otherwise required. In Re
Lawyers Mortgage Co., 169 Misc. 802, 9 N. Y. S. (2) 250, Affmd., 256
App. Div. 974, 11 N'. Y. S. (2) 250. If other grounds exist, application
for termination will be denied. Matter of Globe and Rutgers Fire Ins.

Co., 266 N. Y. S. 603. See also In Re Lawyers Title Co., 165 Misc. 776,

1 N. Y. S. (2) 137.

* Fletcher, Corporations, Sect. 7215; Northern Pacific Ry. Co. v.

Boyd, 228 U. S. 482, 57 L. Ed. 931, 33 S. C. 554; Tolman v. Ubero Planta-
tion Co., 142 Fed. 271.

** Williston, Sales, Sect. 311; Fletcher, Corporations, Sects. 5613,
5479. Hulen v. Stuart, supra; Wann v. Diablo Finance Corp., 23 Pac.
(2) 303, 132 C. A. 621.

t Arizona Corp. Commission v. California Ins. Co., 236 Pac 460, 28
Ariz. 128; Porter v. Beha, 8 Fed. (2) 65, affmd. 12 Fed. (2) 552.

• Maloney v. Rhode Island Insurance Comp., 251 Pac. (2) 1027, 115
C. A. (2) 238 (1953); In Re International Milling Co., 259 N. Y. 77, 181
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We are dealing here, not with a stockholder mem-

ber of the company at the time the reorganization is neces-

sary, who refuses to accept a plan of reorganization and

tries to invalidate it, but with an investor non-member of

the company, who offers to invest in a reorganization plan

subject to certain conditions, but whose investment was

accepted on other conditions.** This action is not an

action to set aside the reorganization plan itself, but to

rescind because of the breach of material conditions upon

which plaintiff agi*eed to participate in it.***

Significantly, it does not appear that Mr. Albertson ever

asserted any unconditional claim to the proceeds of the

sale of stock under the minimum financing plan. He did

not ask the District Court to rule on this question, and

the Court did not rule on it.

It can hardly be denied that the plan under the Decem-

ber 10, 1956 resolution was abandoned in toto, shortly

after plaintiff left, and the Becker-Rummel plan was sub-

sequently adopted as the actual Rehabilitation plan. Both

Mr. Moore and M^. Dolan so testified (Tr. p. 180 and

p. 366), and all of the minutes, documents, and actions

of the parties vso indicate. The Becker-Rummel group,

with full knowledge that they needed plaintiff's consent,

agreed to go ahead with the sale with or without it, and

subject to his claim for the return of his money.****

N. E. 54; Farrell v. Stoddard, 1 Fed. (2) 802; In Re Lawyers Title and
Guarantee Co., 162 Misc. 188, 294 N. Y. S. 381; People v. Metropolis In-
surance Co., supra.

•* Plaintiff a^eed to subscribe on a basis whereby he would receive
not less than approximate 1/6 interest. His interest was finally fixed
at less than 11%.

•• Parish v. Cien^uita Copper Co., 100 Pac. 781, 12 Ariz. 235, where
a similar right of action is recognized. This distinguishes this case from
Carpenter v. Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Co., 74 Pac. (2) 761.

•*•• See all of the documents comprising Exhibit 26, including the
Opinion of the attorney-general.
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With these facts very obviously in mind, and with full

knowledge that plaintiff had raised the question of the

legality of the stock sale, and while negotiations were in

progress (Exhs. 33, 34) the Rehabilitator and the company

agreed to permit the lifting of the Rehabilitation order.

They thereby, by implication, agreed and represented to

the Court that the reserves for outstanding liabilities,

which necessarily included plaintiff's claim, were ade-

quate.* By accepting the restoration of its property and

the termination of the Rehabilitation proceedings, the com-

pany assumed responsibility for plaintiff's claim.** There

is nothing in the proceedings for the termination of

the Rehabilitation, including the judgment, to indicate

that the proceedings were intended to go beyond the issue

of the right of the Insurance Department to remain in

control of defendants business.*** All of the evidence

points to the contrary, including the notice of the hearing

itself, which specifically informed plaintiff that "this- is

not a notice requiring you to appear, but you may do so

if you desire" (Exh. 64).****

It appears that the District Court was informed of both

Rehabilitation plans***** and was also informed of facts,

* Matter of Globe and Rutgers Fire Ins. Co., supra.

•* Texas and Pacific Ry. Co. v. Johnson, 151 U. S. 87, 14 S. C. 250;
Clark. Law of Receivers, Sect. 697; Chicago, R. I. & Pac. Ry. Co. v.

McBrlde, 136 Ark. 193, 206 S. W. 149.

*** Caminetti v. Imperial Mutual Life Insurance Co., 129 Pac. (2) 432,
139 Pac. (2) 681 (Same case).

••** Due process requires that a notice inform the opposite party of

the nature of the claim. Philadelphia Co. v. S. E. C, 175 Fed. (2) 808.

•** State V. Bank Savings and Life Ins. Co., 75 Pac. (2) 297, 147
Kans. 170. Presumably the court did not approve two plans at the same
time, one inconsistent with the other. Jones, Evidence, Sect. 47, 31 CJ.S.
769. Mr. Albertson's affidavit to the Court (Exh. 65) is replete with de-

tails concerning immaterial matters, but unusually vague concerning
matters of importance. It fails to describe the minimum financing plan,
except that it was minimal in nature. He also failed to describe the
nature of the "arrangement" which he felt could be made to purchase
the remaining outstanding shares. The only legal arrangement could
have been to obtain the consent of the other subscribers, unless their i

subscriptions were void. i
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which clearly disclosed that the second plan was incon-

sistent with the first. He was not, however, informed of

any facts indicating that the inconsistency had been re-

solved.f Indirectly, the Court was informed that it had

not beon resolved.ft

The amount subscribed was between $375,000 and

$400,000.00 without plaintiff's subscription, so that his sub-

scription or the lack of it was immaterial to the right of

the Insurance Commissioner to run defendant's business.*

The judgment of termination was a judgment in rem as to

the status of the defendant, and nothing more. It was not

intended to and did not adjudicate the right of plaintiff

to either accept or reject the Becker-Rummel plan, and

obtain the return of his money. It is not res adjudicata

as to the facts or as to the subsidiary questions of law.**

To adopt the defendant's construction of the Court's

approval of the acts of the Insurance Commissioner and

his deputy, is to convict him and his deputy—of par-

ticipating in what would amount to a fraudulent and

t The Court was informed (Exh. 65, p. 4) that under the December 10,

1956, resolution, the outstanding shares of stock should not be in excess
of 40.000 shares with a par value of $200,000; and that 19,461 shares had
been sold under that plan. It was also informed that under the Becker-
Rummel proposal, the sale of the additional 38,377 shares was contem-
plated. The Court was not informed that plaintiff's consent had or had
not been obtained.

tt Mr. Albertson specifically avoided telling the Court that the re-

sult of the refinancing would provide a policy holders surplus In excess
of $400,000, which it should have done if the results of both refinancing
plans had been considered. He qualified the statement by stating that
"if the results of the refina.ncing were reflected back into December 31,

1956 financial statement," it would show that amount.
He also specifically avoided stating that the company had a paid in

capital of $300,000. He said that if the Court approves the sale to the
Becker-Rummel group, "all of the shares of stock will be In the hands
of persons other than the Commissioner of Insurance, and the capitaliza-
tion will again be reflected in the books at $300,000.

* Camlnetti v. Imperial Mutual Life Insurance Co., supra.

•• Freeman on Judgments, 1925 Edition, Sect. 689; Gratiot County
State Bank v. .Johnson, 249 IT. S. 246, 39 S. C. 263, 63 L. Ed. 587; Man-
son V. Williams, 213 U. S. 453, 53 L. Ed. 869; Pickering Lumber Co. v.

Whiteside, 128 Pac. (2) 899, 54 C. A. (2) 200; Woods v. Deck, 112 Fed. (2)
740 (C. C. A. 9); In re Courtney Bros., 100 Pac. (2) 471.
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collusive* conspiracy to deliberately defeat plaintiff's

known rights. The presumption of regularity of judicial

proceedings forbids the adoption of this construction.**

The Court did not, of course, approve the illegal accept-

ance of the money into the Treasury in violation of the

escrow agreement, because it was not informed of the facts

showing that it had been violated. It could not create

title, it could only confirm it. As to this money the Be-

habilitator was a mere trespasser.***

If the construction adopted by the defendant were to be

adopted, the judgment would be subject to collateral at-

tack for several reasons. One is that it is a judgment

obtained by extrinsic fraud and is subject to collateral

attack.

t

Another reason is that the Court had no jurisdiction over

the subject matter,ft or over the person of the plaintitT.

Plaintiff was not served with valid process, constructive

service was not due process of law in this case, and in any

event, the notice to plaintiff was insufficient for due proc-

ess,fft The judgment is therefore void.****

* With both the defendant and the Insurance Department being repre-

sented at the hearing by the same attorney. Mr. Philip Dolan—now
President of the defendant—an inference of collusion would be virtually

conclusive.

•* Jones, Evidence, Sect. 47. Where a situation is explainable on the
basis of legality, it will be assumed that such is the explanation. 17

C. J. S. 738.

**• Pickering Lumber Co. v. Whiteside, supra; Manson v. Williams,
213 U. S. 43, 53 L. Ed. 869, 29 S. C. 519; Porter v. Beha, supra; Clark,

Receivers, Sect. 392, p. 654.

t Davi V. Belfior, 314 Pac. (2) 596, 153 C. A. (2) 325; Hazel Atlas
Glass Co. V. Hartford Empire Co., 64 Sup. Ct. 997, 322 U. S. 238, 88

L. Ed. 1250; Griffith v. Bank of New York, 147 Fed. (2) 899; Freeman
on Judgments, Sections 1234, 1237.

ft In Re International Milling Co., supra.

ttt Pennoyer v. Neff, 95 U. S. 714, 24 L. Ed. 565; Coe v. Armour Fer-
tilizer Works, 237 U. S. 413, 59 L. Ed. 1027.

**• Freeman on Judgments, 1925 Edition, Sect. 322; Hansberry v.

Lee, 311 U. S. 32, 61 S. C. 115, 85 L. Ed. 22; Philadelphia Co. v. S. E. C,
Bupra.
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If the Idaho Statute is construed to peniiit the taking

of plaintiff's property under the circumstances of this

case, it would be unconstitutional on the ground that it

would deprive plaintiff of his property without due process

of law. The constitutional requirement that provision be

made for non-assenting stockholders and creditors is not

present in this case. It also, therefore, impairs the obli-

gation of contract s.f

Plaintiff was not obliged to file a claim during the

Rehabilitation proceedings. The Idaho statutes do not re-

quire the filing of a claim during Rehabilitation.ff

Furthermore, the Idaho district court did not assume

exclusive jurisdiction over actions against the defendant.

The injunction did not cover actions against the defend-

ant. The Court reserved the right to issue ''further" in-

junctions, if necessary (Exh. 65),*** but did not do so.

IV.

Defendant argues that it cannot be returned to the

status quo, because it claims it lost money on the Trans-

atlantic Agency, and that plaintiff should be required to

return the amount allegedly lost. This argument is

frivolous.

The Agency agreement itself was not a part of the

consideration flowing from the defendant to the plaintiff

for the stock subscription. This consideration flowed from

the defendant to the Transatlantic Corporation in ex-

change for services to be rendered the defendant by the

t International Life Insurance Company v. Sherman, 262 U. S. 346;
67 L. Ed. 1018; Neblett v. Carpenter, 305 U. S. 297, 83 L. Ed. 182; Hessen
Slak Shams v. State Bank of Bloomfield, 48 Fed. (2) 894.

t+ In the matter of Bond & Mortgage Co., 271 N. Y. 545, 3 N. E. (2)

591; In the Matter of Lawyers Mortgage Co.. 163 Misc. Rep. 680; Con-
solidated Laws of New York, Sects. 511, 512, 513, 514; Idaho Code, Sect.
41-3504, 3505, 3507, 3510.

*•• Fletcher, Corporations, Sect. 7797, p. 372.
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Transatlantic corporation. Even this consideration did

not include a promise to guarantee the defendant against

losses. The risk of underwriting loss was assumed en-

tirely by the defendant.

The consideration which flowed from the defendant to

the plaintiff was the promise to obtain Green Cards and

excess limits, and facilities for France, Spain and Italy.*

None of these things were obtained. Aside from the

fraud, there was a total failure of consideration with re-

spect to the collateral agreements, which were a part of

the stock subscription agreement.

Plaintiff is not required to tender anything which was

not a benefit under contract,** or undo acts of the other

party.***

V.

Defendant's argument concerning its defenses of par-

ticipation, ratification, and waiver is based upon the evi-

dentiary facts that plaintiff was elected President of the

(iompaiiy, that be signed the stock certificates, and other

evidentiary facts which, standing alone may have a tend-

ency to establish the ultimate facts necessary to establish

these defenses. Defendant treats the evidentiary facts as

if they were the ultimate facts although they are unre-

lated to each other, but are all related to undisputed, un-

(!xplained other facts, which conclusively remove them

from the scope of the rule that the defendant is trying

to invoke.

* Williston, Contracts, Sect. 1325, 3 C. J. S. 204 (Implied obligation

to cooperate by furnishing the Agent with the article that agent agreed
to sell.)

** Duke V. Cregan, 91 Colo. 120, 12 Pac. (2) 354; 12A, Fletcher, Cor-

porations 5604, p. 192.

•** Steele v. Scott, 221 Pac. 342, 192 Cal. 521; Russell v. Roscoe, 289

Pac. 185, 106 Cal. App. 293 (total failure of consideration); Simmons v.

Calif. Inst, of Technology. 194 Pac. (2) 521.
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Defendant is silent on the fact that the plaintiff's elec-

tion was in the nature of a farce,* and that he was ousted

without notice in order to violate his rights under the

stock subscription agreement. It ignores the facts show-

ing the repetition of the fraudulent misrepresentations,**

and the concealment of the true financial condition of the

defendant. It ignores the fact that negotiations between

the parties were in progress during the entire relation-

ship.*** It also ignores that plaintiff was at all times try-

ing to mitigate a loss,**** and that the parties were in no

event in para delicti.*****

Defendant doesn't deny or explain the existence of these

facts. It treats them as if they are non-existent or as if

they are wholly immaterial.

Defendant argues that plaintiff was obligated to prevent

other money from coming in and to object to the termina-

tion of the Rehabilitation in order to preserve any of the

lights which accrued to him as a result of the assistance

he gave. At the time of plaintiff's subscription it was

contemplated by both parties that someone other than

plaintiff'—because they wouldn't let plaintiff do it—was

going to refinance the company and take control of the

• McGrath v. Scherer & Co., 195 N. E. 919, Appellant's Brief, pp. 64,

)o, 66, 67. The following cases are in point on this issue: Harper v. Tri
State Motors, Inc., 90 Utah 212, 58 Pac. (2) 18; Viner v. Jones, 87 N. Y. S.

257; Peake v. Thomas, 308 S. W. 885; Samuels v. Smith, 196 N. W. 45
(la.); Nichols v. Yandre, 9 So. (2) 157 (Fla.); Horn v. Abbot, 168 N. W.
104, 110 Nebr. 403; Relle v. Mayfield, 69 S. W. (2) 167; McFarland Sana-
torium, 137 Pac. 209, 68 Ore. 530; Arthur v. Griswold, 55 N. Y. 400.

•* Commercial Bank of Minominee v. Widman, 301 Mich. 405, 3 N. W.
(2) 323 (continuing tort); Fickensher v. Gamble, 85 Pac. (2) 885. See
Ex. 52, Ex. 21, Ex. 59, Ex. 27, Ex. 43, Tr. 126, 127, 310, 117.

••• Reinlger v. Hassell. 216 Cal. 209, 13 Pac. (2) 737; Lobdell v.

Miller, 250 Pac. (2) 357; White v. American National Life Insurance Co.,

78 S. E. 582, 155 Va. 305; Meeks v. Commonwealth Bonding Co., 187
S. W. 681.

*•** Trigg V. Jones. 48 N. W. 113, 46 Minn. 277; Bergstrom v. Pickett,

181 N. W. 343 (Minn.); Fosgate v. Nocatee Fruit Co.. 299 Fed. 963; Gras-
gebauer v. Schneider, 31 Pac. (2) 93, 177 Wash. 43.

•*•• Karallas v. Shlnns, 107 Pac. (2) 395, 41 Cal. App. 694; Hobart v.

Hobart Estates Co., 159 Pac. (2) 958.
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company, and that llio rehabilitation order would then

l)(' I'enioved.

Plaintiff agreed to this arran§>ement—somewhat reluc-

tantly (Tr. pp. 55-201) because he was compelled to in order

to mitigate the damage he had already suffered as a result

of defendant's previous fraud and breach of contract* (Tr.

p. 344). The removal of the Rehabilitation order was not

part of the consideration for plaintiff's investment, but its

removal was a very powerful inducing motive,** because

he wanted to mitigate his damage. Defendant took full

advantage of this to obtain, and later to retain plaintiff's

subscription. The conditions attached to his agreement

were part of the consideration. They were several and to

be performed at different times.***

As to defendant's claim that plaintiff is trying to re-

cover at the expense of innocent investors, who invested

$750,000.00 in the defendant to rehabilitate it. None of

these people intervened or even appeared at the trial of

this case. The defendant is a going concern, so the fact

that they do not elect to rescind is not a bar to plaintiff's

action to rescind.****

* Alder v. Crosier, supra, publication of a false financial statement,
50 Utah 437, 168 Pac. 83; Cromwell v. Countv of Sac, 94 U. S. 351, 24 L.
Ed. 195; White v. Nashville & NW. Ry. Co., 54 Tenn. 518.

** Williston, Contracts, Sections 111, 130.

*** Williston, Contracts, Sects. 860, 1292.

Cattle Raisers Loan Co. v. Sutton, 271 S. W. 233.M^ * :I^ ^;
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CROSS-APPELLEE'S BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL.

I.

Defendant's entire brief appears to be designed more to

prejudice this Court against the plaintiff than it does to

answei- the arguments contained in plaintiff's brief. In-

stead of explaining why it failed to call material witnesses

it has misrepresented the evidence in such a manner as to

make it appear as if these witnesses had appeared and tes-

tified. Although the evidence at the trial was virtually un-

disputed, defendant raises fact issues in its brief, by inere

assertions having no basis whatsoever in the evidence. It



also lol'ci's to facts contained only in hearsay documentary

evidence, admitted by stipulation subject to a proper

foundation, which were not referred to at the trial, as

facts established by the evidence. Although defendant

offered 49 exhibits, it identified only 10.* Some of these

were self-serving declarations, and some purport to be

admissions on the part of plaintiff, about which he was

not cross-examined.** It does not appear that the trial

court considered these exhibits, but that the defendant

hopes that this court will. In particular, this refers to

certain correspondence between the plaintiff and Mr.

Becker, which although admitted by stipulation was not

identified.

After T-eading this brief, we are more convinced than

ever that the defendant prejudiced the trial Court against

the plaintiff by means of a secret trial brief under Eule

9 j of the Idaho District Court. His oral remarks show

that he was influenced by matters outside the record, the

source of which could have only been the defendant.

This court cannot properly evaluate this case, unless it is

made aware of the same brazen and calculated effort to

prejudice it against the plaintiff. We have, therefore,

corrected some of the most flagrant misstatements at the

conclusion of this argument. We have included misstate-

ments contained in defendant's brief on appeal as well as

on the cross-appeal, because they are pertinent to the over-

all effort to prejudice this Court, and in particular in

connection with the cross-appeal. Defendant is obviously
j

well aware that its only hope of upsetting the findings 1

of the Trial Court on the cross-appeal is to prejudice this •!

Court by misstating the evidence, and confusing the issues. J

* Our original brief incorrectly shows that all of the Exhibits offered

were plaintiffs exhibits. Exhibits 1 through 49 were plaintiffs. Exhibits
50 through 89 were defendants (P. T. O., p. 30).

** Esnault-Pelterie v. Chance Vought Corp., 56 Fed. (2) 393 (D. C.

N Y.. 1938).



The defendant has especially flagrantly gone outside the

record to prejudice the Court against the plaintiff in con-

nection with this argument. Its statement, without any

page reference to the record, that plaintiff took advantage

of his control ovei- the corporation to accumulate $50,000.00

or more in premiums to provide himself Avith a personal

offset against the company; its statement that plaintiff

was responsible for the corporation failing and refusing

to make an accounting for the premiums collected until

the pretrial order was entered, and its statement that

plaintiff misappropriated the funds of the defendant* are

statements Avhich not only have no basis whatsoever in

the record, but which are utterly and completely false.

The undisputed evidence shows that the defendant vio-

lated its duty to Transatlantic in many respects and that

there are many matters of legitimate dispute between

them. There is nothing whatsoever in the record to show

that Transatlantic, or plaintiff, at any time failed to ac-

count for any premium, any cancellation, or any payment

collected or made upon behalf of the defendant. Had the

defendant had such evidence, it certainly could have, and

undoubtedly would have, produced it. Or it would have

at least cross-examined plaintiff on the issue, in whi-cli

event it would have been clear in this Court.

We do not expect this court to become involved in try-

ing to decide fact issues in matters outside the record. We
can only answer these charges by showing that they are

outside the record, and by demonstrating that the dispute

between the Transatlantic and the defendant involves the

amount due under the contract, if anything, and not the

amounts collected or disbursed. As to the latter the parties

are in agreement.

The Agency Contract (Ex. 1) provides for a commission

of 35%, except for Class 4 and 5 personnel (25%). It

* In this connection see Chicago Fire and Marine Ins. Co. v. Fidelity
and Deposit Company, 18 Pac. (2) 260, 41 Ariz. 358.
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also provides for an adjustment at the end of each calendar

year based upon paid losses, and a final adjustment upon

termination of the Agency, '

' when all losses shall have been

fully adjusted and paid." The stipulated conditional

account-stated (P. T. 0. p. 24) is based upon a commission

schedule of 271/2% for the first six months of 1957 and 30%
prior thereto and thereafter. It does not purport to be,

and expressly avoids being, a stipulation that the amount

set forth therein is due and owing from the Transatlantic

to the defendant, or that this is the applicable commission

schedule. The amendment for the year 1957 specifically

provided that it applied to that year only, and even that

amendment was agreed upon, subject to conditions which

were not fulfilled. Transatlantic, therefore, has a right

to invoke the schedule provided for in the original con-

tract, which in no event, would be less than the 30% for

the entire year 1957. This is true, even though it may
have withheld only 30% part of that time instead of the

35% it was entitled to withhold.*

The burden of proof was on the defendant to prove the

terms of the agreement upon which the account was

founded, and that it had fully performed the conditions

of said agreement, and the amount due.** Also to estab-

lish that the contact was modified, if it was modified.***

The defendant failed to meet this burden of proof.

The defendant failed to show an up-to-date loss ratio

based upon paid losses, or any loss ratio whatsoever. It

tried to establish that the commission schedule set forth in

the contract had been superceded by the schedule based

on the loss ratio, by means of an "estimate" of company

losses, which was pure opinion evidence with no evi-

dentiary value, whatsoever. Transatlantic is entitled to a

* Hulen V. Stuart, supra; Wann v. Diablo Finance Corp., supra, O'Shea
V. Vaughn, supra; Williston, Contracts, Sects. 689, 690.

** Urdangen v. Edwards, 174 N. W. 769, 187 la. 1005, 1 C. J. S. 604.

*** The Jobs Haven, 270 Fed. 60.

k



full accounting based upon paid losses, and a final figure

as to the actual loss ratio, before the amount due can be

determined. Since the termination of the Agency contract,

this information is solely within the knowledge of the

defendant. Transatlantic is certainly not required to ac-

cept an "estimate" and especially not, in view of the past

reserve juggling history of this company.

These losses were not material to the issue of the right

of the plaintiff to recover his stock subscription. Under the

evidence in this case plaintiff was not required to contest

this issue, and did not. Transatlantic, however, has a

right to dispute these alleged losses, and to show that they

were attributable to excessive Home office expenses, ex-

cessive reinsurance rate, excessive brokerage fees for

obtaining the business in the first place, or all of these,

rather than from excessive losses due to claims.

In this case plaintiff is entitled to the benefit of an un-

favorable inference against the defendant for producing

"inferior" evidence when "superior" evidence, i. e., the

actual loss figures, were available. It can be inferred that

the superior evidence, if produced, would have been un-

favorable and would have established that the Transatlantic

was not indebted to the defendant in any amount whatso-

ever, based upon claims actually paid. This inference is

strengthened somewhat by the intimation in the evidence

that after the termination of the agency contract the de-

fendant would not and did not properly pay its claims (Tr.

pp. 255, 256, 859), and that they were still not all paid.

Certainly, if the defendant was serious about this counter-

claim it would have produced the strongest evidence avail-

able,* Of course, if it can prejudice this court by leading it

to believe that plaintiff led this company into a disaster

operation, it will have accomplished its purpose.

• Wlgmore, Evidence, Sect. 285.
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The defendant had a legal right to terminate the Agency

at any time after December 31, 1957. The uncontradicted

evidence shows that it needed, depended upon and re-

ceived the benefits of the Agency contract (Tr. pp. 182,

183) and that it not only continued it after December,

1957, but also that it induced the Transatlantic to con-

tinue for almost a year after the first termination notice,

by making promises it did not keep (Tr. pp. 137, 138, 139,

140).

Defendant, however, recognizes Transatlantic's claim in

the above respect, as w^ell as its claims for fraud,** breach

of contract, claims for services rendered, extra expenses

and other claims mentioned in the evidence by suggesting

(p. 35 of its brief) that they be made the subject of a suit

between the Transatlantic and the defendant. It could

have, but didn't, make Transatlantic a third-party defend-

ant in Missouri had it been willing to risk being subjected

to trial on these claims which belong to Transatlantic, but

not to plaintiff in this case. Obviously, if it can divert the

court's attention from plaintiff's very legitimate claim

against it, and defeat this claim simply by talking about

its counterclaim, rather than proving it, it will have accom-

plished a very satisfactory result.

In any event, the Transatlantic is entitled to retain the

possession of the money claimed by the defendant under

the express terms of the contract, and, as well, because it

has the right of set-off and counterclaim against them for

claims arising out of the same transaction.*** These issues

could have been tried in the garnishment proceeding had

the defendant not entered its appearance (P. T. 0. p. 12) and

dissolved the attachment, or if the defendant had made

•* Alder v. Crosier, supra (damages from a false financial statement),

**• Massachusetts Bonding and Ins. Co. v. Johnson & Harder, Inc., 199
At. 216. 330 Pa. 336; Spears v. Netherland Ins. Co., 31 Tex. C. A. 567,

72 R. W. 1018, 2 A. L. R. 133; Restatement of the Law of Afifency, Sect.

464 (2nd Series); Downey v. Humphries, 227 Pac. (2) 484.



lh(> Transatlantic a third-party defendant. They are, in

any event, matters between the Transatlantic and the de-

fendant, and not matters between the plaintiff and the de-

fendant, and certainly not in this case,**** because the

demands are not "mutual."

Before the obligations of a corporation will be recog-

nized as the obligations of a particular individual, it must

be shown that an adherence to the fiction of the separate

existence would, under the particular circumstances sanc-

tion a fraud or promote an injustice.* The fact alone

that an individual owns and controls the corporation is

not sufficient. And the person making the claim must be

able to sustain a claim against the corporation.** To

set aside the corporate entity in this case, would sanction

a fraud and promote an injustice on the part of the de-

fendant rather than on the part of Transatlantic or the

plaintiff. It would deprive both of a right to be heard

on the legitimate issues between them and the defendant.

The court correctly ruled that the Transatlantic was an

indispensable party to this action,*** not only on a techni-

cal legal ground, but on a basis of justice and equity.

There is no evidence in this case that plaintiff has drained

the corporate assets to defeat defendant's claim. The

converse is true. The corporation, and the defendant

had drained plaintiff of his. There is no evidence that

Transatlantic cannot, or will not pay defendant's claim

••• Looney v. Thorpe Bros., 277 Fed. 367; Schomberg v. Piatt. 36 Oh.
App. 118, 172 N. E. 685; Alden v. Central Power Corp., 137 Fed. Supp. 924.

* Homebuilders and Suppliers v. Timberman, 75 Ariz. 357, 256 Pac.

(2) 716.

•* Southeast Securities Co. v. Christenson, 66 Ida. 233, 158 Pac. (2) 315;
Miller Lumber Corp. v. Miller, 357 Pac. (2) 503, . . . Ore. . . . ; Wheeler v.

Smith, 30 Fed. (2) 59 (C. C. A. 9, 1929); In re John Koke, 38 Fed. (2) 232.

363 Pac. (2) 1075; Oregon State Highway Commission v. Brassfleld,

.U3 Pac. (2) 1075.

••* Chidester v. City of Newark, 162 Fed. (2) 598; Alden v. Central
Power Corp., 137 Fed. Supp. 924; State of Washington v. United States,
87 Fed. 421; Metropolis v. Barkhausen, 170 Fed. (2) 481; Truman Homes
Corp. V. Loan Holding Co.. 88 N. Y. S. (2) 403.
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in the unlikely event any amount is ever found due. The

only ground that defendant established for setting aside

the corporate entity in this case is that it doesn't dare

to bring a suit to enforce the claim it alleges it has, but

did not prove.

In view of the above, defendant's insinuations that

plaintiff used his election as President to avoid having

the bond renewed and to obtain concessions for the Trans-

atlantic, are wholly immaterial. They are of course frivo-

lous, as well. Mr. Albertson was in full control during

the entire time plaintiff was supposedly acting as Presi-

dent, and plaintiff had no authority whatsoever.

The Trial Court correctly ruled that defendant's claim,

if any was against the Transatlantic, not against the plain-

tiff, and its judgment should be affirmed.

Corrections of the Misrepresentations and Distortions of,

and the Omissions From the Evidence Contained

in Defendant's Brief.

Defendant's Brief, p. 3: ''which order (of Rehabilita-

tion) enjoined the oflScers and directors from taking any

action with respect to the affiairs of the defendant, except

with the written permission of the Rehabilitator. " P. T. 0.

p. 14, Ex. 14.

The evidence: The injunction (Ex. 65) enjoined the of-

ficers and directors from transacting any business of the

defendant, from wasting, handling or disposing of any of

the property of the defendant, or from interfering in any

manner whatsoever with the Rehabilitation. It did not

enjoin the stockholders from selling their stock or from

holding elections, and electing officers and directors.

Defendant's Brief, pp. 6 and 10: The source of the money

upon which said check was drawn was the Transatlantic

Casualty Underwriters, Inc., which company was then in-
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debted to the defendant for premium moneys collected

but not remitted in the amount of approximately $75,000.00

that represented most of its cash on hand at that time".

The evidence: (Tr. p. 168) Plaintiff testified that as of

the 15th of December, 1956, when he came to Coeur

D'Alene, the Transatlantic would have owed the company

for the October statement, amounting to $29,000.00 or

$30,000.00; that it had probably collected $75,000.00 at

that time, but it was not due. That at that time the

Transatlantic had in cash $87,340.00, accounts receiv-

able of $40,000.63, and that plaintiff had personal as-

sets of a little bit more than $30,000.00; that the defendant

owed the Transatlantic at that time, approximately $15,-

000.00 for money advanced to pay claims (Tr. p. 262) ; that

plaintiff advanced money to the corporation before the

Rehabilitation (Tr. p. 148) and repaid all, almost all of

his personal assets back into the Corporation (Tr. pp.

262, 263) and that the corporation is indebted to him (Tr.

p. 257). Although the plaintiff produced all of the Trans-

atlantic records for examination by the defendant (Tr. p.

262) defendant offered no evidence whatsoever to con-

tradict plaintiff's evidence on this point.

Defendant's Brief, pp. 14, 22, 23, 31: '^That plaintiff

communicated with Mr. Becker relative to such purchase

and wired him that he wouldn't oppose such sale if the

other stockholders favored it." p. 14; "that the plaintiff

had been soliciting and encouraging the Becker group

for weeks", j). 22; "that plaintiff was relying upon such

refinancing" (by the Becker-Rummel group), p. 22; "plain-

tiff even sent a telegram to Mr. Becker on Api'il 7,

stating he had no objections to his group buying" the re-

maining" 38,000 shares", p. 22; "pursuant to such indi-

cated approval an option was taken on all of said stock

liy the Becker-Rummel group on March 25, 1957 under

which the pui-chase was conditioned on sufficient approval
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by the defondant stockholders", p. 22; "Plaintiff testified

that ho was willing- to retain his stock in the defendant,

and go along with the Becker management, and later

wanted Mr. Becker to buy him out", p. 24; "Plaintiff

thereafter issued the stock certificates to himself and oth-

ers * * * and solicited large funds from the Becker-Rum-

rnel group, p. 31 (Allegedly after he learned that the

money had been turned over to the defendant)."

The evidence:

(The clarification of the half-truths contained in defend-

ant's brief, in connection with the sale of the stock to the

Becker-Rummel group requires an analysis of evidence

and events which, when omitted, create an impression !

not in accord with the facts. The time of the occurrence

of these events is also material. We are therefore listing
i

them in the order of their occurrence.)

Jan. 6, 1957: Plaintiff was informed by Mr. Albertson
j

that a financing proposal under which plaintiff would have '

control of the company for a period of three years was

not acceptable to the Insurance Department, because it '

did not want an agency to control the company. On the
j

same day the Becker-Rummel group commenced negotia-

tions to purchase a controlling interest in the defendant

(Deft's brief, pp. 4 and 7, P. T. 0. p. 17, Tr. p. 53). !

Jan. 25, 1957: Mr. Becker wrote plaintiff' confirming a ,

pievious conversation, and asking plaintiff* whether
i

he was willing to sell enough of his shares to insure con-

trol of the company. Plaintiff did not want to sell to the i|

Becker group because they were investment people, and
j

because he thought control should remain in Idaho, so he
i

advised Mr. Becker that he did not want to sell until he \

knew more about his group and their plans for the com- i

pany. Tr. p. 86. i
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March 1, 1957: Mr. Albertson advised plaintiff (Ex. 57)

that the Wester offer had been withdrawn, and that he

again recommended that plaintiff consider his own ability

to i-elinaiice the company.

March 10, 1957: Mr. Albertson advised plaintiff (Ex. 59)

that the possibilities of refinancing rested upon the Becker

i^Toiip, and upon plaintiff.

March 18, 1957: Plaintiff telephoned Mr. Becker and

asked him what his intentions were, with respect to the

refinancing, and he advised plaintiff that he didn't know,

that he didn't have anything definite, and that investiga-

tion was still underway. On March 22, Mr, Becker ad-

vised plaintiff by wire that his group had taken an option

on a controlling interest (Tr. pp. 86, 87). Plaintiff did

not testify that he solicited the Becker-Rummel group.

There was no testimony to that effect. Mr. Becker did not

testify. Exhibit 78 is a self serving document, about which
'' plaintiff was not even cross-examined.

March 18, 1957: Mr. Albertson wrote plaintiff (Ex. 22)

that the "people with whom he had been consulting"

had advised the sale of the 38,377 shares of stock; that the^

Becker-Rummel group had made a proposal to buy these

shares, but not to buy the shares of the old stockholders;

and that the Stuyvesant Insurance Company was willing

to buy the 38,377 shares of stock and also to buy all of

the shares of the subscribers under the minimum financing

proposal. He also advised plaintiff that either one of

01
_

these deals would "certainly take the pressure off the

tin
I

company's operations in Germany, and requested plain-

d ' tiff's reaction by return cable. Plaintiff did not answer

this letter, because he did not understand the situation

tliere, and foi- the same reason he had not signed and re-

turned the stock Mr. Albertson had sent him on Feb. 25

(Tr. p. 82).
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March 25, 1957: A stockholders' meeting was held by

the defendant to authorize the sale of the 38,377 shares

of stock. The meeting was held without notice to plaintiff,

w^as attended by the old stockholders only and was pre-

sided over by R. S. Nelson as President of the Company

and Chairman of the Board. Two days later, the sales

contract was signed (Exs. 24, 26) with the Becker-Rummel
|

group.

March 29, 1957: Plaintiff received a telephone call from

Mr. Albertson asking him to support the Stuyvesant pro-

posal, which plaintiff agreed to do. Plaintiff testified that

he did not favor the Becker-Rummel group because they

were investment people, not insurance people (Tr. pp. i

85, 86).

March 29, 1957: Plaintiff cabled the Stuyvesant Insur-

ance company that he would cooperate with them in their
j

efforts to purchase the defendant. On the same day he i

wrote Mr. Albertson that he did not feel that he had been
|

well enough informed to express an opinion about either !

one of the two proposals.

March 30, 1957: Plaintiff signed and returned the stock
j

certificates to the secretary of the Company with a letter
i

(Ex. 23, Tr. pp. 81, 82, 83) of the same date cautioning

him against issuing the stock until the ''rights of the

new stockholders had been clarified." The defendant,

nevertheless, issued the stock, although the March 31st

financial statement showed a decrease in surplus of over
|

$100,000.00 (Ex. 38). Plaintiff was not advised of this
j

statement until April, 1960.
|

April 2, 1957: Plaintiff received Exhibit 25 urging his '

support of the Becker-Rummel proposal, in which Mr. I

Becker advised plaintiff that unless he did his clients

might withdraw (Tr. p. 85). Plaintiff proceeded to London
j

to meet the Stuyvesant people, and telegraphed his ad-
j

dress in London to Mr. Becker (Tr. p. 88). I
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April 3, 1957: A meeting of the Board of Directors of

the defendant was held and the contract of sale entered

into between the old stockholders and the Becker-Rummel

group was approved subject to the amendment that ap-

proval be obtained from only 70% of the owners of the

21,623 shares "now sold or allocated". Plaintiff received

notice of the meeting on April 4 (Tr. p. 89). The meeting

was presided over by Mr. Philip E. Dolan in the absence

of the President, Mr. Morton K. Lange.

April 3, 4, 1957: Plaintiff was negotiating with the

Stuyvesant Insurance Company, when he was notified that

the stock had been sold to the Becker-Rummel group with-

out his consent, and that there was apparently nothing

he could do about it (Tr. p. 89).

April 4, 1957: Mr. Dolan wrote to plaintiff that several

proposals for refinancing were being considered, and that

something should be known soon. Also that additional

savings of about $50,000.00 on claims reserves could be

expected, in his opinion.

April 5, 1957: A waiver and consent was sent to plain-

tiff with a request that plaintiff sign and return it to

signify his approval of the sale to the Becker-Rummel

group. Plaintiff did not return this consent and waiver

and has never done so (P. T. 0. p. 23). The stock was

sold to the Becker-Rummel group on March 27, and the

amendment approved on April 4, before plaintiff's ap-

proval had been asked for, or indicated.

April 7, 1957: Plaintiff returned to Munich, tried to

call Mr. Becker, and finally cabled Mr. Becker that he

knew of no objections to his clients proposals, and that

they could expect no trouble from plaintiff if the other

stockholders were in favor thereof (Ex. 25, Tr. p. 93).

April 11, 1957: Plaintiff teler)honed Mr. Becker about

lljc sale of the stock. Mr. Becker advised plaintiff that
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his clients would buy all or any part of plaintiff's stock.

Also that his group did not contemplate the termination

of the German business. In reliance upon these statements

plaintiff decided not to attend the stockholders meeting

of April 15, 1957, and made arrangements with his asso-

ciate, Mr. Smith, to meet with Mr. Becker to arrange to

have him buy the stock. Mr. Smith contacted Mr. Becker

in New York, but Mr. Becker avoided seeing him (Tr.

pp. 95, 96). Plaintiff testified (Tr. p. 96) that he would

not have objected to the sale to the Becker-Rummel group

if they would buy his stock. Plaintiff did not attend the

stockholders meeting, because he thought Mr. Becker

would buy the stock (Tr. p. 95). Mr. Becker confirmed
\

that plaintiff offered to sell the stock by letter dated April '

26 (Ex. 33). At the meeting of April 15, the stockholders

present approved the sale to the Becker-Rummel group. 1

I

April 20, 1957: Plaintiff received a telegram from Mr. i

Albertson (Ex. 31) threatening him with a breach of

the terms of the Agency contract, which had been agreed

upon at the time of the stock subscription (Ex. 31). I

April 21, 1957: Plaintiff employed an attorney to pro-

j

tect his interests which attorney wrote the defendant and
'

notified it that plaintiff questioned the legality of the

stock sale (Ex. 32).

April 26, 1957: Mr. Becker advised plaintiff that he,!

and his clients had purchased a controlling interest in the

-

defendant, confirmed that Mr. Smith had advised him

that plaintiff would not attend the stockholders meeting,

and would like to sell his stock to his clients. With this

letter, negotiations commenced with the Becker-Rummel

group which continued until the end of the relationship,

(Tr. pp. 102 through 120, 137 through 142).
|

Defendant's Brief, p. 25: "Plaintiff voted his stock at,

a special stockholders' meeting of defendant in November,]

1957."
i
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The evidence: Plaintiff voted his stock at a special

stockholders meeting of defendants in November, 1957,

by proxy at Mr. Becker's specific request, "because Mr.

Chapman had been fired and was expected to make

trouble".

Defendant's Brief, p. 25: "Even after he had made
"some claims" of being defrauded, plaintiff signed his

own stock certificate, and those of the other members of

his "group", which other members invested about

$100,000.00" * * * some of whom relied upon him (plain-

tiff) in making their investment.

The evidence: Nobody testified and there was no evi-

dence that plaintiff was a member of any group.

There is not a word of any testimony from any witness,

or any evidence in any document that any investor relied

upon plaintiff in making his investment. Defendant makes

no page reference to the record to support this statement.

The only claim of fraud plaintiff had made previously

specifically referred to Mr. Albertson's agreement to per-

mit joint control made with the intention of not carrying

it out (See Ex. 27).

Defendant's Brief, p. 20: "Plaintiff should have known

about the accuracy of some important items in the financial

report, "for it later developed that it was his own German

business that caused substantial losses foi- the defendant

in 1956."

The evidence (Tr. pp. 225-226): Plaintiff testified that

the Agency was writing a considerable amount of insur-

ance for the Liberty National at the end of 1956; that the

company had to take his word for the amount of claims

reserve to set up on these writings; and that he had no

recollection of having sent in quite a large bunch of new

claims after he returned to Germany. Nobody testified

that plaintiff did send in a bunch of new claims, nobody
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testified or contended that the reserves for the German

business were not accurate.

The defendant's conclusion in this respect has no basis

in the evidence whatsoever.

Defendant's brief, page 17: "While plaintiff incredibly

denies that he had knowledge that such was going to hap-

pen" (The acceptance of the money before March 15).

The evidence: Plaintiff did not deny that he knew the

money was going to be accepted before March 15. He
claims that he did not know the money would be accepted

before the joint control order went into effect, and unless

and until sufficient funds had been subscribed in accord-

ance with the terms of the subscription.

Defendant's brief, page 18: ''By the end of March, 1957,
,

however, the defendant's capital was again impaired 'due

to further losses' ".

IThe evidence: The Defendant made no explanation of

'

the decrease in surplus between January 11 and March 31,

1957, and there was no evidence to establish the further

losses, or what they were.

Defendant's brief, page 21: "Plaintiff's Agency was

never profitable for defendant, and from January, 1957 it

caused losses to the defendant of more than $100,000.00."

The evidence (Tr. p. 359): Mr. Dolan testified: "It

never did run off profitably, so 'obviously' there were

losses. I can not give you an exact figure, but I would

approximate it at $100,000.00, because our losses are still

continuing." Defendant's "estimate of $100,000.00 or

more" in the evidence becomes an established figure of

"more than" in its brief (Emphasis ours).
;

Defendant's brief, page 21: "The defendant's manage-;

ment made diligent efforts to obtain Green Cards toij

'please' plaintiff."
I
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The evidence (Tr. p. 373): Mr. Dolan testified: "There

was an effort to be made to get Green Cards, and that was

one of his conditions when he was out there in December

and January, that the question was when they could get

the Green Cards, and 'you bet' the company was to at-

tempt to get them for him." Nobody testified that the re-

peated promises and efforts to obtain Green Cards were to

please plaintiiT.

Defendant's brief, page 24: ''The Rehabilitator would

not have recommended that defendant be discharged

without the investment of plaintiff, the Becker-Rummel

group, and the other subscribers."

The evidence (Tr. p. 350): Mr. Albertson testified that

if the money of plaintiff and of the other stockholders had

not been in the treasury, he would not have recommended

the company for discharge. In answer to the direct ques-

tion from the Court as to whether he would have dis-

charged, if plaintiff's money was not there, he testified

only that if plaintiff's money had not been in the treasury

in January, the company would have been liquidated.

Defendant's Brief, page 10: "The evidence shows that

plaintiff attempted to largely condition his investment on

benefits that would accrue to his Transatlantic Company
at better commission rates."

The Evidence: Both plaintiff (Tr. pp. 76, 77) and Mr.

Smith (Tr. p. 297) testified that the commissions were re-

duced not increased. This was corroborated by all of the

correspondence, Exhs. 8, 9, 57, 58, 33, and defendant's own

statement on page IH of his brief that the commissions

were higher than the defendant felt obliged to reduce them

in October, 1956. The tentative change was made in

October while the Rehabilitation was still being concealed

from plaintiff as was the 5% override being charged

))y the Reinsurance agency. The amendment to the agency
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contract, jolus the elimination of tlie 5% override, plus

the 20% increase in rates (see Ex. 52) meant an overall

advantage to the defendant of from 271/2% to 30% over

the previous year.

Defendant's Brief, pages 9 and 33: **It is admitted that

the Transatlantic Casualty Underwriters, Inc., has collected

insurance premiums on behalf of the defendant in Germany

which it has refused and still refuses to pay over to the

defendant in the amount of $49,297.58.

'*He took advantage of his control over the corporation

to accumulate $50,000.00 or more in premiums due to pro-

vide himself with an offset on his personal claims against

the company.

"He went through the formality of attaching these

funds, but never carried through to the point of answering

the writ of attachment although it was long past due."

The Evidence, P. T. 0. page 24: "In connection with

plaintiff's cross-claim it is admitted that the amount of pre-

miums collected by the Transatlantic Casualty Underwrit-

ers, Inc., based on a commission rate of 27^% for the

first six months of 1957 and 30% prior thereto and there-

after is $49,297.58." :

The Evidence continued, P. T. 0. page 12: "Defendant

appeared (in the attachment proceeding) and removed the

case to the United States District Court, on the ground of

diversity of citizenship, and at the same time filed its

answer and counterclaim and cross-complaint. * * * Plain-

1

tiff not having filed a bond, after defendant's appearance,

and answer, the attachment was automatically terminated

ten days subsequent to the filing of defendant's answer. .

i

Exhibit No. 1: The rate of commission mutually agreed

upon for this class of business shall be: 1
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(a) Private passenger vehicles

Policies covering on classes 4 and 5. . . . 25%

All others 35%

(Note: The contract also called for a provisional com-

mission based upon the loss ratio, concerning which there

was no evidence.)

Tr. p. 360 (Testimony of Mr. Dolan) : I talked to plain-

tiff on the telephone on several occasions. He did say that

he was going to accumulate premiums. Frankly I would

have stopped writing for him, but Mr. Becker didn't.

(Note that Mr. Dolan did not negative Transatlantic's

claim to possession of the money claimed under the express

terms of the contract, which Mr. Becker very obviously

recognized by not stopping writing.) Mr. Becker, with

whom plaintiff dealt, did not testify.

CONCLUSION.

We submit that the evidence in this case is so clearly

and overwhelmingly in favor of plaintiff's recovery that

this Court is more than justified in reversing the judg-

1! ment of the trial Court and granting rescission.

There is much more, however, involved in this case

than plaintiff's $50,000.

It was not intended, we submit, that the Rehabilitation

Statutes were to bo used to extract money from innocent

i!

I

investors for the purpose of paying the debts of a com-

ii» ' pany, and to rehabilitate it at their expense. According to

If ' defendant's own statement, that is precisely what occurred

in this case.

By pntti7i,i> the stam]j of approval on the company's

action in this case, the Court will not only approve an in-

justice to plaintitT, it will give this company with same

oflRcers as befon*—only more ex})erienced in the art—and
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other companies similarly inclined, the go signal to re-

peat again and again what they have accomplished in this

case.

Respectfully submitted,

THOMAS A. MITCHELL,
Attorney for Appellant.

I certify that, in connection with the preparation of

this brief, I have examined Rules 18 and 19 of the United

States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, and that,

in my opinion, the foregoing brief is in full compliance

with those rules.

Attorney for Appellant and

Cross-Appellee.

Service of the above and foregoing Brief of Appellant is

hereby admitted and three copies have been received by

me this .... day of May, 1963.

Attorney for Appellee and'

Cross-Appellant.
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APPENDIX A.

Feisthamel v. Campbell, 55 Cal. App. 774, 205 Pac. 25

(1921).

'*It is uniformly held to be the law that the wrongful

delivery by an escrow holder, contrary to instructions un-

der which he holds the property, will confer no title, par-

ticularly as against those who take with notice. We have

already suggested that upon performance of the condition

required of the vendee, the escrow holder or trustee no

longer holds the property as the property of the vendor,

but for the vendee; and that the remedy of the vendee in

such a case is against the trustee or escrow holder to

compel delivery of the subject of the deposit. There was

in this case a wrongful delivery of the certificate of stock

to Dent * * *, The vendees having available to them the

remedy to compel the depository to turn over the stock,

we think that the remedy followed the stock into the hands

of the person who wrongfully became possessed of it."

People ex rel. Conway v. Metropolis Fire Ins. Co., 239

N. Y. S. 55, 136 Misc. 133.

"It will be observed that the insurance company under

its agreement could become entitled to moneys held by

the bank only upon fulfillment of the conditions set forth

in paragraph 4 of the agreement. Without its fulfillment

of these conditions, the insurance company could claim no

right of property therein. These conditions were not

complied with, and cannot be complied with because the

insurance company has dissolved. The insurance company

at the time of the dissolution had no title to these moneys,

and hence none can pass to the Superintendent of Insur-

ance in the liquidation proceedings. The bank holds them

under a valid trust agreement and it is bound to discharge

its obligations thereunder."
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Note: In this case money was paid in trust to the bank

under a stock subscription agreement which was condi-
I

tioned upon the reorganization of the insurance company.

i

McDonald v. DeFremery et al., 168 Cal. 199, 142 Pac. 77.
|

"It is to be noticed that the Court utterly fails to find

whether or not the report was or was not false in any

essential particular, precisely as it fails to find upon the

good faith of the defendants, which they pleaded to the

effect that whether correct or incorrect, the report was

but an expression of opinion upon questions of value. * * *

an expression of opinion, to avoid an action for deceit,

must be the expression of an opinion honestly entertained

by the person making it. * * *
i

"It is sufficient, in order to maintain an action for de-

ceit that the false statement was one, although it may not
|

have been the sole inducement for the purchase."
j

Farmlands Development Co. v. Taft, 186 N. W. 431'

(Iowa, 1922).
I

"Subscriptions to stock may be made upon a condition'

precedent, and when made constitute a contract between!

the several subscribers, which cannot be withdrawn or re-

voked by anyone without the acquiescence of all. It is a

continuing offer—a conditional subscription. Such sub-!

scription, when the conditions are complied with, are bind-

ing upon the parties to the same extent as if the contract

had been absolute and unconditional. Cravens v. Eagle

Cotton Mills Co., 120 Ind. 6, 21 N. E. 981; Armstrong v.j

Kausner, 47 Ohio St. 276, 24 N. E. 897; Richelner Hotel

Co. V. Circumpmit Co., 140 111. 248, 29 N. E. 1044; Minne-

apolis Threshing Machine Co. v. Dover, 40 Minn. 110, 41

N. W. 1026; Lake Ontario v. Mason, 16 N. Y. 451, 14

C. J. S. 535."
!



•)•:>

Campbell v. Coin Machine Mfg. Co., 188 Pac. 197, 96

Oreg. 119.

"Shares of stock are defined as: The right to participate

in a certain proportion in the immunities and benefits of

the corporation, to vote in the choice of their officers, and

the management of their concerns, and to share in the divi-

dends and profits, and to receive an adequate part of the

proceeds of the capital on winding up and terminating the

active existence and operation of the corporation.

"The five shares of capital stock of the par value of

$10.00 proposed to be delivered to plaintiff by defendant

would not comply with defendant's contract to deliver to

plaintiff five shares of capital stock of the par value of

$100.00 each in a corporation with a capital stock of

$4,000,000. The plaintiff might desire to pledge his shares

as security for a loan, or he might desire to sell the same,

and to tersely express it, it would be entirely different

stock."

McClunn v. Central Trust Co., 165 N. Y. 108, 58 N. E.

777.

"When dealing with sales of securities there are implied

representations which flow from the fact of sale * * The

sale itself may give rise to implied representations just as

effective as if the seller had made express statements to

same effect.

Harper v. Tri-State Motors, Inc., 90 Utah 212, 58 Pac.

(2) 18, the Court said:

These facts, if not explained, or if their effect l)e

not explained by other evidence, might well be re-

garded by the trier of facts as evidence that he did

pai-ficipate in the transaction. The fact that he signed

tlie stock certificates is alone strong evidence of that
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fact, and in IJio absence of other evidence mig:ht be

sufficient to support a Unding against liini. But there

is otlier evidence, if believed by the trial court, * * *

which shows beyond peiadventure that Holbrook tookt

no part in the transaction whatsoever.

In Peake v. Thomas, 308 S. W. 885, it was held that a

director of a bank could not be held liable for information

the cashier of the bank concealed from everyone. The

Court said:

"A director of a corporation will be charged with a

knowledge of the facts concerning the company con-

dition, which is presumably within his knowledge, yet

such rule can only mean such facts as he knows, or

by the exercise of ordinary care could have known,

the appellee cannot be held accountable for failing to

disclose this shortage.

"The evidence shows that the cashier had so skill-

1

fully concealed his speculations that repeated exam-l

inations by the State Banking Authorities had failed'

to discover them. Appellee did not actually know of'

this shortage. There were no circumstances present

to excite his suspicions. It is not shown that theyj

could have discovered what the State Banking Exam-!

iner had failed to find. Appellants own son who suc-

ceeded appellant on the Board of Directors failed fori

almost two years to find out not only about this short-'

age, but about others which were added to it during'

those years. It cannot be said that the Appellee, ir

the exercise of ordinary care could have discovered

the fact of this shortage, and hence he cannot br

charged with constructive notice of it." •

Samuels v. Smith, 196 N. W. 45.
|

The Court said: "The crucial question is whether ther<i

was any bad faith on Smith's part in such profession o:|
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confidence. A careful reading of the record satisfied us

that Smith had implicit confidence in the desirability of

the investment; that he never assumed any relation of

agency to the corporation; that he never received any

compensation of any character; that he never profited

directly or indirectly by any sale of stock made; that on

the contrary, he was a heavy loser personally, as stock-

holder having acquired altogether more than $7,000 worth

of stock. The trial Court properly ruled that he was guilty

of no bad faith or wrongful conduct of any kind in rela-

tion to the defendants."

Trigg v. Jones, 46 Minn. 277, 48 N. W. 1113.

"a careful persual of the evidence satisfies us that while

plaintiff was informed by letter as early as August, 1887,

that the deed had been delivered, yet the information was

i j

accompanied by statements that and assurances by Jones

II
that the original arrangement would be carried out or

i was being carried out, so that he would get his stock as

agreed, and that Cook would return the deed, or reconvey

g
I

the property, which were calculated to keep plaintiff

If
I

quiet, and allay any possible fears on his part; and that

]} j

influenced by these considerations, he made no express

^ j
repudiation of Jones' act, but let matters rest, hoping

fc j
that the deal would be consummated according to agree-

iiqi I ment, and he get the stock to which he would be entitled.

At the insistence of Jones he sent a proxy to one Mohle

i;

I

authorizing him to subscribe to stock; but that finally

.
' having discovered that the whole deal had fallen through,

and would never be consummated, he brought this action

to recover either the land or the damages. • • • This

amounted to nothing more than an effort on plaintiff's

part to avoid loss, which is not such a ratification as

will relieve the agent."
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Grasgebauer v. Schneider, 31 Pac. (2) 93, 177 Wash.

43.

"The rule permitting performance of acts in affirmance!

of an executed contract after discovery of fraud, without!

waiving an action for deceit, also applies to contracts

which have been only partly performed at the time of the

discovery of the fraud. Bean v. Bickley, 187 la. 174

N. W. 675. Among illustrations of the rule are two which

apply here. One is where the party defrauded will lose'

a profit, which he would have enjoyed had he been fairly

dealt with. Another is where the rescinding party cannot'

be restored to his original position. In this case the re-

spondents' efforts be accepted as true, the respondents,

have lost the benefit of their bargain as it was represented;

to them, and also the benefits of the efforts they have

expended on the property."

The case of Cromwell v. County of Sac, 94 U. S. 351

24 L. Ed. 195 is in point. There the Court said:

"Various considerations other than the actual mer^

its may govern a party in bringing forward grounds*

of recovery or defense in an action, which may nor

exist in another action upon different demand, suclj

as the smallness of the amount, or value of the prop!

erty in controversy, the difficulty in obtaining th«i

necessary evidence, the expense of the litigation, anc

his own situation at the time. A party acting upoi

considerations like these ought not be precluded fron

contesting in a subsequent action other demands aris

ing out of the same transaction."
!

In White v. Nashville & N. W. Ry. Co., 54 Tenn. 51^,

the rule is stated as follows:
j

I

"Waiver is a relinquishment of, or a refusal t'

accept a right. The waiver of one of several rem
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edies, or the waiver of a remedy as against one of

several parties, does not extinguish the right. Thus

it is said that a party may waive a part of his right

and sue for the other part."

Reiniger v. Hassell, 216 Cal. 209, 13 Pac. (2) 737.

"Where a person protests promptly on discovering that

he has been defrauded in making a contract, and enters

,
,
into negotiations for a peaceful settlement which fail, a

1
i
complaint filed within a reasonable time after such failure

, I

is not barred by laches."

Fickensher v. Gamble, 85 Pac. (2) 885.

"It should also be borne in mind that the deal was

made up of a series of contracts, consisting of three ex-

change agreements and numerous escrow instructions.

Plaintiff did not waive the fraud of the original repre-

* sentations by entering into the later contracts by reason

of the fact that during the entire course of the trans-

[j I
action she remained unaware of the fraud which was

g j
being perpetrated upon her."

Wann v. Mount Diablo Finance Corporation, 23 Pac.

(2) 303, 132 C. A. 621.

The fact that the fund of $25,000.00 was not built up

g I
(as represented at the time of the subscription) does not

i« ) of itself give plaintiff cause for complaint, for many rea-

[^
I

sons might arise where the accumulation of that amount

^ \
might be legally impossible, but he may properly protest

' against the voluntary abandonment of the project without

his consent, and on that ground rescind. It is true that

^ I he consented to the abandonment of the first plan, but

conditionally, and upon the failure to perform the prom-

A.
1
ised conditions his original consent was without considera-

,. tion and could be revoked, and be restored to his original

status.
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In the jVIatter of Bond and Mortgage Guaranty Com-

pany, 271 N. Y. 545, 3 N. E. (2) 591.

j

"The Bond and Mortgage Company was m rehabihta-ij

tion, not in liquidation. There is a marked distinction.]

In Rehabilitation, there are no claims to be presented;

and allowed. In liquidation, claims liquidated or con-

tingent must be presented within a certain designated

time.
'

'

In the Matter of Lawyers Mortgage Company, 162

Misc. Rep. 680, 298 N. Y. S. 88.

"No reorganization can be accomplished in the pending;

Rehabilitation proceeding, in view of the fact that sec

tions 424 and 425 of the Insurance law for the filing anc

proof of claims apply only to liquidation proceedings^

Only through a liquidation proceeding can the companj^

be freed from unknown and unpresented claims. Unless

100% of the stockholders and creditors agree to a planj

it is clear that provisions must be made to protect th('

rights of nonassentors."

In re International Milling Co., 259 N. Y. 77, 18:|

N. E. 54.
I

"As the bank was the bailee and not a debtor as t

the fund in question, there can be no doubt as to th'

petitioner's right under the Section to claim a preference

To hold that the Section excludes petitioner from clairc

ing the Identical fund in question as bailor would, in th

event the assets should prove to be insufficient to mee

the claims of preferred creditors, amount to a confiscE,

tion of his property without due process of law. Such

construction would make the statute unconstitutional, an

is unnecessary because the statute contains no wordj

which evidence an intent to exclude existing remedies.]
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In Maloney v. Rhode Island Insurance Company, 251

Pac. (2) 1027, 115 C. A. (2) 238, it was held that a con-

servatorship court does not have jurisdiction to bring

into pending conservatorship proceeding by mere order

to show cause, persons who are not parties to conservator-

' ship, and who assert independent claim of ownership to

assets in their possession.

Udangen v. Edwards, 174 N. W. 769, 187 la. 1005.

I

"The plaintiff asked for an accounting. He was bound

: in equity to make an accounting himself. Under his con-

tract, he was to pay the defendant 10% of the profit. He
! never paid him any profits, and never made any state-

' ' ment concerning profits. There was no data in the hands
'

! of Edwards from which profits could be estimated. The
"

I

plaintiff alone knew what he paid for the bankrupt
' ' stocks. He alone received the trade discounts. We think

it was incumbent upon him in equity to disclose the

"

^

amount of profits due him from Edwards, and to tender

* ' it as a credit upon any amount found due him from Ed-

wards. The inference arises quite naturally that his un-

willingness to disclose his profits was the reason for his

! failure to produce his books."

41-8504. Grounds for Rehabilitation.—The commissioner

J

may apply for an order directing him to rehabilitate a

I

domestic insurer upon one or more of the following

.

j

grounds: That the insurer

(a) is insolvent; or,

(i) has consented to such an order through a majority
'.

j

of its directors, stockholders, members, or subscribers; or,

41-3505. Order of Rehabilitation—Termination.—1. An
order to rehabilitate a domestic insurer shall direct the

commissioner forthwith to take possession of the property
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ot' the insurer and to conduct the business thereof, and

to take such steps toward removal of the causes and con-

ditions which have made rehabilitation necessary, as the

court may direct.

2. If at any time the commissioner deems that further!

efforts to rehabilitate the insurer would be useless, he maj

apply to the court for an order of liquidation.

3. The commissioner, or any interested person upon dm
notice to the commissioner, at any time may apply for ai

order terminating the rehabilitation proceeding and peri

mitting the insurer to resume possession of its property

and the conduct of its business, but no such order shall b(

granted except when, after a full hearing, the court ha

determined that the purposes of the proceedings have beei.

fully accomplished. ;

41-3510. Conduct of Delinquency Proceedings Agains!

Insurers Domiciled in This State.—1. Whenever, unde

the laws of this state, a receiver is to be appointed in de'

linquency proceedings for an insurer domiciled in thi;

state, the court shall appoint the commissioner as sucj

receiver. The court shall direct the commissioner forth

with to take possession of the assets of the insurer and t!

administer the same under the orders of the court,

2. As domiciliary receiver, the commissioner shall b

vested, by operation of law, with the title to all property

contracts, and rights of action, and all of the books an

records of the insurer wherever located, as of the date c|

entry of the order directing him to rehabilitate or liquidal

a domestic insurer, and he shall have the right to recov(

the same and reduce the same to his possession.
;

I

5, Upon taking possession of the assets of an insurer, tl

domiciliary receiver shall, subject to the direction of tl

court, immediately proceed to conduct the business of tl
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insuror or to take such steps as are authoiized by the laws

of this state for the purpose of liquidating, rehabilitating',

reorganizing, or conserving the affairs of the insurer.

41-3512. Injunctions.— 1. Upon application by the com-

missioner for such an order to show cause, or at any time

thereafter, the court may, without notice, issue an injunc-

tion restraining the insurer, its officers, directors, stock-

holders, members, subscribers, agents, and all other pei--

i
I
sons from the transaction of its business or the waste or

« ! disposition of its property until the further ordei- of the

' ' court.

2. The coui-t may, at any time during a proceeding under
k i

' ...
this act, issue such other injunctions or orders as may be

' deemed necessary to prevent interference with the commis-

I sioner or the pj'oceeding, or waste of the assets of the in-

surer, or the commencement or prosecution of any actions,

or the obtaining of preferences, judgments, attachments or

other liens, or the making of any levy against the insurer

I or against its assets or any part thereof.

41-3507. Order of Liquidation.— 1. An order to liquidate

the business of a domestic insurer shall direct the commis-

sioner foithwith to take possession of the property of the

insurer, to liquidate its business, to deal with the insurer's

Di I

property and business in his own name as Commissioner,

g
I

or in the name of the insurer as the court may direct, to

• give notice to all creditors who may have claims against

the insurer to present such claims.

41-3523 provides that upon granting an order of liquida-

lioii, the Insurance Conimissioner shall notify all persons

who may have claims against the insurer to file them

within foui- months of the time of the entrv of such order.
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Statement of Jurisdiction.

We agree with the appellant's statement of the

jurisdiction of the District Court and this Court. As

stated in the pre-trial order, this is a suit between a

citizen and resident of Missouri, the plaintiff, and an

Idaho corporation, the defendant, where the amount
in controversy exceeds the sum of $10,000.00 exclu-

sive of interest and costs.

The suit was originally commenced in the Circuit

Court of the City of St. Louis, State of Missouri, jur-

isdiction being based on an attachment and garnish-

ment levied against the Transatlantic Casualty Un-

derwriters, Inc., a corporation of the State of Mis-

souri, Eastern Division, on ground of diversity of

citizenship. Thereafter upon defendant's application

the venue was ordered changed on the United States

District Court for the District of Idaho, Northern

Division, the district of defendant's residence.



STATEMENT OF CASE

Since the appellant, Morton K. Lanpje, lias in his

brief, referred to the parties as plaintiff and defend-

ant, this appellee and cross-appellant will do likeAvise

for reasons of consistency and clarity.

Plaintiff's statement of the case consists prin-

cipally of his summation of what is contained in the

respective pleadins^s of the parties, which this defend-

ant submits is not wholly accurate and of a mislead-

ina: statement of the evidence. Consequently, defend-

ant deems it necessary in order for this court to ob-

tain a clear picture of this litigation to enlarge said

statement by setting forth the material and undisput-

ed facts of the controversy, all as reflected by the

pre-trial order herein or the transcript of the evi-

dence, as follows:

That the plaintiff, an attorney, as the result of

his military and civilian employment in Germany
following the war, saw an opportunity to write auto-

mobile public-liability insurance for American serv-

icemen there and in pursuance thereof, did learn of and
negotiate a general agency agreement for that pur-

pose with the defendant, a small Idaho insurance

corporation, with its' principal office at Coeur d'-

Alene, Idaho (Tr. pp. 3-10, Ex. 3 & 4). The result

was that a managing general agency agreement was
entered into on September 1, 1955, between defendant

Company and Transatlantic Casualty Underwriters,

Inc., a Missouri corporation that the plaintiff formed
for the purpose of doing such agency business (Tr.

pp. 10, 143, 145). Said agenc}' agreement provided,

amoung other things, for agents' commission of 30%
or more, that it was determinable by either party



upon notice and that all premiums collected were

propert}^ of the defendant and commissions to the

agent thereon merely debts of defendant (Ex. 1). In

the Fall of 1956, defendant sought to reduce the com-

mission to 20 '
' on the grounds that the losses on the

Germany business were high and the business there-

for unprofitable for defendant. (Tr. pp. 24-26, 148-

149, 296, 259, Ex. 8).

That due to its impaired capital condition (Ex.

10) the defendant's operations were taken over on

Sept. 24, 1956, by the State of Idaho Insurance De-

partment, pursuant to an order duly entered on said

date by the District Court of the Eighth Judicial Dis-

trict of the State of Idaho, in and for the County of

Kootenai in the matter of the rehabilitation of de-

fendant, and which order enjoined the officers and

directors of defendant from taking any action with

respect to defendant's affairs except with written

permission of the Kehabilitator. (PTO p. 18, Ex. 14).

Mr. 1>. J. Albertson took active charge of defendant's

operation as Deputy Kehabilitator under the Idaho

Insurance Commissioner (Tr. pp. 322-323, P. T. O. p.

17). That at a meeting on December 10, 1956, the

then stockholders of defendant passed a resolution

reducing the par value of defendant's stock from
$100.00 to $5.00 and thereby increasing their out-

standing stock from 3,000 shares to 60,000 and furth-

er turning the same over to the Kehabilitator for the

sale, under a plan then adopted, of not more than

36,000 of said shares at $7.75 per share on or before

January 2, 1957, the proceeds of which were to be

donated to the defendant's treasury, and the unsold

balance of said stock, after allowing the old stock-

holders for their interest one share for everv nine



sold, to become treasury stock of defendant. Mr. J.

Henry T5ell, of Coeiir d'Alene, Idaho was appointed

to act as trustee for the stockholders in the sale of

such stock (P. T. O. pp. 18-19, Ex. 11).

That upon learning that defendant was in reha-

bilitation, the plaintiff hastened to Coeur d'Alene

from Germany, arriving on December 12, 1956, and

remained there until the 22nd when he left for Minne-

apolis, and just prior to leaving he gave Mr. Albert-

son a check in the amount of $50,000.00 payable to

said trustee and also a promissory note for another

like amount, due in February of 1957, also payable

to said trustee, pursuant to said contemplated refin-

ancing arrangement (P. T. O. 19, tr. pp. 29-30). Plain-

tiff returned to Coeur d'Alene on January 2, 1957,

at which time negotiations between he and Mr. Al-

bertson resumed (P. T. O. 20, tr. p. 50). Plaintiff was
joined in Coeur d'Alene on January 2nd, 1957, by Mr.

Luther Smith of St. Louis, his attorney and business

associate, who stayed with him until after plaintiff

had negotiated for and made his investment in de-

fendant's stock (tr. pp. 278-298). On January 6, 1957,

Mr. Albertson informed plaintiff that his said note

wasn't acceptable to the Idaho Insurance Department
in connection with the financing proposal then being

considered ; that next day plaintiff presented Mr. Al-

bertson with a letter (Ex. 13), requesting return of

his check and note and advising that he would be

willing to subscribe to $50,003.00 worth of defend-

ant's stock under conditions set forth in said letter

(P. T. O. p. 20). Then on the next day, January 8,

1957, plaintiff informed Mr. Albertson that he was
willing to subscribe the same amount provided the

defendant would be operated under the joint control



of its' Board of Directors and the Rehabilitator and
provided a satisfactory agency contract for a period

not less than one year be given to Transatlantic Cas-

ualty Underwriters, Inc. On that day, Mr. Albertson

made application to and obtained from the court an
order modifying the previous rehabilitation order by
providing that the affairs of defendant would be

jointly managed by the Rehabilitator and the Board
upon filing evidence that the defendant had not less

than the statutory paid in capital of $100,000.00. Mr.

Albertson agTeed with plaintiff to file such evidence

as soon as the amount subscribed under the minimum
financing proposal had been paid in (P. T. O. pp. 20-

21).

At a special meeting of defendant's Board of Di-

rectors on January 8, 1957, plaintiff was appointed as

a Director to fill one of the vacancies caused by res-

ignation and was at a meeting on the following day,

appointed as President of defendant (P. T. O. p. 21).

On or about January 11, 1957, the plaintiff as

president of defendant sent out a letter (Ex. 15) to

all stock subscribers advising them that a sufficient

amount had been subscribed to meet the statory re-

quirement for paid in capital and permit continued

operation of defendant, that a change in plans was
necessary and that the time for stock subscription

had been extended to March 15, 1957, that any sub-

scribers not agreeable thereto could obtain their mon-
ey back if they requested same not later than Janu-

ary 18, 1957. Waiver of notice was enclosed for the

use of subscribers in assenting to said extended time
(P. T. O. p. 21, Ex. 15). At the same time, plaintiff

also signed a letter to defendant's agent informing
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them that the first steps in Rehabilitation has been

taken (Ex. 15) and on or about January 14, 1957,

plaintiff signed a document setting forth his manage-

ment recommendations for defendant. (P. T. O. p.

21).

On January 11, 1957, amendment No. 1 to the

Managing Greneral Agency Agreement between de-

fendant and Transatlantic Casualty Underwriters,

Inc., was executed, providing that the agency commis-

sions be from 27^2 to 30%, that the agreement re-

main in force at least until the end of 1957, granting

the agent additional time in which to pay monies

over to defendant and authorizing the agent to \\Tite

insurance in additional countries (P. T. O. pp. 21 &

22, Tr. pp. 209-212, Ex. 1). Thereupon, on said date,

plaintiff executed a stock subscription agreement and
the waiver aforementioned and gave his check in the

amount of $50,000.00 to said trustee (P. T. O. p. 22).

The source of the money upon which said check

was dra^\Ti was Transatlantic Casualty UnderAvrit-

ers. Inc., which company was then indebted to defend-

ant for premium monies collected but not remitted

(Tr. pp. 208 & 209, 321, ), although plaintiff

previously assured Mr. Albertson that it was his own
money (Tr. p. 337).

The plaintiff left Coeur d'Alene for Germany on

January 14, 1957, intending to return about March
1st to assume the management of defendant. At the

time he left he Avas given a document by Mr. Albert-

son (Ex. 17), setting forth conditions to be realized

prior to termination of rehabilitation (P. T. O. p. 22,

Tr. pp. 214 & 374).



Pursuant to meetings held by the Commissioner
of Insurance and Mr. .Hbertson with officers and em-

ployees of defendant to ascertain whether the defend-

ant could survive with the minimum financing then

on hand and the consensus being in favor, the Com-
missioner and his said Deputy decided to accept the

same and thereupon the trustee was directed to turn

the money in his possession over to defendant, which

he did on January 18th and 21st, 1957. Said money
was spent by defendant. (P. T. O. p. 22, tr. pp. 340-

341).

Plaintiff was informed by Mr. Albertson that the

Idaho Attorney General had ruled that the defend-

ant couldn't be released into joint control until the

Rehabilitator could "guarantee" to the court that the

$100,000.00 capital was unimpaired. No such "guar-

antee" was ever filed with court and the defendant

was never formally released into joint control (P. T.

O. pp. 22 & 23).

On or about January 6, 1957, a Mr. Frank Becker

and his associates commenced negotiations with Mr.

Albertson, which led to a decision on their part in

March, 1957, to purchase all the remaining outstand-

ing unsold shares of defendant's stock, provided they

could secure the same and thereby obtain a control-

ling interest. (P. T. O. pp. 23 & 24). The plaintiff

communicated with Mr. Becker relative to such pur-

chase and wired him that he wouldn't oppose such

sale if the other stockholders favored it (Tr. pp. 84-

90, 240-244, Ex. 25).

In the latter part of March, 1957, after the dead-

line for securing stock subscriptions had expired, the

old stock holders who made their stock available for
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rehabilitation purposes, determined to take 2,162

shares as their full share and to sell all of the unsold

balance of the 60,000 shares, i. e. 38,377 shares for

$7.75 per share, all the proceeds to go to defendant

and the,y consummated an agreement for the sale

thereof to Mr. Becker and associates, by and with the

consent of the Kehabilitator (P. T. O. pp. 24 & 25, Ex.

24).

On or about March 30, 1957, the plaintiff, as

President of defendant, executed stock certificates

for the stock subscribed by plaintiff and others prior

to March 15th, 1957, and sent them to the defendant's

Secretary. (P. T. O. p. 25).

On April 5, 1957, a notice was sent to all stock-

holders of defendant, including plaintiff, advising

them of the latest refinancing plan and requesting

them to deliver a consent and waiver to defendant.

All of the Stockholders delivered such a waiver ex-

cept plaintiff, although he did sign one (P. T. O. p.

26, tr. p. 244). At the annual meeting of stockholders

of defendant on April 15, 1957, the stockholders unan-

imously approved the stock sale to Mr. Becker and
associate and further approved all acts of the Insur-

ance Commissioner and defendant's officers in pro-

ceedings under rehabilitation. The plaintiff, who was
still President, was given due notice of that meeting

but didn't attend (P. T. O. p. 26, Ex. 29, Tr. pp. 95

97).

On May 16, 1957, Mr. Albertson, the acting Ke-

habilitator, filed with the Idaho District Court, an

application for termination of the rehabilitation and

on the same day an order was entered fixing the hear-

ing thereon for May 28, 1957 and directing Mr. Al-
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bertson to give at least five (5) days notice thereof

to all stockholders by mail and publication, which
notice was duly given (P. T. O. pp. 27 & 28). At said

court hearing", which was wholly unopposed, a Judg-

ment and Order terminating said rehabilitation pro-

ceeding was entered (P. T. O. p. 27).

STATEMENT OF DEFENDANT'S CROSS-CLAIM

It is admitted that the Transatlantic Casualty

UnderAATiters, Inc. has collected insurance premiums
on behalf of the defendant in Germany which it has

refused and still refuses to pay over to the defendant

in the amount of $49,297.58. In this action, the de-

fendant cross-claimed against the plaintiff to collect

the same, alleging and contending that even though

said Missouri corporation is not a party to this ac-

tion, it is simply the alter ego or instrumentality of

the plaintiff to carry on said agency business and
that therefore said corporate entity should be disre-

garded—also that plaintiff while in a position of

trust and confidence for the defendant, did cause said

premium monies of the defendant to be accumulated

and Avithheld by said Transatlantic Company, so that

plaintiff could levy an attachment thereagainst when
he inflated this law suit in the Missouri court.

The plaintiff denies the allegations of the cross-

claim, and claims that the Transatlantic Company
has various off-sets, credits and counter-claims

against the defendant, which make said corporation

an indispensable party.

The facts are that the plaintiff caused the forma-

tion of Transatlantic Casualty IJnderAvriters, Inc., a

Missouri corporation, to enter into the general agency
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ap^reement with defendant (Tr. p. 10, 143). Plaintiff

at all times owned all of said corporation stock ex-

cept for one share each owned by his Avife and Mr.

Luther Smith, and plaintiff Avas at all times the

president and manager thereof (Tr. pp. 145 & 147).

Said company represented only the defendant (Tr. p.

147). The plaintiff individually gave a fidelity bond

to defendant at the inception of relationship which

wasn't renewed after plaintiff became president of

defendant (Tr. pp. 144, 362-364). The plaintiff, at

his request, was authorized to draw checks against

the bank account of defendant in Germany, for the

payment of claims (Tr. pp. 22-23, 263).

The $50,000.00 that the plaintiff purchased de-

fendant's stock with was actually money belonging

to the Transatlantic Casualty Underwriters, Inc. (Tr.

p. 321) which company at the time was indebted to

the defendant for premium monies in the amount of

approximately $75,000.00 (Tr. pp. 168), that repre-

senting most all of its cash on hand and at that time

(Tr. p. 260). Plaintiff made such investment in order

to save and protect the business of Transatlantic

Company and thereby protect himself from criticism,

bad publicity and financial loss. (Tr. pp. 160-162,

357).

The evidence shows that plaintiff attempted to

largely condition his investment on benefits that

would accrue to his Transatlantic company, i. e., a

new contract for a minimum term at better commis-

sion rates and an extension of time in which to pay
premiums collected over to the defendant (Tr. pp.
209-211, Ex. 1 & 13).

The plaintiff caused the Transatlantic Companj^
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to A\itlihold payment of preniiiim monies to defendant

for the purpose of accumulatin"- a fund that he could

attach in Missouri for jurisdictional reasons in this

personal suit against defendant (Tr. pp. 254-255,

360-361). Although such attachment was never sup-

ported by plaintiff's bond as required by law and
therefore became automatically terminated, said

premium monies have never been remitted to the de-

fendant (Tr. pp. 254-255) despite the fact that the

agency agreement provides that all premiums are

property of defendant and commissions of the agent

thereon are merely debts of defendant and the agent

guarantees the premium on all policies issued (Ex.1).

The trial court upon findings that the said Trans-

atlantic Casualty Underwriters, Inc., was an entity

separate and apart from plaintiff and was not a

party to this action, decreed the dismissal of defend-

ant's cross-claim against plaintiff.

SPECIFICATIONS OF ERROR

The trial court erred in finding that the Trans-

atlantic Casualty Underwriters, Inc., a Missouri cor-

poration, is an entit.y separate and apart from the

appellant and cross-appellee, Morton K. Lange, and
in concluding therefor that cross-appellants counter-

claim against said corporation for an accounting and
to recover insurance premium monies admittedly

withheld by it should be dismissed, because said cor-

poration is not a party to this action, instead of find-

ing that said corporate entity should be disregarded

because it is merely the alter ego of the appellant

and cross-appellee Morton K. Lange, and concluding
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that cross-appellant is entitled to appropriate equit-

able relief on its' said counterclaim.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The findings of the trial court were sufficiently

comprehensive and pertinent to the issues to provide

a basis for the court's decision and were supported

by the evidence—they therefore sufficiently comply

with the requirements of Rule 52(a) of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure.

II.

The findings of the trial court, being supported

by substantial evidence and none thereof appearing

to be plainly erroneous, will not be overturned on

review.

III.

That plaintiff should have made his claim in the

State Court, and the judgments of the state court ap-

proving the confirming facts all acts of the Rehabili-

tator and terminating the rehabilitation proceedings

is binding and conclusive upon plaintiff. Plaintiff

had the express statutory rght to a hearing and had
actual notice of such right, so the requirement of pro-

cedural due process is satisfied. The plaintiff cannot

now challenge that judgment in this court.

IV.

The essential elements of an action for fraud and

deceit are not present. The factual matters alleged
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to have been misrepresented were not false or known
to be false by the party making it, and the other mat-

ter alleged to have been misrepresented were not

facts. The plaintiff did not, in fact, rel}^ on any rep-

resentations made by Mr. Albertson or Mr. Chapman,
whether true or false.

V.

Plaintiff waived his right to sue for damages
or rescind for fraud by reason of his inconsistent

conduct and dealings with property after knowledge.

Also, as a condition of rescinding, the plaintiff has

never offered to, has not and cannot put the defend-

ant in its' former position.

VI

The evidence entitles the defendant to recover

from the plaintiff the premium monies in the amount
of $49,297.58, admitted to be withheld by the Trans-

atlantic Casualty Underwriters, Inc., on the grounds

that said corporation is and was merely the alter ego

or business conduit of the plaintiff. The corporate

entity should be disregarded under the facts and cir-

cumstances.

A R G U M E N T

I.

The defendant submits that the trial court's find-

ings of fact states the ultimate relevant facts neces-

sary to support the ultimate conclusions reached by
the court, and that such findings are therefore in

compliance with Rule 52 (a) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure.
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The ultimate test as to the adequacy of findings
will alwa.ys be whether they are sufficiently com-
prehensive and pertinent to the issues to provide
a basis for decision and whether they are sup-

ported by the evidence.

Summerbell v. Elgin Nat. Watch Co. (CADC)
215, F. 2d. 323.

Shapiro v. Rubens (CAA Ind.) 166 F. 2d. 659.

Weber v. McKee (CA Texas) 215 F. 2d. 447.

"Findings should not be discursive; they should
not state the evidence or any of the reasoning up-

on the evidence; they should be categorical and
confined to those propositions of fact which fit

upon the relevant propositions of law."

Petterson Lighterage & Towing Corp, v. New
York Central R. Co. (CAA 2d.), 126 F. 2d.

992.

II.

It is the contention of the plaintiff, as presented

by his Points on Appeal Nos. II-IX, that the trial

court erred in finding from the evidence introduced

that plaintiffs subscription monies were turned over

to the defendant pursuant to plaintiff's agreement,

full knowledge and consent, that no fraud whatever

was practiced upon plaintiff for the purpose of in-

ducing his subscription or at all, nor was any agree-

ment made with plaintiff violated by defendant tak-

ing and retaining such monies and in further finding

inequitable and estoppel producing actions and con-

duct or ommissions on the part of plaintiff. Defend-

ant submits that each and all of the trial court's find-

ings are supported by substantial, although in some
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instances conflicting evidence and that therefore said

findings are entitled to be affirmed on this appeal,

particularly so, since this is an equity matter.

The substantial and convincing evidence in sup-

port of the court's finding is as follows :

That when it developed that a sufficient amount
of new financing, satisfactory to the Insurance Com-

missioner, had not been subscribed by January 2nd,

1957, to meet the minimum financing requirements

as originally contemplated, the December 10th, 1956

resolution and stock subscription agreement was nec-

essarily modified (Tr. pp. 336, 339-340, Ex. 15) a few

days after January 2nd, 1957, to provide that the

minimum financing of approximately $275,000.00

that the original plan contemplated raising by Jan-

uary 2nd, be undertaken in two stages, to-wit: (a)

that the financing to provide at least the minimum
capital required by law for the Company to continue

in business after December 31st, 1956, be immediate-

ly accomplished and taken into the Company (Tr. pp.

183-185, 338-340, 354-356, Exs. 15 & 16, and, (b) that

the time be extended until March 15th, 1957, from
January 2nd for selling the unsold balance of the 36,-

000 shares, to raise the minimum capital satisfactory

to the Commissioner for ending the rehabilitation

proceedings (Tr. pp. 339-340).

On or about January 8th, 1957, the plaintiff, as

a condition of his later stock subscription, had ar-

ranged to have himself appointed to defendant's

I>oard of Directors, and then made President of the

defendant, which positions also presumed that he

would be a stockholder (Tr. pp. 208, P. T. O. p. 21).

Thereafter, on January 11th, 1957, an amendment to
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the Agency contract between plaintiff's Transatlantic

Oasnaltv Underwriters, Inc., and tlie defendant, of

whicli plaintiff was then president, was executed (Tr.

pp. 209-211) which guaranteed the agency relation-

ship for another year at higher commissions over

what defendant felt obliged to reduce them to in Oc-

tober, 1956, extended the time for premium remit-

tance, and authorized the writing of insurance in

France, Spain and Italy, but significently omitted

any provision for the "green cards and excess limits

facilities'-, which plaintiff, an attorney, contends

were of such vital importance (Tr. pp. 209-212, Ex.

1). Thereupon, the plaintiff made his stock subscrip-

tion for $50,000.00 (P. T. O. pp. 21 & 22, Ex. 16),

using for that purpose monies of Transatlantic Com-
pany, which company was then indebted to the de-

fendant for more than that amount (Tr. pp. 168, 208-

209). He intended to thereby become a stockholder

in defendant and did (Tr. p. 207). It was most im-

portant to plaintiff that the defendant sui'vive and
continue to operate (Tr. pp. 160-162, 207, 357), and
he knew that he had to put that amount of money in

or the defendant would have been liquidated ( Tr. pp.

202-203).

On January 11th also, the plaintiff as President

of the defendant, sent out a letter to all subscribers

advising them that sufficient subscriptions had then

been received to provide the statutory paid in capital

of $100,000.00 and permit the defendant to continue

to operate but that additional financing was neces-

sary and that the original agreement had been modi-

fied so as to extend the time for subscriptions to

March 15th, 1957, and that present subscribers could

obtain their money back if they requested the same
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not later than January 18th, 1957 (Ex. 15), and he

also on that date sent a letter to defendant's agents

ad\ising that the first steps in rehabilitation of de-

fendant had been accomplished and that the impair-

ment of capital had been sufficiently relieved to per-

mit defendant to continue to operate (Ex. 15).

Plaintiff was informed prior to January 18th

that the defendant was critically short of cash with

which to meet its' normal operating expenses not to

mention payment of claims (Tr. pp. 340-341, 355-356).

On January 18th and 21st, 1957, promptly fol-

lowing the expiration of time in which subscribers

could obtain their money back pursuant to plaintiff's

notice to them of January 11th (Ex. 15), the sub-

scription money then on hand, about $150,000.00 was

turned over to the defendant by the trustee at the

direction of the Kehabilitator (P. T. O. p. 19, Tr. pp.

339-340). While plaintiff incredably denies that he

had knowledge that such was going to happen, he

does, however, admit to receiving knowledge on or

about February 1st, 1957 that his and the other sub-

scribers' money had gone into the defendant's treas-

ury (Tr. pp. 71-72, Ex. 18, 19, 52).

Contrary to plaintiff's statement on p. 25 of his

brief, defendant's answer does not admit that the

funds transferred to the defendant were insufficient

to meet the requirements of the Commissioner for

the continued operation of the company, but rather

does admit that funds were transferred to the de-

fendant on or about January 19th, 1957, and further

admits that sufficient funds were not raised by the

resale of stock by March 15, 1957, to meet the require-

ments of the Insurance Commissioner to permit the
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continued operation of the defendant (P. T. O. p. 5).

The funds transferred to the defendant in January,

1957, were not only necessary but sufficient to provide

the statutory minimum capital and thereby save de-

fendant from liquidation but to permit its' continued

operation and by reason thereof the defendant at all

times since has been able to continue operating (Tr.

pp. 358-359). The very exhibits cited by plaintiff

(Exs. 38, 39, 42 & 46) do show, despite plaintiff's

contrary assertions, that the amount of money turned

over to defendant did not only make the assets equal

to the liabilities as of that time, but did also provide

the required minimum capital of $100,000.00 (Tr. pp.

326, 339-340). By the end of March, 1957, however,

the defendant's capital Avas again impaired due to

further losses (Tr. pp. 121-122, Exs. 36 & 38), and
the amount of additional money raised as of that

time was not sufficient to meet the requirements

for continued operation (Exs. 20, 21, 22 & 28). It

was always recognized by the Rehabilitator and
plaintiff was advised that the defendant should have

at least $250,000.00 additional financing (Tr. p. 159),

the original plan called for raising $279,000.00 (Tr.

pp. 44-45, Ex. 11) and $500,000.00 was really needed

(Tr. p. 340).

In the month of March, 1957, the plaintiff as

president, signed and transmitted to the secretary

of defendant the stock certificates representing the

stock subscribed by himself as well as the numerous
other subscribers through the trustee (P. T. O. p. 25

Tr. p. 358), all of which others presumably under-

stood the circumstances of their investment and have

never questioned the same whatever (Tr. p. 25).
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An imderstanding- was reached between plaintiff

and Mr. Albertson that state court rehabilitation or-

der would be modified to alloAv for joint management
of defendant by the rehabilitator and the board of

directors, and an application was made to the court

for the purpose (P. T. O. p. 20, Ex. 14). It wasn't

accomplished because the Idaho Attorney General in-

formed ^Ir. Albertson that he Avould have to guar-

antee to the court that defendant had unimpaired the

capital required hy statute as a condition thereof

(Ex. 19). It would appear to be very questionable

whether the statutory Rehabilitator could laT\^ully

delegate or impair performance of his duties by such

an arrangement and as a practical matter, if under

joint control there was lack of agreement, the de-

cision of the rehabilitator would doubtless control

(Tr. pp. 215-217). Actually, the Board and Mr. Al-

bertson did meet and work together to try and re-

solve defendant's troubles (Tr. p. 347, Exs. 18, 19 &
20 ) . The plaintiff, who was president and a director of

defendant, was, however, absent in Germany at all

times (Tr. p. 216).

The plaintiff and his attorney, Mr. Smith, had

every opportunity to make their own investigation

and examination of defendant's condition and af-

fairs during most of a month prior to plaintiff mak-

ing his investment (Tr. pp. 165-167, 50 & 68), did

make inquiries and had the same information that

Mr. Albertson had (Tr. 827,328, 342-343, Ex. 10).

Mr. Albertson, the Rehabilitator, testified that

he believed everything he told plaintiff to be true,

that he never since learned of an>i:hing told to plain-

tiff that was untrue, that he had no reas(m to deceive
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him or to induce him to purchase defemlant's stock

(Tr. p. 335), and that he made no attempt whatever

to and didn't deceive the plaintiff (Tr. pp. 342-344).

Mr. Chapman, who plaintiff also claims made mis-

representations to him, was a Vice-President of de-

fendant and as such was simply an employee under

Mr. Albertson during^ rehabilitation. The court re-

habilitation order divested him of all authority on

behalf of the defendant and he had no authority from

Mr. Albertson to make any representations to plain-

tiff (Tr. pp. 344-345). According to Mr. Albertson,

plaintiff's investment Avas prompted by Mr. Albert-

son's matter of fact representation to him that the

defendant would be liquidated unless there was a

minimum amount of capital in it by the end of 1956.

(Tr. p. 344).

Mr. Albertson further testified that in truth the

defendant's assets did equal or exceed its' liabilities

as of December 31st, 1956, and that a net operating

profit was made for that year, M^hich facts are re-

flected by the financial statement (Tr. pp. 334-335,

Ex. 37 ) . Admittedly, in insurance accounting,

there are, as of any one time, a number of items which

can only be carefully estimated, and the accuracy of

which cannot be known until a couple of months later.

For that reason, it is impossible to make an absolute

representation as to the present financial condition

of such a company (Tr. pp. 329-331). That fact was
known to plaintiff (Tr. pp. 223-224). The plaintiff

was unable to show by his testimony that the defend-

ant's assets weren't equal to its' liabilities on Decem-

ber 31st, 1956, as he alleged (Tr. pp. 217-222).

The plaintiff, better than anyone, should have
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known about the accuracy of some important items

in the financial report, for it later developed that

it was his oa\ti German agency business that occa-

sioned substantial losses for the defendant in 1956

(Tr. pp. 224-225, Ex. 20). Plaintiffs agency

business never was profitable for defendant and from

January, 1957, to the termination of the relationship

in 1959, it caused losses of more than $100,000.00 for

defendant (Tr. p. 359).

Mr. Albertson testified that he never agreed to

any of the conditions advanced by plaintiff for put-

ting his money in because as Rehabilitator, he was
not in any position to do so and was not involved in

the sale of defendant's stock—that was the respon-

sibility of the owners and managers of defendant

and the Rehabilitator only approved or disapproved

of their actions (Tr. pp. 342 & 344).

As for the matter of "green cards and excess

limits", the evidence discloses that the plaintiff had
"green card'' facilities at nearly all times (Tr. pp.

239-240, 314, 373) that the defendant's management
made diligent efforts to obtain the cards through an-

other source in order to please plaintiff, but that the

furnishing of both cards and excess limits were not

within the control of defendant for it had to rely on

some reinsurer to provide the same (Tr. pp. 138-140,

238, Ex. 38). Plaintiff as President of defendant,

carried on his own negotiations for a change in

"card" arrangement (Tr. p. 239).

Plaintiff now contends that his rights were great-

ly violated because the stock remaining unsold on

March 15th, 1957, was later sold by the original stock-

holders of defendant to the Becker Group rather than
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returned to the defendant and cancelled. The facts

of the matter are that the plaintiff, who was Presi-

dent of defendant and charged with its' welfare, knew
that as of March 16, 1957, the defendant required a

substantial amount of additional financing if it was
ever to continue operating, let alone get out from

under the rehabilitation proceedings (Ex. 21), that

the Becker Group was negotiating in good faith to

purchase all of the unsold and remaining stock from
the old stockholders (Tr. p. 243, Ex. 22) and in fact

plaintiff had been soliciting and encouraging the

Becker Group for weeks past ( Tr. pp. 240-241 )

.

Plaintiff had full knowledge of the proposed pur-

chase by the Becker Group when he executed the

stock certificate for himself and others who had pur-

chased through the trustee, and was relying upon
such refinancing (Ex. 23). Plaintiff even sent a tele-

gram to Mr. Becker on April 7, 1957 (Ex. 25) stating

that he had no objections to his Group buying the re-

maining 38,000.00 shares and that they need expect

no trouble from plaintiff if other stockholders in fav-

or—which all others were (Tr. pp. 243-244). Like all

the other existing stockholders, he signed a consent

and waiver, but for some unknown reason it was
never delivered to the defendant (Tr. p. 244). Pur-

suant to such indicated approval an option was taken

on all of said stock by the Becker Group on March
27, 1957 under which the purchase was conditioned

on sufficient approval by the defendant's stockhold-

ers and of the state court at a hearing terminating

the rehabilitation (Ex. 24).

At a special meeting of defendant's stockholders

held on April 15, 1957, of which plaintiff was given
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due notice, the stockholders present unanimously ap-

proveil said sale (P. T. O. p. 26). The plaintiff's stock

was not voted thereat. He testified that he wouldn't

have objected thereto (Tr. pp. 95-97).

The defendant submits that even if said stock

had been cancelled as plaintiff claims it should have

been, it would have become either treasury or unissed

stock of the defendant, in which case it was subject

to issuance or sale by the management of the defend-

ant for necessary financin|2: purposes just as was
done. There was certainly no commitment made by
or on behalf of the defendant that its' Board of Direc-

tors would no longer have any authority to take such

action as it considered necessary for the best inter-

ests of the defendant.

Pursuant to said stock option agreement and the

stockholder approval, the Rehabilitator filed a peti-

tion with the state court for a final hearing relative

to termination of the rehabilitation proceedings and
approving the actions of the deputy rehabilitator, Mr.

Albertson, with respect thereto, and the hearing

thereon was fixed for May 28, 1957, of which

due notice was received by the plaintiff (P. T.

O. Tr. p.. 244, pp. 26 & 27). Despite the fact

that the plaintiff had been making charges of

fraud against the Rehabilitator since about aMrch
1, 1957, or sooner and had knowledge since about Feb-

ruary 1, 1957, that his money had been taken into the

defendant, he never at any time informed the Becker

Group prior to said Group's large investment in the

defendant in May of his fraud claims against the

defendant (Tr. pp. 250-251).

The plaintiff did not intervene in any manner
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whatever in said court proceeding to terminate tlie

rehabilitation of defendant and was not present at

the final hearing (Tr. pp. 245-246, Ex. 65). Prior

thereto, however, the plaintiff had engaged an at-

torney to look into the matter of the alleged fraudu-

lent stock sale to the Becker Group (Tr. pp. 244-245).

There being no objections made by any person

whatever, to the proposed termination of rehabilita-

tion proceedings (Tr. p. 349) and the state court find-

ing that the defendant, upon the investment of the

Becker Group, Avould have adequate and unimpaired

capital and surplus, entered its' decree on May 28,

1957, terminating the rehabilitation proceedings (Ex.

65). On that same day the Becker Group invested

approximately $300,000.00 in defendant's stock, all

of which amount Avent into defendant's treasury (Tr.

pp. 351, 372, Ex. 24). The Kehabilitator wouldn't

have recommended that the defendant be discharged

Avithout the investments of plaintiff, the Becker

Group and the other subscribers (Tr. pp. 246 & 350).

By the same order, the court approved all actions of

the Kehabilitator during the proceedings (Tr. p. 349,

Ex. 65).

The plaintiff testified that he was willing to re-

tain his stock in defendant and go along with the

Becker management of defendant (Tr. p. 349, 252),

later he wanted the Becker Group to buy him out ( Tr.

pp. 246-247
)

, and then he made his first demand upon
defendant in August 1958, to return his investment

(Tr. p. 252). Plaintiff voted his stock at a special

stockholder's meeting of defendant in November,

1957 (Tr. p. 253). In late 1957, and before the plain-

tiff made any demands for return of his money, the
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Becker Group invested an additional $250,000.00 in

the defendant, for which they took contribution certi-

ficates (Tr. pp. 129-130, 251, 253, Ex. 34).

The relationship between defendant and plain-

tiff's agency company was continued until June, 1959,

when it was terminated by plaintiff's agency (Tr.

137 & 142 ) , after many threats of a law suit by plain-

tiff (Tr. p. 360).

There are no allegations in this case, nor could

there be any, that any of the investors who invested

in the rehabilitation of this defendant company, in

the amount of approximately $750,000.00, were any-

thing but completely innocent investors. Indeed the

plaintiff, who took on the role of President and Chair-

man of the Board of defendant, and thereby had a

duty to investigate and know the condition of defend-

ant is perhaps the least innocent of any of these vari-

ous investors. Even after he had made some claims

of being defrauded, he signed his own stock certifi-

cate and those of other members of his group, which

other members invested about one hundred thousand

dollars.

The broad picture of this lawsuit from an equity

standpoint, is the picture of one person who invested

$50,000.00 of a group of people who invested about
$750,000.00, asking to get his whole investment re-

turned to him at the expense of numerous other com-

pletely innocent investors, some of whom relied to

some extent on him in making their investment, and
which person, without any objection, allowed the

court to enter an order approving the acts of the Re-

habilitator.
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Under all the facts and circumstances, the trial

court decided that if there was any fraud or wrong-

doing, the plaintiff was a party to it (Tr. pp. 381 &

383).

The trial court's findings, supported by substant-

ial evidence, and not appearing to be plainly er-

roneous, must stand on appeal.

Wight y. Chandler, (CCA Wyo.) 264 F. 2d. 249.

Arn y. Dunnett (CCA Okla.). 93 F. 2d. 634, Cert.

den 58S. Ct. 1046; 304 U. S. 577, 82 L. Ed. 1540.

Findings of fact b}^ trial judge on conflicting evi-

dence are entitled to great weight.

Nenkom v. North Butte Min. Co. (CCA Mont.)
84 F. 2d. 101.

Hedrick v. Perry (CCANM) 102 F. 2d. 802.

Findings of fact made in an equity case are pre-

sumptively correct and will not be disturbed un-

less a serious mistake has been made in consider-

ation of the evidence.

Hedrick v. Perry, (CCANM) 102 F. 2d. 802.

Chisholm v. House, (CCA Okla.) 183 F. 2d. 698.

Ruth V. Climax Molybdenum Co. (CCA Colo.) 93
F. 2d. 699.

III.

Plaintiff is barred from bringing his action in

fraud against the company arising out of the alleged

misrepresentations of Mr. ^Vlbertson and Mr. Chap-

man, since these acts and things were done as part of,

in fact the actual heart of, the rehabilitation proceed-

ing. The specific acts and things done were approved

by the Idaho District Court in its' order terminating
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the rehabilitation. Plaintiff had notice of hearing on
this matter, he had employed counsel to represent his

interests, made no objection at the time of the entry

of the order, has made no attempt to reopen the pro-

ceedings nor to ask the Idaho District Court to re-

consider its' decision, has taken no appeal, and the

order is final. It is difficult to imagine a more clear

case of a collateral attack on the judgment of a State

court. It is not only hornbook law that this cannot be

done, but the only authorities bearing on the validity

of orders in rehabilitation are unanimous in holding

that the judgment cannot thus be collaterally at-

tacked.

This very court in its' recent decision in the case

of Liberty National Insurance Co. v. Reinsurance

Agency, Inc., (C. C. A. Ida.)) 307 F. 2d. 164, con-

cerning this selfsame rehabilitation proceeding, held

that said judgment of the state court approving the

actions of the state appointed rehabilitator, who had
cancelled an agency contract between the parties,

was binding upon the parties and that the Reinsur-

ance Agnecy, Inc. had no right to question the valid-

ity of such cancellation in the federal court.

This court said therein

:

"The Idaho State Court's authority respecting
the subject of this litigation including the ques-

tion whether or not the commission contract of

September 1, 1955 should be cancelled is prior

and paramount to this Court's authority touch-

ing the same subject. Hutchins v. Pac. Mut. Life

Ins. Co., 9 Cir., 97 F. 2d. 58, (>0, and cases there
cited."

"To determine in the present action appellee's re-
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quested relief based on its repudiation of tlie

State Court's approval of cancellation of the Sep-

tember 1, 1955 contract is re-decide in a federal

court not appellee to the State Court what was
previously decided by the Idaho State Court

when it had unquestioned jurisdiction in the re-

habilitation proceeding. In that proceeding on
that question of cancellation, appellee was if it

wished privileged to have a hearing, as expressly
proWded in the Idaho State Insurance Code."

"Under a well-known legal principal appellee is

supposed to have known that law and to have
contracted with it in mind."

u* * * t- Appellee, however, did not seek a hearing
in that State Court proceeding, took no court ac-

tion therein, and the cancellation of the contract

became final as to appellant and appellee with
the approval of such cancellation by the State
Court's judgment and order. Appellee, as well

as appellant, if aggrieved, could and should have
in that proceeding laid the foundation for proper
appellate review."

IV.

The essential elements of an action for fraud and

deceit are not present here. The essential elements

required to sustain an action for fraud consist of an

untrue representation or statement of past or exist-

ing material fact, which representation or statements

made with speaker's knowledge of its' falsity or ig-

norance of its' truth and his intention that recipient

will act thereon, recipient's ignorance of the untruth

and his right to rely and reliance thereon to his dam-

age.



29

Weitzel v. Jukich, 73 Ida. 301, 251 P. 2d. 542
23 Am. Jiir. 773, Sec. 20.

The alleged representations that the defendant

would furnish green cards, excess limits and expand-

ed coverage to other countries could not amount to

misrepresentations of fact, even if made. Such state-

ments at best were promissory in nature and con-

cerned matters that were not within the power or con-

trol of the persons allegedly making the promises.

It is a general rule that fraud cannot be predicated

upon statements which are promissory in nature

when made and relate to future actions or conduct,

upon the mere failure to perform a promise or upon
failure to fulfill an agreement to do something at a

future time or to make good subsequent conditions

which have been assured, since non-performance alone

has frequently been held to not even constitute evi-

dence of fraud.

23 Am. Jur. Sec. 38, pp. 799-801.

It is true that a fraud may be predicated upon

a promise made without the intention to perform,

but this cannot be proved merely by proving a prom-

ise and a failure to perform.

The evidence clearly discloses that the plaintiff

did not, in fact, rely on any representations made by

Mr. Albertson or Mr. Chapman, whether true or false,

that any representations they may have made as to

defendant's financial condition were expressed and

understood as nothing more than honest statements

of opinion, based upon reasonable grounds and that

the plaintfif wasn't induced by them to forbear in-

quiry as to their truth but rather was encouraged to

investigate for himself and did.
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It is a fundamental principal of the law of fraud,

regardless of the form of relief sought, that in order

to secure redress, the representee must have relied u])-

on the statement or representation as an inducement

to his action or injurious change of position. More-

over, the representation must be the proximate cause

of such action or change of position, i. e., it must have

been acted on in the manner contemplated by the par-

ty making it or else in some manner reasonably prob-

able.

Nelson v. Hoff, 70 Ida. 354, 218 P. 2d. 345
23 Am. Jur., Sec. 141, p. 939, et seq.

In any fraud case, in order to secure relief, the

complaining party must honestly confide in the rep-

resentation or, as has been said, must reasonably

believe them to be true. The law will not permit one

to predicate damage upon statements which he does

not believe to be true. A party has no right to rely

upon alleged misrepresentations where he is aware
of the falsity thereof or has reason to doubt the truth

thereof.

23 Am. Jur., Sec. 146, p. 951.

A representation Avhich is an honest expression
of opinion, based upon reasonable grounds, and
which is expressed and understood as nothing
more than an opinion, cannot be made the basis
of actionable fraud.

Barron v. Koenig, 80 Ida. 28, 324 P. 2d. 388.

V.

The evidence shows, that even though the plain-
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tiff admits to receivino^ knowledge on or about Feb-

ruary 1, 1957, that his money had been turned over to

the defendant, which fact he claims to be a fraud up-

on him, he thereafter, without voicing any such claim,

continued as President and a director of defendant,

issued the stock certificates to himself and others,

continued his agency at the expense of defendant,

solicited the large investment of funds by the Becker

Group, failed to intervene in the state court hearing

ending the rehabilitation and voted his stock, among
other things. Plaintiff has by such action and con-

duct waived any right he may have had to sue for

damages or rescind.

The principle is well settled that a person de-

frauded in a transaction may, by conduct inconsistent

with an intention to sue for damages for fraud, waive

the right to sue. Likewise, one who, uninfluenced by
the fraud, deals with the property as his own after

having fully discovered that fraud has been practiced

upon him in the contract or transaction by or through

which he acquired the property, thereby waives his

right to rescind.

24 Am. Jur. Sec. 209-210, pp. 34-37.

VI.

It is a general rule of law that if a party intends

to rescind a contract, he must return the considera-

tion received therefor and put the parties back in

their former position as nearly as possible. During

the period from January, 1957, when plaintiff made
his investment, to the time the agency contract was

terminated, defendant lost over t\\ice the amount of

money that plaintiff is now suing for on account of
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plaintiff's agency business in Germany, which busi-

ness the defendant would have discontinued except

for plaintiff's purchase of defendant's stock. The de-

fendant can only be returned to the status quo by
the payment of a substantial amount of money to it.

A party seeking to rescind a stock subscription

for fraud of the corporation's agents, must res-

cind it as a whole and if he has received any-
thing under it, he must return what he has re-

ceived or offer to return it.

Gordon v. Ralston, (Ore.) 62 P. 2d. 1328.

ARGUMENT ON CROSS-APPEAL

I.

The corporate entity in this case should be dis-

regarded. There have been too many cases and

too many articles and treaties written on this sub-

ject to cover them all. The subject in general is cov-

ered in 1 Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations, Sec.

41, p. 134 et seq. Fletcher states the general rule that

''Notwithstanding the lack of agreement on these

points, practically all authorities agree that under

some circumstances in a particular case, the corpora-

tion may be disregarded as an intermediate between

the ultimate person or persons or corporation and the

adverse party; and should be disregarded in the in-

terest of justice in such cases as fraud, contravention

of law or contract, public wrong, or to work out the

equities among members of the corporation internal-

ly and involving no rights of the public or third per-

sons. There is a growing tendency of courts to do

so." 1 Fletcher Cyclopedia Corporations 134. "An-

other rule is that, when the corporation is the mere
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alter ego, or business conduit of a person, it may be

disregarded." 1 Fletcher Cyclopedia Corporations,

Idaho recognizes this rule. See Metz v. Haiv-

kins, 64 Idaho, 386, 133 P. 2d. 721. In this case the de-

fendant looked to the plaintiff as an individual to

carry on its business in Germany. He was its agent,

although he operated technically through a corporate

setup. He was the one who was originally bonded

and not the corporation. The doctrine is particularly

applicable where the subject matter in controversy

involves the corporation as well as the indi\idual.

In this case the plaintiff put up the money primarily

for the purpose of saving the business of the corpora-

tion. In fact, he put up the money from the funds be-

longing to the corporation and he was thus, in fact,

acting for the corporation when he made the invest-

ment and not acting for himself personally. He took

advantage of his control over the corporation to ac-

cumulate $50,000.00 or more in premiums due to pro-

vide himself with an offset on his personal claim

against the company. He went through the foi*mality

of attaching these funds, but never carried through

to the point of answering the ^YY\i of attachment, al-

though it was long past due. He and he alone had

been responsible for the corporatioi) failing and re-

fusing to make an accounting for the premiums that

have been collected, until the time the pre-trial order

was entered herein when the plaintiff acknowledged

that the Transatlantic Company was indebted to de-

fendant in the amount of $49,297.58 for unremitted

premiums. These premiums were collected on behalf

of the Liberty National Insurance Company and un-

der the agency agreement were the absolute property

of the defendant. He was responsible for converting
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these funds to his own use. For him to hide behind the

separate entity of the corporation under such circum-

stances would, in fact, permit and aid and abet the

misappropriation of the funds of the Liberty Nation-

al Insurance Company.

It appears that in this case there should be no

question in anyone's mind that Mr. Lange was the re-

sponsible agent for the Liberty National Insurance

Company to see that the money that was collected

in Germany as funds of the Liberty National Insur-

ance Company were not diverted to some other chan-

nel.

The facts and circumstances of this case make
applicable the rule announced by the Idaho Supreme
Court in the case of Metz v. Hawkins, supra, wherein

it held

:

A corporate entity may be disregarded when it

is shown that there is such a unity of interest

and ownership that individuality of corporation
and stockholders, officers or directors has ceased,

and that observance of the fiction of separate ex-

istence would sanction a fraud or promote an in-

justice.

CONCLUSION
This defendant submits that the judgment of

the trial court in determining that the plaintiff is not

entitled on any legal or equitable ground whatever

to rescind his stock subscription and that his action

must be dismissed is amply supported by substantial

and convincing evidence and that therefore the same
must be sustained by this appellate court. Addition-

ally, said decision is entitled to be sustained on the

basis of any or all of the affirmative defenses pre-
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sented, and, in particular on the res adjudicata prin-

ciple adhered to by this court in connection with this

very rehabilitation procee<lino- in its very recent de-

cision in Liberty National Insurance Co. v. Reinsur-

ance Agency, Inc. (C. C. A. Ida.) 307 F. 2d. 164.

The defendant further submits, however, that

equity demands that the defendant recover from the

plaintiff, as the alter ego of Transatlantic Casualty

Underwriters, Inc., the admittedly mthheld premium
monies in the amount of $49,297.58, the same being

by the agency agreement the absolute property of

the defendant and tanamount to trust funds in the

hands of plaintiff's said agency company. Any de-

mands of Transatlantic Company thereagainst can

be and should now be the subject of an independent

action for that purpose, and should not preclude ulti-

mate and complete justice between these parties on

the issues presented herein.

IT IS, THEREFORE, RESPECTFULLY SUB-
MITTED, that the considered judgment of the lower

court be sustained in favor of this defendant on the

claim of the plaintiff and that it be reversed to favor

the claim of this defendant against the plaintiff.

Respectfully submitted,

McNAUGHTON & SANDERSON.

Bv

A Member of the Firm
Attorneys for the Appellee
& Cross-Appellant

Coeur d'Alene, Idaho.
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I certify that, in connection with the preparation

of this brief, I have examined Rules 18 and 19 of the

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Cir-

cuit, and that, in my opinion, the foregoing brief is in

full compliance therewith.

One of the Attorneys for Appellee
and Cross-Appellant.

Service of the above and foregoing Brief of Ap-

pellee is hereby admitted and threec opies have been

rceived by me on this day of February, 1963.

Attorney for Appellant.
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JURISDICTION

This petition has been filed to review a decision of

the Tax Court of the United States involving the income

tax liability of petitioners for the taxable years 1956

and 1957.

Notice of deficiency was mailed to petitioners on

March 28, 1960 [R. 9, 16], and the petition for redeter-

mination of the deficiency was filed with the Tax Court

on June 6, 1960. [R.3] The petition was filed pursuant

to § 6213(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954. The

decision of The Tax Court was entered on May 31, 1962.

[R.4] . Petition for Review was filed and notice thereof

served upon counsel for respondent on August 20, 1962.

[R.4]

The income tax returns of petitioners for the years

1956 and 1957 were filed with the District Director of

Internal Revenue at Los Angeles, California [R. 7.14,16].

The Petition for Review was filed pursuant to § 7483 and

jurisdiction is invoked under § 7482 of the Internal

Revenue Code of 1954.

STATUTES AND REGULATIONS INVOLVED

The pertinent provisions of the statutes and regula-

tions herein involved are set forth in the Appendix, infra
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STATEMENT

The taxes in controversy herein are Federal income

taxes for the taxable years ended December 31, 1956 and

December 31, 1957. [R. 5,16].

This case was submitted to the Tax Court on a written

Stipulation of Facts, [R. 16-18]

Petitioners arrived in France on October 1, 1953 and

remained continuously in Europe until July 15, 1956 when

they departed France to return to the United States. They

were, thus, present in foreign countries for a period in

excess of 510 full days, in a period of eighteen (18) con-

secutive months.

During said period, Jean Renoir (hereinafter referred

to as petitioner) performed personal services as a motion

picture director and writer in France.

In 1956, petitioner received a salary in the amount

of $35,000 in partial payment for personal services per-

formed during said period.

In 1957, petitioner received a salary in the amount

of $10,000 in partial payment for personal services

rendered during said period.

Petitioners, Jean Renoir and Dido Freire Renoir, are

husband and wife and were residents and domiciled in the

State of California during all of the years herein referred

to.





-4-

Petitioners filed their joint Federal Income Tax

Returns (Form 1040) for the years 1956 and 1957 with the

District Director of Internal Revenue at Los Angeles,

California. Said returns were prepared and filed on the

cash receipts and disbursements basis.

In said returns so filed petitioners excluded said

$35,000 received in 1956 and said $10,000 received in

1957 as being non-taxable under § 911(a)(2) of the

Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Do the words "taxable year" appearing

in § 911(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of

1954 mean the year in which the services were

performed or the year in which the income attri-

butable to the services performed was received?

2, Is each petitioner entitled to the exclu-

sion provided for in § 911(a)(2), by reason of

their being husband and wife domiciled in and

residents of the State of California, a community

property state?

SPECIFICATIONS OF ERRORS

The Tax Court erred

:
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I.

1. In concluding that the words "taxable year"

mean the year in which the income was received;

2. In failing to conclude that the words "taxable

year" mean the year in which the services were performed;

3. In failing to conclude that under Regulation 118,

§ 39,116-1 (a) and (b), issued by the Commissioner of

Internal Revenue, with the consent of the Treasury Depart-

ment, which were in effect in 1956 and 1957, until at

least, August, 1957, time of receipt of amounts which other-

wise qualified under the applicable code sections set out

in the Appendix, infra, was immaterial.

II.

In failing to conclude that each petitioner is

entitled to such $20,000 exclusion or ratable portion

thereof, by reason of their being husband and wife

domiciled in and residents of the State of California,

a community property state:

(a) Said income earned by reason of the rendi-

tion of personal services by Jean Renoir

during the period October 1, 1953 to July

15, 1956, was the community income of peti-

tioners earned and owned one-half by each.
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ARGUMENT

I.

THE WORDS "TAXABLE YEAR" MEAN THE YEAR IN WHICH THE SERVICES

WERE PERFORMED AND NOT THE YEAR IN WHICH THE INCOME WAS

RECEIVED AND THEREFORE TIME OF RECEIPT IS IMMATERIAL.

This Court in Ladd v Riddell, 309 F. 2d 51, recently

held against taxpayers on this point. Petitioners urge this

Court to reconsider its views and to reconsider an argument

made in the Ladd case but not mentioned in its decision.

In deciding the Ladd case, this Court based its deci-

sion solely on the definition of "taxable year" contained

in subparagraph (23) of § 7701 (a) of the Internal Revenue

Code of 1954 and on the Tax Court's decision in the

instant case, which decision was likewise bottomed solely

on said subparagraph (23).

Neither this Court nor The Tax Court mentions paragraph

(a) of said § 7701 which reads:

Section 7701. Definitions.

(a) When used in this title, when not otherwise

distinctly expressed or manifestly incompatible with

the intent thereof - (underscoring added)

.

Clearly the underscored words appearing in (a) above

state that the words "taxable year" can have a different

meaning than that contained in said subparagraph (23).

Such a different meaning is required when distinctly

expressed or when said words are so used in a manner
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manifestly incompatible with the intent of subparagraph (23),

It is submitted that it is equally clear that the use

of the words "taxable year" in § 2 04 of the Technical

Changes Act of 1953, and in § 911 (a) (2) of the Internal

Revenue Code of 1954, distinctly expresses a different

meaning from that given in subparagraph (23) and that said

words as so used are manifestly incompatible with the defini-

tion thereof in said subparagraph.

The words "taxable year" appear in said §§ 204 and 911

(a) (2) in the following context:

"If the 18 month period includes the entire

taxable year, the amount excluded under this para-

graph for such taxable year shall not exceed

$20,000. If the 18 month period does not include

the entire taxable year, the amount excluded under

this paragraph for such taxable year ..." shall

not exceed the stated ratio. (Underscoring added)

The only "18 month period" referred to in said section

is " . . . any period of 18 consecutive months " during

which an individual citizen of the United States" is present

in a foreign country or countries during at least 510 full

days in such period, amounts received from sources without

the United States .... if such amounts constitute

earned income attributable to such period.

"

(Underscoring added) . Manifestly "the 18 month period"

used in said limitations provisions must refer back to
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"any period of 18 consecutive months is present in a

foreign country or countries during at least 510 full days

in such period, . . .". Therefore, it must follow that

the "taxable year" which is included in "the 18 month

period" is the taxable year in any period of 18 consecu-

tive months during which an individual citizen of the

United States is present in a foreign country or countries

during at least 510 full days in such period. Hence,

"tameable year" as used in said section means the year dur-

ing which the services were performed and the income earned.

Congress emphasized its intent that "taxable year"

means the year during which the services were performed

euid the income earned by distinctly expressing what was to

be excluded from gross income and exempt from taxation in

the following words " amounts received from sources without

the United States .... if such amounts constitute

earned income . . . attributable to such period ..."

(Underscoring added) . Thus, Congress plainly and unequi-

vocally stated its intention that amounts attributable to

such period are not to be included in gross income and

shall be exempt from taxation. The words "attributable to"

mean ascribed to or belonging to or pertaining to or due

to. [Webster's New International Dictionary, Second Edition;

Elmer Reise, 35 T.C. 571] . Thus, the amounts to be excluded

from gross income are the amounts which are ascribed to or
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belong to or pertain to or due to such period. What period?

Such period Ccm only refer back to "any period of 18

consecutive months" during which taxpayer "is present in a

foreign country or countries during at least 510 full days

in such period . . ." (Underscoring added). It thus appears

irrefutable that what is not to be included in income are

amounts attributable to the period of 18 consecutive months.

And Regulations 111 and 118 so provided in the following

language:

"If attributable to a period of 18 consecu-

tive months in respect of which the citizen

qualifies for the exemption from tax thus

provided, the amounts shall be excluded from

gross income irrespective of when they are

received.

"

(Underscoring added) [Reg. 118,

§ 116-l(b)(l).]

These regulations were in full force and effect when the

Internal Revenue Code of 1954 was enacted, thus giving

them the full force of law.

The correctness of petitioners ' contention is demon-

strated by Congressional action in rewriting § 911 in the

Revenue Act of 1962 . This is the first change made in

§ 911 since its enactment in the Internal Revenue Code of

1954 and is also the first change made with respect to

the subject matter of said section since § 204 of the

Technical Changes Act of 1953 amended € 116 (^ W2) of the

Internal Revenue Code of 1939.
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in rewriting § 911, Congress showed its displeasure

with Revenue Ruling 54-72 and Regulations 1. 911-1 (b) (2 )

(ii) (c) , both of which, in effect, provide that "taxable

year" means year of receipt and refused to follow them or

to approve them.

Subsection (c) (2) of § 911 of the Revenue Act of 1962

provides "that amounts received shall be considered received

in the taxable year in which the services to which the

amounts are attributable are performed", [Appendix, infra].

It is submitted, that Congress has shown that its intent

has always been that "taxable year" meant the year in which

the services were performed and not the year of receipt.

In Evelyn Handcock-Ferguson, 21 T.C.M. Dec. 25, 695

(M) , par. 62, 237 P-H Memo TC, the Tax Court again held

that "taxable year" means year of receipt. This case is on

review to the United States Court of Appeals for the

Second Circuit. Par. 56, 337 Prentice Hall Federal Taxes .

II

REGULATIONS 118, § 39.116-1 (a) AND (b) WERE GIVEN THE

FORCE OF LAW BY THE ENACTMENT OF § 116 (a)(1) AND (2)

OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1939 AS § 911 (a)(1) AND

(2) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1954, WITHOUT CHANGE.

The contention herein made under this caption was

fully submitted to this Court in the Ladd case, supra.
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This Court in its opinion did not mention this contention.

Petitioners herein will not elaborate on this argu-

ment as fully as was done in the Ladd case, supra. How-

ever, petitioners feel that it should again be brought to

this Court's attention, particularly in view of Congress'

rewriting § 911 in the Revenue Act of 1962 .

The exclusion from gross income for income tax pur-

poses of income earned in a foreign country by a citizen

of the United States was contained in the original

Internal Revenue Code of 1939 as § 116(a) . In general,

it provided for such exclusion if the citizen was a bona

fide resident of a foreign country or countries.

S 321 of the Revenue Act of 1951 amended § 116 to pro-

vide for an additional such exclusion. (Appendix, infra)

•

This is the so-called "presence abroad" or "eighteen month"

exclusion. Said § 321 rewrote said § 116 by making the

bona fide resident exclusion § 116(a)(1) and added the

presence abroad exclusion as § 116 (a)(2) (Appendix, infra).

Said new paragraph (2) inserted by said ^ 321 of the

Revenue Act of 1951 provided that if a citizen of the

United States, during any eighteen consecutive month period,

is present in a foreign country or countries during at

least 510 full days in such period amounts received from

sources without the United States, if such amounts consti-

tute earned income, attributable to such period are to be
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excluded from gross income in computing his income tax due

the United States.

§ 321 of the Revenue Act of 1951 was added by the

Senate Committee. It was not in the bill passed by the

House of Representatives. The Senate Committee Report

states that § 116(a) as it then provided had two defects.

The first was that an individual was denied the exclusion

of his first year as a bona fide resident, and the second

was that the term "bona fide" resident abroad had been

construed quite strictly with the result that many persons

who had worked abroad for relatively long periods of time

had been unable to meet the "bona fide resident" test. The

reasons stated by said Committe for the failure to meet the

"bona fide resident" test was (1) the nature of the individ-

ual's work, and (2) the individual's presence abroad was for

a stated time, such as manager, technicians and skilled

workmen who are induced to go abroad for periods of 18 to 36

months. The said Committee stated that it believed that it

was particularly desirable to encourage men with technical

knowledge to go abroad. The Committee then said:

"As a result your Committee has added

a paragraph to Section 116(a) of the Code

providing that income earned abroad by a

citizen of the United States who is present

in a foreign country or countries for 17 out



Qiil



-13-

of 18 consecutive months is to be ex-

cluded from income . . . . " (Senate

Committee Report, United States Code,

Congressional and Administration Ser-

vice, 1951, 82nd Congress—^^Ist Session,

Revenue Act of 1951, West Publishing

Co.—Edward Thompson Co., p. 3144)."

It is to be noted that for the first time Congress in-

serted the words "attributable to such period" in § 116(a)

(1) "Bona Fide Resident" and used the same words in new

116(a)(2) "Eighteen Months Presence in a Foreign Country".

It is believed and submitted that the reason for the use of

said words was to overcome the effect of some earlier deci-

sions which held that income received after the termina-

tion of the bona fide residence period was not excludable.

This reasoning is supported by the Regulations adopted in

1953, (as will be more fully discussed below) wherein it is

provided both with respect to the bona fide residence and

the 18 months presence that if the taxpayer meets the re-

quirements of either Section, the amounts are excluded

irrespective of when received.

Congress next amended § 116 (a) by Public Law 287 , which

became effective August 15, 1953. It is to be noted that

the Commissioner of Internal Revenue had not yet amended his

regulations to reflect the changes made in § 116(a) by the
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Revenue Act of 1951 . § 204(a) of Public Law 287 (commonly

referred to as Technical Changes Act of 1953) amended §

116(a)(2) by placing a ceiling of $20,000.00 for each tax-

able year, and a pro rate thereof for a part of a taxable

year, on the amount of the excluded income. This is the

only change made in said section .

After the enactment of § 204(a) of the Technical

Changes Act of 1953 ^ the Commissioner completely rewrote

^ 29.116-1 of Regulations 111 to reflect the changes made

in § 116(a) by both the Revenue Act of 1951 and the Techni-

cal Changes Act of 1953 . On August 27, 1953, he promulgated

T.D. 6039 amending § 29.116-1 of Regulations 111 . In both

§§ 116-1 (a) relating to bona fide residence and 116-1 (b)

relating to physical presence for 17 of 18 consecutive

months, he provided that for amounts wnich qualified for

the respective exclusions, "the amounts shall be excluded

from gross income irrespective of when they are received .

"

[Underscoring added]. § 29.116-l(b) later states, "The ex-

clusion granted by Section 116(a)(2) applies to income

attributable to any period of 18 consecutive months during

which the citizen satisfies the 510 full day requirement. •

. ." [Underscoring added]

On September 23, 1953, the Commissioner of Internal

Revenue promulgated Regulations 118 which superseded Regula-

tion 111. §§ 39.116-1 (a) and (b) of Regulation s 118 were
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substantially the same as §§ 29.116-1 (a) and (b) of Regula-

tions 111 as amended by T.D. 6039, August 21, 1953. Both

sections of Regulations 118 contained the provision quoted

above relating to the amounts being excluded irrespective

of when they are received, and 116-1 (b) contained the other

above quoted provisions. ^ 39.116-1 (a) and 39.116-1 (b)

remained unchanged until August 14, 1957, when Regulations

§ 1.911-1 were promulgated by T.D. 6249 under the Internal

Revenue Code of 1954 . (1961 Prentice-Hall Vol. 1, 5 8823.)

The Internal Revenue Code of 1954 re-enacted § 116(a)

(1) and (2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1939 as § 911

(a) (1) and (2) , without a single change. (Appendix, infra),

At the time of the enactment of the said 1954 Code, Regula-

tions 118, ^S 116-1 (a) and (b) were in effect .

Thus, Regulations 118, §§ 116-1 (a) and (b) were given

the force of law.

Old Mission Portland Cement Co. v Helvering,

293 U.S. 289, 555 S.Ct. 158, 35-1 U.S.T.C.

H 9009;

Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company v

United States , 288 U.S. 269, 53 S.Ct. 337, 3

U.S.T.C, H 1045;

B.D. McCaughn, Collector v Hershey Chocolate

Co., etc. , 283 U.S. 482, 51 S.Ct. 510, 2

U.S.T.C, ^ 738.
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In the latter case, the Supreme Court said:

"The reenactment of the statute by

Congress, as well as, the failure to

amend it in the face of the consistent

administration construction, is at least

persuasive of a legislative recognition

and approval of the statute as construed,"

In Massachussets Mutual Life Insurance Company v

United States, supra , the Supreme Court said:

"The Congress in the Revenue Acts of

1928 and 1932 reenacted Section 245 with-

out alteration. This action was taken with

knowledge of the construction placed upon

the Section by the official charged with

its administration. If the legislative

body had considered the Treasury interpre-

tation erroneously it would have amended

the Section. Its failure so to do requires

the conclusion that the regulation was not

inconsistent with the intent of the statute."

And in Old Mission Portland Cement Company v Helvering,

supra, the Supreme Court said:

"These provisions were retained, with-

out material change, in the regulations

promulgated under the 1924, 1926 and 1928

acts ... as Section 234 (a) (1) to which

they pertain has been reenacted in several

revenue acts, the regulation now has the

force of law." .... (citing the McCaughn

V Hershey Chocolate Co ., and the Massachusetts
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Mutual Life Insurance Co, v United

States cases, supra , )

Said SS 116-1 (a) and (b) of Regulations 118 re-

mained in effect until August, 1957, when they were super-

ceded by Regulations §§ 1.911-1 (a) and (b) . The language

"the amounts shall be excluded from gross income irrespec-

tive of when they were received" was retained in § 1.911-1

(a) but was deleted from § 1.911-l(b). Although no contrary

language was included in § 1.911-1 (b) an example was in-

cluded to indicate that "taxable year" meant year of receipt.

(Regulations § 1.911-1 (b) (2) (ii) (c) , Appendix, infra).

This Regulation was in effect when the Revenue Act of 1962

was enacted. Congress repudiated it and hence it never

acquired the force of law. While Congress did not go back

to the broad language of §§ 116-1 (a) and (b) "irrespective

of when received" it did provide for exclusion of amounts

received in the taxable year following the year in which

the services were performed. § 911 (c)(4) as rewritten by

the Revenue Act of 1962 provides:

" (4) Requirement as to time of

receipt.— No amount received after

the close of the taxable year follow-

ing the taxable year in which the ser-

vices to which the amounts are attri-

butable are performed may be excluded

under subsection (a) • (Appendix, infra)

.
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Said subsection (4) applies equally to the bona fide resi-

dence exclusion and to the presence abroad exclusion.

It is submitted, therefore, that Congress clearly

repudiated year of receipt as the "taxable year" and re-

established year of performance and in addition repudiated

in part that time of receipt after the close of the year

is material

•

III

EACH PETITIONER IS ENTITLED TO SUCH EXCLUSION BY REASON

OF BEING HUSBAND AND WIFE DOMICILED IN AND A RESIDENT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, A COMMUNITY PROPERTY STATE.

Petitioners are husband and wife and residents of and

domiciled in the State of California. [R. p. 16]

California is a community property state. One-half of the

earnings of either spouse vest in and belong one-half to

each spouse at the very moment of earning and/or receipt.

§§ 164. 163, 162 and 161 (a). Civil Code of California ;

United States v Malcolm , 282 U.S. 729, 51 S.Ct. 184, 2

U.S.T.C. 650, citing Poe v Seaborn . 282 U.S. 101, 51 S.Ct.

58, 2 U.S.T.C. 611; Goodell v KOCH . 282 U.S. 118, 51 S.Ct.

62; 2 U.S.T.C. 612; Hopkins v Bacon . 282 U.S. 122, 51 S.Ct.

62, 2 U.S.T.C. 613.

The earnings of the husband were never his property,

but were the property of the community. Poe v Seaborn ,
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supra. That being so, the earnings here involved consti-

tuted "earned income" of the community. Graham v

Commissioner (9th Cir.), 95 Fed. 174, 38-1 U.S.T.C. 9172.

The question in the Graham case was whether the wife's

community one-half of the income was "earned income". The

court, in holding that the wife's community one-half of the

earnings did constitute "earned income", said:

"All of said community income

—

petitioner's half as well as her hus-

band's half—was 'received as compensa-

tion for personal services actually

rendered' and was, therefore, within

the statutory definition of 'earned in-

come '
.

"

Respondent therein then contended that the phrase "personal

services actually rendered" meant rendered by taxpayer. The

Court stated

:

"The Board found that said commun-

ity income was received as compensation

for professional services rendered by

petitioner's husband. Respondent assumes,

erroneously, that these services were

rendered by petitioner's husband individ-

ually, on his own account and for himself

alone, thus assuming as a fact that which,

in Washington, is a legal impossibility.

When a married man residing in Washington

practices a profession or engages in any

gainful occupation or activity, he does so
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as the agent of a marital community con-

sisting of himself and his wife, Poe v

Seaborn , supra. He cannot do so in any

other way or in any other capacity.

Services rendered by him are actually

rendered by the community, that is to

say, by him and his wife, equally. So ,

in this case, petitioner was, no less

than her husband, the actual renderer of

the services for which they received as

compensation the community income above

referred to.

"That petitioner did not personally

participate in the professional labors of

her husband is immaterial. One may actu-

ally render a personal service without per-

sonally performing the acts constituting

the service. Otherwise, a partnership

acting through one of its members, or a

principal acting through an agent, could

not actually render a personal service,

the truth being, of course, that such

services can be and, in countless in-

stances, are actually so rendered."

[Underscoring added]

.

In Pierce v U.S . (9th Cir.) 254 F. 2d 885, I A.F.T.R.

2d 1498, the Court held that the wife's half of the community

income, as well as the husband's half, constituted "business

income". The Court said:

"But the warp and woof of community

property law in the old community property
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states is that when the husband or the

wife is at work, the community is at

work; at least, in working, the worker

is carrying on the business of the

community.

"

I.T, 3665, 1944 Cumulative Bulletin 161, held that a

wife was entitled to exclude her half of the community in-

come derived from sources within a possession of United

States where only husband meets the requirements of § 251

of the 1939 Code.

Kaufman v Commissioner , 9 B.T.A, 1180, held that where

the income of the husband is exempt from taxation, such in-

come retains its exempt status in the hands of the wife,

where the wife is entitled to one-half of the income be-

cause of its being the community property.

Rev. Rul. 54-16, I.R.B. 1954-2, 18; 545 C.C.H.

6139 Modified I.T. 3665 , supra , by reason of the decisions

in Francis v Mullen , 14 T.C. 1179 and Markham v U.S. District

Court, Southern District of California, Central Division,

June 23, 1953, 53-2 U.S.T.C. 9462. In said ruling, it is

said

:

"Under Section 116(a) of the Code

income earned by either spouse while a

bona fide resident of a foreign country

for an uninterrupted period of an entire

year or his or her presence in a foreign

country for 17 months is exempt as to
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both spouses irrespective of how much

or what kind of other income either or

both may have." [Underscoring added]

Rev. Rul. 55-246 I.R.B. 1955-18, 7 held that a community

property state husband and wife, are each entitled to the ex-

emption under said § 911(a) on their separate returns so long

as one of the spouses meets the requirements of either 911(a)

(1) or 911 (a)(2), regardless of whether the other spouse

meets the specified requirements in § 911(a) of the Code,

The ruling states

:

"The division of income on the

community property basis does not alter

the exempt character of income entitled

to exemption under Section 911(a) of the

Code. See Rev. Rul. 54-16, C.B. 1954-1,

157."

In Fred MacMurrav , 21 T.C. 15, each spouse was entitled

to a loss not to exceed $50,000.00 for each of five years

under ^ 130, Internal Revenue Code 1939 . Rev. Rul. 54-179,

Internal Revenue Bulletin 1954-21, 6, 545 CCH, § 6294, con-

firmed the holding in the MacMurray case. See also Rev. Rul.

54-178, I.R.B. 1954-21. 5. .^4^S CCH € 6293 . where the spouses

are partners to the same effect.

See also Technical Amendments Bill of 1958 (H,R. 8381)

where in § 2 of the House bill, it was proposed to limit the



dro -.V' io dKUlL". ;) juie :«u (I)

1 pnlb-.!

li



-23-

retireraent income credit to the spouse in a community pro-

perty state who individually performed the services and in

the Senate bill it was proposed to put noncommunity property

States on the same basis as community property states by

treating earned income of a spouse as having been earned

half by each spouse. This proposed amendment was killed in

conference. Thus, both Houses recognized that spouses in

community property states each received the retirement in-

come credit by reason of the income being community property.

From the foregoing, it is inescapable and unanswerable

that each petitioner is entitled to the exclusion under the

provisions of § 911(a)(2) Internal Revenue Code 1954 .

The identical arguments, authorities and citations con-

tained herein were presented in the brief filed with the Tax

Court. But the Tax Court ignored all of the citations and

authorities set forth in said brief, except Rev. Rul. 55-246,

1955-1 C.B. 92. The Tax Court held said ruling inapplicable

because (1) separate returns were involved in the ruling,

while a joint return was filed by the Renoirs, and (2) be-

cause the limitation applies to income, not to the individ-

ual taxpayer. The Tax Court does not indicate or mention

why the law should differ when a joint return is filed and

when separate returns are filed. There is no difference. It

is well known that joint returns were permitted so as to give

non-community property taxpayers the same "break" that
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community property taxpayers were enjoying. The introduc-

tion of joint returns was not intended, and indeed did not,

make one set of tax rules applicable to them and another

set of tax rules applicable to separate returns. There is

nothing in either the law or the regulations to justify

such distinction. While it is true, as the Tax Court said,

the limitation applies to the income, not to individual tax-

payers, the court completely overlooks the fact that the

community income belongs one-half to each. This being true,

the exclusion applies to the income of each spouse. Equally

important is that the Tax Court ignored the reference in Rev.

Rul. 55-246 to Rev. Rul. 54-16.

Finally, on this point, the Tax Court states petitioner's

interpretation would favor taxpayers in community property

states and that without a clear-cut statutory mandate, the

Court would not attribute to the Congress an intention to

authorize a double exclusion of such income for taxpayers in

community property states as compared with other taxpayers.

Congress in the Revenue Act of 1962 has now given a clear-

cut statutory mandate for years ended prior to the effective

date of the amendment of § 911. § 911(c)(3) of said Act

reads:

"(3) Treatment of community income .

- - In applying paragraph (1) with respect

to amounts received for services performed

by a husband
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or wife which are community income

under community property laws applic-

able to such income, the aggregate

amount excludable under subsection

(a) from the gross income of such

husband and wife shall equal the

amount which would be excludable if

such amounts did not constitute such

community income." (Appendix, infra).

The amendments made to § 911 by the Revenue Act of 1962

apply to years ending after September 4, 1962, with certain

exceptions not here applicable. (§ 11 (c)(1) of Public Law

87-834, Oct. 16, 1962, Appendix infra.)

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, it is submitted that the Tax Court of

the United States erred in holding that "taxable year" as

used in § 911(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954

means year of receipt; in failing to hold that "taxable

year" means the year in which the services were performed;

in determining that the income received by petitioners in

1956 and 1957 attributable to services performed during a

period when petitioners qualified under said § 911 (a) (2)

as being physically present in foreign countries for a

period of more than 510 full days in an 18 consecutive
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month period is taxable to them in 1956 and 1957; and in

failing to determine that each petitioner is entitled to

the exclusion provided in said § 911(a)(2) by reason of

said income being the community income of petitioners under

the law of the State of California.

Respectfully submitted,

J. EVERETT BLUM

Attorney for Petitioners,

\

CERTIFICATE RE RULES 18 AND 19

I, J. EVERETT BLUM, the attorney for petitioners,

certify that I have examined Rules 18 and 19, as amended,

and in my opinion, the foregoing Brief conforms to all

requirements of said Rules, as amended.

/S/ J. EVERETT BLUM
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APPENDIX

STATUTES AND REGULATIONS INVOLVED,

The following statutes are involved herein:

Internal Revenue Code of 1939:

Section 116(a) as amended by the Revenue Act of

1951:

"Sec. 116. Exclusions from Gross Income:

In addition to the items specified in

Section 22(b), the following items shall

not be included in gross income and shall

be exempt from taxation under this chap-

ter:

(a) Earned Income from Sources without

the United States.-"

(1) Bona fide resident of foreign country

In the case of an individual citizen

of the United States, who establishes to

the satisfaction of the Secretary that he

has been a bona fide resident of a foreign

country or countries for an uninterrupted

period which includes an entire taxable

year, amounts received from sources without

the United States (except amounts paid by

the United States or any agency thereof) if

such amounts constitute earned income (as

defined in paragraph (3)) attributable to

such period; but such individual shall not

be allowed as a deduction from his gross
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income any deductions properly allocable

to or chargeable against amounts excluded

from gross income under this paragraph.

(2) Presence in foreign country for 17 months.

In the case of an individual citizen

of the United States, who during any period

of 18 consecutive months is present in a

foreign country or countries during at least

510 full days in such period, amounts re-

ceived from sources without the United States

(except amounts paid by the United States or

any agency thereof) if such amounts consti-

tute earned income (as defined in paragraph

(3); attributable to such period; but such

individual shall not be allowed as a deduc-

tion from his gross income any deductions

properly allocable to or chargeable against

amounts excluded from gross income under

this paragraph.

(3) Definition of earned income.—For

the purposes of this subsection 'earned in-

come' means wages, salaries, professional

fees, and other amounts received as compen-

sation for personal services actually

rendered, but does not include that part of

the compensation derived t>y the taxpayer for

personal services rendered by him to a corpo-

ration which represents a distribution of

earnings or profits rather than a reasonable

allowance as compensation for the personal

services actually rendered. In the case of
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a taxpayer engaged in a trade or busi-

ness in which both personal services

and capital are material income pro-

ducing factors, under regulations pres-

cribed by the Commissioner with the

approval of the Secretary, a reasonable

allowance as compensation for the per-

sonal services rendered by the taxpayer,

not in excess of 20 per centum of his

share of the net profits of such trade

or business, shall be considered as

earned income."

Section 116 _as amended by the Revenue Act of 1951 and

Section 204(a) Public Law 287 (Technical Changes Act of

1953).

"I. R. C, Sec. 116. Exclusions from

Gross Income.

In addition to the items specified in

section 22 (b) , the following items shall

not be included in gross income and shall

be exempt from taxation under this chapter:

(a) Earned Income from Sources with-

out the United States.

—

(1) Bona fide resident of foreign

country.—In the case of an individual

citizen of the United States, who estab-

lishes to the satisfaction of the Secre-

tary that he has been a bona fide resident

of a foreign country or countries for an

uninterrupted period which includes an
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entire taxable year, amounts received

from sources without the United States

(except amounts paid by the United

States or any agency thereof) if such

amounts constitute earned income (as

defined in paragraph (3) ) attributable

to such period; but such individual

shall not be allowed as a deduction

from his gross income any deductions

properly allocable to or chargeable

against amounts excluded from gross in-

come under this paragraph.

(2) Presence in foreign country for 17

months.—In the case of an individual citi-

zen of the United States who during any

period of 18 consecutive months is present

in a foreign country or countries during

at least 510 full days in such period,

amounts received from sources without the

United States (Except amounts paid by the

United States or any agency thereof) if

such amounts constitute earned income (as

defined in paragraph (3)) attributable to

such period; but such individual shall not

be allowed as a deduction from his gross

income any deductions properly allocable

to or chargeable against amounts excluded

from gross income under this paragraph.

If the 18 months period includes the

entire taxable year, the amount excluded

under this paragraph for such taxable year
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shall not exceed $20,000 . If the 18

month period does not include the en-

tire taxable year, the amount excluded

under this paragraph for such taxable

year shall not exceed an amount which

bears the same ratio to $20,000 as the

number of days in the part of the tax-

able year within the 18 month period

bears to the total number of days in

such year *

(3) Definition of earned income.—^For

the purposes of this subsection, 'earned

income' means wages, salaries, profes-

sional fees, and other amounts received

as compensation for personal services

actually rendered, but does not include

that part of the compensation derived by

the taxpayer for personal services

rendered by him to a corporation which

represents a distribution of earnings or

profits rather than a reasonable allow-

ance as compensation for the personal

services actually rendered. In the case

of a taxpayer engaged in a trade or busi-

ness in which both personal services and

capital are material income producing fac-

tors, under regulations prescribed by the

Commissioner with the approval of the

Secretary, a reasonable allowance as com-

pensation for the personal services

rendered by the taxpayer, not in excess
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of 20 per centum of his share of the

net earned profits of such trade or

business, shall be considered as

earned income."

[Underscored words added by Public Law 287.]

Internal Revenue Code of 1954

;

"Sec. 911. Earned Income from Sources

Without the United States.

(a) General Rule.-—The following

items shall not be included in gross

income and shall be exempt from taxa-

tion under this subtitle

:

(1) Bona fide resident of foreign coun-

try.—In the case of an individual citizen

of the United States, who establishes to

the satisfaction of the Secretary or his

delegate that he has been a bona fide resi-

dent of a foreign country or countries for

an uninterrupted period which includes an

entire taxable year, amounts received from

sources without the United States (except

amounts paid by the United States or any

agency thereof) if such amounts constitute

earned income (as defined in subsection

(b) ) attributable to such period; but such

individual shall not be allowed as a deduc-

tion from his gross income any deductions

(other than those allowed by section 151,

relating to personal exemptions) properly
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allocable to or chargeable against

amounts excluded from gross income

under this paragraph.

(2) Presence in foreign country for

17 months,—In the case of an individual

citizen of the United States, who during

any period of 18 consecutive months is

present in a foreign country or countries

during at least 510 full days in such

period, amounts received from sources

without the United States (except amounts

paid by the United States or an agency

thereof) if such amounts constitute earned

income (as defined in subsection (b) attrib-

utable to such period; but such individual

shall not be allowed as a deduction from

his gross income any deductions (other

than those allowed by section 151, relat-

ing to personal exemptions) properly allo-

cable to or chargeable against amounts ex-

cluded from gross income under this para-

graph. If the 18-month period includes

the entire taxable year, the amount ex-

cluded under this paragraph for such tax-

able year shall not exceed $20,000. If the

18-month period does not include the entire

taxable year, the amount excluded under this

paragraph for such taxable year shall not

exceed an amount which bears the same ratio

to $20,000 as the number of days in the part

of the taxable year within the 18-month
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period bears to the total number of days

in such year,

(b) Definition of Earned Income.—^For

purposes of this section, the term 'earned

income' means wages, salaries, or profes-

sional fees, and other amounts received as

compensation for personal services actually

rendered, but does not include that part of

the compensation derived by the taxpayer

for personal services rendered by him to a

corporation which represents a distribu-

tion of earnings or profits rather than a

reasonable allowance as compensation for

the personal services actually rendered.

In the case of a taxpayer engaged in a

trade or business in which both personal

services and capital are material income-

producing factors, under regulations pres-

cribed by the Secretary or his delegate, a

reasonable allowance as compensation for

the personal services rendered by the tax-

payer, not in excess of 30 percent of his

share of the net profits of such trade or

business, shall be considered as earned

income •

"

SEC. 7701 DEFINITIONS.

(a) When used in this title, where not otherwise

distinctly expressed or manifestly incompatible with the in-

tent thereof —
*****
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(23) Taxable year . — The Term "taxable year"

means the calendar year, or the fiscal year ending during

such calendar year, upon the basis of which the taxable

income is computed under subtitle a. * * *

SEC. 911 as amended by the Revenue Act of 1962 insofar

as applicable herein:

Sec, 911. Earned Income From Sources Without the

United States ,

(a) General Rule . — The following items shall

not be included in gross income and shall be exempt

from taxation under this subtitle:

(1) Bona fide resident of foreign country ,

—In the case of an individual citizen of the

United States who establishes to the satisfac-

tion of the Secretary or his delegate that he

has been a bona fide resident of a foreign

country or countries for an uninterruppted

period which includes an entire taxable year,

amounts received from sources without the

United States (except amounts paid by the

United States or any agency thereof) which

constitute earned income attributable to

services performed during such uninterrupted





-10-

period . The amount excluded under this

paragraph for any taxable year shall be

computed by applying the special rules

contained in subsection (c) .

(2) Presence in foreign country for 17

months.—In the case of an individual citi-

zen of the United States who during any

period of 18 consecutive months is present

in a foreign country or countries during at

least 510 full days in such period, amounts

received from sources without the United

States (except amounts paid by the United

States or an agency thereof) which consti-

tute earned income attributable to services

performed during such 18-month period. The

amount excluded under this paragraph for any

taxable year shall be computed by applying

the special rules contained in subsection

An individual shall not be allowed, as a deduct ion from his

gross income, any deductions (other than those allowed by

section 151, relating to personal exempt ions) properly alloc-

able to or chargeable against amounts excluded from gross in-

come under this subsection .

**********************
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(c) Special Rules .— For purposes of computing the

amount excludable under subsection (a), the following rules

shall apply:

(1) Limitations on amount of exclusion .

—

The amount excluded from the gro s s income of

an individual under subsection ( a) for any tax-

able year shall not exceed an amount which shall

be computed on a daily basis at an annual rate of —

(A) except as provided in subparagraph (B )^

$20,000 in the case of an individual who guali-

fies under subsection (a) * or

(B) $35,000 in the case of an individual who

qualifies under subsection (a) (1) , but only

with respect to that portion of such taxable

year occurring after such individual has been

a bona fide resident of a foreign country or

countries for an uninterrupted period of 3

consecutive years .

(2) Attribution to year in which services are

performed .

—

For purposes of applying paragraph (1)

,

amounts received shall be considered received in

the taxable year in which the services to which the

amounts are attributable are performed .

+
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(3) Treatment of community incoroe. --In

applying paragraph (1) with respect to amounts

received from services performed by a husband or

wife which are community income under community

property laws applicable to such income, the

aggregate amount excludable under subsection

(a) from the gross income of such husband and wife

shall equal the amount which would be excludable

if such amounts did not constitute such community

income

.

(4) Requirement as to time of receipt .—No

amount received after the close of the taxable year

following the taxable year, in which the services

to which the amounts are attributable are performed

may be excluded under subsection (a)."

[Underscored words added by Revenue Act of 1962]

Sec. 11 (c) , Revenue Act of 1962;

Effective date—Applies to taxable years end-

ing after September 4, 1962, but only to amounts (a)

received after March 12, 1962, and attributable to

services performed after December 31, 1962, or (b)

,

received after December 31, 1962, and attributable

to services performed on or before December 31. 1962
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unless on March 12, 1962, there existed a right

(whether forfeitable or nonforfeitable) to re-

ceive such amounts.

Regulations 118, Section 39.116-1 (a) and (b) (insofar

as applicable) :

"Reg. 118, Sec. 39.116-1. Earned In-

come From Sources without the United States

— (a) Resident of a foreign country. (1)

Amounts constituting earned income as de-

fined in section 116(a)(3) shall be excluded

from gross income in the case of an individ-

ual citizen of the United States who estab-

lishes to the satisfaction of the Commissioner

that he has been a bona fide resident of a

foreign country or countries for an uninter-

rupted period which includes an entire tax-

able year, if such amounts are (i) from

sources without the United States, (ii) attri-

butable to such uninterrupted period, and (iii)

not paid by the United States or any agency or

instrumentality thereof. The exemption from

tax thus provided is applicable to such amounts

as are attributable to that portion of an unin-

terrupted period of bona fide foreign residence

which falls within a taxable year during the

course of which the citizen begins or terminates

bona fide residence in a foreign country, pro-

vided that such period includes at least one

entire taxable year. If attributable to an un-

interrupted period in respect of which the
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citizen qualifies for the exemption from tax
thus provided, the amounts shall be excluded
from gross income irrespective of when they
are received. The period during which the

citizen was a bona fide resident of a foreign

country or countries prior to the commencement

of his first taxable year beginning after

December 31, 1951, may be taken into account

in determining whether such citizen has been

a bona fide resident of a foreign country or

countries for an uninterrupted period which

includes an entire taxable year."

"(b) Presence in a foreign country. (1)

Amounts constituting earned income as defined

in section 116(a)(3) shall be excluded from

gross income in the case of an individual

citizen of the United States who during any

period of 18 consecutive months is present

in a foreign country or countries during a

total of at least 510 full days, if such

amounts are (i) from sources without the

United States, (ii) attributable to such

period, and (iii) not paid by the United States

or any agency or instrumentality thereof. If

attributable to a period of 18 consecutive

months in respect of which the citizen qual-

ifies for the exemption from tcix thus pro-

vided, the amounts shall be excluded from

gross income irrespective of when they are

received.

(2) For taxable years ending before

January 1, 1953, there is no limitation upon

the aunount which may be excluded from gross
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income pursuant to subparagraph (1). For

taxable years ending after December 31,

1952, but only with respect to amounts

received after such date, the amount excluded
from gross income under the provisions of

section 116(a)(2) shall not exceed $20,000
if the 18-month period includes the entire

taxable year. If the 18-month period does

not include the entire taxable year, the

amount excluded from gross income under such

section for such taxable year shall not exceed

an amount which bears the same ratio to

$20,000 as the number of days in the part of

the taxable year within the 18-month period

bears to the total number of days in such

year. In the case of a fiscal year beginning

in 1952 and ending in 1953 the exclusion of

amounts received after December 31, 1952, shall

not exceed the lesser of the amount determined

under the two preceding sentences or an amount

which is the same proportion of $20,000 as the

number of days in such taxable year after such

date is of 365 days. There is no limitation

as to the total amount of the exclusion for

amounts received prior to January 1, 1953, in

the case of such a fiscal year."

Regulations, Section 1.911-lfa) and (b) under the

Internal Revenue Code of 1954 (insofar as applicable):

" (a) Bona fide resident of a foreign

country — (1) Qualifications for exemption.

Amounts constituting earned income as defined

in section 91] (b^ shall be excluded from the
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gross income of an individual citizen of the
United States who establishes to the satis-
faction of the Commissioner that he has been
a bona fide resident of a foreign country or
countries for an uninterrupted period which
includes an entire taxable year, if such

amounts are (i) from sources without the United

States, (ii) attributable to such uninterrupted

period, and (iii) not paid by the United States

or any agency or instrumentality thereof. The

exemption from tax thus provided is applicable

to such amounts as are attributable to that

portion of an uninterrupted period of bona

fide foreign residence which falls within a

taxable year during which the citizen begins

or terminates bona fide residence in a foreign

country, provided that such period includes

at least one entire taxable year. If attribut-

able to an uninterrupted period in respect of

which the citizen qualifies for the exemption

from tax thus provided, the amounts shall be

excluded from gross income irrespective of

when they are received.

(b) Presence in a foreign country — (1)

Qualifications for excemption. Subject to the

limitations in subparagraph (2), amounts con-

stituting earned income as defined in section

911(b) shall be excluded from gross income

in the case of an individual citizen of the

United States who during any period of 18

consecutive months is present in a foreign

country or countries during a total of at

least 510 full days, if such amounts are (i)
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from sources without the United States, (ii)

attributable to such period and (iii) not

paid by the United States or any agency or

instrumentality thereof. For purposes of deter-

mining the right to the exclusion under section

911(a)(2) for a taxable year to which the

Internal Revenue Code of 1954 is applicable,

the period of presence in a foreign country

may include a period prior to the beginning

of such taxable year, even though the tax for

such prior period is computed under the Internal

Revenue Cede of 1939. For example, the qualify-

ing period may, in the case of a taxpayer who

makes his return on the calendar year basis,

cover the period from July 1, 1953, to December

31, 1954, for purposes of the exclusion

allowed under section 911 (a) (2) for the

taxable year 1954.

(2) Amount of exemption. (i) The amount

excluded from gross income under the provisions

of section 911 (a)(2) shall not exceed $20,000

if the 18-month period includes the entire

taxable year. If the 18-month period does not

include the entire taxable year, the amount

excluded from gross income under such section

for such taxable year shall not exceed an amount

which bears the same ratio to $20,000 as the

number of days in the part of the taxable year

within the 18-month period bears to the total

number of days in such year."

(ii) The application of subdivision (i) of

this subparagraph may be illustrated by the
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fol lowing excunple:

Example. — A, a citizen of the United

States who files his returns for the calendar

year using a cash receipts and disbursements

method, was privately employed and physically

present in France from January 1, 1953, through

July 15, 1955. On December 31, 1953, he re-

ceived compensation in the amount of $20,000

for the services rendered by him during 1953.

He left France on July 16, 1955, and returned

to the United States. On August 1, 1955, he

received $30,000, part of which was for the

services rendered by him during 1954 and the

balance of which was for his services rendered

during the period January 1, 1955, through

July 15, 1955. On January 15, 1956, A received

an additional $10,000 for the services rendered

by him during 1954.

(a) Since the $20,000 compensation received

by A on December 31, 1953, was attributable to

an 18-month period during at least 510 full days

of which he was present in a foreign country,

and since that 18-month period included his

entire taxable year 1953, the entire $20,000

is exempt from taxation.

(b) Only $12,712.33 (232/365 X $20,000)

of the $30,000 received by A on August 1, 1955,

is exempt from taxation since only 2 32 days

of his taxable year 1955 is included within

such an 18-month period. The number of days

(232) is determined by treating the first day

of the 18-month period as coinciding with the
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first day of the 510-day period ending July

15, 1955 (the last full day A was present in

France), was February 21, 1954. Commencing

with February 21, 1954, the 18-month period

ends August 20, 1955. The number of days in

that part of 1955 falling within the 18-month

period is, therefore, 2 32 (January 1, 1955,

through August 2 0, 1955) . The amount excludable

by A in 1955 ($12,732.33) is computed on the

basis of the following formula:

Number of days in that part of the taxable

year falling within the 18-month period

Number of days in the taxable year

$20,000 (Maximum amount excludable for an

entire taxable year under section 911 (a)(2),

or 232/365 x $20,000.

(c) None of the $10,000 attributable

to the services rendered by A during 1954 but

received by him in 1956 is exempt from

taxation because no part of his taxable year

1956 is included within 18-month period. For

the definition of "taxable year" see section

7701(a) (23)

.

********
Rev. Rul. 54-72, 1954-1 Cum. Bull. 117:

Where a taxpayer meets the requirements of

section 116 (a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code regarding
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presence in a foreign country or countries during at

least 510 full days during any period of 18 consecutive

months, but receives compensation attributable to such

period in a taxable year ending subsequent to December

31, 1952, no portion of which falls within the 18-month

period, no portion of such compensation received in

such taxable year is excludable from his gross income.

Advice is requested as to the application of section

116 (a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code (as amended by

sec. 204 of the Technical Changes Act of 1953. Public

Law 287, 83d Cong. C.B. 1953-2, 485) and Regulations

118 as amended by Treasury Decision 6039, C.B. 1953-2,

162, with respect to amounts received after Deceirber

31, 1952, attributable to earned income from sources

outside the United States under the following circum-

stances:

Teixpayer worked abroad and met the requirements

of section 116(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code re-

garding presence in a foreign country or countries

during at least 510 full days during a period of 18

consecutive months. He returned to the United States

at the end of 1952. In his taxable year 1953, no part of

which fell within the 18 month period, he received

compensation attributable to such period in the amount

of $10,000.
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SectJpn 39. 116-1 (b) of Regulations 118, as amended

by T. D. 6039, supra, which is applicable to amounts

constituting earned income as defined by section 116(a)(3)

of the Code, from sources outside the United States,

provides in part as follows

:

(1) Amounts constituting earned income as

defined in Section 116(a)(3) shall be excluded

from gross income in the case of an individual

citizen of the United States who during any

period of 18 consecutive months is present in

a foreign country or countries during a total

of at least 510 full days, if such amounts are

(i) from sources without the United States,

(ii) attributable to such period, and (iii)

not paid by the United States or any agency or

instrumentality thereof. If attributable to

a period of 18 consecutive months in respect

of which the citizen qualifies for the exemption

from tax thus provided, the amounts shall be

excluded from gross income irrespective of when

they are received.

(2) For taxable years ending before

January 1, 1953, there is no limitation upon

the amount which may be excluded from gross

income pursueint to subparagraph (1) . For taxable
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years ending after December 31, 1952, but only

with respect to amounts received after such date,

the amount excluded from gross income under the

provisions of section 116 (a)(2) shall not exceed

$20,000 if the 18-month period includes the entire

taxable year. If the 18-month period does not

include the entire taxable year, the amount excluded

from gross income under such section for such taxable

year shall not exceed an amount which bears the same

ratio to $20,000 as the number of days in the part

of the taxable year within the 18-month period bears

to the total number of days in such year * * *

Subparagraph (1) quoted above is subject to the facts

in the instant case, subparagraph (1) of the regulations

quoted above, standing alone, indicates that the

$10,000 would be excluded from gross income since it is

earned income from sources outside the United States and

is attributable to a period of 18 consecutive months

during which the taxpayer was present in a foreign

country for at least 510 full days. However, since no

part of the testable year in which the $10,000 was

received falls within the 18-month qualifying period, the

application of the limitation set forth in subparagraph

(2) results in a figure of zero and no portion of the
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$10,000 received in 1953, even though attributable to

the qualifying period, is excludable from gross income.

The formula for such computation may be stated as

follows, but refers only to taxable years ending after

December 31, 1952, and only with respect to amounts

received after such date:

Number of days in that part
of the taxable year of re-
ceipt falling within the
18-month period

X $20,000 = Maximum
amount excludable.

Number of days in the taxable
year of receipt

Application of the above formula to the facts in

this case is illustrated as follows:

TTc X $20,000 = Zero ^Maximum amount excludable

In view of the foregoing, it is held that where a

taxpayer meets the requirements of section 116 (a) (2)

of the Internal Revenue Code regarding presence in a

foreign country or countries during at least 510 full

days during any period of 18 consecutive months, but

receives compensation attributable to such period in a

taxcible year ending subsequent to December 31, 1952, no

portion of which falls within the 18-month period, no

portion of such compensation received in such taxable

year is excludable from his gross income.
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The Board's Decision and Order in this case must

stand or fall on its own two feet. The arguments pre-

sented in the brief filed by the General Counsel for the

Board do not strengthen, support or validate the de-

cision of the Board itself. All of the points discussed

in the Board's brief have been met and answered

in Petitioner's opening brief. However, this short re-

ply may serve to narrow the issues and facilitate the

Court's review.



1. THE "REASONABLE TENDENCY" TEST SET FORTH
IN THE BOARD'S BRIEF IS INAPPOSITE.

Interrogation by an employer of his employees with

respect to their union membership or activity is not

unlawful per se on the theory that it necessarily tends

to interfere with or coerce the employees.

(a) The cases cited in Petitioner's opening brief

(pages 26-47) indicate that there must be actual inter-

ference, restraint or coercion, based upon a back-

ground of antiunion activity, threats of reprisal,

promises of benefit, or an overall pattern of illegal

conduct.

(b) The decisions of this Court are in accord. In

NLRB V. McCatron, 216 F.2d 212 at 216, it is stated

without qualification that

:

''Interrogation regarding Union activity does

not in and of itself violate Section 8(a) (1)."

That proposition was reaffirmed by this Court in

NLRB V. Roberts Bros., 225 F.2d 58 and has been

cited and quoted with approval in the more recent case

of NLRB V. Sevastopol Apple Growers, 269 F.2d 705.

In the McCatron case, this Court stated the test to

be whether the interrogation alleged to be unlawful,

contained "an express or implied threat or promise"

or formed "part of an overall pattern whose tendency

is to restrain or coerce." (216 F.2d at 216.)

Citation in the Board's brief of prior decisions of

this Court, and reliance thereon, is misplaced. In

NLRB V. West Coast Casket Co., 205 F.2d 902, the

interrogation of employees found to be unlawful was



accompanied by promises of economic benefits in-

tended to influence the employees against unionization.

In that case the employer, in addition to interrogating

employees, committed the following acts: threatened

to discharge employees who refused to cross the Union

picket line ; threatened to close the plant if the Union

succeeded in organizing the employees; promised em-

ployees wage increases and an improved insurance

progi'am; actually discharged an employee for the

purpose of discouraging union membership ; and actu-

ally granted wage increases to three of the employees

who were interrogated. In the McCatron case, this

Court expressly pointed out that the interrogation in

West Coast Casket ^'occurred against a background of

coercive conduct."

The quotation on page nine of the Board's brief

from this Court's decision in NLRB v. Essex Wire

Corp., 245 F.2d 589 refers to the employer's demand

that an employee turn over to the company signed

Union membership cards that he had obtained from

other employees. Thereupon the employee, who had

been ordered to bring the cards to the company office

*4n five minutes," immediately ''returned the cards to

the employees who had signed them." This Court held

that ''the demand that the Union cards be delivered

to the foreman" was a violation of Section 8(a)(1).

Obviously, such fact situation is quite different from

that in the instant case.

Similarly, in NLRB v. State Center Warehouse,

193 F.2d 156, cited on page 11 of the Board's brief,

the interrogation of employees foimd by this Court to



be unlawful was part of an overall pattern of conduct

which included threats of closing the plant if em-

ployees joined the Union, threats of discharging em-

ployees for Union membership, and the actual

discharge of one employee for that very reason.

Since the instant case contains no threats or

promises, no background of antiunion animus and no

overall pattern of coercive conduct, it is governed by

the princples laid down by this Court in such cases

as Wayside Press, 206 F.2d 862; McCatron, supra;

Roberts Bros., supra ; and Sevastopol Apple, supra.

(c) Moreover, the so-called ''reasonable tendency"

test is not the position which was taken by the Board

in its decision in the instant case. The basis of the

Board's decision is its legal conclusion that peti-

tioner's interrogation was not carried on for a legiti-

mate purpose (see discussion below under point 2).

Nothing in the Board's decision indicates that it was

proceeding on a theory of ''natural or reasonable

tendency."

In this connection, it is noteworthy that the Board's

brief on page seven states

:

'^In banning 'interference' Congress clearly

meant to proscribe any employer activity which

would tend to limit employees in the exercise of

their statutory rights." (Emphasis added.)

But on page 11 of the Board's brief the following

statement is made

:

"This is not, of course, to say that any effort

by an employer to ascertain the union sentiments



of his employees will necessarily be violative of

the Act." (Emphasis added.)

It is respectfully submitted that the Board's brief,

in seeking to uphold the Board's position, obscures

the main issue which is the legality of petitioner's pur-

pose and the totality of conduct involved.

2. THE REAL BASIS OF THE BOARD'S DECISION IS ITS CON-

CLUSION THAT PETITIONER'S INTERROGATION OF EM-

PLOYEES DID NOT HAVE A LEGITIMATE PURPOSE.

In discussing petitioner's investigation of the

Union's showing of interest, the Board stated flatly:

"Interrogation, conducted for such purpose,

serves no useful function and is not conducted for

a purpose 'legitimate in nature.' " (R. 21)

Later in its opinion, the Board refers to:

u* * * Q^^ conclusion that no useful or legiti-

mate purpose is served or can be served by sys-

tematic employer interrogation undertaken for

the purpose of investigating the adequacy of a

petitioner's showing of interest." (R. 22-23)

That the Board's decision depends entirely upon

the purpose of petitioner's inten-ogation is further

made clear by its reference to its previous decision in

the Blue Flash case, 109 NLRB 591. Referring to that

case, the Board states:

"The Board there held that such interrogation,

conducted for a 'purpose lefjitimate in naftire'

* * * did not tend to restrain or interfere with

employees' exercise of rights guaranteed by the
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Act simply because of the systematic nature of

the interrogations." (R. 20 j emphasis added.)

Thus, the argument in the Board's brief that peti-

tioner's purpose is immaterial to the consideration of

this case is patently erroneous.

3. THE BOARD FOUND THAT PETITIONER'S PURPOSE WAS
NOT LEGITIMATE BECAUSE IT RELATED TO THE UNION'S
SHOWING OF INTEREST RATHER THAN THE UNION'S
MAJORITY STATUS.

(a) This distinction is without foundation or

merit. The two purposes are interrelated. Petitioner's

ultimate purpose was to ascertain the Union's major-

ity status. Its immediate purpose was to determine the

Union's showing of interest. Obviously, if the Union

did not represent 30 per cent of the employees, it did

not represent a majority. Petitioner undertook its in-

terrogation only after a substantial number of em-

ployees voluntarily reported to management that they

did not believe that the Union had secured authoriza-

tions from 30 per cent of the employees. Contrary to

the assertion in the Board's brief (page 5, footnote

7), this is not an argument advanced by petitioner; it

is a fact contained in the stipulation submitted to the

Board. (Stipulation of Facts, page 4, paragraph IX,

R. 11.)

(b) While it is true that in the Blue Flash case,

supra, the Union had made an express and direct de-

mand upon the employer for recognition, no such

demand or claim of representation was made by the

¥



Union in NLRB v. California Compress Co., CA 9, 274

F.2d 104; NLRB v. Firedoor Corp., CA 2, 291, F.2d

328; NLRB v. Crystal Laundry, CA 6, 308 F.2d 626,

referred to in Petitioner's opening brief. Nothing in

the Court decisions indicate that interrogation is un-

lawful per se unless it is preceded by a Union claim

of representation and demand for recognition.

In fact, in Crystal Laundry the Union had neither

demanded recognition nor filed a petition for election.

Yet the systematic and repeated polling of employees

as to their Union membership and activity was held

lawful in that case, even though the employer engaged

in a vigorous expression of antiunion animus and took

no steps to assure the employees against reprisals.

In California Compress this Court held interroga-

tion unlawful because it was accompanied by threats

of reprisal and because its purpose was to undermine

the Union, not to challenge the validity of the Union's

showing of interest. This Court's decision was not

based upon the fact that the Union had not made an

express, direct demand for recognition upon the em-

ployer but had simply filed a petition for election with

the Board.

Notwithstanding the arguments in its ])rief (page

13, footnote 16) the Board itself has repeatedly held

that the ''filing itself" of a petition for election by a

Union constitutes a "sufficient" demand for recogni-

tion. See Florida Tile, 130 NLRB No. 103; Tyree's

Inc., 129 NLRB 1500.

Section 9(c)(1)(A) of the Act refers to the filing

of a petition by a Union as alleging that the employer
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declines to recognize the Union ^^as the representative

(of employees) as defined in section 9(a)" (Emphasis

added, see Appendix.)

Section 9(a) provides that: ^'Representatives desig-

nated or selected * * * by the majority of the em-

ployees in a unit appropriate * * * shall be the ex-

clusive representative of all the employees in such

unit * * *" (Emphasis added, see Appendix.)

Thus, the statute itself expressly contemplates that

the filing of a petition for election by a Union consti-

tutes an assertion of majority status and a demand for

recognition as exclusive bargaining representative.

4. THE BOARD'S POSITION THAT AN EMPLOYER HAS NO
LEGITIMATE PURPOSE IN QUESTIONING A UNION'S SHOW-
ING OF INTEREST IS ERRONEOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW.

This is the key issue in the case.

In its brief, the Board seeks to defend its position

on the grounds that such interrogation usurps the

Board's function and authority; invades the em-

ployees' right of privacy; conflicts with the Board's

administrative rule against litigating the issue of

showing of interest; and could lead to retaliation and

discrimination.

None of the foregoing reasons meets the test laid

down by the courts on the legality of interrogation.

The Board's contention that no useful purpose can

be served by such interrogation is directly contrary to

its own decisions in which election petitions filed by

Unions were dismissed upon evidence submitted by



employers successfully challenging the Union's show-

ing of interest. See Globe Iron Foundry, 112 NLRB
1200; Columbia Records, 125 NLRB 1161.

Moreover, the Board's brief is incorrect in charac-

terizing the showing of interest rule as simply an "ad-

ministrative expedient" to save the government time,

effort and money. As the Board's own decisions show,

the rule in question is not merely an administrative

requirement to be applied by the Regional Offices in

determining whether to investigate the j)etition, sched-

ule a hearing, and otherwise process the case. It is

regarded by the Board as a condition precedent for

directing ard holding the election itself, even ivhere,

after a hearing, all of the other necessary elements

have been found to exist. (See Tyree/s Inc., supra, at

1503, footnote 8; Swift & Co., 127 NLRB 87 at 88,

footnote 2.)

In terms of usurping the Board's authority, is not

subjecting employees to systematic, private polls con-

ducted by an employer, with none of the safeguards

which are part of the Board's secret ballot procedures,

a much more substantial infringement of the Board's

function, to say nothing of an invasion of employees'

privacy? Nevertheless, such conduct has repeatedly

been held lawful both by the Board and the courts.

(See Petitioner's opening brief, pages 32-33.)

For example, in the Crystal Laundry case, supra,

the employer polled his employees on four separate,

successive occasions, even though the results of each

poll were unanimously or overwhelmingly against the

Union. What justification existed for each additional
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instance of interrogation? What useful purpose was

to be served?

How can the Board's decision in the instant case

be reconciled with its recent decision in Philanz Olds-

mohile, Inc., 137 NLRB No. 103 (discussed in Peti-

tioner's opening brief, pages 48-50), where a strike

was held lawful even though the conceded purpose was

to compel the employer, by economic force and coer-

cion, to agree to a ''consent" election instead of pro-

ceeding with a hearing before the Board. The dis-

senting opinion in that case pointed out, in effect, that

such conduct by the Union clearly usurped the func-

tion and authority of the Board.

Finally, in California Compress Co., supra, this

Court has clearly indicated that interrogation by an

employer ''to check the authenticity of the Union's

claim of interest" or "to gather evidence to assist the

Board in determining the authenticity of the showing

of interest made by the Union" is not unlawful per se.

Nothing in the Court's decision in that case suggests

that such purpose cannot be "legitimate in nature."

In California Compress, this Court sustained the

Board's finding that the purpose of the interrogation

was to undermine the Union, and not to ascertain the

validity of the Union's showing of interest, on the

basis of substantial evidence showing that the interro-

gation was conducted in an atmosphere of explicit

threats of reprisal and actual coercion. The overall

pattern of the interrogation in that case showed hos-

tility to the Union and was accompanied by threats to

discharge every employee who had signed a Union card.
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When an employer, in interrogating employees, tells

them that he is informed that a])oiit 50 out of 86 have

signed up with the Union, that he intends to find out

who they are, and that if he finds out, he will fire

every one of them, there is no question Imt that this

Court must sustain a finding that the purpose of such

interrogation is to undermine the Union and not to

challenge the Union's showing of interest.

But there is no such evidence in the instant case.

The facts in the instant case resemble those in Blue

Flash, supra, and the various decisions of this Court

and other courts (cited in Petitioner's opening brief)

where interrogation occurred against backgi'ound free

of employer hostility to Union organization, where

the employer assured the employees that there would

be no economic reprisals, and where no threats or

promises were made.

5. THE BOARD HAS IMPROPERLY TAKEN A "PER SE"
APPROACH IN THIS CASE.

The "per se" approach in cases involving interroga-

tion of employees has been imequivocally rejected by

this Court and virtually all of the Courts of Appeals.

(See NLRB v. Roberts Bros., supra.)

Although a "per se" approach is disclaimed in the

Board's brief, it is perfectly x>lain the Board's deci-

sion that it is taking the position that interrogation

for the purpose of challenging or ascertaining the va-

lidity of a Union's showing of interest is unlawful

per se. After concluding that such purpose is not
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legitimate, the Board expressly states that such inter-

rogation ^^necessarily tends to interefere with and re-

strain employees * * * and to interfere with the elec-

tion processes of the Board." (R. 23) (See point 2,

above.)

This can only be characterized as a "per se" ap-

proach. It is clearly inconsistent with the "totality of

conduct" test formulated by the Board in its Blue

Flash decision.

What are the circumstances which comprise a

"totality of conduct"? They are the answers to such

questions as who, what, when^ where and how.

With respect to the circumstance '''Who/' the as-

sertion in the Board's brief (pages 10 and 12, footnote

15) that only "casual, perfunctory interrogation by

minor supervisory employees" has been held lawful

is completely erroneous. The cases cited in Petition-

er's opening brief (pages 26-47) involved not only

store managers, personnel directors, department man-

agers, district managers and shop superintendents, but

also plant superintendents, general managers, presi-

dents, vice presidents and partners.

With respect to the circumstance ^'What/' the stip-

ulated record shows that petitioner made no threats,

promises or any coercive an antiunion statements at

all.

With respect to the circumstance ^^When," the in-

terrogation occurred during the ordinary working

day and did not intrude upon the employees' own
time.
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With respect to the circumstance ''Where/' the rec-

ord shows that the employees were not called into the

manager's office. Nor were they approached in their

own homes.

With respect to the circumstance ''How/' the stipu-

lated record shows that Petitioner took all possible

affirmative steps to assure the employees against any

fear of reprisals. The purpose of the interrogation

was commimicated to the employees; they were ex-

pressly told that they were under no obligation to

answer any questions or to give any information. In

fact, the employees were told that they were free to

leave at any time, and they could have left immedi-

ately, even before they were questioned. Moreover,

Petitioner made no statements about the Union and

did not ask the employees to make any statements

about the Union. There is no antiunion animus in this

case, and none was found by the Board.

Finally, it is noteworthy that nothing in the com-

plaint issued by the General Coimsel of the Board

alleges that the manner in which the interrogation

was conducted constitutes a violation of the Act.
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CONCLUSION

Obviously, this case can only be decided in terms of

the ptirpose of the interrogation and the circumstances

under which it was conducted. That is the substance

of the test laid down by this Court in the McCatron

case.

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully

submitted that petitioner's purpose was legitimate and

that the circumstances were not coercive. Therefore,

the petitioner's conduct was lawful, and the Board's

finding of a violation should be set aside.

Dated, San Francisco, California,

March 25, 1962.

Respectfully submitted,

George O. Bahrs,

Robert J. Scolnik,

By Robert L. Scolnik,

Attorneys for S. H. Kress & Go.

(Appendix Follows)
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Appendix

LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS ACT, 1947, AS AMENDED

Sec. 9. (a) Representatives designated or selected

for the purposes of collective bargaining by the major-

ity of the employees in a unit appropriate for such

purposes, shall be the exclusive representatives of all

the employees in such unit for the purposes of collec-

tive bargaining in respect to rates of pay, wages,

hours of employment, or other conditions of employ-

ment: Provided, That any individual employee or a

group of employees shall have the right at any time

to present grievances to their employer and to have

such grievances adjusted, v^ithout the intervention of

the bargaining representative, as long as the adjust-

ment is not inconsistent with the terms of a collective-

bargaining contract or agreement then in effect : Pro-

vided further, That the bargaining representative has

been given opportunity to be present at such adjust-

ment.*»»***
(c) (1) Whenever a petition shall have been filed,

in accordance with such regulations as may be pre-

scribed by the Board

—

(A) by an employee or group of employees or

any individual or labor organization acting in

their behalf alleging that a substantial niunber of

employees (i) wish to be represented for collec-

tive bargaining and that their employer declines

to recognize their representative as the repre-
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sentative defined in section 9 (a), or (ii) assert

that the individual or labor organization, which

has been certified or is being currently recognized

by their employer as the bargaining representa-

tive, is no longer a representative as defined in

section 9 (a) ; or

(B) by an employer, alleging that one or more

individuals or labor oganizations have presented

to him a claim to be recognized as the respresenta-

tive defined in section 9 (a)
;
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In the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit

No. 18239

S. H. Kress & Co., petitioner

V,

National Labor Relations Board, respondent

On Petition for Review And On Cross-Petition for

Enforcement of An Order of the National Labor
Relations Board

BRIEF FOR THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS
BOARD

JURISDICTION

This case is before the Court upon petition of

S. H. Kress & Co. to review an order (R. 16-26)^ of

the National Labor Relations Board, issued against it

on July 11, 1962, following proceedings under Section

10 of the National Labor Relations Act, as amended

(61 Stat. 136, 73 Stat. 519, 29 U.S.C. Sec. 151, et

^ References to the pleadings reproduced as "Plead-

ings, Volume I" are designated "R." References preceding

a semicolon are to the Board's findings; those following, to

the supporting evidence.

(1)



seq.).- In its answer the Board requests enforcement

of its order.

The Board's decision and order are reported at 137

NLRB No. 126. This Court has jurisdiction of the

proceedings under Section 10(e) and (f) of the Act,

the unfair labor practices having occurred at peti-

tioner's retail store in Stockton, California.

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Board's findings of fact

Briefly, the Board found that petitioner, by engag-

ing in systematic interrogation of its employees as to

their Union ^ membership, and by seeking to induce

employees who admitted to having signed Union au-

thorization cards to revoke such authorization, had

violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. The relevant

underlying facts, all of which have been stipulated

by the parties (R. 8-14),^ are as follows:

On August 2,^ the Union filed a petition with the

Board's Regional Office in San Francisco, seeking a

^ The pertinent provisions of the Act are set forth infra,

pp.

^ Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Warehousemen & Helpers, Local

439, International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs,

Warehousemen &, Helpers of America.

* The parties, in addition to entering into a stipulation of

facts, waived their right to a hearing before a Trial Ex-

aminer, and jointly moved to transfer proceedings directly

to the Board for findings of fact, conclusions of law, and

decision and order. The Board granted the joint motion (R.

15, 16-17).

^ All dates herein are 1961.



representation election in a 60-employee unit at peti-

tioner's store in Stockton, California. On September

12, after negotiations for a consent election had

proved fruitless, the Regional Director of the Board

issued a notice that a hearing would be held on Sep-

tember 27 on the Union's petition for an election (R.

17-18; 9).

On September 15 and 16, petitioner's store man-

ager, Glenn E. Greenbank, and its labor relations

representative, Charles G. Barry, interviewed 46 of

the employees in the proposed unit. Each employee

was called separately into a storeroom area and there

interviewed by Greenbank and Barry. The interviews

were conducted during working hours and the em-

ployees were paid for the time spent at the interview.

(R. 18; 9-10). In the course of the individual inter-

views, each employee was told that petitioner wanted

to determine whether the Union had obtained the sig-

natures of enough employees, 30 percent of those in

the proposed unit, to support its petition.'' Each em-

ployee was assured that his job was not endangered

and that he could speak freely. Each was told that

it was not petitioner's intention to inquire into his

feelings for or against the Union, that he was under

^The Board has long followed the practice of requiring

a petitioning union to make a prima facie showing of at least

30 percent representation in the proposed unit as a condition

precedent to the conduct of a representation election. See
National Labor Relations Board Rules and Regulations and
Statements of Procedure Series 8, Section 101.17-101.18

(Appendix A to petitioner's brief) ; see also N.L.R.B. v. /. /.

Case Co., 201 F. 2d 597, 598-600 (C.A. 9).



no obligation to discuss those feelings, that he was not

required to furnish any information to petitioner, and

that he was free to leave at any time. (R. 18; 10.)

Each employee was then handed a mimeographed

form, which read as follows:

S. H. Kress & Co.

Stockton, California

I have not signed a card for the union to repre-

sent me as an employee of S. H. Kress & Co.

Dated Signed

(Employee)

Each employee was asked to read the form, and was

told that he could sign it or not as he wished ; that the

matter was confidential and would not affect his job.

Forty employees signed such forms. One stated she

had not signed an authorization card, but would not

sign the form. Five, upon stating that they had

signed authorization cards, were asked by petitioner

if ''they were sure what it meant." All replied that

they did not, whereon petitioner suggested that if

they wished to revoke their authorizations, they could

so indicate on the mimeographed form. Four did so,

signing the form and adding the following statement

on the bottom: "I signed a card but would like to

have it revoked." One signed and added: ''At the time

I signed the card I was unaware of the purpose of

the card." During the interviews, petitioner ex-

pressed no opinion about the Union, or union organi-

zation, and none of the employees made any protest



or indicated any objection to any statements made or

questions asked. (R. 18-19; 10-11.)'

On September 19, Barry forwarded the 45 signed

forms to the Regional Director, requesting him to

reinvestigate the Union's showing of interest. The

Regional Director did so and concluded that some of

the signed forms obtained by the Company during the

systematic interrogation of its employees were false.

Accordingly, the Regional Director notified the Com-

pany that the Union's showing of interest was ade-

quate and proper. Subsequently, on October 26, upon

charges previously 'filed by the Union, the Regional

Director issued a complaint, alleging that petitioner

had violated Section 8(a) (1) by its interrogation of

September 15 and 16 (R. 19; 11-12).'

II. The Board's conclusions and order

On the foregoing facts the Board concluded that

by interrogating employees as to their union member-

ship, and by seeking to induce employees who ad-

^ According to petitioner, the above-described interviews

took place after approximately 13 employees had voluntarily

reported to Greenbank and other supervisors that they did

not believe that 30 percent of the employees had signed

authorization cards (R. 19-20; 11).

^ On August 9, the Union had filed charges with the Board,
alleging that petitioner had engaged in unlawful interroga-

tion of its employees. Those charges were withdrawn on
August 24, with the approval of the Regional Director (R.

17; 9). On September 25, the Regional Director notified all

the parties that: "Upon the basis of newly discovered evi-

dence, the withdrawal request heretofore approved August
24, 1961, is hereby revoked and the case is reopened for

further investigation." (R. 19; 12.)



mitted to having signed union authorization cards to

revoke such authorization, petitioner had interfered

with, restrained, and coerced its employees in the ex-

ercise of their rights under Section 7, thereby violat-

ing Section 8(a) (1) of the Act (R. 24). The Board's

order requires petitioner to cease and desist from the

unfair labor practices found and from like or related

violations of the Act. Affirmatively, the Board's order

requires petitioner to post appropriate notices (R. 24-

25.)

ARGUMENT

THE BOARD PROPERLY FOUND THAT PETI-
TIONER UNLAWFULLY INTERROGATED ITS
EMPLOYEES AND SOUGHT TO INDUCE THEM
TO REVOKE UNION AUTHORIZATION CARDS,
THEREBY VIOLATING SECTION 8(a)(1) OF
THE ACT

A. Petitioner's conduct violated Section 8(a)(1) of

the Act

The fundamental purpose of the National Labor

Relations Act is to encourage collective bargaining

and to protect "the exercise by workers of full free-

dom of association, self-organization, and designation

of representatives of their own choosing, for the pur-

pose of negotiating the terms and conditions of their

employment or other mutual aid or protection." Sec-

tion 7 implements this purpose by guaranteeing em-

ployees the "right" to engage in such activity and

Section 8(a) (1) enforces the guarantee by declaring

it to be an unfair labor practice for an employer "to

interfere with, restrain, or coerce" employees in the



exercise of their rights under Section 7. The lan-

guage and legislative history of Section 8(a) (1) show

that Congress intended the terms "interfere," '^re-

strain/' and "coerce" to have separate and distinct

meanings.^ In banning "interference" Congress

clearly meant to proscribe any employer activity

which would tend to limit employees in the exercise

of their statutory rights. ^° No actual interference

with employee rights need be shown to make out a

violation of Section 8(a)(1). "The test is whether

the employer engaged in conduct which, it may rea-

sonably be said, tends to interfere with the free ex-

ercise of employee rights under the Act." N.L.R.B.

V. Illinois Tool Works, 153 F. 2d 811, 814 (C.A. 7).

See also N.L.R.B. v. Ford, 170 F. 2d 735, 738 (C.A.

6) ; N.L.R.B. v. Syracuse Color Press, 209 F. 2d 596,

599 (C.A. 2), cert, den., 347 U.S. 966; Time-O-Matic,

^ See Senate Committee on Education and Labor, Hearings

on S. 1958, 74th Cong., 1st Sess. (1935) pp. 713-714, 558;

305; H.R. No. 245 on H.R. 3020, 80th Cong., 1st Sess. (1947)

p. 28.

" Looking back after 4 years of experience under the

Wagner Act, at a time when amendments to Section 8(a) (1)

were urged but not adopted, Senator Wagner made this

observation on the need for continuing the prohibition

against interference:

The ban against "interference" has been of central

importance in protecting the right to organize . . .

since it embraces a multitude of activities which would
not be reached by specific prohibitions written into law,

and would not be included within the range of such

narrower concepts as "restraint" or "coercion." 84 Cong.

Rec, 76th Cong., 1st Sess. (1939) A. 2053.
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Inc. V. N.L.R.B., 264 F. 2d 96, 99 (C.A. 7) ; Blue

Flash Express, 109 NLRB 591, 593. Accord, N.L.R.B.

V. Link-Belt Co., 311 U.S. 584, 588, 599.^^

Employees can exercise fully their statutory right

to engage in self-organizational and other concerted

activity only if they are free from employer prying

and investigation. For, when an employer inquires

into organizational activity, whether by surveillance

or direct questioning, the employee who is interro-

gated or watched will naturally fear that the employer

not only wants information on the nature and extent

of his union interests and activities, but also contem-

plates some form of reprisal once the information is

obtained. Thus, as this Court has noted, "Interroga-

tion as to union sympathy and affiliation has been held

" Similarly, evidence of unlawful intent on the part of

the employer is not a necessary element of proof of violation

of Section 8(a) (1). "It is the effect and not the motivation

of [petitioner's] action which determines whether he has

violated Section 8(a) (1)." N.L.R.B. v. Price Valley Lumber
Co., 216 F. 2d 212, 215 (C.A. 9). Thus, petitioner's assertion

(Brief, pp. 17-23) that the evidence does not show that it

interrogated its employees for an unlawful purpose is, even

if correct, irrelevant. Nor is it made relevant by the allega-

tion in the complaint that the purpose of petitioner's interro-

gation was to undermine the Union and to interfere with,

restrain or coerce its employees. For, in this context, it is

plain that an allegation of unlawful motive on petitioner's

part means no more than that the natural consequence of its

interrogation was to interfere with its employees' rights

under the Act. "This recognition that specific proof of intent

is unnecessary where employer conduct inherently encourages

or discourages union membership is but an application of

the common-law rule that a man is held to intend the fore-

seeable consequences of his conduct. . .
." Radio Officers'

Union v. N.L.R.B., 347 U.S. 17, 45.



to violate the Act because of its natural tendency to

instill in the minds of employees fear of discrimina-

tion on the basis of the information the employer has

obtained." N.L.R.B. v. West Coast Casket Co., 205

F. 2d 902, 904. "Whether the company would be dis-

posed to make such use of the [information] is beside

the point. As long as the opportunity is present, em-

ployees may have a real fear that this would be done."

N.L.R.B. V. Essex Wire Corp. of Calif., 245 F. 2d 589,

592 (C.A. 9).

That petitioner's conduct in the instant case would

tend to create such a fear in its employees, and so in-

terfere with their rights of self-organization, is clear.

Petitioner systematically inquired of 46 employees as

to whether each had signed a union card by soliciting

the signature of each to a mimeographed form stating

that the employee had not signed such a card. The

very wording of the form, inviting as it did, a plainly

negative response, made petitioner's antiunion animus

plain to the employees. Cf. N.L.R.B. v. California

Compress Co., 274 F. 2d 104, 106 (C.A. 9). Forty

of the employees signed the mimeographed forms,

though it was later determined that some of them had

signed union authorization cards (R. 22, 19; 11) ; this

alone is some indication of the fear engendered in the

employees that petitioner's questions were but the pre-

lude to retaliatory activity. See N.L.R.B. v. Syracuse

Color Press, 209 F. 2d 596, 599-600 (C.A. 2), cert.

den., 347 U.S. 966. Moreover, when five of the em-

ployees admitted having signed union cards, petition-

er sought to induce them to revoke such cards, thus
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reemphasizing its opposition to union organization. ^-

Finally, it should be noted that the interrogators were

not minor supervisory employees, but petitioner's store

manager and its labor relations representative. The

participation of such high managerial representatives

in the interrogation is a potent factor in creating the

"aroma of coercion" condemned in the Act. Joy Silk

Mills V. NX.R.B., 185 F. 2d 732, 740 (C.A.D.C),

cert, den., 341 U.S. 914. See also N.L.R.B. v. Syracuse

Color Press, supra, at 599. In sum, we submit that

the systematic interrogation of employees as to their

union membership, by representatives of high manage-

ment, in circumstances which belie the employer's pro-

fessed unconcern with the union affiliation of its em-

ployees, infringes upon the employees' right to privacy

in their union affairs, ^^ and is unlawful because of

^2 The Board found, in accord with settled law, that such

inducement of employees to revoke union authorization cards

previously signed by them was in and of itself a violation of

Section 8(a) (1) of the Act. N.L.R.B. v. Howard-Cooper
Corp., 259 F. 2d 558 (C.A. 9) ; N.L.R.B. v. Parma Water
Lifter Co., 211 F. 2d 258 (C.A. 9), cert, den., 348 U.S. 829;

N.L.R.B. V. United Biscuit Co., 208 F. 2d 52 (C.A. 8), cert,

den., 347 U.S. 934; N.L.R.B. v. Lovvorn, 172 F. 2d 293

(C.A. 5) ; N.L.R.B. v. Consolidated Machine Tool Co., 163

U.S. 376 (C.A. 2), cert, den., 332 U.S. 824.

" Though petitioner denies that employees have a right to

privacy in their union affairs, the existence of such a right,

as a necessary concomitant to the full and free exercise of

the organizational rights guaranteed by Section 7 of the Act,

has long been recognized. See N.L.R.B. v. Grower-Shipper

Vegetable Association of Central California, Inc., 122 F. 2d

368, 376, in which this Court found an employer to have

violated the Act by surveillance of employee organizational

activity, even though the employees involved were unaware
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its "natural tendency to instill in the minds of em-

ployees fear of discrimination on the basis of the in-

formation the employer has obtained." N.L.R.B. v.

West Coast Casket, supra. See also N.L.R.B. v. Cali-

fornia Compi^ess Co., supra; N.L.R.B. v. State Center

Warehouse, 193 F. 2d 156 (C.A. 9); N.L.R.B. v.

Syracuse Color Press, Inc., supra; N.L.R.B. v. F. H.

McGraw c& Co., 206 F. 2d 635 (C.A. 6) ; Spartanburg

Sportswear Co., 116 NLRB 1914, enfd, 246 F. 2d

366 (C.A. 4).

This is not, of course, to say that any effort by an

employer to ascertain the union sentiments of his

employees will necessarily be violative of the Act. As

this Court stated in N.L.R.B. v. Roberts Brothers, 225

F. 2d 58, 60, the question of whether a poll of em-

ployees as to their union affiliation is unlawful de-

pends on the circumstances of each case. But in

Roberts, in N.L.R.B. v. Protein Blenders, Inc., 215

F. 2d 749 (C.A. 8), and in N.L.R.B. v. Crystal Laun-

dry, 308 F. 2d 626 (C.A. 6), on all of which petitioner

relies, the poll involved was a secret one. Here, each

employee was interrogated individually,^" and, fur-

of the surveillance, so that it could have had no restrictive

effect on the continuance of such activity. See also N.L.R.B.
V. Clark Bros. Co., 163 F. 2d 373, 375 (C.A. 2) ;

N.L.R.B. V. Baldwin Locomotive Works, 128 F. 2d 39, 50

(C.A. 3) ; Bethlehem Steel Co. v. N.L.R.B., 120 F. 2d 641,

647 (C.A.D.C.) ; Premier Worsted Mills, 85 NLRB 985, 986;

Virginia Electric and Power Co., 44 NLRB 404, 426, 427,

enforced, 132 F. 2d 390 (C.A. 4), affirmed, 319 U.S. 533.

" We totally fail to understand petitioner's assertion

(Brief, p. 38, n. 40) that a "private" or secret poll is more
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thermore, the mimeographed form presented to each

employee had "an anti-union sound about it." N.L.R.B.

V. California Compress Co., supra, at 106. The in-

stant case is thus distinguishable from Roberts, Pro-

tein Blenders, and Crystal Laundry, and is much more

akin to California Compress in which this Court

found the Act to have been violated by the employer's

circulation of, and effort to obtain signatures to, an

affidavit denying that the signer had executed a union

authorization card.^^

B. Petitioner's defenses are without merit

Petitioner's assertion that its conduct was lawful

under the Board's decision in Blue Flash Express, 109

NLRB 591, is wholly lacking in merit. In that case,

the union involved had gone directly to the employer,

claimed majority status, and requested the employer

to bargain with it {id. at 592). The employer's sub-

likely to have a coercive effect than face-to-face questioning.

The contrary assumption would appear far more warranted.

See Culifornia Compress, supra; N.L.R.B. v. Crystal Laundry,

supra, at 628; N.L.R.B. v. Protein Blenders, Inc., supra, at

751; N.L.R.B. v. Colten, 105 F. 2d 179, 181-182 (C.A. 6).

^^ An examination of the cases cited by petitioner on pages

26-31 of its brief shows that they differ factually from the

instant case. By and large, they exemplify the casual, per-

functory interrogation by minor supervisory employees that

comes within the doctrine of Sax v. N.L.R.B. (cited by peti-

tioner as Container Mfg. Co. v. N.LR.B.), 171 F. 2d 769

(C.A. 7), relied on by this Court in Wayside Press v.

N.L.R.B., 206 F. 2d 862. In none of those cases was there

the systematic inquiry by high management officials here

presented. See N.L.R.B. v. Syracuse Color Press, Inc., supra.

Sit 599 ; N.L.R.B. v. F. H. McGraw & Co., supra, at 640.
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sequent questioning of his employees for "a purpose

which was legitimate in nature" (id. at 593), i.e., to

determine whether the union did in fact represent a

majority of his employees and accordingly whether

he was legally obligated to recognize and bargain with

the union, was held by the Board to be lawful. Here,

on the other hand, petitioner was faced with no such

bargaining demand, but merely with a petition for a

representation election. Thus, even assuming that

petitioner's ultimate purpose in interrogating its em-

ployees was, as it asserts, to determine the Union's

majority status, that purpose does not serve to legiti-

mize the interrogation. For in the absence of a direct

claim of majority status and a demand that petitioner

bargain with the Union, petitioner had no such press-

ing need to know whether the Union did in fact repre-

sent a majority of its employees that it could not

await the results of the forthcoming representation

election. ^'^' In brief, the rationale of Blue Flash—that

an employer faced with a direct claim of majority

status and a request for bargaining may legitimately

question his employees to determine whether he must.

^^ A mere petition for a representation election is obviously

not the same thing as a bargaining demand, nor do the cases

cited by petitioner (Brief p. 4, n. 5) hold otherwise. The
teaching of those cases is simply that the filing of a repre-

sentation petition constitutes a statutorily sufficient demand
for recognition to enable the Board to proceed under Section

9(c) (1) to investigate and determine whether a question of

representation exists. Tyree's, Inc., 129 NLRB 1500, n, 1.

The filing of such a petition does not, however, obligate the

employer to bargain with the petitioning union unless and
until an election establishes its majority status.
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as a matter of law, bargain with the union—is inap-

plicable here where the Union neither claimed majori-

ty status nor demanded that petitioner recognize and

bargain with it/^

Nor may petitioner bring its conduct within Blue

Flash by asserting that it had a legitimate concern

with whether the Union had achieved a proper show-

ing of interest. The Board's showing of interest rule

was adopted as an administrative expedient to enable

the Board to eliminate representation petitions with

little or no prospect of success in order to avoid need-

less dissipation of the Government's time, effort, and

funds in conducting representation elections in such

circumstances. 0. D. Jennings & Co., 68 NLRB 516,

517-518; N.L.R.B. v. /. /. Case Co., 201 F. 2d 597

(C.A. 9). An integral and long accepted concomitant

of the showing of interest rule is the non-litigability of

a petitioner's evidence as to such interest. N.L.R.B.

v. J. I. Case Co., 201 F. 2d 597, 599-600 (C.A. 9)

;

N.L.R.B. V. National Truck Rental Co., 239 F. 2d 422

(C.A.D.C), cert, den., 352 U.S. 1016; Kearney

" Both Bon-R Reproductions, Inc. v. N.L.R.B., 309 F. 2d

898 (C.A. 2) and N.L.R.B. v. Firedoor Corp., 291 F. 2d 328,

cert, den., 368 U.S. 921, are distinguishable from the instant

case in that, in those cases, as in Blue Flash, the employer's

questioning of his employees was for a legitimate purpose.

Thus, the interrogation found in those cases to be lawful

came after the union had made a direct claim of majority

status, and was based on the employer's need to know
whether he was obligated to recognize and bargain with the

union. Similarly, in N.L.R.B. v. Katz Drug Co., 207 F. 2d

168 (C.A. 8), also relied on by petitioner, the employer had

a valid purpose for his interrogation, i.e., to prepare for

pending litigation.
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& Trecker Corp. v. N.L.R.B., 209 F. 2d 782,

786-788 (C.A. 7); N.L.R.B. v. White Construc-

tion & Engineering Co., 204 F. 2d 950, 953

(C.A. 5). The Board reserves to itself the function

of investigating such claims, and in its investigation

it endeavors to keep the identity of the employees in-

volved secret from the employer and from other par-

ticipating labor organizations. It does so both be-

cause of its statutory responsibility for investigation

of questions concerning representation and, equally

significantly, because the disclosure of the identity of

the employees involved to other parties tends to de-

stroy the secrecy of the ballot and the integrity of the

Board's processes. (R. 21.) Ct. N.L.R.B. y. J. I. Case

Co., supra, at 600, in which this Court indicated that

the substantiality of a union's showing of interest is

a matter of administrative concern only and warned

against ^'disclosure of the individual employees de-

sires with respect to representation [which] would

violate the long-established policy of the secrecy of

the employees' choice in such matters." To accept

petitioner's argument that, despite the conceded non-

litigability of a union's showing of interest, it was

here justified in engaging in systematic interrogation

of its employees as a means of determining whether

an adequate showing of interest had been achieved

would be to sanction the very forced disclosure of

employee participation in union organizational activi-

ty which the non-litigability doctrine is intended to

prevent. It would, in sum, be to "permit a rule

adopted for [the Board's] own convenience as an ad-

ministrative expedient to be turned into a procedure
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by which an employer can inform itself of the identity

of employee leaders of organizational campaigns" (R.

Finally, petitioner's reliance on Globe Iron Foundry,

112 NLRB 1200, and General Shoe Corp., 114 NLRB
381, as justifying its investigation of the Union's

showing of interest is wholly misplaced. Nothing in

those decisions suggests that the employers composed

or circulated the statements there involved, much less

that they systematically and individually presented

those statements to each employee for his signature.

The mere fact that the Board, in Globe Iron Foundry,

paid heed to the information brought to its attention

with respect to the showing of interest can in no way
be said to privilege an employer to engage in broad-

side interrogation of its employees based on suspicion

or hope that the resultant information will demon-

^^ There is no merit to petitioner's assertion that the Board
here held interrogation for the purpose of checking the

authenticity of a union's showing of interest to be per se

unlawful. As was previously pointed out, the Board found,

in the circumstances presented here, that petitioner's inter-

rogation of its employees was unlawful because of its

tendency to interfere with their rights of self-organization.

While petitioner sought to justify this interrogation by
arguing that its purpose was to check the validity of the

Union's showing of interest, the Board rejected this as a

defense. Rejection of the defense that interrogation is

warranted to investigate compliance with the Board's show-

ing of interest requirement is plainly not the same thing as

holding interrogation for this purpose to be per se unlawful.

Petitioner's attack on the per se approach thus has no

relevance here.
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strate an insufficient showing of interest. Cf. Lind-

say Neivspapers, Inc., 130 NLRB 680, 692/^

^^Petitioner's contention (Brief, p. 61) that the Board's

failure to dismiss the Union's representation petition was
erroneous and that this Court should order that petition

dismissed does not present an issue cognizable by this Court.

A determination made by the Board in a representation

proceeding is not a "final order" within the meaning of

Section 10(e) or (f) of the Act and is not, therefore, di-

rectly reviewable by the Courts of Appeals. The only circum-

stance in which a Court of Appeals may review Board action

taken in a representation proceeding under Section 9(c) is

when the Board, acting under Section 10(c), issues an unfair

labor practice order based "in whole or in part upon the

facts certified" as the result of such Section 9(c) proceed-

ings. That not being the case here, the determination of

which petitioner complains is not subject to review by this

Court. A.F. of L. v. N.L.R.B., 308 U.S. 401, 408-412;

N.L.R.B. V. LB.E.W., 308 U.S. 413, 414-415; N.L.R.B. v.

Falk, 308 U.S. 453, 458-459; Timken-Detroit Axle Co. v.

N.L.R.B., 197 F. 2d 512 (C.A. 6) ; Bomvit Teller, Inc. v.

N.L.R.B., 197 F. 2d 640, 642, n. 1 (C.A. 2), cert, den., 345

U.S. 905 ; N.L.R.B. v. LaSalle Steel Co., 178 F. 2d 829, 832,

n. 1 (C.A. 7).

Petitioner's additional assertion that the Board's deci-

sion goes beyond the scope of the complaint and the

issues raised therein (Brief, pp. 13-17) is patently frivo-

lous. The complaint alleged that petitioner's interroga-

tion of its employees had been in violation of their Section

7 rights (R. 5), and the Board so found. Those parts of

the Board's decision to which petitioner takes exception,

primarily the Board's discussion of its showing of interest

requirement, were made necessary by petitioner's assertion

that "it was justified in conducting interviews for the pur-

pose of showing that [the Union] did not have a proper

showing of interest" (R. 20).
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, it is respectfully requested

that the petition to review and set aside the Board's

order be denied, and that a decree should be entered

enforcing the Board's order in full.

Stuart Rothman,
General Counsel,

DOMINICK L. Manoli,
Associate General Counsel,

Marcel Mallet-Prevost,

Assistant General Counsel,

James C. Paras,

Stephen B. Goldberg,

Attorneys,

National Labor Relations Board.

March, 1963.

Certificate

The undersigned certifies that he has examined the

provisions of Rules 18 and 19 of this Court, and in

his opinion the tendered brief conforms to all re-

quirements.

Marcel Mallet-Prevost
Assistant General Counsel

National Labor Relations Board
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APPENDIX

The relevant provisions of the National Labor Re-

lations Act, as amended (61 Stat. 136, 73 Stat. 519,

29 U.S.C, Sees. 151, et seq.) are as follows:

Rights of Employees

Sec. 7. Employees shall have the right to self-

organization, to form, join, or assist labor organiza-

tions, to bargain collectively through representatives

of their own choosing, and to engage in other con-

certed activities for the purpose of collective bar-

gaining or other mutual aid or protection, and shall

also have the right to refrain from any or all of

such activities except to the extent that such right may
be affected by an agreement requiring membership in a

labor organization as a condition of employment as

authorized in section 8(a) (3).

Unfair Labor Practices

Sec. 8. (a) It shall be an unfair labor practice

for an employer

—

(1) to interfere with, restrain, or coerce em-
ployees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed
in section 7;

Representatives and Elections

Sec. 9. (c)(1) Whenever a petition shall have
been filed, in accordance with such regulations as

may be prescribed by the Board

—

(A) by an employee or group of employees

or any individual or labor organization acting

in their behalf alleging that a substantial num-
ber of employees (i) wish to be represented for
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collective bargaining and that their employer
declines to recognize their representative as the

representative defined in section 9(a), or (ii)

assert that the individual or labor organization,

which has been certified or is being currently

recognized by their employer as the bargaining

representative, is no longer a representative as

defined in section 9(a) ; or

(B) by an employer, alleging that one or

more individuals or labor organizations have

presented to him a claim to be recognized as

the representative defined in section 9(a);

the Board shall investigate such petition and if it

has reasonable cause to believe that a question of

representation affecting commerce exists shall pro-

vide for an appropriate hearing upon due notice.

Such hearing may be conducted by an officer or em-

ployee of the regional office, who shall not make any
recommendations with respect thereto. If the Board
finds upon the record of such hearing that such a

question of representation exists, it shall direct an

election by secret ballot and shall certify the results

thereof.

Prevention of Unfair Labor Practices

Sec. 10(a) The Board is empowered, as herein-

after provided, to prevent any person from engaging

in any unfair labor practice (listed in section 8) af-

fecting commerce. This power shall not be affected

by any other means of adjustment or prevention that

has been or may be established by agreement, law,

or otherwise: * * *

(b) Whenever it is charged that any person has

engaged in or is engaging in any such unfair labor
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practice, the Board, or any agent or agency desig-

nated by the Board for such purposes, shall have

power to issue and cause to be served upon such

person a complaint stating the charges in that re-

spect, and containing a notice of hearing before the

Board or a member thereof, or before a designated

agent or agency, at a place therein fixed, not less

than five days after the seizing of said complaint:

Provided, That no complaint shall issue based upon

any unfair labor practice occurring more than six

months prior to the filing of the charge with the

Board and the sei'vice of a copy thereof upon the per-

son against whom such charge is made, unless the

person aggrieved thereby was prevented from filing

such charge by reason of service in the armed forces,

in which event the six-month period shall be com-

puted from the day of his discharge. Any such com-

plaint may be amended by the member, agent, or

agency conducting the hearing or the Board in its

discretion at any time prior to the issuance of an

order based thereon.

(c) * * * If upon the preponderance of the testi-

mony taken the Board shall be of the opinion that

any person named in the complaint has engaged in

or is engaging in any such unfair labor practice,

then the Board shall state its findings of fact and
shall issue and cause to be served on such person an

order requiring such person to cease and desist from
such unfair labor practice, and to take such affirma-

tive action including reinstatement of employees

with or without back pay, as will effectuate the poli-

cies of this Act: * * *

* * * *

(e) The Board shall have power to petition any
court of appeals of the United States, . . . within

any circuit . . . wherein the unfair labor practice in
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question occurred or wherein such person resides

or transacts business, for the enforcement of such

order and for appropriate temporary relief or re-

straining order, and shall file in the court the record

in the proceedings, as provided in section 2112 of title

28, United States Code. Upon the filing of such

petition, the court shall cause notice thereof to be

served upon such person, and thereupon shall have

jurisdiction of the proceeding and of the question

determined therein, and shall have power to grant

such temporary relief or restraining order as it

deems just and proper, and to make and enter a de-

cree enforcing, modifying, and enforcing as so modi-

fied, or setting aside in whole or in part the order of

the Board. No objection that has not been urged be-

fore the Board, its member, agent, or agency, shall

be considered by the court, unless the failure or neg-

lect to urge such objection shall be excused because

of extraordinary circumstances. The findings of the

Board with respect to questions of fact if supported

by substantial evidence on the record considered as

a whole shall be conclusive. If either party shall

apply to the court for leave to adduce additional evi-

dence and shall show to the satisfaction of the court

that such additional evidence is material and that

there were reasonable grounds for the failure to

adduce such evidence in the hearing before the Board,

its member, agent, or agency, the court may order

such additional evidence to be taken before the Board,

its member, agent, or agency, and to be made a part

of the record. . . . Upon the filing of the record with

it, the jurisdiction of the court shall be exclusive

and its judgment and decree shall be final, except

that the same shall be subject to review by the . . .

Supreme Court of the United States upon writ of

certiorari or certification as provided in section 1254

of title 28.
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(f ) Any person aggrieved by a final order of the

Board granting or denying in whole or in part of

relief sought may obtain a review of such order in

any circuit court of appeals of the United States in

the circuit wherein the unfair labor practice in ques-

tion was alleged to have been engaged in or wherein

such person resides or transacts business, or in the

United States Court of Appeals for the District of

Columbia, by filing in such court a written petition

praying that the order of the Board be modified or

set aside. A copy of such petition shall be forthwith

transmitted by the clerk of the court to the Board,

and thereupon the aggrieved party shall file in the

court the record in the proceeding, certified by the

Board, as provided in section 2112 of title 28, United

States Code. Upon the filing of such petition, the

court shall proceed in the same manner as in the

case of an application by the Board under subsection

(e) of this section, and shall have the same jurisdic-

tion to grant to the Board such temporary relief or

restraining order as it deems just and proper, and in

like manner to make and enter a decree enforcing,

modifying, and enforcing as so modified, or setting

aside in whole or in part the order of the Board;

the findings of the Board with respect to questions

of fact if supported by substantial evidence on the

record considered as a whole shall in like manner be

conclusive.

U. S eOVERNUENT PRINTINE OFFICE; 1963
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No. 18,240

IN THE
UNIIED STAIES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE

NINTH CIRCUIT

JANE G. WEST and RALPH E. WEST, )

Appellants,

vs.

RUTH SHIZUKO TAN, individually and
doing business as BANYAN INN,

Appellee.

)

PETITION FOR REHEARING

Appellants hereby petition this Court for rehearing after

decision of this Court, dated September 23, 1963o Said decision

determined that plaintiff wife was a bare licensee while playing

a piano in defendant's restaurant and that she could not, for

that reason, recover.

Grounds for Rehearing

Rehearing is sought upon the grovmd that, while there is

^(substantial evidence to support a conclusion that plaintiff was

a licensee, which said evidence is summarized in the decision of

this Court, there is equally substantial evidence to support the

jury's determination that plaintiff was an invitee. This latter

evidence, possibly, was not heretofore brought clearly to the

attention of this Court, since the same does not appear in the



'



said declsloHo

The Evidence

The evidence supporting the jury's implied finding that

plaintiff was an invitee may be summarized as follows:

1. The area involved here was a part of the public dance

area, separated therefrom only by a single step.

2. There was no barricade or fence between the admittedly

public dance area and the piano played by plaintiff.

3. The piano was so located as to be immediately available

to patrons, without being moved or prepared in any way,

4. A chair for the piano was left available.

5. A light was left available.

6« The absence of any sign in the questioned area forbidding

entrance thereto was affirmatively shown.

7o The failure of defendant to object to the piano playing,

though she was fully aware of the same, was affirmatively shown.

8. The fact that defendant's waitress affirmatively encourage

plaintiff to play the piano was shown

9. It was shown that this was not a formal type of restaurant

the Vrule" was informality, so that plaintiff's piano-playing

was quite in keeping with the "nature of the business."

10. Baintiff 's presence in the questioned area did serve

defendant's interests: Other guests of defendant listened to,

and enjoyed, plaintiff's piano playing. Further, the very reason

that plaintiff went to defendat's restaurant rather than to

another restaurant was be cause there was a piano available there.





The Law

It is respectfully submitted that the foregoing evidence

clearly brings plaintiff within the definition of an invitee ,

rather than a licensee, as defined by the very authorities cited

in this Court's decision (Restatement of Torts and Prosser on Tort

Prosser states at page 445, et seq., that a licensee is

one who enters with consent

"* * * and nothing more . Such a person is not a trespasser,
but he comes for his own purposes rather than for any pur-
pose or interest of the landholder/'

"* * * the duty of affirmative care in making the premises
safe is imposed upon the man in possession as the price he
must pay for the economic benefit he derives, or expects to
derive from the presence of the visitor; and that when no
stuch benefit is to be found , he is under no such duty, (5n

this basis the 'business' on which the visitor comes must
be one of at least potential pecuniary profit to the
possessor." (page 453; en^hasis added)

"* * * The special obligation toward invitees exists only
while the visitor is upon the part of the premises which the
occupier has thrown open to him for the purpose which makes
him an invitee. This *area of invitation* will of course
vary with the circumstances of the case. * * * [ I] t extends
to all parts of the premises to which the purpose may rea-
sonably be expected to take him, and to those which are "so
arranged as to lead him reasonably to think that they are
open to him. * * * If the customer is invited or encouraged
to go to an unusual part of the premises, such as behind a
counter or into a storeroom, for the purpose which has
brought him, he remiains an invitee; but if he goes without
sugh encouragement and solely on his own initiative, he is
only a licensee * * * • " (P^S^ 458; emphasis added)

Simiarly, the Restatement of Torts, Sec. 343, comment

(b), cited by this Court, states:

"Under the rule stated in this section a possessor of
land is subject to liability to another as a business visitor
only for such bodily harm as he sustains while upon a part
of the land upon which the possessor gives the other reason
to believe that his presence is permitted or desired because





of its connection with the business or affairs of the pos-
sessor and which as such is held open to the other as a
business visitor. In determining the area included in a
business invitation, the nature of the business to be trans-
acted is of great importance. * * * Where it is customary
that customers or patrons shall be free to go to certain
parts of the premises, the customer or patron is a business
visitor thereon unless the possessor exercises reasonable
care to apprise the customer or patron that the area of
invitation is more narrowly restricted." (Emphasis added)

Conclusion

It is respectfully submitted that even though there is

substantial evidence from which the Coinrt might find that plain-

tiff was a licensee in the questioned area, nevertheless there is

abundant evidence to support the implied determination of the jurf

to the contrary.

Prior decisions of this Court, heretofore cited, along

with a host of decisions from other jurisdictions heretofore

cited, have uniformly held that the question of whether a plain-

tiff is an invitee or a licensee is a question of fact, to be

determined by the jury.

Here the jury has found that plaintiff was an invitee.

There is substantial evidence to support that determination.

Under such circumstances, we submit the Court is bound by such

determination unless the purpose of the jury system be held to

be totally meaninglesSo

Respectfully submitted,

SULLIVAN, ROCHE, JOHNSON & FARRAHER
AXEL J. fllRNELLES ;

Atcorne^^ror Appeiiapts
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No. 18241

IN THE

United States Court of Appeals
FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

David Farrell, et al.,

Appellant,

vs.

United States of America,

Appellee.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT
DAVID FARRELL.

Jurisdiction of Trial and Appellate Courts.

From his conviction by a jury on an indictment^

charging violations of the fraud provisions of The

Security Act of 1933,^ the Mail Fraud Statute^ and

for conspiring to violate these statutes,^ and from the

Judgment thereon [R. 4390-4392], David Farrell re-

spectfully appeals.

^United States of America v. David Farrell, et al., U. S.

District Court, Southern District of California, Central Division,

No. 30341-CD [Clk. Tr. 119 et seq.] filed December 20, 1961
and plea of "not guilty" made to all 34 counts [R. P-10]. Jury's

verdict April 16, 1962 [Clk. Tr. 505-508] and judgment filed

May 14, 1962 [Clk. Tr. 558-559].

^15 U. S. C. A. §77q(a)(l). Counts One, Two, Four
through Seventeen. Count Three was dismissed [R. 3046].

M8 U. S. C. A. §1341. Counts Eighteen through Thirtv-Two.
Count Thirty-Three was dismissed [R. 3046].

nS U. S. C. A. §371. Count Thirty-four.



The District Court had jurisdiction of the triaP as

does this Court of this appeal.®

Statement of the Case.

After approximately six weeks of trial, some 4,400

pages of Reporter's Transcript of trial testimony and

the introduction of thousands of exhibits, with much

repetition, David Farrell and his brother O. J. FarrelP

were found guilty, in effect, of having devised a scheme

and conspired to defraud customers of Los Angeles

Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange [LATD] and/or

its parent corporation, Trust Deed & Mortgage Ex-

change and affiliate companies.^ That the United States

mail was involved was admitted.

As to Counts One through Seventeen, the jury also

found there was a "security" involved in what was being

offered and/or sold to the public by the defendants.

What, if at all, that "security" consisted of, was in

serious dispute [R. 4311-4313; see also Vol. 22, pp.

3701-3705, N. B. Vol. 23 has duplicate pagination]. The

Government's contention being the trust deeds sold

were not only "investment contract"^ but also "notes"

or "evidences of indebtedness" under the provisions of

nS U. S. C. A. §77v(a) and §77t(b) as to Counts One, Two,
Four through Seventeen; 18 U. S. C. A. §3231 and Fed. Rules

Cr. Proc. Rule 18, U. S. C. A. as to the remaining counts.

628 U. S. C. A. §1291.

^A co-appellant herein by separate brief.

STrust Deed & Mortgage Exchange (TD&ME) ; Trust Deed &
Mortgage Markets (TD&MM) ; Colorado Trust Deed & Mort-
gage Markets (CTD&MM).

'^As the 2nd trust deed sold during the period were held to be

in the civil action preceding this criminal case. See Los Angeles
Deed & Mortgage Exchange v. Security Exchange Commission,
9th Cir. 1960, 285 F. 2d 162, 172.
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The Securities Act of 1933/^ Appellant seasonably

objected [R. 4311-4312] to the Court's charge in ref-

erence thereto [R. 4267-4268] and assigns said charge

as an error in this appeal/^

'HS U. S. C. A. §77b(l).

i^The Court charged [R. 4266, 4267 and 4268] as follows:

"... Counts One and Two and Counts Four through
Seventeen of the indictment each alleges that the defendants
devised and executed a scheme to defraud in the sale of

'securities' as defined in Section 2(1) of the Securities Act
of 1933, namely, 'investment contracts, promissory notes,

evidence of indebtedness and receipts for and guarantees of

such securities.' . . .

* * *

".
. . Section 2(1) of the Act defines the term 'security'

to include 'any note, evidence of indebtedness, investment
contract, receipt for or guarantee' of any such security.

* * *

"Going back to the charges under the Securities Act, the

requirement that the government establish that the Secured

10% Earnings offered by the defendants involved the sale

of securities will be established if you find that the trust deed
notes or trust deeds are 'notes' or 'evidence of indebtedness,'

as defined by the Act."

Appellant objected to this charge [R. 4311-4312] as follows:

"Mr. Dunn : With reference to the Court's instructions

as to the term 'security,' specifically since the court has

included notes, I would like to call attention to the fact that

notes are not within the accepted application of the statute.

Although I know that the terms are that broad, they have
not been applied that broadly. They have been confined to

an investment contract, as I had urged the court at the

beginning. I think that we might have avoided that trouble

—

The Court : That is true. But the government would
not take that position, and since the government has taken

this position, I think, Mr. Dunn, since the definition is as

it is, I am going to follow it.

Mr. Dunn: I have my exception, then, your Honor, that

without referring to the exemptions which might apply, this

is an erroneous instruction."

Appellant also asked that the Court instruct that the only type

of security involved was that known as an "investment contract"

[Clk. Tr. 487] :

"In determining whether there was a violation of the

Securities Act you must first find that the Defendants, or

any one of them, engaged in the offer or sale of securities.
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The criminal action had been preceded by a civil ac-

tion filed and prosecuted in the Federal Courts by the

Security and Exchange Commission against Appellant

David Farrell and others. A full recitation of the al-

legations, issues, opinions and events of that action is

not required for the purposes of this brief, but are

available for review in the published reports/^ It is im-

portant to note, however, that almost without excep-

tion all of the acts or omissions charged against Ap-

pellant in the present indictment fell within the time

period when the SEC was militantly and relentlessly

demanding ultimate and terminal legal sanctions against

LATD, TD&ME, David Farrell and others. This was

from March, 1958 when the first SEC complaint was

filed until June 8, 1960. Further, the anti-fraud struc-

ture of the civil action and the testimony and exhibits

offered by the SEC in that action to support its al-

legations therein were qualitatively, but by no means

quantitatively, similar to the anti-fraud structure and

There are a number of different types of securities, how-
ever, you will only be concerned with the type known as an
investment contract.

If you find that the transactions charged were not invest-

ment contracts, then you must find the Defendants not guilty

of violations of the Securities Act in Counts One to Seven-
teen, inclusive."

^^See Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange v. SEC,
9th Cir. 1959, 264 F. 2d 199, where this court reversed the Dis-

trict Court's issuance of a preliminary injunction and the appoint-

ment of a temporary receiver. After a full trial, the District

Court rendered its decision, findings of fact and conclusions of

law in May, 1960. See SEC v. Los Angeles Trust Deed &
M.ortgage Exchange, et al., U. S. D. C, S. D. Calif., CD, 1960,

186 Fed. Supp. 830. This judgment, except as to the liquidation

powers of the receiver, was affirmed in an opinion of this Court

November 23, 1960 set forth in 285 F. 2d 162. Rehearing

denied January 10, 1961 ; cert, denied May 8, 1961, 366 U. S.

919, 81 S. Ct. 1095, 6 L. Ed. 2d 241.
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evidentiary pattern of the instant criminal case. De-

spite this obvious similarity, the Government sought in

the criminal case to introduce in evidence the civil

case^^ and specifically the pleadings, the Judgment of

May 20, 1960 and the prefatory remarks of the trial

Judge of May 4, I960,'' The Appellant at all times ob-

jected [R. 270, 2870-2874] and the Court reserved

ruling and the matter was further discussed between

Court and counsel. Finally, again over the objection of

the defendants [R. 3026, 3029-3031], the Court read to

the jury its condensation of the prior civil action and its

outcome. The Court charged the jury that the evi-

dence was of restricted use.'^ This action by the Court

is assigned as error.

^^And did so in the opening argument [R. 32] :

"You will hear later in this regard how there was litiga-

tion going on during this time with the Securities and Ex-
change Commission charging ( 1 ) You people are dealing in

securities, (2) You are defrauding people, and also you are

insolvent."

^'*A certified copy of the original complaint, Exhibit 5201 for

identification ; a certified copy of the amended complaint, Exhibit

5200 for identification ; copy of the answer Exhibit 5200-A for

identification ; and a copy of the Honorable Thurmond Clarke's

May 4, 1960 indication of ruling, Exhibit 1950-A for identifica-

tion [R. 2869-2870]. Exhibit 1950 was offered and received

provisionally [R. 269]. It was Judge Clarke's judgment of

May 20, 1960 granting the injunction and appointing the receiver.

^^"The Court: Members of the jury, in lieu of the acceptance

in evidence of Exhibits 1950, 5200, 5201 and 1950-A, I will give

you a summary of some of the facts in such exhibits which I

deem of possible relevance or materiality for your consideration.

"On March 24, 1958, the Securities & Exchange Commission
filed a complaint against Los Angeles Trust Deed and Mortgage
Exchange, Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange, Trust Deed &
Mortgage Markets, David Farrell, Oliver J. Farrell, Roy A.
Bonner, and Thomas Wolfe, Jr., charging the defendants with

violation of certain sections of the Securities Exchange Act,

including charges that defendants were engaged in transactions,

practices and a course of business which operated and would
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The prior civil action cast its long shadow even deep-

er into the criminal action. It is without dispute that

from May 4, 1960 and up to June 8, 1960, the day

the Federal Receiver took over LATD, TD&ME and

other affiliated companies, the Appellant continued in

business on advice of counsel expecting to appeal the

decision. There was during that period an avalanche

of requests by former purchasers of trust deeds from

LATD, that LATD either sell for them or buy from

them their trust deeds. There is no dispute that from

approximately the first week in May, 1960 until June

7, 1960, close to $3,000,000.00 worth of such liquida-

tion requests or sell orders had been processed by

LATD and that approximately 800 more sell orders

amounting to approximately $3,630,000.00 remained

unprocessed [R. 2798]. The Government on the sub-

ject of liquidation requests and dollar volume thereof

operate as a fraud and deceit upon purchasers of such alleged

securities.

"On October 8th, 1958, the Commission filed an Amended and
supplemental Complaint charging the corporate defendants with
misappropriation of funds entrusted to them by investors under
the Secured 10% Earnings Program, and further charged that

said corporate defendants were insolvent and unable to meet their

current obligations. The Amended Complaint included as a party

defendant Stanley C. Marks.
"The charges in both the original and the Amended and Sup-

plemental Complaint were denied by the defendants.

"On May 20, 1960, a judgment was entered in said proceed-

ings permanently enjoining the defendants from engaging in the

acts as charged. The effect, however, of this injunction was
stayed—that is, put off—by an appeal.

"Pursuant to the judgment the Receiver took charge of the

assets and business of the corporate defendants on June 8, 1960.

"Now, neither the charges made in the pleadings in such case

nor said judgment are to be considered by you as evidence of the

truth of such charges. The above statement of facts is given to

you solely in connection with your consideration of the charges

made in Paragraph 11, Count One, of the indictment." [R.

3026-3028.1



had testify Mr. Leroy H. Cole an accountant hired

by the Federal Receiver. Mr. Cole was allowed to tes-

tify to the dollar volume and the Government, over

objection, introduced a summary of said liquidation re-

quests [R. 2800-2801: Ex. 6002]. Mr. Cole testified

the underlying documents in support of Exhibit 6002

were in the courtroom [R. 2798]. The Government at

first asserting it had no intention of introducing the so-

called underlying documents (consisting of two baskets

of papers) had them marked for identification as Ex-

hibit 6003 [R. 1664, 2789], but suddenly offered said

exhibit in evidence in addition to the summary. Over

the objection of the defendants^® the exhibit was ad-

mitted. In connection therewith the Court itself at-

tempted to lay a foundation for said exhibit. ^^ The

exhibit contained far more than just liquidation re-

quests for there were also writings, letters and at least

in one instance, apparently, a newspaper clipping quot-

ing the Hon. Thurmond Clarke's remarks of May 4,

i«[R. 2795. 96, 99] :

"Mr. Jacobs : We would object to them, if the Court
please, on the ground that they are incompetent, irrelevant

and immaterial and no proper foundation.
* * *

"Mr. Jacobs : Your honor, we object to it on the ground.s
that there is no proper foundation. Especially, in looking
at 6002, and the dates, apparently, that are put in here, they
are all late in June, or June 6th and 7th, and certainly would
not be admissible in that regard unless there was a founda-
tion as to the time the requests were received."

i'[R. 2799] :

"The Court: Were these requests part of the books of
the company when you went to make the audit at the time
you assisted in taking over? Were they in the possession
of the company at that time?

The Witness: They were in the possession of the com-
pany.

The Court : The objection is overruled, to 6003."



1960 in connection with his anticipated ruling in the

civil action. A copy of Judge Clarke's actual May 4th

remarks had theretofore been offered by the Govern-

ment as Exhibit 1950A and had been rejected [R.

2869-2870] (the statement of May 4, 1960 appears in

186 F. Supp. 830). As shall be more thoroughly set

forth in argument, these writings were of the most

objectionable nature—heresay, accusatory, violent and

inflammatory. No foundation whatsoever was laid for

these extra-judicial assertions and the admission of said

exhibit is assigned as error. Extensive argument on

this subject was had in reference to a motion for new

trial. The motion was denied [R. 4348-4350, 4359-

4361].

In light of the fact that the Receiver had taken

possession of TD&ME and LATD and the affiliate

companies on June 8, 1960, there soon developed in the

criminal trial a problem concerning the admissibility of

evidence of events occuring after June 7, 1960. The de-

fendants' position in substance was that they could not

and should not be held responsible for such events

nor should evidence be admitted referring to such events

since the defendants were thereafter powerless to act

or to control the affairs of the companies. ^^ Dis-

cussions between Court and counsel soon developed con-

cerning the admissibility of evidence as to events oc-

curring subsequent to June 7, 1960.^^ The Court's

^^'A forecast of this problem was made by Appellant's attorney

in his opening argument [R. 100-101] and it next came to issue

[R. 1048] in a discussion concerning the admission of a post-

receiver notice of default of a deed of trust owned by a cus-
tomer witness.

i»[R. 1088] :

"Mr. Dunn : It was my understanding from that that

we would not go into matters after June 8, 1960. However,
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rule [R. 1293] on this problem was employed fairly

by the Court in all save one situation—the most vital

of all—where customer-witnesses were asked if they

they were gone into. It got into the record as it stood, and
we would like to reserve our rights and make any proper
motion to strike. But at this time I would like to also

move tliat the Government be instructed not to attempt to

present matters regarding defaults and what occurred to the

property after June 8, 1960, when the receiver was in

control of Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange.

That would be a general motion, because I assume

—

* * *

"The Court : . . .

Now, I would like to just hear from the Government
as to how you believe that that can have any relevancy or

materiality whatsoever. After all, if there was an insolvency

on the date of the receivership, that is it. If something else

was caused or happened after that time, what difference

does it make?

Mr. Medvene: If the court please, that wouldn't have
anything to do with the insolvency. What that testimony
would have to do with, your Honor, is whether in truth

or in fact the trust deeds were actually prime, trouble-free,

well-screened trust deeds. And we think the evidence that

the trust deeds were delinquent—not because of any con-
dition necessarily of LATD, but were delinquent because
of the nature or type of property that they were put on,

and that this had relevance in relationship to the program as
it was presented to the potential investor.

The Court : The ultimate question, though, would be the
nature of the trust deeds as of the date of receivership

rather than what happened later, Mr. Medvene, because I

think we all have to recognize that the appointment of a
receiver is necessarily going to affect the value of whatever
the security might be, if they had anything to do with it.

So I really think that our basic problem is what were the

values as of the date of the receivership and before that

time." (Emphasis added.)

[Continuing R. 1092]

"The Court : I am still going to hold my reservation of
ruling on it. I think Mr. Medvene, you may be getting into

dangerous territory.
* * *

The Court : I will still reserve my ruling and let us
keep away from that during the course of the day here,
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ever got their money back. The Court not only allowed

such questioning, but suggested the propriety thereof as

a means of saving time.^° On one occasion the Court

and I will think about it over the week-end and we will

have a ruling on Monday.
* * *

[which the Court did R. 1293] :

"The Court: All right.

With reference to the general line of testimony that is

before and after the receivership, gentlemen, I don't believe

at this time, at least, that I can adopt a general rule on

that. I believe that under some circumstances such evi-

dence is admissible, such as United States vs. TelUer, 255

F. 2d 440, 448, 449. In other cases it has been held

inadmissible. And the reason for the distinction between

the two becomes obvious to anyone who would read the

cases.

So for that reason I feel that I cannot adopt a general

rule on it, although to say this: That generally speaking

what happened after that time, except insofar as it might he

declarations against interest, or something such as that, why,

it wo'uld seem to be inadmissible, or that it wouldn't liave

any particular relevancy or materiality . .
." (Emphasis

added.)

20 [R. 1479-1481] :

".
. ., it would seem to me that a great deal of time

could be saved by just asking the witnesses direct questions

as to the amount of money they put in and under what
circumstances they put it in and whether they ever got it

out, and the type of trust deeds . . . (Emphasis added.)

* * *

[R. 1516]

:

"The Court: ... If you want to ask him if he got the

money back. . . .

Q. By Mr. Schulman : Did you receive your investment

back from the Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Ex-
change, sir ?

Mr. Jacobs : I object to that for the reason, your Honor,
it would be a question of whether he received his funds as

represented prior to June 7, 1960,

The Court : This might be some evidence of the condition

of the company at the time. The objection is overruled.

Did you receive your money back? Answer the ques-

tion Yes or No. That is the question. As I say, I think

you have already answered it, but answer it again for

counsel.
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foreclosed any cross-examination of a customer-witness

who had testified on direct to losses to show he ac-

tually had not or need not have lost at all, or that the

loss suffered was due to events occurring after June 7,

1960.^^ On only one occasion on this subject did the

The Witness : No, I only received a small part of it

back.

Q. By Mr. Schulman : Did you receive a full-term 10%
return on your earnings, sir? A. While it was in-

vested in the company up to this date that you mentioned,
yes, I did. Since then, no."

2i[R. 1517]:

"By Mr. Jacobs : Q. You made a remark, sir, that you
had sustained certain losses. The fact is that any loss you
sustained, or I assume you have sustained, was subsequent
to the time that the receiver took over the Mortgage Com-
pany ; isn't that correct ?

Mr. Schulman : An objection, your Honor. This is the

same conclusion that I believe Mr. Jacobs objected to before.

The Court : I will sustain the objection."

This ruling was discussed later [R. 1540-42] and the Court
said

:

"The Court : . . .

"What I am attempting to hold it to here is that I believe

the Government has a right to show that these people did

not get all their money back, and that the particular witness
has a right to express his opinion, since he is the owner
of the property, after looking back on it as to the value
and as to whether it was valueless or whether it was not.

That is the position of the court at the present time, and
I am trying to hold it to that June 7th date.

I think we all recognize—certainly I do—that even though
it might be a prime second trust deed, the fact that insol-

vency occurred of some kind and that that paper was still

in the possession of the company might affect the market
value of that second trust deed.

* * *

The Court: I recognize that, but I will stay with my
original cutoff date there, the date of the receivership. It

is the values as of that date, and although information
might have been obtained later, it would be the values as
of that date. I will stay with those rulings."

k
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Court actually limit inquiry so as to effectively com-

ply with its own rule that events occurring after June

7th were inadmissible.^^ The Court gave a charge to

the jury which may be asserted as having cured any

error on this subject but as will be pointed out in argu-

ment did not do so.^^

Thus, throughout the trial, the Government effectively

wove into the framework of the evidence and the minds

of the jurors, testimony of customers to the effect that

as of the time they were then testifying (i.e. March

or April, 1962), they had not as yet received back

their money.^*

22[R. 1847]:
"The Court : No, counsel. You may ask // he' tried

to get it back and when-, and then you will keep within the

rule on it." (Emphasis added.)

23 [R. 4304]:
"The evidence in this case of a bankruptcy or a receiver-

ship of LATD&ME is not to be considered by you as evi-

dence of the guilt of any one or more of the defendants or
evidence on any other issue in the case.

You shall disregard any evidence or testimony of Los
Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange and affiliated

companies to the effect that a loss was suffered after June 7,

1960. The defendants are not charged with responsibility

for acts occurring after that date."

24EPPLEY [R. 775]:
"Q. Did you ever receive that money, Mrs. Eppley?

(Emphasis added.) A. No I haven't." (Emphasis
added.)

MARTENS [R. 1017] :

"Q. Did you ever get hack your money from Los Angeles
Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange? (Emphasis added.)
A. No, sir; I didn't; not one dime."

BROOME [R. 1126] :

"Q. Have you ever received any or all of the money which
you paid into or deposited with Los Angeles Trust Deed
& Mortgage Exchange back from the company, sir? (Em-
phasis added.) A. Any or all?

Q. Any part or all of the monies which you invested

with the company, did you ever receive it back? (Emphasis
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Note: This Appellant does not assert insufficiency

of the evidence simply in recognition of the limited

role a reviewing Court has in such a situation. While

it is true it cannot be said as a matter of law there

was no evidence nor inference drawable therefrom sup-

added.) A. I never received a cent back from the

company ..."
HENNO [R. 1147] :

"Q. Did you ever receive all or any portion of your

$1,000 deposit back from L. A. Trust Deed? A. No.
Q. Did you ever receive any part of any earnings back

from L. A. Trust Deed? A. No."

FREEDMAN [R. 1499-1500] :

"O. By Mr. Schulman : . . . 'we have charged your
account $3,470.86,' did you ever receive that $3,470.86 back
from this investment? A. No. I lost it.

* * *

[R. 1506]

:

"Q. Did you ever receive your money out of this trust

deed investment, sir? A. No. I lost it.

* * *

[R. 1508]

:

"Q. Sir, the cash to you on this was $1,582.52. Did you
receive the full amount of your investment back? A. No.
I suffered a partial loss.

* * *

[R. 1511]:
"Q. The cash to you on this of or, for $601.35, did you

ever get back that investment or any part of it, sir?

A. Not as yet. (Emphasis added.)
* * *

[R. 1516]:
"The Court : . . .

If you want to ask him if he got the money back—

I

think you have already asked him.

Q. By Mr. Schulman : Did you receive your investment
back from Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange,
sir?

Mr. Jacobs : I object to that for the reason, your Honor,
it would l)e a question of whether he received his funds as
represented prior to June 7, 1960.

The Court : This might be some evidence of the condi-
tion of the company at the time. The objection is overruled.
The Court : Did you receive your money back ? Answer

the question Yes or No. That is the question. As I say,
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porting the verdict, the evidence was weak and at-

tenuated on the one real issue involved in the whole long

trial—intent. To make a judgment of a person's intent

so intimately involves a trier-of-fact's likes or dislikes,

I think you have already answered it. But answer it again

for counsel.

The Witness : No, I only received a small part of it back.

Q. By Mr. Schulman: Did you receive a full-term

10% return on your earnings, sir? A. While it was
invested in the company up to this date that you mentioned,

yes, I did. Since then no."

HLAVKA [R. 1802]:
"Q. . . . Referring to the $1,000 on that receipt that

you are holding in your hand, and any other monies that

were indicated on the condensed summaries which you
received monthly, have you ever received any of that back?

A. No, I didn't. . .
."

LEES [R. 1831] :

"Q. How much of that ten thousand three hundred thirty-

six odd dollar figure have you ever received back from Los
Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage? A. Nothing."

YOUNGS [R. 1840]:
"Q. Have you ever gotten a cent back, Mr. Youngs?

A. No, sir."

CAMPBELL [R. 1856] :

"Q. By Mr. Schulman : Relating to this amount on this

May 31st, did you ever receive that amount of money or any
other amount of money back from L. A. Trust Deed?
A. Not a cent."

SCHANZ [R. 1877 et seq.] :

"Q. Mr. Schanz, did you ever receive a penny back on
this trust deed?

Mr. Jacobs: I object to that, if the court please. There
is no foundation laid for it from a time standpoint or

whether any demand was made.
The Court : Ask him the question if he ever asked for

any of it back.

The Witness : No, I never got any money back.

Q. By Mr. Medvene: Have you ever gotten anything
back on it? A. No I haven't.

Mr. Jacobs : I don't think the question that was re-

ferred to, your Honor, that we were talking about was
asked him. I didn't hear it.

The Court : Did he ever ask for anything back ?

Mr. Medvene : He never asked prior to the receiver.
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any error which raises the wrath of the jury and thus

destroys its objectivity must be considered egregious,

prejudicial and reversible. Appellant urges this Court to

review the whole record not unmindful of its great

The Court : Would you ask him the question if he ever

asked for it back.

O. By Mr. Medvene : Did you ever ask for anything
back prior to the receiver. A. No, I never did.

Q. Have you ever gotten anything back on this now?
A. No."

LIST [R. 1905] :

"Q. Have you received all of that money back yet, sir?

A. I received papers

—

Mr. Jacobs : Just a moment.
The Court : Did you receive the money back is the

question.

The Witness : No, I didn't."

DAVIS [R. 1967-68] :

"Q. Did you ever get a cent out of this? A. No."

COOK [R. 1980-81]:
"Q. Have you ever gotten a cent back from this invest-

ment? A. None whatsoever.
* * *

Q. Have you ever gotten a cent back on this property?
A. Nothing at all.

Q. By Mr. Medvene : Did you ever get anything back
on this? A. Nothing at all."

WEGNER [R. 1996-97] :

"Q. Have you ever received a cent back on this invest-
ment? A. No sir."

PEARSON [R. 2023] :

"Q. Did you ever get back your $28,000, sir, from the
company? A. No, sir."

LIBBY [R. 2182] :

"Q. I am referring now to after you made your last

deposit, the last $1,547. A. Yes.

Q. Did you receive any of your principal back from the
company? A. No."

LEHMBERG [R. 2280] :

"Q. Did you ever get that money back from the company?
A. None of it."

BILLINGSLEY [R. 2762] :

"Q. Have you ever received any of your principal back
from the company? A. I have not."
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size and seeming complexity, because it is felt by do-

ing so the prejudicial impact of the errors will be-

come obvious.

Actually the trial of this case was remarkable in

several ways, the most noteworthy of such is the as-

tounding fact that there really is not much conflict

as to the evidence. The operations and activities of

TD&ME, LATD and Appellant from January, 1958

to June 8, 1960 and what was or was not said and

done were really basically agreed to. An agreement,

however, which carries with it no concession that a

scheme or conspiracy to defraud ever actually existed.

The few areas of dispute and how, if at all, these

areas were resolved by the jury is not really opened to

review.

Thus there is no question Appellant .was the founder,

president and guiding hand of the activities of

TD&ME and LATD etc., and that he took a signif-

icant part in controlling every phase of the business

and in the presentation of its image, product and serv-

ices to the public. The brochures and their evolution

during the 13-months until the green ''export" copy

[Ex. 1668] was sent out and after which little or no

changes were made is without dispute.^^

^^There was a glut of documentation in this case and there

were brochures in evidence in abundance. It is suggested that

a good working set of brochures adequate to the needs of the

reviewer on this appeal would constitute the following: White
Brochure (Dec. '58^Mar. '58) Exhibit 1666 and DF DO;
Black Brochure (July-Oct. '58), Exhibit 844; Green Brochure

(Feb.-July '59) Exhibit 1668, 1669; Blue Brochure (July '59

—May '60) Exhibit 1670, 1674.
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No dispute existed as to wording of monthly Topics

and condensed summaries, letters of welcome to new

customers, sale confirmations. Appellant's joint venture

and trust agreements with subdividers, appraisal re-

ports and news, radio and TV commercials; nor is there

any dispute that such documents were sent out, ex-

isted, were used and entered into.

There is no dispute that virtually every act com-

plained of was done during the very time when the

Securities and Exchange Commission was undertaking

its lawsuit with the express aim of liquidating the Ap-

pellant's business. It is without dispute that a Receiver

took over June 8, 1960 pursuant to the Court's order

of 18 days previous. Nor is there any dispute that the

Appellant continued in business during that period of

time and were advised by attorneys to do so.

Further recital of evidence agreed upon would seem

unnecessary and merely re-emphasizes the fact that

the only issue for determination was with what intent

Appellant acted. The errors herein assigned, considering

all of the circumstances which attended the trial of this

matter, constituted prejudicial error and had they not

occurred the jury would have acquitted.
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Assignment of Errors.

I.

The Court erred in its instruction on the issue of

security under The Security Act of 1933 on Counts

One, Two, Four through Seventeen.

11.

The Court erred in allowing introduction of any evi-

dence of the existence of the prior civil action or the

issues involved therein and its determination. There was

also error in the phrasing of the Court summary and

in the Court's failing to instruct at that time the dif-

ference between the burdens of proof in the two ac-

tions.

III.

The Court erred in allowing any testimony of losses

by customer witnesses in that such evidence was (a)

immaterial and irrelevant to the crimes alleged and (b)

violative of the Court's own ruling in reference to events

occurring after June 7, 1960.

IV.

The Court erred in admitting Exhibit 6003 in evi-

dence.
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ARGUMENT.

I.

The Court Erred in Its Instruction on the Issue of

Security Under the Security Act of 1933 on

Counts One, Two, Four Through Seventeen.

In reference to Security Counts, the Court instructed

the jury that in order to sustain all or any one of these

counts under The Securities Act it was essential that

the jury find not only that the defendants devised and

engaged in a scheme to defraud by use of the mails, as

alleged in the indictment but also that the scheme to

defraud involved the sale of securities as defined by the

statute and alleged in the indictment [R. 4267].

The Court then instructed that Section 2(1) of the

Act defines the term "security" to include any note,

evidence of indebtedness, investment contract, receipt

for or guarantee of any such security [R. 4267, lines

13-16].

After stating the contentions of the respective parties

as to whether or not the various instruments offered,

sold and issued in connection with the enterprise con-

stituted securities within the confines of the definition,

the Court instructed as follows [R. 4268] :

"Going back to the charges of The Securities

Act, the requirement that the Government establish

that the Secured 10% Earnings offered by the de-

fendants involved the sale of securities will be es-

tablished if you find that the trust deed notes or

trust deeds are 'notes' or 'evidence of indebtedness'

as defined by the Act.

"Regardless of whether or not you find the trust

deed notes or trust deeds are 'notes' or 'evidence of
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indebtedness' within the appHcable statute, you may

find the instrument should be classified as 'invest-

ment contracts' and therefore securities within the

applicable statutes.

"The term 'investment contract' is not defined in

the Act. There are, however, certain guide lines

for you to follow in determining, . .
."

The Court set out what is considered to be those

guide lines in determining whether the instruments

should be classified as "investment contracts" [R. 4268-

4271] and added [R. 4272] :

"You need only find that the instruments here in

question constituted securities under any one of the

several definitions I have given you and not all of

them or more than one of them."

The Appellant's requested instruction and exceptions

to the actual instruction are set out in footnote 11,

supra.

While discussing with the Court the proposed instruc-

tions on this point, counsel for Appellant made it

abundantly clear that defendants contended that "trust

deed notes" were not the "notes" embraced by the def-

inition of a security; that the activity as a whole, the

procedure in offering certain services over and above

the mere sale of a trust deed, might warrant an in-

struction on an "investment contract" but that the trust

deed notes, in and of themselves, without the surround-

ing activity, would not constitute securities [R. 3701-

3703].

During the same discussion the Government stated

its position that even without the indicia of an invest-
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ment contract it would be possible to have a note or

other evidence of indebtedness which would be a secur-

ity [R. 3703-3704].

While noting that the Government was going out on

a limb in this regard the Court stated that it would

simply follow the definition set forth in the Act [R.

3704-3705].

Appellant contends the instruction that the sale of a

"security" would be established if the jury should find

that the trust deed notes or trust deeds were "notes"

or "evidence of indebtedness" as defined by the Act

was erroneous in two respects

:

First: The trust deed notes or trust deeds, in and

of themselves, were not, as a matter of law, "notes"

or "evidence of indebtedness" within the meaning of the

Act;

Second: Neither "notes" nor "evidence of indebted-

ness" are defined by the Act and the Court gave the

jury no definition or other guide by which to determine

whether the trust deed notes or trust deeds were such

"notes" or "evidence of indebtedness" as to make them

securities within the meaning of the Act.

Basically, Appellant's contention here is, as it was in

the trial court, that the only charge should have been

with regard to the type security known as an "invest-

ment contract"; that the alternative given, wherein the

jury could find the trust deed notes or trust deeds to

be securities without the indicia of an "investment con-

tract" was not only confusing and misleading but also

an erroneous statement of law.
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Those common law characteristics of a promissory

note, which might render it a "note" within the statu-

tory definition of a "security", have been destroyed in

CaHfornia by various Legislative enactments with ref-

erence to purchase money deeds of trust. Under the

successive amendments to Section 580(a), 580(b),

580(d) and Section 726 of the Code of Civil Procedure

of the State of California, the maker of a purchase

money deed of trust has no personal liability or obliga-

tion of any sort. The holder of the trust deed has no

remedy or recourse against the maker. The trust deed

becomes not an evidence of indebtedness but merely

evidence of a charge or lien against the land. Where

there is no debt as such, there can be no evidence of

indebtedness. The cases of Brozun v. Jensen, 41 Cal. 2d

193; People v. Davenport, 13 Cal. 2d 681, and Nicholl

V. Ipsen, 130 Cal. App. 2d 452, support this interpreta-

tion of purchase money deeds of trusts in California.

It is recognized that the decisions of State Courts

would not be controlling with respect to the interpreta-

tion of a Federal statute. {L.A. Trust Deed & Mort-

gage Exchange v. SEC, 264 F. 2d 199, 211). However,

it is submitted that the Federal Courts are bound by

the decisions of the highest Court of this State defin-

ing rights and liabilities under California law arising

from a California contract or statute. If the California

law declares that a promissory note, given in a purchase

money transaction, should have none of the common

law characteristics of a promissory note, the Federal

Courts should not decree that it is still the common

law "note" presumably intended by Congress when it

classified a "note" as a "security".
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Many of the trust deeds finally evolved had no sep-

arate note at all [R. 2529-2530: Ex. 407 at R. 2292].

It would be absurd to classify a document as a security

merely because one permissible form was used in lieu

of another when, irrespective of whether a note does or

does not exist with the trust deed, it has the identical

legal function, force and effect and is similar in all

respects.

The same issue was before this Court in L.A. Tmst

Deed & Mortgage Exchange v. SEC, 264 F. 2d 199,

and this Court specifically stated that it was not reach-

ing the question as to the character of that which was

sold. However, for the edification of the trial court,

certain guide Hnes were set forth as follows {ibid., p.

212):

'*We suggest that a proper determination of this

case requires a factual finding, in the Court be-

low, as to whether there was an investment *in a

common enterprise' and whether the purchaser 'is

led to expect profits solely from the efforts of the

promoter or a third party.' [Securities and Ex-

cliangc Commission v. W. J, Howey Co., 1946, 328

U.S. 293, 298-299, 66 S. Ct. 1100, 1103, 90 L. Ed.

1244] There must also be a consideration of the

various other elements which cause or bar the

recognition of a document, plan, course of dealing

or program, as a security — all factors leading to

an ultimate conclusion as to whether or not that

which is here sold is subject to the Act."

Such a mandate to the Court below, we submit,

would not have been given if this Court had considered

the second trust deeds "notes" or "evidence of indebted-

ness" within the meaning of the Act.
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Upon the conclusion of the trial the matter again

came before this Court in L.A. Trust Deed & Mort-

gage Exchange v. SEC, 285 F. 2d 162. The first ques-

tion raised was whether that which was sold was a se-

curity within the Act. The SEC contended that the

sale constituted more than a simple sale of second trust

deeds — an interest in real property; that what was

really involved was an investment contract (p. 166).

The Court cited, discussed and relied upon two Su-

preme Court cases to guide it in solving the problems

(SEC V. C. M. Joiner Leasing Corp., 320 U. S. 344;

SEC V. W. J. Howey Co., 328 U. S. 293). With these

guides in mind, and upon a review of the evidence,

the Court held that the Appellants — by their repre-

sentations to the public, created and constituted the sec-

ond trust deed notes securities subject to the Act (pp.

171-172). The Court concluded on this point as fol-

lows :

"The terms of the offer, the plan of distribution,

the economic inducements held out to the prospects,

the results dependent on one other than the pur-

chaser, the common enterprise, all combine herein

to make the second trust deed notes 'securities' as

that term has been defined by the Supreme Court."

(emphasis added).

Implicit in this holding is recognition that the second

trust deed notes, in and of themselves, were not se-

curities. It was the overall activity in connection with

the marketing of such instruments which combined to

bring them within the reach of the Act. It was the

presence of the indicia laid down in Joiner and Howey
which made the second trust deed notes "securities".
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The Court's charge to this jury on this basic issue

was at best equivocal and constituted prejudicial error.

The jury was instructed that the sale of a ''se-

curity" would be established if it found that the trust

deed notes or trust deeds were "notes" or "evidences

of indebtedness" as defined by the Act. No definitions

were given and no guide lines were set forth to il-

luminate the meaning of "notes" or "evidences of in-

debtedness".

Although the Court instructed the jury at length on

the tests to determine whether that which was sold was

an "investment contract", and for that reason a se-

curity, the jury was left with a simple alternative re-

quiring only a finding that a trust deed note was a

"note". The adequacy of the instructions given on the

tests for an "investment contract" is moot since the

jury armed as it was with what was tantamount to an

invitation to find the trust deeds to be "notes" under

the Act, undoubtedly never reached the more involved

decision posed by the "investment contract" issue. This

seems more compelling in consideration that for some

six weeks the jury heard the word "note" perhaps a

thousand times.

The basic issue as to Counts One, Two and Four

through Seventeen was whether or not that which was

sold constituted a "security".

A conviction ought not to rest on an equivocal di-

rection to the jury on a basic issue. Where there are

erroneous instructions on a basic issue, a conviction

cannot be sustained on some other theory even though

the Appellate Court is left with no doubt that the de-

fendant is guilty. Bolknhach v. United States, 326
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U. S. 607, 613; Weiler v. United States, 323 U. S. 606,

611 ; Yates v. United States, 354 U. S. 298, 327.

Cf. Roe V. United States, 5th Cir. 1961, 287 F. 2cl

435, 440, where the Court said relative to an instruc-

tion which substantially instructed a verdict:

".
. . No fact, not even an undisputed fact, may

be determined by the Judge. The plea of not guilty

puts all in issue, even the most patent truths. In

our Federal system, the trial court may never in-

struct a verdict in whole or in part."

II.

The Court Erred in Giving a Summary of a Prior

Civil Action Which Had Been Initiated Against

the Defendants by the Securities and Exchange
Commission to the Jury and Further Erred in

Not Giving a Cautionary Instruction After Hav-
ing Given the Summary of the Civil Trial.

The questions here are (1) whether a judgment in

a prior civil case is admissible in a subsequent criminal

trial involving the same parties, and was it proper to

give a summary of the judgment in the prior civil case

in the instant action. The summary was given by the

Court [R. 3027] (see footnote 15, supra), and (2)

having given the summary did the Court properly in-

struct the jury as to the different burdens of proof

required in civil cases and criminal cases.

A. The giving of this summary constituted plain

error (18 U. S. C. A., Rule 52, see Appendix). There

is no question but there had been a civil trial, but

in examining paragraph 11 of Count One of the

indictment one finds that the indictment was artfully

drawn for the express purpose of laying the founda-
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tion to bring in the highly prejudicial, inflammatory

and immaterial evidence of the judgment in the prior

civil matter.^*^ The Government apparently contends

that the defendants had a duty during all of the civil

proceedings to somehow advertise and advise every cus-

tomer or prospect that they were being accused of fraud,

deceit and misappropriation of their customers' funds

and this failure to so advise itself amounted to con-

structive fraud. That is to say, that the failure of the

defendants to advise everyone of the accusation in the

civil matter, even before the civil matter was litigated

-^Clerk's Transcript, Vol. 2, p. 128, paragraph 11. (Paragraph
11, Count one of the Indictment.)

"It was further an element of said scheme and artifice

to defraud that the defendants in order to deceive and mis-

lead investors, and to induce them to invest and re-invest

under said secured ten per cent earnings program, would and
they did falsely and fraudulent represent to investors that

the secured ten per cent earnings program constituted a

legal and legitimate investment program which conformed to

all applicable laws, and that "legal aspects of all ten per

cent earnings accounts have been evaluated and approved
by counsel for the company, Mr. Morgan Cuthbertson for-

mer counsel for the Securities and Exchange Commission",
when in truth and in fact, as the defendants well knew, but
concealed from and omitted to state to investors, TD&ME,
LATD&ME, TD&MM and the defendants David Farrell,

Oliver J. Farrell and Stanley C. Marks were defendants in

an action brought by the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion, an agency of the Government of the United States,

charged with the administration and enforcement of the
Federal Securities Laws to restrain and enjoin them from
engaging in acts and practices in violation of the registra-

tion and anti-fraud provisions of the Securities Act of 1933
and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for the appoint-
ment of a receiver for TD&ME, LATD&ME and TD&MM
based on allegations of fraud, deceit and insolvency; and it

was further an element of said scheme and artifice to de-
fraud that, after trial on the issues existing between the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the said defend-
ants, in the course of which defendants' course of fraud,

deceit and misrepresentation was exposed, and the defend-
ants would and they did continue to solicit and accept
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and judgment rendered, amounted to fraud. Whereas,

in truth and in fact, such Htigation, including all of

the pleadings and allegations were and always have been

a matter of public record, and it is further submitted

that this civil case was given excessive publicity in

newspapers and magazines and on radio and television

throughout the United States. This, in effect, would

effectively deprive the defendants of their property

and livelihood without due process of law.^^ They were

placed in a position of either flying a red banner over

their doors to the effect, "we are accused of fraud,

deceit and misappropriation of our customers' funds,

but we still would like to do business with you", or

the alternative, of closing their doors and ceasing to do

business without having their day in court, or being

allowed the due processes of law to determine whether

they were or were not to be put out of business by

the Government. This is manifestly unjust, unfair and

effectively prevented the defendants from having a

fair trial in the criminal proceedings.

B. The Court further committed error in giving its

summary of the civil trial in not at least instructing on

the different burden of proof required in a civil action

from that required in a criminal action.^® As early

deposits of funds from investors under the secured ten

per cent earnings program, without disclosing or making
known to such investors the nature and import of the

proceedings brought by the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission, or the fact that the funds deposited by investors

under the secured ten per cent earnings program might be

made subject to administration in the course of receivership.

^^United States Constitution, 5th Amendment.

'^""Roe V. U. S., 5 Cir. 1961, 287 F. 2d 435

:

".
. . More than that, this being a criminal case in contrast

to the more common injunction proceeding or damage suit

under the Act, two principles inescapably apply. First, in
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in the trial as the opening statement, Counsel for the

Government stated to the jury

:

[R. 32] "You will hear later in this regard how

there was litigation going on at this time with the

SEC charging, (1) you people are dealing in se-

curities; (2) you are defrauding people; and (3)

also, you are insolvent."

[R. 43, 44] "Also, in regard to the litigation

pending, think and determine whether the inves-

tors were fully informed of the facts when though

there was pending litigation charging both the

fact that they were dealing with these securities,

and fraud and insolvency, the policy was not to tell

investors anything at all about the litigation un-

less they asked. And if they did ask, to tell them

that it was just a jurisdictional dispute to see if

the type thing that LATD was selling should be

handled by the Securities and Exchange Commis-

sion.

"Listen closely with regard to whether the in-

vestors were told anything about whether there

were any charges of fraud and insolvency, regard-

less of whether they were true or not. Think

about whether these investors should have known

at least there were charges. Think about whether

they should have been able to make their own in-

vestigation, possibly. Think about whether they

were fully apprised of the facts."

Mr. Justice Jackson's words "in a civil action * * * a
preponderance of the evidence will establish the case; * * *

in a criminal case, [the evidence must] meet the stricter

requirement of satisfyinj^ the jury beyond a reasonable
doubt." 320 U. S. 344, 355, 64 S. Ct. 120, 125.
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One can readily imagine the cumulative damage done

by the jury hearing this in the opening statement and

then having the judge give the summary, in effect

confirming what had been said. It is true that the

judge stated that "neither the charges made in the

pleadings in such case nor said judgment are to be

considered by you as evidence of the truth of such

charges." [R. 3027]. This would obviously be closing

the gate after the horse has escaped. The difference

between the burden of proof required in a civil action

and that required in a criminal action is so great that

the Court committed grave error when it failed to

thoroughly instruct the jury of the difference in the

burden of proof. In a criminal action the burden is al-

ways on the Government to prove the guilt of the de-

fendant beyond a reasonable doubt. To sustain the bur-

den the Government must prove guilt by substantial

evidence, excluding every other reasonable hypothesis

than that of guilt.

Fotie V. United States, 8th Cir. 1943, 137 F.

2d 831;

Cataneo v. United States, 4th Cir. 1948, 167 F.

2d 820;

United States v. Bruno, 3rd Cir. 1946, 153 F.

2d 843.

In a civil matter the plaintiff merely has the burden

of showing that he is entitled to win.

Pacific Portland Cement Company v. Food Ma-

chinery and Chemical Corporation, 9th Cir.

1959, 178 F. 2d 541.
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The Court should have given the jury further instruc-

tion concerning the fact that the Government in the

case at hand has a much greater burden in order to

prove that the defendants should be found guilty of the

crimes as charged and its failure to do so seriously

prejudiced the defendants.

Roe V. United States, 5th Cir. 1961, 287 F. 2d

435 (see footnote 28, supra).

C. It is a well settled rule that evidence of a civil

judgment will not be admitted into evidence in a crimi-

nal matter and conversely, evidence of a criminal ver-

dict will not be admitted in a civil matter.

Monte Green v. State of Indiana, 184 N. E.

183, Ann. 87 A. L. R. 1251.

A case dealing with criminal prosecution of an officer

of a bank for receiving a deposit with knowledge of

the bank's insolvency a few days before the instituting

of receiver proceedings and the prosecution attempted

to introduce the records of a prior civil proceeding for

the appointment of receiver. It was held that the rec-

ords of a prior civil proceeding was inadmissible. The

Court here correctly pointed out the difference in the

burden required in a civil case and that required in a

criminal case. The Court pointed out that what might

be insolvency and a failing condition sufficient to allow

the appointment of a receiver in a civil action, might

not be sufficient to establish insolvency insofar as a

criminal proceeding is concerned.
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It might be said that a judgment is always admissible

into evidence to prove the fact of its existence and that

it was actually rendered by a Court of competent juris-

diction. In the instant action there had been no final

adjudication and, in fact, the judgment which was not

entered until May 20, 1960 enjoining the defendants in

the civil action was stayed and the injunctive action

by the Court further stayed by the Appellate Court

although the Receiver went into possession on June 8,

1960. It is inconceivable that the mere fact that there

was litigation pending could by any stretch of the imagi-

nation be material in the instant action when final

adjudication in the civil matter did not occur until long

after the Receiver took over control of LATD, and add

to that the fact that the Court failed to properly in-

struct the jury and you have serious error which in

and of itself should be grounds for reversing this ver-

dict to provide the Appellant a fair and impartial trial.

Appellant respectfully points out that this summary

by the Court was given to the jury at the close of,

or immediately prior to, the close of the Government's

case. When one considers that the jury received the

summary concerning the civil action from the Court and

then was allowed to read the contents of the newspaper

article using the language of Judge Thurmond Clarke

in Exhibit 1950-A for identification, it is evident that

the jury was in possession of the ingredients which

when mixed rendered a conviction an absolute certainty

without the benefit of a free and impartial weighing

of the evidence of the jury, and it is apparent that

the dangerous ingredients were well mixed in the jury

room to produce a grossly unfair decision.



—33—

III.

The Court Erred in Allowing Any Testimony of

Losses by the Customer-Witnesses in That

Such Evidence Was (a) Immaterial and Irrele-

vant to the Crimes Alleged and (b) Violative

of the Court's Own Ruling in Reference to

Events Occurring After June 7, 1960. The In-

struction of the Court Did Not Cure the Error.

The cutting edge of the Government's case was the

selectivity with which customers were chosen to testify

and the channels into which the adroit questioning led.

The cutting effect of this edge was honed to a sharp-

ness against which there was no effective defense.^*^

^'^The staging of select witnesses has been deplored by eminent
jurists. See concurring opinion of Judge Frank in United States

V. Grayson, 2d Cir., 1948, 166 F. 2d 868, 870. There the pros-

ecutor had elicited only three bits of inflamatory evidence

:

did a victim have a son in the service : had a victim paid de-

fendant all that she had in the world and was victim married
and did she have a husband in the service. The Judge ex-

coriated this practice

:

"Whether any one of those errors standing alone would
be enough to require reversal need not be considered. But
combined, I think they deprived defendant of a fair trial

;

they come within the recent rulings of the Supreme Court
defining prejudicial as distinguished from harmless error.

The able and conscientious trial Judge, patently troubled by
this unfairness, once severly criticized government counsel

out of the presence of the jury, regularly directed the im-
proper testimony to be stricken, and gave disregarding in-

structions. I think, however, he should have gone further

and declared a mistrial. For the objectionable ansivers,

once given, Imd such a character that no one can say that the

judge's warnings effectively removed their poisonous con-
sequences. Indeed, as experienced trial lawyers have often
observed, merely to raise an objection to such testimony—
and more, to have the judge tell the jury to ignore it—often
serves but to rub it in. I believe that a prosecutor ought
not deliberately and re])eatedly, as here, put defendant's law-
yer in such an awkward dilemma—where his client will suf-
fer if the lawyer does not object or if he does. //, without
attaching any practical consequences to such tactics of the
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The sympathy effect on the jury of the testimony of

Mr. Lees [R. 1806] who was 69 years of age, hard

of hearing and unemployed; of Mr. Campbell [R. 1846-

1847] who was 87 years of age and whose wife had

to go to the County Hospital; of Mr. Schanz [R. 1820]

who was 72 years of age, hard of hearing and ob-

viously a man of no formal education; of Mrs. Hlavka

[R. 1789] a widow; of Mrs. Eppley [R. 719] a 72

year old widow, was overwhelming. It was calculated

to be.

Neither allegations nor proof of losses or that any

one was actually defrauded was required. Bobbroff v.

United States, 9th Cir. 202 F. 2d 389 ; see also Herman-

sen V. United States, 5th Cir. 1956, 230 F. 2d 173.

If such testimony was unnecessary it was therefore im-

material; why then did the Government try to prove

the unnecessary? The only answer is that it was calcu-

lated to engender sympathy for the alleged victims and

conversely antipathy against the defendants whose

guilt or innocence the jury was soon to be called upon

to judge.

It will be argued that Appellant's counsel by failing

to object waived the objection and perhaps it is well

taken. But perhaps the Appellant's attorneys were im-

paled on the horns of the dilemma noted and severely

criticized by Judge Frank.

However, were this the only ploy used by the Gov-

ernment the severity of the error would not be so com-

pelling. But, coupled with the finale scheduled for each

witness' testimony as to not getting his money back,

prosecutor^ we simply express disapproval of them, xve do
nothing to prevent their repetition at the new trial of this

case or in trials of other cases." (Emphasis added.)
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the net effect was overwhelmingly prejudicial. There

was a further ground upon which losses were inad-

missible. This arose out of the fact a receiver took

over a going business and the defendants had no con-

trol of events thereafter. The Court, as pointed out

above, attempted to establish the date of take over by

the Receiver as an effective barrier beyond which

neither the Government nor the defendants would go.

Admittedly, much evidence of events that occurred

after the Receiver was rejected.

However, on evidence of customer losses, this salu-

tary barrier simply did not exist for the Government

and it was free to roam on up to as late as the very

day that the witness was testifying almost two years

beyond the cutoff date. At the same time Appellant

was effectively blocked in his pursuit of such evidence

in order to rebut it. This was the source of constant

objection and discussion with the Court as seen above.

There can be no doubt of the validity of Appellant's

position on the need for an effective cutoff date. How-

ever, the administration and application of the rule, as

applied on evidence of losses, was manifestly unfair.

The maximum latitude that can be said to be allowed

to the prosecution in this case would be to inquire if

the customer had tried before June 8, 1960 to convert

his position to cash and if he had, what happened?

The Court, on one occasion, suggested this as repre-

sentative of its ruling but it was observed only in the

breach by the prosecution.

Finally the question is asked if the Court's instruc-

tion [R. 4304] was not curative of the problem. That

the Court was concerned with the admission of loss
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testimony is evident not only from the discussion [R.

3614] but also from the attempt by the Court to cor-

rect the error with an instruction withdrawing custo-

mer losses entirely from the jury's consideration [R.

4304]

:

''You shall disregard any evidence or testimony

of Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange

and affiliated companies to the effect that a loss

was suffered after June 7, 1960. The defendants

are not charged with responsibility for acts occur-

ring after that date."

Unfortunately, the Court omitted four words con-

tained in the copy of his proposed instructions given

to Appellant's counsel. In the copy the instruction was

worded as follows:

"You shall disregard any evidence or the testi-

mony of any customer of The Los Angeles Trust

Deed & Mortgage Exchange and affiliated com-

panies to the effect that a loss was suffered after

June 7, 1960. The defendants are not charged with

responsibiHty for facts occurring after that date."^"

The omitted words were indispensable to the instruc-

tion. Without them it was meaningless much less help-

ful in curing the error. Since there had been no testi-

mony of Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Ex-

^"The inclusion of the four words on the judge's proposed

instruction and omitted in his actual instruction were contained

in a copy of the judge's proposed instruction turned over to

Appellant's present counsel by former counsel. It is assumed
that the Government's copy of the proposed written instructions

also contained these four words and, unless the government takes

a contrary position in its reply brief, it will be assumed to be a

correct statement of the occurrence.
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change there was really nothing for the jury to dis-

regard.

It is submitted, however, that even had the judge

read his proposed instruction correctly it would not

have undone the severity of the error.

Cf. Lockhart v. United States, 9th Cir. 1929, 35 F.

2d 905, citing with favor Waldron v. Waldron, 156

U. S. 361, 15 S. Ct. 383, 39 L. Ed. 453. See also the

dissenting opinion of Judge Frank in United States v.

Antonelli Fireworks Co., 2nd Cir. 1946, 155 F. 2d 631,

for an exhaustive treatise on the subject of prejudicial

misconduct and error. See also Judge Frank's concur-

ring opinion in the Grayson case, supra. Cf. Kotteakos

V. United States, 328 U. S. 750, 66 S. Ct. 1239, 90

L. Ed. 1557; Bihn v. United States, 328 U. S. 633,

66 S. Ct. 1172, 90 L. Ed. 1485; see also Bollenhach v.

United States, 326 U. S. 607, 66 S. Ct. 402, 90 L.

Ed. 350; Weiler v. United States, 323 U. S. 606, 65

S. Ct. 548, 89 L. Ed. 495, 156 A. L. R. 496; Bruno

V. United States, 308 U. S. 287, 293, 60 S. Ct. 198,

84 L. Ed. 257.

If it is argued that any objection to the wording of

the instruction on loss was waived because Appel-

lant's counsel did not take exception thereto, it is re-

spectfully submitted the omission of the four words

went unnoticed by any one in the courtroom, including

the judge for it seems clear the Court was concerned

about the error. The failure to catch it was excusable.

In summary, it is submitted that the errors com-

plained of were prejudicial and constitute sufficient

grounds standing alone to warrant reversal. Obviously

the error was not corrected by the Court's instruction;
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nor could any instruction have cured the error al-

ready created in the jury's mind. Furthermore the error

when taken in conjunction with the other errors as-

signed, make it clear Appellant did not receive that

which he deserved—a fair trial.

IV.

The Court Committed Plain Error in Allov^ing the

Introduction of Plaintiff's Exhibit 6003.

Exhibit 6003 was originally presented to the court in

a box containing two baskets filled with approximately

800 so-called "sell orders," each of which was basically

a small sheet of yellow paper instructing LATD to

liquidate the customer's account. The actual request to

liquidate may be a document which would be kept as

a matter of routine business practice. However, Ex-

hibit 6003 is found to contain in addition to the busi-

ness form, hundreds of personal letters written in long-

hand or typed from customers to LATD and in ad-

dition, containing numerous notations by parties un-

known. The most shocking item found in Exhibit 6003

was a newspaper clipping containing the same preju-

dicial and inflammatory language as Exhibit 1950-A

for identification, which was offered by the Govern-

ment into evidence, but was rejected by the court at

[R. 2870]. The letters are from various customers of

LATD and a cursory examination of these letters will

readily disclose that they contain highly inflammatory

and prejudicial material in addition to being hearsay

in the extreme (see appendix summary).

Exhibit 1950-A for identification appears to have

been a copy of a document indicating the way the trial

judge would rule in the civil case tried prior to the
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instant action entitled "Securities and Exchange Com-
mission V. Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Ex-

change, et al," 187 F. Supp. 830 (9th Cir.), using

the same language as that used by the Honorable Thur-

mond Clarke in said case (see Appendix p. 28 stating

the language which appeared in Exhibit 1950-A). This

comment by Judge Thurmond Clarke was of a highly

inflammatory nature and this newspaper article alone is

so prejudicial that it in itself would be sufficient to

incite the jury to such anger as to render it impossible

for them to sit in calm, dispassionate judgment of the

defendants, rendering a fair and just verdict impossible.

In addition to the contents of Exhibit 1950-A for iden-

tification the hundreds of letters from customers con-

taining highly inflammatory, prejudicial and hearsay

evidence would, to say the least, be sufficient to cause

members of the jury to become inflamed to such an

extent that they could not render an unbiased, un-

prejudiced decision. This appellant desires to point out

the following sequence of events which occurred dur-

ing the course of the trial which set the scene for the

court allowing Exhibit 6003 into evidence [R. 1664].

Counsel for the Government addressed the court con-

cerning Exhibit 6003 to the effect that the box he was

talking about containing the liquidation records was not

going to be introduced into evidence in the case, but

was just marked.

"We don't intend to use anything in that box,

Sir." [R. 1665].

"We are not going to introduce them and take

the time of the court, but we just wanted them

available to defense counsel."
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Again, at [R. 2871] counsel for the Government

stated, referring to Exhibit 1950-A for identification

(rejected by the court at [R. 2870]), the language of

which was contained in a newspaper cHpping in Ex-

hibit 6003.

"It isn't the language that we are interested in.

Sir. We will knock all that out. It is just that

we cover in some instruction the significance of

the date bearing on the good faith of the defend-

ants, that date along with the May 20th date."

Again [R. 2789], referring to the so-called docu-

ments in Exhibit 6003

:

"We don't intend to put any of these things in.

I am just trying to clear what they are. I won't

put these in, but I want the witness to testify from

them so it is clear what he is talking about."

Then at [R. 2793] the Government suddenly produces

a summary prepared by Witness Leroy Cole, designated

Government's Exhibit 6002 [R. 2793], which purported

to be a list of customer demands for liquidation pre-

pared by Cole after the Receiver took over on June

8, 1960. The Government offered Exhibits 6002 and

6003 into evidence [R. 2795-2796] and an objection

by the defendants was sustained by the court on the

grounds that Exhibit 6002 and Exhibit 6003 were

based upon certain documents which were not present

in court. The court then allowed Exhibit 6003 and

Exhibit 6002 into evidence after asking these ques-

tions :

"Were these requests [Ex. 6003] part of the

books of the Company when you went to make the

audit at the time you assisted in taking over?
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"Were they in the possession of the Company at

that time?"

An affirmative answer was received from the wit-

ness. At the same time the court overruled the objection

of the defendants that there was no proper founda-

tion, and that Exhibit 6002 and Exhibit 6003 were ir-

relevant and incompetent [R. 2799-2801]. The court

then immediately instructed the jury [R. 2800] that

Exhibit 6002 would be admitted but that Exhibit 6002

was not evidence in itself; that if there was any evi-

dence or anything of materiality or relevancy (emphasis

added), it would be in connection with Exhibit 6003

that Exhibit 6002 was merely a summary for con-

venience if the jury wanted to use it for that purpose.^^

Later, as if to compound the emphasis the court [R.

4007-4008] again admitted Exhibit 6003 into evi-

dence.^^

31 [R. 2800]:
"The Court : It will be admitted but the jury is in-

structed that it is not evidence in itself. If there is any
evidence, or anything of materiality or relevancy which you
v/ill consider, it is in connection with 6003. That is, 6002
is merely a summary for convenience, if you want to use it

for that purpose. 6002 is admitted."

32 [R. 4008] :

"Q. Bv Mr. Dunn : I place before you Government's
Exhiliit 6003—

I assume that is in evidence, your Honor.
The Court: Would you check, Mr. Clerk?
Mr. Medvene: If it is not in, the Government would

offer it at this time so the question can be asked.

The Court : Let's see if it is in.

Mr. Dunn : It is my understanding that the summary
is not in.

The Court : I am not certain which.

Mr. Medvene : The summary is not in—the summary
is in, but I don't think the Exhibits are in. The Govern-
ment would move them in at this time.

The Clerk : I don't have them in, your Honor.
The Court: All right. Admitted."
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Keeping in mind the statements and representations

by Government counsel that they were not going to

put the mass of material contained in Exhibit 6003

into evidence and the strict admonition by the court

[R. 3043-3044]^^ directing the Government to excise

33 [R. 3043-3044] :

"Mr. Dunn: Prior to recess, may I mention one thing,

your Honor?
The Court: Yes.

Mr. Dunn : I wish to take exception to the court's re-

quirement that the defendants have counsel over the week-
end look at the documents which have been provisionally

admitted on this ground : That as early as January of this

year, in our first pretrial conference, these objections were
raised and called to the attention of Government counsel

prior to entering into any stipulation, and then we were put

under a rule that until we stipulated to certain documents,

we could not see additional documents. We wasted hours

and hours.

Now, we have an entire weekend of work planned, with

very little rest, your Honor, and to be here at that time

will hamper the defense immeasurably, and I believe that it

is an onerous burden to place on us when the Government
knew of these objections and knew they were going to be

made and made no provision to take care of them prior to

presenting these documents to the court.

Therefore, I vigorously object to that requirement being

made at this time.

The Court: I will rule promptly on it. It won't be

necessary that defense counsel be here. I place on the

Government the burden of the removal of the objectionable

material.

Mr. Dunn: Thank you, your Honor.

The Court: Is there anything else before the recess?

Mr. Medvene : Just as a matter of good faith, your

Honor, we will take off the material that it is our under-

standing is objectionable, and if there is any question about

that, I think the ball will then have to be passed to the

defendants.

The Court: We will settle that right now.

Mr. Medvene: Yes, sir.

The Court: You take the exhibits and remove the mate-

rial. After all, the ruling of the court has not been too

specific on that, either. Remove the material now, what-

ever seems to be outside of the document itself, writings

that seems to be outside of the documents and to which



all extraneous and immaterial matter from the various

multi-page exhibits prior to it being given to the jury,

it becomes obvious that Exhibit 6003 should not have

been admitted into evidence and submitted for exam-

ination by the jury in its then condition containing

the innumerable immaterial, irrelevant, incompetent, in-

flammatory and hearsay items. The court apparently

felt that Exhibit 6003 was the type of document which

would come within the provisions of 28 U. S. C.

§1732. (see Appendix p. 30). It appears that the court,

basing its ruling upon the representations of Govern-

ment counsel and Government Witness Cole, and hav-

ing in mind the fact that the court had admonished

and directed the Government that it [the Government]

had the duty to excise all extraneous immaterial mat-

ter from the exhibits before giving them to the jury

[R. 3043-3044], committed serious error in allowing

this highly prejudicial mass of material to be dumped

into the lap of the jury.

It is respectfully submitted that the court committed

further error in admitting Exhibit 6003 on the follow-

ing additional grounds

:

(a) Exhibit 6003 was not a business record, but

was merely hearsay, containing information and docu-

objection was taken, and then keep those documents separate
and apart, and at a proper time we will submit those docu-
ments to counsel for the defendants. Then we may have
the objections to any material that has not been removed.

Mr. Medvene: Yes, sir, the only reason that we made
our request, sir, was we didn't want to touch the documents
unless the defendants were present.

The Court : That is all right."
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ments which even the Government and the trial judge

knew and admitted should be excised, which infor-

mation and documents were all so inflammatory and

prejudicial that they themselves could, and probably did,

cause the jury to convict the defendants. Exhibit 6003

contained letters from customers which obviously were

not records of the defendants and should not have been

admitted as a business record.

Amtorg Trading Corporation v. Higgins, 2d

Cir. 1945, 150 R 2d 536.

In the Amtorg case the court held that letters and

statements from buyers to the seller that the buyer had

paid excise tax on certain goods imported from Russia,

did not come within the category of ''business records",

hence were inadmissible hearsay in the prosecution

against the seller.

A memorandum or record cannot be considered as

having been made in the regular course of business

within the meaning of this section relating to admis-

sibility of business records unless it was made by an

authorized person to record information known to him

or supplied by another authorized person.

Standard Oil Company v. Moore, 9th Cir. 1957,

251 F. 2d 188, Cert, den., 7S S. Ct. 1139, 356

U. S. 975, 2 L. ed. 1148;

Schmeller v. United States, 6th Cir. 1944, 143

F. 2d 544.
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In the Schmellcr case the court had before it a situa-

tion involving prosecution by the Government for

manufacturing defective war materials. The trial court

admitted enmasse. Exhibits 1 to 46 constituting a

group of documents, some unsigned and some contain-

ing hearsay matters taken from the files apparently

kept in the regular course of business. The court held

that the mere fact that paper offered into evidence is

taken from a business file and is otherwise acceptable,

does not render or establish its competency and that

such should have been excluded. The court should have

ruled upon each paper separately and should have ex-

cluded the hearsay and other incompetent evidence. In

the instant action Exhibit 6003 appears to contain

nothing but hearsay since most of the liquidation re-

quests were prepared by the customers themselves and

would obviously contain hearsay matter, but assuming

for the sake of argument that the liquidation requests

themselves were relevant, material, competent and not

hearsay, all of the other documents attached to the

liquidation requests were so clearly irrelevant, imma-

terial, incompetent, inflammatory and so violative of

the hearsay rule that they should have been excluded.

It is further pointed out that the actual liquidation re-

quests constitute a mere fraction of the substantial

bulk of Exhibit 6003.

(b) It is further respectfully submitted that the

liquidation requests themselves, excluding all of the let-

ters, notations and other extraneous matters, were im-
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tion of the record discloses that the liquidation requests

were apparently offered to show that the defendants

were unable to liquidate a customer's account according

to the wording of the brochures. These liquidation re-

quests did not tend to prove or disprove any issue in

the case. Exhibit 1668, which is the so-called green

export brochure sent out to all past and present cus-

tomers and prospects of the defendants, clearly sets

forth that liquidation or sell orders will be handled "on

a best effort basis only." It is clearly set forth in Ex-

hibit 1668 that LATD did not guarantee anything ex-

cept ''best efforts." This language is also contained in

Exhibits 844, 1670, 1673 and 1674 (see Appendix pp.

34, 35). There is no evidence or testimony in the entire

record indicating that "best efforts" were not used. Why
would the fact that a substantial number of sell orders

came in between May 3, 1960 and June 7, 1960 (one

day before the Receiver took over) be material to any

issue in this case They would be no more material

than a sell order or a liquidation request received after

June 8, 1960. Further, there is no evidence nor exhibits

indicating on what date liquidation was to take place.

Apparently the liquidation request cut-off date was ar-

bitrarily determined by the court to be June 7, 1960,

but there is nothing in the record to support this ar-

bitrary action.

(c) The allowing of Exhibit 6003 into evidence

after the Government advised repeatedly that it was not
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going to submit the exhibit into evidence and was not

going to use it [R. 1664, 1665, 2871 and 2789] and

without the Government excising the immaterial preju-

dicial inflammatory items included in 6003, even though

ordered to do so by the court [R. 3043-3044], so greatly

prejudiced the position of the defendants that it can-

not be considered mere harmless technical error; rather

it was so grave as to effectively deprive the defend-

ants of a fair and impartial trial. When one reads the

highly inflammatory, to say the least, immaterial and

hearsay matters contained in the letters from various

customers to the defendants contained in 6003, it be-

comes obvious that a fair trial was impossible, es-

pecially after the court instructed the jury that the

summary, Exhibit 6002, was not the evidence, but that

they were to look to 6003 as being the real evidence.

Appellant respectfully submits that the items contained

in Exhibit 6003 were not documents kept or main-

tained by the defendants in the routine course of busi-

ness, that they were immaterial, irrelevant, incompetent

and hearsay and that further, they were so highly in-

flammatory and prejudicial as to tip the scale by pas-

sion and prejudice in a case which was finely bal-

anced. The question is what effect did the error have,

or reasonably may be taken to have had, upon the

minds of the jurors in the total setting. Here one pic-

tures the jury, its attention focused on this exhibit not

only by its appearance but by the court referring to it

as primary evidence, reading hundreds of letters from
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irate customers, elderly people, people who claimed to

have put their moneys into LATD to provide for their

children, who needed the money for illness, and every

other pathetic situation one can imagine, and then one

can readily see that it was impossible for the jury to

have a clear and impartial mind with which to approach

the problem of weighing the evidence in this case.

(d) It is further respectfully submitted that Ex-

hibit 6002 is not a true summary of Exhibit 6003 as

represented to the court by Government witness

Cole.^^ Had Exhibit 6002 been a true summary of the

content of Exhibit 6003, the Court would have re-

jected both Exhibit 6002 and Exhibit 6003. For Ex-

hibit 6002 to be a true summary of Exhibit 6003 would

require a complete summarization of all items con-

tained in Exhibit 6003. Unless the Court examined

Exhibit 6003 in detail there would be no way for the

Court to be made aware of its true contents (see

Appendix pp. 21-27).

Witness Cole testified that Exhibit 6002 was a syn-

opsis of "demands" contained in Exhibit 6003 [R.

2793] and at [R. 2794] sell orders contained in Ex-

hibit 6003 are "summarized" in Exhibit 6002. At [R.

2797] Cole testified "we made a summary of the re-

quests for liquidation that were on hand on June 8th"

^*Webster's New 20th Century Dictionary, Unabridged, defines

the term SUMMARY as a short, abridged, or condensed state-

ment or account ; an epitome or abstract ; an abridgement or com-
pendium containing the sum or substance of a fuller statement.
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was truly a summary of all the contents of Exhibits

6003 admitted the exhibits. Appellant submits that Ex-

hibit 6002 was not a summary of Exhibit 6003 using

the plain definition of summary nor was it a summary

in actuality since it contained no reference to the many

items contained in Exhibit 6003.

Conclusion.

A sound argument in support of Appellant's position

is contained in the whole record if approached and re-

viewed with a calm objectivity. It is a large record to

review, yet the issues are grave involving as they do

a severe loss of liberty. Perhaps it is with this sense

of urgency that the arguments made herein have been

presented and in that light, if excessive, can be under-

stood and forgiven.

The points raised herein are valid and warrant re-

versal.

The errors expressed merely indicate ideas which can

find sound support in the record as a whole. Appel-

lant respectfully urges that the Court reverse the con-

viction and return the matter to the Court below to be

disposed of with complete fairness and finality.

Respectfully submitted,

James A. Poore and

Robert G. Clinnin,

Attorneys for Appellant.
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Certificate.

I certify that, in connection with the preparation of

this brief, I have examined Rules 18 and 19 of the

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit,

and that, in my opinion, the foregoing brief is in full

compliance with those rules.

James A. Poore,

Attorney.
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APPENDIX.

Index of Exhibits.

Code of abbreviations : "F" admitted provisionally

"I" marked for identification

Number Page

2 1599

3 1599

4 3010

5-9 1599

11-18 1599

20-22 1599

27-28 1677

29 1866

30, 33, 38 1727

39-40 1677

42-47 1677

51-56 1677

58 1677

60-69 1710

72 1738

75-77 2331

79-80 2331

81-83 2036

85-86 2991

87 (rejected 2992)

87-A 2036

90 3002 "P"

92-93 2991

94 2033

96 2043

97-98 2991

99 2050

100 2053

101-103 2991
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Number Page

108 (rejected 2992)

113-117 3002

118 3001

119-121 3002

123 (rejected 3003)

124-125 3002

126-127 2344

129-134 2344

135 2331

136 2344

138 2344

139-140 3003

142-143 3003

145 3003

148 2082

150-151 2971

153 2081

159-

A

2082

161 2971

162 2970

163 2082

166 2082

167 2083

170 2785

173-175 3006

176-177 (rejected 3008)

178 3009

181 3006

183 3006

184-186 3007

190 3009

191 3008

193-194 3008

196 3008



Number Page

197 1218

197-A 3244

197-B 1226

198-A - 198-B 1264

198-C - 198-D 1301

199 1301

199A 1272

200 1264

201 1301

204 3025

205-206 1301

207 1317

207-A 1259

208 1317

208-

A

1317

209-212 1317

212-A-212-B 1317

213-214 1317

214-A-214-B 1317

216 1317

216-A 1334

219 1228

222 1317

223 3000

225-227 3000

232 2551

234 2551

235 (rejected 3035)

236 2561

238 2570

239 2551

240 2551-3024

245 2534

246 2487
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Page

250 3023

251 2487

252 2545

254-255 2487

257-259 2487

260-D 2969

262 2734

262-A (rejected 3035)

263-267 2734

268 (rejected 3024)

269 2734

269-A (rejected 3024)

270 2734

271 2734

272 2734

283-284 2734

285-293 2983

293-A 2983

294-299 2983

300-301 2983

302 2989

305-308 (rejected 2989)

318 2989

322 2988

322-A 2988

322-B 3016

323-324 2988

325 (rejected 2989)

326-328-332 2988

334 2960

337 2988

343-349 2990

351 2990

353-362 2990
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Number Page

364-378 2990

381-382, 382-A, 383, 384 2990

390-392 2990

393-A 2723

394 2292

400-401 2292

402 3024

402-A 2314 "I"

403-405 2292

407-409 2292

414-415 3004

415-A 3004

416-417 3004

420-421 3004

424-426 3004

428 3004

430-432 3004

433 3005

434-438 3004

439 1131

441-448 1131

452-453 1815

454-461 1816

461-A 1816

462-463 1816

463-A 1816

464-467 1816

477-488-494 1866

495-496 1787

502 3014

503-505 1793

506 3014

507 1787



Number

508-509

516-523

524-525

526-532

534-535

536-537

537-A

538

540-543

546-551

553-559

561-569

577-582

582-A

583-587

587-A, 587-B

588-592

594-605

606-607

611

613, 615

620-624

625-627

628-635

637

640

641-A

642

645-646

646-A

647

647-B

648-649

650

Page

1788

1035

1959 "P"

1959

1959

1851

1850

1852

1852

1971

1971

2015

2178

2178

2224

2224

2625

2625

2627

2627

2627

2215

1986

1986

1986

1986

1986

1986

2968

2968

2968

2968

2619

356 "I"
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Number Page

652 400

653 412

654-655 414

656-658 433

659 446

660 433

661 446

662 468

663 433

664-665 468

666 433

667 468

669-670 468

672 446

673 414

675 446

676 356 "I"

677 414

678-690 747

692-695 747

696-697 938

698-699 2720

700 938

701-706 2720

708 2720

709-710 938

712 938

713-740 2262

743-744 2221

744-A 2221

745-747 2221

748 3036

749-749-A 2221

755-756 2223
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Number Page

758 2223

758-A 2223

759-760 2223

762 2223

762-E 2223

763-764 1484

768-775 1444

776 1421

111-1%^ 1444

790-792 1444

793 1442

796-799 1445

801 1445

804 2757 "P"

806-807 2757

808-813 2757

816-817 1176

818-825 1157

826-828 2218

829-A 2218

830-A 2218

831-A 2218

832 2620

842 112"!"

843-844 514

845 654

846 382

847 2349

847-A 2350

848 654

850 2621

851 2621

853 2740

854 2621
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Number Page

862-863 1544

864 3022

865-866 1544

867-A-867-C 1553

868 1544

869-A 1553

870-873 1544

875 1544

876-A-876-C 1553

877-879 1544

880-A-880-C 1553

881-883 1544

884-A-884-C 1553

885-896 1544

899 1544

900-A 1553

900-B 1544

900-C 1553

901-902 1544

903-

A

1584

903-B 1544

904-A-904-B 1544

904-C 1591

905-907 1544

909 1544

911 2722

911-A-911-B 2722

912-919 2722

920-D - 920-F 2722

921-924 1884

926-930 1884

933-934 1884

936-939 1884

941 1884



—10—

Number Page

947 1884

949-950 1884

952 2621

954-956 1832

959-960 1833

967 1833

968-969 nil
971-975 nil
976-977 1915

979-984 1928

985-A 1928

986-990 1928

992 1928

992-B 1921

992-C - 992-F 1928

994 1013

996-999 1013

1000-1002 2999

1003-1011 2215

1040 2682

1053 3391

1054 2675

1054-A, 1054-B 2676

1055 2659

1055-A 2661

1056-1065 2349

1066 2642

1067 2651

1068 2349

1069 2651

1070-1071 2652

1072-1073 2349

1074 2408

1076-1078 2657
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Number Page

1083 2587

1084 2473

1085 2597

1086 2591

1090-1099 2193

1100 2721

1111-1115 2721

1132 (rejected 3035)

1149 112 "r
1150 2621

1151-1152 2621

1153 515

1154 2624

1155 174"!"

1155-A 3393

1156-1160 174 'T'

1161 2624

1162 2621

1163-1167 174 'T'

1169-1170 1445

1173-1175 1445

1177-1178 1445

1184-1199 1445

1200-1204 1446

1206-1211 1446

1213-1214 1446

1216 1421

1218 1421

1220-1223 1421

1224-1226 1035

1227 (rejected 3035)

1228-1234 1035

1235 1047

1236 1180
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Number Page

1237 1035

1238 1048

1239 1035

1240-1243 720

1245 735

1245-A, 1245-B 735

1245-C 735

1246 755

1247-1249 755

1250 742

1251-1257 755

1258-1259 720

1260-1264 755

1266-1268 755

1270 733

1401 539

1403 615

1405 603

1408 570

1411 570

1413 570

1414-1416 571

1417-1419 572

1422 572

1423-1424 573

1425-1426 618

1428-1431 618

1432 564

1433 618

1435 618

1437 611

1440 3178

1441 618

1442 611
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Number Page

1443 564

1447-1448 618
1602 157

1603 242

1604 207

1605 570

1606-A-1606-E 198

1607 289

1608 291

1609 207

1610 291

1611 302

1612 230

1613 257

1614-1615 207

1616 308

1617 242

1618 230

1619 292

1620 281

1621 242

1622 230

1623 255

1624 268

1625 388

1626 112"!"

1627-1628 305

1629 253

1630-1631 291

1632 242

1633 305

1634 242

1635 302

1637 281
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Number Page

1638-1639 174"!"

1641 281

1642 242

1643-1644 263

1645 115

1650 281

1651 281

1652 305

1653 171

1654 112 "I"

1655-1656 207

1657-1658 291

1660 257

1663 174 "I"

1664 174 "I"

1664-A 174 "I"

1665 174 "I"

1666 514

1667-1668 654

1669-1670 514

1671 654

1672 514

1673 654

1674 514

1719-1720, 1722 1111

1721-1724 1113 "P"

1727 1157

1728 1173

1739-1740 1157

1741-1742 1181

1747 1544

1750 1544

1844-1892 1479

1893 2745
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Number Page

1901-1932 1479

1950 280 "P"

1964-A 188 "I"

2000 356 "I"

2001 414

2002-2003 414

2004-2005 446

2006-2013 468

2016-2017 468

2018 497

2101-2103 390

2107-2109 817

2112 818

2114-2122 922

2123-2124 843

2125-2126 851

2127 858

2129 785

2130-2131 793

2132-2133 799

2134-2135 830

2136-2138 716

2139 922

2140 (withdrawn 922)

2141 922

2200 3116

2505 (rejected 3025)

3000-3001 1895

3005 3025

3006 1895

3010 (rejected 3025)

3011 3025

3012-3014 1886

3015 (rejected 3025)
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Number Page

3016 1895

3019 1895

3300 1928

3301-3302 1921

3304-3309 1928

3310-3315 1921

3317 1921

3319 1921

3321 1921

5000 2553

5001 2962

5005 2963

5007 3037

5010 2964

5300-5301 2161

5304 2161

5307 2108

5308-5309 2161

5487 (rejected 3035)

5510 (rejected 3035)

5512 3035

5525-5533 3011 "P'

5619-A 2350

5619 2349

6000 2783

6000-A 2786

6001 (rejected 3023)

6002 2801

6003 2800

6005 (summary 2847)

6006 2807

6007-6008 2957

6009-6010 2957

6101 1730
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Number Page

7800 2604

7801 2605

7802 2605

7805 2610

7806 3024

7807 2613

7808 3024

7809 2613

10,000-A 3083 "I"

10,050 3286

10,05 1-A-F 3295 "I"

10,052 3383

10.054 3484

10.055
'

3549 "I"

10.056 3559

10.057 3567

10.058 3572

10.059 3577

10.060 3737

10.061 VJZl "F'

10.062 4069

10.063 4072

10.064 4077

10.065 4080

10.066 4166

10,067-10,068 4166 'T'

10,069 4172 "I"

10,070-10,073 4173 "I"

10.074 4176 "I"

10.075 4187

10.076 4239 'T"

DF-A-DF-B 3310

DF-C 3315

DF-D 3847
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Number Page

DF-E 2322

DF-F 3348

DF-G 4004

DF-H 3348

DF-K 3870

DF-L 3348

DF-O - Z : DF-AA - AF 3429

DF-AG 3364

DF-AH 3634

DF-AI 3967

DF-AJ 3883

DF-AK 3895

DF-AL 3896

DF-AN 3896

DF-AO 3893

DF-AP 3895

DF-AQ 3896

DF-AU 3935

DF-AV 3636

DF-AW 3635

DF-AX 3863

DF-AY 3863

DF-AZ 3928

DF-BA 3727

DF-BB 3896

DF-BC 3767

DF-BD 3435

DF-BE 3451

DF-BF - DF-BG 3977

DF-BH - DF-BI 3439

DF-BJ 3988

DF-BK 3983

DF-BL 3727

DF-BN 3953
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Number Page

DF-BO 4039

DF-BP 3738

DF-BQ - DF-BS 3863

DF-BT 3683

DF-BV-BW 3683

DF-BX 3873

DF-BY 3847

DF-BZ 3847

DF-CA 3847

DF-CB 3793

DF-CC 3960

DF-CE 3685

DF-CF 3901

DF-CG 3902

DF-CH 3905

DF-CJ 3920

DF-CK 3903

DF-CM 3904

DF-CN 3993

DF-CO 3967

DF-CP 3901

DF-CQ 4038

DF-CR 3902

DF-CT 4003

DF-CU 3969

DF-CV 3967

DF-CW-CX 3905

DF-CY 4047

DF-CZ 3971

DF-DA - DF-DB 3971

DF-DE 3873

DF-DF 3920

DF-DH - DF-DI 3845

DF-DJ 3889
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Number Page

DF-DK, DF-DN 3960

DF-DO 3751

DF-ZV 4234

DF-ZW - DF-ZX 4041

DF-ZY 3972

DF-ZZ 3800

OJ-A - OJ-B 3096

OJ-D 3103

OJ-E - OJ-F 3099

OJ-G-OJ-I 3103

OJ-K-OJ-M 3103

SM-A - SM-H 3246

SM-J - SM-N 3246

Impeachment Exhibits

A 3183 "F
B-C-E 3184":"
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Summary of Information in 6003.

The following is a summary of information con-

tained in Exhibit 6003 listed by account number, cus-

tomer's name and date, giving a brief statement as to

the contents set forth in the innumerable sell orders

or requests for liquidation

:

No. 4703 — Joseph Pearson, letter dated May 6,

1960, reference by customer to a newspaper

article by Judge Thurmond Clarke.

No. 4496 — Chester F. Gellibray, letter dated May
9, 1960 to effect that customer put their money

in to purchase a home.

No. 4901 — Virginia Shannon, letter dated June 6,

1960, which is handwritten by customer stating

she has lost three members of her family and

desperately needs the money which she has on

deposit with LATD.

No. 4842 — Ray E. Bardin, letter dated May 23,

1960, which is written by customer in longhand,

requesting that money be returned "for sure"

this time.

No. 4830 — A. C. Hillman, letter dated May 6,

1960, which contains a reference to Judge

Clarke's statement.

No. 4994* — Arthur D. Terflinger, letter dated

May 6, 1960, written in longhand by depositor

who states that the depositor is 74 years old

and cannot afford to lose this great sum.

No. 2815 — Thomas M. Cagle, letter dated May 7,

1960, which contains notation that the customer

needs the money to buy a new home.
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No. 2777* — Floyd W. Lemons, letter dated May
23, 1960 is a handwritten letter that the cus-

tomer is getting married and needs the money

to purchase a house.

No. 2742* — J. E. Whiston, letter dated June 2,

1960, which is handwritten from the customer

that the customer needs the money to put their

mother in a nursing home.

No. 3440* — Mary E. Spilman, letter dated May
17, 1960, which contains correspondence from a

lawyer and another letter.

No. 3812* — Thomas Watson, letter dated May 25,

1960 stating that the customer needs the money

to help his brother who is very ill.

No. 1300 — Customer Whittaker, letter dated May
10, 1960, complaining that the customer was

told that customer could get his money back

within a couple of days.

No. 1366 — J. W. Benjour, letter dated May 10,

1960, stating that the defendants attempted to

prevent liquidation of the customer's account in

the sum of $54,000.00.

No. 1680 — Russell Smith, letter dated May 31,

1960, written in longhand complaining that the

customer is unable to get money as promised.

No. 2045 — Customer Rothwell, letter dated May 9,

1960 stating that the customer was told that he

could withdraw his money within a very short

time.
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No. 2291* — Chester Jones, letter dated May 26,

1960 stating that customer has lost his job and

needs the money.

No. 2417* — John T. Argus, letter dated May 17,

1960 containing the statement, "trusting in you

as before."

No. 2954* — Customer LesHe, letter dated May 16,

1960 stating that the customer is in the midst

of a dire emergency.

No. 20479 — Peter Bell, letter dated June 3, 1960,

referring to the litigation and newspaper articles.

No. 9735 — Customer Slabicki, letter dated June 6,

1960 written in longhand and stating that cus-

tomer is in need of money.

No. 9832 — AHce Fleming, letter dated May 27,

1960 stating that customer is faced with an

emergency and needs money.

No. 9893 — Abraham Koretski, letter dated June 1,

1960 stating to the effect that there is illness in

the family and the customer needs his money.

No. 9920 — Customer Page, letter dated May 25,

1960 stating that customer has just invested

his money and wants it back.

No. 20175 — Customer Yunch, letter dated June 1,

1960 relating that he is faced with an emergency

and needs money immediately.

No. 20208 — Forrest Class, letter dated May 25,

1960 stating that he needs money and he never

got his trust deed.
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No. 20414 — Customer Padden, letter dated June 6,

1960 written by an obviously uneducated person,

asking for money and telling Mr. Farrell that

he should not be afraid.

No. 20850 — Customer Mann, letter dated May 19,

1960, stating that he is faced with an emergency

and needs his money.

No. 20874 — Customer Heiter, letter dated June 6,

1960 stating that it is urgent and needs money.

No. 6909 — Edwin S. Hanna, D.D.S., letter dated

May 6, 1960 in which he says customer did not

get a trust deed on improved property in Orange

County and "wants refund according to policy

of giving refund at any time."

No. 8185* — Customer Dean, letter dated May 19,

1960 stating that the customer has suffered dras-

tic misfortune and needs money.

No. 8295 — Customer Zeckiel, letter dated May 6,

1960 stating "I had hoped that this would be

foundation for Carolyn's (12) college education.

No. 8456 — Customer Wheeler, letter dated May 10,

1960 containing reference to adverse publicity.

No. 8590 — Customer Germain, letter dated May 9,

1960 from a farmer, requesting withdrawal

and stating that he had been told he could with-

draw funds at any time.



—25—

No. 6888* — Customer Moots, letter dated June 1,

1960 containing a notation in handwriting "ur-

gent to Farrell, needs money."

No. 7090 — Customer Miner, letter dated May 24,

1960 stating that the customer had been told he

could withdraw money at any time.

No. 7097* — Henrietta Moch, letter dated May 24,

1960 stating customer is sick and was told she

could get her money at any time: states that

customer cannot work.

No. 7154* — Customer Benjamin, letter dated June

1, 1960 stating that customer is unemployed and

needs the money.

No. 7173 — Customer Gebhard, letter dated June

6, 1960 stating that customer's husband is sick

and needs the money.

No. 7663 — Customer Edelman, letter dated May

16, 1960 stating that the customer is faced with

an emergency and needs the money.

No. 8910 — Customer Pastorelli, letter dated May

24, 1960 stating that customer is faced with an

emergency and needs money.

No. 9143 — Eve M. Greene, letter dated May 17,

1960 with a scrap of paper attached to it with

printing stating, "your request complete, close

out today, wants check by 2:05 20th of this

month advise customer impossible."
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No. 9151 — Customer Steele, letter dated May 10,

1960 speaking of ''investment."

No. 9204* — John R. Clarke, letter dated May 26,

1960 referring to article in the Wall Street

Journal and wants money back before it is tied

up by the court.

No. 9416 — Customer Brun, letter dated May 23,

1960 to the effect that the customer does not

want a subordinated trust deed.

No. 9463* — Elizabeth Smith, letter dated May 27,

1960 stating that customer is unable to work

and has her life's savings involved and wants

her money back.

No. 9502 — Customer Uranon, letter dated May 24,

1960 referring to liquidation of the corporation

(LATD).

No. 5818 — Customer Hoffmeyer, letter dated May

25, 1960 stating that the customer is not happy

with the method of operation and wants money

back.

No. 5887* — Customer Domitio, letter dated May

31, 1960 stating that the customer is in poor

health and needs the money.

No. 6107* — Customer Wurzboch, letter dated May

23, 1960 to the effect that he is too old to acquire

real estate; that his wife worries too much; that

he needs the money.
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No. 6314** — Edmund R. Meitus, letter dated May

5, 1960. This is a very long letter from an

attorney by the name of Edmund R. Meitus,

severely criticizing the manner of operation of

LATD and demanding his money back. Also

comments extensively that he doesn't go along

with Judge Clarke's judgment in the civil case,

but that he still feels that the defendants were

not operating correctly. Attorney Meitus was a

customer of LATD.

No. 6675* — Customer Olsen, letter dated May 24,

1960 stating he has incurred substantial doctor

bills and needs the money immediately.

*Appellant does not set forth all of the letters con-

tained in Exhibit 6003 but has merely, as the Govern-

ment stated in its opening Statement [R. 33] selected

a sampling of letters as just part of the entire picture

presented in Exhibit 6003. Each letter has been pointed

out for the purpose of giving the court a different

aspect as to the over-all tremendous impact contained in

Exhibit 6003 and denotes letters which would move the

most hardened heart to extreme compassion.

**This letter would obviously have a devastating

effect upon the minds of the jurors. It is a detailed

attack on the operations of LATD from a person who

was not only an attorney, but was a customer of LATD.
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Newspaper Article.

LOS ANGELES HERALD EXPRESS
U. S. JUDGE BLASTS
'TEN PER CENTERS"

Blasting at so-called "10 per centers who mislead

countless small investors," Federal Judge Thurmond

Clarke today ordered the Securities and Exchange Com-

mission to file their conclusions and proposed judgment

in that field.

The action was taken in a case involving the Los

Angeles Trust Deed and Mortgage Exchange which

Judge Clarke has been hearing for the past three

months. The commission had asked for a permanent

injunction against the firm continuing operations ex-

cept under a receivership.

The Judge said that his order, to be answered by

next Wednesday, was not an immediate judgment but

he clearly indicated that he would be strongly advised

by the pending conclusions of the commission.

ALERTS PUBLIC

Judge Clarke said he wished to alert the public to the

dangers of investing in the home building industry by

way of the sale of second mortgages, among other

schemes, and added

:

"These 10 per centers have developed an ingenius and

thoroughly devious scheme relying on legal loopholes.

"It is their good fortune that the scheme has not yet

come tumbling down around their heads, like the frail

cardhouse structure it is.
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"This case has unearthed many totally unethical prac-

tices which run a very close line between criminal prose-

cution and civil actions for fraud.

"The court regrets that the processes of law have

worked so slowly that the hearth of many innocent

investors have been placed in jeopardy," the Judge

concluded.

CALLED TEST CASE

Legal experts have termed the trial a test case chal-

lenging the right of the regulatory commission to em-

brace the field of real estate loans.

David Farrell, President of the mortgage exchange

firm stated that the record will show "no instance in

which we have issued a security or an investment con-

tract."
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United States Statutes.

2S U. S. C. A. §1732. Record Made in Regular

Course of Business : Photographic Copies

(a) In any court of the United States and in any

court estabhshed by Act of Congress, any writing or

record, whether in the form of an entry in a book or

otherwise, made as a memorandum or record of any act,

transaction, occurrence, or event, shall be admissible

as evidence of such act, transaction, occurrence, or event,

if made in regular course of any business, and if it was

the regular course of such business to make such mem-

orandum or record at the time of such act, trans-

action, occurrence, or event or within a reasonable time

thereafter.

All other circumstances of the making of such writ-

ing or record, including lack of personal knowledge by

the entrant or maker, may be shown to affect its weight,

but such circumstances shall not affect its admissi-

bility.

The term "business," as used in this section, in-

cludes business, profession, occupation, and calling of

every kind.

(b) If any business, institution, member of a pro-

fession or calling, or any department or agency of gov-

ernment, in the regular course of business or activity

has kept or recorded any memorandum, writing, entry,

print, representation or combination thereof, of any

act, transaction, occurrence, or event, and in the regu-
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lar course of business has caused any or all of the same

to be recorded, copies, or reproduced by any photo-

graphic, photostatic, microfilm, micro-card, miniature

photographic, or other process which accurately repro-

duces or forms a durable medium for so reproducing

the original, the original may be destroyed in the regu-

lar course of business unless its preservation is required

by law. Such reproduction, when satisfactorily iden-

tified, is as admissible in evidence as the original it-

self in any judicial or administrative proceeding wheth-

er the original is in existence or not and an enlarge-

ment or facsimile of such reproduction is likewise ad-

missible in evidence if the original reproduction is in

existence and available for inspection under direction of

court. The introduction of a reproduced record, en-

largement, or facsimile does not preclude admission of

the original. This subsection shall not be construed

to exclude from evidence any document or copy there-

of which is otherwise admissible under the rules of evi-

dence. As amended Aug. 28, 1951, c. 351, §§1, 3, 65

Stat. 206; Aug. 30, 1961, Pub. L. 87-183, 75 Stat. 413.

18 U. S. C. A., Rule 52 'Tederal Rules Cr. Proc.

Harmless Error and Plain Error.

(a) Harmless Error. Any error, defect, irregular-

ity of variance which does not affect substantial rights

shall be disregarded.

(b) Plain Error. Plain errors or defects affecting

substantial rights may be noticed although they were

not brought to the attention of the court.
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18 U. S. C. A. §1341. Frauds and swindles.

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any

scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money

or property by means of false or fraudulent pre-

tenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, dispose

of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, distribute, supply,

or furnish or procure for unlawful use any counter-

feit or spurious coin, obligation, security, or other ar-

ticle, or anything represented to be or intimated or held

out to be such counterfeit or spurious article, for the

purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or attempt-

ing so to do, places in any post office or authorized

depository for mail matter, any matter or thing what-

ever to be sent or delivered by the Post Office De-

partment, or takes or receives therefrom, any such

matter or thing, or knowingly causes to be delivered by

mail according to the direction thereon, or at the place

at which it is directed to be deHvered by the person to

whom it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall

be fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more

than five years, or both. June 25, 1948, c. 645, 62

Stat. 763, amended May 24, 1949, c. 139 §34, 63

Stat. 94.

15 U. S. C. §77q. Fraudulent interstate transac-

tions

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person in the sale

of any securities by the use of any means or

instruments of transportation or communica-
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tion in interstate commerce or by the use of the

mails, directly or indirectly

—

(1) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice

to defraud, or

18 U. S. C. A. §371. Conspiracy to commit offense

or to defraud United States

If two or more persons conspire either to commit

any offense against the United States, or to defraud

the United States, or any agency thereof in any man-

ner or for any purpose, and one or more of such per-

sons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy,

each shall be fined not more than $10,000 or impris-

oned not more than five years, or both.

If, however, the offense, the commission of which

is the object of the conspiracy, is a misdemeanor only,

the punishment for such conspiracy shall not exceed

the maximum punishment provided for such misde-

meanor. June 25, 1948, c. 645, 62 Stat. 701.

I
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Exhibit 844.

No. 844 which was a so-called black brochure issued

October, 1958, which contains the following language

on page 5

:

"We cannot legally make specific guarantees in

connection with any of the trust deeds sold to our

customers. However, it is our policy to repur-

chase and/or replace any defaulted trust deeds

with a trust deed in good standing, when requested

by our customers to do so. This is done entirely

on a best efforts basis, but to date we have never

had a customer of our approved trust deeds sus-

tain a loss nor has any such customer failed to

receive his full 10% earnings.



—35—

Exhibit 1670.

No. 1670 is a blue brochure issued July, 1959 which

contains the following language on page 2 of the bro-

chure at the bottom of the page

:

NOTE: ''While this brochure presents the most

important points in trust deed investments, it ob-

viously cannot and does not cover the entire sub-

ject. We act only as principal, and not as agent.

Because no one can actually predict the future,

everything that the company does is entirely on a

best efforts basis. We do not either expressly or

by implication guarantee that any customer will

not lose on his investment, nor do we undertake

or guarantee to protect any customer from loss.

However, since the inception of this company, no

customer of our approved trust deeds has ever sus-

tained a loss, nor has any such customer ever

failed to receive his full 10% earnings on trust

deeds held for at least six months. We do not

"pay interest." All 10% earnings which accrue to

a customer come to him from the trust deed(s)

which he purchases."

No. 1073 is a blue brochure issued February, 1960

which contains the same language as No. 1670.

No. 1674 is a blue brochure issued May, 1960 which

contains the same language as No. 1670.
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United States Constitution.

Amendment [V]

No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or

otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or

indictment of a Grand Jury, except in cases arising in

the land or naval forces, or in the Militia, when in

actual service in time of War or public danger; nor

shall any person be subject for the same offence to be

twice put in jeopardy of life or limb; nor shall be

compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against

himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty, or property,

without due process of law; nor shall private property

be taken for public use, without just compensation.

Amendment [XIV] Section 1.

All persons born or naturalized in the United States,

and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of

the United States and of the State wherein they re-

side. No State shall make or enforce any law which

shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens

of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any

person of life, liberty, or property, without due process

of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction

the equal protection of the laws.
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Statement of the Pleadings.

By Indictment No. 30341, which superseded Indict-

ment No. 25960, Appellants David Farrell, Oliver J.

Farrell along with Stanley C. Marks were charged in

Counts 1 through 17 of violation of Section 17(2)(1)

of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U. S. Code Section

77c](2)(l), which provides as follows:

It shall be unlawful for any person in the sale

of any securities by the use of any means or in-

struments of transportation or communication in

interstate commerce or by the use of the mails,

directly or indirectly to employ any device, scheme,

or artifice to defraud.



They were further charged in Counts 18 through 33

with Mail Fraud in violation of 18 U. S. Code Section

1341, which provides as follows:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtain-

ing money or property by means of false or fraud-

ulent pretenses, representations, or promises, or

to sell, dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away,

distribute, supply, or furnish or procure for un-

lawful use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obli-

gation, security, or other article, or anything repre-

sented to be or intimated or held out to be such

counterfeit or spurious article, for the purpose of

executing such scheme or artifice or attempting so

to do, places in any post office or authorized

depository for mail matter, any matter or thing

whatever to be sent or delivered by the Post Office

Department, or takes or receives therefrom, any

such matter or thing, or knowingly causes to be

delivered by mail according to the direction thereon,

or at the place at which it is directed to be de-

livered by the person to whom it is addressed, any

such matter or thing, shall be fined not more than

$1,000.00 or imprisoned not more than five years,

or both.

In Count 34 they were charged with Conspiracy in

violation of 18 U. S. Code Section 371, which provides

as follows

:

If two or more persons conspire either to com-

mit any offense against the United States, or to

defraud the United States, or any agency thereof

in any manner or for any purpose, and one or
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more of such persons do any act to effect the

object of the conspiracy, each shall be fined not

more than $10,000.00 or imprisoned not more than

five years, or both.

[Clk. Tr. pp. 119-193.]

Statement of the Case.

Trial by jury was had, following the close of the

Government's case, the Government moved to dismiss

Counts 3 and 33, which motion was granted. [Clk. Tr.

p. 449.] Each defendant put on a defense, whereupon

the jury was instructed, and following deliberation re-

turned the following verdicts

:

Stanley C. Marks was found Not Guilty as to all

counts [Clk. Tr. p. 512-A] ; and Appellants David Far-

rell and Oliver J. Farrell were each found Guilty on all

counts. [Clk. Tr. pp. 505-512.]

Appellant Oliver J. Farrell was sentenced to 2 years

imprisonment and fined the sum of $2,000.00 on each

of Counts 1, 2. 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13,

14, 15, 16 and 17 (the Securities Act Counts), the

prison terms to run concurrently and making a total

fine of $32,000.00.

He v.'as sentenced to 2 years imprisonment and fined

the sum of $1,000.00 on each of Counts 18 through

32 (the Mail Fraud counts), the prison terms to run

concurrently and making a total fine of $15,000.00.

On the Conspiracy count 34 he was sentenced to 2

years imprisonment and fined the sum of $5,000.00.

The sentences under the Mail Fraud counts were to

run concurrent with the Securities Act counts; Count



34 was to run concurrent with the Securities Act counts

and consecutive with the Mail Fraud counts, making a

total of four years imprisonment and a total fine of

$52,000.00. [Clk. Tr. p. 554.]

Notice of Appeal was filed [Clk. Tr. p. 562] and

the matter is now before this court, which has jurisdic-

tion to review the judgment of conviction as it arises

from alleged violations of the Federal law as set forth

in the above-designated sections of the United States

Code.

Statement of Facts.

Appellant Oliver J. Farrell hereby adopts the state-

ment of facts as stated in the Opening Brief of Appel-

lant David Farrell, which is being filed concurrently

herewith. In addition, reference is made to the facts

stated in the opinion of Securities and Exchange Com-

mission V. Los Angeles Trust Deed and Mortgage Ex-

change, et al., 285 F. 2d 162, which covered the same

subject matter in a civil proceeding against the same

appellants as is presented in the instant criminal pro-

ceeding.

Reference to Exhibits.

Over 2,000 documents were introduced into evidence

at the trial and would be too extensive to present as part

of this brief. Counsel has conferred with Government

counsel on this matter and have agreed that the Govern-

ment counsel will submit a complete exhibit register to

this Honorable Court covering all of the exhibits in this

case.



ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND
ARGUMENTS.

Appellant 01i\er J. Farrell hereby adopts each and

every assii^nment of error and argument presented in

the Opening Brief of David Farrell, which is being filed

concurrently herewith. In addition, he presents the

following assignment of error and argument solely on

his own behalf

:

The Evidence Is Insufficient on All Counts as a

Matter of Law to Sustain the Judgment of Con-

viction on All Counts.

In the prosecution of this case the government pre-

sented an extremely thorough case establishing how the

Los Angeles Trust Deed and Mortgage Exchange had

engaged in a course of conduct which violated the Se-

curities Act of 1933 and engaged in Mail Fraud. The

evidence was directed primarily against the defendant

David Farrell who ran the company and directed all of

its policies.

In order to fully appreciate the lack of evidence

against Oliver J. Farrell in all of the counts on which he

was convicted it must be borne in mind that this case

was the subject of an intense investigation, the Se-

curities & Exchange Commission having had a receiver

running the business since June 8, 1960 and acquired

complete access to all of the company's documents and

records. It can be stated with substantial certainty

that any and all possible evidence which could have been

presented against Oliver J, Farrell was produced at the

trial, so the Government has actually presented the

strongest case it could against him. This lack of evi-

dence sufficient to convict can be illustrated by an
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analysis of the testimony of the key witnesses, both

prosecution and defense, which clearly illustrated the

limited role played by Oliver J. Farrell in the company's

activities.

Thomas Wolfe, Jr., assistant to the president, David

Farrell, was produced as a government witness, and

testified in detail as to L.A.T.D. & M.E.'s activities,

as well as those of related corporations. All of the

corporations involved were solely owned by David Far-

rell. David Farrell gave him instructions to create a

bank-like atmosphere [Rep. Tr. p. 157] and he alone

purchased the trust deeds on unimproved property and

prepared the information concerning them. [Rep. Tr.

pp. 163, 169, 227.] The advertising firm, Prestige In-

corporated, which was owned and controlled by David

Farrell, prepared the printed literature which was sent

out by the company. [Rep. Tr. pp. 167-168, 334-335.]

Upon Mr. Wolfe first assuming his duties David Far-

rell did the editing of the letters to the customers.

[Rep. Tr. p. 169] and throughout Mr. Wolfe's tenure

gave instructions regarding choice of terminology to be

used. [Rep. Tr. pp. 196-197.]

Wolfe at pages 159 and 160 described the very

limited function of Oliver J. Farrell as heading up the

sales organization, conducting sales conferences, making

sales meeting speeches, preparing sales literature and

breaking in new salesmen.

Albert R. Durham, Director of Trust Deed Selection

for the company testified at great length about the

company's activities and never once mentioned having

any dealings with Oliver J. Farrell. [Rep. Tr. pp. 710-

999.]
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Monroe R. Stark, a salesman for the company, who

was also called as a government witness, testified at

great length as to the operation of the sales department,

with Oliver J. Farrell in charge. In all of his testimony

the only item which even remotely hinted at misrepre-

sentation was the sales "pitch" to properly create the

impression to customers that this market place for sell-

ing trust deeds would be helpful in liquidating 10%
earning accounts. [Rep. Tr. p. 541.]

The only other transaction which could be strained

as evidence against Oliver J. Farrell was the fact thai

he instructed the salesmen not to volunteer the fact of

the pending civil litigation with the S. E. C, and if

specifically asked to inform the customer that there was

no basis for any fraud or insolvency charges. [Rep.

Tr. p. 563.]

At pages 683 to 685 of the Reporter's Transcript

Mr. Stark testified that Oliver J. Farrell was very strict

about the salesman following the language of the com

pany brochure in the sales presentation; that they were

not authorized to change the language in the brochure;

and that the salesmen could use any selling techniques

as long as they did not conflict with the brochure.

As previously stated, the evidence in the record estab-

lished that David Farrell solely was responsible for

preparation of the brochures.

Oliver J. Farrell took the stand in his own defense.

After L.A.T.D. & M.E. had already been in existence

he joined the firm in the fall of 1955 being hired by

David Farrell, eventually in 1957 becoming sales man-

ager of the company. His sales material, which he

distributed to the salesmen, was taken from a publica-
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tion by Prentice-Hall Publishers entitled Miracle Sales

Guide. His explanation of the matters brought out

in the testimony of Mr. Stark was as follows:

"Q. Why did you instruct salesmen to explain

the Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange

civil litigation with Securities and Exchange Com-

mission only if a customer would ask about it, a

prospective customer? A. There had been quite

a few inflammatory articles in the newspapers con-

cerning the SEC's charges, and I felt from time

to time most big businesses, and in fact most busi-

nessmen, do have civil litigation with bureaus or

government or agencies. I felt that we should put

our best foot forward at all times and not invite

people's attention to a civil suit, which I felt would

be resolved to our satisfaction in a very short

period of time.

I also felt that most of our prospective custom-

ers, if not all of them, were already aware of the

civil litigation because of the newspaper articles,

and also commentaries on television and radio, and

it was unnecessary to invite their attention to it.

Normally, they would ask us about it.

Q. Were you aware that a receiver would take

control of Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage

Exchange on June 8, 1960? A. No, sir.

Q. Why did you think that?

The Court: I don't follow your question.

Q. (By Mr. Holder) : On what basis did you

have that opinion? A. The attorneys for the

company, Morgan Cuthbertson and Paul J. Foley,

explained to me that this action was similar to
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that which had transpired a year or a year and a

half previously; that the SEC had obtained a

similar injunction at that time and the court had

ordered a receiver in then. However, the attorneys

were able to have that action appealed and stayed,

and on the remand of the case they stated that

they felt that they would have the same success

with the appellate court, that they would success-

fully have the lower court's orders reversed.

Q. Why didn't you stop selling trust deeds after

May 20, 1960? A. Well, sales were more im-

portant then than ever before, with the bad publicity

that we had in the papers. On instructions from

the attorneys and from David Farrell I en-

couraged the sales department to roll up their

sleeves and work even harder to bring in sales. I

felt that it would be an act of disloyalty to walk-

out on the company because it was having some

civil problems.

O. Do you know personally of any customer

of Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Ex-

change who sustained a loss prior to June 8, 1960?

A. No, sir, not one." [Rep. Tr. p. 3106, line 21.

to p. 3108, line 18-1

Under intensive cross-examination the well-prepared

Government was unable to establish any evidence that

Oliver J. Farrell had engaged in any transactions with

intent to defraud or that he had any control over the

company or that he had any knowledge that any fraud

was being practiced by the company. His testinujuy

that he instructed the salesman to follow the language in

the brochure was not refuted. [Rep. Tr. p. 3122.
j David
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Farrell supplied the information that there was to be a

trust fund for investors' money [Rep. Tr. p. 3134], that

David Farrell owned Mortgage Insurance Company of

America [Rep. Tr. p. 3138], Oliver J. Farrell denied any

knowledge of all of the various corporations created by

David Farrell and also denied knowledge of any side par-

ticipation agreements which David Farrell engaged in.

[Rep. Tr. pp. 3162-3163.] With over 2000 documents in-

troduced by the Government none were produced to re-

fute this testimony of Oliver J. Farrell.

The Government grasped at straws in attempting to

tie in Oliver J. Farrell with the side participation agree-

ments of David Farrell. With millions of dollars and

thousands of lots involved in the side participation agree-

ments, of which David Farrell received 50% for his own

benefit, the government tried to make Oliver J. Farrell

a participant therein by showing that he received the

grand total of 4 lots of Embarcadero property. These

4 low value lots were subject to a $5,000.00 mortgage

which Oliver J. Farrell assumed. In addition he agreed

to develop at his ozun expense a horse stable and riding

academy in order to enhance the value of the Embarca-

dero tract. [Rep. Tr. pp. 3156-3158.] This undisputed

evidence clearly showed that he was supplying services

and money for the above 4 lots and was not receiving

them as a participant in a fraudulent scheme.

Co-defendant Stanley C. Marks testified in his owr.

behalf. Not one transaction involving Oliver J. Farrell

was involved in his testimony.

Morgan Cuthbertson, formerly a staff attorney for

the Securities & Exchange Commission for 13 years in

Los Angeles, related how he was hired by David Farrell
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to advise the firm in its dealings with S.E.C. This

critical witness brought out that he dealt with David

Farrell exclusively in his relationship as attorney for

L.A.T.D. & ALE. and that David Farrell prepared the

brochures. Nowhere in his testimony is there any sugges-

tion that Oliver J. Farrell had any voice in directing the

company's policy.

Thomas J. Graham, the appraiser employed by

L.A.T.D. & M.E. did not even mention Oliver J. Far-

rell in his testimony.

David Farrell testified in his own behalf, stating that

he first entered the mortgage business in 1952 [Rep. Tr,

p. 3703], organizing L.A.T.D. & M.E. in 1954. [Rep.

Tr. p. 3705.] He testified at length as to how he organ-

ized and ran the company, made all decisions on policy,

organized various side corporations which he solely con-

trolled, and solely entered into numerous side participa-

tion agreements to acquire trust deeds for L.A.T.D. &
M.E.

His role in the i)roceedings is best illustrated by the

following testimony.

"O. Who primarily niade the policy decisions of

the Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage Ex-

change? A. I did.

Q. Did Mr. O. J. Farrell make those decisions?

A. No, he did not make the decisions." [Rep. Tr.

p. 4040, lines 20-24.]

Q. If you were to characterize the company,

would you characterize it as a one-man c()mi)any

under your direction? A. T would characterize il

as being completely under my direction, yes. sir."

[Rep. Tr. p. 4041, hues 2-5.]
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His testimony, at pages 4225-4226, verified that

Oliver J. Farrell in return for the 4 Embarcadero lots

did establish stables of high quality, the horses appear-

ing in many horse shows under the name of Embarca-

dero Stables throughout California.

From the record there is no question that David Far-

rell completely controlled the 10% Secured Earnings pro-

gram of L.A.T.D. & M.E., with nobody within the com-

pany framework in a position to challenge the manner

in which he ran the company. This is especially true

when he clearly let it be known to all persons that his

activities were being carried out pursuant to the advice

of an attorney who had spent 13 years with the

S.E.C. Rather than go through all of the various

arguments and justifications for the policy of the com-

pany, reference is made to Declaration of David Farrell,

set forth in pages 228-235 of the Clerk's Transcript.

It is difficult to conceive of any employee challenging

these persuasive sounding arguments.

Appellant, Oliver J. Farrell, respectfully urges that the

evidence is insufficient to impute to him any knowledge

of any fraudulent scheme or any intent to defraud. His

role as only sales manager in this highly departmental-

ized operation is thoroughly demonstrated throughout

the record, as is the fact that David Farrell made all

of the policy decisions, directed the operations of the

company and caused huge profits to be made by his

solely owned corporations which dealt with L.A.T.D. &
M.E. True, Oliver J. Farrell is the brother of David

Farrell, and that fact undoubtedly had great influence on

the jury in arriving at their verdicts to convict him.

This is especially true wdien this Honorable Court con-
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siders the background of the prejudicial newspaper pub-

hcity and pubhc hysteria during the course of the trial.

The extremely fair trial judge constantly admonished

the jury not to read the newspaper accounts of the trial

and made every reasonable attempt to conduct the trial

free from outside pressure on the jury. From the fore-

going examination of the record, however, it appears

clear that Oliver J. FarrelTs activities are as reasonably

consistent with innocence as with guilt on all counts,

so the convictions cannot be sustained on the e\ndence

introduced against him.

"The verdict in a criminal case is sustained only

when there is 'relevant evidence from which the

jury could properly find or infer, beyond a reason-

able doubt,' that the accused is guilty. Mortenson

V. U. S., 322 U. S. 369, 64 S. Ct. 1037, 88 L. Ed.

1331."

American Tobacco Co. v. United States (1946),

328 U. S. 781, 66 S. Ct. 1125, 90 L. Ed. 1575.

In Gra7'aft z: United States (1960, 10 Cir.), 260

F. 2d 498, the court held

:

"It is. of course. Hornbook law that in criminal

cases, the Government must prove the defendant

guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, and if the un-

disputed evidence is as consistent with innocence

as with guilt, the Government has failed to make a

case to go to the jury."

In accord

:

Leslie v. United States (10 Cir.), 43 F. 2d 288;

Moore v. United States (10 Cir.), 56 F. 2d 794;

McClintock V. United States (10 Cir.), 60 F. 2d

839;
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Patterson v. United States (10 Cir.), 62 F. 2d

968;

Parnell v. United States (10 Cir.), 64 F. 2d 324;

Gargotta v. United States (8 Cir.), 77 F. 2d

977.

Where guilt in prosecution for using mails to defraud,

violation of Securities Act, and conspiracy rests upon

circumstantial evidence, government has burden of prov-

ing its case not only beyond a reasonable doubt, but to

exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis of innocence.

Beckman v. United States (1938, 5 Cir.), 96 F. 2d 15.

Directing the Court's attention to Count 34, the Con-

spiracy count, again there is nothing in the record to

establish that Oliver J. Farrell joined a conspiracy,

either in the way of direct or circumstantial evidence.

Conjecture and speculation cannot take the place of evi-

dence.

In Ingram v. United States, 360 U. S. 672, 79 S. Ct.

1314, 3 L. Ed. 2d 1503, in setting aside the conviction

the court relied upon and at page 680 quoted the lan-

guage of Direct Sales Co. v. United States, 319 U. S.

703, 63 S. Ct. 1265, 87 L. Ed. 1674, as follows:

''Without knowledge the intent cannot exist.

. . . Furthermore, to establish the intent, the

evidence of knowledge must be clear, not equivocal.

. . . This, because charges of conspiracy are not

to be made out by piling inference upon inference,

thus fashioning ... a dragnet to draw in all

substantive crimes."
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The Direct Sales Co. case, supra, also considered the

effect of holding in United States v. Falcone, 311 U. S.

205, 61 S. Ct. 204, 85 L. Ed. 128, and at page 709

adopted the interpretation

:

"that one does not become a party to a conspir-

acy by aiding and abetting it, through sales of sup-

plies or otherwise, unless he knows of the conspir-

acy; and the inference of such knowledge cannot

be drawn merely from knowledge that the buyer

will use the goods illegally."

Conclusion.

Wherefore, in view of the foregoing, Appellant Oliver

J. Farrell respectfully requests that the Judgment of

viction as to all v32 Counts be reversed, and that the

charges against him be ordered dismissed as to all

counts.

Respectfully submitted,

Gould & Aronson and

Paul Augustine, Jr.,

Attorneys for Appellant

Oliver J. Farrell.
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Certificate.

I certify that, in connection with the preparation of

this brief, I have examined Rules 18 and 19 of the

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit,

and that, in my opinion, the foregoing brief is in full

compliance with those rules.

Paul Augustine, Jr.,

Attorney for Appellant

Oliver J. Farrell.
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No. 18241

IN THE

United States Court of Appeals
FOR THE NINTH CIRCUIT

David Farrell and Oliver J. Farrell,

Appellants,

vs.

United States of America,

Appellee.

APPELLEE'S BRIEF.

I.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT.

The appellants David Farrell and Oliver J. Farrell

were indicted by the Federal Grand Jury for the South-

ern District of California, Central Division, on Decem-

ber 20, 1961/ The indictment contained thirty-four

counts. The first seventeen counts alleged offenses

under Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act of 1933,

15 U. S. C. 77q(a)(l). The following sixteen counts

alleged offenses under the Mail Fraud Statute, 18

U. S. C. 1341. The last count alleged a conspiracy

(18 U. S. C. 371) to violate Section 17(a)(1) of the

^This indictment, No. 30341 -CD, superseded an earlier in-

dictment, No. 29560-CD, returned on March 8. 1961 [C. T. 2,

119]. On March 6, 1962, prior to the commencement of trial

on No. 30341 -CD, the superseded indictment, No. 29560-CD,
was dismissed on the court's own motion [C. T. 113],
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Securities Act and the Mail Fraud Statute [C. T.

119]."

The appellants were arraigned, entered pleas of not

guilty, and following a twenty-seven day trial by jury

they were convicted on all 32 counts that went to the

jury^ [C. T. 505, 509]. A third defendant, Stanley C.

Marks, was acquitted on all 32 counts [C. T. 512A].

The appellant David Farrell was sentenced on the

sixteen securities counts to a cumulative period of five

years imprisonment and fined a total of $64,000. He
was sentenced on the fifteen mail fraud counts to a

cumulative period of five years imprisonment and fined

a total of $15,000, the sentences of imprisonment to

run concurrently with the sentences imposed under the

securities counts. He was also sentenced to five

years imprisonment on the conspiracy count and fined

$7,500, with the prison sentence to run concurrently

with the sentences imposed under the securities counts,

and consecutively with the sentences under the mail

fraud counts. Thus, David Farrell was sentenced to

a total of ten years imprisonment and fined a total

of $86,500 [C. T. 554].

The appellant Oliver J. Farrell was similarly sentenced

to concurrent and consecutive terms of imprisonment

totaling four years and fined a total of $52,000 [C. T.

554].

The sentences imposed by the court, as to both ap-

pellants, were made subject to the provisions of 18

U. S. C. 4208(a)(2), the court fixing the aforemen-

^C. T. refers to Clerk's Transcript of Record.

^Two counts were dismissed by the government during the

course of trial [R. T. 3406].



ra-

tioned maximum periods of imprisonment to be served

by the appellants David Farrell and Oliver J. Farrell

at ten and four years respectively, and specifying that

appellants shall become eligible for parole at such time

as the Board of Parole may determine [C. T. 554].

The jurisdiction of the district court rests on Sec-

tions 20(b) and 22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933,

15 U. S. C 77t(b) and 77v(a), and 18 U. S. C 3231.

This Court has jurisdiction to review the judgments

of the district court pursuant to 28 U. S. C. 1291

and 1294.

II.

STATUTES INVOLVED.

The Indictment was brought under three different

statutes, which provide in pertinent part, as follows:

15 U. S. C. 77q(a)(l), (Sec. 17(a)(1) of the

Securities Act) re: counts one, two, and four through

seventeen, inclusive:^

"(a) It shall be unlawful for any person in the

offer or sale of any securities by the use of any

means or instruments of transportation or com-

munication in interstate commece or by the use of

the mails, directly or indirectly

—

"(1) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice

to defraud . . ."

*The penalty provision relating to Section 77q (a)(1) may
be found in 15 U. S. C. 77y., which provides, in pertinent part
as follows

:

"Any person who willfully violates any of the provisions
of this subchapter, . . . shall upon conviction be fined

not more than $5,000 or imprisoned not more than five

years, or both."



18 U. S. C. 1341 (Mail Fraud Statute) re: counts

eighteen through thirty-two, inclusive

:

''Whoever, having devised or intending to devise

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining

money or property by means of false or fraudulent

pretenses, representations, or promises, . . . for the

purpose of executing such scheme or artifice or at-

tempting so to do, places in any post office or au-

thorized depository for mail matter, any matter or

thing whatever to be sent or delivered by the Post

Office Department, or takes or receives therefrom,

any such matter or thing, or knowingly causes to be

delivered by mail according to the direction thereon,

or at the place at which it is directed to be delivered

by the person to whom it is addressed, any such

matter or thing, shall be fined not more than

$1,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or

both."

18 U. S. C. 371 (conspiracy statute) :

"If two or more persons conspire either to com-

mit any offense against the United States, . . .

and one or more of such persons do any act to ef-

fect the object of the conspiracy, each shall be

fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned not

more than five years, or both. . .
."
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III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.
A. Summary of Indictment.

The indictment is in thirty-four counts. The first,

or "base count," alleges a scheme to defraud in the

sale of securities by Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mort-

gage Exchange under its Secured 10% Earnings Pro-

gram, in violation of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities

Act of 1933 (Securities Act), 15 U. S. C. 77q (a)(1).

The "base count" describes the scheme to defraud in

detail. The scheme is set forth in the Statement of

Facts, infra page 9. The next sixteen counts, each

of which also alleges a separate violation of Section

17(a)(1) of the Securities Act, incorporate by refer-

ence the allegations made in the "base count." These

seventeen counts are the "securities counts."

The following sixteen counts of the indictment, also

by reference to the "base count", incorporate the state-

ment of the scheme to defraud as set forth in the "base

count," except that the instruments through which the

scheme was accomplished are not described as securi-

ties. These are the mail fraud counts, alleged in the

language of the Mail Fraud Statute, 18 U. S. C. 1341.

The thirty-fourth, and last count, alleges a conspiracy

to violate the Securities Act and the Mail Fraud Statute,

in violation of 18 U. S. C. 371. The conspiracy count

also alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations

made in the "base count," as constituting elements of

the conspiracy, and sets forth numerous other overt acts

accomplished in furtherance of the conspiracy.



B. Pre-Trial and Trial Proceedings.

Extensive pre-trial proceedings were conducted, com-

mencing on January 5, 1962, under the guidance of

United States District Judge John F. Kilkenny [C. T.

194]. During these proceedings, appellants were ar-

raigned, entered pleas of not guilty, and presented many

motions to the court, the rulings on which are not

contested on this appeal [C. T. 212; 362; 413].

The government marked for identification and ex-

hibited to appellants some two thousand numbered ex-

hibits prior to the trial, many of which contained

numerous attachments. More than one thousand of

these exhibits were stipulated to as being genuine and

authentic [C. T. 375-410].

On March 6, 1962, the taking of testimony com-

menced before Judge Kilkenny, and continued for

twenty-seven trial days, concluding on April 13, 1962,

with the court's instructions and submission of the case

to the jury [C. T. 418-464]. On April 16, 1962, the

jury returned verdicts of guilty as to both appellants,

on each of the 32 counts submitted to them [C. T. 505-

512D].

On April 20, 1962, counsel for appellant Oliver J.

Farrell filed a motion for judgment of acquittal or, in

the alternative, for new trial [C. T. 542]. Counsel for

appellant David Farrell filed similar motions on April

23, 1962 [C. T. 547]. Numerous supplemental memo-

randa, declarations and statements were filed on behalf

of appellants prior to the date of hearing [C. T. 519-

521; 522-524, 525-526; 527-529; 530-541]. All mo-

tions were opposed in the government's written opposi-

tion [C. T. 550]. On May 14, 1962, following argu-
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ment on the motions, the court denied each of them

[C. T. 553; R. T. 4348-4381].'

On May 14, 1962, Judge Kilkenny sentenced appel-

lants [C. T. 554; R. T. 4382-4397], Both appellants

gave oral notice of appeal at the time of sentencing

[R. T. 4393; 4398], and subsequently filed, in timely

fashion, their written notices of appeal [C, T, 560; 562].

On June 12 and June 18, 1962, appellants David Far-

rell and Oliver J. Farrell, respectively, filed their "Desig-

nation of Contents Of Record On Appeal"* [C. T. 564,

568], which were followed on June 28, 1962, by Appel-

lee's Counter Designation [C. T. 573],

Appellants have filed separate opening briefs on this

appeal. Appellee has consolidated its response in this

Brief.

IV.

INTRODUCTION TO STATEMENT
OF FACTS.

The appellants concede that the evidence submitted

to the jury was sufficient to establish the existence

of a scheme and conspiracy to defraud. Indeed, the

appellant Oliver J. Farrell, with extraordinary candor,

admits that "the government presented an extremely

thorough case, establishing how the Los Angeles Trust

Deed & Mortgage Exchange had engaged in a course

of conduct which violated the Securities Act of 1933

and engaged in Mail Fraud" [Brief, OJF p. 5]. This

^"R. T."—refers to Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings,

^Neither of appellants' designations contained ". . . a

concise statement of the points on which he intends to rely.

. . ." as required by Rule 17(c) of the Rules of the United
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.



appellant then proceeds to cast all blame on David Far-

rell, his brother and co-appellant, noting, for example,

the manner in which "David Farrell made all of the pol-

icy decisions, directed the operations of the company and

caused huge profits to be made by his solely owned

corporations which dealt with LATD&ME." [Brief,

OJFp. 12].

With somewhat less candor, the brief for David Far-

rell admits [Brief, DF pp. 13-14] that ''appellant does

not assert insufficiency of the evidence simply in rec-

ognition of the limited role a reviewing court has in

such a situation . .
."

Neither appellant has attempted to furnish this court

with a summary of the facts as shown by the record.

The reason for this omission is evident. The evidence

of a deliberately planned and long-continued scheme ex-

ecuted by appellants is massive, documented, and un-

contradicted as to any significant element.

The government believes, however, that a statement

of facts will be of assistance to the court in the dis-

position of this appeal. Before setting forth its sum-

mary of the scheme to defraud, the government wishes

to note that the thin and tenuous nature of the minor

assignments of error which appellants have dredged up

from the extensive trial record constitutes a definite,

if unintended, tribute to the firm, dispassionate and

truly judicial manner in which the court below conduct-

ed the trial. In this case, the following observation of

Chief Judge Lumbard in United States v. Aviles, 2d

Cir. 1960, 274 F. 2d 179, 194, seems applicable, "the

trial judge was eminently fair [to appellants] to the

point of being overgenerous."
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V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Scope of Scheme to Defraud.

Appellant David Farrell originated the concept of

the Secured 10% Earnings Program, placing it into

operation in approximately December of 1957, through

the corporate entity LATD&ME [R. T. 115; GX
1645]. Though David Farrell controlled and directed

the basic policy of LATD&ME, and generally "ran

the company" [R. T. 162], appellant Oliver J. Farrell,

as vice-president and sales manager, was directly re-

sponsible for the method, by which the plan was pre-

sented to investors [R. T. 159].

From a modest beginning in December of 1957,

LATD&ME, during its two and one-half year existence

had entrusted to it by some 9,000 investors approx-

imately $40,000,000.^ This enormous growth was en-

gendered by a well organized, highly coordinated sales

organization maintained throughout California f use of

a saturation advertising technique encompassing the

placing into the mails of countless thousands of bro-

chures and other selHng literature [GX 843; 1150;

1401; 1666; 1667; 1668; 1669; 1670; 1672; 1674] as

well as the use of the mass communication media (ra-

dio, TV, newspapers) to sing loud the praises of Se-

'As of March, 1958, LATD&ME had entrusted to it more
than $5,000,000 of investors' funds; by August, 1959, total dollar

volume had grown to more than $20,000.000 ; when the receiver

took over on June 8, 1960, over 9,000 investors had deposited

about $40,000,000 under the Secured 10% Earnings Program
[GX 649; 846; 1152; 1651].

•^See infra—Role of Oliver J. Farrell in the Scheme to De-

fraud.
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cured 10% Earnings [GX 648; 649; 850; 851; 852;

853; 854; 1151; 1152].

The brochures, other selHng Hterature and advertise-

ments so widely circulated, were designed, without ex-

ception, to convey the message that LATD&ME was

a long-established, stable and sound financial institution

of unquestioned standing and integrity in the financial

community, to which all investors, whatever their fi-

nancial status, could entrust their savings with impli-

cit confidence [GX 843; 1150; 1401; 1666; 1667; 1668;

1669; 1670; 1672; 1674]. This sales presentation was

eminently successful, and succeeded in conditioning the

minds of investors, residing throughout the United

States and several foreign countries, to believe that

LATD&ME had developed a new and distinctive plan

which assured safety and liquidity of investment, while

at the same time furnishing earnings of 10% com-

pounded monthly.®

Origin of the Secured 10% Earnings Program.

The appellant David Farrell first started LATD&ME
with some five or six salesmen operating out of a small

office in Los Angeles, California [R. T. 507]. Initial-

ly, its business consisted solely of securing options to

purchase trust deeds from individuals, and then attempt-

ing to sell these trust deeds at a price in excess of

the option price. These, of course, were riskless trans-

actions. If no buyer appeared the option was dropped

[R. T. 503-506.] LATD&ME offered no guaranty of

the quality of any trust deed and made no undertaking

^See infra
—"Method of Presentation of Secured 10% Earnings

Program to Investors."
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to service the trust deed on behalf of the buyer [R. T.

507].

In late 1957 the Secured 10% Earnings Program, as

devised by the "fertile" brain of David Farrell, was

brought into existence. Its beginning, on a modest

scale, was announced through an internal staff bulletin

dated December 10, 1957, stating: "Effective imme-

diately a new program shall be promulgated by the Ex-

change called the 'Secured 10% Earnings Program'

. .
." [R. T. 507; GX 1645]. As described by the

executive assistant to appellant David Farrell, under the

new plan, LATD&ME "purchased trust deeds at dis-

counts from individuals, builders, developers, and sold

them to the public on a Secured 10% Earnings Plan that

included the assignment of the trust deed and note,

and the complete line of services from the processing of

papers to the vault storage of papers, to the collection

and possible repurchase of the trust deed, through to

the recording of payments from trustors, home own-

ers, to the liquidation of trust deeds. In other words,

the customer could rely on the company for all phases

of handling from the purchase to the sale of the trust

deeds." (Emphasis added.) [R. T. 114,; also see R. T.

508-509].

Corporate Organizations Involved.

LATD&ME, a California corporation, 87% of whose

stock was owned by David Farrell was the center and

hub of the Secured 10% Earnings Program.^" David

'"LATD&ME maintained branch or "franchise" offices in San
Francisco, Oakland, San Diego, Santa Barbara. Beverly Hills,

San Fernando Valley. Pasadena and Oranj^e Connty. California

[R. T. 156, 288]. Contrary to a pretentious letterhead, LATD&-
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Farrell was chairman of the board of directors and

president of LATD&ME [R. T. 162]. His brother

OHver J. Farrell was a director, vice-president and secre-

tary-treasurer [R. T. 3111-3112]. Thomas Wolfe, Jr.

was executive assistant to David Farrell [R. T. 113].

Monroe [Frank] Stark was a vice-president and re-

gional manager of the Northern California branch of-

fices [R. T. 510, 682].

About August, 1959, after the SEC civil suit was

underway, LATD&ME "spun-off" its out of state busi-

ness to TD&MM, a wholly owned subsidiary. TD&-
MM was a mere department of LATD&ME. An ef-

fort was made to establish a separate selling organiza-

tion in Colorado under the name Colorado Trust Deed

& Mortgage Exchange (CTD&ME). This soon be-

came a wholly owned subsidiary of LATD&ME [R. T.

171-173; GX 1653; 1633; 1628].

Although LATD&ME was the center and hub of the

Secured 10% Earnings Program,^^ still another organ-

ization was superimposed upon the tier of corporations

engaged in the administration of the Secured 10%
Earnings Program. This was Trust Deed & Mort-

gage Exchange (TD&ME), wholly owned by David

Farrell and his wife [R. T. 151-152]. TD&ME had

no employees, performed no useful services, contributed

nothing of value to the Secured 10% Earnings Pro-

gram, but as ''national coordinator" of the Secured

ME did not maintain offices in all "principal cities" [of the

United States] [GX 1651].

^^AU the accounting records for all the offices were kept in

lyos Angeles, and confirmations mailed to customers, trust deed
notes, trust deeds, etc., newspaper advertising, brochures and
letters, likewise all originated in Los Angeles [R. T. 158, 206,

211; 512-513].
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10% Earnings Program received 10% of the gross

profits from LATD&ME's business with investors

[R. T. 151-152]. Through TD&ME between July, 1957,

and March, 1960, David Farrell channeled $542,960 of

funds received from investors into his own bank ac-

counts and individual enterprises [GX 7807; 7809; R.

T. 2613-2616].

During about the same period of time (March,

1958-June, 1960), LATD&ME disbursed to Prestige,

Inc., a corporation wholly owned by David Farrell [R.

T. 167-168], $599,978 ostensibly for advertising ex-

penses [GX 7805; R. T. 2611-2612].

In addition David FarrelP^ withdrew through Mort-

gage Insurance Corporation of America (MICA), a

Colorado corporation, $293,000.'' MICA's only other

customer was Colorado Trust Deed & Mortgage Ex-

change, also owned by David Farrell and his wife.

Though David Farrell claimed MICA was formed to

protect LATD&ME investors, MICA had no assets,

liabilities, or dealings of any kind except as indicated

above [R. T. 4180-4184 also see R. T. 311-321].

Appellant David Farrell also received $239,000 from

LATD&ME as his salary from January, 1958, to

June of 1960 [GX 7802; R. T. 2609]. The appellant

Oliver J. Farrell received as salary during the same

period $251,629 [R. T. 2608-2609; GX 7801].

^^David Farrell and his wife owned all of MICA's capital

stock [R. T. 4179].

^^$100,000 "as an inducement" to have MICA insure trust

deeds of LATD&ME in California, and $193,000 to MICA al-

legedly for the insurance [R. T. 4180, 4181].
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Description of Secured 10% Earnings Program.

The Secured 10% Earnings Program, as devised and

refined by appellants, was based on the concept of ac-

quiring for the inventory of LATD&ME discounted

second trust deed or mortgage notes and selling them to

investors at prices which it was represented would allow

secured earnings of 10% per annum, compounded

monthly, based on the stated interest rate of the obliga-

tion, and the "anticipated term" of the note [R. T.

716-717; GX 2136; 2137; 2138]. Many of the obliga-

tions were without fixed maturities, but merely es-

tablished the principal sum due, and the amount to be

paid monthly until the indebtedness was satisfied. These

were known as "until paid notes." Another classifica-

tion of trust deeds carried definite maturities but with

such small monthly installments that heavy terminal or

"balloon" installments became due at maturity. Others

were "interest only" obligations with the entire principal

amount due at maturity. Still others were conventional

notes, carrying specified interest rates to be amortized

over stated periods of time [GX 1901-1932].

While it was represented to investors that the trust

deeds were sold to them at prices calculated to "yield"

or "earn" 10%, in fact, in most but not all instances,

the formula used by LATD&ME in computing the

price at which a trust deed was to be introduced into

an investor's account resulted in a substantial over-

charge [R. T. 797]. As LATD&ME's "director of

trust deed selection" testified, "the longer the period of

the note, the greater the overcharge to [the investor]

. .
." [R. T. 712, 808]. By this he meant that under

the formula used by LATD&ME the yield to the in-
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vestor would be less than the represented 10% ".
. .

Sometimes quite a bit less." [R. T. 797-798]. Thus

on a ten year $10,000 note, an investor was overcharged

$666, while on a $10,000 "until paid" note, the over-

charge was $587 [R. T. 802]. Therefore, from the

very inception of his account, the investor was mis-

led as to the basis of the price at which the trust

deed was confirmed into his account, and as to the

fact that the trust deed itself would really "yield" 10%.

"Earnings" on Uninvested Funds Entrusted to

LATD&ME—Estimated Liquidation Statements.

The investors under the Secured 10% Earnings Pro-

gram fell within two classifications. The first were

those known as "income investors," who wished to re-

ceive a monthly earnings check representing the mathe-

matical computation of 1/12 of 10% per year, or a

lesser fixed amount. The second, and more numerous,

were "growth investors," who wished to allow their

"earnings" to accumulate for "continuous re-investment"

[R. T. 114, 115]. At all times, LATD&ME represented

that any new account started, or additional deposit made

by the twentieth of the month "earned" a "secured" 10%
from the first of the month [GX 846].

Each investor received monthly a "Condensed Sum-

mary" of his account, referred to as a "liquidation

statement" which purported to show the status of the

account at month's end.^'' [GX 1223; 1270; Appendix

D]. This statement was designed to show the amount

"The last column of this statement was originally entitled "Es-

timated Liquidation Value of All Assets in Your Account." Sub-

sequently, the title was changed to read "Estimated Liquidation

Value of All Your Assets in Our Possession."
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of money the investor would receive if he decided to

withdraw his funds from LATD&ME [R. T. 814-815,

821-822; GX 1223]. As to an investor who was actu-

ally receiving monthly "earnings" checks, the summary

"cash-out" statement^^ merely indicated that his original

investment remained intact. The investor, however, was

never advised that any uninvested funds in his account

were debited each month by an amount equal to 1/1 2th

of 10% of his deposit as a "miscellaneous charge"

against the account, thereby reducing, on the internal

investors ledger, the investors credit balance and the cor-

responding liabiHty of LATD&ME [GX 1100; 1115;

Appendix B]. The "cash-out" statement sent to each

"growth investor" in essence was merely a projection of

the anticipated accumulation of "earnings" for the funds

deposited, computed arithmetically with a 10% interest

increment each month. This estimated projection bore

no resemblance to the actual increment or "earnings"

from any trust deeds that might have been introduced

into the account [R. T. 814, 817]. For example, an in-

vestor who deposited $1,000 with LATD&ME on Janu-

ary 20, would receive at month-end a condensed sum-

mary showing that his account had grown to $1,008.33,

and by the second month-end to $1,016.73, and by year-

end to $1,104.71. The condensed summary translated

into specific terms, for each investor, the growth tables

set forth in LATD&ME's brochures [GX 842, 843, 844,

1668, 1670; 1674; Appendices C and D].

^^All investors were conditioned to regard the "liquidation

vahie" as the immediate cash value of their accounts which they

could realize at any time [R. T. 614; 821-822; GX 1403]. That

such was actually believed by LATD&ME's customers, see infra

"Presentation of Secured 10% Earnings Program to Investors."
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The "liquidation" statement was sent to each investor

regardless of whether his account had ever been invested

in a trust deed, and regardless of whether the account

contained nothing except delinquent or defaulted trust

deeds [R. T. 903-904]. The 'liquidation values" shown

on the condensed summaries were intended for investors

alone. They were designed to assure investors that

through LATD&ME's investment plan their savings at

all times were accumulating at a safe and steady rate

of 10% compounded monthly, or, if the investor was

receiving his 10% "earnings" each month, his full

principal investment was remaining untouched.

There was no correlation whatever between the actual

liquidation valu£ of the account and the amount shown

on the monthly summary, or between the monthly state-

ment sent to investors and the true internal records

maintained by LATD&ME reflecting the status of in-

vestors' accounts [R. T, 814]. These would be recon-

ciled by arbitrary entries made at the time the investor

closed his account [R. T. 814-815]. In addition, these

"liquidation values" were not reflected in LATD&ME's
general ledger [R. T. 2379].

LATD&ME commenced to disburse monthly "earn-

ings" checks to investors who had "income accounts"

prior to the time any trust deeds were confirmed

to their accounts by LATD&ME [R. T. 1056; 1989].

When such investors withdrew their investments, be-

fore trust deeds had been held in their accounts six

months or more, LATD&ME deducted the aggregate

of the monthly earning checks from the amount of the

principal investment, or on "growth accounts" merely

returned the principal so that the investor received no
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''earnings" whatever [R. T. 486-494; 2200; 3291-3298;

3382]. The deceptive and misleading manner in which

LATD&ME accomphshed this maneuver is best illus-

trated by the fact that an attorney, called as a witness

by appellants to testify as to his satisfaction with his

investment with LATD&ME, admitted that he had not

realized, until the moment of his cross-examination, that

he had received from LATD&ME only his principal,

without any "earnings" thereon [R. T. 3287, 3291-

3298].

The appellants' entire lack of good faith in sending

the liquidation statements to investors is shown by

David Farrell's instructions to the company's "independ-

ent" accountant to disregard the "estimated liquidation

statement" as meaningless [R. T. 2380], while, at the

same time, LATD&ME was mailing notices to all in-

vestors advising them that their taxable income on

"earnings" from their accounts should be calculated by

adding up the accruals shown on the twelve monthly

summaries which they had received [GX 1403]. Thus,

investors were deceived as to the status of their ac-

counts with LATD&ME, while being counselled to re-

gard as taxable income the fictitious accruals shown in

the "Hquidation statements."

Liquidation of Investors' Accounts and Overstate-

ment of Inventory Account.

When an investor liquidated his account under the

Secured 10% Earnings Program, the trust deed[s]

in the investor's account would be valued arbitrarily in

order to bring the internal ledger account balance into

agreement with the liquidation statement balance [R. T.

815]. For example, if an investor deposited $1,000 and

LATD&ME sold him a trust deed for $1,400, a debit
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balance of $400 was created in the investor's ledger ac-

count. If at the time he closed his account, his

liquidation statement or condensed monthly summary

showed a credit of $1,100, LATD&ME would repur-

chase the trust deed for its inventory account at a

figure of $1,500 so that the credit balance in his ledger

account would be $1,100, or the same as shown in the

liquidation statement. This was true regardless of

the fact that the original cost to LATD&ME of the

trust deed may have been only $800. LATD&ME would

then send a check for $1,100 to the investor [R. T.

816]. The effect of the repurchase of the trust deed

at $1,500 for inventory would be to overstate inventory

by $700, since the repurchase price was even in excess

of the retail selling price [R. T. 816-817]. There were

numerous instances where trust deeds were taken back

into inventory above the face value [R, T. 817].

In other instances, where a liquidation request was

received from an investor who had delinquent trust

deeds in his account, notwithstanding the delinquency,

the investor would be paid the full ^'liquidation value"

of the account, as shown on the liquidation statement,

including 10% "earnings" compounded monthly. Of

course, this situation could exist only as long as

LATD&ME had more money coming in than going out.

Obviously, LATD&ME would have to write off the dif-

ference between the true value of the delinquent trust

deeds brought back into inventory and the "liquidation

value" of the account [R. T. 915-916]. This was,

quite simply, a scheme under which investors who liqui-

dated their accounts were satisfied at the expense of

newer investors who continued to pour their savings

into LATD&ME.
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Misuse of Trust Funds.

LATD&ME represented at least through January of

1959 that investor funds were ".
. . deposited in a

separate trust account for customers' money . .
."

[GX 842, 1666; R. T. 602-603; 1422; 2187-2188].

The facts were, from the inception of the Secured 10%
Earnings Program in December of 1957 funds received

by LATD&ME were deposited in general corporate ac-

counts and indiscriminately used as dictated by David

Farrell. The funds allegedly in "trust accounts" were

used, for example, in carrying debit balances in the

accounts of "growth" investors and financing David

Farrell's numerous speculations in real estate subdi-

visions [GX 842; 1056-1065; 1068; 1072; 1073; R. T.

2353-2361; Appendix A].

Lag in Introducing Trust Deeds Into

Investors' Accounts.

LATD&ME committed itself to credit the account

of each investor monthly or at his option to send him

an amount equal to 1/12 of 10% of the amount de-

posited. This commitment existed regardless of the

fact that experience had shown the supply of trust

deeds available for introduction into the accounts of in-

vestors often lagged behind the accumulation of new

deposits by investors for whom no trust deeds were

available. This delay in introducing trust deeds into

investors' accounts became an ever increasing problem

as millions of dollars in new deposits were received

from investors [R. T. 616-617]. The continuing need

to find new trust deeds forced LATD&ME to lower

its already inferior investment standards. Accordingly,

more and more trust deeds were "secured" by raw un-

improved land [R. T. 652].
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Substantial amounts of investors' funds remained un-

invested even after the completion of "crash programs"

designed to improve LATD&ME's balance sheet posi-

tion. During these "crash programs," trust deeds by

the thousands, including delinquent trust deed obliga-

tions, were introduced into the accounts of investors

in order to create ostensible profits to LATD&ME be-

fore presentation to the public of financial statements

intended to create an appearance of solvency and stabil-

ity [R. T. 880-882, 900-903; 2366-2369, 2397; GX
2127].

Method of Manufacturing Trust Deeds for

Investors' Accounts.

At the inception of the Secured 10% Earnings Pro-

gram, at least some of the trust deeds acquired by

LATD&ME and introduced into the accounts of in-

vestors were secured by finished lots within an approved

real estate subdivision, and in some instances by owner

occupied homes. However, as investors throughout the

nation and abroad deposited their savings with LATD&-
ME in ever increasing amounts, ^^ it became necessary

for LATD&ME to arrange for the creation of more

and more trust deeds in order to absorb investors' cred-

it balances,^^ and to maintain the fiction that investors'

^^Investors poured well over a million dollars a month into
LATD&ME from late 1958. Over $3,000,000 a month was de-
posited v/ith LATD&ME during the first five months of 1960
with some $5,266,000 taken in in the month of January alone
[GX 846].

I'^For example, even at 10% simple interest, one million dollars

of uninvested funds cost LATD&ME $100,000 per year. The
seriousness of the firm's financial plight is realized when it is seen
that the amount of uninvested credit balances as of October 30
1958, was $1,216,351 ; as of June 1, 1959, was $2,468,714; and as
of September 25, 1959, was $2,103,426 [R. T. 883; GX 1068;
1072; 1073].
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accounts were continuously reinvested to yield a firm,

full 10% compounded monthly [R. T. 238, 652, 653].

Appellants met their problem^*^ by turning LATD&
ME into a medium through which many thousands of

trust deeds were created or manufactured against units

of raw land situated within projected subdivisions in

which David Farrell received ''participations" through

joint venture agreements or similar arrangements/®

These trust deeds were created, brought into inven-

tory by LATD&ME, and introduced into the accounts

of investors in a wide variety of the most speculative

situations"" [R. T. 386; 713-715; 1739-1740; 2084-

2085,2127-2129].

The trust deeds created against the subdivisions and

projected subdivisions"^ carried subordination clauses

[GX 1901-1932] under which the trust deeds were

to be subordinated to first trust deeds of indeterminable

amounts to accommodate the cost of construction of the

structure to be erected, and in some instances to cover

at least a portion of the cost of "manufacturing" or

"finishing" the lots."" While in form the trust deeds

^'^As Oliver J. Farrell wrote in a memo to Frank Stark, May
27, 1959, ".

. . we have an ever-increasing problem in getting our

customers invested with acceptable Trust Deeds . .
." Farrell then

commented on LATD&ME's "severe shortage of suitable small

trust deeds to assign to customers" [GX 1634; R. T. 248; 250;

also R. T. 616-617; GX 1603; 1621; 1632].

i^See Appendix A, column entitled "PARTICIPATIONS BY
DAVID FARRELL."

2*^See Appendix A, and infra "Method of Presentation of Se-

cured 10% Earnings Program to Investors."

2^Appendix A.

22A "manufactured" or "finished" lot is defined as a lot within

an approved subdivision where all necessary improvements such

as grading, installation of streets, curbing, sewers, and gutters

have been completed [R. T. 2093-2095].



—23—

so acquired by LATD&ME and introduced into the ac-

counts of its investors were first trust deeds, they

were in reaHty no better than second trust deeds. In

some instances they occupied a status even junior to a

conventional second trust deed as it was contemplated

or a fact that improvement bonds would be created

against the subdivision [R. T. 1619, 1622, 1624, 1658;

GX 33]. In other situations the trust deeds brought

into inventory by LATD&ME were subject to blanket

first liens which did not include clauses under which

the lien might be removed on a pro tanto basis as to

individual lots [R. T. 1208-1209].

The funds entrusted to LATD&ME by investors

were used in establishing the proposed subdivisions,

acquiring the land to be subdivided, and carrying out

any engineering and related work that was accomplished

in manufacturing and finishing the lots within the sub-

division.^^ Typically in these situations the subdivider

or builder had no equity in the land which was to be

subdivided [see, e.g., R. T. 1266, 1271, 1278, 1299;

1635; 2102-2103], and entered into arrangements with

LATD&ME as a last resort after finding it impossible

to obtain financing through banks, savings and loan

associations, or other conventional lending institutions

[R. T. 1321; 1620-1621; 2100].

The basic formula for the creation of trust deeds

was simple. David Farrell instructed subdividers that

before LATD&ME would commit funds to any project,

trust deeds and notes must be created against the prop-

erty in generally the following way: The subdivider

^^Appendix A.
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had to have under his control at least two "straw"

corporations. These ordinarily were either newly organ-

ized or in some cases they were already owned by the

subdivider. The subdivider would then acquire from

the owner of the property an option to purchase raw

acreage at a stated price. An escrow would be opened

to arrange for the sale of this land to ''X" corporation,

one of the subdivider's controlled or ''straw" corpora-

tions. "X" corporation simultaneously entered into an

arrangement to sell the land at a greatly inflated price

to "Y" corporation, a second "straw" corporation. The

purchase price was not to be paid in cash, but by the

execution of individual trust deed obligations which in

aggregate face amount, greatly exceeded the total pur-

chase price of the entire tract; "Y" corporation being

the "trustor" and "X" corporation the "beneficiary" on

these instruments. Contemporaneously with the ar-

rangement between corporations "X" and "Y", a con-

tract was executed under which LATD&ME agreed to

"purchase" the trust deeds from "X". The "pur-

chase", although effectuated at a stated discount, was

for a total amount which was to (1) cover the subdi-

vider's full cost of the entire acreage to be acquired;

(2) provide funds for "servicing" of interest and of

principal amortization, as required by the trust deeds

for certain periods of time; and (3) purportedly fi-

nance "off-site" improvements necessary to "manufac-

ture" lots within the proposed subdivision. Under a

typical arrangement LATD&ME would deposit certain

monies into the escrow, ostensibly as its purchase price

for the trust deeds from "X", where in reality such

monies were paid through escrow to the original land-

owner for the land. Thereafter, the trust deeds would
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be assigned to LATD&ME and introduced into the ac-

counts of investors under the Secured 10% Earnings

Program at face value or at a discount calculated to

bring ''10% earnings" to investors [R. T. 1253-1279,

1299, 1302-1320; 1623-1626, 1635-1648; 2086-2101,

2102-2109, 2126-2136; also see Appendix A].

Contemporaneously with the agreement under which

LATD&ME was committed to take the trust deeds,

David Farrell would exact from the subdivider an

agreement under which he was to receive a "participa-

tion" of not less than one-third and ordinarily one-half

of the total profits that might be reaHzed from the

subdivision. These "participation" agreements were en-

tered into by David Farrell in the names of a number

of corporations which he owned,^'* a fact not disclosed

to investors. In addition to these undisclosed "par-

ticipations," in a typical situation, not all of the tract

of land being acquired by the subdivider was encum-

bered by trust deeds. The more desirable and valuable

tentative lots or sites were left free and clear, and

David Farrell and the subdivider thereby obtained clear

title to those reserved areas [GX 401; as e.g. R. T.

1626, 1641-1642, 1704; 2085, 2113-2114]. The en-

tire cost was borne, of course, by LATD&ME's in-

vestors.

For their contribution, investors did not even receive

trust deeds constituting valid liens against identifiable

lots within an approved subdivision, as the trust deeds

were created against mere tentative subdivision maps

^^These "straw" corporations included Louvan Corporation
[GX 212(a) ; 214], Prestige. Inc. [GX 28], Lincoln Mining Cor-
poration [GX 400; 401], Harris & Steele Builders, Inc. [GX 64,

96] ; Lantana [GX 199(a)] ; Western Chemical Corp. [GX 250].
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[e.g. GX 208, 234, 245]. In other situations, trust

deeds were created against grid or area maps rather

than "tentative subdivision maps." In those instances

there was and could be no correspondence whatever be-

tween any future subdivision and the contiguous units

of land against which the trust deeds were manu-

factured, as not even any tentative provision was made

for streets, alleys or other necessary easements. The

separate units were totally locked-in [GX 39; 153;

R. T. 1693-1694; 2093-2095 ]
.'' The testimony of

David Farrell^^ illumines his concern for the welfare of

^^Exclusive of trust deeds created against mere tentative maps,
LATD&ME created trust deeds and notes against grid patterns

totaling at least $1,715,170 in face value. Illustrative of such trust

deeds were those created against Cimaron Meadows ($630,768),
Scott-Highlands ($320,000), Johnson Ranch ($295,830), and
Reedlands No. 5 ($468,572). An example of a "grid" or area

map (Scott-Highlands) is shown in Appendix E.

2^Q. And you knew there was no access, no roads, no sewer-

age, no provision for utilities in the map, against which you
created these trust deeds? You knew that, Mr. Farrell, didn't

you? A. I understood there was access.
^ ^ ^

Q. Aside from use of an airplane, Mr. Farrell, and parachut-

ing down, what access does the individual have who has a trust

deed against this lot marked X?

A. Mr. Tom Schaal told me that the individual who purchased

or acquired a piece of land as part of a number of pieces which
were similarly sold to separate owners, had what is known as an
easement of necessity over the other land, and that he could not

be deprived of getting to these parcels.
* * *

Q. What did you imagine was going to happen, Mr. Farrell,

if Mr. Y didn't want to allow Mr. X to come across his land, what
did you think Mr. X was going to have to do to get some access

to his particular parcel, Mr. Farrell, at the time you created these

trust deeds?
* * *

A. I didn't consider that element.

Q. And you never advised the investors about it, did you, Mr.
Farrell? A. Not that I know of.

* * *

[R. T. 4161-4162].
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investors who received trust deeds covering such locked-

in units of land.

An example of the manufacturing of trust deeds in

accordance with David Farrell's dictates is shown by

the circumstances under which 1,451 trust deeds and

notes with an aggregate face value of $1,958,850 were

created against a tract of land called Capitol Park Es-

tates, and then introduced into the accounts of LATD&
ME investors [GX 208(a); 2127; Appendix A].

William Bennett, a subdivider and builder, had se-

cured an option to buy a 400-acre tract called Capitol

Park Estates for a total purchase price of $1,200,000

[R. T. 1321-1323]. Bennett, unable to obtain suitable

financing from conventional lending institutions, made

an agreement with David Farrell to "manufacture"

trust deeds against 355 acres of the tract in return for

David Farrell's commitment of LATD&ME funds for

the purchase of the land'' [R. T. 1321, 1325-1326].

Pursuant to David Farrell's directions, Bennett, using

a "straw" corporation, Daly-Ben Properties, Inc. (Daly-

Ben), purchased the property through escrow from the

original owner. In the same escrow Bennett sold the

property on paper to another Bennett controlled cor-

poration, Ben-Jay Properties, Inc. (Ben-Jay). Con-

temporaneously Bennett divided 355 acres of the 400-

acre tract into 1,451 residential units and created 1,-

451 identical trust deeds, each having a face value of

$1,350, with Ben-Jay as trustor and Daly-Ben as the

beneficiary [R. T. 1329-1332], The trust deeds were

^^Prior to David Farrell's advancing- any LATD&ME funds he
extracted a joint venture aijreement from William Bennett, pro-
viding each with a 50% interest in the entire 400 acres [R T
1339-1342 ; 1339-1342 ; GX 212a ; 213 ; 214]

.
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dated January 15, 1960, payable one percent per month

including interest and matured five years from date

[GX 1920; Appendix F]. Daly-Ben thus received bene-

ficial interest in the notes and deeds of trust as "pay-

ment" for the property. The trust deeds were created

against a tentative subdivision map of the 400 acres, 45

acres of which remained unencumbered [GX 208]. Daly-

Ben then assigned the trust deeds to LATD&ME at a

discount of 20% or $1,080 each, or for the aggregate

of $1,567,000 with LATD&ME withholding $367,080

from its "purchase price" ($200,000 to be applied in

servicing the monthly installments of principal and in-

terest and $167,080 to be applied to off-site improve-

ments) [GX 208(a) ; R. T. 1334-1335]. Such moneys

withheld were set up in accounts designated on LATD&
ME's books as "202" accounts. LATD&ME then

caused $1,200,000 to be transmitted through escrow

to the owners of the property [GX 216; R. T. 1332].

The 1,451 individual trust deeds and notes, each

with face value of $1,350, were then placed into the

accounts of investors [GX 2127]. This, despite David

Farrell's knowledge that his own appraiser had valued

the land secured by each individual trust deed at only

$666 at the time the trust deeds were created [DF AY].

At this time not even an approved subdivision map

had been filed. Estimates indicated some $2,539,000

would be required to finish or manufacture the lots

[R. T. 1326]. LATD&ME "withheld" only $167,000

for that purpose [R. T. 1334-1335]. As of June 7,

1960, the entire $167,080 withheld by LATD&ME for

"off-site improvements" had been disbursed [GX
214(a)]. However, up to that time nothing had been
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accomplished towards creating the subdivision and

manufacturing the lots except some minor engineer-

ing work [R. T. 1348]. Notwithstanding the gross in-

adequacy of the money "withheld" for improvements,

David Farrell and William S. Bennett misappropriated

at least $123,280 of the $167,000 allegedly "withheld"

for improvements in the following manner: (1) the

sum of $103,071 was disbursed from the "202" ac-

count to liquidate a mortgage on 13 lots in Westgate

Park, California, which were owned by Farrell and

Bennett [GX 214(a); R. T. 1348-1349], and $20,209

was disbursed from the "202" account to liquidate a

mortgage on certain land in Sunnyvale, California,

owned by Ben-Jay. Farrell and Bennett at that time

each owned 50% of Ben-Jay [GX 214(a) and (b)

;

R. T. 1350].^'

Screening and Appraisals of Trust Deeds.

What LATD&ME Said:

Investors were led to believe that LATD&ME
brought into inventory, under the Secured 10% Earn-

ings Program, only "seasoned", "prime", and "trouble-

free" trust deeds, and that all trust deeds sold to them

had been carefully screened and appraised by real estate

specialists and expert appraisers. Investors were also

led to believe that all such trust deeds were secured by

2^As shown by Appendix A, similar misappropriations of funds
totaling $207,CX)0 occurred in connection with trust deeds created
against Suisun and Pierce Gardens [GX 197; 197(a), 197(b);
R. T. 1223-1227] ; and the sum of $88,094 misappropriated from
the "202" account established in connection with the creation of

trust deeds on College Center [GX 205(a); 206; 219; R. T.
1313]. David Farrell and William S. Bennett were joint ven-
turers in these situations [GX 197].
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substantial underlying homeowners' equities. For ex-

ample, the white brochure [GX 1666], described

LATD&ME's method of selecting trust deeds in the

following terms

:

"BECAUSE WE ARE THE OLDEST AND
LARGEST institution of this type in America,

all types of notes secured by trust deeds are of-

fered to us in tremendous volume. These notes all

go over a 'screening desk'. The very best of these

notes are then carefully processed to determine the

value of the property. . .
."

The description continues

:

".
. . You will note that we do not act as your

agent but as principal, first purchasing these notes

with our own funds after careful screening and

investigation. You can thus be sure that we in-

vestigate thoroughly."

The later brochures [e.g. GX 843; 1667] contained

a substantially identical description of the quality of the

trust deeds offered to the investors, together with the

following information under the heading "STAND-
ARDS and POLICIES. . . ."

".
. . YOUR SECURITY . . . THE

AMERICAN HOME . . . BEST IN THE
WORLD"
"Regardless of position, each trust deed purchased

by the company for subsequent resale to any cus-

tomer is carefully screened, the property appraised,

and the following standards observed

:

• A first trust deed cannot normally exceed 80%
of what our appraisers determine to be the fair

resale value of the property.
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• A second trust deed must (except in unusual

cases) be subordinate only to a 'conventional'

bank, savings and loan, or insurance company

first trust deed, . . . and the total of the

two liens, both first and second, cannot under

most circumstances exceed 85% of the resale

value of the property as determined by our ap-

praisers.

})

Further, in the January, 1959 issue of "Trust Deed

Topics", a monthly publication circulated by

LATD&ME [GX 846], the following statement is

made with reference to "typical" raw land developments

involving trust deeds purchased by LATD&ME:
".

. . Before Trust Deed and Mortgage Ex-

change makes such an investment, our appraisers

must know the neighborhood involved, its probable

future and be certain that property values in the

area are sufficient to warrant the investment."

What LATD&ME Did:

Thomas Graham was called by appellants as their

real estate appraiser [R. T. 3619]. He testified that

his appraisals on improved land generally would be ac-

complished at the rate of "four houses a day," whereas

unimproved "tracts," would be at the rate of one or

two per day ".
. . depending on the location and

how difficult it was to find comparables" [R. T. 3625].

In most cases his tract appraisals were at a valuation

"subject to improvement" [R. T. 3649], and his in-

structions from LATD&ME were that ".
. . they

wanted it per lot value when improved or an acreage

value." [R. T. 3650].
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Graham testified that ''comparable sales, "^^ are help-

ful because "That helps to establish the market value.

It is one point toward establishing the value of the

property that you are appraising." [R. T. 3650]. He

further agreed that an ".
. . actual recent sale on

that particular piece of property" would certainly be

very helpful in arriving at an accurate fair market

figure, and would necessarily have to be taken into

consideration; but he would have to first check such a

sale out to determine if the property was sold under

the market value if distressed, or over the market, be-

cause of favorable terms or the existence of a sub-

ordination clause [R. T. 3651].

Despite the importance of these criteria, when cross-

examined about several raw land subdivisions which he

appraised, and which were the security for trust deeds

''purchased" by LATD&ME, he had neither investi-

gated nor had he been told by David Farrell (or any-

one else) of then pending escrows through which the

developer was purchasing the tracts or the actual pur-

chase price.^°

The promotional nature of these appraisals, and the

fact that these were not meant to show actual value of

the tract in its then existing condition, but only what

^^I.e. ".
. . Sales in the same or similar areas that have actually

been made that I consider comparable in value to this particular

parcel" [R. T. 3650].

^"See examples: R. T. 3657-3659 re: Bell Canyon Ranchos

;

R. T. 3667-3668 re: Palm Springs Alpine Village. Nor do

DF-AI, M. E. Manseau's appraisal on Tract 24153, Pacoima,

California; DF-AW, Graham's appraisal of Tract No. 3429,

Huntington Beach, California; or DF-AY, Carpenter's appraisal

of Capitol Park Estates, Sacramento, California, etc., indicate

that such criteria were known or considered by the LATD&ME
employed appraisers.
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it might be worth if and when the subdivision was

created and the lots finished, is apparent from their

contents. It is also apparent that even the inflated

promotional values were in some instances far below

the aggregate face value of the trust deeds that were

created against the "tentative lots" within the tract.

That investors did not receive their "margin of se-

curity," as represented in all of the brochures, is ob-

vious. The following are examples of such situations.

(1) Exhibit DF-AY—Walker W. Carpenter's'' ap-

praisal of February 2, 1960: "1451 R. 1 Lots 400

acres, . . . Capitol Park Estate, Sacramento (Coun-

ty), California."

The appraisal indicated the following information:

".
. . An active sales campaign would be re-

quired to dispose of the lots . . . subject is

undesirable because of the approach from the city

. . . Improvement costs will run high for sub-

ject lots because of the high water table. . . ."

and, that realtors valued the lots "when completed, at

$3,000 each." The appraiser's conclusions, as to valua-

tion per "tentative lot" were:

"Raw land ($3,000 per acre) $ 666.00

Est. Improvement cost 1750.00

$2416.00

Contingencies and Profit 603.00

Total $3,019.00

Based on the analysis of the above, it is my
opinion that Fair Market Value of Subjec t Lots,

when improved will be . . . $3000 per lot."

^^Walker W. Carpenter was one of Graham's "trainee" ap-
praisers [R. T. 3677].
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With this appraisal already completed, on February

10, 1960, LATD&ME brought into inventory 1451

trust deeds, each having a face value of $1350.00, or

an aggregate face value of $1,958,850 there being no

improvements nor subdivision map of record at the time

[GX 208; 208(a)]. Each trust deed was '^secur-

ity" for a "lot," then appraised at a value of only

$666.00; an overvaluation on each trust deed of

$684.00 over their own appraisal.

(2) Exhibit DF-AZ, Weeks' extensive appraisal of

'Tracts 1078, 1079, and 1274,"'^ dated September 1,

1959 contained the following information:

".
. . the market value of these properties

as of 9-1-59 is as follows:

Tract 1078 $1,174,600

Tract 1079 197,250

Tract 1274 63,550

Total $1,435,400"

Weeks rounded that figure to "$1,435,000", and

stated that his conclusions were predicated upon certain

"limiting conditions," which included the following:

".
. . 6. That the proposed land improve-

ments affecting Tract 1078 will be installed:

".
. . land improvements consisting of:

1. Street paving,

2. Gas, water and electric services available

to each lot.

3. A permanent storm drain along Lot F
and C, be installed and all costs be paid by

the developer."

^-This is the "Villa Nipomo" tract located in the Saugus-

Newhall, California, area [R. T. 3678-3680].
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Weeks included a series of photographs at the end

of his appraisal, including picture ''no. 6," which

showed ".
. . the present condition of wash in North

part of Tract 1078"''

Despite this appraisal information, LATD&ME
"purchased" 2139 trust deeds, created via the ''straw"

corporation, "purchase money" method, on portions of

tracts 1078, 1079 and 1274. These trust deeds had an

aggregate face value of $1,982,075 [GX 94 and 99],

despite the fact that all of 1078, 1079, 1274 and 1801

had simultaneously been purchased by Villa Nipomo,

Inc. from Los Angeles Home Company for a total pur-

chase price of $810,000, the exact value the stockhold-

ers of the seller placed on the entire tract [R. T. 2035,

2038-2039, 2041, 2077].

Examples of how grossly these 2139 trust deeds were

over-valued, may be seen with the following compari-

sons to their own appraisal [DF-AY]. A total

of 16 trust deeds were created against Lot 9, Block

205, Tract 1078, each having a face value of $1400

and each being confirmed to an investor's account

(including that of witness Eppley). The aggregate

face value of the 16 trust deeds, $22,400, is fan-

tastically higher than was Weeks' ''if and when"

^^See Robert Rosskopf s testimony, he being the attorney for
Los Angeles Home Company, the original seller of the tract to

Villa Nipomo, Inc., for his description of the property [R. T.
2040-2041, 2045, 2047].

Curiously, when LATD&ME's Graham appraised Tract 1078,
he did not even know there was a wash problem although he
testified that he considered "... the probability of being able

to dispose of it for industrial sites. That is what they proposed,
I believe, to make an industrial subdivision of it. And I ques-
tioned whether or not they would be able to put it over on any
reasonable basis, because I thought there was too much of it

for an industrial district" [R. T. 3679-3681].



—36—

appraisal of $6,000 for the entire lot [GX 10076] f
which amounts to approximately $428.60 "security" for

each $1400 trust deed.

(3) Exhibit DF-AH, Graham's appraisal of Bell

Canyon Ranchos, in conjunction with his testimony re-

veals the following information

:

Both appraisal and testimony indicated that there

would be development problems with this property, be-

cause of steep hills, necessity of "building pads," and

water problems [R. T. 3664].

Graham spent only "a couple of hours" on this ap-

praisal, and no one, including David Farrell, told him

that the tract was in escrow at that time at a sales

price of $3421 per acre. Nor did he investigate to

determine such information prior to appraising the en-

tire 176 acres at $7,000 per acre [R. T. 3658-3662].

Graham testified that it would cost about $2200 per

acre to develop this tract, and that approximately three

lots could be developed per acre [R. T. 3664-3665].

Despite this information, LATD&ME brought into

inventory 302 trust deeds created against only 86 of

the 176 acres [R. T. 4213], each having a face value

of $4,000, or an aggregate of $1,208,000 [GX 245;

246]. According to Graham's analysis, with three lots

per acre, and the acre valuation being $7000, each lot

would have an appraised "fair market value" of only

^*To the same effect see for example GX 10063, indicating

16 trust deeds and notes with an aggregate face value of $22,400

encumbering a lot appraised by LATD&ME's own appraiser

at $6,000; GX 10064 indicating 8 trust deeds and notes with an

aggregate face value of $11,200 encumbering a lot appraised by

LATD&ME's own appraiser at $3,000.
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$2,333.'' Comparing this value with the $4000 trust

deeds against each of such lots, there was an aggregate

appraised value of $704,566 to support $1,208,000 in

trust deeds.'^

Adding further depth to this indefensible conduct,

knowing that a total of $664,400 would be needed to

improve the 302 "lots," LATD&ME ''withheld" only

$149,999 in its ''202 account" for "improvements."

[GX246, 260(d)].

(4) Exhibit DF-AV, Graham's appraisal on Palm

Springs Alpine Village.

In the appraisal, Graham noted that the 653 lots

on 680 acres, covered raw land, there being no improve-

ments, and no zoning yet obtained, and concluded,

".
. . my opinion that subject lots, when improved

will have an average Fair Market Value of $2900 per

lot."

In his testimony Graham stated that the raw land,

in its then unimproved state, was worth only $62 to $100

per lot, and that his appraisal was based on considera-

tion of the improvements that would be made in the

future [R.T. 3671-3674].

Graham further testified that he did not know that

3800 acres was about to be released for a total of

$212,000 (which included the 680 acres he appraised),

nor that that sale was finalized within 20 days of his

appraisal [R. T. 3667-3668].

^^Even this assumes all improvements would be completed at

a cost of $2,200 per lot.

^®The difference becomes even more monstrous if the $2,200
per lot were deducted from the $2,333 "fair market value."
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This property was encumbered with 653 trust deeds,

each having a face value of $1200 or an aggregate

face value of $783,600 [GX 393(a); 405].

(5) Exhibit DF-AW, Graham's appraisal: "Sub-

ject Tract No. 3429— Land Appraisal, Huntington

Beach, California. For : David Farrell".

This appraisal, dated 9-24-59, disclosed the following

information

:

"The entire area is farm land. It is about 1

mile to the nearest urban development and that is

scattered and minimum construction. . . . 1250 raw

land cost per lot. . . . Improvements in this area cost

about $1500 per lot, making a cost of $2750 per

lot. Counting costs and profits yields a value of

$3500 . . .

It is therefore my opinion that subjects lots

will have a market value of $3500 when manu-

factured.^'

A total of 186 trust deeds was placed against this

property, each having a face value of $3150, in the

name of "Cal-State Investments" [GX 416]. The ag-

gregate face value was $585,900. The trust deeds

were "purchased" by LATD&ME on 11-16-59 [GX

416].

Graham testified that the raw land here was ap-

praised at only $1250 per lot, and would not at that

time, have sustained an encumbrance of $3100 per lot

[R.T. 3675-3676].
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Misappropriation of Investors' "Windfall

Profits."

Throughout the Secured 10% Earnings Program, it

was represented to investors that in the event the trus-

tors or makers of trust deed notes held in investors'

portfolios should liquidate their obligations in advance

of maturity, such investors would "earn" more than the

promised 10% as a consequence of their ownership of

the obligations being liquidated [R. T. 716-717; GX
2136-2138]. Indeed, in the first stage of the Secured

10% Earnings Program, LATD&ME did credit the

investor with the full amount received in connection

with such advance hquidations or "pay-offs" [R. T.

917-918]. This uncharacteristic policy of honest treat-

ment did not continue for long and was soon revised.

Early in 1959, without any notification to investors, the

entire accounting procedure was changed. Thereafter,

when LATD&ME received notice from the escrow

holder that a trust deed note was to be paid off in full

in advance of maturity, LATD&ME simply notified

the investor that the trust deed was being repurchased

".
. . according to our regular procedure whenever

further action is required." [GX 695]. The trust deed

was then withdrawn from the investor's account, which

was credited only with the original cost of the trust

deed, less any amount theretofore paid by the trustor

to apply on principal. LATD&ME then proceeded to

collect the full amount through the escrow, and re-

tained the difference between the amount credited to

the investor and the amount received from the trustor.

For example, when a trust deed note bearing 10% in-

terest was paid off in advance of maturity, the investor



was credited with the current unpaid balance of the note

while LATD&ME received not only the current unpaid

balance, but all accrued and unpaid interest. LATD&ME
retained these interest accruals [R. T. 917-920]. In

these situations the amount received by LATD&ME
after withdrawing the trust deed from the investor's

account always exceeded the amount credited to the

investor [R. T. 2746].

A single example will serve to illustrate this technique

used in manipulating investors' accounts. On March

20, 1959, LATD&ME purchased TD No. 7195M for

inventory for $3,274 [GX 698], and on May 1, 1959,

confirmed it to the account of W. A. Griswold for

$4,112 [GX 699]. About August 4, 1959, LATD&ME
was notified by Bank of America that the trustor had

opened an escrow in order to liquidate the obligation

evidenced by the trust deed. Bank of America requested

LATD&ME to forward the documents required to ac-

complish reconveyance [GX 709]. On August 20,

1959, LATD&ME sent the instruments of reconvey-

ance to Bank of America, together with instructions

that the unpaid balance on the note, together with ac-

crued interest amounted to $4,377 plus interest [GX

711]. On September 8, 1959, the bank sent its check

for $4,459 to LATD&ME [GX 710]. The next day,

September 9, 1959, LATD&ME advised the investor

that it was ''necessary to withdraw" the trust deed

from his account, in accordance with ''our regular pro-

cedure whenever further action is required" [GX 712].

Nine days later, on September 18, 1959, the investor's

ledger account was credited with $4,027 [GX 696].

Thus, in this situation, LATD&ME, "in accordance
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with [its] regular procedure" misappropriated $432 be-

longing to the investor.

There is set out in Appendix G a schedule [GX
1893] showing similar manipulations of investors' ac-

counts and the misappropriation by LATD&ME of

"windfall profits" which should have accrued to in-

vestors. The schedule which covers 50 accounts re-

flects the misappropriation of amounts as small as $22

and as large as $770. The average is $170 [R. T. 2746].

"Big Board" or "Open Market" Trading.

The brochures describing the "Secured 10% Earnings

Program" credited David Farrell with ".
. . creating an

entirely new industry when he originated 'big board'

and 'open market' trading in trust deed investments

. .
." [GX 843; 1667; 1668; 1669; 1670; 1672;

1674]. Through the "big board" and "open market"

trading, LATD&ME professed to offer investors an

"exchange," similar to a national securities exchange,

which would effectuate "... a 'stabilization policy'

relative to such notes and purchases ... at prices

above those normal in the market" [GX 1666].

LATD&ME salesmen used impressive photographs and

brochures stressing the significance of the "big board"

in stabiHzing the trust deed market [GX 843; 1401;

1666; 1667; 1668; 1669; 1670; 1672; 1674; R. T. 539-

542].

In fact, the "big board" had nothing to do with the

"Secured 10% Earnings Program" and its sole function

was to mislead investors into believing that trust deeds

introduced into their accounts could be liquidated at any

time through LATD&ME's trading facilities [R. T.

539-542, 697; also see infra "Role of Oliver J. Farrell

in Scheme to Defraud"].
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Misrepresentations as to Liquidity.

LATD&ME, stressing their financial liquidity, rep-

resented to investors they ''.
. . maintain a financial

liquidity (cash to total liabilities) higher than most of

the banks, savings and loan associations and security

brokers" [for e.g., GX 843]. This representation was

false as evidenced by an analysis of LATD&ME's finan-

cial position at a number of dates computed in accordance

with the ''net capital" rule promulgated by the SEC,

and applicable to brokers and dealers in securities [GX
1055; R. T. 2669-2670]. In general, the "net capital"

rule requires brokers and dealers to maintain cash or

other liquid assets of not less than one dollar for every

twenty dollars of aggregate indebtedness. In comput-

ing the value of "liquid assets" held by brokers and

dealers, the rule requires that securities held in inven-

tory be reduced by thirty percent of current market

value in order to accommodate downward changes in

market prices [R. T. 2662-2670]. It was emphasized

the rule establishes the minimum standard of liquidity

[R. T. 2642-2643].

LATD&ME at no time maintained liquid assets suf-

ficient to satisfy the minimum requirements applicable

to brokers and dealers in securities. On the contrary,

as evidenced by computations found in Appendix H
[GX 1055; R. T. 2669-2670], after the most gener-

ous allowances for the value of trust deeds in inven-

tory (including those in default and in process of fore-

closure), LATD&ME's financial condition, computed

in accordance with the "net capital rule," was in con-

tinuous deficit.



Concealment From Investors of the True Nature of

the Civil Litigation With Securities and Ex-

change Commission.

From March 24, 1958, until June 8, 1960, when the

receivership was established, appellants sought to con-

ceal from investors the fact that the Securities and

Exchange Commission had brought the entire Secured

10% Earnings Program into serious question with a

suit which, among other things, alleged appellants

were engaging in a course of business which constituted

a fraud and deceit upon members of the investing pub-

lic. This deliberate policy of concealment continued even

after October 8, 1958, when the SEC amended its

original complaint to include allegations of insolvency,

misappropriation of funds of Secured 10% Earnings

investors and requested the appointment of a receiver

[GX 1432].

Notwithstanding the grave nature of the charges

made by the SEC and the shadow of receivership that

hung over the enterprise, the brochures, without men-

tioning the civil action, assured investors that

:

"Legal aspects of our Secured 10% Earnings Ac-

counts have been evaluated and approved by coun-

sel for the company, Mr. Morgan Cuthbertson,

former counsel for the Securities and Exchange

Commission." [GX 843; 1667].

Mr. Cuthbertson characterized this statement as a mis-

representation, and denied that he had ever evaluated

or approved the legal aspects of the Secured 10% Earn-

ings Program [R. T. 3491-3492].
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The appellants not only concealed from investors the

very existence of the charges, but if a question was

raised by an investor regarding the nature of the litiga-

tion, salesmen were instructed to state that the sole

question was "jurisdictional." As Oliver J. Farrell in-

structed all personnel handling correspondence for Trust

Deed & Mortgage Exchange

:

"What's With The SEC?

The civil suit now pending in connection with the

Securities and Exchange Commission, is simply an

airing of our Secured 10% Earnings in order to

get the ruling by a Federal Court as to whether

or not we are selling securities which require a

registration . . ." [GX2102].

The appellants' policy of misrepresenting the nature

and status of the civil suit and the findings of the

courts reached its apex immediately after this court had

reversed the preliminary decree entered by the district

court, Los Angeles Trust Deed and Mortgage Exchange

V. S.E.C., 264 F. 2d 199 (9th Cir. 1959). The March,

1959, issue of Trust Deed Topics [GX 846] contained a

grossly distorted, truncated and misleading summary in-

terpreting the reversing opinion. [Appendix I.]

Thus, until the very moment the receiver intervened,

investors trustingly deposited their savings with

LATD&ME in entire ignorance of the very existence

of the serious allegations made by the SEC and the

impending receivership. For example, on May 26,

1960, six days after the district court entered its final

decree, appellant David Farrell, sent a letter welcoming

Laddie J. Stewart, a serviceman stationed abroad, to

"our large family of customers." [GX 586].
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Insolvency of LATD&ME.
LATD&ME's investors were misled by the company's

slogan that: "No Secured 10% Earnings Customer

has ever sustained a loss" [GX 842; 843; 846; 1668;

1670; 1674]. The eventual realization of losses was con-

tinually postponed by the very nature of the scheme to

defraud. Investors were persuaded to take their "Se-

cured 10% Earnings" on paper, leaving their actual cash

in the hands of the company. As soon as LATD&ME's
source of fresh funds was exceeded by the cash out-

flow for "secured earnings" and the honoring of liqui-

dation requests, appellants' financial empire collapsed.

As of March 31, 1959 LATD&ME was insolvent

in a bankruptcy sense, in the amount of $176,000 [R. T.

2670-2682; GX 1054; 1074; Appendix J]. By June

7, 1960, the day before the receiver took over, the ex-

cess of total liabilities over total assets had grown to

at least $1,250,000 [R. T. 2840, 2843, 2844, 2849, 2854,

2859-2861; GX 6005; Appendix K].

In addition, of $39,000,000 in trust deed notes

which LATD&ME held for servicing for investors,

2717 totaling $8,500,000 in face value were delinquent

[R. T. 2779-2780, 2809-2811; GX 6001(c); Appendix

L]. These $8,500,000 delinquent trust deeds did not in-

clude the 13,700 trust deeds totaling $17,000,000 in face

value which were being serviced as to interest and princi-

pal from "202" accounts estabhshed by LATD&ME at

the time the trust deeds were created [R. T. 2803, 2804,

2864-2867; Appendix A]. LATD&ME's actual cash

on hand when the receiver took over was over $2,000,000

short of that necessary to cover the $2,367,000 in book
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entries credited on the corporation books as "withheld"

money to service the trust deeds and notes [R. T. 2866-

2868].

LATD&ME had pending, prior to receivership some

800 customer demands for hquidation of accounts total-

ing $3,600,000 which had not and could not be honored

R. T. 2801, 2867-2868; GX 6002; 6003].

Method of Presentation of Secured 10% Earnings

Program to Investors.

The appellants instructed all personnel of LATD&ME
to so present the Secured 10% Earnings Program to

the investing public that they would rely completely

on LATD&ME's financial stability and liquidity.

LATD&ME salesmen represented to some investors that

LATD&ME was a financial institution similar to a bank

or savings and loan association [R. T. 1024; 1108;

1156; 1845]. Others, and perhaps the majority of in-

vestors, were led to believe that they were making

deposits into an integrated investment program under

which LATD&ME provided a safe, stable and liquid

investment together with 10% earnings, and, in addi-

tion, their accounts would be secured by prime, trouble

free and seasoned trust deeds [R. T. 1039; 1408-1409;

1529-1532; 1811; 1974-1979; 1988-1993; 2003-2007;

2188; 2258]. Thus, investors were induced to beHeve

that LATD&ME was basically a bank-like institution

[R. T. 764-765; 1024; 1108; 1156; 1836-1837; 1845;

1907-1909]. They were told they could withdraw their

funds just as they could from a bank [R. T. 1156;

1845], and were led to understand that LATD&ME
"guaranteed" their accounts in a manner similar to in-

sured bank deposits [R. T. 1907-1909], and that
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LATD&ME "guaranteed" 10% earnings [R. T. 1024;

1107; 2176]. Investors were given LATD&ME pass-

books, resembling bank savings account passbooks, in

which their deposits were recorded [GX 621 ; 866; 1221

;

1259; R. T. 1024; 1845]. Some investors were con-

fused and uncertain as to the relationship of trust

deeds to LATD&ME's Secured 10% Earnings Pro-

gram [R. T. 1109-1110; 1155; 1800; 1837; 1849;

1869-1870]. They were not told that they were buy-

ing trust deeds [R. T. 1108; 1800; 1837; 1849; 1869-

1870; 1882] but on the contrary, were led to under-

stand that they were depositing their funds with LATD-
&ME, who, in turn, was investing in real estate and

trust deeds [R. T. 1108-1110; 1154; 1795; 1869-1870;

1889]. Investors, falling within this category, often

did not want to purchase trust deeds or similar in-

struments [R. T. 1108; 1800; 1837; 1849; 1869-1870;

1892]. Nevertheless, they were induced to withdraw

funds from nonspeculative savings media, such as banks,

savings and loan associations and life insurance com-

panies [R. T. 1010; 1159; 1835-1836; 1846], in order

to invest in what was represented to them to be an

equally safe and secure financial institution [R. T. 1011

;

1153, 1156; 1836; 1845].

The misunderstanding that LATD&ME was like a

bank was fostered, in no small way, by LATD&ME's
bank-like appearance^^ and salesmen's frequent compar-

^^LATD&ME intentionally created confusion in the minds of

investors by leading them to believe that the institution was
similar to a bank as evidenced by David Farrell's instructions

to employees of LATD&ME's main office that they endeavor

to create a "bank-like" atmosphere fR. T. 156-157]. These in-

structions were apparently well carried out since investors vis-

iting the main office observed the bank-like atmosphere so

created [R. T. 1163; 1413].
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ison of the company with a bank. Salesmen utilized

such language as: an investment with LATD&ME
was "As safe as money in the bank . .

." [R. T. 1836]

;

".
. . was a better risk than the California Bank . .

."

[R. T. 1533] ;
".

. . As safe as any bank." [R. T.

1961] ; and ''.
. . just as if it were down at the corner

bank" [R. T. 1976].

Many of LATD&ME's investors were cognizant that

the purchase by them of trust deeds constituted an

essential element of LATD&ME's integrated invest-

ment program [R. T. 1043; 1140-1142; 1408-1409;

1528; 1811; 1923-1924; 1974-1979; 1988-1993; 2187-

2188; 2258]. These investors believed that they were

investing under a program offered by LATD&ME
[R. T. 1098; 1408-1409; 1546-1547; 1811-1812; 1961;

1974-1976; 2187-2188], and looked to LATD&ME to

select safe and secure trust deeds [R. T. 1039; 1041;

1141; 1411, 1417, 1422; 1530-1531; 1975; 2258-2259];

to provide essential services in collecting and servicing

trust deeds, and to provide professional management

over their accounts [R. T. 1098; 1413, 1417, 1422;

1537, 1546-1547; 1961; 1991-1992]. They looked to

LATD&ME, and not the trust deeds in their accounts,

for the secured 10% return [R. T. 1962; 2281]. They

were also led to believe that in addition to the security

provided by the trust deeds in their accounts, LATD&-

ME stood behind their investments [R. T. 1408-1409;

1537; 2189-2190].



One investor witness testified about the following

analogy, which was related to him by a LATD&ME
salesman [R. T. 1408-1409], and later repeated by

David Farrell [R. T. 1418-1419] :''

".
. . he compared their operation, that is, the

LATD, to a double-hulled ship. He said the out-

side hull is the company; the company stands be-

hind your investment, and any time you want you

can cash it in. And that is not all: There is an

inner hull, a safety hull. That is the property

itself. That for this particular program we pick

good properties, and your investment will be pro-

tected by them even if the company was not in

existence." [R. T. 1408-1409].

LATD&ME salesmen represented to investors that the

company's Secured 10% Earnings Program included

only sound and secure trust deeds; that LATD&ME
invested in "seasoned deeds of trust" [R. T. 2188] ;

".
. . bought nothing but the best . .

." [R. T. 1926]

;

".
. . made very sound investments . . . nothing specula-

tive . .
." [R. T. 1041]; ".

. . the trust deed was

amply covered by an excess in valuation of the proper-

ty . .
." [R. T. 2259] ;'° ".

. . men go out and appraise

the property, and that if it was a good risk they

bought them in, and if it wasn't, they refused them"

[R. T. 1531].

^^David Farrell represented to this investor that he would
personally approve the selection of trust deeds for his account
[R. T. 1417-14181. Nevertheless. LATD&ME failed to withdraw
delinquent trust deeds from the investor's account [R. T. 1465],
and even introduced trust deeds into the account which were
already in default [GX 764; 1186].

*^Compare with section in this brief relating to LATD&ME's
appraisal policy, entitled "Screening and Appraisals of Trust
Deeds."
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Based on representations made to them by the sales-

men, and the concept of "the American Home" as

security [GX 842; 843; 844; 992(b); 1668; 1669],

numerous investors were led to believe that trust deeds

selected for the Secured 10% Earnings Program were

secured by owner-occupied homes, apartments or other

buildings [R. T. 722, 725; 1041; 1535; 1923-1924;

1991; 2188; 2756]. Many were disillusioned, and after

examining some of the tracts against which their trust

deeds were created noted that "It was just a piece of

desert right next to the mountains . . . No streets . . .

No stores around. Just dirt roads" [Tract 1078

—

Newhall, California, R. T. 1966-1968] ;
".

. . It is a

vast area, sloping hillside, all covered with brush; noth-

ing developed whatsoever . . . No roads whatever

. . . Nothing had been done. It was a wilderness, the

way it had been for years." [Reedlands Unit No. 5,

R. T. 1877-1879] ; "A bare field" [Capitol Park Es-

tates, R. T. 1931-1932] ; and "Very, very sparsely

settled. As a matter of fact, no houses could be seen

from the place where my lot was situated" [Palm

Springs Alpine Estates, R. T. 1981-1983]. Other in-

vestors ultimately discovered that the trust deeds in-

troduced into their accounts by LATD&ME had been

created against grids without any means of ingress or

egress; they described the property in the following

terms ".
. . we were in the center of a piece of proper-

ty to which we couldn't get in or out; and that it was

a very small thing that was absolutely worthless" [R. T.

2285].

LATD&ME mailed out to investors an instrument

designated as "Confirmation" or "Program Sell Order

& Confirmation," which purported to confirm to in-
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vestors the sale to them by LATD&ME of trust deeds

and to give a very brief description of the underlying

trust deed security [GX 788; 796; 867(a)]. These

confirmations failed to fully describe prior liens [GX

788; 796; 867(a) ; R. T. 1484-1493; 1557-1558] ; stated

falsely that homes and buildings were being constructed

[GX 869(a); R. T. 1565-1566] and contained other

incomplete and inaccurate descriptions [R. T. 1462-

1463; 1575-1577]. On the basis of such confirma-

tions, investors were asked to accept or reject the trust

deeds [GX 1668, p. 10]. Salesmen of LATD&ME,
when asked by investors regarding individual trust deeds,

replied with spurious information, such as stating that

buildings were being constructed, when, in fact, there

was nothing but a vacant parcel of land [R. T. 1565-

1566, 1578-1579]. Moreover, investors were led to be-

lieve that it was not necessary for them to inspect

the property on which they were assigned trust deeds

as they could depend on LATD&ME's skilled staff to

make sound selections [R. T. 1431; 1975-1976; 1991-

1992]. That investors did so rely on LATD&ME's
expertise is evidenced by the very low rate of rejec-

tion of trust deeds introduced into their accounts [R. T.

255; 614; GX 1623].

Investors also relied upon the statement in LATD&-
ME's brochures [GX 842; 843; 844; 992(b); 1668;

1669] that the total value of the first and second

deeds of trust ".
. . cannot under most circumstances

exceed 85% of the resale value of the property as deter-

mined by our appraisers" [R. T. 1529-1530; 1925;

2189]. Although investors were informed both by

the salesmen [R. T. 1923; 2189; 2267] and through
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the sales literature [GX 842; 843; 844; 992(b); 1668;

1669], that it was the policy of LATD&ME to re-

place defaulted or delinquent trust deeds with trust

deeds of good standing, delinquent trust deeds were not

withdrawn from the accounts of investors [R. T. 1099;

1176-1177; 1465; GX 515: 764; 817]. It was further

the policy of LATD&ME to encourage investors to

have the company retain title in the name of LATD&-
ME, as "Trustee", so as to facilitate the processing and

possible liquidation of the trust deeds [R. T. 205].

Investors were thus kept in ignorance of LATD&ME's
internal accounting procedures,^^ and could not, and

did not know whether specific trust deeds assigned

to their accounts were being kept current. In some

instances, trust deeds which were already in default

were introduced into the accounts of investors [GX

764; 1186].

The confirmations mailed to investors to confirm the

sale to them of trust deeds contained the notation

"Balance on Terms" which indicated the amount by

which the investors was still indebted to LATD&ME
for the specific trust deed; LATD&ME considered and

treated this debit balance as a demand obligation owed

to it by investors [R. T. 2406]. The investors, how-

ever, were not made aware of the fact that LATD&ME
considered these items as demand obligations. Many

investors were not ever aware that the designation

"Balance on Terms" indicated that they were indebted

to LATD&ME in any manner whatsoever [R. T. 1063-

1064; 1118; 1168-1169; 1837; 1854; 1873; 2018].

^^Appellants stipulated at trial that none of the investors saw
the internal records of LATD&ME [R. T. 1125-1126].
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The very core of the Secured 10% Earnings Program

and the factor which catapuhed the program into wide

acceptance, was the maiHng to investors, monthly, of

condensed summaries [GX 1270; Appendix D], graphi-

cally portraying the growth of investors' accounts

through 10% interest compounded monthly. The inves-

tors understood the figures in the right-hand column of

this summary— ''Estimated Liquidation Value of All

Assets in Your Account", as representing the total of

their deposits combined with the 10% earnings there-

from [R. T. 775; 1122; 1164-1165, 1175; 1801; 1838-

1839; 1855; 1902; 1930; 1963; 1984; 1994-1995; 2179;

2198; 2279]. All investors, regardless of their under-

standing of the Secured 10% Earnings Program, ac-

cepted the summary as proof that their funds were in

fact earning 10% [R. T. 775; 1122; 1164-1165; 1175;

1801; 1838-1839; 1855; 1902; 1930; 1963; 1984; 1994-

1995; 2179; 2198; 2279]. They believed that the

amount shown represented LATD&ME's total indebted-

ness to them, which was due and payable whenever

they elected to liquidate their accounts [R. T. 775 ; 1801

;

1930]. The condensed summary, showing the growth

of the account, influenced investors to add further

funds to their accounts [R. T. 1930; 1994-1995].

Investors were told by salesmen that LATD&ME
would promptly fulfill requests for the complete, or par-

tial, liquidation of customer accounts [R. T. 1012-1013;

1110; 1139-1140; 1156; 1408-1409; 1531; 1812; 1845;

1868, 1888, 1890; 1993; 2008; 2756]. The represen-
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tation as to liquidity was unequivocal and without the

qualifying caveat that LATD&ME would effect liquida-

tion only on a "best efforts" basis [R. T. 1419; 1845;

1890]/'

Even after the decision of the district court on May

20, 1960, appointing a receiver, salesmen continued to

represent that liquidation could be accomplished ".
. .

within a day or two or three, at the very most . .
."

[R. T. 1013] ; as soon as the investor ".
. . would

write into the company . .
." [R. T. 2756] ; and ".

. .

it usually took about a day to find another buyer, but

at the most ten days to two weeks" [R. T. 1140].

As late as June 2, 1960, Oliver J. Farrell wrote to a

Connecticut investor, stating: "With respect to liqui-

dation, under normal conditions your request can be

processed within a week's time. However, in the event

of a heavy work load we would appreciate an advance

request" [GX 641(a); R. T. 1993]. Oliver J. Far-

rell did not disclose in this letter that LATD&ME had

at that time established a moratorium on honoring liqui-

dation requests [GX 641(a)].

^^One investor testified as to the following conversation with
David Farrell regarding LATD&ME's liquidation policy:

"Q. Did you discuss at all, sir, the situation which might
arise wherein the company would repurchase any trust deeds

from you or your account? A. We never went into any of

the details on that. All he did was assure me that all I

had to do if I need cash, all or part of it, all I had to do

was write a letter and I would get it. It meant to me that

the account was completely liquid.

Q. Was anything said about being on a best effort basis

that you would be able to get your money out? A. No,
I never heard that word or anything like it" [R. T. 1419].

See Oliver J. Farrell's similar explanation in portion of fact

statement entitled "Role of Oliver J. Farrell in Scheme to

Defraud".
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LATD&ME salesmen failed to voluntarily disclose

to investors the litigation between the company and the

SEC [R. T. 1022-1024; 1120; 1138-1139; 1511-1512;

1801; 1839; 1870; 1962; 2182]; however, if the inves-

tors questioned them regarding this matter, LATD&ME
salesmen characterized the litigation as a "test case"

to establish the SEC's jurisdiction over LATD&ME
[R. T. 765-769; 1101; 3298-3299]. They did not dis-

close that LATD&ME was charged with fraud and

insolvency [R. T. 765-769; 1101; 3298-3299]. Sales-

men also represented to investors that the litigation

with the SEC had been instigated by the banking

industry because it was losing customers to LATD&-
ME, using such language as ".

. . the judge that was

ruling against this was a member of a banking family,

so consequently he was prejudiced . .
." [R. T. 1138] ;

".
. . the litigation was because the banking interests

and the building and loan companies were so opposed

to this sort of transaction—that they were doing the

same things as Los Angeles Trust Deed, and making

equally as much money, but only paying the public 2^
or 3 or 3>^%." [R. T. 2276]; and "We had some

trouble there, it was caused by the banks and savings

and loans. They don't want us to get in on this"

[R. T. 1532].

Even after the final decree was entered by the dis-

trict court on May 20, 1960, LATD&ME solicited the

accounts of new customers and accepted deposits of

existing customers without disclosing the existence or

results of the SEC litigation [R. T. 1022-1024; 1120;

1138-1139; 1904]. Between May 20, 1960, and June

8, 1960, the date the receiver took control of LATD&-
ME, salesmen continued to solicit and accept deposits
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from investors [R. T. 1014-1015; 1120-1121; 1146;

1904, 2756], including investors residing outside of

California [GX 642; 646; 829(a); 1001], and in over-

seas military installations [GX 583; 585; 586]. Such

investors, pursuant to appellants' instructions, were not

informed of the impending receivership [R. T. 1012-

1013; 1120; 1138-1139; 1904]; instead, they were told

by salesmen, during this period, that LATD&ME was

".
. . as solvent as any bank or any savings and loan

association" [R. T. 1011], LATD&ME's salesmen

not only solicited new accounts, they also persuaded

existing investors not to liquidate or to defer liquidat-

ing their accounts [R. T. 765-769; 1828-1830; 1904-

1905], by representing that LATD&ME was sound

[R. T. 765-769; 1828-1830]. Oliver J. Farrell, during

this period, induced investors to retain their accounts,

stating that ".
. . everything would be all right" and

".
. . that this was a test case" [R. T. 766]. In-

vestors who deposited their money with LATD&ME
during the period May 20-June 8, 1960, were not as-

signed any trust deeds, nor did they receive their in-

vestment back on any earnings thereon. [R. T. 1017;

1148; 2761-2762].

Role of Oliver J. Farrell in Scheme to Defraud.

Oliver J. Farrell was sales manager of LATD&ME,
as well as its secretary, vice-president, and one of its

directors, from the inception of the Secured 10% Earn-

ings Program, until the date the receiver took over/^

^^Oliver J. Farrell himself gave a fairly thorough resume of his

role and duties at LATD&ME in his "Position Description Ques-

tionnaire" [GX 2200], a portion of which is reproduced as Ap-
pendix M.
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Also, he was vice-president and a director of TD&MM
[R. T. 3111-3113].

Oliver J. Farrell employed, trained and supervised

all local LATD&ME account advisers (salesmen) and

conducted weekly sales meetings throughout California,

instructing salesmen in effective sales techniques [R. T.

159, 3117]. All directives to branch office managers

and salesmen emanated from him. He conducted "in-

spirational" conferences for new salesmen [R. T. 159].

All branch office managers took their orders from and

were directly answerable to him [R. T. 509, 3114].

They went to him with ''most any kind of a problem"

[R. T. 159]. Oliver J. Farrell also wrote the sales

meeting speeches and edited literature that was mailed

out to investors [R. T. 160]. His letters to investors,

as well as those of David Farrell were used as formats

for form letters to investors [R. T. 208]. In short,

no one else had authority to distribute anything out of

the sales department which had not first been approved

by Oliver J. Farrell [R. T. 3140].

Oliver J. Farrell testified that the liquidation policy

of LATD&ME
".

. . was to make a customer's funds available to

him upon request by liquidating his trust deeds,

either by purchasing them back for the company's

account or by reassigning them to other customers

who had money awaiting for the purchase of trust

deeds" [R. T. 3102].
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This is the same policy expressed in an "Outline of

3rd Sales Meeting" [GX 1413], in which he pointed

out certain "magic words" the salesmen should use.

There under the example "BECAUSE," he said:

".
. . you can always get your money back out

of a Secured 10% Earnings Fund BECAUSE
all we have to do is assign the Trust Deeds in

your portfolio to other customers or re-assign them

back into our warehouse. It's as simple as that."**

Oliver J. Farrell instructed Frank Stark (Northern

California regional sales manager and vice-president of

LATD&ME), that the salesmen should stress the im-

portance of the "big board" in selling the Secured 10%

Earnings Program. Stark was directed to create the

impression that the "big board" was useful in liquidat-

ing 10% earnings accounts [R. T. 541], although in

fact it had no connection with the Secured 10% Earn-

ings Program [R. T. 541-542; 697]. Nevertheless,

Stark and his salesmen, pursuant to Oliver J. Farrell's

orders, stressed the importance of the "big board" in

selling the Secured 10% Earnings Program [R. T. 544;

GX 1401].

**C/. this to the contention made in Brief D. F., p. 46, suggest-

ing- the evidence was clear and undisputed that the poHcy of

LATD&ME was "that liquidation or sell orders will be handled

'on a best effort basis only'." Oliver J. Farrell himself rebuts

this allegation as seen supra, as did investors whose testimony

revealed that they were told they could liquidate within a short

period of time, with no reference being made to on "a best

efforts basis."
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Oliver J. Farrell had a major role in drafting an

article in January, 1959, Trust Deed Topics [GX 846]

describing subordinated trust deeds that LATD&ME
was introducing into investors' accounts. Reprints of

this article were sent to LATD&ME salesmen, and

to all investors receiving such trust deeds [R. T. 3145,

3146], The article was intended to convince investors

who were receiving subordinated trust deeds created

against units of raw land that the subdividers had large

cash equities in the subdivisions [R. T. 3146, 3152-

3155]. In addition, pursuant to Oliver J. Farrell's

instructions, salesmen displayed to potential investors

the current LATD&ME brochures, pointing to a photo-

graph of an "American home" and the statement:

*'.
. . If you sold your home and the person to

whom you sold it made substantial down payment

and you took back a second trust deed, you would

feel relatively safe, wouldn't you ? Such trust deeds

against individual real estate sold by property own-

ers who receive a substantial down payment, are

the type which we generally purchase and sell to

you" [GX 444; 843; R. T. 3152-3154].

Thus, it was at the specific direction of Oliver J. Far-

rell that salesmen represented to investors that the sub-

dividers who created trust deeds for LATD&ME against

vacant tracts of land had made large cash investments

in the subdivisions. The facts were, of course, that thou-

sands of trust deeds were being manufactured against

raw land in situations where the subdividers had not

invested a single dollar.
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Throughout the Secured 10% Earnings Program,

Oliver J. Farrell instructed salesmen to represent that

LATD&ME's own funds were being used to purchase

trust deeds for inventory notwithstanding his knowl-

edge that investors' money was in fact being deposited

into the company's general accounts and used for the

acquisition of trust deeds [R. T. 602-603; 3160-3161]/'

With reference to the SEC Htigation, Ohver J. Far-

rell instructed salesmen that no information was to be

given unless the question was specifically asked. Even

then, salesmen were to emphasize that the crux of

the litigation was a dispute over SEC's jurisdiction to

regulate institutions such as LATD&ME. The allega-

tions of fraud and insolvency made by SEC were never

to be brought up [R. T. 563; 566, 567].

Oliver J. Farrell admitted he ''had heard" of some

of the corporations through which David Farrell had

received participations from subdividers [R. T. 3162],

and that ".
. .[he] had knowledge, but not specific

knowledge as to some of these developments" [R. T.

3164]. He admitted that in late 1958 he discussed

with his brother "some aspects" pertaining to the "par-

ticipation" agreements [R. T. 3163], and that he knew

his brother David was enjoying certain profits from

"participation" arrangements [R. T. 3164, 3165].

^^See also white brochure [GX 1666] for representations that

investors' money would be deposited in a trust account. David

Farrell similarly represented that investors' money would not go

into the general accounts of the company [R. T. 1422].
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Oliver J. Farrell's compensation for the two and

one-half years he served as sales manager for LATD&
ME was in excess of $250,000 [R. T. 2608, 2609;

GX 7801]. In addition, he obtained four lots in his

own name in Embarcardaro Rancho [R. T. 3156-3158],

a projected subdivision near Santa Barbara, California,

financed by LATD&ME's investors.^®

As receivership loomed, in accordance with Oliver

J. Farrell's instructions, salesmen increased their efforts

to secure new deposits without informing investors that

LATD&ME had more liquidation requests than it could

then honor [R. T. 3172] ; that a moratorium had been

declared on demands for liquidation [R. T. 3175] ; and

that trust deeds which had been created against mere

grid maps were being confirmed to investors [R. T.

3159].

Oliver J. Farrell's basic sales policy was best stated

in his instructions to salesmen not to confuse prospects

with lots of facts and details. As he put it, "The more

garbage, the more details, the more facts you throw

into your sales pitch, the lower your odds of making a

sale. .
." [GX 1415].

^^Oliver J. Farrell paid nothing for these lots but assumed
mortages totaling $5,000 on two of them. Under cross-examina-
tion, he attempted to give the impression that all four lots were
encumbered, but finally admitted that he had received two lots

free and clear. He did develop a horse stable and riding acad-
emy, as appellants put it at his "own expense," though this

is not strange since profits from this venture were to be his,

that is, after he had supplied his brother David with "his choice

over a period of years of five foals by any of the mares that I

had bred" [R. T. 3155-3158].



The fact that OHver J. Farrell recognized that he

was engaged in a criminal enterprise is evident from

his exchange of letters with the Northern CaHfornia

regional manager, set out in the margin.^^

^^Frank Stark to Oliver J. Farrell—October 14, 1959 [GX
1449] :

"Due to our vast and continued expansion, which I feel

sure we will enjoy in the future, I believe the time has come
when additional sales help and training of our new and older

customer representatives would be beneficial. I would like

to make the following suggestions:

1. Moving pictures of carefully planned sales talks. These
could be sent to each office along with the moving pic-

ture projector.

2. Slides on different phases of our type of investment,

which can be used by various men in each office in the

same manner for training purposes.

3. A sales manual made up after careful study for distribu-

tion to the different offices.

All of these would be extremely helpful. I would appreciate

your giving serious thought and consideration to the

above . .
."

Oliver J. Farrell to Frank Stark—October 15, 1959 [GX 1449] :

"With reference to your memo of Octcber 14, 1959,

subject as above, I concur with you that continued training

programs are essential even for the older men . . .

"Motion pictures, slides and sales manuals would be very

helpful, not only to the branch managers and salesmen, but

perhaps also to the SEC, Corporation Commissioner, and

Real Estate Commissioner. In fact, they could also be

very helpful to our competitors if they got into the wrong
hands. These are tangible items which can be supoenaed

[sic], you know."
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VI.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.
The appellants in effect have conceded the sufficiency

of the evidence as establishing a scheme and conspiracy

to defraud. None of the areas of error asserted by

appellants is of sufficient merit to require more than

summary consideration by this court. The evidence of

appellants' guilt as shown by the trial record is moun-

tainous. If procedural errors were committed, they

resulted in an advantage and not a disadvantage to

appellants. The trial court's charge to the jury was an

impeccable statement of the applicable law and no con-

ceivable disadvantage to appellants could have flowed

therefrom. If any error occurred in the admission of

evidence, such evidence was merely cumulative and not

prejudicial, and was invited by appellants, who not only

did not interpose any proper objection, but also invited

any such error by deliberately failing to bring the situa-

tion to the attention of the trial court.
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VIL
ARGUMENT.

A. The Court's Charge to the Jury as to the Securi-

ties Counts Was an Entirely Fair and Proper

Statement of the Law of This Case.

1. The "Notes" or "Evidences o£ Indebtedness" Offered

the Public Under the Secured 10% Earnings Program

Were Securities as That Term Is Defined in the

Securities Act of 1933.

The Secured 10% Earnings Program constituted a

medium for more than a simple sale of a second trust

deed — an interest in real property; what was really

offered by LATD&ME to the investing public were

''notes," "evidences of indebtedness" and "investment

contracts" as those terms are used in Section 2(1) of

the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. 77b(l). The

appellants' contention that the trust deed obligations

are not securities in the form of "notes" or other "evi-

dences of indebtedness" is simply not supported by the

case law.

In Llanos v. United States, 206 F. 2d 852 (9th Cir.

1953), certiorari denied 346 U. S. 923 (1954), the de-

fendants devised a scheme whereby they gave their own

promissory notes to obtain money for their own use by

making various false representations about their busi-

ness connections and about the use to which the money

was to be put.*^ This court had before it the question

***The misleading and illusory quality of the "mutual agree-

ment" obligations in Llanos, supra, has a definite resemblance

to the legal quality of the trust deed notes, as interpreted by

appellants, which were sold under the Secured 10% Earnings

Program.
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of whether promissory notes were securities within the

meaning of Section 2(1) of the Securities Act, that

section providing in pertinent part as follows:

"The term securities means any note

evidence of indebtedness . . . investment contract

. . . or in general any interest or instrument com-

monly known as a 'security'."

The appellants, in Llanos, contended that the last

clause of the above-quoted section, ".
. . any in-

terest or instrument commonly known as a 'security'

. .
." limits those which come before, and cited many

cases which held that promissory notes were not "se-

curities" under other statutes. This court, in holding

that the promissory notes were securities, put to rest

appellants' contention by stating at 854

:

".
. . These cases involved the interpretation of

the word 'securities' as used in particular acts and

did not involve the definition of 'security' given in

the above statute. In defining the word 'security'

in Section 2(1) of the Act, Congress intended to

include all interstate transactions which were the

legitimate subject of its regulation and the section

should not be construed narrowly. . . ."

In addition, this court held the instruments were clearly

"evidence [s] of indebtedness" and as such fell with-

in the statutory definition of securities, citing United

States V. Monjar, U7 F. 2d 916, 920 (3rd Cir. 1945),

certiorari denied 325 U. S. 859; also see 4 Duke B. J.

52 (1954).

In United States v. Monjar, supra, appellants were

indicted for violations of Section 17(a)(1) of the Se-
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curities Act of 1933 and mail fraud, in connection with

a scheme to defraud involving the solicitation of "per-

sonal loans", evidenced by receipts, entitled PLs and

CDs. The trial court, citing vS. E. C. v. Universal

Service Association, 106 F. 2d 232, 235 (7th Cir. 1939),

certiorari denied, 308 U. S. 622 (1940), had held the re-

ceipts to be securities

:

"Each person making a loan received a receipt

signed by the person accepting the loan as 'agent'

and making reference to 'H.B.M.-PL' or 'H.B.M.

—

Personal Loan.' The receipts were the only evi-

dence that defendant Monjar had borrowed money.

Those dissatisfied with the arrangement were to

be allowed a refund of the amount advanced as

shown by the receipts. To this extent, the re-

ceipts certainly fall within the category of an 'evi-

dence of indebtedness' as that term is used in Sec-

tion 2(1) of the Statute. Again, the indictment

charges that the money received from the loans

would be used 'to organize business concerns

which would operate for the benefit of the persons

making the loans.' The money was paid over by

the members who made the TL' and 'CD' loans

with the expectation that the return to be obtained

would give to 'worthy men' financial independence.

Under such an arrangement, the receipts issued to

those making the loans likewise come within the

definition of an 'investment contract'." [Empha-

sis added]. 47 F. Supp. 421, 427 (D. Del. 1942).

The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that the in-

dictment sufficiently described the securities in the lan-

guage of the statute as "evidences of indebtedness".



See also

:

S. E. C. V. Vanco, Inc., 166 F. Supp. 422

(D. N. J. 1958), aff'd 283 F. 2d 304 (3rd

Cir. 1960).

The record before this court is compelHng that

LATD&ME offered the public "notes" and ''evidences

of indebtedness" under their Secured 10% Earnings

Program. The thousands of investors who were brought

into the Secured 10% Earnings Program were assured

that they were receving negotiable promissory notes

[GX 1901-1932] ; that their deposits with LATD&ME
were like deposits with a bank [R. T. 1024; 1108;

1156; 1845; 1907-1909] ; and that the ''estimated liqui-

dation value" shown on their monthly statements evi-

denced LATD&ME's indebtedness to them which was

due and payable whenever they elected to withdraw their

accounts [R. T. 775; 1801; 1930]. Investors were

also assured that LATD&ME would honor liquidation

requests, without delay [R. T. 1419; 1845; 1890].

The argument that the instruments were not "notes"

and "evidences of indebtedness" within the meaning of

the statute is demolished by the instruments themselves.^^

They are by their very terms unconditional and unquali-

fied obligations of the makers. They were so described

by the appellants in the brochures sent to investors. The

brochures, for example, described the notes as "nego-

tiable notes" and referred to the careful screening made

of the credit standing of the makers of the obligations

[e.g., GX 843]. There is not a line of evidence in

the record that the appellants made any disclosure what-

**A typical such note is set out in Appendix F.
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soever to any investor, whether a resident of California

or a soldier stationed in Korea, that the "straw" cor-

porations manufacturing the obligations that went into

investors' accounts contended that they were shielded

against liability under California law. This, of course,

was simply another element of the scheme to defraud.

Therefore, if the nature and quality of the instruments

are to be judged by what they "were represented to

be", vS'. E. C. V. Joiner Leasing Corporation, 320 U. S.

344, 353 (1943), the instruments must be classified as

securities.

The appellants contend that under California law the

promissory notes and other trust deed obligations which

were sold to investors represent "purchase money obli-

gations" which are not enforceable against the makers

or trustors, except to the extent of the realizable value

of the units of land securing the obligations. Thus,

they assert that, as the trustor or obligor is not sub-

ject to personal liability or to deficiency judgment, in

the event upon foreclosure the security proves to be

inadequate, the instrument is not a "note" and is not

an "evidence of indebtedness."

Initially it should be noted that federal law and not

California law determines whether or not instruments

are securities under Section 2(1) of the Securities Act

of 1933.

Los Angeles Trust Deed and Mortgage Ex-

cshange v. S.E.C., 264 F. 2d 199, 211 (9th

Cir. 1959);

S.E.C. V. Variable Annuity Life Insurance Co.

of America, 359 U. S. 65, 69 (1959).
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Under federal law, as the Supreme Court has said,

''The test rather is what character the instrument

is given in commerce by the terms of the offer, the

plan of distribution, and the economic inducements

held out to the prospect. In the enforcement of an

act such as this it is not inappropriate that pro-

moters' offerings be judged as being what they

were represented to be." (Emphasis added.)

S.E.C. V. C. M. Joiner Leasing Corp., 320 U. S.

344, 352-353 (1943).

Even if California law were in some way relevant,

the holdings in appellants' cited cases are not in the

slightest compelling on a factual situation such as pre-

sented in the case at bar. In fact, in People v. Daven-

port, 13 Cal. 2d 681 (1939) cited by appellants, the

court states at 684:

".
. . the mere fact that a transaction is clothed

in the language and form of . . . [a purchase

money situation] is not in itself a conclusive badge

of its innocence. In proper circumstances 'courts

have looked through form to substance . .
.'
"

Appellants disregard entirely the true nature of the

trust deed notes created under the Secured 10% Earn-

ings Program, in relying upon Section 580b of the

California Code of Civil Procedure as establishing that,

as "purchase money obligations," the instruments are

not enforceable against the obligors except to the ex-

tent of the value of the land securing the obHgations.

This argument assumes that, under California law, the

courts would hold that the thousands of trust deed obli-

gations manufactured at the instance of appellants by
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''straw" corporations controlled by appellants and real

estate speculators, pursuant to a deliberate scheme to

establish unreaHstic and illusory face values as a means

of defrauding investors, are true "purchase money obli-

gations." In Roseleaf Corporation v. Chierighino, 59

A. C. A. 45, 52 (1963), the Supreme Court of Cali-

fornia stated that Section 580b of the California Code

of Civil Procedure [Appendix N] was intended to put

on the vendor the risk of accepting inadequate security

for a purchase money obligation, as a means of dis-

couraging overvaluation, noting that ".
. . Precarious

land promotion schemes are discouraged, for the se-

curity value of the land gives purchasers a clue as to

its true market value."

2. The Jury Was Properly Instructed in This Matter.

The court's instructions to the jury, whether con-

sidered separately or as a totality, were impeccable state-

ments of the law of the case. If the trial court erred,

it did so to the advantage of the appellants and not

the government. This is how it should be. The court

did not, as suggested by appellants, withdraw from

consideration of and determination by the jury, any

fact, disputed or otherwise.

The reliance by appellants Roe v. United States,

287 F. 2d 435 (5 Cir. 1961) is misplaced. In Roe

V. United States, it was held that the trial court had

invaded the province of the jury by instructing them

that the instruments involved were "investment con-

tracts" and therefore securities. In the instant case

the court below repeatedly admonished the jury, in un-

mistakable terms, that in weighing the guilt or inno-

cence of the defendants under the Securities Act counts,
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the jury, themselves, must arrive at a factual deter-

mination whether the instruments involved were securi-

ties within any of the statutory definitions which the

Government contended were applicable.
^^''

The appellants, of course, sought to confine the in-

struction to the single question of whether the Secured

10% Earnings Program involved the issuance and sale

of "investment contracts," within the statutory defini-

tion. The court below correctly ruled that the gov-

ernment should not be so circumscribed in its presenta-

tion; and that if, as alleged in the indictment, the jury

made the determination from the evidence that the in-

struments the appellants were selling were "notes" or

"evidences of indebtedness" or "investment contracts"

within the statutory definition, then that element of the

offense was satisfied.

There is no ambiguity or uncertainty in the definition

of "security" as including the type "note" or "evidence

of indebtedness" involved in this case. As the Su-

preme Court has said in determining whether an

instrument is a security, it is unnecessary to do any-

thing "to the words of the Act; [but] merely ac-

cept them." The Court continued by stating instru-

ments could be proved to be securities under the Act

by "proving the document itself, which on its face

would be a note, a bond, or a share of stock" while

in other instances "proof must go outside the instru-

ment itself. . .
." (Emphasis added.) 5^. E. C. v. Joiner

Leasing Corporation, supra, at 355.

^'^^The court's instructions on this issue [R. T. 4266-4274] are
set out in Appendix O.
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See also:

United States v. Corbett, 215 U. S. 233, 242,

30 S. Ct. 81, 54 L. Ed. 173, 175 (1909);

Donnelly v. United States, 276 U. S. 505, 512,

48 S. Ct. 400, 72 L. Ed. 676, 678 (1928);

United States v. Giles, 300 U. S. 41, 48, 57

S. Ct. 340, 81 L. Ed. 493 (1937).

B. The Evidence Concerning the Civil Litigation

Between the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion and Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage
Exchange Was Properly Admitted.

The grand jury charged in the indictment in the

instant matter that the appellants concealed from inves-

tors the true nature of the civil litigation, i.e. that

the litigation was not solely a jurisdictional dispute but

involved charges of fraud and insolvency. The gov-

ernment's position was and is that regardless of the

truth or falsity of the charges, an LATD&ME in-

vestor, prior to depositing his money with the firm

was entitled to have knowledge of the actual allegations,

so that he could make suitable inquiry before entrusting

his savings to LATD&ME.

The trial court recognized that the government was

entitled to establish as an element of the scheme to

defraud, appellants' callous course of conduct in con-

tinuing to ensnare investors while concealing and mis-

representing the true nature of the civil litigation.^'^

^^'The court pointed out:

"... I feel . . . that the offers of the pleadings and the

Answer, and of the time the decree was entered would be

relevant and material on the question of good faith.

Now, on the other hand, I recognize that there is material

in the pleadings and there is material in that order which on
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The court, however, rather than allow the govern-

ment to refer to or introduce into evidence copies o£

the civil pleadings, decided upon a procedure which

was much more generous to appellants than the situa-

tion demanded. The court gave the jury a brief sum-

mary of the civil litigation in the most innocuous man-

ner. [R. T. 3026-3029.]''

the face of it is—let's say it will be highly prejudicial if it

wasn't relevant and material. But, of course, we have those
problems in trials of lawsuits, where material may be highly
prejudicial, and still if it contains something- that is relevant
the court has no alternative but to admit it and then try to

instruct it out." [R. T. 2872].

^^"The Court: Members of the jury, in lieu of the acceptance in

evidence of Exhibits 1950, 5200, 5201 and 1950-A, I will give
you a summary of some of the facts in such exhibits which I deem
of possible relevance or materiality for your consideration.

On March 24, 1958, the Securities & Exchange Commission
filed a Complaint against Los Angeles Trust Deed and Mortgage
Exchange, Trust Deed & Mortgage Exchange, Trust Deed &
Mortgage Markets, David Farrell, Oliver J. Farrell, Roy A. Bon-
ner, and Thomas Wolfe, Jr., charging the defendants with viola-

tion of certain Sections of the Securities Exchange Act, including

charges that defendants were engaged in transactions, practices

and a course of business which operated and would operate as a

fraud and deceit upon purchasers of such alleged securities.

On October 8th, 1958, the Commission filed an Amended and
Supplemental Complaint charging the corporate defendants with
misappropriation of funds entrusted to them by investors under
the Secured 10% Earnings Program, and further charged that

said corporate defendants were insolvent and unable to meet their

current obligations. The Amended Complaint included as a party

defendant Stanley C. Marks.

The charges in both the original and the Amended and Supple-

mental Complaint were denied by the defendants.

On May 20, 1960, a judgment was entered in said proceedings

permanently enjoining the defendants from engaging in the acts

as charged. The effect, however, of this injunction was stayed

—

that is, put off—by an appeal.

Pursuant to the judgment the Receiver took charge of the

assets and business of the corporate defendants on June 8, 1960.

Now, neither the charges made in the pleadings in such case

nor said judgment are to be considered by you as evidence of the

truth of such charges. The above statement of facts is given to

you solely in connection with your consideration of the charges
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While appellants now assert as error this act of judi-

cial beneficence, it was the appellants who chose to

cover up, to conceal, and to misrepresent the civil litiga-

tion. They chose to solicit and accept millions of dol-

lars from investors under such conditions of conceal-

ment and affirmative misrepresentation. They were

wrong. As the trial judge said in referring to the

obvious relevance of the prior litigation:

".
. . no mater how bloody the corpse, if it is

relevant and material, the State is entitled to try

its case to the hilt." [R. T. 342].'^'*

Appellants' cited case of Monte Green v. State of

Indiana, 204 Ind. 349 (1933), 184 N. E. 183, is

not applicable to the situation at bar. In the Green

case, the decisive issue to be determined at the criminal

trial was whether the bank was insolvent at the time

that officers of the bank received a certain deposit.

The prosecution introduced the record of a prior civil

proceeding in which it had been determined that the

bank was insolvent. The Appellate Court held the

admission of the record was error because

:

1. There was a difference between civil insolvency

and criminal insolvency;

2. The introduction of the evidence would in fact

determine the issue of insolvency in the minds

of the jury;

made in Paragraph 11, Count one, of the indictment." (After

the jury retired from the courtroom, during the recess, the court

pointed out, "... I have adopted this procedure, for better or

for worse, and in line with what I think is the essential justice

of the offer, and what I have said contains the relevant and ma-
terial matter which should be submitted.") [R. T. 3026-3029].

(Emphasis added.)

misstatement by Court during pre-trial proceedings.
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3. The admitting of the testimony would in fact

deprive the defendant of the right of cross-

examination.

In the instant situation, the court's summary of the

civil litigation was introduced solely to show there had

been in fact a civil proceeding in progress and not as

evidence of the truth of the charges. In addition,

members of the jury were specifically instructed not

to consider any determination made in the civil pro-

ceeding in determining the guilt or innocence of the

accused.

Implicit in the rule that a civil judgment is not ad-

missible in a criminal case is the difference in the quan-

tity of proof necessary to prove criminal charges. This

principle, however, is not applicable where the fact of

the civil proceeding is not received as evidence of any

disputed fact which was adjudicated in the civil pro-

ceeding. Such is the situation in the case at bar where

the material in question (summary of prior proceed-

ings), was not introduced to establish the appellants

were guilty of fraud, but only that certain allegations

had been made, without regard to their truth or fal-

sity.

State V. Morris, 109 Wash. 490 (1920), 187

Pac. 350 (1920);

Krull V. United States, 240 F. 2d 122 (5th Cir.

1957), certiorari denied 353 U. S. 915.



C. The Appellants Were Not Prejudiced by Evi-

dence Concerning Losses by Investors or

Occurrences Subsequent to the Receivership

Established for Los Angeles Trust Deed &
Mortgage Exchange.

The appellants contend that, as the government was

not required to allege or show that anyone was de-

frauded or that investors lost money [Bobbroff v.

United States, 202 F. 2d 389 (9th Cir. 1953)], evidence

to that effect should not have been received. While

not required to allege or prove the success of a scheme

to defraud or that losses resulted as an element neces-

sary to sustain a conviction, the government not only

may but usually does introduce such evidence in se-

curities and mail fraud prosecutions. Rice v. United

States, 35 F. 2d 689, 695 (2nd Cir. 1929), certiorari

denied, 281 U. S. 730 (1930); Lonergan v. United

States, 95 F. 2d 642, 646 (9th Cir. 1938), certiorari

denied, 304 U. S. 581 ; Lemon v. United States, 278

F. 2d 369, 373 (9th Cir. 1960). In Linden v. United

States, 254 F. 2d 560, 566 (4th Cir. 1958), the court

held:

"Proof that the scheme was effective should

not be excluded as irrelevant. While it is true

that the success of a scheme is not a necessary

element of the crime defined in the Mail Fraud

statute, nevertheless where, as here, the indictment

charges the defendant with making captious, de-

ceptive, and misleading solicitations, the effect of

the solicitations upon the recipients is a highly

pertinent fact in determining whether the solicita-

tions are of the nature charged. . . . The

tendency of the form to mislead is shown by testi-

mony that it did mislead/'
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In United States v. Brown, 79 F. 2d 321, 324 (2nd

Cir. 1935), certiorari denied sub. nom., McCarthy v.

United States, 296 U. S. 650, Judge L. Hand com-

mented that it had been a custom for over twenty-five

years in the Southern District of New York to admit

such testimony:

".
. . it may be relevant to show that after

purchase the shares collapsed in value, on the theory

that this helps to prove that they had no value when

the accused recommended them , .
."

The appellants also contend that testimony of losses

was inadmissible as the losses were realized after the

business was removed from their control. The gov-

ernment, however, is entitled to introduce evidence of

events occurring after receivership if those events tend

to establish the falsity of representations made by

the defendants. Kaufmann v. United States, 282 Fed.

776, 781-782 (3rd Cir. 1922), certiorari denied, 260

U. S. 735; Neubauer v. United States, 250 F. 2d 838,

841-842 (8th Cir. 1958), certiorari denied, 356 U. S.

927. The testimony of a receiver of losses which re-

sulted from his effort to dispose of assets and collect

debenture bonds has been held to be admissible. Ride-

nour V. United States, 14 F. 2d 888, 891 (3rd Cir.

1926). If the representations made to investors that

trust deeds selected for the Secured 10% Earnings

Program were of sufficient quality to protect investors,

even if LATD&ME ceased to exist, had been true, the

receivership would not, and could not have brought

about the losses to investors.
^^

^^The trial judge repeatedly ruled that the basis of his allowing
testimony by investors of losses was that such evidence was rele-
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The admission of evidence of losses by investors in

no way prejudiced the appellants. The court allowed

appellants to call as witnesses, eleven supposedly satis-

fied investors to testify that LATD&ME honored their

liquidation requests [R. T. 3257; 3284; 3290; 3302;

3305-3306; 3380; 3387; 3569-3570; 3576], and that

they received monthly "earnings" checks [R. T. 3257;

3285; 3561-3562]. The appellants were also allowed

to cross-examine investor witnesses called by the gov-

ernment to establish that they never requested the re-

turn of their funds from LATD&ME [R. T. 1802-

1803; 1934; 1984; 2183; 2283], and that they received

monthly "earnings" checks until the time the receiver

took over [R. T. 1969; 2024-2025; 2282].

Appellants received an additional safeguard when the

trial court charged the jury

:

"You shall disregard any evidence or testimony

of any customer of Los Angeles Trust Deed &
Mortgage Exchange and affiliated companies to

the effect that a loss was suffered after June 7,

1960. The defendants are not charged with re-

sponsibiUty for acts occurring after that date."

[R. T. 4304.] (Emphasis added.)

Appellants' present claim that the words of any cus-

tomer of [LATD&ME] were omitted from the trial

court's charge to the jury is not well founded.^^

vant and material in establishing the quality of the trust deeds and
the financial condition of LATD&ME prior to receivership [R. T.

1493, 1516-1517; 1540-1542]. Moreover, this evidence was
merely cumulative of other uncontradicted evidence showing the

grossly inflated value of the trust deeds, and LATD&ME's in-

solvency.

^^See Appendix P establishing that the court reporter inad-

vertently omitted the underscored words from the reporter's tran-
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In addition, it should be noted that appellants never

objected to the charge given by the district court [Brief,

DF, p. 37] and never submitted any proposed instruc-

tions of their own [C. T. 469-498]. It is now too late

to claim "prejudice" so severe as to cause a reversal of

appellants' conviction.
^^

D. There Was No Staging of Investor Witnesses

Intended to Inflame the Jury Against Appel-

lants.

The "cutting edge of the government's case" was

not, as contended by appellants [Brief DF, pp. 33-

38] the selection of investor witnesses whose age, in-

firmities, lack of formal education, or financial distress

was intended to arouse hostility against appellants and

inflame the jury against them. The true "cutting

edge" was the cumulative and indeed crushing weight

of the evidence, much of it consisting of the internal

records of LATD&ME and its affiliates, showing a

cleverly designed, ingeniously plotted scheme and con-

spiracy to ensnare investors, which the appellants pur-

sued until the very moment when on June 8, 1960, in

accordance with the order of this court denying a stay

of the receivership, their criminal conduct was inter-

rupted. This was no "finely balanced" case as the ap-

pellants contend [Brief DF, p. 47]. The "glut of

script though the underscored words are to be found in his

shorthand notes taken when the court charged the jury.

^*Rule 30, Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides, in

part:
".

. . No party may assign as error any portion of the

charge or omission therefrom unless he objects thereto before

the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the

matter to which he objects and the grounds of his objec-

tion . .
."
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documentation," mentioned by appellants [Brief DF,

p. 16], standing alone, established the existence of a

cruel and heartless enterprise designed to defraud in-

vestors and enrich the appellants.

There was no staging of selected investor witnesses

whose situations, when brought before the jury, were

intended to "engender sympathy for the alleged victims

and conversely antipathy against the [appellants]"

[Brief DF, p. 34] ; except to the extent that the sub-

mission of testimony of a reasonably balanced cross-

section of the some 10,000 investors under the Secured

10% Earnings Program may have given the jury, as

it was intended to do, a true insight into the scope,

extent and essential quality of the scheme to defraud.

The government not only called as investor-witnesses

Mr. Lees [R. T. 1806], 69 years of age, with impaired

hearing and unemployed; Mr. Campbell [R. T. 1842,

1847], 87 years of age, whose wife was in the hospital;

Mr. Schanz [R. T. 1866-1867], 72 years of age, with

impaired hearing; Mrs. Hlavka [R. T. 1789], a widow;

and Mrs. Eppley [R. T. 719], a 72 year old widow;

but also brought forward Mr. West [R. T. 2185, 2206],

a 35 year old real estate broker and real estate ap-

praiser; Mr. Broome [R. T. 1103-1104], a 44 year old

salesman; Mr. Youngs [R. T. 1833-1834], 53 years of

age, in the heat treating business; Mr. Freedman

[R. T. 1405], a TV writer, who collaborates with his

wife in writing novels; Mr. List [R. T. 1886], a school

teacher, whose wife is a pharmacist; and Mr. Ray [R. T.

1526-1527], 67 years of age, who retired in 1957 after

selling a printing business which he had owned for 30

years.
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Moreover, of the 27 investors named as "count wit-

nesses" in the securities and mail fraud counts, the

government used only 19. Likewise, of the 15 investor-

witnesses named in the conspiracy count, the govern-

ment used only 10. The evidence as to transactions

between LATD&ME and the remaining 8 investor

"count witnesses", and the 5 conspiracy count investor-

witnesses, consisting of records of LATD&ME, includ-

ing correspondence with those investors, was introduced

by stipulation and without objection.

The record is barren of any instance in which the

defense objected to the testimony of any investor wit-

ness on the ground that the government was endeavor-

ing to elicit irrelevant testimony concerning the age,

marital status, health, financial status or other con-

dition which might have been disallowed or restricted

by the trial judge in his discretion. The appellants

concede this to be so, and admit that the argument,

which they anticipate, that such objections were waived,

is perhaps well taken [Brief DF, p. 34]. However,

they seek refuge in a reference to Judge Frank's ob-

servation [Brief DF, p. 34] that the government

should not put defense counsel in the dilemma where

"as experienced trial lawyers have often observed, merely

to raise an objection to such testimony—and more, to

have the judge tell the jury to ignore it—often serves

but to rub it in," United States v. Grayson, 166 F. 2d

863, 871 (2d Cir. 1948).

Counsel for the defense were caught up in no such

dilemma at any time during the course of the trial. The

trial judge made it abundantly clear in his last pre-trial

order [C. T. 290-292] that elaboration of all objections
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was to be made during recesses and outside the presence

of the jury. This salutary ruHng- was strictly observed.

A portion of nearly every recess was taken up by the

court in considering arguments and objections concern-

ing matters which had arisen in the course of the pro-

ceedings.

Where doubt existed as to the propriety of any area

of interrogation, the court repeatedly directed counsel for

the government to proceed in a new direction until

further argument could be heard in the absence of the

jury [e.g., R. T. 1492; 1506; 2040].

In United States v. Brown, 79 F. 2d 321, 324 (2nd

Cir. 1935), certiorari denied, 296 U. S. 650, cited by

Judge Frank in a footnote to his concurring opinion in

United States v. Grayson, supra, at 870, the court

rebuked the conduct of the government in "getting

before the jury that in consequence of their losses some

buyers had lost their homes and their business, and

gone hopelessly into debt; that they lost everything in-

cluding their friends, and were destitute; that their

losses went into millions; that one unfortunate had

committed suicide," but nevertheless, affirmed the mail

fraud conviction in the light of the irrefragable show-

ing of guilt of the accused. The court noted that it had

''never given warrant to any such abuse" but had given

sanction to ".
. . evidence that the property bought

turned out to be worthless, or that it greatly fell in

value."

As Judge L. Hand said in Grayson v. United States,

supra, at 867, ".
. . it is never a ground of

objection to evidence directly relevant to the crime that

it exposes the accused to odium, or even implicates him
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in another crime . . . It is true that a judge has

discretion to rule out even relevant evidence if it is not

cogent and is more likely to distract, than to inform,

the jury; but that cannot be said of the very com-

munications between the accused and his victims. So

far as these incidentally arouse the hostility of the jury,

he is without relief. . .
."

The statement of Judge Frank in United States v.

Grayson, supra, at 871, that "... a prosecutor

ought not deliberately and repeatedly [as he held to

have been the case], put defendant's laywer in such

an awkward dilemma—where his client will suffer if

the lawyer does not object or if he does . .
." is

without the slightest relevance to the trial proceedings

which resulted in the conviction of these appellants.

The trial judge held counsel for the government to the

most rigid and exacting standards in the examination

of witnesses and otherwise in the conduct of the trial.

He frequently admonished counsel for the government

for even the slightest impropriety [R. T. 1432-1433;

1968-1969; 2040, 2053; 2054-2057], and himself inter-

vened at times, without objection having been made by

defense counsel, when he considered that the examina-

tion by government counsel might be exceeding permis-

sible limits [R. T. 1431, 1494-1496; 1977-1981; 2004;

2053].

The government is under a heavy obligation in a case

such as this, involving intricate and complex financial

machinations, intruding upon the lives of many thou-

sands of investors of widely dissimilar circumstances,

to lay before the jury the true fabric and structure of

the enterprise. This is true notwithstanding the fact
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that the proof may expose the accused as having

engaged in a sordid and heartless course of conduct.

As stated by Judge Bell in Greenhill v. United States,

298 F. 2d 405, 411 (5th Cir. 1962), certiorari denied,

371 U. S. 830, in affirming convictions for securities

and mail fraud

:

"The fact that the government used, without

objection based on prejudice, as five out of some

twenty investor witnesses one who was blind, and

others who were peculiarly objects of sympathy did

not deprive appellants of due process of a fair

trial. Appellants and not the government made

them investors and prospective witnesses."

E. The Trial Court Did Not Commit Error in

Admitting Exhibit 6003 Into Evidence.

1. Preliminary Statement.

Exhibit 6003 consists of two baskets containing cus-

tomer "sell orders" together with their attached cover-

ing letters, which documents were a part of LATD&-
ME's records at the time it went into receivership.^^

Although appellants now raise several contentions of

error in the trial court's admission of Exhibit 6003 into

evidence, none of these objections were presented be-

low to provide the trial judge an opportunity to pre-

vent any alleged error. ^^ Any "error" which may exist,

55R. T. 2798-2800.

^^Exhibit 6003 was "admitted" into evidence on two occasions.

The first time, during examination of Government witness Cole,

appellants objected on the ground of "no proper foundation"

[R. T. 2799], a basis not urged in this appeal [Brief DF, pp.

38-49]. Subsequently, during the direct examination of ap-

pellant David Farrell, it was discovered that the clerk did

not have 6003 marked in evidence, whereupon it was again of-
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was invited by appellants as a result of their with-

holding from the trial court during the trial their

knowledge that one letter containing a "newspaper ar-

ticle" reporting Judge Clarke's remarks after the civil

trial, and the other "prejudicial" letters were attached

to the sell orders comprising Exhibit 6003.^^ Such

fered by the government, "so that the question can be asked."
Appellants made no objection [R. T. 4007] and 6003 was again
received in evidence.

^^After the trial, Attorney Dunn filed a Memorandum [C. T.

530] alleging

:

".
. . 60O3 had attached to one of the 'sell orders' a highly

prejudicial newspaper article concerning the civil trial be-

tween SEC and LATD&ME . .
."

At the time of the hearing of appellants' motions for judgment of

acquittal, some three weeks after the trial, the court expressed

concern as to when Mr. Dunn first became aware of the news-
paper article. Mr. Dunn said that it had been brought to his

attention on the morning of arguments, after discovery by O. J.

Farrell [R. T. 4360] ; then amended this comment by saying

he did not find out about the article until the documents were
in the jury's possession [R. T. 4361]. Subsequently, Mr. Dunn
produced a note which he had received from O. J. Farrell during

the time the jury had come in for some questions, which note

was dated 4/16/62 at 4:55 p.m., and initialed by O.J.F. and
Mr. Dunn himself. The note read:

"I think the Government sneaked Judge Clarke's press re-

lease into evidence with the sell orders" [R. T. 4369-4370].

Attorney Holder, who had filed a declaration [C. T. 525] ad-

mitting :

"... During the trial I examined a random sample of the

sell orders contained in Exhibit 6003 ; because of the pres-

sure of time the two boxes of sell orders were not carefully

examined."

told the court at the hearing, that he personally was unaware
during the trial, of the "press clipping," but that after the trial,

O. J. Farrell had told him he "thought he saw a clipping in

there." Mr. Holder then looked through 6003, for the article, and

found it. In answer to the court's question : "And Mr. O. J.

Farrell then knew that during the time that the trial was going

on?" Mr. Holder responded, "I asume he did. I don't know.



—86—

objections may not be urged for the first time on appeal

absent a showing of "plain error.
"^^

Appellants were not surprised by an unexpected gov-

ernment offer of Exhibit 6003, nor did government

counsel misrepresent its intended use of the exhibit.^^

Nor is the allegation that the government failed to con-

form to the order of the court to excise certain "prejudi-

cial" material from 6003 supported by their transcript

reference [Brief DF, p. 42]

r

Irrespective of the foregoing, it is submitted that

6003 was properly admitted as a part of the business

records of LATD&ME.

Finally, if there was error in the admission of the ex-

hibit it was but "harmless error." The one "newspaper

article" mentioned by appellants has received emphasis

beyond deserved proportion. It was but a single attach-

ment, doubled over and stapled to its accompanying

"Customer sell order," selected by appellants out of the

more than 800 sell orders. (The others contain no such

58See:

Olender v. United States, 237 F. 2d 859, 866 (9th Cir.

1956), certiorari denied 352 U. S. 982 (1957);

Sekinojf v. United States, 283 Fed. 38, 39 (9th Cir. 1922) ;

Finnegan v. United States, 204 F. 2d 105, 111 (8th Cir.

1953), certiorari denied 346 U. S. 821 (1953).

^^See argument, injra.

®^The reference in the third paragraph of the transcript portion

quoted by appellants [i.e. at R. T. 3043-3044] clearly speaks of

those documents which have been "provisionally admitted." This

term was used by the court to describe those documents and

ledgers which had been offered by the government and specifi-

cally objected to because of lack of authentication of certain

notations [see R. T. 3041, lines 13-24]. This question was

never raised re: Exhibit 6003, and the quoted portion had noth-

ing whatsoever to do with that exhibit.
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attachment.) No showing has been made that the jury

inspected any of the contents of Exhibit 6003, let alone

that they found this specific document; or any of the

other letters now questioned as being "prejudicial."^^

Further, even if the "article" or the contents of other

letters had been seen, their content, was at most merely

cumulative of the other evidence in the trial, and did

not prejudice or affect the substantial rights of appel-

lant.*'

2. Appellants' Contentions of Error May Not Be Raised

for the First Time on Appeal.

(a) Appellants' Sole Objection at the Trial, to the

Admission of Exhibit 6003, Was on the Ground of

''No Proper Foundation''; and They May Not Urge

New Objections for the First Time on Appeal.

Appellants' argument^^ attacking the admission of Ex-

hibit 6003 into evidence contains numerous contentions

of error,^* none of which were even suggested to the

«iSee:

Carlson v. United States, 187 F. 2d 366 (10th Cir. 1951),
certiorari denied 341 U. S. 940 (1951).

«2See:

Gilbert v. United States, 307 F. 2d 322 (9th Cir. 1962) ;

United States v. Quong, 303 F. 2d 499, 504 (6th Cir.

1962)

;

Gordon v. United States, 164 F. 2d 855, 858 (6th Cir.

1947), certiorari denied, 333 U. S. 862 (1948) ;

Finncgan v. United States, 204 F. 2d 105 (8th Cir. 1953),
certiorari denied 346 U. S. 821 (1953).

«3See Brief DF, pp. 38-49.

^'^Appellants have failed to comply with Rule 18, Rules of the

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, which pro-

vides :

".
. . When the error alleged is to the admission or rejection

of evidence the specification shall quote the grounds urged
at the trial for the objection and the full substance of the evi-

dence admitted or rejected, and refer to the page number in

the printed or typewritten transcript where the same may be

found. . .
."
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trial court. At one time appellants did question the rele-

vancy, competency, materiality and the lack of proper

foundation of Exhibit 6003. The court at the time sus-

tained their objection [R. T. 2795-2796]. Subsequently,

when the foundation was laid and Exhibit 6003 was

again offered, appellants limited their objection to "no

proper foundation," abandoning" the objections of lack of

relevancy, materiality or competency. Counsel for David

Farrell amplified his single objection in the following

manner

:

"Your Honor, we object to it on the ground

that there is no proper foundation. Especially in

looking at 6002, and the dates, apparently, that are

put on here they are all late in June, or June 6th

and 7th, and certainly would not be admissible in

that regard unless there was a foundation as to

the time the requests were received." [R. T. 2798-

2799]. (Emphasis added).

The Court satisfied itself that the proper ".
. . founda-

tion as to . . . time . .
." had been laid by asking the

witness Leroy Cole, who had supervised the inventory

audit of LATD&ME:
"Were these requests part of the books of the

company when you went to make the audit at the

time you assisted in taking over? Were they in

the possession of the company at that time?"

The witness answered that "They were in the posses-

sion of the company", whereupon the court overruled

this sole objection [R. T. 2799].

These claims of error then, including those of hear-

say, surprise and improprieties on the part of the gov-
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ernment, are matters being presented to this court for

original determination.

Rule 51 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure

requires that in order to preserve a question for appeal

:

".
. . it is sufficient that a party, at the

time the ruling or order of the court is made

or sought . . . makes known to the court the

action which he desires the court to take or his

objection to the action of the court and the grounds

therefor . .
."

Objections to the admission of records and documents,

not having been made before the trial court, cannot be

urged here as reversible error.

Olender v. United States, 237 F. 2d 859, 866

(9th Cir. 1956), certiorari denied 352 U. S.

982 (1957).

Sekinoff v. United States, 283 Fed. 38 (9th Cir.

1922),

(b) Appellants "Invited the Error" of Which They

Now Complain, by Their Failure to Apprise the Trial

Court of Their Knowledge of the Alleged ''Prejudicial"

Material in Exhibit 6003.

The documents filed by Attorneys Dunn and Holder,

as well as their respective statements at the hearing

on Appellants' Motions for Judgment of Acquittal, after

the trial, clearly reveal that counsel and their clients

had opportunity to, and did examine Exhibit 6003 and

were aware of the "newspaper article" and other al-
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leged prejudicial documents, during the course of the

trial.««

Liquidation requests made by investors during the

month of May and the first week of June, 1960 were

recognized as material and relevant to the issues of

the case by Attorney Holder and his client Oliver J. Far-

rell. Appellant Farrell stated that during May, 1960

"... a number of customers were waiting for the

liquidation of their accounts . .
." [R. T. 3106].

On cross-examination he admitted that at the time

they were increasing the sales campaign in May, 1960

".
. . [he] knew that the company had more liqui-

dation requests than it was able to process immediate-

ly" [R. T. 3172] ; that they came in from a substan-

tial number of investors, perhaps several hundred; that

the amount of money needed was ''.
. . in the high

thousands . . ."; and that a mortorium had been

declared on any investor requests to receive their

money back [R. T. 3172-3175].

David Farrell also expressed complete familiarity with

the problem of liquidation requests during his direct

examination by Attorney Dunn, both generally and spe-

cifically regarding the contents of Exhibit 6003.®^

^^See Footnote 57, supra.

^^R. T. 4008—"Q. by Mr. Dunn: Mr. Farrell have you ex-

amined 6003? A. No, I have not examined it. I can tell by

looking at it w^hat it consists of.

Q. All right. Will you state what it consists of? A. It

consists of some orders received by the company during this
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The very documents contained in Exhibit 6003 them-

selves, patently indicate that both appellants David and

Oliver J. Farrell, in their respective positions as Presi-

dent and Vice President-Sales Manager, knew before the

trial ever began, the manner in which the sell orders

were being used, how they were coming in, the types of

documents which were attached to the sell orders, and

what the company's procedure was in handling these

sell orders.^^

Appellants' statement in their appendix regarding let-

ters containing "... a reference to Judge Clarke's

statement"^^ is misleading. The reference pertained to

a "form letter"^*^ which is to be distinguished from

period in question which had not been processed as of the June
8, 1960, date when the receiver took over.

Q. You are referring to the period of May and early June
1960? A. Yes; from May to June 1960. These are the re-

maining ones other than the ones we processed."

^^At least 45 of the sell orders, or the letter attachments thereto,

bear the initials "OJF," indicating that O. J. Farrell had reviewed

those sell orders and their stapled covering letters. {E.g., Sell

Orders for Account Numbers: 768, 786, 841, 1063, 1231, 504,

3154, 3251, 3261, 3481, 3885, 5031, 7202, 7338, 1677, 1691,

2386, 7839, 6909 and numerous others. On the bottom of the let-

ters attached to 20449, it is noted "O.J. would not ok for Rush
5-31-60." Nor is it surprising that these documents were

reviewed by Oliver J. Farrell, in that he was the man responsible

for the sales activities of all the branches of the company [R. T.

3097] and to whom all sales managers of the various branches

were answerable [R. T. 3114].

Forty-six sell orders bear the name "O. J. Farrell" typed in the

space apparently reserved for the name of the salesman for that

specific investor. {E.g., Account Numbers: 295, 401, 458, 5818,

7173, 20175, 20317, 20394, 20455, 20850, etc.)

David Farrell's name also appears on several other sell orders:

(Account Numbers: 20228, 20229, 20380, 20449).

^^See for example the reference to the letter of Joseph Pearson

No. 4703, Brief, O.F. Appendix p. 21.

70" I960.

"Recent articles in the newspapers quoting statements

made by Federal Judge Thurmond Clarke concerning SEC
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the stapled copy of the "newspaper article", which was

but one of over 800 documents found in Exhibit 6003.

The record shows that this "form letter" was pre-

pared by appellants and sent by them to investors who

were planning- to close out their account. Appellants,

through their "form letter" attempted to soHcit infor-

mation from investors regarding whether or not their

planned liquidation was based on "adverse publicity".

This "form" used in a manner which invited its re-

turn with the sell order, is now claimed to be "prejudi-

cial."^^ Appellants were trying to document for future

use, that investors closed out their accounts because of

hearings in the District Court, caused me to lose confidence

in the Los Angeles Trust Deed and Mortgage Exchange,
and to request the liquidation of my trust deeds as soon as

possible. This is the sole reason for this request and noth-

ing the Exchange has said or done has caused me to have
any doubts or complaints.

"^^B.g., Customer Sell Order for account No. 3134 for custom-

ers J. C. and Norma B. Greer, has as an attachment, an office

memorandum and a small 3"x4" typed note, which says:

"Dear Mrs. Greer:

"If you are with-drawing your funds for the reasons spe-

cified on this form, will you please sign it also, and return

it with the customer Sell Order? Thank you."

This note is stapled to an unsigned form, wherein a small

"x" had been indicated at the place for the signatures of the

Greers. The customer wrote on the form at the bottom "No,

I am being transferred to the East coast. James C. Greer.", and

did not sign the form where indicated.

No. 9132—Customer Sanders: Attached to the Sell Order is

a copy of the form letter, wherein after the first words in the

first sentence "Recent Articles in the newspapers quoting state-

ments . . .", the v/ord "allegedly" is interlineated into the sen-

tence. Also attached to the Sell Order and to the form letter is

a letter on the TD&ME Letterhead addressed to Mr. O. J.

Farrell from G. K. Sloan, which letter reads in part as follows:

"Dear O.J.
Re: Liquidation Senders No. 09132.

Enclosed is a Customer's Sell Order re : the above noted
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the alleged adverse publicity stimulated by Judge Clarke's

order, and the newspaper comments thereon, rather than

because of improprieties in the basic company operation.

The aforementioned familiarity with these sell orders,

and Exhibit 6003 in its entirety, both before and during

the trial, leaves no doubt that appellants knew exactly

what was contained in the sell orders, and the types of

documents and letters which customers had attached to

them in closing their accounts.

On May 14, 1962, at the post-trial hearing of appel-

lants' motions for judgment of acquittal, the trial judge

expressed his consternation that appellants had not re-

vealed their knowledge and concerns about the docu-

ments contained in 6003 to him at a time when he

could have reviewed their objections in a timely manner

so as to eliminate any "prejudicial" material from that

which would be going to the jury. When Attorney

Dunn pointed out that he hadn't brought it to the

court's attention because "... I didn't find it out

until after the documents had been in the jury's pos-

session" and that "it happened at a time when it was

too late to bring it to the court's attention", the court

responded, at Reporter's Transcript 4361

:

"No, it is never too late. I could have still

called it back from the jury, still called the box

account. Will you kindly submit it for processing-? En-
closed also is a statement signed by Mr. and Mrs. Sanders
with regard to the SEC hearings."

No. 5124—Customer Watters: Attached to the Sell Order
is a signed form letter, as well as a memorandum on TD&ME
letterhead from the Santa Barbara office to the Administrative

Department, wherein it is noted : "Enclosed is portfolio on TD
11654, Sell Order for withdrawal in full, and signed Affidavit

re publicity."
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back, and if it hadn't been tampered with—I just

can't see, Mr. Dunn, if it was known to the de-

fendants either before or after this was submitted

to the jury, and before the jury returned its verdict,

it was not proper, of course improper conduct not

to inform the court.

I was interested in how that happened to be dis-

covered at that time. That is all I have to say on

that."

Prior to denying appellant's motions, the court again

addressed itself to what it referred to as "invited error"

on the part of appellants and amplified its feeling of

how appellants had not met their obligation to advise

the court of what they believed to be objectionable ma-

terial in Exhibit 6003, and that they had "taken their

chance" by remaining silent at a time when the court

might have remedied the situation, if such would have

been necessary.'^^

72At R. T. 4379-4381, the court observed:

"However, there was the new question which was raised,

or you might say new questions in connection with Exhibit

6003. Now with the explanation which we have here this

morning, I feel that there was an obligation on, first of all,

the part of the defendants, when the defendants knew that

that particular material was in 6003, to so advise the court,

and of course there is no doubt but that the court would
have removed that from the file, and if there was other

material in the file of a like nature, such as letters, there is

no doubt but that the court would have removed that. I

think the record here speaks for itself that during the course

of the trial every time a matter v\^as mentioned where some
objectionable material was on an exhibit, that the court, if it

admitted it at all, admitted it provisionally on the removal

of the objectionable material. So in view of that fact, and

of the further fact that before the jury returned its verdict

that counsel for David Farrell was informed, at least, that

the exhibit might be in the possession of the jury, and that

that information was not called to the attention of the court,

at which time the court might then have called for a return
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As the court pointed out, there was no showing that

the jury even considered the contents of Exhibit 6003,

a point bolstered by government counsel's observation

that the jury would have had difficulty in reading the

"newspaper article" (which was then in court) because

of the manner in which it was stapled to the accompany-

ing Sell Order [R. T. 4373].

In Finnegan v. United States, 204 F. 2d 105 (8 Cir.

1953), certiorari denied 346 U. S. 821, a case present-

ing a similar problem, where the documents involved

had not been introduced into evidence, yet mistakenly

found their way into the jury room; the Court rejected

the contention that the defendant was prejudiced, and

in affirming the conviction, held

:

".
. . The question was raised on motion for

new trial. The motion was not only entertained

but this specific question was considered by the

court and passed upon adversely to the defendant.

The ruling of the court on motion for new trial

is not ordinarily reviewable on appeal if the court

entertained the motion and its decision thereon is

not manifestly an abuse of discretion. . . . (cita-

of the exhibits, in order to determine if the jury had in any
manner investigated this particular exhibit, at that time the

court could even have interrogated each of the jurors as to

whether they had read the particular article. And maybe
the court, if the jurors had said yes, why, at that time
maybe the court would have declared a mistrial. But now
the defendants have taken their chance, and whether the

jurors or any one of the jurors read it, of course we don't

know. I therefore feel that ij there ivas any error committed
in permitting this or the other exhibits containing, say, like

material, if there are such, why, that error was at least in

part invited by the defendants and that they should not

at this time be permitted to claim that it should not have
happened. . .

." [R. T. 4379-4381; Emphasis added.]
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tions omitted). In the instant case, the court

gave careful consideration to the motion and denied

it on three grounds: (1) That defendant's at-

torneys who were present at the time the exhibits

were sent to jury were under a duty to examine

them and failed to object to the submission of the

documents to the jury; (2) That the matters con-

tained in the documents were cumulative to other

evidence which the jury had heard and . . .

".
. . Defendant's counsel had notice that it

was the purpose of the court to send all exhibits

to the jury and no objections were made .

There was no showing that the jury in fact ex-

amined these exhibits and there is no evidence in-

dicating that defendant was prejudiced by their

having been placed in the hands of the jury. . . ,"

It is submitted that the above quoted decision paral-

lels the rationale of the trial court in the instant case,

in its denial of appellants' motions for judgment of

acquittal, and that the question here should be disposed

of in similar fashion.

3. Appellants' Argument That Exhibit 6002 Was Not a

"True Summary of Exhibit 6003 as Represented to the

Court by the Government," Misstates the Context of

Witness Cole's Testimony and the Stated Purport of

Exhibit 6002.

Appellants argue that the government, through its

witness Leroy Cole, misrepresented the purport of Ex-

hibit 6002, and that it was not a "true summary of the

content of Exhibit 6003," according to the dictionary

meaning of the word ''summary." They further sug-

gest that: ".
. . Unless the Court examined 6003,
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in detail there would be no way for the Court to be

made aware of its true contents."'^^

The partial quotation of Cole's testimony, wherein he

stated: "We made a summary of the requests for

liquidation that were on hand on June 8," does not

fairly reflect the complete context of Cole's explanation

of the subject of his compilation marked Exhibit 6002.

Cole fully described his purpose in preparing Exhibit

6002, as follows:

"Medvene: I place before you Government's

6002 and ask what that purports to he? (Emphasis

,
added).

"Answer: This purports to be a list of the in-

dividual requests for liquidation which were in

the hands of the Los Angeles Trust Deed and

Mortgage Exchange on June 8th, 1960. This lists

the customer number, the date of the request, and

the amount that was requested for liquidation.

This consists of approximately eight hundred re-

quests, and the total amount is $3,630,000. These

are all dated in May and June of 1960." [R. T.

2798]. (Emphasis added.)

Appellants concede the accuracy of Exhibit 6002 as to

its statistical content, and complain only that it did not

include other information contained in the sell orders

or letter attachments, comprising Exhibit 6003. (E.g.,

The various reasons stated by investors for closing their

accounts, etc.) Not only would such information have

been quite outside the scope of Cole's accounting compu-

tations, but appellee finds strange the inconsistent atti-

73Brief DF, pp. 48-49.
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tude on the part of appellants by their present complaint

that Cole did not also include this ''prejudicial" material

in Exhibit 6002.

In Carlson v. United States, 187 F. 2d 366 (10th Cir.

1951), when an objection was urged as to a compila-

tion of figures made by an accountant, and taken from

certain records, the court held at 372

:

".
. . All of this statistical data was taken

from other exhibits which were introduced in evi-

dence. It reduced these figures to concise form.

It is not contended that the exhibits do not cor-

rectly reflect the information taken from a great

number of individual exhibits. All the data shown

by these exhibits were contained in other exhibits

in evidence. Reducing it to a simpler form did

not prejudice the rights of appellants and there

was no error in the receipt of these exhibits."

Appellants are not only presenting an unsupported

allegation to this court for the first time, but it appears

a belated attempt to seek relief on a point which they

elected to remain silent about in the trial court. That

they were aware of the nature and "true contents" of

Exhibit 6003 has been clearly demonstrated. Yet neither

they nor their counsel chose to complain regarding the

subject matter of Exhibit 6003, or that they did not feel

that Exhibit 6002 depicted a fair summary of all of the

documents in 6003.
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4. The Government Did Not Mislead or Surprise Appel-

lants as to Its Intended Use of Exhibit 6003,

The appellants contend that the government made

spurious representations to the court when it "advised

repeatedly that it was not going to submit the Exhibit

6003 into evidence and was not going to use it . .
."/^

Contrary to appellants' statement, nothing said by

government counsel misled them as to the intended use

of Exhibit 6003. These documents were brought into

court solely as underlying records to support Leroy

Cole's computations found in Exhibit 6002. The neces-

sity for the ultimate government offer was precipitated

by appellants' own demands.

The documents comprising Exhibit 6003 were brought

to the court's and appellants' attention in a discussion

which occurred, out of the presence of the jury, on

March 20, 1962; some three weeks prior to the end of

the trial [R. T. 1628]. Government counsel advised

that a box of records was available to appellants, which

contained liquidation requests which LATD&ME had

received prior to the close of business, and which had

not been honored as of that time. Counsel further

pointed out: "We think they have seen them all.

They got all the letters"; that these documents had

been "kept down at LATD and the defendants had as

much access to them as we had"; and that they had

been examined in 1960, as a part of underlying records,

by an independent accounting firm [R. T. 1628-1631].

The government's position was clear that it did not

'^Brief DF, pp. 46-47.

Note: The reference at the top of Brief, DF, p. 40, to the

government's "statement", did not refer to GX 6003.
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want to, nor intend to offer the records comprising

Exhibit 6003 into evidence, inasmuch as it contained only

underlying records, unless the court or defense counsel

wanted it in.^^ Thereafter, defense counsel made nu-

'^The context in which the government introduced GX 6003
appears at R. T. 1664-1667, and is not as stated by appellants
(Brief D. F., p. 39) :

".
. . we tried with those records, and others, even if they

are not going to be evidence, to give that information to

defense counsel.

"We don't intend to use anything in that box, sir. But
when a witness is on the stand and testifies that x amount
of dollars, and so forth, were in liquidation, we just want
to mark that infomiation. They are the defendant's records.

"We are not going to introduce them and take the time
of the court. But we just wanted them available to de-
fense counsel.

"... I think I conveyed to the court that we wanted to

put them in evidence. IVe don't. It is just the underlying
data.

"It is the same thing with the other accounting records
that we are trying to get together. We are not going to put
that in as evidence^ unless your honor wants it in or de-

fense counsel wants it in. We have no objection to it, hut
it wasn't our plan to put it in. It is just the underlying
data. (Emphasis added.)

"We thought we could help expedite things if we presented
it now."

"The Court : I understand your statement here now
. . . It is here for counsel for the defendants to exam-
ine it ... I understand that you will call witnesses,

however, that have actually examined this material ; is that

correct ?

"Mr. Medvene: Yes, sir.

"The Court: They will be expert witnesses that will say
they have examined the records of LATD and that these

records are the records here which you are referring to.

* * *

"Mr. Dunn: All I can say, your Honor, is that apparently

the Government wants us to examine these for some reason.

We don't know the purpose at the present time. If there is

going to be accounting data submitted to this court, sum-
maries and things of that kind, upon which this material

is based, we need to have summaries in order to analyze
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merous objections on grounds of lack of foundation or

that the supporting records for particular summaries

which Mr. Cole had prepared, were not present in the

courtroom, and in evidence.^^ [R. T. 2787, 2790].

The Court sustained the objections and it became

obvious that defense counsel and the court wanted the

underlying records of LATD&ME to be admitted in

order to support Mr. Cole's testimony. The govern-

ment then, and only then, offered GX 6003 in evidence.

5. Exhibit 6003 Was Properly Admitted Into Evidence

as Business Records o£ LATD&ME.

Appellants presently urge Exhibit 6003 is not a busi-

ness record, and therefore is not admissible into evidence

as an exception to the hearsay rule. Appellants did not

raise this objection below, thus effectively precluding

the court from remedying any possible gap in the record.

them with the material. It would do no good for us

now. . . .

"The Court : When are the summaries going to be avail-

able?

"Mr. Medvene : As far as the summaries are concerned,

we submitted an exhibit register on them, and the summaries
will be in this court five minutes after we close. . . ."

'^^After a discussion relative to another of Mr. Cole's account-

ing statements, GX 6000, and a showing that LATD & ME
was insolvent to the extent of $1,250,000, the following colloquy

occurred [R. T. 2790-2791] :

"Mr. Jacobs : I move to strike that, if the court please,

on the ground that there is no foundation laid for it, the

statements that he used, unless we have the record itself.

The Court : What do you mean by 'no foundation' ?

Mr. Jacobs : The foundation would be in the work sheets,

your Honor, and the records themselves.

The Court: In other words, you are raising the objec-

tion that the records on which he relies are not in evidence?

Is that the question you are raising, Mr. Jacobs?
Mr. Jacobs: Right.

The Court: Objection sustained. And the answer is

stricken."
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Appellants' counsel not only did not raise this objection

below, but expressly informed the court that Exhibit

6003 contained "business records" used by LATD&ME
"during its course of business" [R. T. 4349; C. T. 530].

Assuming this court were to permit appellants to re-

verse their previously taken position, the government

respectfully submits the records in question were ad-

missible under the business records exception to the

hearsay rule.

2% U. S. C. 1732 (Federal Business Records

Act) -r

Olender v. United States, 237 F. 2d 859, 866

9th Cir. 1956, certiorari denied 352 U. S. 982

(1957).

The printed form entitled "Customer Sell Order" was

prepared by LATD&ME and designed by them as a

means through which investors might close out their

accounts. The company anticipated partial preparation

of the "form" by the customer; approval by the sales

representative ; and notations by the LATD&ME staff
.^^

"All the hallmarks of authenticity surround this

document, since it was made pursuant to established

company procedures for the systematic, routine,

timely making and preserving of company records."

United States v. Olivo, 278 F. 2d 415, 417 (3rd

Cir. 1960).

See also:

United States v. Tellier, 255 F. 2d 441, 448 (2d

Cir. 1958), certiorari denied 358 U. S. 821.

^^See Appendix Q.

'8GX 1663. See Appendix R.
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The cases cited by appellants are readily distinguish-

able from the instant case. In Amtorg Trading Corp. v.

Higgins, 150 F. 2d 536 (2d Cir. 1945), the letter in

question was not a record of any business transaction,

made as a systematic routine during appellant's business.

The "sell orders" in the instant case were routinely

made, used, and retained as a part of the books and

records of LATD&ME. In Standard Oil Co. v. Moore,

251 F. 2d 188, 213 (9th Cir. 1957), certiorari denied

356 U. S. 975 (1958), the subject documents consisted

largely of interoffice communications concerning the

marketing, pricing and practices of other oil com-

panies and of competing service station operations.

This Court pointed out that records are admissible under

Section 1732 if they:

"... reflect the day-to-day operations of a com-

merical enterprise ... in which it is directly con-

cerned as a participant. . .
." (Emphasis added).

LATD&ME's policy made mandatory the use of the

form "sell order" as the specific document to be used,

initiated by the investor, and processed by the company,

to accomplish the liquidation of an investor's account.

The covering letters sent by some investors with their

"sell orders" were deemed by LATD&ME as a neces-

sary adjunct to the form itself. Of the 213 "sell orders"

which did contain a customer letter, ^^ 184 had a notation

on the "Special Instructions" line, specifically adopting

the attached letter by direct reference to it.^° In addi-

'^The letters were all stapled to the "sell orders," ostensibly by
the company.

^^E.g., "See attached letter for instructions."
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tion, some customers, pursuant to LATD&ME's request,

returned the company's "form letter"^^ which had

solicited their assent that their liquidation was due to

the adverse publicity the company allegedly had received.

These "form letters" were similarly retained by

LATD&ME as stapled attachments to their respective

"sell orders."

In Bisno v. United States, 299 F. 2d 711 (9th Cir.

1961), certiorari denied 370 U. S. 952 (1962), letters

were held to be admissible under 28 U. S. C. 1732.

Appellant there contended:

"... some of the correspondence in said exhibits

was not written by him, and argues that letters,

as distinguished from records of events and book

entries, are not admissible as an exception to the

hearsay rule permitted by the Official Records Act,

Title 28, U.S.C.A. §1732. It is Bisno's position

that the 'Official Records Act does not extend to

documents which purport to be simply recitals, like

letters. And those are not records kept in the due

course of business at all.' " (p. 718).

This court disregarded such contention and held:

"We do not regard the Official Records Act as

being so restrictive. This act permits the intro-

duction into evidence of 'any writing or record,

whether in the form of an entry in a book or other-

wise, made as a memorandum or record of any act,

transaction, or occurrence, or events * * * if made

in the regular course of any business, and if it was

the regular course of such business to make such

«iSee footnote 70 for context of "form letter".
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memorandum or record at the time of such act,

transaction, occurrence, or event or within a reason-

able time thereafter. The mere fact that the

memoranda taken from chronological files are in

the form of letters does not operate to remove the

materials in 58-A - 65A from the Official Records

Act. Neither does the fact that some of the

letters were not written by Bisno himself affect

the admissibility of such letters under the act, since

that act provides 'all other circumstances of the

making of such writing or record, including lack

of personal knowledge by the entrant or maker, may

be shown to affect its weight, but such circum-

stances shall not affect its admissibility' . . .

".
. . Bisno has pointed to nothing about the

form or substance of the correspondence appear-

ing in Exhibits 58-A - 65-A which removes it from

the ambit of the Official Records Act or places it

outside the policy of exceptions to the hearsay rule

contemplated by that act." (pp. 718-719).

See also:

Bodnar v. United States, 248 F. 2d 481 (6th Cir.

1957).

Appellants state "numerous notations by parties un-

known" are found on documents contained in Exhibit

6003. There was no objection raised below as to the

authenticity of these notations. The notations generally

consist merely of initials, dates, times, or similar mark-

ings indicating they were made by personnel of LATD-
&ME as part of their systematic procedure utilized in

processing these documents.
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The documents contained in Exhibit 6003 are clearly

the kind of ".
. . contemporaneous record of events,

systematically prepared . .
." by LATD&ME for its

own use and ".
. . relied upon by it in the perform-

ance of its functions . .
." in Hquidating investors'

accounts.

La Porte v. United States, 300 F. 2d 878 (9th

Cir. 1962).

It is submitted that the sell orders and their letter

attachments were utilized as a systematic record keep-

ing process, prepared for the purpose of expediting

orderly liquidation of investors' accounts; and that they

were material and competent, due to the intrinsic rela-

tion of the documents to the very nature of LATD&
ME's business, and were properly received in evidence

for the purpose offered.

6. No "Plain Error" or Substantial Harm Resulted to

Appellants From the Admission of Exhibit 6003.

Assuming arguendo, this court were to find the rec-

ords in question are not "business" records, and that

appellants have not "waived" their present objection

or "invited the error" of which they now complain,

it is respectfully submitted that Government Exhibit

6003's admission into evidence was but "harmless error"

within the meaning of Rule 52 of the Federal Rules

of Criminal Procedure.^^ As the Supreme Court said

regarding the existence of error in the record,

^2"Rule 52. Harmless Error and Plain Error.

"(a) Harmless Error. Any error, defect, irregularity or vari-

ance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded.

"(b) Plain Error. Plain errors or defects affecting substan-

tial rights may be noticed although they were not brought to the

attention of the court."
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".
. . we cannot say that the ruling was

prejudicial even if we assume it was erroneous.

Mere 'technical errors' which do not 'affect the sub-

stantial rights of the parties' are not sufficient to

set aside a jury verdict in an appellate court. He
who seeks to have a judgment set aside because

of an erroneous ruling carrieyS the burden of show-

ing that prejudice resulted'' Palmer v. Hoffman,

318 U. S. 109, 116 (1943) (Emphasis added).

Appellants have not carried their burden. Instead of

showing "prejudice", they merely shout the word.

Their excited statements alone do not play midwife to

reality.

See also:

Lohmann v. United States, 285 F. 2d 50, 51,

(9th Cir. 1960)

;

Gilbert v. United States, 307 F. 2d 322, 326

(9th Cir. 1962)

;

Smith V. United States, 173 F. 2d 181, 184

9th Cir. 1949).

Appellants contend that "... a cursory examina-

tion of the [approximately 800] letters will readily dis-

close that they contain highly inflammatory and preju-

dicial material . . . (See Brief DF, Appendix pp.

21-27.)" However, a more thorough examination of

all of the sell orders and the letter attachments gives

an entirely different impression than that portrayed

in Appellant's Appendix (pp. 28 et seq.). Even the 51

items chosen by appellants as a "sampling" of the more
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than 800 total gives lie to their claim of prejudice, as

illustrated in the footnote below.®^

^^E.g. No. 4702, Pearson, No. 4830, Dillman, and No. 6314
Meitus, are cited as "prejudicial" because they all refer to the civil

judgment and newspaper accounts of Judge Clarke's statements.

In actuality, the reference in each letter is the "form letter" fur-

nished to the investor, and returned at LATD&ME's request, as

an attachment to the sell order. No. 20479, Bell, also noted

as "referring to the litigation and newspaper articles", actually

states in reference to a previously received letter from LATD-
&ME, that the company had "enclosed some reprints from the

newpapers regarding some litigation of which I had previously

been unaware."

Six other of appellants' "sampling" expressly state an inten-

tion to reinvest with LATD&ME as soon as their present finan-

cial need is met. Examples, No. 4496, Gellibray (sic) should be

McGillivray; No. 2777, Lemons; No. 3812, Watson; No. 1300,

Whittaker ; No. 20208, Class ; and No. 20414, Padden. Further,

No. 6675, Olsen, indicates only a partial liquidation. Examples
of the specific language used by these investors, and claimed to

be "highly inflammatory" are

:

No. 4496—"This money was placed with you for the pur-

pose of buying a home and when this matter is settled we
will place funds with you again . . ."

No. 2777—"I am getting wedding (sic) next month and
I will need the money for the wedding and the purchase

of a house.

"I would thank you for your trouble and tell you that my
association with you has been most pleasant and profitable.

I hope before to (sic) long to be able to open another

account with you.

"Thank you again."

No. 3812—After requesting only a partial liquidation and
noting that he intends to restore his account to the original

balance, this customer concludes by saying: "I wish to ex-

press my appreciation of the efficient and satisfactory man-
ner in which my account has been handled by your company."

Another six of the sell orders contain no such letter attach-

ment from the customer, as so indicated by appellants. The
complained of language in three of the orders is attached to

TD&ME letterhead memoranda, referring specifically to action

to be taken by O. J. Farrell (No. 2791, Jones; No. 2742, Whit-
son; and No. 1366, Bonjours.) The other three state the reason

for liquidating right on the face of the sell order (No. 7154,

Benjamin; No. 7153, Gebhard, and No. 2815, Eagle.)
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A total of 7ZZ sell orders contained in Exhibit 6003

either stated no reason at all for closing the account

or only a non-critical reason (of LATD&ME) ; 530

of these did not even have a letter from the investor

attached to them. In addition, 32 investors had com-

ments of praise for the company or remarks to the

effect that they had enjoyed a pleasant relationship

with the company; and 53 declared an intent or hope

to reinvest with LATD&ME in the near future (as

seen in Appellants' own sampling) .^^

Regardless of what, if anything was attached to any

of the sell orders, there has been no showing that even

one of them was read in the jury room. This exhibit

was accompanied by over 2000 numbered exhibits con-

taining many more thousands of documents. Even

had the jury explored each in detail, appellants would

not have been prejudiced, inasmuch as the other evi-

dence admitted during the trial, whether documentary

or testimonial, stated virtually all of the matter now

asserted to be "prejudicial" to appellants' interests.^^

^^The "newspaper article" attached to the Max Skolnick sell

order, was unique, and the only such example appellants were

able to challenge out of this myriad of other sell orders.

^^E.g. Witness West testified he rejected three trust deeds be-

cause LATD&ME had not met the specifications he outlined

to them, namely : he did not want trust deeds which could be

subordinated to further liens ; or on vacant land ; or which had
insufficient security, or which were against overvalued land ; or

out of the Bay region. He also testified he had not received

any earnings on his principal $2,500 investment, although his

money was with the company from November 21, 1958 to June
8, 1959. This lack of earnings despite the fact that the monthly
statements he received, showed regular increases in his earnings

[R. T 2188-2200].

Witness Penning's letters to LATD&ME complained that he
had not received the $1,392.20 earnings on his account; the com-
pany failed to answer his four letters. [GX 2016] ; the company
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In the instant case all of the material in Exhibit 6003

was cumulative and the rationale of Bisno v. United

States, 299 R 2d 711, 719 (9th Cir. 1961), certiorari

denied 370 U. S. 952 (1962) is here applicable:

".
. . While Bisno complains that said exhibits

contain many irrelevant writings, he has failed to

point out any material in said exhibits which he

claims to be irrelvant. He further contends that

the introduction en masse of such exhibits preju-

diced him in the eyes of the jury. Yet he fails to

point out any material in said exhibits which mis-

led the jury or erroneously influenced the verdict

of the jury."

Similarly, in United States v. Quong, 303 F. 2d 499,

504 (6th Cir. 1962), certiorari denied 371 U. S. 863,

the court, noting that certain documents were in sub-

stantial compliance with the provisions of 28 U. S. C.

1732, pointed out:

''.
. . However, in any event this documen-

tary evidence was cumulative as there was . . .

did not pay him the 10% return [GX 2071] ; and that he liqui-

dated because of his business needs [GX 2012].

Witness Beerup testified of her displeasure in having a delin-

quent trust deed in her account [R. T. 1063] ;
(LATD&ME's

records indicating her trust deed had been delinquent since Feb-
ruary 1, 1960) [GX 515, R. T. 1099].

Witness Henno expressed her concern to LATD&ME about

the investigation of the 10% companies. She was told that

LATD&ME was not under investigation ; that the judge was
prejudiced and that it was the newer companies other than

LATD&ME who were being investigated [R. T. 1134-1139].

Witness Eppley testified that after reading about LADT&ME's
Htigation with the S.E.C. in the newspaper, she was worried

about LATD&ME and went to visit the company with the inten-

tion of asking for her money [R. T. 768].
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[other proof]. Some of the other record evidence

was also cumulative.

"We believe and conclude that the admission of

the documentary evidence by the District Judge,

charged as erroneous, did not visit any prejudice

upon the appellants, nor 'affect substantial rights'

of the appellants. Rule 52(a) Federal Rules of

Criminal Procedure . .
." (Other citations

omitted).

See also:

Bailey v. United States, 282 F. 2d 421, 426

(9th Cir. 1960), certiorari denied 365 U. S.

828 (1961);

Stevens v. United States, 256 F. 2d 619, 623-

625 (9th Cir. 1958)

;

Papadakis v. United States, 208 F. 2d 945, 952

(9th Cir. 1953);

Gordon v. United States, 164 F. 2d 855, 858

6th Cir. 1947) ; certiorari denied, 303 U. S.

862 (1948);

Finnegan v. United States, 204 F. 2d 105, 112

(8th Cir. 1953), certiorari denied, 346 U. S.

821.

It is respectfully submitted in the case at bar there

was overwhelming proof that appellants designed and

engineered the fraudulent nature of the business op-

erations of LATD&ME. The admission into evidence

of Exhibit 6003 did not affect the substantial rights

of appellants, nor result in a manifest miscarriage of
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justice.^® As said in United States v. Maisel, 183 F. 2d

724, 726 (3rd Cir. 1950) :

".
. . Our search of the record fails to show

that appellant was seriously prejudiced by the evi-

dence. Virtually all of the vital facts have been

conceded. Under the pertinent law they constitut-

ed overwhelming proof of appellant's guilt as

charged in the indictment. The verdict was the

only reasonable result which could have been ar-

rived at by the jury."

F. The Evidence Is Sufficient to Sustain the Jury's

Finding That Appellants Were Guilty as

Charged in the Indictment.

The Government respectfully submits that the evi-

dence is sufficient to sustain the jury's verdicts. Es-

pecially is this true when this court considers the evi-

dence and inferences that can be drawn from it most

favorably to the Government.

Glasser v. United States, 315 U. S. 60 (1941);

Sander v. United States, 239 F. 2d 239 (9th

Cir. 1956)

;

Robinson v. United States, 26 F. 2d 645 (9th

Cir. 1959)

;

Young v. United States, 298 F. 2d 108 (9th

Cir. 1962) certiorari denied 370 U. S. 953.

Benchwick v. United States, 297 F. 2d 330 (9th

Cir. 1961).

8«See: Gilbert v. United States, 307 F. 2d 322 (9th Cir. 1962).



—113—

As the Supreme Court said in Glasser v. United

States, supra at 80:

"It is not for us to weigh the evidence or to

determine the credibiHty of witnesses. The ver-

dict of a jury must be sustained if there is sub-

stantial evidence, taking the view most favorable

to the Government, to support it. . . . Participa-

tion in a criminal conspiracy need not be proved

by direct evidence; a common purpose and plan

may be inferred from a 'development and a colloca-

tion of circumstances.' " (Citations omitted.)

The credibility of witnesses and the weight to be

attached to their testimony is certainly a matter within

the province of the trial court who has had the oppor-

tunity to see and hear the witnesses.

Stoppelli V. United States, 183 F. 2d 391 (9th

Cir. 1950) certiorari denied 340 U. S. 864.

Norfolk V. McKenzie, 116 F. 2d 632 (6th Cir.

1941).

Appellee submits that the evidence presented at the

trial, as indicated in the Statement of Facts, clearly

was sufficient to sustain the jury's verdicts of guilt as

to appellants.
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Conclusion.

The appellants David Farrell and Oliver J. Farrell

were convicted by a jury after a fair trial. Their con-

tentions before this court are without substance or

merit. The judgments and sentences should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

Francis C. Whelan,
United States Attorney,

Thomas R. Sheridan,

Assistant United States Attorney,

Chief, Criminal Section,

Edward M. Medvene,

Special Assistant to the

United States Attorney,

J. Brin Schulman,
Assistant United States Attorney,

Attorneys for Appellee,

United States of America.

Certificate.

I certify that, in connection with the preparation of

this brief, I have examined Rules 18 and 19 of the

United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit,

and that, in my opinion, the foregoing brief is in full

compliance with those rules.

Edward M. Medvene
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I.

Appellee's Statement of Facts Clearly and Accu-

rately Documents Appellants' Scheme to De-

fraud.

Appellee submits that its Statement of Facts is an

accurate and truthful summary of a complex criminal

prosecution which lasted twenty-seven trial days, dur-

ing which time more than 2,000 exhibits were intro-

duced and over 4,000 pages of testimony was taken.

The Statement, of necessity, was limited to the major

points of appellants' scheme to defraud and could not

and did not include all evidence introduced during the

trial establishing appellants' misrepresentations and

concealments in the creation, operation and offering of

the Secured 10% Earnings Program to the investing

public. Nor does the Statement give undue emphasis
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to any particular aspect of the scheme to defraud such

as appellant David Farrell attempts to do in his com-

ments concerning "joint participation agreement" (Re-

ply Brief, D. F. pp. 3-4).

Appellant David Farrell takes exception to the State-

ment of Facts, asserting that it "is a study in the

use of hyperpole [sic], insinuation and omission." (Re-

ply Brief, D. F. p. 1). However, despite appellant's

blanket assertion, he is able to present only a few isolat-

ed instances in which the Statement of Facts is allegedly

deficient. When closely examined, even these few

meager examples show that appellee's Statement of

Facts is completely supported by the record.

Appellant David Farrell claims that appellee's conclu-

sion that $207,000 had been "misappropriated" in the

Suisun Pierce Gardens transaction is not borne out by

the record.^ Actually appellee's Appendix A and Ex-

planatory Note (9) establish that a portion of the $207,-

000 was in fact disbursed from the general funds of

LATD&ME to William Bennett personally, and the re-

mainder was disbursed to several of the numerous per-

sonal ventures entered into by David Farrell and Wil-

liam Bennett.^

In addition, David Farrell contends the record does

not support appellee's ".
. . characterization [in]

. . . (Gov't. App. A, Item (X) (20)) that there

was a joint venture agreement entered into by appel-

lant in connection with the Palm Springs Alpine Es-

tates transaction . . .
." Item X(20) does not in-

^Appellant David Farrell's Reply Brief, pp. 1-2, footnote 1.

^Appellee's Brief, Appendix A, Item (L) (18).
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dicate that David Farrell entered into a joint venture

agreement relating to Palm Springs Alpine Estates, but

rather that there were "Participations by David Farrell"

in conjunction with that transaction.

In this situation, David Farrell personally acquired

320 acres, ^ which acreage was a portion of the larger

property acquired by the developer from the original

owner. This 320 acres was one-half of Section 25,

which was one of the two most valuable sections in

the area [R. T. 2316-2317], and it was not encumbered

by any of the 653 trust deeds ''purchased" by

LATD&ME. Those trust deeds covered other property

known as Palm Springs Alpine Estates [GX. 394].

Appellant asserts the government took ''only a

trainee appraiser's report" relating to the Capitol Park

Estates tract in Sacramento, California as representative

of the value of that property. This appraisal, so

strongly objected to, was made by a member of

LATD&ME's so-called appraisal department and was

offered into evidence by appellant David Farrell [R. T.

3863]. On cross-examination, David Farrell admitted

knowing the land had been valued at $666 per lot [R. T.

^Under the terms of an Agreement dated April 18. 1960 be-

tween Lincoln Mining- Corporation (David Farrell's corporation

[R. T. 3939]) and Palm Springs Alpine Estates. Lincoln Min-
ing Corporation transferred 10.000 shares of Southern California

Land and Development Corporation stock, which stock had no
material value [R. T. 3938], to Palm Springs Alpine Estates in

exchange for a grant deed to the fee title to the "western one-

half of Sec. 25, T. 5 South, R. 4 East, San Bernardino Base
and Meridian, County of Riverside." This 320 acres was taken

free and clear by Lincoln Mining Corporation and the Agree-
ment specifically stated that "this conveyance ... is not made
for creating a trust or security deposit, nor an agency relation-

ship with respect to either the land or the shares of stock con-

veyed." [GX. 400, 401.]
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4134]^ but claimed the trust deeds were valued on what

the "finished" value of the lot would be. Farrell

realized it would cost between $1,300 to $1,700 to

"finish" each lot, or that a total of well over a million

dollars would be necessary to improve the 1,451 lots

upon which trust deeds had been placed. Regardless

of this fact Farrell testified that no money had been

set aside for the improvement of the land [R. T. 4138-

4139],

Appellant notes that William Bennett testified that

the Capitol Park Estates land had been appraised by an-

other appraiser at $4,000 per acre as raw land without

utilities. Against 355 acres of this property 1,451 trust

deeds were created, each having a face value of $1,350.

Even utilizing the $4,000 per acre raw land estimate, it

is readily seen that LATD&ME allowed each acre of

land to be encumbered with at least $5,400 of trust

deeds.'

Appellant David Farrelf also criticizes that portion

of appellee's Statement of Facts^ relating to the ap-

praisal on the Villa Nipomo tract. Appellant refers to

"the extensive evidence by Mr. Farrell," establishing

the lots were to be developed as trailer sites. This "ex-

tensive evidence" amounted to one paragraph of David

Farrell's direct examination where he stated the trailer

sites "would have a value somewhere between twenty-

^This amount was set out in Appellant's own appraisal re-

port, Exhibit DF-AY, as the value for each "tentative lot" to

be developed.

^Bennett testified this property could be divided into 4 to AYz
lots per acre [R. T. 1371].

«Reply Brief DF, p. 2, footnote 2(b).

^Appellee's Brief, pp. 34-36.
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four hundred dollars and twenty-eight hundred dollars

upon completion . .
." [Emphasis added; R. T.

4231]. Even if this were true, the "independent" ap-

praisal offered into evidence by appellant David Far-

rell, supports the government's position that the trust

deeds were tremendously overvalued when compared

with either the raw land value of the property or the

projected value, if and when it was developed.*

Appellant David Farrell claims his intent in entering

into the joint venture transactions or participation agree-

ments was "(1) to protect the company and its cus-

tomers and (2) to defer income to . . . Appellant.

. .
." Aside from the fact that David Farrell's ob-

jectivity was somewhat questionable when he entered

into the numerous land transactions for LATD&ME,
only advancing LATD&ME monies when and if he, in

a personal capacity, took a share of the profits, it should

also be noted that in several of the joint venture agree-

ments no "protection" was afforded anyone other than

the developer or David Farrell.^

^Appellee's Brief, pp. 35-36.

^E.g.. GX 148, a joint venture agreement, dated September

18, 1958, between George C. Goheen and David Farrell, which

provides in part

:

...
"WHEREAS, the parties to this agreement desire to com-
bine their efforts and joint venture the development of sub-

ject property (i.e., Scott Highlands, located in Mill Valley,

Marin County, California) for residential properties,

"NOW THEREFORE, the parties do mutually agree from
and after the instant date to joint venture the development

and sale of the properties . . . upon the following conditions.

"Article VI:
"Profits : Losses : The parties shall share equally in the

profits and in the losses of the venture. . . .

"Net profits shall be distributed to the members of the

venture, annually, or at such other times as the parties may
from time to time mutually agree."
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Even in those agreements where Farrell claimed

there was built-in protection for the customers of

LATD&ME, the investors had no knowledge thereof,

and these agreements could be changed at David Far-

rell's will (see, e.g., the transaction with William Ben-

nett where despite the ''agreement" that the proceeds

from the sale of the various Westgate lots would go

first to retire the encumbrance on the Suisun Pierce

Gardens property, David Farrell would not permit the

lots to be released and the funds to be disbursed unless

ie personally received 50% of the profits [R. T. 1216,

1248-1250]).

II.

There Was No "Plain Error" in the Record and

Appellants' Rights Were Protected at All Stages

of the Proceedings.

As detailed in the Statement of Facts in appellee's

opening brief, this was not a case where the evidence

was "finely balanced." The overwhelming and massive

weight of the evidence, consisting in large part of

LATD&ME's own internal records, showed a plan and

course of operation, designed by appellants, which suc-

ceeded in parting Secured 10% Earnings investors

from milhons of dollars of their hard earned funds.

The investors were "secured" in the most part by

greatly overvalued parcels of earth and the unfulfilled

promises of the Farrells—the scheme's architects.

The Court in weighing the significance of any error

alleged by appellants to be found in the 4,500 page

transcript,

".
. . must take account of what the error

meant . . . not singled out and standing alone,

hut in relation to all else that happened .
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If . . . the error did not influence the jury,

or had but very sHght effect, the verdict and the

judgment should stand. . . . (emphasis added).

Kotteakos v. United States^ 328 U. S. 750, 764

(1946).

Certainly a criminal appeal should not be turned into

a quest for error. Bihn v. United States, 328 U. S.

633, 638 (1946).

As this Court said in Gilbert v. United States, 307

F. 2d 322, 326-327 (9th Cir. 1962), a verdict should

be overturned only when the alleged error ".
. .

would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, or

would 'seriously affect the fairness, integrity, or pub-

lic reputation of judicial proceedings' . .
." Cer-

tainly in the case at bar there is no ".
. . plain

error . . . affecting the substantial rights of the

appellants, nor . . . any error which would result

in a manifest miscarriage of justice . . ."

The cases cited by appellant David Farrell, in his re-

ply brief, are clearly distinguishable from the case at

bar in that the "error" alleged in those cases was found

to affect the ''substantial rights" of the defendants. In

Bihn V. United States, 328 U. S. 633 (1946), the cru-

cial issue was whether petitioner stole certain ration

coupons from the bank. Petitioner did not take the

stand, there was no direct evidence that petitioner stole

the coupons, and there was a conflict in testimony pre-

senting a question of credibility for the jury. Against

this background the judge charged the jury ".

Did she steal them? Who did if she didn't? You are

to decide that." The appellate court, in reversing peti-
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doner's conviction, said that prejudicial error was com-

mitted since petitioner was not afforded the protection

of the ''presumption of innocence", as the trial court

had instructed the jury that to justify acquittal it was

the jury's duty ".
. . (a) to decide that appellant

committed the theft unless (b) they decided that some

other person did . . .".

In Bollenbach v. United States, 326 U. S. 607

(1946), the jury, after deliberation, returned to the

courtroom "hopelessly deadlocked." Then, in response

to the jury's question regarding a "vital issue" in the

case, the court's comments were found by the appellate

court to be ".
. . not even 'cursorily' accurate. He

[the court] was simply wrong." In addition the jury

after a "plain hint" from the court that a verdict should

be forthcoming returned with a guilty verdict within

five minutes.

In Mora v. United States, 190 F. 2d 749 (5th Cir.

1951) there was no substantial evidence against appel-

lant apart from the confessions of his co-defendants.

This testimony was improperly admitted against appel-

lant without limiting instructions, since the confessions

had been made after the alleged conspiracy concluded

and in appellant's absence. Belatedly the court instruct-

ed the jury to disregard the confessions. It was only

under these limited circumstances that the appellate

court reversed the conviction holding there was no as-

surance that the jury had not been substantially swayed

by the use of the confessions.

In Little v. United States, 73 F. 2d 861 (10th Cir.

1934), the judge permitted the court stenographer to

attend in the jury room, outside the presence of de-



fendant or his counsel and to re-read the court's in-

structions. This procedure was found to violate the

basic proposition ".
. . that no one should be with

a jury while it is engaged in its deliberations . .
."

The court concluded by saying ".
. . without ex-

ception, as far as we are advised, such procedure has

been held to be error. . .
." This departure from

well accepted principles, is a far cry from the situation

presented by appellants in the instant case.

Nor was the error in Braswell v. United States, 200

R 2d 597 (5th Cir. 1952) of a type remotely related

to the facts before this court. In Braswell, numerous

defendants were on trial for offenses involving the ac-

quisition and transfer of marihuana. During the trial,

and in open court in front of the jury, one of the

defendants assaulted a United States Marshal, and re-

ceived an assist from one of the other defendants. They

were both subdued, and removed from the courtroom.

Another defendant, also in the presence of the jury,

attempted to swallow two yellow capsules and bit the

finger of the policeman who extracted them from her

mouth. The court refused to discharge the jury, after

either occasion, and gratuitously commented to the jury

that the assaulting defendant's actions were possibly

due to his being under the influence of marihuana. The

appellate court found that all of the defendants were

prejudiced by the physical and violent scenes, involv-

ing only three of the defendants, as well as by the

court's remarks, inasmuch as all had been arrested in

the same raid on a cabin which was allegedly the scene

of a marihuana party. The court also found, under these

circumstances, that the trial court's comments were



—10—

bound to be highly prejudicial and to affect the sub-

stantial rights of the defendants.

Appellants' citations of Hayes v. United States, 112

F. 2d 676 (10th Cir. 1940) and United States v. Grady,

185 F. 2d 273 (7th Cir. 1950) add no new factual or

legal principles. The Hayes case does no more than

point out the general rule that ".
. . alleged errors

taking place during the trial of a criminal case must

be called to the attention of the trial court, thus af-

fording an opportunity for correction . . .". The

court noted that nevertheless ". . . an appellate

court may correct serious errors involving life or liberty

of the accused, although not preserved by proper ob-

jection . . .", but refrained from doing so holding:

"... a careful examination of the record

convinces us that the asserted error falls far short

of coming within the exception to the general

rule."

In Grady, supra, a sworn affidavit attached to the

Information, saying that all of ".
. . the facts

stated in the foregoing Criminal Information are true"

was permitted to go to the jury. The affiant was not

a witness in the case, nor had there been an opportunity

to cross-examine him on the contents of his affidavit.

Further, the court did not refer to the affidavit in its

instructions or otherwise. There was no reason to be-

lieve that the defendant even knew the affidavit would

be going to the jury. In this context, the court found

that the affidavit might well have persuaded the jury

to convict and held ".
. . the submission of the af-

fidavit to the jury was erroneous, [and] that it might

have been harmful to the defendant and was. therefore,

prejudicial . . .".
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III.

The Trial Court Did Not Commit Error in Giving

a Summary of the Previous Civil Litigation Be-

tween the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the Los Angeles Trust Deed & Mortgage
Exchange.

The court's ruling in United States v. Satuloff Bros.,

79 F. 2d 846 (2nd Cir. 1935), cited by appellant'" is

consistent with appellee's position before this court.

In that case the court refused to permit appel-

lants to introduce a civil judgment into evidence as

conclusive proof of the decisive issue in the criminal

case—who stole certain property. In the instant case,

the court's summary of the prior proceedings was

given only to indicate that charges had been made

against LATD&ME, not that they were true.''

As appellee pointed out in its opening brief, '^ an

LATD&ME investor, prior to depositing his money

with the company, was entitled to have knowledge that

LATD&ME had been charged with fraud and insol-

vency regardless of the truth or falsity of these allega-

tions, so that he might make suitable inquiry before

entrusting his savings with LATD&ME.

lOReply Brief, DF, p. 9.

i^See Appellee's Brief, p. 7Z, footnote 51 for court's summary
of proceedings.

^^Appellee's Brief, pp. 72-75.
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IV.

The Court's Ruling Regarding Investor Losses Was
Proper and Did Not Prejudice Appellants.

Appellant David Farrell asks "If Appellee had evi-

dence that a particular trust deed was not as represented

or that a particular customer suffered loss prior to the

'run' on LATD or the take over by the Receiver, why
didn't it produce its witnesses, ask the questions and

have done with it." (Reply Brief, DF, p. 10). This

is exactly what the government did. The evidence is

without contradiction that LATD&ME's brochures and

other sales literature and the presentations made by its

salesmen unequivocally conveyed the message that the

trust deeds introduced by LATD&ME into the accounts

of investors were prime, trouble free and well seasoned,

with the property owner normally maintaining at least

a 15% cash equity in the property [R. T. 1041; 1529-

1531; 1925-1926; 2188-2189; 2259; GX 842; 843;

844; 992(b); 1668; 1669]. Investors were likewise

informed that it was LATD&ME's policy to replace

defaulted or delinquent trust deeds with trust deeds in

good standing.^^ The government proved the falsity

of these representations by calling witnesses and intro-

ducing evidence to establish that prior to receivership

2,717 trust deeds in investor's accounts, totaling $8,-

500,000, were delinquent [R. T. 2779-2780; 2809-2811;

GX 6001(c) ; Appendix L] ; that delinquent trust deeds

were introduced into the accounts of investors [GX

764; 1186] ; that LATD&ME's confirmations failed to

fully describe prior liens and contained spurious in-

^^See Appellee's Brief, pp. 51-52.
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formation regarding the underlying trust deed security

[R. T. 1462-1463, 1484-1493; 1557-1558, 1565-1566,

1575-1577; GX 788; 796; 867(a); 869(a)]; and that

LATD&ME's salesmen misrepresented the nature and

quality of the underlying trust deed security [R. T.

1565-1566, 1578-1579]. The government likewise

established that LATD&ME introduced many thou-

sands of grossly overvalued^^ trust deeds into the ac-

counts of investors, manufactured against raw land in

which the developer had no equity [see e.g., R. T. 1266,

1271, 1278, 1299; 1635; 2102-2103].

Thus, it is clear that the testimony by investors as

to losses was merely cumulative of the mass of other

evidence establishing lack of value of the trust deeds

selected for the Secured 10% Earnings Program.

V.

Exhibit 6003 Was Properly Admitted in Evidence.

Appellant David Farrell, while noting that his at-

torney Mr. Dunn "had no knowledge of the true con-

tents of Exhibit 6003 until the jury came in for further

instructions on April 16, 1962," glosses over his own

admitted familiarity with Exhibit 6003 as illustrated in

appellee's opening brief ^^ (Reply Brief, DP p. 14).

Nor was his attorney without awareness of the possible

importance of the exhibit, as illustrated by Attorney

Dunn's comment v/hen counsel for appellee and the

court advised him the exhibit was available for inspec-

i^See Appellee's Brief, pp. 29-38.

^^Appellee's Brief, p. 90, footnote 67.
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tion, approximately three weeks prior to the end of the

trial/'

Appellee's opening brief^^ clearly points out that ap-

pellants are in error when they assert the government

was ordered to excise extraneous and immaterial mat-

ter from Exhibit 6003. The transcript also makes it

abundantly clear, that government counsel did not mis-

lead appellants nor discourage them from a thorough

examination of the exhibit/^

As the court said in Finnegan v. United States, 204

F. 2d 105 (8th Cir. 1953), certiorari denied, 346 U. S.

821, where certain documents not admitted into evi-

dence/^ went to the jury,

".
. . Defendants counsel had notice that it was

the purpose of the court to send all exhibits to the

jury and no objections were made. There was no

showing that the jury in fact examined these ex-

hibits and there is no evidence indicating that de-

fendant was prejudiced by their having been placed

in the hands of the jury."

The judgment was affirmed in Finnegan and it is sub-

mitted that the situation in the instant case demands no

less.

i«Appellee's Brief, p. 100, footnote 75.

^^Appellee's Brief, p. 86, footnote 60.

isAppellee's Brief, pp. 99-101.

i^See Appellee's Opening Brief, pp. 95-96.
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Conclusion.

For the reasons stated herein and in the opening

Appellee's Brief, it is respectfully submitted that the

judgments as to both appellants should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

Francis C. Whelan,
United States Attorney,

Thomas R. Sheridan,

Assistant United States

Attorney, Chief, Criminal

Section,

Edward M. Medvene,
Special Assistant to the

United States Attorney,

J. Brin Schulman,
Assistant United States

Attorney,

Attorneys for Appellee,

United States of America.
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David Farrell and Oliver J. Farrell,

Appellants,

vs.

United States of America,

Appellee.

PETITION FOR REHEARING.

To: Jertberg and Browning, Circuit Judges, and

Burke, District Judge.

This is a Petition for Rehearing by OHver J. Farrell

upon the judgment of this Court affirming the convic-

tion of Appellant in the United States District Court

for the Southern District of California.

Grounds for Rehearing.

I.

The record does not contain substantial evidence

viewed in the light most favorable to the Government to

support the judgment. As a matter of law reasonable

minds as triers of the facts could not find that the

evidence excludes every reasonable hypothesis but that

of guilt.
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II.

In the Court's recitation of facts setting forth Oliver

J. Farrell's participation in the affairs of LATD&ME
and related companies, set forth on page 5 of the

Opinion, the following facts are not supported by the

record

:

1. He edited literature that was mailed out to in-

vestors.

2. He furnished to investors false and misleading

information concerning the liquidation policy of

LATD&ME.

3. He instructed the regional sales managers that

the salesmen, in selling the 10% Earnings Pro-

grams, should resort to sham references in reas-

suring investors that their investments could be

quickly liquidated.

4. He assisted in drafting brochures sent to sales-

men and investors which falsely represented the

value and stability of subordinate trust deeds

that were created against undeveloped subdi-

visions or vacant tracts of land.

5. He instructed salesmen to represent to investors

that the subdividers who created trust deeds for

LATD&ME against vacant tracts of land had

made large cash investments in the subdivision,

whereas, in some instances no investment had

been made by the subdivider.

Respectfully submitted,

Sylvan B. Aronson,

Attorney for Appellant

Oliver J. Farrell.
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